Acta Neurochirurgica Supplement 115

Mario Zuccarello · Joseph F. Clark Gail Pyne-Geithman · Norberto Andaluz Jed A. Hartings · Opeolu M. Adeoye *Editors*

Cerebral Vasospasm Neurovascular Events After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage



Acta Neurochirurgica Supplements

Editor: H.-J. Steiger

Cerebral Vasospasm: Neurovascular Events After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Edited by M. Zuccarello, J.F. Clark, G. Pyne-Geithman, N. Andaluz, J.A. Hartings, and O.M. Adeoye

> Acta Neurochirurgica Supplement 115



Prof. Mario Zuccarello Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati Stetson Suite 2200 260, Cincinnati 45267-0515 OH, USA

Dr. Joseph F. Clark College of Medicine, Department of Neurology, University of Cincinnati Albert Sabin Way 231MSB, Cincinnati 46267-0536 OH, USA

Dr. Gail Pyne-Geithman College of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati Albert Sabin Way 231ML0517, Cincinnati 45267-0517 OH, USA

Dr. Norberto Andaluz College of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati Stetson St. Suite 260ML0515, Cincinnati 45219 OH, USA

Dr. Jed A. Hartings College of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati Stetson Suite 2200 260, Cincinnati 45219 OH, USA

Dr. Opeolu M. Adeoye Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Cincinnati Albert Sabin Way 231ML0769, Cincinnati 45267-0769 OH, USA

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

©2013 Springer-Verlag Wien SpringerWienNewYork is part of Springer Science+Business Media springer.at

Typesetting: SPI, Pondichery, India Cover figure: printed with permission from Mayfield Clinic Printed on acid-free and chlorine-free bleached paper

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012945726

With 77 (partly coloured) Figures

ISSN 0065-1419 ISBN 978-3-7091-1191-8 ISBN 978-3-7091-1192-5 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-7091-1192-5 SpringerWienNewYork

Preface

This book contains the proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm: Neurovascular Events after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. The conference was held in Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, from July 21-23, 2011, with the recurrent goal to share the latest knowledge on the pathophysiologic phenomena that take place after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. This collection of papers represents a cross section of the enormous progress that has been made toward a thorough understanding and effective treatment of neurovascular events following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, including cerebral vasospasm. The editors would like to extend their gratitude to the many participants of this most recent conference and thank previous participants for setting the stage for continued progress in this field. We also want to acknowledge the authors of the chapters of this book. We are indebted to these contributors for providing such excellent material. Finally, we would like to express our deepest gratitude to all those who made a flawless meeting possible: our sponsors, the scientific committee, and the members of the organizing committee, especially Ms. Christa McAlpin and Ms. Joanie Pope. This book will be of interest to basic scientists wishing to expand their understanding of cerebrovascular and neural pathophysiology related to subarachnoid hemorrhage and to clinicians who wish to apply state-of-the-art knowledge to their management of this devastating condition.

Cincinnati, USA

Mario Zuccarello Joseph F. Clark

Acknowledgment

This volume has been made possible thanks to a generous educational grant from the Mayfield Education and Research Foundation.

Contents

Frank H. Mayfield, MD, FACS, FAANS (1909–1991):75th Anniversary TributeJohn M. Tew Jr.	1
Clinical Trials and Dilemmas Methodology	
History and Definition of Delayed Cerebral Ischemia R. Loch Macdonald	3
Clinical, Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound, Radiological Features and, Prognostic Significance of Delayed Cerebral Ischemia George Kwok Chu Wong and Wai Sang Poon	9
Identifying Patient Report Outcomes Relevant to Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Follow-Up Stuart Ross, Deepti Bhargava, Yahia Al-Tamimi, Tony Goddard, Alan Tennant, and Audrey Quinn	13
Global Cerebral Atrophy After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Possible Marker of Acute Brain Injury and Assessment of Its Impact on Outcome Alan K.H. Tam, Don Ilodigwe, Zeyu Li, Tom A. Schweizer, and R. Loch Macdonald	17
Protein Biomarkers in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, Vasospasm, and Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficits	23
ApproachesRandomised Trial of Clazosentan, an Endothelin ReceptorAntagonist, in Patients with Aneurysmal SubarachnoidHemorrhage Undergoing Surgical Clipping (CONSCIOUS-2)R. Loch Macdonald, Randall T. Higashida, Emanuela Keller,Stephan A. Mayer, Andy Molyneux, Andreas Raabe, Peter Vajkoczy,Isabel Wanke, Doris Bach, Aline Frey, Angelina Marr,Sébastien Roux, and Neal Kassell	27
Angiographic Vasospasm Versus Cerebral Infarction as Outcome Measures After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Nima Etminan, Mervyn D.I. Vergouwen, and R. Loch Macdonald	33
Development of Nicardipine Prolonged-Release Implants After Clipping for Preventing Cerebral Vasospasm: From Laboratory to Clinical Trial Hidetoshi Kasuya	41

Surgical and Endovascular Management	
Removal of Clots in Subarachnoid Space Could Reduce the Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Paulo H. Pires de Aguiar, Icaro Barros, Bernardo L. Paiva, and Renata F. Simm	91
Effect of Lumbar Puncture in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Treated Microsurgically or Endovascularly Ibrahim O. Akinci, A. Sencer, A. Basel, Y. Aras, A. Aydoseli, C. Kamar, E. Güresti, S. Sencer, K. Aydın, N. Izgi, and Talat Kiris	95
Effect of Aneurysm Treatment Modalities on Cerebral Vasospasm After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Hidenori Suzuki, Waro Taki, and Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment (PRESAT) Group	99
Endovascular Management of Posthemorrhagic Cerebral Vasospasm: Indications, Technical Nuances, and Results. Ralph Rahme, Lincoln Jimenez, Gail J. Pyne-Geithman, Joseph Serrone, Andrew J. Ringer, Mario Zuccarello, and Todd A. Abruzzo	107
The Concept of a Hybrid Operating Room: Applications in Cerebrovascular Surgery Javier Fandino, Philipp Taussky, Serge Marbacher, Carl Muroi, Michael Diepers, Ali-Reza Fathi, and Luca Remonda	113
Computerized Occlusion Rating of Embolized Ruptured Intracranial Aneurysms: Relation to Intra- and Postinterventional Aneurysm Rehemorrhage	119
Spreading Depolarizations	
Spreading Ischemia After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Jens P. Dreier, Christoph Drenckhahn, Johannes Woitzik, Sebastian Major, Nikolas Offenhauser, Steffen Weber-Carstens, Stefan Wolf, Anthony J. Strong, Peter Vajkoczy, and Jed A. Hartings For the COSBID Study Group	125
Full-Band Electrocorticography of Spreading Depolarizationsin Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid HemorrhageJed A. Hartings, J. Adam Wilson, Andrew C. Look, Achala Vagal,Lori A. Shutter, Jens P. Dreier, Andrew Ringer, and Mario Zuccarello	131
Cerebral Glucose and Spreading Depolarization in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Asita Sarrafzadeh, Edgar Santos, Dirk Wiesenthal, Peter Martus, Peter Vajkoczy, Marcel Oehmchen, Andreas Unterberg, Jens P. Dreier, and Oliver Sakowitz	143
Evaluation of Intracranial Electrocorticography Recording Strips and Tissue Partial Pressure of Oxygen and Temperature Probes for Radio-Frequency-Induced Heating Michael Scheel, Jens P. Dreier, and G. Bohner	149
Criteria for the Diagnosis of Noninfectious and Infectious Complications After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in DISCHARGE-1 Christoph Drenckhahn, Claudia Brabetz, Sebastian Major, Dirk Wiesenthal, Johannes Woitzik, and Jens P. Dreier For the COSBID Study Group	153

Neurovascular Coupling During Spreading Depolarizations	161
Neurovascular Coupling And Microvasculature	
Subarachnoid Blood Converts Neurally Evoked Vasodilation to Vasoconstriction in Rat Brain Cortex Masayo Koide, Adrian D. Bonev, Mark T. Nelson, and George C. Wellman	167
Impact of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage on Parenchymal Arteriolar Function George C. Wellman and Masayo Koide	173
SAH-Induced Suppression of Voltage-Gated K ⁺ (K _v) Channel Currents in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes Involves Activation of the HB-EGF/EGFR Pathway Masayo Koide and George C. Wellman	179
Mechanisms of Microthrombosis and Microcirculatory Constriction After Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Mohammed Sabri, Jinglu Ai, Katarina Lakovic, and R. Loch Macdonald	185
Cerebral Hemodynamic and Metabolic Effects of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Nestor R. Gonzalez, Robert Hamilton, Arzu Bilgin-Freiert, Josh Dusick, Paul Vespa, Xiao Hu, and Shadnaz Asgari	193
Cerebral Microvasculature Is an Early Target of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Fatima A. Sehba and Victor Friedrich	199
Preclinical Studies: Other	
The Roles of Early Brain Injury in Cerebral Vasospasm Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: From Clinical and Scientific Aspects Shigeru Nishizawa	207
Matricellular Protein: A New Player in Cerebral Vasospasm Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Hidenori Suzuki, Masato Shiba, Masashi Fujimoto, Kengo Kawamura, Mai Nanpei, Eriko Tekeuchi, Satoshi Matsushima, Kenji Kanamaru, Kyoko Imanaka-Yoshida, Toshimichi Yoshida, and Waro Taki	213
Role of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor in Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats Masato Shiba, Hidenori Suzuki, Masashi Fujimoto, Naoshi Shimojo, Kyoko Imanaka-Yoshida, Toshimichi Yoshida, Kenji Kanamaru, Satoshi Matsushima, and Waro Taki	219
Relevance of Animal Models of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage for Examining Neurobehavioral Changes Ryszard M. Pluta, Boris Skopets, and Jerald D. Kralik	225
Inflammation in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Delayed Deterioration Associated with Vasospasm: A Review	233

Attenuation of Cerebral Vasospasm Following Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage by the Bronchodilator KMUP-3 William Winardi, Chih-Jen Wang, Chih-Lung Lin, Shu-Chuan Wu, Hung-Pei Tsai, Yen-Hsin Kuo, Ming-Yen Lee, Ing-Jun Chen, and Aij-Lie Kwan	239
Pharmacologic Reduction of Angiographic Vasospasm in Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Systematic Review Tommaso Zoerle, Don Ilodigwe, Hoyee Wan, Katarina Lakovic, Mohammed Sabri, Jinglu Ai, and R. Loch Macdonald	247
Low-Dose Lipopolysaccharide Injection Prior to Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Modulates Delayed Deterioration Associated with Vasospasm in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Saksith Smithason, Shari K. Moore, and J. Javier Provencio	253
Statin-Induced T-Lymphocyte Modulation and NeuroprotectionFollowing Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage.Robert E. Ayer, Robert P. Ostrowski, Takashi Sugawara, Qingy Ma,Nazanin Jafarian, Jiping Tang, and John H. Zhang	259
Role of Bilirubin Oxidation Products in the Pathophysiology of DIND Following SAH Gail J. Pyne-Geithman, Sunil G. Nair, Danielle N. Caudell Stamper, and Joseph F. Clark	267
Risk Factors	
Association of Morphologic and Demographic Features of Intracranial Aneurysms with Their Rupture: A Retrospective Analysis	275
Location, Interaction, and Anticipation of Aneurysm Formation Daniel Woo	279
Symptomatic Vasospasm in Elderly Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Comparison with Nonelderly Patients Mizuho Inoue, Tatsuya Sasaki, Hiroki Takazawa, Takahiro Morita, Ayumi Narisawa, Atsushi Saito, Hiroshi Midorikawa, and Michiharu Nishijima	281
Appendix-Select Abstracts	285
Author Index	321
Subject Index	325

Frank H. Mayfield, MD, FACS, FAANS (1909–1991): 75th Anniversary Tribute

John M.Tew Jr.

In this special issue, coinciding with Mayfield Clinic's 75th anniversary, we recognize the vision and practical wisdom of Dr. Frank H. Mayfield, who inspired solutions to the devastating problems of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). This conference proceedings, *Vasospasm 2011: 11th International Conference on Neurovascular Events after SAH*, is dedicated to Dr. Mayfield, a University of Cincinnati professor and pioneer in neurosurgery who directed the graduate neurosurgical training programs at The Christ Hospital and Good Samaritan Hospital from 1946 to 1977. His lasting, distinguished contributions in aneurysm surgery formed, in part, some of the foundational science for this conference's nearly 200 cerebrovascular experts from 20 nations who are taking important steps toward developing the first optimal clinical management strategy for vasospasm.

Being curious and fascinated by possibilities of the future, Dr. Mayfield would have valued the opportunity to have attended this conference with you-the dedicated scientists, surgeons, neurologists, nurses, students, and practitioners. Your commitment to research in vasospasm and clinical care as well as cortical spreading depolarizations and to your fellow colleagues is exemplified throughout this special supplement. In recognition of Dr. Mayfield's contributions to the advancement of our profession, this dedication highlights specific areas: service to his patients, commitment to education, integrity in science, collaboration, and dedication to improving medicine. He noted, "Throughout all ages and all fields of endeavor, man has sought to overcome the unpredictability of nature by reformulating existing knowledge in search of new principles." He understood that in a slow, orderly process, science inspires and disseminates new concepts. This conference's proceedings represent your creative work as basic scientists and clinicians whose research offers hope in

Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: editor@mayfieldclinic.com determining the practical applications to human disease, in this case disorders associated with SAH and vasospasm.

Known as a creative thinker, Dr. Mayfield looked at all events constructively and, when faced with a problem, changed them to opportunity. He was well acquainted with the devastation associated with SAH and uniquely aware of the importance of preventing recurrent hemorrhage and the deadly consequences of vasospasm.

Dr. Mayfield's vision and practical wisdom fueled his drive for solutions to the problems of recurrent hemorrhage or during occlusion of parent vessel surgery for saccular aneurysms. With strong focus, he sought resolution to the disaster that often ensued when a surgeon clipped an aneurysm with permanent ligatures of malleable metallic clips. That is, the surgeon could not determine the clip's optimal location, retain its closing force, or safely remove or replace it after positioning. Neurosurgeon and creative thinker Frank Mayfield collaborated with other physicians and scientists to develop a definitive aneurysm clip; his resulting designs forever changed aneurysm and brain surgery [1].

Nearly 60 years ago, Dr. Mayfield and medical artist George Kees, Jr., began working on the clip and forceps, later known as the Mayfield clip [2]. This small, cross-legged clip and its applicator with tweezers-like dexterity enabled the trial-and-error placement needed during aneurysm surgery. The clip's malleability allowed it to be twisted into shape but retain its springy recoil. These first Mayfield clips of 6-15 mm were stainless steel. Testing, first in laboratory animals and later in patients, ensured that there was no evidence of corrosion and only minimal signs of foreign body reaction and verified that the clips remained positioned, even against pulsatile forces of 400 mm mercury. With these encouraging results, Dr. Mayfield and his colleagues applied these clips to saccular aneurysms in patients. Work continued diligently to improve this design as the clip then underwent modifications and additional testing in the United States, Great Britain, and Sweden by a number of noted neurosurgeons (e.g., James Poppen, James Gardner, Eben Alexander, Lawrence Pool, Charles Drake). George Kees developed patents and produced and marketed the Mayfield clips and appliers.

J.M. Tew Jr., M.D.

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati Neuroscience Institute and UC College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH ML 0515, USA

Modifications to the Mayfield clip followed: The Heifetz modification provided firmer fixation in the applicator; the McFadden design had a round jaw and blunt tips made of 301 stainless steel; and Drs. Sundt and Nofzinger modified the clip for the treatment of intracranial aneurysms. A call from Dr. Drake, who was having difficulty operating on a basilar aneurysm, prompted Dr. Mayfield and Mr. Kees to devote a late night working in the laboratory. By the next morning, the clip was redesigned and shipped to Dr. Drake; such a practical invention was then possible before the Food and Drug Administration oversight and clinical trials. It was eventually called the Drake fenestrated clip.

Today's neurosurgeons and their patients continue to benefit from the innovative work of Dr. Mayfield and those he later inspired. His commitment and compassion led to other farreaching improvements for patients with spinal disorders and neurological diseases—a collaboration toward the invention of the seat belt and development of professional neurosurgical organizations. Described as the "conscience of neurosurgery" by Eben Alexander, Dr. Mayfield's legacy calls for each to develop one's own creativity for advancing the field of medicine. Dr. Mayfield would be excited to greet all of you today and salute this international commitment to curing vasospasm through collaboration in science and practice.

References

- 1. Tew JM Jr (1982) Frank Henderson Mayfield. Surg Neurol 17:1-3
- Mayfield FH, Kees G Jr (1971) A brief history of the development of the Mayfield clip. J Neurosurg 35:97–100

History and Definition of Delayed Cerebral Ischemia

R. Loch Macdonald

Abstract A list of the vasospasm meetings is provided. The early descriptions of angiographic vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia are presented. Selected advances in knowledge in the field and some controversies are described. A proposal for definitions of neurological deterioration due to delayed cerebral ischemia, of cerebral infarction, and of vasospasm is reviewed.

Keywords Vasospasm • History • Delayed cerebral ischemia Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

Martin Luther King, Jr., said: "We are not makers of history. We are made by history," meaning that our thinking about the present is influenced by understanding and interpretation of history. But, in medicine it also is important in that history provides the basis for advancing knowledge. As George Santayama said, "Those who cannot remember the past are condemned to repeat it."

The Vasospasm Meetings

Robert R. Smith organized and chaired the first meeting of what would later become the series of meetings focused on cerebral vasospasm. There were 18 participants at the conference

R.L. Macdonald, M.D., Ph.D.

in Jackson, Mississippi, in 1972. The attendees were or would become authorities in the field; they included Francis Echlin, John Kapp, James T. Robertson, Frederick A. Simeone, Robert R. Smith, Thoralf M. Sundt, Bryce Weir, Richard White, Robert H. Wilkins, and Nicholas T. Zervas. A series of conferences followed, with titles that have evolved over time because of changes in theories of brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH; Table 1).

Early Descriptions

Perhaps the earliest description of a patient with delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) was by Gull in 1859 [12]. He wrote of a 30-year-old female, "While walking, she suddenly called out, "Oh my head," and put up her left hand. She vomited and, as her friend thought, fainted. After a brief interval she partially recovered, and was able to walk back to her residence with the support of two men. When admitted to the hospital at noon the following day, only a slight impression could be made by any attempt to rouse her. The right arm was quite paralyzed, the muscles flaccid; the right leg in the same condition." She improved, and by 3 days after the ictus was able to eat. On the 4th day, she spoke some words, but on the 5th day, she worsened; her pupils became fixed and dilated, and she died. At autopsy, there was SAH in the left Sylvian fissure with massive softening of the left hemisphere and two aneurysms on the middle cerebral artery, one of which had ruptured.

Robertson described findings in 27 cases of death from aneurysm rupture in 1949 [17]. He found infarctions in brain irrigated by patent arteries and wrote: "Hence, it seems possible that the ischaemic changes were due to temporary spasm of the supplying vessels."

Ecker and Reimenschneider reported angiographic vasospasm in six patients with known ruptured aneurysms and noted that it was not observed on angiograms done 26 or more days after SAH [7].

Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON M5B 1W8, Canada

Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: macdonaldlo@smh.ca

 Table 1
 Meetings focusing on angiographic vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia

Meeting title	Location, organizer(s)	Resulting book
Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Cerebrovascular Spasm. The First International Workshop	Jackson, Mississippi, USA, 1972, Robert R. Smith, 18 attendees	Smith, R.R., Robertson, J.T., eds. Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Cerebrovascular Spasm. The First 'International' Workshop. Springfield: Charles C. Thomas Publisher, 1975.
Second International Workshop on Cerebral Arterial Spasm	Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 1979, A.J.M. van der Werf, 200 participants	Wilkins, R.H., ed. <i>Cerebral Arterial Spasm.</i> <i>Proceedings of the Second International Workshop.</i> Amsterdam, the Netherlands/Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1980.
3rd International Symposium on Cerebral Vasospasm	Charlottesville, Virginia, USA, 1987, Neal Kassell, 197 contributors	Wilkins, R.H., ed. <i>Cerebral Vasospasm. Proceedings</i> of the III International Symposium in Charlottesville. New York: Raven Press, 1988.
4th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Tokyo, Japan, 1990, Keiji Sano, K. Takakura, Tomio Sasaki	Sano, K., Takakura, K., Kassell, N.F., Sasaki, T., eds. Cerebral Vasospasm. Proceedings of the International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm. Tokyo: University of Tokyo Press, 1990.
5th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Edmonton and Jasper, Alberta, Canada, 1993, Bryce Weir	Findlay, J.M., ed. Cerebral Vasospasm. <i>Proceedings</i> of the V International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm, Edmonton. Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Elsevier Publishing Company, 1993.
6th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Sydney, Australia, 1997, Nicholas Dorsch	Dorsch, N.W.C., ed. Cerebral Vasospasm VI. Proceedings of the VIth International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm. Oslington, Leichhardt, Australia, 1999.
7th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Interlaken, Switzerland, 2000, Rolf Seiler, 75 participants	Seiler, R.W., Steiger, HJ., eds. <i>Cerebral Vasospasm.</i> <i>Acta Neurochirurgica</i> , Suppl. 77. Wien, New York: Springer, 2001.
8th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Chicago, Illinois, USA, R. Loch Macdonald, 90 participants	Macdonald, R.L., ed. <i>Cerebral Vasospasm. Advances</i> <i>in Research and Treatment.</i> New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, 2005.
9th International Conference on Cerebral Vasospasm	Istanbul, Turkey, Talat Kiris	Kiris, T., Zhang, J.H., eds. <i>Cerebral Vasospasm. New</i> <i>Strategies in Research and Treatment. Acta</i> <i>Neurochir</i> Suppl. Wein: Springer-Verlag, 2008.
10th International Conference on	Chongqing, China, Hua Feng, 90 participants	Feng, H., Mao, Y., Zhang, J.H., eds. <i>Early Brain</i> <i>Injury or Cerebral Vasospasm</i> . Volume 1: <i>Pathophysiology. Acta Neurochir</i> Suppl 110/1. New York: Springer, 2011.
		Feng, H., Mao, Y., Zhang, J.H. eds. <i>Early Brain</i> <i>Injury or Cerebral Vasospasm</i> . Volume 2: <i>Clinical</i> <i>Management. Acta Neurochir</i> Suppl 110/2. New York: Springer, 2011.
11th International Conference on Neurovascular Events After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage	Cincinnati, Ohio, USA, Mario Zuccarello, Joseph F. Clark	To be published in Acta Neurochir Suppl.

Advances

In the past, neurosurgeons wrote about pre- and postoperative vasospasm as if surgery had some impact on the timing of angiographic vasospasm. It is known now that while the severity might be affected by surgery, the time course is related to the time of SAH and has nothing to do with the time of surgery. DCI varies with time of surgery, however, probably due to effects of surgery on the brain, which is already injured by SAH and made even more vulnerable by reduction in cerebral blood flow (CBF) from angiographic vasospasm.

Fisher described clinical characteristics of DCI in 1975 [8]. The onset of DCI was described as is now known 3–13 days after a single SAH and in about one third of patients. Only severe vasospasm tended to be associated with symptoms. Weir and colleagues defined the time course of angiographic vasospasm by measuring the diameters of cerebral arteries on 627 angiograms from 293 patients with ruptured aneurysms [23]. Angiographic vasospasm had its onset at 3 days, was maximal at 6–8 days, and resolved by 12 days after SAH. The invention of computed tomography (CT) was critical to neurosurgery. Within 4 years, Katada et al. discovered there was a

relationship between the volume of SAH on CT and development of angiographic vasospasm [14]. Takemae and colleagues expanded on this concept, showing in a series of 73 patients with SAH studied by CT that high-density areas (blood) in the basal cisterns within 4 days of SAH were associated with the location of where angiographic vasospasm would develop and whether it would [19]. Fisher et al. later described a similar idea but classified the subarachnoid blood into four grades, which could be used to predict whether angiographic vasospasm would develop and how severe it would be [9]. Aaslid and colleagues described transcranial Doppler ultrasound, a now widely used method for determining CBF velocities and other parameters in patients with SAH [1].

Knowledge of the time course of angiographic vasospasm and improved diagnostic tools, principally angiography, CT, and medical tests, made it possible to associate vasospasm and delayed neurological deterioration. The clinical picture was called by various terms, including delayed ischemic deficit [10], DCI, delayed ischemic neurologic deficit, and symptomatic vasospasm.

The incidence of angiographic vasospasm was 67% (1,842 of 2,738 patients) in 38 studies until 1993 as reviewed by Dorsch et al. when angiography was done 7–14 days after SAH [5]. It was 49% (2,077 of 4,238 patients) in 31 references published from 1993 to 2009 [4]. Whether the incidence

has declined or detection is lower now that patients do not all have angiograms in 7–14 days after SAH is not known. The incidence of DCI, variously defined, has not been rigorously reviewed, but according to Dorsch et al. the incidence was 32% (10,445 of 32,188 patients) in 297 references published until 1993 and 29% (6,775 of 23,806 patients) in papers published from 1993 to 2009 [4, 5].

Controversies

The existence of angiographic vasospasm and its significance were questioned initially. Millikan wrote in 1975 that he could not find any data to indicate that angiographic vasospasm had any specific clinical presentation, or that it contributed to complications of SAH [15]. He noted many investigations showing no correlation between CBF and angiographic vasospasm, which is not unexpected since only severe vasospasm reduces CBF, and linear correlations will not be obvious. That angiographic vasospasm, even severe in some cases, occurs without symptoms also was evident in some cases. Whether this is due to adequate collateral flow or lack of other secondary processes that must be added to angiographic vasospasm to cause DCI continues to be unknown. This controversy continues in a modified form today (Fig. 1).





There is no question about the association of angiographic vasospasm with reduction in CBF and development of DCI and frank infarction [2, 3, 11]. Numerous studies, beginning in the 1960s, reported correlations between reduced CBF and angiographic vasospasm [22]. The correlations are imperfect, which is not surprising considering the multiple contributing factors, technical and imaging issues, and complexities of human disease [20]. What may be more important is if and how multiple pathophysiological processes may contribute to DCI. The existence of these processes in humans is only beginning to be documented, such as cortical spreading ischemia and microthromboemboli [6, 18]. It is not known now how they, along with early brain injury and other delayed effects of the SAH like delayed apoptosis, contribute to DCI.

Definitions

Vergouwen and colleagues proposed definitions of angiographic vasospasm and DCI [21]. Since patients can have angiographic vasospasm without DCI and there may be a few patients with DCI and no angiographic vasospasm, it was recommended to separate the definitions. The pathogenesis of the conditions is not completely defined, so terms implying pathogenesis were avoided, although DCI attributes the deficits to ischemia. The diagnosis of DCI is difficult because of the need to exclude other causes. But in practice, many patients have multiple systemic and nervous system dysfunctions that may or may not contribute to DCI or even be important primarily in the pathogenesis. Diagnosis in sedated or comatose patients is even more challenging. Scales that are used in SAH patients often were not developed specifically for this patient population (e.g., the Glasgow Coma Scale, National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, and Glasgow Outcome Score). Even defining the etiology of infarctions after SAH is difficult [13].

A proposed definition for clinical deterioration caused by DCI was "the occurrence of focal neurological impairment (such as hemiparesis, aphasia, apraxia, hemianopia, or neglect), or a decrease of at least 2 points on the Glasgow Coma Scale (either on the total score or on one of its individual components (eye, motor on either side, verbal)). This should last for at least 1 h, is not apparent immediately after aneurysm occlusion and cannot be attributed to other causes by means of clinical assessment, CT or magnetic resonance (MR) scanning of the brain, and appropriate laboratory studies." The diagnosis will be subjective because of the often-complex medical condition of the patient. Cerebral infarction was defined as "the presence of cerebral infarction on CT or MR scan of the brain within 6 weeks after SAH, or on the latest CT or MR scan made before death within 6 weeks, or proven at autopsy, not present on the CT or MR scan between 24 and 48 h after early aneurysm occlusion, and not attributable to other causes such as surgical clipping or endovascular treatment. Hypodensities on CT imaging resulting from ventricular catheter or intraparenchymal hematoma should not be regarded as cerebral infarctions from DCI." It was recommended that terms like vasospasm or arterial narrowing be applied to descriptions of what the arteries look like on a radiological test (computed tomographic, magnetic resonance or digital subtraction angiography). These terms would not to apply to clinical manifestations of DCI. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound was not included in the diagnostic testing since it has lower sensitivity and specificity to diagnose angiographic arterial narrowing.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the history of angiographic vasospasm and DCI has been briefly summarized. The reader is encouraged to delve deeper into the rich heritage of the field. Indeed, many of the cited papers are among the 100 most cited papers in neurosurgery [1, 9, 16].

Conflicts of Interest RLM receives grant support from the Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation and is a stockholder of Edge Therapeutics. RLM, RTH, EK, SAM, AMo, AR, PV, IW, and NK are consultants for Actelion Pharmaceuticals. SAM is a consultant for Edge Theraputics. RLM is Chief Scientific Officer of Edge Theraputics. EK has been on advisory boards for Roche Diagnostics, and is a stockholder in NeMoDevices. AMo has been a consultant for Micrus Endovascular and Covidien. PV is a consultant for Aesculap. IW is a consultant for Boston Scientific. DB, AF, AMa, and SR are employees and stockholders of Actelion Pharmaceuticals.

References

- Aaslid R, Markwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769–774
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Dumont AS, Ilodigwe D, Kassell NF, Mayer SA, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Pasqualin A, Macdonald RL (2011) Angiographic vasospasm is strongly correlated with cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 42:919–923
- Dankbaar JW, Rijsdijk M, van der Schaaf IC, Velthuis BK, Wermer MJ, Rinkel GJ (2009) Relationship between vasospasm, cerebral perfusion, and delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neuroradiology 51:813–819
- Dorsch N (2011) A clinical review of cerebral vasospasm and delayed ischaemia following aneurysm rupture. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:5–6
- Dorsch NWC, King MT (1994) A review of cerebral vasospasm in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Part 1: incidence and effects. J Clin Neurosci 1:19–26
- Dreier JP, Korner K, Ebert N, Gorner A, Rubin I, Back T, Lindauer U, Wolf T, Villringer A, Einhaupl KM, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U (1998) Nitric oxide scavenging by hemoglobin or nitric oxide synthase inhibition by N-nitro-L-arginine induces cortical spreading

ischemia when K+ is increased in the subarachnoid space. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:978–990

- Ecker A, Riemenschneider PA (1951) Arteriographic demonstration of spasm of the intracranial arteries with special reference to saccular arterial aneurysms. J Neurosurg 8:660–667
- Fisher CM (1975) Clinical syndromes in cerebral thrombosis, hypertensive hemorrhage, and ruptured saccular aneurysm. Clin Neurosurg 22:117–147
- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM (1980) Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. Neurosurgery 6:1–9
- Fisher CM, Roberson GH, Ojemann RG (1977) Cerebral vasospasm with ruptured saccular aneurysm – the clinical manifestations. Neurosurgery 1:245–248
- Grubb RLJ, Raichle ME, Eichling JO, Gado MH (1977) Effects of subarachnoid hemorrhage on cerebral blood volume, blood flow, and oxygen utilization in humans. J Neurosurg 46:446–453
- Gull WM (1859) Cases of aneurism of the cerebral vessels. Guys Hosp Rep 5:281–304
- Ibrahim GM, Weidauer S, Vatter H, Raabe A, Macdonald RL (2012) Attributing hypodensities on CT to angiographic vasospasm is not sensitive and unreliable. Stroke 43:109–112
- Katada K, Kanno T, Sano H, Shibata T, Shah MY (1977) Computed tomography of ruptured intracranial aneurysm in acute stage [author's transl]. No Shinkei Geka 5:955–963
- Millikan CH (1975) Cerebral vasospasm and ruptured intracranial aneurysm. Arch Neurol 32:433–449

- Ponce FA, Lozano AM (2010) Highly cited works in neurosurgery. Part I: the 100 top-cited papers in neurosurgical journals. J Neurosurg 112:223–232
- Robertson EG (1949) Cerebral lesions due to intracranial aneurysms. Brain 72:150–185
- Suzuki Y, Lederis K, Huang M, Leblanc FE, Rorstad OP (1983) Relaxation of bovine, porcine and human brain arteries by parathyroid hormone. Life Sci 33:2497–2503
- Takemae T, Mizukami M, Kin H, Kawase T, Araki G (1978) Computed tomography of ruptured intracranial aneurysms in acute stage – relationship between vasospasm and high density on CT scan [author's transl]. No To Shinkei (Brain Nerve) 30:861–866
- Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. Stroke 42:924–929
- 21. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Dreier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- 22. Weir B (1987) Aneurysms affecting the nervous system. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore
- 23. Weir B, Grace M, Hansen J, Rothberg C (1978) Time course of vasospasm in man. J Neurosurg 48:173–178

Clinical, Transcranial Doppler Ultrasound, Radiological Features and, Prognostic Significance of Delayed Cerebral Ischemia

George Kwok Chu Wong and Wai Sang Poon

Abstract *Objective*: We aimed to investigate the profiles and prognostic values of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and delayed cerebral infarction.

Methods: IMASH (Intravenous Magnesium Sulphate for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage) was registered at http:// www.strokecenter.org/trials, and http://www.ClinicalTrials .gov (NCT00124150). Data of 327 patients were retrieved for logistic regression analyses.

Results: Seventy-one (22%) patients developed DCI, and 35 (11%) patients developed delayed cerebral infarction. Only 18 (25%) patients with DCI and 7/35 (20%) patients with delayed cerebral infarction had mean middle cerebral artery velocities (transcranial Doppler ultrasound) over 120 cm/s. Regarding the prognostic significance of the components of DCI, delayed cerebral infarction predicted unfavorable outcome in terms of Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (OR 3.1, 95% [CI] 1.3–7.8), poor outcome in terms of modified Rankin Scale (odds ratio [OR] 3.0, 95% confidence interval CI 1.2–7.7), and dependent activity of daily living in terms of Barthel Index (OR 3.6, 95% CI 1.4–9.2) at 6 months, after adjustments for other prognostic factors. On the other hand, clinical deterioration predicted inpatient mortality (OR 8.8, 95% CI 1.6–48.8) after adjustments for other prognostic factors.

Conclusions: Delayed cerebral ischemia and delayed cerebral infarction carried different prognostic values in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Keywords Aneurysm • Cerebral infarction • Delayed cerebral ischemia • Stroke • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Division of Neurosurgery, Prince of Wales Hospital, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, China

Department of Surgery, 4/F Clinical Science Building, Prince of Wales Hospital, 1 Ngan Shing Street, Shatin, Hong Kong SAR, China e-mail: georgewong@surgery.cuhk.edu.hk

W.S. Poon, FRCS Division of Neurosurgery, Prince of Wales Hospital, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, China

Introduction

Although spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) accounts for only 3–5% of all strokes and 4.4% of deaths from stroke [1, 2], the relative youth of the affected individuals means that this event is actually responsible for approximately 25% of all years of life lost as a result of stroke [3]. Complications, such as early brain injuries and delayed ischemic neurological deficits, remain a major cause of morbidity and mortality in this group of patients.

The recently completed Asian-Australasian Intravenous Magnesium Sulphate for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (IMASH) trial, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter, phase III trial, as well as an updated meta-analysis, did not demonstrate any benefits in clinical outcome or clinical vasospasm with magnesium sulfate infusion [4–6]. However, a recently completed German, single-center, randomized, placebo-controlled trial showed no benefit in clinical outcome and delayed ischemic neurological deficit but found a decrease in delayed (after day 3 or 4) cerebral infarction with magnesium infusion [7].

In the current study, we aimed to investigate the profiles and prognostic values of delayed cerebral infarction in the IMASH database.

Methods

Under the IMASH protocol [4], patients who were diagnosed with acute aneurysmal SAH (within 48 h after ictus) were recruited. At 6 months after randomization, the Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE) [8], modified Rankin Scale (mRS) [9], and Barthel Index (BI) [10] scores were calculated. The GOSE (primary outcome at 6 months) was stratified into favorable (score 5–8) or unfavorable (score less than or equal to 4) outcomes. The mRS was stratified into 0–2 (good outcome) versus 3–6 (poor outcome). Clinical vasospasm (secondary outcome) was stratified into presence

G.K.C. Wong, M.D. (🖂)

or absence. The BI was stratified into at least 85 (independent) or below 85 (dependent).

Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) was defined as the occurrence of (1) clinical deterioration, which manifested clinically as new focal neurological deficit (motor or speech deficit) that developed after SAH or a decrease in the Glasgow Coma Scale of 2 or more points for more than 6 h, or (2) delayed cerebral infarction, which was defined as new cerebral infarction, not related to post-treatment (coiling or clipping) complications, rebleed, progressive hydrocephalus, electrolyte or metabolic disturbance, or infection, occurring within the first 3 weeks after ictus. A surrogate outcome, delayed cerebral infarction, was similarly defined as new cerebral infarction not related to post-treatment (coiling or clipping) complications, rebleed, progressive hydrocephalus, electrolyte or metabolic disturbance, or infection, occurring within the first 3 weeks after ictus. These diagnoses were based on clinical, radiological, and laboratory assessments by independent neurosurgeons.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were generated using SPSS for Windows, Version 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Statistical significance was taken as p < 0.05 or 95% CI of OR not including 1. Data were represented using number (percentage) for categorical variables and mean plus or minus standard deviation for the numerical variables. Length of hospital stay and length of intensive care unit stay were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. Binary logistic regression analyses were carried out using the Enter method, and results were represented using ORs and 95% CIs.

Results

The IMASH trial results were reported recently [4]. Briefly, there was no difference in the incidences of DCI and clinical outcome measures between the magnesium sulfate infusion and placebo saline infusion groups. Three hundred and twentyseven patients from ten participating centers were included in the trial.

Seventy-one (22%) patients developed DCI, and 35 of the patients developed delayed cerebral infarction. Permanent focal neurological deficits occurred in 17/71 (24%) patients, and there were 7/71 (10%) deaths directly related to DCI. Length of hospital stay (32 ± 22 vs. 28 ± 22 days, p=0.003) and length of intensive care unit stay (13 ± 8 vs. 8 ± 7 days, p<0.001) were significantly longer for patients with DCI. Length of intensive care unit stay (12 ± 9 vs. 9 ± 7 days, p=0.030), but not

length of hospital stay, was significantly longer for patients with delayed cerebral infarction. Clinical deterioration per se did not predict the length of either intensive care unit stay or hospital stay. However, only 18 (25%) patients with DCI and 7/35 (20%) patients with delayed cerebral infarction had mean middle cerebral artery velocities (transcranial Doppler ultrasound) over 120 cm/s.

Regarding the prognostic significance of the components of DCI, delayed cerebral infarction, but not clinical deterioration, predicted favorable outcome in terms of GOSE (OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.3–7.8), good outcome in terms of mRS (OR 3.0, 95% CI 1.2–7.7), and independent activity of daily living in terms of BI (OR 3.6, 95% CI 1.4–9.2) at 6 months after adjustments for age, sex, admission WFNS grade, Fisher's scale, intraventricular hemorrhage, and intracerebral hemorrhage. On the other hand, clinical deterioration predicted inpatient mortality (OR 8.8, 95% CI 1.6–48.8) after adjustments for age, sex, admission WFNS grade, Fisher's scale, intraventricular hemorrhage, and intracerebral hemorrhage.

Discussion

Previous studies on prognostic models with adjustments for prognostic factors focused on aneurysmal SAH patients who underwent microsurgical clipping [11–14]. When the results of the ISAT (International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial) were published in 2002 [15], most referral neurosurgical centers switched to an endovascular first policy and reserved microsurgical clipping for wide-necked or giant aneurysms. The proportion of patients undergoing endovascular coiling for ruptured aneurysms subsequently reached 70–90%, compared to less than 30% previously. In addition, the standards of neurointensive care and imaging have improved dramatically in the past decade. Accordingly, it appears to be a suitable time to review the prognostic value of DCI such as cerebral infarction.

Of the 21% of patients with DCI, the Columbia University group reported that asymptomatic infarction resulted in more patients with unfavorable outcome than symptomatic DCI [16]. Another recent cohort showed that DCI, including cerebral infarction, was associated with unfavorable outcome [17]. However, no individual analyses of delayed cerebral infarction were conducted in both studies. A recent consensus suggested that cerebral infarction on plain computed tomography (CT) is the most objective measure for DCI based on the British Aneurysm Nimodipine Trial and the four tirilazad SAH trials [18, 19], in which data were obtained mainly from microsurgically treated intracranial aneurysms. Including an equal proportion of aneurysmal SAH patients who have undergone microsurgical clipping and endovascular embolization, we found that cerebral infarction was the primary component of DCI that predicted unfavorable outcomes at 6 months after adjustments for age, sex, admission WFNS, and initial CT findings. This is similar to the results of the pre-ISAT tirilazad studies [11] and suggests a common etiology to poor neurological outcome.

However, defining delayed cerebral infarction among all the causes of CT hypointensities can be difficult with plain CT alone, and attributing hypodensities on CT to angiographic vasospasm is not sensitive and is unreliable [20, 21]. Further studies are required to define a practical method for clinical evaluation.

Acknowledgements None.

Sources of Funding IMASH was supported by the Hong Kong Research Grant Council. The funding source had no role in the study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of data, manuscript preparation or decision for submission.

Disclosure None.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Sudlow CL, Warlow CP (1997) Comparable studies of the incidence of stroke and its pathological types: results from an international collaboration. Stroke 28:491–499
- Huang CY, Chan FL, Yu YL, Woo E, Chin D (1990) Cerebrovascular disease in Hong Kong Chinese. Stroke 21:230–235
- Johnston SC, Selvin S, Gress DR (1998) The burden, trends, and demographics of mortality from subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 50:1413–1418
- Wong GK, Poon WS, Boet R, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B, IMASH Investigators (2010) Intravenous magnesium sulphate after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a multi-center phase III study. Stroke 41(5):921–926
- Wong GK, Poon WS, Boet R, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B (2010) Plasma magnesium concentrations and clinical outcomes in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients: post-hoc analysis of intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (IMASH) trial. Stroke 41:1841–1844
- Wong GK, Boet R, Poon WS, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B (2011) Intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated systemic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care 15(1):R52
- Westermaier T, Stetter C, Vince GH, Pham M, Tejon JP, Eriskat J, Kunze E, Matthies C, Ernestus RI, Solymosi L, Roosen K (2010) Prophylactic intravenous magnesium sulfate for treatment of

aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized placebo-controlled, clinical study. Crit Care Med 38(5):1284–1290

- Wilson JTL, Pettigrew LEL, Teasdale GM (1998) Structured interviews for the Glasgow outcome scale and extended Glasgow outcome scale: guidelines for their use. J Neurotrauma 15:573–585
- Wilson JTL, Hareendran A, Grant M, Baird T, Schulz UG, Muir KW, Bone I (2002) Improving the assessment of outcomes in stroke: use of a structural interview to assign grades on the modified Rankin scale. Stroke 33:2243–2246
- Mahoney FI, Barthel D (1965) Functional evaluation: the Barthel index. Md State Med J 14:56–61
- Rosengart AJ, Schultheiss KE, Tolentino J, Macdonald RL (2007) Prognostic factors for outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 38:2315–2321
- Torner JC, Kassell NF, Wallace RB, Adams HP (1981) Preoperative prognostic factors for rebleeding and survival in aneurysm patients receiving antifibrinolytic therapy: report of the cooperative aneurysm study. Neurosurgery 9:506–513
- Kassell NF, Torner JC, Haley EC Jr, Jane JA, Adams HP, Kongable GL (1990) The international cooperative study on the timing of aneurysm surgery. Part 1: overall management results. J Neurosurg 73:18–36
- Niskanen MM, Hernesniemi JA, Vapalahti MP, Kari A (1993) One-year outcome in early aneurysm surgery: prediction of outcome. Acta Neurochir 123:25–32
- 15. Molyneux A, Kerr R, Stratton I, Sandercock P, Shrimpton J, Holman R, Group ISATIC (2002) International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomized trial. Lancet 36:1267–1274
- Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Fernandez A, Claassen J, Rincon F, Ostaptovich ND, Badjatia N, Parra A, Connolly ES, Mayer SA (2008) Frequency and clinical impact of asymptomatic cerebral infarction due to vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 109:1052–1059
- Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Wartenberg KE, Badjatia N, Connolly ES, Mayer SA (2009) Defining vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: what is the most clinical relevant definition? Stroke 40:1963–1968
- 18. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Drier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observation studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41(10):2391–2395
- Kreiter KT, Mayer SA, Howard G, Knappertz V, Ilodigwe D, Sloan MA, Macdonald RL (2009) Sample size estimates for clinical trials of vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 40:2362–2367
- Hopyan J, Ciarallo A, Dowlatshahi D, Howard P, John V, Yeung R, Zhang L, Kim J, MacFarlane G, Lee TY, Aviv RI (2010) Certainty of stroke diagnosis: incremental benefit with CT perfusion over noncontrast CT and CT angiography. Radiology 255(1):142–153
- Ibrahim GM, Weidauer S, Vatter H, Raabe A, Macdonald RL (2012) Attributing hypodensities on CT to angiographic vasospasm is not sensitive and unreliable. Stroke. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.111.632745

Identifying Patient Report Outcomes Relevant to Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Follow-Up

Stuart Ross, Deepti Bhargava, Yahia Al-Tamimi, Tony Goddard, Alan Tennant, and Audrey Quinn

Abstract Patients recovered from subarachnoid hemorrhage can be assessed for neuropsychological dysfunction using postal questionnaires. We assessed 214 patients using various tests of memory, mood and strategic thinking. Patients in good outcome categories (modified Rankin Scale [mRS] 0–1) nevertheless exhibited mood disorder (28%), memory deficit and executive dysfunction (20%). Return to work (49%) was most influenced by previous employment status, Rankin scale and mood.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Outcomes Neuropsychological • Morbidity

Introduction

The outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) has traditionally been measured using the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) or, more recently, the modified Rankin Scale (mRS). The latter has the advantage of having been verified in a telephoned or self-reporting method. A disadvantage of both scales is that over 75% of patients fall into the uppermost category. Whilst this reflects well the overall outcome and management of what can be a devastating disease, patients frequently complain of significant symptoms even though they might be rated as having a good outcome. The symptoms often relate to psychological issues such as

S. Ross (\boxtimes), D. Bhargava, Y. Al-Tamimi, and T. Goddard Department of Neurosurgery,

Leeds General Infirmary and University of Leeds, Leeds, UK e-mail: stuart.ross@leedsth.nhs.uk

A. Tennant Department of Rehabilitation, Leeds General Infirmary and University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

A. Quinn Department of Anaesthesiology, Leeds General Infirmary and University of Leeds, Leeds, UK poor memory and concentration, mood swings and difficulty dealing with social interaction. Many such patients fail to fit back into society after SAH and cannot return to work [12]. Thus, the topmost category of outcome remains associated with significant loss of economic and social quality of life.

In parallel, studies of SAH and the influence of vasospasm have led to uncertainty that current outcome scales are sensitive to the vagaries of the initial bleed or to the effects of delayed ischaemic neurological deficit (DIND) and its management. Thus, the statement that DIND affects one third of SAH patients and is the most significant cause of secondary morbidity seems to be contradicted by prognostic models, which are greatly influenced by age, initial World Federation of Neurosurgeons (WFNS), a grading scale for subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Methods

Recognising this paradox, utilising a battery of self-reporting measures we attempted to survey neuropsychological morbidity in SAH patients. We selected tools that interrogate the known aspects of psychological dysfunction. Table 1 shows the battery of test questionnaires. We wanted to look at memory and concentration and chose the Everyday Memory Questionnaire (EMQ) to assess it. Mood was Wimbledon Self-Report Scale (WSRS). We reasoned that complexities of social interaction and structured thinking might be assessed using the Dysexecutive (DEX) Questionnaire. The influence of physical disability was rated using the Barthel Index (BI) and the Stroke-Symptom Checklist (SSC), together with a measure of quality of life. It was important to check that patients could read the questionnaires, and those failing the short-sentences test were eliminated from the study.

The questionnaires were posted to participating patients between 6 months and 1 year following the hemorrhage. Until 2005, the Leeds neurosurgical unit had little access to interventional radiology, so over 90% of patients had clipping as their primary method of aneurysm isolation. After

 Table 1
 Questionnaires

AKC short sentences test	A simple 10-point test to confirm that the patient is able to read and understand the booklet. Scores range from 0 to 10
Postal Barthel Index (BI)	A 10-item list that assesses various aspects of mobility and activities (ref). The patient rates his or her level of independence in each of the activities according to specified criteria. Scores range from 0 to 100 $$
Self-report Dysexecutive (DEX) Questionnaire	The DEX questionnaire is a recently developed standardised self-report measure of behavioral difficulties associated with executive functioning such as impulsivity, inhibition control, monitoring and planning. Here the patient rates the frequency of difficulties with emotions or personality, motivation, behavior and cognitive problems on a 5-point scale ranging from never to very often. Scores range from 0 to 80
Everyday Memory Questionnaire (EMQ)	A 35-item questionnaire assessing the incidence of memory failures based on different everyday errors. For each of these errors, the patient rates their frequency, ranging from 'never' (score of 0) to 'all the time' (score of 4)
Stroke Symptom Checklist (SSC)	A checklist of 12 common symptoms (including effects of mood, cognition and physical problems) that are associated with brain injury. Patients score a point if symptoms are worse now than prior to their illness. Scores range from 0 to 12
Wimbledon Self-Report Scale (WSRS)	The WSRS was originally standardised on a hospital population with predominantly neurological disorders. It provides a general appraisal of mood rather than being limited to specific symptoms of anxiety or depression. The patient has to rate on a 4-point scale the frequency with which 30 emotions occur, ranging from most of the time to not all. Scored in a 0011 fashion, scores of 0–7 are normal, 8–10 are borderline and 11–30 represent clinically significant mood disturbance
Modified Rankin Score (mRS)	The mRS has been adopted in stroke research as the primary clinical endpoint in most trials. It is a 6-point scale of independence and difficulties with activities of daily living, ranging from needing constant care to complete independence. It has been shown that a mRS score of 0 (no symptoms) often correlates to the perception of complete recovery
Stroke QoL	A new (as-yet-unpublished) needs-based stroke-specific quality-of-life scale for which some of the qualitative interviews included SAH. Comprises 30 dichotomous items; a high score represents poor quality of life

2005, over 80% were treated by endovascular means, so the two cohorts, before and after the introduction of coiling, allow an interesting comparison to gauge the influence of craniotomy on psychological outcome.

Results

Of 376 sent, 214 questionnaires were returned, representing 57% of those participating. For cohort 1, 97 were admitted between 1998 and 2004, whereas 117 were admitted between 2005 and 2008 (cohort 2).

The mean ages were 55.5 (SD 12.37) and 57.40 (SD 9.12), respectively, for cohorts 1 and 2. The cohort 1 and 2 preponderance of female patients was 62% and 73%, respectively, a nonsignificant difference. Of the patients, 86.9% (cohort 1) and 79.9% (cohort 2) were classed as mRS 0 or 1, equivalent to a Good Outcome on the GOS. Similarly, cohorts 1 and 2 were comparable for WFNS grade and previous employment status.

Analysis of the questionnaires showed that 28% had a significant mood disorder. Impairments were reported by 20%; these impairments were of everyday memory, including of speech and reading and writing, and various behavioural difficulties associated with executive functioning, such as impulsivity.

Of 137 patients employed prior to the hemorrhage, only 67 (49%) had returned to work at follow-up.

Structured equation modelling was used to build the interaction between the variables. Cognitive deficits as measured by DEX and mood disorder on the Wimbledon scale explained a third of variance in outcome measured by selfassessed Rankin.

While cognitive deficits and mood disorder themselves directly affect Rankin outcome, there was also an indirect path by which cognitive problems increased the likelihood of mood disorder with an subsequent effect on outcome. Gender acted as a significant independent contextual variable.

Discussion

The age, grade and aneurysm site distribution of the cohorts was similar to literature reports. The high proportion of females in our SAH population has previously been discussed. The outcome of the patients was acceptable, with over 80% in grades 0–1 as measured by mRS.

The rating questionnaires used gave results compatible with expected outcomes and Factor analysis of individual scales lent credence to their validity in this population. There was a hierarchical ordering of items in frequency of reporting. Thus the scales worked well in assessing cognitive and mood disturbances in the population of patients recovering from subarachnoid hemorrhage.

This study gives another insight into the differences between clipping and coiling treatment of aneurysmal SAH. The International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) [1] firmly established coiling as the treatment of choice; nevertheless, clipping is still required in many cases. The action of craniotomy and brain dissection would be expected to be associated with increased deficit initially. This study found that surgery was associated with more impairments and poorer quality of life, although only the SSC showed a significant difference.

As expected, many of those in mRS groups 0 and 1 showed cognitive and mood disturbances.

The recognition of psychological abnormalities after SAH is well established [2, 3]. Various interrogative tools have been used to reflect problems in a wide spectrum of psychosocial categories. Deane et al. [3] noted that, of the respondents with a GOS score of Good Outcome, the SF-36 score was reduced in each domain. The most notable score reduction was in the role-function physical domain, where the mean score was 48% compared with a population norm of 88%. Mood disorder is commonly encountered. Depression was found in as many as 30% of the SAH patients in one study [4]. Post-traumatic stress symptoms, described as intrusive thoughts or avoidance of reminders, have been recognised in SAH patients [5, 6]. Memory deficit may be included with cognitive deficit, which describes more widespread phenomena involving complex brain function. This 'executive function' is predominantly mediated by the frontal lobes and manifests in activities like planning, inhibition, problem solving, attention, and decision making. Ravnik and colleagues [7], investigating patients with clipped anterior communicating artery aneurysms, found that patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (aSAH) reported attentional deficits most frequently, yet patients performed better on tests of attention than on tests of other cognitive domains.

The cause of psychological disorders remains uncertain. Early studies related cognitive deficit to the initial impact of the hemorrhage [8]. Clinical and radiological parameters reflecting the impact of the bleed were related to memory function, intelligence, and aphasia. However, Haug et al. [9] reported that the site of the aneurysm and mode of treatment could not be linked to neuropsychological outcome. Springer and colleagues reported that after the effects of age, education, and race/ethnicity were controlled for, risk factors for cognitive impairment at 12 months included anemia, treatment with transfusion (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 3.4; P=0.006), any temperature level higher than 38.6°C (AOR 2.7; P=0.016), and delayed cerebral ischemia (AOR 3.6; P=0.01) [10].

The time course of recovery seems to be longer than physical symptoms. GOS and mRS measure mainly motor skills and are generally assessed at 6 months. Ljunggren estimated that (cognitive) symptoms were still present 3¹/₂ years after the ictus [2]. Others suggested that cognitive impairment may improve in a third of affected patients between 3 and 12 months [5, 10]. Factors thought to be associated with persistence of impairment were older age, less education, nonwhite race, fever, poor initial grade, hyperglycaemia and delayed cerebral ischaemia. Improvement in verbal memory may occur between 6 and 12 months [9]. Post stress symptoms decreased from 60% at 3 months to 30% at 9 months. Mood at 9 months was predicted by prior mental health problems, poor physical health, dysphasia, and impaired prose recall at 3 months [5]. Springer found that 34% of patients who were cognitively impaired at 3 months had improved at 1 year. This was associated with the following factors: more than 12 years of education and the absence of fever higher than 38.6°C during hospitalization [10]. Whilst a 30% recovery over the first year is commonly reported, Haug found the frequency of cognitive impairment was 27% at 3 months and 21% at 12 months [9]. This group also found that verbal memory improved little until after 6 months, whereas Al-Khindi saw improvement of language function as early as 3 months [11].

Conclusions

This study confirmed that patient-reported outcome, measured by postal questionnaire, can be used to assess cognitive and mood disorders in good-grade (mRS 0–1) patients after SAH. A link between physical deficit and mood was established. Return to work was influenced not only by these but also by cognitive deficits, expressed in the DEX questionnaire. The results indicate a clear need for intervention directed specifically to address these problems and improve the socioeconomic well-being of those who are physically well.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) Collaborative Group (2002) International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised trial. Lancet 360:1267–1274
- Ljunggren B, Sonesson B, Saeveland H, Brandt L (1985) Cognitive impairment and adjustment in patients without neurological deficits after aneurysmal SAH and early operation. J Neurosurg 62:673–679
- Deane M, Pigott T, Dearing P (1996) The value of the short form 36 score in the outcome assessment of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Br J Neurosurg 10:187–191

- Huetter BO, Gilsbach JM, Kreitschmann I (1995) Quality of life and cognitive deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Br J Neurosurg 9:465–475
- Powell J, Kitchen N, Heslin J, Greenwood R (2002) Psychosocial outcomes at three and nine months after good neurological recovery from aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage: predictors and prognosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 72:772–781
- Hedlund M, Zetterling M, Ronne-Engstrom E, Carlsson M, Ekselius L (2011) Depression and post-traumatic stress disorder after aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage in relation to lifetime psychiatric morbidity. Br J Neurosurg 25:693–700
- Ravnik J, Starovasnik B, Sesok S, Pirtosek Z, Svigelj V, Bunc G, Bosnjak R (2006) Long-term cognitive deficits in patients with good outcomes after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage from anterior communicating artery. Croat Med J 47:253–263
- Berry E, Jones RAC, West CGH, Brown JDK (1997) Outcome of subarachnoid hemorrhage. An analysis of surgical variables, cog-

nitive and emotional sequelae related to SPECT scanning. Br J Neurosurg 11:378–387

- Haug T, Sorteberg A, Sorteberg W, Lindegaard KF, Lundar T, Finset A (2007) Cognitive outcome after aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage: time course of recovery and relationship to clinical, radiological, and management parameters. Neurosurgery 60:649–657
- Springer MV, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Frontera JA, Badjatia N, Mayer SA (2009) Predictors of global cognitive impairment 1 year after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 65:1043–1051
- Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA (2010) Cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 41:e519–e536
- Lindberg M, Angquist KA, Fodstad H, Fugl-Meyer K, Fugl-Meyer A (1992) Self-reported prevalence of disability after subarachnoid hemorrhage, with special emphasis on return to leisure and work. Br J Neurosurg 6:297–304

Global Cerebral Atrophy After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Possible Marker of Acute Brain Injury and Assessment of Its Impact on Outcome

Alan K.H. Tam, Don Ilodigwe, Zeyu Li, Tom A. Schweizer, and R. Loch Macdonald

Abstract There is a correlation between poor neuropsychological outcome and focal regions of atrophy in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). No study has investigated the impact of global brain atrophy on outcome after SAH. In other neurological disorders, such as multiple sclerosis, a correlation has been found between global atrophy and outcome. This analysis of patients entered into a randomized clinical trial of clazosentan in patients with SAH (CONSCIOUS-1) investigated the relationship between global cerebral atrophy, clinical factors, and outcome.

The 413 patients in the CONSCIOUS-1 study underwent cranial computed tomography (CT) on admission and 6 weeks after SAH. After patients with large clip/coil artefacts and those with infarctions on CT were excluded, 97 patients remained and had voxel-based volumetric measurements of the baseline and 6-week CT scans. The percentage difference in volume between times was taken and analysed against clinical variables. Relationships were modeled using univariate and multivariate analysis.

Age, female gender, and higher body temperature during the patient's stay in the intensive care unit were significantly correlated with brain atrophy. Greater brain atrophy significantly correlated with poor outcome (modified Rankin scale), more severe neurological deficits on the National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS), and poorer health status (EQ-5D).

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Outcome • Brain atrophy • CONSCIOUS

A.K.H. Tam, M.D.

Division of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

D. Ilodigwe, M. Stat., Z. Li, T.A. Schweizer, Ph.D., and R.L. Macdonald, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON, M5B 1W8, Canada

Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: macdonaldlo@smh.ca

Introduction

Patients who suffer subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) experience higher rates of morbidity and mortality compared to those who have other types of strokes [7]. These poor outcomes may be due in part to cerebral infarction secondary to vasospasm or systemic inflammation, although the mechanisms by which poor clinical outcome occur due to these complications is unclear [11, 12]. Global brain atrophy in these patients may play a role as previous studies have linked regional brain atrophy in SAH with poor clinical outcome [2].

Prior research investigating brain atrophy in patients with stroke and SAH has focused on infarct volumes as a supplement to evaluating SAH patients [1, 9]. The results have been inconsistent. The inconsistency may be due to the use of different imaging modalities between studies, with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies demonstrating weak correlation between infarct volume and poor clinical outcome and studies using computed tomography (CT) not finding such a relationship. Although MRI may be a better imaging modality in terms of image quality, it is less practical due to cost, technical difficulties in the acute care setting, and limited access.

In the CONSCIOUS-1 study, all patients had CT scans at baseline, 24–48 h after treatment of the ruptured aneurysm, and 6 weeks post-SAH. Using these data, we were able to study whether global brain atrophy has a relationship to outcome in this patient population by examining the extent of brain atrophy in each patient's CT scan 6 weeks post-SAH compared to their baseline CT. In Addition, we examined patient factors and interventions performed after SAH that may contribute to greater brain atrophy.

Methods

The CONSCIOUS-1 study was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial involving 413 patients with aneurysmal SAH. Patients were randomized to treatment with

placebo or 1 of 3 doses of clazosentan, an endothelin A receptor antagonist. The inclusion and exclusion criteria and study methodology of CONSCIOUS-1 have been described [6].

Of the 413 patients, those with lesions or infarctions on baseline (24 or 48 h after SAH treatment) or week 6 cranial CT scan were excluded to ensure calculated brain volume changes would be due solely to atrophy. Of the remaining 183 patients, additional patients were excluded if they had nondigitalized CT scans (30), there were discrepancies in scanning protocol between baseline and week 6 CT (37), and if there were large clip/coil artefacts that could not be compensated for in the volume analysis (19). This left 97 patients for analysis.

Baseline and week 6 CT images were loaded into MRIcro (version 1.40, Chris Rorden). All CT images were set at a common brightness and contrast value, and a common intensity filter was applied. Images were saved in Analyze format (version 9.0, AnalyzeDirect). They were converted to binary intensity images to allow easier delineation between brain tissue and nontissue space-occupying brain regions (i.e., cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] and ventricles). Converted images were loaded into Analyze. Region-of-interest (ROI) tracings of filtered images for brain tissue were performed in Analyze by outlining the intracranial tissue in each CT slice and outlining nontissue volume (i.e., ventricular volume) as a separate region to remove this from the volume calculation. Voxel-based volumetric measurement was then performed on the outlined intracranial volume in each slice, with summing of volume measurements for all slices from a given time point for each patient.

Clinical outcomes included measurement by National Institute of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) at 6 weeks and Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS), modified Rankin scale (mRS), EuroQol group 5-dimenstion (EQ-5D) score, and Functional Status Examination (FSE). Other demographics, clinical characteristics on admission, medical history, method of aneurysm treatment, radiological data, and complications during hospitalization were extracted from the CONSCIOUS-1 data.

Percentage difference in volume between time points for each patient was calculated with the following formula: ([Week 6 volume – Baseline volume]/Baseline volume) × 100%. Patients were divided into two groups: global brain atrophy greater than median and global brain atrophy less than median. Data comparing the two ROI volumetric measurements are presented as the mean plus or minus the standard error of the mean (SEM). The first analysis examined variables of interest as independent variables with respect to brain atrophy and the percentage of brain volume loss as the dependent and used 2-tailed *t* tests for continuous variables, Mann-Whitney tests for variables with multiple categories, and χ^2 tests for binary variables. Baseline variables and early interventions with P < 0.20 in univariate analysis were included in the multivariable models of associations with brain atrophy. Adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated. Second, an analysis of the correlation between atrophy and outcome measures was performed. The analysis of the relationship between atrophy and clinical outcome was done, with adjustment for confounders age [10], surgical treatment of aneurysm [4], high blood glucose level [3], hypertension [8], systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) [5] and smoking [13].

Results

Comparing baseline and week 6 volume measurements, the mean brain volume loss was $-3.15\pm0.57\%$, with a median of -1.65%. The clinical characteristics of the 97 patients divided by those with brain atrophy values greater and less than the median, are outlined in Table 1. Twenty-eight of 97 patients had an increase in their brain volume measurement, with a mean increase of $2.05\pm0.32\%$. Factors known to affect brain volume that could be not controlled for in CONSCIOUS-1, such as cerebral edema, nutrition and other systemic illness, may be contributors to/causes of this finding.

In univariate analysis, patients with greater brain volume losses were more likely to have delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs, 10% vs. 0%, P < 0.10) and angiographic vasospasm (41% vs. 24%, P < 0.10). Less brain atrophy was observed in females (77% vs. 57%, P < 0.05) and younger patients (mean age 48±11 vs. 52±10, P < 0.05). Greater brain atrophy was seen in patients with higher mean systolic blood pressure (168±18 vs. 161±18, P < 0.10) and elevated mean body temperature in the intensive care unit (ICU) (37.8±0.64 vs. 37.4±0.35, P < 0.01). A higher SIRS burden was correlated with greater brain atrophy (1.25 vs. 0.88, P < 0.10).

Clinical variables with P < 0.10 in univariate analysis from Table 1 were tested for correlation with brain atrophy in a multivariate analysis. Brain atrophy was significantly correlated with age (OR 0.95, CI 0.89–0.997), female gender (OR 3.32, CI 1.06–10.47) and ICU body temperature (OR 0.22, CI 0.07–0.68). Analysis of brain atrophy in relation to clinical outcomes, adjusted for factors associated with brain atrophy (as computed in the univariate analysis; Table 2), along with potential confounders (as listed in the Methods section) revealed a significant correlation between brain atrophy and poor functional outcome (mRS, OR 0.084, CI 0.01–0.72). As well, brain atrophy was correlated with severity of deficits on the NIHSS (OR 0.22, CI 0.07–0.76) and health status/quality of life (EQ-5D score, OR 3.18, CI 1.06–9.56).

Characteristic	Brain atrophy less than median	Brain atrophy greater than median	Univariate P	Multivariable odds ratio	95% CI for odds ratio	Multivariate P
Age	48 ± 11	52±10	0.0455	0.95	0.89–0.997	0.0396
Gender, female	37 (77)	28 (57)	0.0368	3.32	1.06 - 10.47	0.0401
Hypertension	16 (33)	15 (31)	0.7739			
Diabetes	2 (5)	4 (10)	0.4212			
Smoking	25 (60)	22 (58)	0.8825			
Heart disease	0 (0)	3 (8)	0.1071			
Antiepileptic drug use	14 (29)	10 (20)	0.3176			
Seizures	3 (6)	8 (16)	0.1176			
Hydrocephalus	42 (88)	45 (92)	0.524			
Intraventricular hemorrhage	40 (83)	39 (80)	0.6356			
Intraparenchymal hemorrhage	0 (0)	3 (6)	0.2423			
Aneurysm size ≤5 mm	15 (37)	16 (42)	0.6156			
Aneurysm size >5 mm	26 (63)	22 (58)				
Angiographic vasospasm	11 (24)	19 (41)	0.0752			
DIND	0 (0)	5(10)	0.0562			
Intensive care						
Body temperature	37.4 ± 0.35	37.8 ± 0.64	0.0003	0.22	0.07-0.68	0.0081
Systolic blood pressure	161 ± 18	168 ± 18	0.0541			
Diastolic blood pressure	75 ± 11	76±9	0.649			
Mean arterial pressure	95 ± 16	95 ± 14	0.969			
SIRS burden, median	0.875	1.25	0.0752			
SIRS	19 (40)	24 (49)	0.3517			
Procedure			0.4456			
Surgical clipping	16 (33)	20 (41)				
Endovascular coiling	32 (67)	29 (59)				
GOSE (dichotomized)	2 (4)	11 (22)	0.0082			
mRS (dichotomized)	2 (4)	11 (22)	0.0145			
NIHSS (dichotomized)	0 (0)	2 (4)	0.4948			
EQTOT (dichotomized)	33 (69)	29 (59)	0.3266			
FSE (dichotomized)	27 (56)	22 (45)	0.2635			
FSE	9.5 ± 5.9	12.4 ± 8.4	0.0549			

Outcome	Characteristic	Unadjusted odds ratio, 95% CI	Р	Adjusted odds ratio, 95% CI	Р
Poor functional outcome (GOSE, mRS)	Brain volume change, %	0.150 (0.03–0.72)	0.0177	0.084 (0.01–0.72)	0.0238
	Systolic blood pressure			1.05 (1.003–1.10)	0.0381
NIHSS (dichotomized)	Brain volume change, %	0.35 (0.13-0.95)	0.0401	0.22 (0.07-0.76)	0.0163
	Age			0.92 (0.86-0.98)	0.0099
	Systolic blood pressure			1.04 (1.003–1.08)	0.0324
FSE (dichotomized)	Brain volume change, %	1.58 (0.71–3.52)	0.2646	1.91 (0.75–4.86)	0.1747
	Systolic blood pressure			0.97 (0.95-0.999)	0.0419
EQTOT (dichotomized)	Brain volume change, %	1.23 (0.55–2.74)	0.6182	3.18 (1.06–9.56)	0.0396
	Age			1.05 (0.99–1.10)	0.1004
	Gender, female			0.38 (0.13–1.11)	0.0768
	SIRS burden			1.16 (0.60-2.25)	0.6542

Table 2 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of brain atrophy on clinical outcome measurements

GOSE Glasgow Outcome Scale, Extended, mRS modified Rankin Scale, NIHSS National Institute of Health Stroke Scale, FSE Functional Status Examination, EQTOT EuroQol group 5-dimension

Conclusion

The results of this study demonstrated a relationship between global brain atrophy in patients with SAH and clinical outcome. More atrophy was associated with poor outcome on the mRS, lower FES scores and lower EQ-5D scores. These findings are consistent with prior studies showing a relationship between brain atrophy and neuropsychological outcome (memory, language, mental processing) [1, 2], although these studies looked at deficits at 1 year post event compared to 3 months in the current analysis. The CONSCIOUS-1 study was not designed to analyze brain volume as it related to outcome. MRI images were not obtained for all patients, and CT images were used to calculate brain volumes in this analysis. Future studies using computer-automated volumetric analysis of MRI images may provide additional insight into the relationship between global brain atrophy and clinical outcome in SAH.

Despite this study's limitations, this analysis of the CONSCIOUS-1 patients provides support for the possibility that SAH patients may suffer functional deficits secondary to brain atrophy independent of focal lesions and effects of angiographic vasospasm and DIND.

Conflicts of Interest RLM receives grant support from the Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation, Brain Aneurysm Foundation and Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada and is a stockholder of Edge Therapeutics. RLM is a consultant for Actelion Pharmaceuticals and Chief Scientific Officer of Edge Therapeutics.

References

- Bendel P, Koivisto T, Aikia M, Niskanen E, Kononen M, Hanninen T, Vanninen R (2010) Atrophic enlargement of CSF volume after subarachnoid hemorrhage: correlation with neuropsychological outcome. AJNR 31:370–376
- Bendel P, Koivisto T, Niskanen E, Kononen M, Aikia M, Hanninen T, Koskenkorva P, Vanninen R (2009) Brain atrophy and neuropsychological outcome after treatment of ruptured anterior cerebral artery aneurysms: a voxel-based morphometric study. Neuroradiology 51:711–722
- Biessels GJ, Koffeman A, Scheltens P (2006) Diabetes and cognitive impairment. Clinical diagnosis and brain imaging in patients attending a memory clinic. J Neurol 253:477–482
- Hadjivassiliou M, Tooth CL, Romanowski CA, Byrne J, Battersby RD, Oxbury S, Crewswell CS, Burkitt E, Stokes NA, Paul C, Mayes AR, Sagar HJ (2001) Aneurysmal SAH: cognitive outcome and structural damage after clipping or coiling. Neurology 56:1672–1677
- Lin X, Blumhardt LD (2001) Inflammation and atrophy in multiple sclerosis: MRI associations with disease course. J Neurol Sci 189:99–104
- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A (2008) Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39: 3015–3021
- Pobereskin LH (2001) Incidence and outcome of subarachnoid haemorrhage: a retrospective population based study. JNNP 70:340–343
- Salerno JA, Murphy DG, Horwitz B, DeCarli C, Haxby JV, Rapoport SI, Schapiro MB (1992) Brain atrophy in hypertension. A volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. Hypertension 20:340–348

- Saver JL, Johnston KC, Homer D, Wityk R, Koroshetz W, Truskowski LL, Haley EC (1999) Infarct volume as a surrogate or auxiliary outcome measure in ischemic stroke clinical trials. The RANTTAS investigators. Stroke 30:293–298
- Scahill RI, Frost C, Jenkins R, Whitwell JL, Rossor MN, Fox NC (2003) A longitudinal study of brain volume changes in normal aging using serial registered magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Neurol 60:989–994
- Tam AK, Ilodigwe D, Mocco J, Mayer S, Kassell N, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Pasqualin A, Macdonald RL (2010) Impact of systemic inflammatory response syndrome on vasos-

pasm, cerebral infarction, and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: exploratory analysis of CONSCIOUS-1 database. Neurocrit Care 13:182–189

- Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. Stroke 42:924–929
- Zivadinov R, Weinstock-Guttman B, Hashmi K, Abdelrahman N, Stosic M, Dwyer M, Hussein S, Durfee J, Ramanathan M (2009) Smoking is associated with increased lesion volumes and brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 73:504–510

Protein Biomarkers in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, Vasospasm, and Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficits

Paul A. Nyquist, Honghui Wang, and Anthony F. Suffredini

Abstract Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is a devastating neurological disease. It has many sequelae, including vasospasm and delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs). We explored the blood proteome in patients with aSAH using transcranial Doppler (TCD) velocity as a guide to patients who are at risk for symptomatic vasospasm and DIND. Blood was drawn on all days that patients were observed in the neurocritical care unit (NCCU) after aSAH. A team of neurologists and neurosurgeons identified patients with clinical evidence of vasospasm and DIND. Serum was fractionated using protein chips and surface-enhanced laser desorption and ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF MS). We detected a pattern of protein expression associated with those at risk for elevated TCD velocities by day 8, compared with blood collected in the presymptomatic stage (days 1-3). We further analyzed serum using pooled samples from study entry to the time of elevated TCD velocities using a protein microarray that analyzed 500 human proteins thematically oriented toward inflammation. After identifying several candidates with elevated concentrations in the pooled samples, we then used reverse protein arrays to quantitate the concentration of potential candidate proteins in the individual samples. Proteins with significantly elevated concentrations included apolipoprotein-E, apolipoprotein-A, serum amyloid protein-4, and serum amyloid protein-P. Future studies in larger sample populations are needed to evaluate these biomarkers further as representative

H. Wang, Ph.D. and A.F. Suffredini, M.D. Critical Care Medicine Department, Clinical Center, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA of biosystems involved in vasospasm and DIND or as potential biomarkers predictive of risk associated with disease.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Vasospasm Biomarkers • Delayed ischemic neurological deficit

Introduction

The morbidity and mortality from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) remains high, with a case fatality rate of 25–50% [4, 5]. Vasospasm is the most common complication of SAH that leads to clinical deterioration; however, its pathophysiology is still poorly understood. The diagnosis of vasospasm is based on clinical signs and symptoms in conjunction with invasive and noninvasive imaging procedures. These include the four-vessel digital angiogram and transcranial Doppler (TCD) [7]. TCD is relatively sensitive and specific for arterial vasoconstriction but less useful in the diagnosis of delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs). Angiography is a sensitive and specific method to demonstrate arterial constriction and vasospasm yet is less useful at predicting the occurrence of DINDs.

Proteomics is the large-scale study of proteins. It is an evolving technology that allows the identification of expressed proteins in any biologic fluid and can facilitate the description of proteins involved in a wide range of biological functions [10]. These methods can help develop candidate proteins that may serve as biomarkers for different disease states [1, 8]. Early experience with proteomics applied to human sera from patients with cancer suggested that this approach has the potential to provide novel information regarding diagnosis, classification, and response to therapy [6]. Protein expression signatures have been used to facilitate early diagnosis of ovarian and prostate cancer and to develop tumor-specific profiles in lung cancer [2, 9, 11].

We explored the application of proteomics to help characterize patients after SAH at risk for vasospasm, DINDs, and

P.A. Nyquist, M.D., MPH (🖂)

Departments of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, Neurology, Neurosurgery, and General Internal Medicine, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Critical Care Medicine Department, Clinical Center, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: pnyquis1@jhmi.edu

responses to therapy. We employed three different approaches to screen for candidate biomarkers. SELDI-TOF MS (surface-enhanced laser desorption and ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry) was used to assess whether serum protein signatures would differentiate between patients with and without vasospasm in the 3 days before vasospasm risk and at peak TCD velocities 8 days after aneurysmal SAH. We also used a protein chip array that evaluated 500 human proteins thematically oriented toward inflammation. Last, we used immunoassays to measure some of these candidate proteins of interest directly.

Methods

Patient Population

Our study included all eligible patients, ages 18–80 years, with aneurysmal SAH who consented for proteomic analysis of blood. All patients had symptom onset within 48 h of presentation. Patients were excluded if they had signs of traumatic SAH, symptom onset >48 h, arteriovenous malformation, tumor, negative angiograms, nonaneurysmal SAH, unknown symptom onset, or pregnancy. The study protocol was approved by our institutional review board, and written informed consent was obtained from each patient or their surrogates.

Diagnosis of Nontraumatic Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, Vasospasm, and DIND

The diagnosis of SAH was based on the presence of an acute bleed on computed tomographic (CT) scan and positive conventional four-vessel cerebral angiogram. If the angiogram was initially positive for aneurysm, then the patient had an aneurysmal bleed. If the angiogram was initially negative for an aneurysm and then a repeat scan at 10–14 days was also negative, the patient was considered angiogram negative. The determination of DINDs was based on the presence of clinical signs of neurological deterioration in the setting of vasospasm. This deficit could include a focal neurological deficit as well as an alteration in Glasgow Coma Scale. Serial TCDs were performed as standard of care to monitor and detect the presence of vasospasm.

Serum Protein Profiles

Serum was collected every day for 15 consecutive days. Each patient had a serum sample obtained within 3 days after the

rupture during the asymptomatic period prior to the beginning of the vasospasm risk period. The final analysis required one serum sample from the prevasospasm period and one sample from the days of maximum risk of onset of vasospasm, days 7-9. The serum was denatured in 9 M urea/2% CHAPS for 30 min and diluted to 200 µl final volume. Each sample was run in duplicate on four different protein chips that enhance the retention of different proteins (CM10 - weak cation exchange, Q10 - strong anion exchange, H50, hydrophobic surface; and IMAC 30, metal-binding surface) (Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA). Samples were run on the Ciphergen PBSIIc at two different laser intensities and instrument settings to optimize peak detection. The spectra were mass aligned, baseline subtracted, and normalized before being subjected to a peak picking algorithm (Ciphergen Express Software 2.1). Mann-Whitney t tests of the mean intensity of each individual peak were calculated to compare differences between the groups as previously described [3].

Antibody Array

We screened samples for novel protein expression using an antibody array (RayBiotech Cytokine 507 Array, RayBiotech, Norcross, GA, USA). Four pooled samples were prepared as follows: (a) 14 patients who developed vasospasm: baseline (group 1) and day 8 ± 2.8 at the time of vasospasm (group 2) and (b) 14 patients with SAH who did not develop vasospasm: baseline (group 3) and follow-up at day 8 ± 2.6 (group 4). The chips were run in duplicate and scanned using the GenePix 4000A and GenePix 3.0. We selected the major induced or repressed proteins for further validation. Validation of selected proteins was done using immunoassays and reverse phase arrays.

Results

Mass spectral peak analysis revealed a number of protein peaks that discriminated between patients who developed vasospasm and DINDs from those who did not. Protein peaks that were elevated in the no vasospasm group included the 9.3-kDa peak from the CM10 chip and the 2.1-kDa peak from the Q10 chip. Increased expression of proteins associated with the vasospasm group included a 51.3-kDa and a 3.3-kDa peak from the Q10 chip and a 4.15- and 12.4-kDa peak from the CM10 chip. The pooled samples assayed with the antibody array revealed several candidate proteins associated with the development of vasospasm (Table 1). Several were analyzed further using immunoassays or reverse phase antibody arrays.
Antibody array	Validation method	Findings and p value
Thrombospondin-1	ELISA and RPA	G2 ↑, G1/G3, <i>p</i> =0.15
Interleukin-9	ELISA	G1/G2, <i>p</i> =0.48, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.1
CTACK (CCL27)	ELISA	G4 ↑, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.02
C-reactive protein	ELISA and RPA	G3 ↓, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.001, G1/G3, <i>p</i> =0.016
Vitronectin	RPA	G4 ↑, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.005
Serum amyloid P	RPA	G2 ↑, G1/G2, <i>p</i> =0.4, G4 ↑, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.01
Apolipoprotein A1	RPA	G2 ↓, G1/G2, p =0.009, G3 ↑, G1/G3, p =0.01
Apolipoprotein E	RPA	G4 ↑, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.006
Serum amyloid A-4	RPA	G2 ↑, G1/G2, <i>p</i> =0.05, G4 ↑, G3/G4, <i>p</i> =0.001

Table 1 Proteins of Biomarkers in patients with, Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, Vasospasm, and Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficits

Vasospasm: baseline (group 1), day 8 ± 2.8 at the time of vasospasm (group 2)

No vasospasm: baseline (group 3), followup at day 8 ± 2.6 (group 4)

ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, RPA reverse phase array

Conclusion

Subarachnoid hemorrhage is unique in its association with vasospasm and DINDs. There is a strong serological link between this disorder and the development of vasospasm. Recent studies suggested that injury within the neurological compartment can be detected in the serum. Our initial results demonstrated how proteomic methods can implicate new pathways and suggest potential novel biological markers. With further validation, patients who are at risk for DINDs may be identified in the presymptomatic stages by detection of novel biomarkers. By employing these methodologies, we are capable of identifying proteins of interest that may affect the development of vasospasm and DINDs. Our study identified proteins in the serum amyloid and apolipoprotein-a) (ApoA) and apoprotein-e (ApoE) family as proteins of interest that may yield insight into the pathophysiology of this disorder.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

 Anderson NL, Anderson NG (2002) The human plasma proteome: history, character, and diagnostic prospects. Mol Cell Proteomics 1:845–867

- Charboneau L, Paweletz CP, Liotta LA (2001) Laser capture microdissection. Curr Protoc Cell Biol Chapter 2:Unit 2 5, p. 2–5
- de Torre C, Ying SX, Munson PJ, Meduri GU, Suffredini AF (2006) Proteomic analysis of inflammatory biomarkers in bronchoalveolar lavage. Proteomics 6:3949–3957
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1997) Case-fatality rates and functional outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. Stroke 28:660–664
- Kolias AG, Sen J, Belli A (2009) Pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: putative mechanisms and novel approaches. J Neurosci Res 87:1–11
- Liotta LA, Petricoin EF (2000) Beyond the genome to tissue proteomics. Breast Cancer Res 2:13–14
- Mayberg MR, Batjer HH, Dacey R, Diringer M, Haley EC, Heros RC, Sternau LL, Torner J, Adams HP Jr, Feinberg W et al (1994) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Circulation 90:2592–2605
- Noel-Georis I, Bernard A, Falmagne P, Wattiez R (2002) Database of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid proteins. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 771:221–236
- Petricoin EF, Ardekani AM, Hitt BA, Levine PJ, Fusaro VA, Steinberg SM, Mills GB, Simone C, Fishman DA, Kohn EC, Liotta LA (2002) Use of proteomic patterns in serum to identify ovarian cancer. Lancet 359:572–577
- Ranish JA, Yi EC, Leslie DM, Purvine SO, Goodlett DR, Eng J, Aebersold R (2003) The study of macromolecular complexes by quantitative proteomics. Nat Genet 33:349–355
- Yanagisawa K, Shyr Y, Xu BJ, Massion PP, Larsen PH, White BC, Roberts JR, Edgerton M, Gonzalez A, Nadaf S, Moore JH, Caprioli RM, Carbone DP (2003) Proteomic patterns of tumour subsets in non-small-cell lung cancer. Lancet 362:433–439

Randomised Trial of Clazosentan, an Endothelin Receptor Antagonist, in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Undergoing Surgical Clipping (CONSCIOUS-2)

R. Loch Macdonald, Randall T. Higashida, Emanuela Keller, Stephan A. Mayer, Andy Molyneux, Andreas Raabe, Peter Vajkoczy, Isabel Wanke, Doris Bach, Aline Frey, Angelina Marr, Sébastien Roux, and Neal Kassell

Abstract We report here results of a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study (http://www.ClinicalTrials. gov, NCT00558311) that investigated the effect of clazosentan (5 mg/h, n=768) or placebo (n=389) administered for up to 14 days in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) repaired by surgical clipping. The primary

R.T. Higashida, M.D. Division of Interventional Neurovascular Radiology, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

E. Keller, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

S.A. Mayer, M.D. Department of Neurology, Columbia University, Columbia, DC, USA

A. Molyneux, M.D. Nuffield Department of Surgery, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

A. Raabe, M.D. Department of Neorosurgery, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

P. Vajkoczy, M.D. Charite Universitaetsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

I. Wanke, M.D. Institut für diagnostische und interventionelle Radiologie und Neuroradiologie, University Hospital of Essen, Essen, Germany

Klinik Hirslanden, Zürich, Switzerland

D. Bach, M.Sc., A. Frey, PharmD., A. Marr, B.Sc., Pharm., and S. Roux, M.D. Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd, Allschwil, Switzerland

N. Kassell, M.D. Department of Neorosurgery, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA, USA

endpoint was a composite of all-cause mortality, new cerebral infarction or delayed ischemic neurological deficit due to vasospasm, and rescue therapy for vasospasm. The main secondary endpoint was the Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE), which was dichotomized. Twenty-one percent of clazosentan- compared to 25% of placebo-treated patients met the primary endpoint (relative risk reduction [RRR] [95% CI]: 17% [-4% to 33%]; p=0.10). Poor outcome (GOSE score \leq 4) occurred in 29% of clazosentan- and 25% of placebo-treated patients (RRR: -18% [-45% to 4%]; p=0.10). In prespecified subgroups, mortality/vasospasmrelated morbidity was reduced in clazosentan-treated patients by 33% (8-51%) in poor WFNS (World Federation of Neurological Surgeons) grade (≥III) and 25% (5-41%) in patients with diffuse, thick SAH. Lung complications, anemia and hypotension occurred more frequently with clazosentan. Mortality (week 12) was 6% in both groups. The results showed that clazosentan nonsignificantly decreased mortality/vasospasm-related morbidity and nonsignificantly increased poor functional outcome in patients with aneurysmal SAH undergoing surgical clipping.

Keywords Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage Clazosentan • Surgical clipping • CONSCIOUS-2

Introduction

About 40% of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) die, and many of the survivors have permanent cognitive and neurological impairment [1, 13]. Morbidity is associated with increasing age, worse clinical grade on admission and delayed complications, principally delayed ischemic neurological deterioration (DIND). Cerebral angiographic vasospasm is highly associated with DIND and has been an important target for prevention and treatment to improve outcome [3, 4]. Unfortunately, current management for vasospasm and DIND is not effective and is expensive. It

R.L. Macdonald, M.D., Ph.D. (🖂)

Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto M5B 1W8, ON, Canada e-mail: macdonaldlo@smh.ca

includes prophylactic nimodipine and rescue therapy with induced hypertension and intra-arterial infusion of vasodilators and angioplasty [5, 7, 14].

Clazosentan is an endothelin A receptor antagonist that has demonstrated significant efficacy against angiographic vasospasm [10, 15]. In a phase 2b study, clazosentan produced a dose-dependent reduction in moderate/severe angiographic vasospasm, amounting to a 65% relative risk reduction (RRR) with the highest dose (15 mg/h) [10]. The current phase 3 study, CONSCIOUS-2, was designed based on the results of the phase 2b study to enrich for patients at risk for vasospasm-related morbidity and targeted patients undergoing surgical clipping.

Methods

This randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trial included patients aged 18–75 years with aneurysmal SAH who had the ruptured aneurysm repaired by surgical clipping. Patients had at least diffuse SAH and were World Federation of Neurological Surgeons (WFNS) grade I–IV. Written informed consent was obtained according to local laws, and the trial was registered with http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT00558311). Additional information on the rationale, study design and methodology is published [11, 12].

Patients were recruited from 102 sites in 27 countries and were assigned (2:1) to receive 5 mg/h clazosentan (Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Allschwil, Switzerland) or placebo within 56 h of SAH. Clazosentan or placebo was administered intravenously for up to 14 days after SAH. The primary endpoint was vasospasm-related morbidity and all-cause mortality within 6 weeks of SAH, defined by at least one of the following: death; vasospasm-related cerebral infarction (where vasospasm was the primary cause or a relevant contributing factor); DIND due to vasospasm (where vasospasm was the primary cause or a relevant contributing factor); or neurological signs or symptoms, in the presence of a positive angiogram, leading to rescue therapy. DIND was defined as a decrease of ≥ 2 points on the modified Glasgow coma scale (mGCS) or an increase of ≥ 2 points on the abbreviated NIHSS (National Institute of Health Stroke Scale) lasting for at least 2 h. Rescue therapy included initiation or increase in dose of an intravenous vasopressor with or without fluid therapy or intra-arterial vasodilator or balloon angioplasty. The main secondary outcome was the Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE) 12 weeks after SAH.

Patient management guidelines were followed by the investigators [11]. Clinical and imaging data were evaluated by a blinded, centralised critical events committee. Prespecified subgroups that were analysed were WFNS grade, clot size, age and gender.

. . . .

R.L. Macdonald et al.

Sample size calculations were done, and analysis was done in accordance with the intention-to-treat principle [12]. Treatment effect was tested by logistic regression adjusted for WFNS (I, II, >II) with the Wald chi-square test used to determine treatment effect.

Results

There were 1,157 patients randomised and 1,147 treated (placebo n = 383; clazosentan n = 764). Patient demographics were consistent with those of the SAH population. Vasospasm-related morbidity and all-cause mortality occurred in 161/764 (21%) of patients treated with clazosentan and 97/383 (25%) of patients treated with placebo (RRR: 17%, 95% CI: -4% to 33%; p=0.10 [logistic regression with WFNS as covariate]; Fig. 1a). This was mainly affected by reduction in rescue therapy from 16% of placebo- to 11% of clazosentan-treated patients (RRR: 36%, 95% CI: 14-53%; Fig. 1b). There was no significant difference between treatment groups in poor outcome (GOSE \leq 4) at week 12 in the all-treated dataset; poor outcome was reported in 224 (29%) patients receiving clazosentan and 95 (25%) patients receiving placebo (RRR: -18%, 95% CI: -45% to 4%; p=0.10[logistic regression with WFNS as covariate]; Fig. 2).

In the planned subgroup analyses, clazosentan reduced the primary endpoint in patients with poor WFNS grade (\geq III) (RRR: 33%, 95% CI: 8–51%; RRR for grade I–II 9%, 95% CI: –21% to 32%) or diffuse, thick SAH (RRR: 25%, 95% CI: 5–41%; RRR for diffuse thin, local thick or local thin SAH 11%, 95% CI: –40% to 43%). The GOSE was not significantly affected by clazosentan in these subgroups.

In terms of adverse effects, there were more lung complications, anaemia, and hypotension in patients treated with clazosentan. Mortality was 6% in placebo and clazosentan groups.

Discussion

We found that 5 mg/h clazosentan for up to 14 days after aneurysmal SAH was associated with a nonsignificant 17% relative reduction in mortality or vasospasm-related morbidity. This was due largely to reduced rescue therapy in the clazosentan group. On the other hand, clazosentan was associated with a nonsignificant 18% increase in poor outcome 12 weeks after SAH. In prespecified subgroups, there was a greater RRR with clazosentan in patients with poor WFNS grade or diffuse, thick SAH. Again, however, the GOSE was not significantly affected. We expected, based on results of phase 2 studies, that since clazosentan significantly reduces angiographic vasospasm, there would be a significant reduction in vasospasm-related morbidity and an improvement in clinical outcome [10, 15]. **Fig. 1** Event rate (%) for all-cause mortality and vasospasm-related morbidity at 6 weeks (all treated, endpoint substituted; the primary endpoint) (**a**) and for each of the individual components of the primary composite endpoint (alltreated, endpoint substituted; planned analysis, secondary endpoint) (**b**). *RRR* relative risk reduction, *CI* confidence interval, *DIND* delayed ischemic neurological deficit



Vasospasm-related

RRR percentages are rounded numbers

Conclusion

Explanations for the lack of significant effect of clazosentan on outcome include the possibility that off-target effects of the drug counterbalanced therapeutic benefit. There was a higher frequency of hypotension and lung complications in the clazosentan group, although the exact contribution of these effects to poor outcome remains to be defined. Rescue therapy was used more frequently in the placebo group and could improve outcome in that group to the same extent that clazosentan did, which could obscure treatment effect. Another theory is that the lack of improvement was because processes other than vasospasm contribute to DIND and poor outcome, and these are not improved by preventing angiographic vasospasm [8]. There are robust data showing that clazosentan decreases angiographic vasospasm [10]. However, other processes, such as microthromboembolism, microcirculatory dysfunction, cortical spreading ischemia and delayed neuronal injury have been postulated to contribute to DIND and outcome and may not be prevented by clazosentan [3, 6, 9, 16]. The GOSE was not developed as an outcome measure for SAH and may not be sensitive or appropriate for measuring outcome after SAH. Finally, the severity of the initial hemorrhage is an important Fig. 2 Key secondary endpoints. Patients (%) with poor outcome (GOSE \leq 4) at week 12 (dichotomized GOSE, all treated, endpoint substituted) (**a**) and total infarct volume of new/ worsened infarcts (all causes) at week 6 (all treated, endpoint substituted) (**b**) а



Total infarct volume at week 6 (cm³)

determinant of clinical outcome and may overwhelm the contribution of other processes in some settings and patient populations [2, 9].

Additional studies of clazosentan have been conducted, including a study similar to CONSCIOUS-2 but in patients with aneurysmal SAH undergoing endovascular coiling to repair the ruptured aneurysm. The results of this study are awaited.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to the CONSCIOUS-2 investigators for their valuable contributions to this study. We would also like to thank Dr. Jenny Geatrell and Dr. Catherine Jones (Watermeadow Medical, Witney, UK) for their writing and editorial assistance, supported by Actelion Pharmaceuticals Limited. Actelion Pharmaceuticals Limited provided funding for this clinical trial.

Conflicts of Interest RLM receives grant support from the Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation and is a stockholder of Edge Therapeutics. RLM, RTH, EK, SAM, AMo, AR, PV, IW, and NK are consultants for Actelion Pharmaceuticals. SAM is a consultant for Edge Theraputics. RLM is Chief Scientific Officer of Edge Theraputics. EK has been on advisory boards for Roche Diagnostics, and is a stockholder in NeMoDevices. AMo has been a consultant for Micrus Endovascular and Covidien. PV is a consultant for Aesculap. IW is a consultant for Boston Scientific, ev3, and BALT, and receives a departmental grant from Boston Scientific. DB, AF, AMa, and SR are employees and stockholders of Actelion Pharmaceuticals.

References

- Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA (2010) Cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 41:e519–e536
- Cahill J, Zhang JH (2009) Subarachnoid hemorrhage: is it time for a new direction? Stroke 40:S86–S87
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Kassell NF, Dumont AS (2008) New insights into the causes and therapy of cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Drug Discov Today 13:254–260
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Dumont AS, Ilodigwe D, Kassell NF, Mayer SA, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Pasqualin A, Macdonald RL (2011) Angiographic vasospasm is strongly correlated with cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 42:919–923

- Dorhout Mees SM, Rinkel GJ, Feigin VL, Algra A, van den Bergh WM, Vermeulen M, van GJ (2007) Calcium antagonists for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst Rev: CD000277
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237
- Egge A, Waterloo K, Sjoholm H, Solberg T, Ingebrigtsen T, Romner B (2001) Prophylactic hyperdynamic postoperative fluid therapy after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a clinical, prospective, randomized, controlled study. Neurosurgery 49:593–605
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1443–1451
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 3:256–263
- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A (2008) Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39:3015–3021
- Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, Vajkoczy P, Wanke I, Frey A, Marr A, Roux S, Kassell NF (2010) Preventing vasospasm improves outcome after aneurys-

mal subarachnoid hemorrhage: rationale and design of CONSCIOUS-2 and CONSCIOUS-3 trials. Neurocrit Care 13:416–424

- 12. Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, Vajkoczy P, Wanke I, Bach D, Frey A, Marr A, Roux S, Kassell N (2011) Clazosentan, an endothelin receptor antagonist, in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage undergoing surgical clipping: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial (CONSCIOUS-2). Lancet Neurol 10:618–625
- Mayer SA, Kreiter KT, Copeland D, Bernardini GL, Bates JE, Peery S, Claassen J, Du YE, Connolly ES Jr (2002) Global and domain-specific cognitive impairment and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 59:1750–1758
- Rabinstein AA, Lanzino G, Wijdicks EF (2010) Multidisciplinary management and emerging therapeutic strategies in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Lancet Neurol 9:504–519
- 15. Vajkoczy P, Meyer B, Weidauer S, Raabe A, Thome C, Ringel F, Breu V, Schmiedek P (2005) Clazosentan (AXV-034343), a selective endothelin A receptor antagonist, in the prevention of cerebral vasospasm following severe aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase IIa study. J Neurosurg 103:9–17
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB (2008) Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:1761–1770

Angiographic Vasospasm Versus Cerebral Infarction as Outcome Measures After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Nima Etminan, Mervyn D.I. Vergouwen, and R. Loch Macdonald

Abstract Background and purpose: Despite a significant reduction of angiographic vasospasm, the reduction of poor functional outcome in clinical trials on aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) remains challenging. While there is general consensus that vasospasm is associated with delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), cerebral infarction, poor functional outcome, and mortality after SAH, causal relationships are subject to discussion. Therefore, it was the aim of our study to investigate the relationship between various outcome measures and poor functional outcome in clinical trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH.

Methods: Based on data from two systematic reviews and a post hoc exploratory analysis, the relationship between the following outcome measures was investigated: (1) radiographic vasospasm, (2) DCI, (3) cerebral infarction, (4) poor functional outcome, and (5) death.

Results: A reduction of angiographic vasospasm did not correlate with an improvement on dichotomous Glasgow Outcome Scale/modified Rankin Scale (GOS/mRS). In contrast, a reduction of cerebral infarction correlated with better neurological outcomes. The heterogeneous definition of DCI in previous clinical trials did not allow pooling of the data. Conclusion: Future clinical trials may use cerebral infarction

N. Etminan (🖂)

M.D.I. Vergouwen, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Utrecht Stroke Center, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands

R.L. Macdonald

Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

and functional outcome as main outcome measures to investigate the true impact of an intervention, assuming that the intervention targets cerebral infarction and hereby improves outcome.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Angiographic vasospasm • Cerebral infarction • Poor outcome

Introduction

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is characterized by high morbidity and mortality rates. While mortality in the course of SAH has been reduced by 50% over the last decades, the reduction of poor neurological outcome remains challenging [15]. The majority of previous clinical trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH were designed to reduce the incidence of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) with the aim to reduce poor outcome. Only the calcium antagonist nimodipine was found to decrease the incidence of DCI and poor functional outcome after SAH [23]. Many other trials found a significant reduction of angiographic vasospasm but could not demonstrate a significant effect on poor functional outcome. During the last decade, the role of vasospasm in the pathogenesis of DCI has been increasingly discussed. While there is general consensus that vasospasm is associated with DCI, cerebral infarction, poor functional outcome, and mortality after SAH, causal relationships are subject to discussion. An explanation for the failure of previous clinical trials to reduce poor functional outcome might be that the investigated drugs target vasospasm but not DCI. Therefore, two systematic reviews were performed to investigate the relationship between vasospasm and functional outcome and between cerebral infarction and functional outcome [4, 39]. A cohort analysis was performed to identify the relationship between several variables that affect functional outcome after SAH [40].

Department of Neurosurgery, Heinrich-Heine University, Moorenstr. 5, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany e-mail: etminan@uni-duesseldorf.de

Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto M5B 1W8, ON, Canada

Methods

For a detailed description of the methodology, we refer to the individual studies [4, 39, 40].

Meta-analyses

A PubMed search (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed) was used to identify all randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind clinical trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH in a stepwise manner. After identification of valid trials, the individual publications were screened for the incidence of the following predefined outcome measures: (1) radiographic vasospasm, (2) cerebral infarction, (3) DCI, and (4) poor functional outcome. The pooled effect of experimental treatment on outcome measures was then analyzed using Cochrane Review Manager (http://www.cochrane.org) and expressed as pooled risk ratio (RR) estimates.

Radiographic vasospasm was defined as a focal or generalized narrowing of cerebral arterial caliber on cerebral digital subtraction angiography or increased cerebral blood flow velocities as measured by transcranial Doppler (TCD). If angiographic vasospasm was categorized into no/mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm in included studies, the number of patients with moderate-to-severe vasospasm was included. TCD vasospasm was defined as a flow velocity of at least 120 cm/s or peak flow velocity of more than 200 cm/s. If studies reported on both angiographic and TCD vasospasm, only data on angiographic vasospasm were used. Cerebral infarction was defined as "the presence of cerebral infarction on CT [computed tomography] or MR [magnetic resonance] scan of the brain within 6 weeks after SAH, or on the latest CT or MR scan made before death within 6 weeks, or proven at autopsy, not present on the CT or MR scan between 24 and 48 h after early aneurysm occlusion, and not attributable to other causes such as surgical clipping or endovascular treatment. Hypodensities on CT imaging resulting from ventricular catheter or intraparenchymal hematoma should not be regarded as cerebral infarctions from DCI" [38].

For DCI, the individual definitions of each clinical trial were used. Poor clinical outcome was defined as severe disability, vegetative state, or death, as defined within the individual studies, measured with either the modified Rankin scale (mRS) or (extended) Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS). An mRS of 3–6 or a GOS of 1–3 were considered poor clinical outcome. In those studies where an inverted GOS scale was used, poor clinical outcome was readjusted to the original scale. For all included studies, we used data from the last blinded outcome measurement. If the study provided the percentage of patients with an outcome event, the actual numbers were calculated.

Exploratory Cohort Analysis

In addition to the aforementioned meta-analyses, an explanatory post hoc analysis of the CONSCIOUS-1 cohort [16] was performed to analyze the relationship between several variables that affect functional outcome after SAH. First, the incidence of WFNS (World Federation of Neurological Societies) grade IV-V, neurological worsening, new cerebral infarction, poor functional outcome, and death in patients with and without angiographic vasospasm was described. Odds ratios (ORs) were calculated for patients with angiographic vasospasm to have neurological worsening, cerebral infarction, poor outcome, and death.

Second, bivariate analyses were performed to study the association of various baseline and clinical variables with poor outcome. The significantly associated variables (at p < 0.10) were built into a multivariable logistic regression analysis and statistically significant predictor variables for the final model at the 5% significance level were retained through backward selection of these. Also, a path analysis based on structural equation modeling was undertaken to determine the direct and indirect path coefficients for the variables angiographic vasospasm, neurological worsening, and new cerebral infarcts, which were hypothesized to have an influence on poor outcome. Path analysis explores, but does not prove, potential causal relationships by using a single-headed arrow, with the head pointing to the effect and the tail pointing to the cause. The size of correlation is expressed in path coefficients.

Results

Angiographic Vasospasm and Poor Clinical Outcome Meta-analysis

Of 733 articles, 14 trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH with angiographic vasospasm, DCI, and poor neurological outcome as outcome events were included in the meta-analysis [2, 5, 7-9, 11, 16, 18, 20-22, 26, 31, 37]. Data from a total of 4,235 patients (2,612 randomized to pharmaceutical treatment and 1,623 to placebo) were analyzed. The analysis of radiographic vasospasm comprised data from 2,819 patients (1,783 patients randomized to experimental treatment and 1,036 to placebo). For the analysis of clinical outcome data from 4,211 (2,597 randomized to pharmaceutical treatment and 1,614 to placebo) were included. The heterogeneous definitions for DCI among the 14 clinical trials did not justify pooling of the data. The pooled analysis of the data of all 14 trials demonstrated a significant reduction of radiographic vasospasm in the pharmaceutical group (pooled RR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.70-0.92). There was significant heterogeneity between the trials (P=62% and p=0.001; Fig. 1), which justified the use of a random-effects model.

Study or subgroup	Experime Events	ental Total	Place Event	ebo ts Total	Weight (%)	Risk ratio M-H, random, 95% Cl	Risk ratio M-H, random, 95% Cl
Chou 2008	5	19	8	20	1.9	0.66 [0.26, 1.66]	
Findlay 1995	15	48	25	43	5.0	0.54 [0.33, 0.88]	
Haley 1993	34	103	62	121	7.8	0.64 [0.47, 0.89]	
Haley 1997	95	373	53	186	8.6	0.89 [0.67, 1.19]	
Kassell 1996	173	570	59	183	9.6	0.94 [0.74, 1.20]	
Macdonald 2008	126	313	64	96	10.8	0.60 [0.50, 0.73]	
Neil-Dwyer 1987	26	34	23	33	8.5	1.10 [0.82, 1.47]	
Ono 1984	19	65	18	68	4.3	1.10 [0.64, 1.91]	
Petruk 1988	50	57	67	70	12.7	0.92 [0.82, 1.02]	
Philippon 1986	14	27	25	35	6.0	0.73 [0.48, 1.10]	
Shibuya 1992	36	95	59	96	8.3	0.62 [0.46, 0.83]	
Springborg 2007	12	24	17	29	4.8	0.85 [0.52, 1.41]	
Tseng 2005	17	40	25	40	5.8	0.68 [0.44, 1.05]	
Vergouwen 2009	12	15	11	16	6.1	1.16 [0.77, 1.76]	
Total (95% CI)		1783		1036	100.0	0.80 [0.70, 0.92]	•
Total events	634		516				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.04; Chi ² = 34.43, df = 13 (p = 0.001); P = 62% Test for overall effect: Z = 3.17 (p = 0.002)						0.2 Favors e	0.5 1 2 5 experimental Favors control

Fig. 1 Pooled risk ratio (*RR*) estimates for patients with pharmaceutical treatment for SAH to have radiographic vasospasm (radiographic vasospasm and poor functional outcome meta-analysis)

	Experimental		Control		Weight	Risk ratio	Risk ratio		
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	(%)	M-H, fixed, 95%	CI M-H, fi	xed, 95% Cl	
Chou 2008	12	19	10	20	1.6	1.26 [0.72, 2.20]			
Findlay 1995	14	51	13	49	2.2	1.03 [0.54, 1.97]	-		
Haley 1993	118	438	125	448	20.8	0.97 [0.78, 1.20]		-	
Haley 1997	177	597	82	300	18.4	1.08 [0.87, 1.35]		-	
Kassell 1996	244	762	84	253	21.2	0.96 [0.79, 1.18]		+	
Macdonald 2008	91	313	30	96	7.7	0.93 [0.66, 1.31]			
Neil-Dwyer 1987	9	38	17	37	2.9	0.52 [0.26, 1.01]			
Ono 1984	5	65	14	68	2.3	0.37 [0.14, 0.98]			
Petruk 1988	44	72	54	82	8.5	0.93 [0.73, 1.18]			
Philippon 1986	3	31	13	39	1.9	0.29 [0.09, 0.93]	•		
Shibuya 1992	33	131	41	136	6.8	0.84 [0.57, 1.23]			
Springborg 2007	7	24	10	30	1.5	0.88 [0.39, 1.95]		-	
Tseng 2005	17	40	21	40	3.5	0.81 [0.51, 1.29]	-	-	
Vergouwen 2009	4	16	4	16	0.7	1.00 [0.30, 3.32]			-
Total (95% CI)		2597		1614	100.0	0.93 [0.85, 1.03]		•	
Total events	778		518						
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 14.27, df = 13 (<i>p</i> = 0.36); <i>P</i> = 9%							0.1 0.2 0.5	5 1 2	5 10
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.44$ ($p = 0.15$)							Favors experim	nental Favors	control

Fig. 2 Pooled risk ratio (*RR*) estimates for patients with pharmaceutical treatment for SAH to have poor functional outcome (radiographic vasospasm and poor functional outcome meta-analysis)

No effect was observed of pharmaceutical treatment on functional outcome (pooled RR 0.93; 95% CI: 0.85–1.03). There was no significant heterogeneity between the trials $(l^2=9\%$ and p=0.36; Fig. 2), which justified the use of a fixed-effects model.

Cerebral Infarction and Poor Clinical Outcome Meta-analysis

Of 780 articles, 24 trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH with cerebral infarction and clinical outcome as an outcome event were included [1, 2, 6–11, 13, 14, 16, 19, 21, 23–29, 32–34, 41, 42]. For this analysis, data from 8,552 patients (4,818 patients randomized to pharmaceutical treatment and 3,734 to placebo) were available. The analysis of cerebral infarction comprised data from 7,982 patients (4,508 patients randomized to pharmaceutical treatment, 3,474 to placebo). For the analysis of poor clinical outcome, data from 8,489 patients were included (4,784 patients randomized to pharmaceutical treatment, 3,705 to placebo).

The pooled analysis of all 24 trials demonstrated a significant and favorable effect of pharmaceutical treatment on cerebral infarction (pooled RR: 0.83; 95% CI: 0.74–0.93). Heterogeneity between the trials was high (l^2 =58% and p=0.0002). This justified the use of a random-effects model (Fig. 3). In addition, there was a favorable effect of pharmaceutical treatment on poor clinical outcome (pooled RR: 0.92; 95% CI: 0.86–0.98). Since there was no significant heterogeneity between the trials (l^2 =11% and p=0.30), a fixed-effects model was used (Fig. 4).

Exploratory Cohort Analysis

The analysis comprised data from a total of 413 patients; 194 suffered from moderate-to-severe angiographic vasospasm. Of the 194 patients with moderate/severe vasospasm, 43% had neurological worsening of any cause, 20% had cerebral infarction, 46% had poor outcome, and 12% died. Of the 219 patients with no/mild vasospasm, 14% had neurological worsening, 3% had cerebral infarction, 16% had poor outcome, and 0.5% died. The ORs for patients with moderate/severe

+
10
-+ 10 >1

Fig. 3 Pooled risk ratio (*RR*) estimates for patients with pharmaceutical treatment for SAH to have cerebral infarction (cerebral infarction and poor functional outcome meta-analysis)

	Experime	ental	Placebo		Weight	Risk ratio	Risk ratio
Study or subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	(%)	M-H, fixed, 95% CI	M-H, fixed, 95% CI
Asano 1996	19	80	30	82	2.4	0.65 [0.40, 1.05]	
Chou 2008	12	19	10	20	0.8	1.26 [0.72, 2.20]	
Gomis 2010	9	49	15	46	1.3	0.56 [0.27, 1.16] —	
Haley 1993	118	438	125	448	10.2	0.97 [0.78, 1.20]	
Haley 1997	177	597	82	300	9.0	1.08 [0.87, 1.35]	
Hop 2000	4	24	7	26	0.6	0.62 [0.21, 1.85]	
Kassell 1996	244	762	84	253	10.4	0.96 [0.79, 1.18]	
Lanzino I 1999	128	398	129	409	10.5	1.02 [0.83, 1.25]	
Lanzino II 1999	114	399	103	398	8.5	1.10 [0.88, 1.39]	
Macdonald 2008	91	313	30	96	3.8	0.93 [0.66, 1.31]	
Ohman 1988	17	104	23	109	1.8	0.77 [0.44, 1.36]	
Petruk 1988	44	72	54	82	4.1	0.93 [0.73, 1.18]	
Pickard 1989	55	278	91	276	7.5	0.60 [0.45, 0.80]	_ _
Saito 1998	21	145	31	141	2.6	0.66 [0.40, 1.09]	
Shaw 2000	57	207	66	213	5.3	0.89 [0.66, 1.20]	
Shibuya 1992	33	131	41	136	3.3	0.84 [0.57, 1.23]	
Siironen 2003	27	85	22	85	1.8	1.23 [0.76, 1.98]	
Springborg 2007	7	24	10	30	0.7	0.88 [0.39, 1.95]	
Suzuki 1989	33	170	18	86	2.0	0.93 [0.56, 1.55]	
Tseng 2009	11	40	14	40	1.2	0.79 [0.41, 1.52]	
van den Bergh 2005	38	139	51	144	4.1	0.77 [0.54, 1.09]	
van den Bergh 2006	12	87	13	74	1.2	0.79 [0.38, 1.61]	
Westermaier 2010	20	54	26	53	2.2	0.75 [0.48, 1.18]	
Wong 2010	61	169	58	158	4.9	0.98 [0.74, 1.31]	
Total (95% CI)		4784		3705	100.0	0.92 [0.86, 0.98]	•
Total events	1352		1133			L	
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 25.94, df = 23 (<i>p</i> = 0.30); <i>P</i> = 11%						0.2	0.5 1 2 5
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.46$ ($p = 0.01$)						Favor	rs experimental Favors control

Fig. 4 Pooled risk ratio (*RR*) estimates for patients with pharmaceutical treatment for SAH to have poor functional outcome (cerebral infarction and poor functional outcome meta-analysis)

angiographic vasospasm were 4.53 (95% CI: 2.75–7.50) for having neurological deterioration, 8.93 (95% CI: 3.51–24.10) for developing cerebral infarction, 4.31 (95% CI: 2.67–6.98) for having a poor outcome, and 30.78 (95% CI: 4.38–617.47) for mortality.

The main independent predictors of poor outcome were (1) WFNS grade IV-V (OR 2.93; 95% CI: 1.74–4.94); (2) moderate-severe vasospasm (OR: 2.62; 95% CI: 1.58–4.36); (3) neurological worsening (OR: 2.29; 95% CI: 1.37–3.86); (4) new cerebral infarction (OR: 2.13; 95% CI: 1.58–4.36); and (5) history of hypertension (OR: 1.94; 95% CI: 1.19–3.13). The relationship between WFNS grade, angiographic vasospasm, neurological worsening, new cerebral infarction, and history of hypertension and poor outcome was further tested using a path analysis.

Exogenous independent variables were WFNS grade and history of hypertension; endogenous independent variables were angiographic vasospasm, neurological worsening, and new cerebral infarction. Poor outcome was the dependent variable. The size of correlations is represented by path coefficients, as illustrated in Fig. 5.

Discussion

The main findings of our studies on the relationship between various outcome measures and poor functional outcome in clinical trials on pharmaceutical treatment of SAH can be summarized as follows: A significant reduction of angiographic vasospasm did not correlate with better functional outcomes. In contrast, a lower incidence of cerebral infarction corresponded with improved outcomes. Cerebral infarction contributes to poor neurological outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. The heterogeneous definition of DCI among previous clinical trials did not allow pooling of the data.

Our findings underline more recent studies on the pathogenesis of DCI. Despite an undisputed association between angiographic vasospasm and DCI, additional pathophysiological mechanisms, such as cortical spreading ischemia/ cortical spreading depression, microthromboembolism, and disturbed autoregulation are likely involved in the pathogenesis of DCI [3, 36]. This is also supported by our cohort analysis as 57% of the patients with moderate-severe Fig. 5 Path analysis of SAH-related variables contributing to poor functional outcome with direct and indirect path coefficients



vasospasm did not have neurological worsening of any kind. The causal relationship between angiographic vasospasm, DCI, cerebral infarction, and poor functional outcome remains incompletely understood.

There are several explanations for our findings. First, the dichotomous GOS/mRS might be too insensitive to detect meaningful changes in clinical outcome measures [17]. Second, pharmaceutical treatment in SAH patients might affect outcome, such as by causing detrimental cardiopulmonary complications [30]. Third, the sample size in clinical trials might be too small, as it was suggested that more than 5,000 patients may be needed to achieve a significant effect on 3-month mRS when angiographic vasospasm or possibly DCI is reduced by 50% [12]. Last, the aforementioned additional pathophysiological mechanisms contributing to DCI and cerebral infarction may not be targeted by previous pharmaceutical treatments in patients with SAH [35].

In summary, various drug treatments decrease angiographic vasospasm but have no detectable effect on dichotomous GOS/mRS. Importantly, the heterogeneous definition of DCI in previous in clinical studies does not allow pooling of DCI data. There is a strong association between reduction of cerebral infarction and reduction of poor neurological outcome. As cerebral infarction reflects the ultimate endpoint of the ischemic event, it might be a better target for future pharmaceutical intervention in SAH. Finally, primary brain injury (i.e., initial WFNS grade) remains a significant determinant of poor outcome.

Conclusion

Future studies need to determine if the dissociation between angiographic vasospasm and clinical outcome is due to methodological problems, sample size, or insensitivity of clinical outcome measures or because pathophysiological mechanisms other than vasospasm contribute to poor functional outcome. Moreover, future clinical trials may use cerebral infarction and functional outcome as main outcome measures to investigate the true impact of an intervention, assuming that the intervention targets cerebral infarction and thereby improves outcome.

Disclosures and Acknowledgements R.L. Macdonald received grant support from the Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Ontario. R.L. Macdonald is a consultant for Actelion Pharmaceuticals and chief scientific officer of Edge Therapeutics, Incorporated.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Asano T, Takakura K, Sano K, Kikuchi H, Nagai H, Saito I, Tamura A, Ochiai C, Sasaki T (1996) Effects of a hydroxyl radical scavenger on delayed ischemic neurological deficits following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a multicenter, placebo-controlled double-blind trial. J Neurosurg 84:792–803
- Chou SH, Smith EE, Badjatia N, Nogueira RG, Sims JR 2nd, Ogilvy CS, Rordorf GA, Ayata C (2008) A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled pilot study of simvastatin in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 39:2891–2893
- Dreier JP, Korner K, Ebert N, Gorner A, Rubin I, Back T, Lindauer U, Wolf T, Villringer A, Einhaupl KM, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U (1998) Nitric oxide scavenging by hemoglobin or nitric oxide synthase inhibition by N-nitro-L-arginine induces cortical spreading ischemia when K⁺ is increased in the subarachnoid space. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:978–990
- 4. Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1443–1451
- Findlay JM, Kassell NF, Weir BK, Haley EC Jr, Kongable G, Germanson T, Truskowski L, Alves WM, Holness RO, Knuckey

NW et al (1995) A randomized trial of intraoperative, intracisternal tissue plasminogen activator for the prevention of vasospasm. Neurosurgery 37:168–176, discussion 177–168

- Gomis P, Graftieaux JP, Sercombe R, Hettler D, Scherpereel B, Rousseaux P (2010) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of high-dose methylprednisolone in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 112:681–688
- Haley EC Jr, Kassell NF, Torner JC (1993) A randomized controlled trial of high-dose intravenous nicardipine in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A report of the cooperative aneurysm study. J Neurosurg 78:537–547
- Haley EC Jr, Kassell NF, Torner JC (1993) A randomized trial of nicardipine in subarachnoid hemorrhage: angiographic and transcranial Doppler ultrasound results. A report of the cooperative aneurysm study. J Neurosurg 78:548–553
- Haley EC Jr, Kassell NF, Apperson-Hansen C, Maile MH, Alves WM (1997) A randomized, double-blind, vehicle-controlled trial of tirilazad mesylate in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a cooperative study in North America. J Neurosurg 86:467–474
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, Berkelbach van der Sprenkel JW, van Gijn J (2000) Randomized pilot trial of postoperative aspirin in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 54:872–878
- Kassell NF, Haley EC Jr, Apperson-Hansen C, Alves WM (1996) Randomized, double-blind, vehicle-controlled trial of tirilazad mesylate in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a cooperative study in Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. J Neurosurg 84:221–228
- Kreiter KT, Mayer SA, Howard G, Knappertz V, Ilodigwe D, Sloan MA, Macdonald RL (2009) Sample size estimates for clinical trials of vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 40:2362–2367
- Lanzino G, Kassell NF (1999) Double-blind, randomized, vehiclecontrolled study of high-dose tirilazad mesylate in women with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Part II. A cooperative study in North America. J Neurosurg 90:1018–1024
- 14. Lanzino G, Kassell NF, Dorsch NW, Pasqualin A, Brandt L, Schmiedek P, Truskowski LL, Alves WM (1999) Double-blind, randomized, vehicle-controlled study of high-dose tirilazad mesylate in women with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Part I. A cooperative study in Europe, Australia, New Zealand, and South Africa. J Neurosurg 90:1011–1017
- Lovelock CE, Rinkel GJ, Rothwell PM (2010) Time trends in outcome of subarachnoid hemorrhage: population-based study and systematic review. Neurology 74:1494–1501
- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A (2008) Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39:3015–3021
- Mayer SA, Kreiter KT, Copeland D, Bernardini GL, Bates JE, Peery S, Claassen J, Du YE, Connolly ES Jr (2002) Global and domain-specific cognitive impairment and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 59:1750–1758
- Neil-Dwyer G, Mee E, Dorrance D, Lowe D (1987) Early intervention with nimodipine in subarachnoid haemorrhage. Eur Heart J 8(Suppl K):41–47
- Ohman J, Heiskanen O (1988) Effect of nimodipine on the outcome of patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and surgery. J Neurosurg 69:683–686
- Ono H, Mizukami M, Kitamura K, Kikuchi H (1984) Ticlopidine: quo vadis? Subarachnoid hemorrhage. Agents Actions Suppl 15:259–272
- Petruk KC, West M, Mohr G, Weir BK, Benoit BG, Gentili F, Disney LB, Khan MI, Grace M, Holness RO et al (1988) Nimodipine treatment in poor-grade aneurysm patients. Results of a multicenter double-blind placebo-controlled trial. J Neurosurg 68:505–517

- Philippon J, Grob R, Dagreou F, Guggiari M, Rivierez M, Viars P (1986) Prevention of vasospasm in subarachnoid haemorrhage. A controlled study with nimodipine. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 82:110–114
- 23. Pickard JD, Murray GD, Illingworth R, Shaw MD, Teasdale GM, Foy PM, Humphrey PR, Lang DA, Nelson R, Richards P et al (1989) Effect of oral nimodipine on cerebral infarction and outcome after subarachnoid haemorrhage: British aneurysm nimodipine trial. BMJ 298:636–642
- Saito I, Asano T, Sano K, Takakura K, Abe H, Yoshimoto T, Kikuchi H, Ohta T, Ishibashi S (1998) Neuroprotective effect of an antioxidant, ebselen, in patients with delayed neurological deficits after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 42:269– 277, discussion 277–268
- 25. Shaw MD, Vermeulen M, Murray GD, Pickard JD, Bell BA, Teasdale GM (2000) Efficacy and safety of the endothelin, receptor antagonist TAK-044 in treating subarachnoid hemorrhage: a report by the Steering Committee on behalf of the UK/Netherlands/ Eire TAK-044 Subarachnoid Haemorrhage Study Group. J Neurosurg 93:992–997
- 26. Shibuya M, Suzuki Y, Sugita K, Saito I, Sasaki T, Takakura K, Nagata I, Kikuchi H, Takemae T, Hidaka H et al (1992) Effect of AT877 on cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Results of a prospective placebo-controlled doubleblind trial. J Neurosurg 76:571–577
- Siironen J, Juvela S, Varis J, Porras M, Poussa K, Ilveskero S, Hernesniemi J, Lassila R (2003) No effect of enoxaparin on outcome of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Neurosurg 99:953–959
- Springborg JB, Moller C, Gideon P, Jorgensen OS, Juhler M, Olsen NV (2007) Erythropoietin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a double blind randomised clinical trial. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 149:1089–1101, discussion 1101
- 29. Suzuki S, Sano K, Handa H, Asano T, Tamura A, Yonekawa Y, Ono H, Tachibana N, Hanaoka K (1989) Clinical study of OKY-046, a thromboxane synthetase inhibitor, in prevention of cerebral vasospasms and delayed cerebral ischaemic symptoms after subarachnoid haemorrhage due to aneurysmal rupture: a randomized double-blind study. Neurol Res 11:79–88
- Treggiari MM, Deem S (2009) Which H is the most important in triple-H therapy for cerebral vasospasm? Curr Opin Crit Care 15:83–86
- 31. Tseng MY, Czosnyka M, Richards H, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2005) Effects of acute treatment with pravastatin on cerebral vasospasm, autoregulation, and delayed ischemic deficits after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase II randomized placebo-controlled trial. Stroke 36:1627–1632
- 32. Tseng MY, Hutchinson PJ, Richards HK, Czosnyka M, Pickard JD, Erber WN, Brown S, Kirkpatrick PJ (2009) Acute systemic erythropoietin therapy to reduce delayed ischemic deficits following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase II randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clinical article. J Neurosurg 111:171–180
- 33. van den Bergh WM, Algra A, van Kooten F, Dirven CM, van Gijn J, Vermeulen M, Rinkel GJ (2005) Magnesium sulfate in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke 36:1011–1015
- 34. van den Bergh WM, Algra A, Dorhout Mees SM, van Kooten F, Dirven CM, van Gijn J, Vermeulen M, Rinkel GJ (2006) Randomized controlled trial of acetylsalicylic acid in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: the MASH study. Stroke 37:2326–2330
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ, Levi M, Roos YB (2007) Dihydropyridine calcium antagonists increase fibrinolytic activity: a systematic review. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27:1293–1308

- 36. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB (2008) Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:1761–1770
- 37. Vergouwen MD, Meijers JC, Geskus RB, Coert BA, Horn J, Stroes ES, van der Poll T, Vermeulen M, Roos YB (2009) Biologic effects of simvastatin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized trial. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29: 1444–1453
- 38. Vergouwen M, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel G, Wijdicks E, Muizelaar J, Mendelow A, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge K, Macdonald R, Diringer M, Broderick J, Dreier J, Roos Y (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies – proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- Vergouwen MD, Etminan N, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Lower incidence of cerebral infarction correlates with improved functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1545–1553
- 40. Vergouwen M, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald R (2011) Cerebral infarction after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. Stroke 42:924–929
- 41. Westermaier T, Stetter C, Vince GH, Pham M, Tejon JP, Eriskat J, Kunze E, Matthies C, Ernestus RI, Solymosi L, Roosen K (2010) Prophylactic intravenous magnesium sulfate for treatment of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, placebocontrolled, clinical study. Crit Care Med 38:1284–1290
- 42. Wong GK, Poon WS, Chan MT, Boet R, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee BC (2010) Intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (IMASH): a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase III trial. Stroke 41:921–926

Development of Nicardipine Prolonged-Release Implants After Clipping for Preventing Cerebral Vasospasm: From Laboratory to Clinical Trial

Hidetoshi Kasuya

Abstract We have developed a drug delivery system using a vasodilating drug that can be implanted intracranially at the time of surgery for aneurysm clipping, without systemic side effects or side effects associated with long-term intrathecal drug administration. We started our project on 1994 for making a slowly releasing drug delivery system in vitro because cerebral vasospasm occurs 4-14 days following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). A rod-shaped pellet containing 1 mg of nicardipine for animal study was prepared by heat compression. We presented the efficacy and safety of this drug delivery system using both canine double-hemorrhage and clot placement models. Since October 1999, nicardipine prolonged-release implants (NPRIs) containing 4 mg of nicardipine have been used to prevent vasospasm in patients with SAH. NPRIs were placed in the cistern of the cerebral arteries, where thick clots existed; therefore, vasospasm related to delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) was highly probable. Vasospasm was completely prevented in the arteries by placing NPRIs adjacent to the arteries during surgery. No complications were experienced. We have performed three studies (a single-center study with consecutive patients; a single-center, randomized, double-blind trial; and a multicenter cooperative study) and have proved that implantation of NPRIs reduces the incidence of cerebral vasospasm and DINDs and improves clinical outcome after SAH.

Keywords Cerebral vasospasm • Drug delivery system • Nicardipine • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

Despite extensive investigative efforts, the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of delayed cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) remain far from

Department of Neurosurgery, Medical Center East, Tokyo Women's Medical University, 2-1-10 Nishiogu, Arakawa-ku, Tokyo 116-8567, Japan

e-mail: kasuyane@dnh.twmu.ac.jp

clear. Vasospasm continues to be one of the primary causes of mortality and neurological morbidity and an important cause of cerebral ischemia and stroke, despite the establishment of early surgical obliteration of aneurysm. Although there have been numerous reports describing the prevention of delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DIND), such as intrathecal administration of urokinase, cisternal irrigation with drainage, endovascular treatment, head shaking, and arterial injection of vasodilatory drug, most of them are complicated even if they are effective.

We have developed a drug delivery system using a vasodilating drug that can be implanted intracranially at the time of surgery for aneurysm clipping and have been using the drug for SAH patients since 1994. The current report presents how we have been developing this drug delivery system from laboratory to clinical trial.

Preliminary Study Using Papaverine

A drug delivery system using copoly(lactic/glycolic acid) (PLGA) was developed for the intracranial administration of papaverine [14]. A rod-shaped implant prepared by a heat compression method was tested to determine its efficacy in preventing cerebral vasospasm in dogs. Sixteen dogs were randomly assigned to one of two groups: placebo or papaverine. Control angiography was performed, followed by right craniectomy and the induction of SAH by the placement of a clot in the sylvian fissure. Two pellets, containing either 25 mg of papaverine or no papaverine, were placed in the cistern. In the in vitro studies, 56% of the actual papaverine loading was released in the first 4 days and 78% within 8 days. On day 7, angiography was repeated, and the animals were killed. A similar experiment using low-dose pellets containing 5 mg of papaverine, half of which was released within 7 days, was performed with 16 mongrel dogs.

There were significant differences between the papaverineand placebo-treated groups in the reductions of vessel diameters of the internal carotid, middle cerebral, and anterior cerebral

H. Kasuya

arteries on the clot side. The mean concentration of papaverine in the clot was 4.5×10^{-4} mol/L. The low-dose pellet failed to prevent cerebral vasospasm, although the mean concentration of papaverine in the clot was 2.3×10^{-5} mol/L. A prolonged-release preparation of papaverine implanted intracranially at the time of surgery prevented vasospasm significantly while maintaining an appropriate concentration of papaverine in the cistern. However, the effective dose was much higher than we expected from the data in vitro, and we concluded that papaverine is not a practical vasodilating drug for clinical use.

In Vitro Study

A rod-shaped pellet (2 mm in diameter, 10 mm in length, containing 4 mg of nicardipine; for animal model 1 mm in diameter, 10 mm in length, containing 1 mg of nicardipine) was prepared by heat compression. PLGA (PLG1600ML; molecular weight 4,000, lactic acid ratio 0.5) was purchased from Taki Company. (Kakogawa, Kobe, Japan). A mixture of PLGA (900 mg) and nicardipine free base (100 mg) was dissolved in dichloromethane (10 mL). The dichloromethane was evaporated with a rotary evaporator, and the resultant mass was dried further under vacuum. The dried powder (40 mg) was charged into a Teflon tube (2-mm inner diameter). The tube was set in a stainless steel cylinder kept at 35-40°C. A pressure of 100 kg/cm² was applied between the upper and lower stainless steel dies. The compressed pellet was sterilized by y-ray (Nippon Shosha Service, Tokai, Ibaraki, Japan). Nicardipine free base was prepared as follows: Nicardipine HCl (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in water. NaOH (5N) was added to the solution to shift the pH above 10. The nicardipine free base was extracted with dichloromethane [6, 7, 10, 11, 13].

The release of nicardipine from the pellet was examined in a mixture of 0.02 mol/L phosphate buffer, pH 7.3, and saline (1:1 v/v) in a flask. The flask was shaken in a water bath at a frequency of 20 strokes/min. Five milliliters of the release medium were withdrawn periodically and replaced with an equivalent volume of fresh buffer. The amount of papaverine released was analyzed by high-performance liquid chromatography (Hitachi L6000; Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan) under the following conditions: YMC-Pack ODS AM-312 (150 × 6.0-mm inner diameter) column; column temperature 40°C; 10 mmol/L KH2PO4/acetonitrile (6:4) mobile phase; 1.5 mL/min flow rate; detection with ultraviolet absorbance at 240 nm; pyrilamine internal standard (obtained from Sigma Chemical).

Release curve from the pellets was adjusted similar to the time course of cerebral vasospasm by changing the combination of molecular weight and lactic acid ratio of PLGA.

Animal Model

Canine Clot Placement Model

The purpose of this study was to determine the efficacy of nicardipine prolonged-release implants (NPRIs) for preventing vasospasm in a canine SAH model in a dose-escalating, placebo-controlled, blind fashion. Drug release kinetics of the PLGA pellet containing nicardipine was evaluated in vitro. In vivo, 18 dogs were randomly assigned to one of three groups: placebo or low-dose (0.8 mg) or high-dose (8 mg) nicardipine. Angiography was performed, followed by right craniectomy, the induction of SAH, and the placement of the pellets in the sylvian fissure. On days 7 and 14, the angiography was repeated. In the first 4 days, 61.9% of the actual nicardipine loaded was released and within 10 days, 96%. The average percentage reductions of vessel diameters in the middle cerebral artery on day 7 were 43%, 14%, and 7% in the placebo, low-dose, and high-dose groups, respectively (p=0.0319). The mean concentration of nicardipine in the clots on Day 14 was 9.7×10^{-7} and 5.1×10^{-6} mol/L in the low-dose and high-dose group, respectively. This drug delivery system prevented vasospasm in dogs significantly even at low dose while maintaining an appropriate concentration of nicardipine in the clot adjacent to the arteries [10, 11].

Canine Double-Hemorrhage Model

Ten dogs were assigned to two groups: double-hemorrhage group and double-hemorrhage group treated with implants. Vertebral angiography and arterial blood injection into the cisterna magna were performed, followed by midline suboccipital craniectomy and laminectomy of the atlas and placement of nicardipine implants in the cisterna magna. On day 2, arterial blood injection into the cisterna magna was repeated (double-hemorrhage model). On day 7, vertebral angiography was repeated. The animals were then sacrificed, and the brain and blood clot were taken out. All the animals involved in both groups had been clinically well. Although five animals of the control group showed severe vasospasm, no vasospasm was observed in three animals and only very mild vasospasm in two of the nicardipine-treated group. There was a statistically significant difference in diameter between the two groups (0.5 vs. 1.1 mm, p = 0.009). Histological examination showed no specific changes related to implants. Neither clinical symptoms related to implants specific histological changes were observed nor (e.g., hypotension, seizure). These results suggested that the nicardipine-prolonged-release preparation is safe as well as effective for cerebral vasospasm [13].

Clinical Trial

The First Consecutive 100 Patients

NPRIs have been used to prevent vasospasm in patients with SAH since October 1999. The study analyzed the efficacy and safety of NPRIs in 100 patients with SAH and thick subarachnoid clot (mainly Fisher group 3) treated with NPRIs during surgery after clipping of the aneurysm. The number and location of pellets depended on the amount and site of the subarachnoid clot on preoperative computed tomography and on the type of craniotomy. Two to 12 pellets were implanted in the cisterns of the internal carotid artery, middle cerebral artery, or anterior cerebral artery, where thick clots were present and vasospasm related to DIND was highly likely. Only seven patients developed DIND, and five patients suffered cerebral infarction. Angiography performed on days 7-12 revealed no vasospasm in any of the arteries close to the site of NPRI placement. NPRI placement can completely prevent vasospasm in arteries within the cisterns containing thick clots but is less effective in remote locations [3, 5-9, 12].

Single-Center, Randomized, Double-Blind Trial

Thirty-two patients with severe SAH and undergoing aneurysm clipping were included in this single-center, randomized, double-blind trial. Sixteen patients received NPRIs implanted into the basal cisterns in direct contact to the exposed proximal blood vessels; in 16 control patients, the basal cisterns were opened and washed out only without leaving implants. Angiography was performed preoperatively and at day 8 ± 1 . Computed tomographic imaging was analyzed for the incidence of territorial infarcts unrelated to surgery. Patient outcome was assessed using the modified Rankin and National Institute of Health Stroke scales. The incidence of angiographic vasospasm in proximal vessel segments was significantly reduced after implantation of NPRIs (73% control vs. 7% NPRIs). Significant differences occurred also for the majority of distal vessel segments. Computed tomographic scans revealed a lower incidence of delayed ischemic lesions (47% control vs. 14% NPRIs). The NPRI group demonstrated more favorable modified Rankin and National Institute of Health Stroke scales as well as a significantly lower incidence of deaths (38% control vs. 6% NPRIs). Implantation of NPRIs reduced the incidence of cerebral vasospasm and DIND and improved clinical outcome after severe SAH [1, 2].

Multicenter Cooperative Study in Tokyo

We started a multicenter cooperative study on January 1, 2007. and 136 patients in six hospitals were enrolled to this trial in 2 years. The incidence of cerebral vasospasm and outcome were examined in these patients. The patients with SAH were treated with NPRIs during surgery after clipping of their aneurysms. The study included 87 female patients, 38 over 70 years old, 34 in WFNS grades 4 and 5, and 46 of Fisher group 2 or 4. Aneurysms were located on anterior circulation in 133, posterior in 3. All patients were treated with Fasudil hydrochloride except for 3. Two to 12 pellets were implanted in the cistern where thick clots existed, and vasospasm was highly likely. DIND, angiographic vasospasm, and cerebral infarctions were seen in 11 of 134 (8.2%), 32 of 130 (24.6%), and 16 of 129 (12.4%) patients, respectively. No complications were experienced. Independent rate at 3 months was 78%. The incidence of cerebral vasospasm in this multicenter trial was similar to that of our first trial performed in a single center [4].

Discussion

Currently, there are no drugs supported by sufficient evidence of efficacy for cerebral vasospasm in patients with SAH, despite abundant evidence of antivasospasm drugs at an experimental level. The problem could not be solved by developing new drugs but by developing methods to maintain an appropriate concentration of the drug in the target cerebral artery and its surrounding environment. We consider that this could not be achieved by systemic administration of drugs but rather by local treatment. It is, however, also difficult to maintain an effective concentration by intrathecal administration of vasodilating drugs if the agent is water soluble because cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) circulation dilutes and washes out the drug. We think that the success of our drug delivery system is influenced by choosing the drug: nicardipine [3].

Vasospasm was completely prevented in arteries in cisterns with thick clots, where vasospasm is highly expected, by placing pellets adjacent to the arteries during surgery. Fewer efficacies were found for arteries remote from the placement of pellets [7]. This was expected from our in vitro findings of the high lipophilicity of nicardipine. Nicardipine was probably adsorbed to the clot and arterial tissue near the pellets because of its high lipophilicity and did not affect the remote arteries since nicardipine was not detected in any cerebrospinal fluid samples in our experimental model [10, 11, 13]. We may find ideal drugs with less lipophilicity that work in the very local region and more remote arteries, or a more effective cocktail of drugs with different characteristics may be developed.

Conclusion

Since the literature describes DIND to be much more common and because of the associated poor outcome, our results suggest that the application of NPRIs to SAH patients may prevent vasospasm-related cerebral infarctions and therefore avoid an unfavorable outcome. The efficacy was proven by a randomized, double-blinded controlled trial performed in Germany [1]. This drug delivery system offers a promising approach for preventing vasospasm when a craniotomy is performed as part of the aneurysm treatment. However, the application of NPRIs has its limitations, such as for the arteries on the contralateral side of the craniotomy or the more distal arteries. We were not able to use these pellets for patients who were treated by coiling. This problem may be solved by developing a new drug delivery system that allows the maintenance of an appropriate concentration of nicardipine in the target artery since local application of nicardipine is able to prevent vasospasm [3] completely.

Conflict of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Barth M, Capelle HH, Weidauer S, Weiss C, Münch E, Thomé C, Luecke T, Schmiedek P, Kasuya H, Vajkoczy P (2007) Effect of nicardipine prolonged-release implants on cerebral vasospasm and clinical outcome following severe aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage – a prospective, randomized, double-blinded phase IIa study. Stroke 38:330–336
- Barth M, Thome C, Schmiedek P, Weiss C, Kasuya H, Vajkoczy P (2009) Characterization of functional and quality of life in patients

following SAH with and without nicardipine prolonged release pellets. J Neurosurg 110:955–960

- Kasuya H (2006) Application of nicardipine prolonged-release implants: analysis of 97 consecutive patients with acute subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 58:E799
- Kasuya H (2011) Clinical trial of nicardipine pellets for preventing cerebral vasospasm: multi-center cooperative study in Tokyo. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:165–167
- Kasuya H, Krischek B (2008) Clinical trial of nicardipine prolonged-release implants for preventing vasospasm: analysis of 100 consecutive patients. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 48:147–148
- Kasuya H, Kawashima A, Sasahara A, Onda H, Hori T (2001) Development of nicardipine prolonged-release implants for preventing vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:217–220
- Kasuya H, Onda H, Takeshita M, Okada Y, Hori T (2002) Efficacy and safety of nicardipine prolonged-release implants for preventing vasospasm in humans. Stroke 33:1011–1015
- Kasuya H, Onda H, Sasahara A, Takeshita M, Hori T (2005) Application of nicardipine prolonged-release implants: analysis of 97 consecutive patients with acute subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 56:895–905
- Kasuya H, Onda H, Krischek B, Hori T (2008) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage is completely prevented by L-type calcium channel antagonist in human. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:109–114
- Kawashima A, Kasuya H, Shiokawa K, Miyajima M, Izawa M, Takakura K (1988) Efficacy of nicardipine prolonged-release pellet on cerebral vasospasm in dogs. No Shinkei Geka 26:37–43
- Kawashima A, Kasuya H, Sasahara A, Miyajima M, Izawa M, Hori T (2000) Prevention of cerebral vasospasm by nicardipine prolonged-release implants in dogs. Neurol Res 22:634–641
- Krischek B, Kasuya H, Onda H, Hori H (2007) Clinical trial of nicardipine prolonged-release implants for preventing vasospasm: analysis of 100 consecutive patients. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 47:389–396
- Sasahara A, Kasuya H, Kawashima A, Aihara Y, Izawa M, Hori T (2000) The efficacy and safety of the nicardipine prolonged-release implant in a canine double hemorrhage model. No Shinkei Geka 28:1071–1075
- Shiokawa K, Kasuya H, Miyajima M, Izawa M, Takakura K (1998) Prophylactic effect of papaverine prolonged-release pellet on cerebral vasospasm in dogs. Neurosurgery 42:109–116

Magnesium Sulphate for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Why, How, and Current Controversy

George Kwok Chu Wong and Wai Sang Poon

Abstract The neuroprotective effect of magnesium sulphate infusion has been confirmed in experimental models. Pilot clinical trials using magnesium sulphate in patients with acute aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) have reported a trend toward a reduction in clinical deterioration due to delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and an improvement in clinical outcomes. However, our recent multicenter trials and systemic review failed to confirm benefit in neurological outcome. In post hoc analysis, data also did not support that a higher dose of magnesium sulphate infusion might improve clinical outcome. We here review the current literature, highlight these discrepancies, and explore alternatives.

Keywords Clinical outcome • Delayed cerebral ischemia • Magnesium • Stroke • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

The neuroprotective effect of magnesium sulphate infusion has been confirmed in experimental models. Whereas pilot clinical trials using magnesium sulphate in patients with acute aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) have reported a trend toward a reduction in clinical deterioration due to delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and an improvement in clinical outcomes, our recent multicenter trials and systemic review failed to confirm benefit in neurological outcome. Furthermore, post hoc analysis data also did not support that

W.S. Poon, FRCS

a higher dose of magnesium sulphate infusion might improve clinical outcome. In this chapter we review the current literature, highlight these discrepancies, and explore alternatives.

Proposed Mechanism of Action

The recognition by Grew N, in 1965, of magnesium sulphate as one of the essential constituents of Epson salts, marked the entry of magnesium into medicines [1]. Magnesium is primarily an intracellular ion and an essential cofactor in numerous cellular functions. Magnesium is a well recognized N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist. In hypoxic-ischemic injury, there is a massive synaptic release of glutamate. When bound with postsynaptic ionotropic NMDA receptors, glutamate facilitates the entry of calcium and sodium, which in turn triggers cell death. Magnesium ion blocks the NMDA ion channel in a noncompetitive voltagedependent fashion and hence prevents cell death. Thus, magnesium protects neurons from hyperactive situations as a neuromodulator. Magnesium is also nature's physiological calcium antagonist. Parenteral magnesium was first used to treat tetanus and eclampsia [1]. With additional perceived similar pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm between eclampsia and aneurysmal SAH, magnesium sulphate infusion was applied to prevent cerebral vasospasm for aneurysmal SAH patients and hence improve clinical outcome with encouraging pilot results [2–19].

Veyna et al. [4] reported the results of a 40-patient prospective single-blinded clinical trial of high-dose magnesium sulphate infusion therapy (bolus of 6 g followed by 2 g/h intravenous infusion, with a target magnesium level of 4–5.5 mg/dL) following spontaneous SAH. In the magnesium treatment group, they maintained the magnesium sulphate infusion for 10 days. Symptomatic vasospasm, confirmed by angiography, occurred in 6/20 (30%) patients receiving magnesium sulphate infusion and 5/20 (25%) patients receiving the placebo, (odds ratio [OR] 1.3; 95%

G.K.C. Wong, M.D.(🖂)

Division of Neurosurgery, Prince of Wales Hospital, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, China

Department of Surgery, 4/F Clinical Science Building, Prince of Wales Hospital, 1 Ngan Shing Street, Shatin, Hong Kong SAR, China e-mail: georgewong@surgery.cuhk.edu.hk

Division of Neurosurgery, Prince of Wales Hospital, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, China

confidence interval [CI] 0.3–5.2). A favourable outcome (good recovery or moderate disability, as defined by Glasgow Outcome Scale [GOS] score of 4–5) was achieved in 13/20 (65%) patients receiving magnesium sulphate infusion and 10/20 (50%) patients receiving placebo treatment (OR 1.9; 95% CI, 0.5–6.6).

Van den Bergh et al. [6] reported the magnesium group results of the Magnesium and Acetylsalicylic Acid in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (MASH) trial. The MASH trial was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter trial with a factorial design. The salicylic acid-related data were not complete at that stage. A total of 283 patients were randomized within 4 days after aneurysmal SAH. Magnesium treatment consisted of a continuous intravenous dose of 64 mmol/day, started within 4 days after SAH and continued until 14 days after occlusion of the aneurysm. DCI (computed tomographic [CT] hypointensities with clinical features of decreased consciousness level or new focal neurological deficit) happened in 22/139 (16%) of magnesiumtreated patients and 35/144 (24%) of placebo-treated patients (OR 1.3; 95% CI 0.3–1.1). All CT hypointensities (cerebral ischemia, caused by aneurysm treatment, edema associated with intracerebral hematoma, caused by placement of ventricular catheter, others) happened in 62/139 (45%) of magnesium-treated patients and 67/144 (47%) of placebotreated patients (OR 0.9; 95% CI 0.6-1.5). Poor outcome, defined as a modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score of 3-6 at 3 months, occurred in 38/139 (27%) of magnesium-treated patients and 51/144 (35%) of placebo-treated patients (OR 1.5; 95% CI 0.9–2.4).

In our initial pilot study [7], 60 patients were randomly allocated to receive either magnesium sulphate infusion of 80 mmol/day or saline infusion for 14 days. The incidence of symptomatic vasospasm was 13/30 (43%) in the saline group and 7/30 (23%) in the patients receiving magnesium sulphate infusion (OR 0.4; 95% CI 0.1–1.2). A favourable outcome (good recovery or moderate disability, as defined by GOS 4–5) was achieved in 20/30 (67%) patients receiving magnesium sulphate infusion and 16/30 (53%) patients receiving placebo treatment (OR 1.8; 95% CI 0.6–5.0).

Muroi et al. [9] reported a study of 58 patients with aneurysmal SAH predominantly treated by microsurgical clipping (97%). This was a prospective, randomized, patient-blinded, placebo-controlled pilot study. Patients allocated to the treatment group received a bolus of 16 mmol MgSO₄ administered over 15 min, followed by a continuous intravenous infusion of 64 mmol/day. To maintain the serum magnesium level at twice the baseline, with a maximum of 2 mmol/L until day 12 after SAH, subsequent dosage adjustments were made every 12 h. Delayed ischemic neurological deficit happened in 4/31 (13%) patients in the treatment group and 4/27 (15%) of those in the placebo group (OR 0.9; 95% CI 0.2–3.8). New ischemia on CT happened in 3/31 (10%) patients in the treatment

group and 6/27 (22%) of those in the placebo group (OR 0.4; 95% CI 0.1–1.7). A favourable neurological outcome (good recovery or moderate disability as defined by GOS 4–5) at 3 months was achieved in 20/31 (64%) patients in the treatment group and 13/27 (48%) patients in the placebo group (OR 2.0; 95% CI 0.7–5.6).

Westermaier et al. [10] recently reported another singlecenter randomized, controlled clinical trial. Patients were randomly allocated to receive either magnesium sulphate infusion (with a target level of 2.0-2.5 mmol/L) or saline infusion for 14 days. The study was negative in clinical outcomes but showed reduction in DCI and delayed cerebral infarction with magnesium sulphate infusion. A favourable outcome (good recovery or moderate disability as defined by GOS 4-5) at 6 months was reported for 34/54 (63%) patients in the treatment group and 27/53 (51%) patients in the placebo group (OR 1.6; 95% CI 0.8-3.5). DCI occurred in 20/53 (37%) patients in the magnesium group and 35/53 (66%) patients in the control group (OR 0.3; 95% CI 0.1-0.7). Delayed cerebral infarction occurred in 12/54 (22%) patients in the magnesium group and 27/53 (51%) patients in the control group (OR 0.3; 95% CI 0.1-0.6).

Administration Routes

Intravenous administration is the most convenient and in the literature suitable-for-all route and is the route of application in other diseases. Animal studies on focal and global cerebral ischemia suggested a serum magnesium concentration over 1.4–1.5 and 2 mmol/L to achieve maximal neuroprotective effect [20–22]. Toxicity in terms of hypotension was seen only when the serum magnesium level was over 3 mmol/L. From experimental studies, the target plasma magnesium level would be compatible with twice the baseline level. The 10-to 14-day duration was conceptualized from coverage during the at-risk period of cerebral vasospasm. This route, target concentrations, and duration thus formed the basis of most magnesium sulphate studies for aneurysmal SAH.

Conclusion

Our negative multicenter study results surprised most researchers in the field [23]. Patients with aneurysmal SAH were recruited within 48 h of onset from ten participating centers from June 2002 to December 2008, with 6-month data completed in June 2009. Patients were randomly assigned to receive magnesium sulphate infusion, titrated to a serum magnesium concentration level twice the baseline value, or a saline

47

placebo for 10-14 days. Both patients and assessors were blinded to the treatment allocation. Of the 327 patients recruited, 169 were randomized to receive treatment with intravenous magnesium sulphate and 158 to receive saline (placebo). In the primary outcome analysis, the proportions of patients with a favourable outcome at 6 months (Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended [GOSE] score of 5–8) were similar: 64% in the magnesium sulphate group and 63% in the saline group (OR 1.0, 0.7–1.6). The data for the GOSE and modified Rankin Scale (mRS) are shown in [23]. There were no significant differences in the distributions or results of the proportional odds analyses between the two groups. The secondary outcome analyses also revealed no significant differences between the two groups. The proportions of patients with clinical vasospasm were similar, 25% (42/169) in the magnesium sulphate group and 18% (29/158) in the saline group (OR 1.5, 0.9-2.5), as were the proportions of those with a good outcome at 6 months (mRS 0-2), 57% (97/169) in the magnesium sulphate group and 58% (91/158) in the saline group (OR 1.0, 0.6–1.5); those with an excellent outcome (mRS 0-1) at 6 months, 46% (77/169) in the magnesium sulphate group and 45% (71/158) in the saline group (OR 1.0, 0.7-1.6); and those able to carry out basic activities of daily living independently (Barthel Index [BI] score of at least 85) at 6 months, 57% (97/169) in the magnesium sulphate group and 61% (96/158) in the saline group (OR 0.9, 0.6-1.4). Completion of the Short Form 36 (SF-36) questionnaire was feasible among 189 (58%) communicable survivors at 6 months, with 99 patients from the magnesium sulphate group and 90 from the saline group. Their SF-36 physical scores were similar (mean \pm SD), 67.3 \pm 26.1 in the magnesium sulphate group and 65.5 ± 25.3 in the saline group (mean difference 3.8; 95% CI -5.6 to 9.2), as were their SF-36 mental scores, 65.4 ± 22.0 in the MgSO, group and 64.5 ± 24.1 in the saline group (mean difference 3.4; 95% CI -5.7 to 7.6). The daily maximum middle cerebral artery velocities were collected throughout the drug infusion period of the study, and the mean values for the magnesium sulphate and saline infusion groups were similar. Analysis of the plasma magnesium concentration levels did not suggest that higher levels result in better clinical outcomes [24]. An updated meta-analysis also did not support a clinical benefit of intravenous magnesium sulphate infusion in patients with acute aneurysmal SAH [25]. A similar Dutch multicenter randomized clinical trial, the Magnesium in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage (MASH II) phase III clinical trial, with a lower dosage regimen, completed patient recruitment in the second half of 2011 and results are expected to further clarify the role of intravenous magnesium sulphate infusion for aneurysmal SAH (personal communications with MASH II investigators).

There is another line of magnesium research in aneurysmal SAH led by Kentaro Mori and his team. They evaluated the vasodilatory effect of intracisternal infusion of magnesium sulphate solution in ten patients with symptomatic vasospasm after aneurysmal SAH who underwent early clipping surgery [26]. Cisternal drainage was installed in the preportine or sylvian fissures. Carotid angiography was performed immediately after the onset of symptomatic vasospasm, and then intracisternal infusion of 15 mmol/L magnesium sulphate in Ringer solution was started at 20 mL/h and continued until day 14. Irrigation was performed from the cisternal tube (inlet) to the spinal drainage (outlet). The cerebrospinal fluid magnesium ion concentration $(1.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ mEq/L})$ significantly increased after the infusion therapy $(6.0 \pm 1.7 \text{ mEg/L},$ p < 0.001), which is much higher than the achievable concentration by intravenous infusion. Repeat angiography showed vasodilatory effect on the spastic cerebral arteries at 3 h after the infusion, especially in the arteries near the site of cisternal drainage placement. The magnesium infusion also caused decreased mean arterial blood velocity in the spastic arteries in six of the seven measured patients (162 \pm 38 to 114 \pm 42 cm/s, p < 0.001). Finally, five of the ten patients achieved good recovery, one patient had moderate disability, one patient became severely disabled due to meningitis, and three patients were vegetative or dead due to failure of magnesium irrigation in one patient and advanced age in the other two (more than 80 years old). The results are encouraging, but translation into better clinical outcome needs to be further assessed in randomized clinical trials in both clipping and coiling patients with standard medical treatment including oral nimodipine.

Acknowledgements None.

Sources of Funding IMASH was supported by the Hong Kong Research Grant Council. The funding source had no role in the study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of data, manuscript preparation or decision for submission.

Disclosure None.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Nishizawa Y, Morii H, Durlach J (2007) New perspectives in magnesium research. Springer, London
- Boet R, Mee E (2000) Magnesium sulphate in the management of patients with Fisher grade 3 subarachnoid hemorrhage: a pilot study. Neurosurgery 47:602–607
- 3. Chia RY, Hughes RS, Morgan MK (2002) Magnesium: a useful adjunct in the prevention of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Clin Neurosci 9(3):279–281
- Veyna RS, Seyfried D, Burke DG, Zimmerman C, Mlynarek M, Nichols V, Marrocco A, Thomas AJ, Mitsias PD (2002) Magnesium sulphate therapy after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 96:510–514

- van den Bergh WM, Albrecht KW, Berkelbach van der Sprenkel JW, Rinkel GK (2003) Magnesium therapy after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a dose-finding study for long term treatment. Acta Neurochir 145:195–199
- van den Bergh WM, on behalf of the MASH Study Group (2005) Magnesium sulphate in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 36:1011–1015
- Wong GK, Chan MT, Boet R, Poon WS, Gin T (2006) Intravenous magnesium sulphate after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective randomized pilot study. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 18:142–148
- Schmid-Elsaesser R, Kunz M, Zausinger S, Prueckner S, Briegel J, Steiger HJ (2006) Intravenous magnesium versus nimodipine in the treatment of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized study. Neurosurgery 58:1054–1065
- Muroi C, Terzic A, Fortunati M, Yonekawa Y, Keller E (2008) Magnesium sulphate in the management of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-adapted trial. Surg Neurol 69:33–39
- Westermaier T, Stetter C, Vince GH, Pham M, Tejon JP, Eriskat J, Kunze E, Matthies C, Ernestus RI, Solymosi L, Roosen K (2010) Prophylactic intravenous magnesium sulfate for treatment of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized placebo-controlled, clinical study. Crit Care Med 38(5):1284–1290
- Macedo SK, Nuss RM, Pereira S, Siqueira CM, Siquerira SB, Lima DP (2009) Effect of magnesium on prophylaxis of vasospasm, morbidity, and mortality in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients. Crit Care 13(Suppl 3):54
- Akdemir H, Kulaksizogly O, Tucer B, Menku A, Postalci L, Gunaldi O (2009) Magnesium sulfate therapy for cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg Q 19:35–39
- Zhao XD, Zhou YT, Zhang X, Zhuang Z, Shi JX (2009) A metaanalysis of treating subarachnoid hemorrhage with magnesium sulfate. J Clin Neurosci 16:1394–1397
- Ma L, Lu WG, Zhang JM, Chen G, Fan J, Sheng HS (2010) Magnesium sulphate in the management of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a meta-analysis of prospective controlled trials. Brain Inj 24(5):730–735
- Wong GK, Poon WS (2007) Magnesium and vasospasm. J Neurosurg 106:938–940

- Wong GK, Poon WS (2006) Correspondence to "magnesium sulfate: role as possible attenuating factor in vasospasm morbidity". Surg Neurol 66(1):110
- Wong GK, Chan MT, Boet R, Poon WS (2006) Correspondence to "dose evaluation for long-term magnesium treatment in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage". J Clin Pharm Ther 31:407
- Wong GK, Poon WS (2008) Re Magnesium sulfate in the management of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-adapted trial (Muroi et al (2008) Surgical Neurology 69:33–39). Surgical Neurology 70:109–110
- Wong GK, Chan MT, Boet R, Poon WS (2005) Trial design in "magnesium sulphate in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial". Stroke 36(12):2530–2531
- Marinov MB, Harbaugh KS, Hoopes PJ, Pikus HJ, Harbaugh RE (1996) Neuroprotective effects of preischemia intraarterial magnesium sulfate in reversible focal cerebral ischemia. J Neurosurg 85:117–124
- Miles AN, Majda BT, Meloni BP, Knuckey NM (2001) Postischemic intravenous administration of magnesium sulphate inhibits hippocampal CA1 neuronal death after transient global ischemia in rats. Neurosurgery 49:1450–1451
- Westermaier T, Zausinger S, Baethmann A, Schmid-Elsaesser R (2005) Dose finding study of intravenous magnesium sulphate in transient focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Acta Neurochir 147:525–532
- 23. Wong GK, Poon WS, Boet R, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B, IMASH investigators (2010) Intravenous magnesium sulphate after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a multi-center phase III study. Stroke 41(5):921–926
- 24. Wong GK, Poon WS, Boet R, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B (2010) Plasma magnesium concentrations and clinical outcomes in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients: post-hoc analysis of intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (IMASH) trial. Stroke 41:1841–1844
- 25. Wong GK, Boet R, Poon WS, Chan MT, Gin T, Ng SC, Zee B (2011) Intravenous magnesium sulphate for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated systemic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care 15(1):R52
- 26. Mori K, Yamamoto T, Nakao Y, Osada H, Hara Y, Oyama K, Esaki T (2009) Initial clinical experience of vasodilatory effect of intracisternal infusion of magnesium sulfate for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 49:139–145

Prolonged Intravenous Infusion of Sodium Nitrite Delivers Nitric Oxide (NO) in Humans

Ryszard M. Pluta

Abstract In preclinical studies, infusion of sodium nitrite delivers nitric oxide (NO) as treatment of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. We evaluated safety and toxicity of intravenous nitrite administration in healthy volunteers infused with increasing doses of sodium nitrite for 48 h. Twelve volunteers (5 men, 7 women; mean age was 38.8 years, range 27-56 years) participated in the study. The starting sodium nitrite dose was 4.2 mg/kg/h, and it was doubled for each subsequent volunteer up to a maximal dose of 533.8 mg/ kg/h at which a clinically silent dose-limiting toxicity (DLT) was observed. Toxicity included a transient decrease of mean arterial blood pressure or asymptomatic increase of methemoglobin level above 5%. The maximal tolerated dose (MTD) was 267 mg/kg/h. S-Nitrosothiols increased significantly in plasma, confirming in vivo sodium nitrite reduction to NO and encouraging its use against vasospasm and ischemiareperfusion injury to the brain, kidneys, liver, and heart.

Keywords Nitric oxide • Nitrite • Vasospasm • Methemoglobin

Introduction

Preclinical studies indicated that nitric oxide (NO) limits tissue injury in experimental brain, cardiac, and renal ischemia [6]. It has also been shown—when delivered intra-arterially—to prevent the development of delayed cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in a primate model [1, 8]. These preclinical findings have not been confirmed in clinical trials because of the lack of systemic NO donors that are safe for prolonged systemic administration.

Surgical Neurology Branch, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, National Institutes of Health, 5512 Pembroke Terrace, Bethesda, MD, USA e-mail: rysiek@ninds.nih.gov

Nitrite anion (NO₂) has long been considered a biologically inert, short-living product of NO oxidation. However, an increasing body of evidence indicates that NO₂ is an intravascular storage pool for NO [2, 5, 9] and that it can be reduced to NO under specific local conditions [2]. Preclinical studies have shown that NO₂ provides therapeutic benefits similar to that produced by NO, preventing and reversing delayed vasospasm in a primate model of subarachnoid hemorrhage [4, 9] and limiting ischemic damage to the heart, brain, and kidneys [3, 7] without causing a drop in blood pressure or causing other forms of systemic toxicities associated with systemic administration of nitroglycerin or nitroprusside. Despite these encouraging experimental findings, the prolonged intravenous administration of sodium nitrite, which is crucial in clinical settings, was not studied. Thus, the phase 1, single-center, open-label, nonrandomized, doseescalation clinical trial was conducted to determine the safety and toxicity of a 48-h intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite in healthy volunteers [10].

Materials and Methods

Healthy volunteers were recruited from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) recruitment program. All volunteers underwent screening procedures that included a complete medical history, physical examination, hematology, serum comprehensive metabolic panel, and methemoglobin via CO oximetry, and women had a pregnancy test. This dose- and-toxicity seeking, single-center, open-label, nonrandomized, dose-escalation clinical trial was approved by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) internal review board. The volunteers enrolled in this trial were healthy nonsmoking people, 21–60 years of age of both sexes in good health who did not use any medication; women of childbearing age were allowed but could not be pregnant or breast feeding. After initial assessments, volunteers were admitted to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU), where the infusion of 0.9% sodium chloride (NaCl)

R.M. Pluta, M.D., Ph.D

was initiated for 12 h to establish steady state. Blood pressure, electrocardiograms (ECGs), and methemoglobin were monitored, and additional blood samples were drawn for assessments of hematology, serum comprehensive metabolic panel, platelet functions, chromosomal aberrations, NO_2 , nitrate (NO_3) in plasma, whole blood, red blood cells(RBCs), and the protein and lipid-bound NO (nitrosothiols, SNO). Blood samples were collected preinfusion, during infusion, and following the cessation of the 48-h sodium nitrite infusion that started immediately after saline infusion was stopped. All the procedures are described in details in Pluta et al. [10].

The dose-limiting toxicity (DLT) was defined as methemoglobin blood levels approaching 5% or a drop of Mean Arterial Blood Pressure (MABP) by 15–20 mmHg for a prolonged time. The maximal tolerated dose (MTD) was defined as the highest dose studied in at least two of three volunteers without the incidence of DLT.

The starting sodium nitrite dose was 4.2 mg/kg/h, and it was doubled for each subsequent volunteer.

Results

Twelve healthy volunteers (five male and seven female) were enrolled in this study. The mean age was 38.8 ± 9.2 years (range 27-56 years). Two subjects were Caucasian and the rest of volunteers were African American. The mean weight was 77.8 ± 19 kg (range 49–115 kg). The baseline (day 1) mean MABP and methemoglobin were 89 ± 12 mmHg (range: 69-101 mmHg) and 0.7 ± 0.2 % (range: 0.5-1%), respectively.

The mean baseline values for NO metabolome were 17 ± 17 ng/mL plasma NO₂, $1,613\pm1,029$ ng/mL plasma NO₃, 29 ± 11 nmol/L plasma SNO, 17 ± 9 ng/mL whole-blood NO₂, $2,354\pm1,493$ ng/mL whole-blood NO₃, 25 ± 8 ng/mL RBC NO₃, and $1,323\pm47$ ng/mL RBC NO₃.

Sodium Nitrite Infusion

Whole blood and plasma levels of NO₃, RBC levels of NO₂ and NO₃, and plasma levels of SNO increased during the infusion in all evaluable subjects and returned to baseline values within 12 h after stopping the infusion. The mean $t_{1/2}$ of NO₂ was 45.3 ± 1.0 min and 51.4 ± 22.6 min for plasma and whole blood, respectively.

The MTD for a 48-h intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite in healthy volunteers was 267 mg/kg/h (12.8 mg/kg/48 h). There were no deaths or serious adverse events (SAEs). DLTs were experienced by three volunteers, the first at 534 mg/kg/h and the second and third at the deescalation dose of 446 mg/kg/h. Two of the volunteers had their 48-h intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite stopped early due to clinically significant decreases in MABP.

Discussion

Sodium nitrite injection was well tolerated in healthy volunteers. The MTD for a 48-h intravenous infusion was determined to be 267 μ g/kg/h (12.8 mg/kg/48 h). DLTs were restricted to asymptomatic transient decreases in MABP and asymptomatic transient increases in methemoglobin. These changes were not considered clinically significant and did not require any additional intervention other than stopping the infusion.

Conclusion

Our study showed that prolonged intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite is safe and has a limited and only transient clinically silent toxicity. Toxicity was limited to decreases of MABP and increase of methemoglobin level above 5%. After expected increase during sodium nitrite infusion, NO metabolome values returned to baseline levels within 12 h; the only exceptions were S-nitrosothiols of subjects experiencing DLT. The meaning of this finding is unclear, but because of the unexpected drop in blood pressure in one volunteer after 6 h of rest in response to infusion of sodium nitrite at the MTD suggests that the S-nitrosothiols may play a role in regulating the vascular response, and their concentrations may need to be monitored during long-term sodium nitrite infusions.

Acknowledgment The Intramural Research program of the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke at the NIH supported this research. I appreciate the support and dedication of the Surgical Intensive Care Unit and Vascular Access Service staff of the Clinical Center at the NIH.

Disclosure Results of this study has been published in Pluta et al. [10].

Conflicts of interest I declare that I do not have conflict of interest.

References

- Afshar J, Pluta R, Boock R, Thompson B, Oldfield E (1995) Effect of intracarotid nitric oxide on primate cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 83:118–122
- Cosby K, Partovi K, Crawford J, Patel R, Reirter C, Martyr S, Yang B, Waclawiw M, Zalos G, Xu X, Huang K, Shields H, Kim-Shapiro D, Schechter A, CannonIII R, Gladwin M (2003) Nitrite reduction to nitric oxide by deoxyhemoglobin vasodilates the human circulation. Nat Med 9:1498–1505
- Duranski M, Greer J, Dejam A, Sathya J, Hogg N, Langston W, Kevil C, Patel R, Gladwin M, Lefer D (2005) Cytoprotective effects of nitrite during ischemia-reperfusion of the heart and liver. J Clin Invest 115:1232–1240
- Fathi AR PR, Bakhtian KD, Qi M, Lonser RR (2011) Reversal of cerebral vasospasm via intravenous sodium nitrite after subarachnoid hemorrhage in primates. J Neurosurg 115:1213–1220
- Gladwin MT (2008) Evidence mounts that nitrite contributes to hypoxic vasodilation in the human circulation. Circulation 117:594–597

- Hunter C, Dejam A, Blood A, Shields H, Kim-Shapiro D, Machado R, Tarekegn S, Mulla N, Hopper A, Schechter A, Power G, Gladwin M (2004) Inhaled nebulized nitrite is a hypoxiasensitive NO-dependent selective pulmonary vasodilator. Nat Med 10:1122–1127
- Jung KH, Chu K, Ko SY, Lee ST, Sinn DI, Park DK, Kim JM, Song EC, Kim M, Roh JK (2006) Early intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite protects brain against in vivo ischemia-reperfusion injury. Stroke 37:2744–2750
- Pluta R, Oldfield E, Boock R (1997) Reversal and prevention of cerebral vasospasm by intracarotid infusions of nitric oxide donors in a primate model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 87:746–751
- Pluta RM, Dejam A, Grimes G, Gladwin MT, Oldfield EH (2005) Nitrite infusions prevent cerebral artery vasospasm in a primate model of subarachnoid aneurismal hemorrhage. JAMA 293: 1477–1484
- Pluta RM, Oldfield EH, Bakhtian KD, Fathi AR, Smith RK, Devroom HL, Nahavandi M, Woo S, Figg WD, Lonser RR (2011) Safety and feasibility of long-term intravenous sodium nitrite infusion in healthy volunteers. PLoS One 6:e14504

Proposed Mechanism of Cerebral Vasospasm: Our Hypothesis and Current Topics

Tomio Sasaki and Yuichiro Kikkawa

Abstract Increased vascular contractility plays an important role in the development of cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Increased vascular contractility can be attributed to either endothelial dysfunction or increased contractility of vascular smooth muscle. Endothelial damage and dysfunction cause impairment of endotheliumdependent vasodilation of the cerebral artery after SAH. In addition to endothelial damage and dysfunction, receptor upregulation in vascular smooth muscle contributes to the induction and enhancement of contractile responses to agonists. Our recent data revealed that feedback regulation of the activity of the G protein-coupled receptor and myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity is impaired after SAH. This impaired feedback regulation is suggested to cause a sustained contractile response to various agonists, thereby contributing to increased vascular contractility. In addition, three current topics are reviewed: endothelin type A receptor antagonists, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors for treatment, and cortical spreading depolarization for the mechanism of cerebral vasospasm.

Keywords Cerebral vasospasm • Subarachnoid hemorrhageVascular contractility • Endothelium • Vascular smooth muscle

Introduction

For clarifying the mechanism of cerebral vasospasm, it is important to determine the clinical characteristics. During the phase of vasospasm, a reduction in the outer diameter of the spastic artery is observed intraoperatively. This observation

Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kyushu University, 3-1-1 Maidashi, Higashi-ku, Fukuoka 812-8582, Japan

e-mail: tsasaki@ns.med.kyushu-u.ac.jp

suggests the possibility that contraction of vascular smooth muscle may be a major cause of cerebral vasospasm. Papaverine hydrochloride or Ca^{2+} channel blockers cause vasodilation of the spastic artery in the early phase of spasm, whereas they do not exert vasodilatory effects in the acme phase of spasm. Therefore, it is difficult to explain the mechanism of cerebral vasospasm in a simple flow of elevation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) followed by myosin light chain phosphorylation and contraction. Our experimental data support the notion that vascular contractility is increased after subarachnoid hemorrhage. It is hoped our understanding of the molecular mechanism of increased vascular contractility will be useful to develop a new therapeutic strategy for the prevention and treatment of cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Mechanism Underlying Increased Vascular Contractility After SAH

Endothelial Damage and Dysfunction

In canine basilar arteries, endothelial damage can be observed by electron micrographs 3 days after SAH [21]. Degenerative endothelial changes cause the decreased synthesis of prostacyclin (PGI₂) [22]. PGI₂ is mainly generated in the endothelium and acts as a defense hormone that inhibits platelet aggregation and maintains normal peripheral blood flow by its vasodilatory effect [15, 16]. The synthetic activity of PGI₂ is significantly diminished on days 3 and 8 after SAH in canine basilar arteries [22]. In addition, endothelium-dependent vasodilation induced by both adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and acetylcholine is impaired 4 days after SAH [18]. It almost recovers 3 weeks after SAH [18]. Impairment of endothelium-dependent vasodilation of the cerebral artery is an important mechanism of increased vascular contractility after SAH.

T. Sasaki, M.D., Ph.D. (\boxtimes) and Y. Kikkawa, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery,

Upregulation of Receptor Expression

Thrombin induced only a small contraction at 1 unit/ml in the basilar artery of a rabbit control model, whereas it significantly enhanced contractions after SAH [9, 10, 14]. Enhanced contractility was also observed with an agonist peptide for the thrombin receptor after SAH [14]. Consistent with the increased contractile response to thrombin, expression of the thrombin receptor proteinase-activated receptor 1 (PAR,) is upregulated 5 and 7 days after SAH [9, 14]. The intrathecal administration of a PAR, antagonist prevents the upregulation of PAR, expression and enhancement of the contractile response to thrombin [9], suggesting that thrombin-mediated activation of PAR, plays a critical role in upregulating the expression of PAR, itself, thereby enhancing the contractile response to thrombin after SAH. A similar enhancement of contractility is also observed with platelet-derived growth factor, phenylephrine and endothelin-1 (ET-1), but not for high K⁺ depolarization or phorbol ester [10, 14]. The expression of PAR, α 1-adrenoceptor, and ET, receptor has been found to be upregulated after SAH [10]. Accordingly, receptor upregulation is suggested to play an important role in the increased vascular reactivity to agonists.

Impairment of Feedback Regulation of Receptor Activity and Myofilament Ca²⁺ Sensitivity

In rabbit basilar arteries, ET-1, thrombin, and phenylephrine induce a transient contraction, which reaches a peak and gradually declines to a significantly lower level. On the other hand, a transient contractile response is converted to a sustained response after SAH. The conversion of a transient response to a sustained response has been observed with [Ca²⁺], myosin light chain phosphorylation, and contraction. Furthermore, it was found that when the artery was consecutively stimulated with PAR₁-activating peptide or phenylephrine, a second response was significantly reduced in controls, whereas the second response was well preserved in SAH. These observations suggest that a feedback regulation mechanism of the contractile response is impaired, presumably at the receptor level, after SAH, thereby causing a sustained contraction and a continued response to the second stimulation.

Impaired feedback regulation may cause a significant effect on the contractile effect of thrombin because of the unique activation mechanism of PAR_1 . The activation of PAR_1 by thrombin is initiated by proteolytic cleavage of the N-terminal region, which covers the region that acts as a tethered ligand and activates the receptor [2]. Therefore,

feedback regulation plays an important role in terminating the activity of proteolytically activated PAR,. In SAH, thrombin-induced sustained contraction has been found to persist even after terminating thrombin stimulation [10]. Trypsin is known to remove the ligand region of PAR, thereby converting the active conformation of PAR₁ to an inactive conformation [19]. The addition of trypsin during thrombin-induced sustained contraction completely inhibits the contraction [10]. Furthermore, an inhibitor of Gag protein also inhibits thrombin-induced sustained contraction [10]. Therefore, these observations suggest that this persistent contraction is associated with persistent activation of PAR, and that feedback inactivation of PAR, is impaired following SAH. A G α q inhibitor has also been found to inhibit the sustained phase of contraction induced by ET-1 and phenylephrine [10]. These observations suggest that impairment of feedback regulation of receptor activity is not limited to PAR, but also extends to other receptors. This general impairment of receptor inactivation may explain the enhanced contractility to various agonists after SAH.

In an α -toxin permeabilized preparation, GTP γ S, a nonhydrolyzable GTP (guanosine triphosphate) analog that is known to directly activate G proteins by skipping receptormediated activation, induces a transient response in controls, whereas it induces a sustained response after SAH [10]. This suggests that feedback regulation at the step regulating myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity is also impaired after SAH.

Current Topics

ET_A Receptor Antagonist: Clazosentan

Among various substances proposed for a spasmogen, ET-1 has been implicated to be a critical mediator in the pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm because of its inherent properties to produce a potent and prolonged vasoconstriction [7, 17]. ET-1 primarily exerts its vasoconstrictive activity via the ET_A receptor, which is localized on vascular smooth muscle cells. Therefore, the ET_A receptor has been considered to be a potentially useful therapeutic target for cerebral vasospasm. In 1993, the preventive effect of continuous intravenous administration of an ET_A receptor antagonist (BQ-485) on experimental cerebral vasospasm was shown for the first time using canine basilar artery [8]. In 2005, a phase IIa clinical trial showed that continuous intravenous administration of clazosentan, a selective ET_A receptor antagonist, significantly reduced angiographic vasospasm by 48% compared with the placebo group [24]. In 2008, a phase IIb clinical trial, CONSCIOUS-1, showed that clazosentan significantly and dose dependently reduced moderate or severe angiographic vasospasm, with a

65% relative risk reduction with the highest dose [13]. However, CONSCIOUS-1 was not powered to detect changes in morbidity or mortality, whereas post hoc analyses showed some evidence for improved outcome [13]. A high incidence of pulmonary complications, hypotension, and anemia was considered to be the cause of the negative aspects of clazosentan [13]. In 2011, a phase III clinical trial, the CONSCIOUS-2 study, in patients undergoing surgical clipping revealed that clazosentan at 5 mg/h had no significant effect on mortality and vasospasm-related morbidity or functional outcome [12]. Further investigation is needed to fully understand the potential usefulness of clazosentan in patients with aneurysmal SAH. There are two ongoing studies. One is the CONSCIOUS-3 study in patients undergoing endovascular coiling of ruptured aneurysms, and the other is a clinical study that has been carried out mainly in Japan and South Korea. These studies should provide some answers for the efficacy of clazosentan.

3-Hydroxy-3-Methylglutaryl (HMG)-Coenzyme A Reductase Inhibitor: Statins

In addition to their cholesterol-lowering effect, statins have been shown to possess some pleiotropic effects, such as improvement of endothelial function, anti-inflammation, plaque stabilization, and reduction of thrombosis. Therefore, statins are expected to become therapeutic agents of cerebral vasospasm. In 2005, Lynch et al. and Tseng et al. reported the preventive effect of simvastatin and pravastatin on vasospasm, respectively [11, 23]. Thereafter, many neurosurgeons have been interested in the preventive effect of statins on vasospasm. However, recent studies could not confirm the beneficial effects of statins [1, 25]. To determine the efficacy of statins, larger multicenter clinical trials are required because the number of patients in previous studies was too small to draw meaningful conclusions regarding the efficacy of statins.

Cortical Spreading Depolarization

Cortical spreading depolarization (CSD) is the wave of neuronal depolarization associated with the influx of cations and water. Under physiological conditions, in response to spreading depolarization, there is a normal neurovascular response defined by vasodilation and increased regional cerebral blood flow [3]. However, under pathological conditions, spreading depolarization induces severe spreading hypoperfusion that leads to a prolonged slow potential change [3], which is called spreading ischemia. In recent years, animal and human studies have indicated that CSDs occur early and late after

SAH [4, 6]. Investigations regarding the role of CSD in cerebral vasospasm and subsequent delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) have mainly been performed by Dreier's group. In 2006, they revealed in clinical studies that DINDs in SAH patients are associated with CSD [6]. In SAH, many factors, including oxy-Hb, an increase in extracellular potassium, a decrease in nitric oxide availability, an increase in the release of glutamate, and an increase in the synthesis of ET-1, are suggested to induce CSD [5, 20].

The relationship between CSDs and DINDs may be as follows: After SAH, cerebral vasospasm is induced in large arteries. In the early phase of vasospasm, compensatory vasodilation occurs in small pial arteries. This may be related to spreading hyperemia. In the acme phase of vasospasm, regional cerebral blood flow decreases, extracellular potassium increases, oxy-Hb is released, ET-1 is increased, nitric oxide production is decreased, and release of glutamate is increased. These factors induce CSD in the acme phase of vasospasm, and then cortical spreading ischemia occurs. Cortical spreading ischemia is suggested to contribute to the induction of DINDs. However, whether CSD is the main causative factor of DINDs in SAH patients and to what extent CSD contributes to DINDs still remains to be elucidated.

Conclusion

We presented our understanding of the molecular mechanism of increased vascular contractility following SAH based on our experimental data and reviewed three current topics. Our hypothesis and these topics will be useful to develop a new therapeutic strategy for the prevention and treatment of cerebral vasospasm following SAH.

Acknowledgment This research was supported in part by Grantsin-Aids for Scientific Research (Nos. 22249054 and 23659692) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

Conflict of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest

References

- Chou SH, Smith EE, Badjatia N, Nogueira RG, Sims JR 2nd, Ogilvy CS, Rordorf GA, Ayata C (2008) A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled pilot study of simvastatin in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 39:2891–2893
- Coughlin SR (2000) Thrombin signalling and protease-activated receptors. Nature 407:258–264
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447

- 4. Dreier JP, Ebert N, Priller J, Megow D, Lindauer U, Klee R, Reuter U, Imai Y, Einhaupl KM, Victorov I, Dirnagl U (2000) Products of hemolysis in the subarachnoid space inducing spreading ischemia in the cortex and focal necrosis in rats: a model for delayed ischemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage? J Neurosurg 93:658–666
- 5. Dreier JP, Kleeberg J, Petzold G, Priller J, Windmuller O, Orzechowski HD, Lindauer U, Heinemann U, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U (2002) Endothelin-1 potently induces Leao's cortical spreading depression in vivo in the rat: a model for an endothelial trigger of migrainous aura? Brain 125:102–112
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid haemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237
- Ide K, Yamakawa K, Nakagomi T, Sasaki T, Saito I, Kurihara H, Yosizumi M, Yazaki Y, Takakura K (1989) The role of endothelin in the pathogenesis of vasospasm following subarachnoid haemorrhage. Neurol Res 11:101–104
- Itoh S, Sasaki T, Ide K, Ishikawa K, Nishikibe M, Yano M (1993) A novel endothelin ET_A receptor antagonist, BQ-485, and its preventive effect on experimental cerebral vasospasm in dogs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 195:969–975
- Kai Y, Hirano K, Maeda Y, Nishimura J, Sasaki T, Kanaide H (2007) Prevention of the hypercontractile response to thrombin by proteinase-activated receptor-1 antagonist in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 38:3259–3265
- Kikkawa Y, Kameda K, Hirano M, Sasaki T, Hirano K (2010) Impaired feedback regulation of the receptor activity and the myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity contributes to increased vascular reactiveness after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1637–1650
- Lynch JR, Wang H, McGirt MJ, Floyd J, Friedman AH, Coon AL, Blessing R, Alexander MJ, Graffagnino C, Warner DS, Laskowitz DT (2005) Simvastatin reduces vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a pilot randomized clinical trial. Stroke 36:2024–2026
- 12. Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, Vajkoczy P, Wanke I, Bach D, Frey A, Marr A, Roux S, Kassell N (2011) Clazosentan, an endothelin receptor antagonist, in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage undergoing surgical clipping: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial (CONSCIOUS-2). Lancet Neurol 10:618–625
- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A (2008) Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39:3015–3021

- Maeda Y, Hirano K, Kai Y, Hirano M, Suzuki SO, Sasaki T, Kanaide H (2007) Up-regulation of proteinase-activated receptor 1 and increased contractile responses to thrombin after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Br J Pharmacol 152:1131–1139
- Moncada S, Gryglewski R, Bunting S, Vane JR (1976) An enzyme isolated from arteries transforms prostaglandin endoperoxides to an unstable substance that inhibits platelet aggregation. Nature 263:663–665
- Moncada S, Korbut R, Bunting S, Vane JR (1978) Prostacyclin is a circulating hormone. Nature 273:767–768
- Nakagomi T, Ide K, Yamakawa K, Sasaki T, Kurihara H, Saito I, Takakura K (1989) Pharmacological effect of endothelin, an endothelium-derived vasoconstrictive peptide, on canine basilar arteries. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 29:967–974
- Nakagomi T, Kassell NF, Sasaki T, Fujiwara S, Lehman RM, Torner JC (1987) Impairment of endothelium-dependent vasodilation induced by acetylcholine and adenosine triphosphate following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 18: 482–489
- Nakayama T, Hirano K, Shintani Y, Nishimura J, Nakatsuka A, Kuga H, Takahashi S, Kanaide H (2003) Unproductive cleavage and the inactivation of protease-activated receptor-1 by trypsin in vascular endothelial cells. Br J Pharmacol 138:121–130
- Petzold GC, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U, Dreier JP (2003) Ischemia triggered by spreading neuronal activation is induced by endothelin-1 and hemoglobin in the subarachnoid space. Ann Neurol 54:591–598
- Sasaki T, Kassell NF, Yamashita M, Fujiwara S, Zuccarello M (1985) Barrier disruption in the major cerebral arteries following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 63: 433–440
- Sasaki T, Murota SI, Wakai S, Asano T, Sano K (1981) Evaluation of prostaglandin biosynthetic activity in canine basilar artery following subarachnoid injection of blood. J Neurosurg 55: 771–778
- 23. Tseng MY, Czosnyka M, Richards H, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2005) Effects of acute treatment with pravastatin on cerebral vasospasm, autoregulation, and delayed ischemic deficits after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase II randomized placebo-controlled trial. Stroke 36:1627–1632
- 24. Vajkoczy P, Meyer B, Weidauer S, Raabe A, Thome C, Ringel F, Breu V, Schmiedek P (2005) Clazosentan (AXV-034343), a selective endothelin A receptor antagonist, in the prevention of cerebral vasospasm following severe aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase IIa study. J Neurosurg 103:9–17
- 25. Vergouwen MD, Meijers JC, Geskus RB, Coert BA, Horn J, Stroes ES, van der Poll T, Vermeulen M, Roos YB (2009) Biologic effects of simvastatin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized trial. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:1444–1453

Monitoring of Cerebral Hemodynamics and Oxygenation to Detect Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficit After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Martin Seule, Carl Muroi, Christopher Sikorski, and Emanuela Keller

Abstract One of the major goals in the treatment of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is early detection and treatment of delayed ischemic neurologic deficits (DINDs) to prevent cerebral infarction and thus poor outcome or even death. The complex changes of cerebral metabolism, hemodynamics, and oxygenation after SAH are underestimated if they are considered exclusively based on angiographic cerebral vasospasm (CVS). The discrepancies on one hand may arise from the heterogeneous and complex pathophysiology of DINDs. On the other hand, the occurrence of DINDs may depend on the relationship between local cerebral oxygen delivery and demand, which can only be determined if cerebral blood flow (CBF) and the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂) can be measured. We briefly review the most relevant methods for monitoring cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation and discuss the limitations associated with early diagnosis of DINDs in patients with severe aSAH not amenable for clinical neurological examination.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Delayed ischemic neurological deficit • Neuromonitoring • Cerebral blood flow • Cerebral oxygenation

Introduction

Delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DIND) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) may occur in the absence of angiographic cerebral vasospasm (CVS) and vice versa. Further, it could be demonstrated that the distribution of angiographic CVS failed to predict reliably the subsequent

M. Seule, C. Muroi, C. Sikorski, and E. Keller (🖂)

Neurointensive Care Unit, Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

e-mail: emanueal.keller@usz.ch

pattern of cerebral infarction [22]. Based on the accumulating evidence that arterial narrowing is not the only cause of DINDs, there has been a marked shift to new concepts involved in the development of DINDs, including acute brain injury, microthrombosis, inflammation, and cortical spreading depression [16, 21]. The entire picture of DINDs might be multifactorial, and a clear distinction from angiographic CVS is essential to give insights of major importance in the pathophysiology of DINDs and new neuroprotective strategies. Besides the heterogeneous and complex pathophysiology of DINDs, the occurrence may depend on the relationship between local cerebral oxygen delivery and demand, which can only be determined if cerebral blood flow (CBF) and the cerebral metabolic rate of oxygen (CMRO₂) can be measured. Monitoring CBF may allow identifying patients with increased risk of secondary ischemic events after SAH [4, 25, 30]. The complex changes of cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation pattern are underestimated if they are considered exclusively based on transcranial Doppler (TCD) and angiography.

Several monitoring techniques to assess cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation have been introduced. However, it has been shown that each monitoring technology has its limitations in clinical practice. The established methods for bedside monitoring of CBF with inert tracers such as nitrous oxide and ¹³³xenon dilution techniques are difficult to perform clinically and time consuming. Imaging studies such as perfusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ¹³³xenon computed tomography (CT), H₂¹⁵O positron emission tomography (PET), and single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) are powerful research and clinical tools but require a transport, which carries a potentially high risk for critically ill patients. Further, the information obtained is only a snapshot of the patient's condition, not accounting for the dynamic changes during hemodynamically relevant CVS. On this account, continuous bedside monitoring offering direct or indirect assessment of CBF and oxygenation may allow for early detection of DINDs and help guide therapy [28].

Noninvasive Methods

Transcranial Doppler Sonography

TCD measures blood flow velocities, and CBF may be calculated if the vessel cross-sectional area and the angle of insonation are known and constant. However, in pathological states, these parameters may vary over time, and flow can be increased due to vasospasm or high-flow states as in fever, anemia, hypoxia, and vasopressor therapy. The Lindegaard ratio can help to differentiate between elevated flow velocities caused by hyperperfusion and vasospasm [15]. However, it has to be taken into account that CBF indices are derived from measurements based on flow velocities, so that TCD findings should never be used in insolation. New methods to quantify cerebral perfusion have been developed using contrast agent-specific Doppler imaging modes [5]. The major disadvantage that all ultrasound techniques have is the fact that physical properties like the nonlinear relationship between contrast agent and optic intensities, the depth-dependent attenuation of the ultrasound signal, and inhomogeneous temporal bone window make the quantification of absolute values impossible [18]. Nevertheless, TCD is easy to perform at the bedside and should be used to complement other monitoring techniques available.

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy

Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) provides continuous assessment of a regional tissue oxygen saturation (TO₂S). The principle is based on the finding that light in the nearinfrared region (700-950 nm) penetrates biological tissue and is absorbed differently by chromophores of oxygenated (HbO₂) and deoxygenated (HHb) hemoglobin. NIRS sensors containing the light source and detector are generally attached to the forehead and measure the attenuation of light as it travels through tissue in an ellipsoid shaped path. The absorption of photons is determined by the modified Beer-Lambert law, which allows calculating changes of HbO₂ and HHb. Recently, two small case series have shown that NIRS technology can be applied as a continuous bedside monitor over multiple vascular territories, assisting the detection and treatment of DINDs [20, 33]. However, contamination of the NIRS signal by extracerebral tissues such as skin, skull, and cerebrospinal fluid remains a major concern over the clinical application. Possible solutions to quantify and subtract the extracerebral contamination are provided by spatial resolved spectroscopy and time-of-flight or frequency domain technologies [14, 32].

Combination of Near-Infrared Spectroscopy and Indocyanine Green Dye Dilution

Indocyanine green (ICG) is widely used in medical diagnosis with excellent safety records and absorbs infrared light maximally between 790 and 805 nm. New algorithms have been developed to analyze the ICG dye dilution curve and to calculate absolute values of the mean transit time of ICG, CBF, and cerebral blood volume (CBV) without invasive quantification of the input signal to the head by arterial fiber-optic catheters. The practability of this technology has been demonstrated in the environment of a neurointensive care unit, and the values obtained were validated by perfusion-weighted MRI in healthy volunteers and in patients with angiographic vasospasm before and after superselective papaverine installation [8, 12]. To detect secondary ischemic events, normal values and critical thresholds for CBF values obtained by combined NIRS and ICG dye dilution have to be defined in future clinical studies.

Minimally Invasive Methods

Jugular Venous Oximetry

Jugular bulb oximetry provides a continuous and easy-to-perform estimate of the balance between cerebral metabolism and blood flow [23, 26]. A fiber-optic catheter is inserted retrograde into the internal jugular vein and advanced into the jugular bulb at the base of the skull. Monitoring jugular venous oxygen saturation (SvO₂) is used directly to guide therapy and allows calculating the arteriovenous difference in oxygenation (AVDO₂). AVDO2 is inversely proportional to CBF if the CMRO, consumption is constant. It has been shown that episodes of desaturation (SvO₂ < 50%) are indicative of cerebral ischemia, and that additional measurement of the arteriovenous lactate difference (AVDL $\geq 0.2 \mu mol/l$) might improve the predictive value to detect DINDs after SAH [1]. However, jugular bulb oximetry is a global measurement method, and its limitation has to be considered especially in patients with secondary focal ischemic events [11]. The clinical value of this method has to be seen in following individual trends during systemic complications such as fever and anemia or after initiation of therapeutic interventions such as induced hypertension, barbiturate coma, and intra-arterial spasmolysis [2, 10].

Partial Pressure of Brain Tissue Oxygen

Continuous monitoring of the partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen (PtiO2) involves insertion of a microcatheter directly into the brain tissue and reflects the balance between regional oxygen supply and consumption. The brain tissue probe is based on a Clark electrode (Licox probe) and may either be tunneled after craniotomy or placed through a bolt system fixed to the skull. It has been shown that episodes of local tissue hypoxia (PtiO2 values ≤ 10 mmHg; Licox probe) are associated with critical elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) and cerebral infarction [17, 31]. However, the sensitivity to detect secondary ischemic events is limited. The main reason for failure to predict cerebral infarction is the small sample volume of a few cubic millimeters. The placement of several catheters in different vascular territories and the combination of local with global monitoring techniques such as jugular bulb oximetry might overcome this problem at least partially.

Microdialysis

Microdialysis allows monitoring of changes in brain tissue chemistry by inserting a microcatheter lined with a polyamide dialysis membrane into the brain parenchyma. The catheter is perfused with a physiological solution, and the dialysate is analyzed every 30-60 min at bedside. The key substances involved in the development of cerebral ischemia include energy-related metabolites (glucose, lactate, and pyruvate) and neurotransmitters (glutamate). During cerebral ischemia, glucose levels may decrease, and cerebral metabolism may shift from aerobic to anaerobic, resulting in an accumulation of lactate and increase of the lactate-pyruvate ratio. The combination of glucose levels below 0.7 mmol/l and lactate-pyruvate ratio >40 is defined as metabolic crisis [24]. It could be shown in patients with aSAH that reoccurring episodes of metabolic crisis are associated with a lessfavorable outcome [13]. Comparing microdialysis with TCD has demonstrated a similar sensitivity, but higher specificity in the detection of CVS and DINDs in patients with aSAH

[29]. Cerebral metabolic derangement and increase in glutamate levels may even precede neurological deterioration due to symptomatic CVS, therefore widening the therapeutic window to initiate further diagnostic and therapeutic interventions [24, 27]. The main disadvantage of this technique is the small sample volume. Therefore, cerebral ischemia might be missed just beneath the tip of the probe, even if positioned in the "tissue at risk" (most likely the parent vessel territory) (Fig. 1).

Thermal Diffusion Method

The principle of thermal diffusion flowmetry (TDF) relies on detection of the temperature gradient between a plate generating heat and a detector plate. The thermal conductivity of the brain tissue is directly proportional to blood flow. Commercially available TDF devices involve insertion of a microprobe into the brain parenchyma, and the obtained CBF values have been validated using xenon CT [30]. Although this technique allows for bedside monitoring of absolute CBF values, several limitations have to be considered over clinical application. It has been shown that there is a significant baseline shift of CBF values after recalibration and instabilities in the thermal field within the brain tissue (e.g., fever, induction of hypothermia) influence the accuracy of the measurement method [6].

Combined Probe for NIRS and Intracranial Pressure Monitoring

New techniques combining NIRS and ICG dye dilution to estimate cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation are available [8]. However, extracerebral contamination of the NIRS



Probes for extended cerebral monitoring (ICP, pti02, microdialysis)



Fig. 1 Computed tomographic (CT) scan of a patient with extensive bilateral infarctions in the middle cerebral artery territories on day 16 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). There were no

signs of hypoxic episodes or metabolic crisis indicating secondary cerebral ischemia or infarction during the entire monitoring period. Note: * indicates external ventricular drainage

signal using a strictly noninvasive approach limits the clinical application of optical methodologies. To obtain measurement values directly from the brain tissue, a conventional probe for ICP monitoring has been supplied with optical fibers for NIRS (NIRS ICP probe) [7, 9]. In ongoing investigations, parallel measurements using transcutaneous and intraparenchymatous NIRS will offer a completely new approach to quantify and subtract extracerebral contamination of the NIRS signal [19]. In patients with severe acute brain injuries, for whom ICP probes are installed anyway due to brain edema and intracranial hypertension, the new combined NIRS ICP probe offers enhanced modality modes (ICP, mttICG, CBF, CBV, HbO₂, HHb, and total hemoglobin) without an additional surgical intervention. It has been shown that the NIRS-ICP probe can be applied as a bedside monitor providing reproducible measurements of absolute CBF and CBV values [7]. Recently, it could be shown in animals that NIRS probes may detect brain edema formation even before ICP increases [3]. Like other methods applying brain tissue probes such as microdialysis or PtiO2 monitoring, the major restriction of the NIRS-ICP probe is that it is a regional measurement method, giving relevant results only if the probe is inserted into the area of interest.

Conclusion

Continuous bedside monitoring of cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation can provide clinically important insights into the brain region at risk for DINDs and enhances the potential of early and effective interventions. Based on the limitations of the available monitoring methods, it is reasonable to combine global as well as different focal monitoring devices to provide data at the bedside within minutes. Developments in bioinformatics, delivering statistical and mathematical tools, will be essential to reduce the quantity and increase the quality of the data obtained by extended cerebral monitoring, thus offering reliable decision support to involved clinicians.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Artru F, Dailler F, Burel E, Bodonian C, Grousson S, Convert J, Renaud B, Perret-Liaudet A (2004) Assessment of jugular blood oxygen and lactate indices for detection of cerebral ischemia and prognosis. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 16:226–231
- Fandino J, Kaku Y, Schuknecht B, Valavanis A, Yonekawa Y (1998) Improvement of cerebral oxygenation patterns and metabolic validation of superselective intraarterial infusion of papaverine for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosurg 89:93–100

- Gill AS, Rajneesh KF, Owen CM, Yeh J, Hsu M, Binder DK (2011) Early optical detection of cerebral edema in vivo. J Neurosurg 114:470–477
- Hegner T, Krayenbuhl N, Hefti M, Yonekawa Y, Keller E (2001) Bedside monitoring of cerebral blood flow in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:131–134
- Holscher T, Wilkening W, Draganski B, Meves SH, Eyding J, Voit H, Bogdahn U, Przuntek H, Postert T (2005) Transcranial ultrasound brain perfusion assessment with a contrast agent-specific imaging mode: results of a two-center trial. Stroke 36:2283–2285
- Jaeger M, Soehle M, Schuhmann MU, Winkler D, Meixensberger J (2005) Correlation of continuously monitored regional cerebral blood flow and brain tissue oxygen. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 147:51–56; discussion 56
- Keller E, Froehlich J, Muroi C, Sikorski C, Muser M (2011) Neuromonitoring in intensive care: a new brain tissue probe for combined monitoring of intracranial pressure (ICP) cerebral blood flow (CBF) and oxygenation. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:217–220
- Keller E, Nadler A, Alkadhi H, Kollias SS, Yonekawa Y, Niederer P (2003) Noninvasive measurement of regional cerebral blood flow and regional cerebral blood volume by near-infrared spectroscopy and indocyanine green dye dilution. Neuroimage 20:828–839
- Keller E, Nadler A, Imhof HG, Niederer P, Roth P, Yonekawa Y (2002) New methods for monitoring cerebral oxygenation and hemodynamics in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 82:87–92
- Keller E, Steiner T, Fandino J, Schwab S, Hacke W (2000) Changes in cerebral blood flow and oxygen metabolism during moderate hypothermia in patients with severe middle cerebral artery infarction. Neurosurg Focus 8:e4
- Keller E, Steiner T, Fandino J, Schwab S, Hacke W (2002) Jugular venous oxygen saturation thresholds in trauma patients may not extrapolate to ischemic stroke patients: lessons from a preliminary study. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 14:130–136
- Keller E, Wolf M, Martin M, Yonekawa Y (2001) Estimation of cerebral oxygenation and hemodynamics in cerebral vasospasm using indocyaningreen dye dilution and near infrared spectroscopy: a case report. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 13:43–48
- Kett-White R, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi PG, Gupta AK, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2002) Adverse cerebral events detected after subarachnoid hemorrhage using brain oxygen and microdialysis probes. Neurosurgery 50:1213–1221; discussion 1221–1222
- Kohl-Bareis M, Obrig H, Steinbrink J, Malak J, Uludag K, Villringer A (2002) Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral blood flow by a dye bolus method: separation of brain from skin and skull signals. J Biomed Opt 7:464–470
- Lindegaard KF, Nornes H, Bakke SJ, Sorteberg W, Nakstad P (1989) Cerebral vasospasm diagnosis by means of angiography and blood velocity measurements. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 100:12–24
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 3:256–263
- Meixensberger J, Vath A, Jaeger M, Kunze E, Dings J, Roosen K (2003) Monitoring of brain tissue oxygenation following severe subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 25:445–450
- Meves SH, Wilkening W, Thies T, Eyding J, Holscher T, Finger M, Schmid G, Ermert H, Postert T (2002) Comparison between echo contrast agent-specific imaging modes and perfusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging for the assessment of brain perfusion. Stroke 33:2433–2437
- Mudra R, Nadler A, Keller E, Niederer P (2006) Analysis of nearinfrared spectroscopy and indocyanine green dye dilution with Monte Carlo simulation of light propagation in the adult brain. J Biomed Opt 11:044009
- Mutoh T, Ishikawa T, Suzuki A, Yasui N (2010) Continuous cardiac output and near-infrared spectroscopy monitoring to assist in

management of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 13:331–338

- 21. Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, Leroux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Rabinstein AA, Weigand S, Atkinson JL, Wijdicks EF (2005) Patterns of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 36:992–997
- Robertson CS, Contant CF, Gokaslan ZL, Narayan RK, Grossman RG (1992) Cerebral blood flow, arteriovenous oxygen difference, and outcome in head injured patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 55:594–603
- Sarrafzadeh A, Haux D, Kuchler I, Lanksch WR, Unterberg AW (2004) Poor-grade aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: relationship of cerebral metabolism to outcome. J Neurosurg 100:400–406
- 25. Schubert GA, Thome C (2008) Cerebral blood flow changes in acute subarachnoid hemorrhage. Front Biosci 13:1594–1603
- Sheinberg M, Kanter MJ, Robertson CS, Contant CF, Narayan RK, Grossman RG (1992) Continuous monitoring of jugular venous oxygen saturation in head-injured patients. J Neurosurg 76:212–217
- Skjoth-Rasmussen J, Schulz M, Kristensen SR, Bjerre P (2004) Delayed neurological deficits detected by an ischemic pattern in

the extracellular cerebral metabolites in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 100:8–15

- Spiotta AM, Provencio JJ, Rasmussen PA, Manno E (2011) Brain monitoring after subarachnoid hemorrhage: lessons learned. Neurosurgery 69:755–766
- Unterberg AW, Sakowitz OW, Sarrafzadeh AS, Benndorf G, Lanksch WR (2001) Role of bedside microdialysis in the diagnosis of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 94:740–749
- Vajkoczy P, Horn P, Thome C, Munch E, Schmiedek P (2003) Regional cerebral blood flow monitoring in the diagnosis of delayed ischemia following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 98:1227–1234
- Vath A, Kunze E, Roosen K, Meixensberger J (2002) Therapeutic aspects of brain tissue pO₂ monitoring after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 81:307–309
- 32. Wabnitz H, Moeller M, Liebert A, Obrig H, Steinbrink J, Macdonald R (2010) Time-resolved near-infrared spectroscopy and imaging of the adult human brain. Adv Exp Med Biol 662:143–148
- 33. Yokose N, Sakatani K, Murata Y, Awano T, Igarashi T, Nakamura S, Hoshino T, Katayama Y (2010) Bedside monitoring of cerebral blood oxygenation and hemodynamics after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage by quantitative time-resolved near-infrared spectroscopy. World Neurosurg 73:508–513

Usefulness of Three-Dimensional Computed Tomography to Quantify the Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Volume: Prediction of Symptomatic Vasospasm

Taku Sato, Tatsuya Sasaki, Jun Sakuma, Tadashi Watanabe, Masahiro Ichikawa, Eiji Ito, Keiko Oda, Yuka Matsumoto, Hitoshi Ando, Michiharu Nishijima, and Kiyoshi Saito

Abstract We quantified the subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) volume in 64 patients on three-dimensional computed tomography (3D-CT) scans and studied the correlation between the SAH volume and the occurrence of symptomatic vasospasm (SVS). We studied 64 patients with SAH onset (day 0) and on days 1, 4, 7, and 14. We compared the hematoma volume by 3D-CT with 2D-CT on day 0 and examined the correlation between the hematoma volume and the occurrence of SVS. The hematoma volume, including the volume of normal structures, was automatically calculated (V1). The volume of normal structures manifesting identical CT numbers was previously calculated in patients without intracranial lesions (V2). The total hematoma volume was defined as V1 minus mean value of V2 (= 12 ml). The mean hematoma volume by 3D-CT was 48 ± 12 ml and by 2D-CT was 31 ± 45 ml (mean \pm SD, n=64). The hematoma volume was significantly larger by 3D-CT than by 2D-CT (p < 0.05). At all time points, the hematoma volumes were significantly larger in patients with than without SVS. We developed a new method for the quantitative determination of the SAH volume by 3D-CT. This method may allow us to quantify the volume of SAH in clinical studies of cerebral vasospasm.

Keywords Cerebral vasospasm • 3D-CT • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Hematoma volume

Department of Neurosurgery, Fukushima Medical University,

T. Sasaki and M. Nishijima

Introduction

Symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) continues to be a major cause of morbidity and mortality after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Earlier qualitative assessments indicated that patients with a large SAH volume on computed tomography (CT) scans manifested a high incidence of SVS. The volumetric quantification of SAH on two-dimensional CT (2D-CT) scans using a novel software-based technique encountered problems posed by the partial volume effect and the neglected SAH volume in the convexity or posterior fossa [1, 2, 5]. In our earlier efforts to surmount these difficulties [7], we quantitatively analysed the SAH volume on three-dimensional CT (3D-CT) scans. To confirm the usefulness of our method, in the current study we compared the hematoma volume on 3D- and 2D-CT scans and examined the correlation between the hematoma volume and the occurrence of SVS.

Patients and Methods

Our study population consisted of 64 patients with SAH who underwent initial 3D-CT study within 24 h of SAH onset. They were 21 men and 43 women ranging in age from 31 to 84 years (mean 65.1 years). Informed consent was obtained from all patients or their legal representatives before enrolment in this study. All 64 patients underwent direct surgery to the aneurysm within 48 h of SAH onset. It is policy at our institution first to attempt aneurysmal clipping; therefore, few patients underwent endovascular coil occlusion. This study did not include the latter patients.

All 64 patients underwent 3D-CT on a 4-channel MDCT (Aquilion, Toshiba Corp., Tokyo, Japan) scanner on the day of admission (day 0) and on days 1, 4, 7, and 14 postinsult. CT data were reconstructed on a computer workstation (ZAIO M900, AMIN Corp., Tokyo, Japan). Since the

T. Sato (\boxtimes) , J. Sakuma, T. Watanabe, M. Ichikawa, E. Ito, K. Oda, Y. Matsumoto, H. Ando, and K. Saito

¹ Hikarigaoka, Fukushima 960-1295, Japan e-mail: tak-s@fmu.ac.jp

Department of Neurosurgery, Aomori Prefectural Central Hospital, Aomori, Japan

reported CT number of SAH ranges from 40 to 80 hounsfield units (HU) [7, 9], we used volume data with HU values between 40 and 80 for volume estimation. As the CT number of the skull bone is 1,000 HU, it was not included in volume data with CT numbers between 40 and 80 HU.

After manually excluding the scalp and subcutaneous tissue from the volume data using the space of the skull bone, the volume (V1) was estimated. This procedure required 2 min. As it is difficult to remove normal structures such as the venous sinus and falx manually, their volumes were included in acquired V1 value. To correct for their inclusion, we obtained informed consent from patients with no intracranial lesions to determine the volume of these normal structures (V2) on CT scans. From their scans, we manually excluded the scalp and subcutaneous tissue to arrive at the V2 value. Then, to determine the total hematoma volume in our 64 patients with SAH, we subtracted the mean V2 value reported elsewhere as 12 ml [7] from V1.

In patients with intraventricular or intracranial hemorrhage (IVH, ICH), their volume was estimated separately. On the screen, their different location made it easy to distinguish between IVH and ICH volumes and the SAH volume. We defined the SAH volumes as the total hematoma volume minus the volume of IVH or ICH. Because the number of patients with IVH or ICH was small, we could not perform statistical analysis; consequently, in our study we excluded IVH and ICH volumes. The total SAH volume on the day of admission (day 0) was also estimated on 2D-CT scans using a novel software-based technique [1, 5].

Of our 64 patients, 12 received continuous irrigation therapy with urokinase and ascorbic acid [3, 4, 6] to prevent SVS, 29 underwent cisternal drainage, and in 30 we administered fasudil chloride [8]. Patients with SVS received hypertensive, hypervolemic, and hemodilution (triple H) therapy. We used the Mann-Whitney U test to evaluate the association between the hematoma volume and SVS. Statistical analysis was performed with a commercially available statistical software program (StatMate 3, ATMS Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). The p values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

The mean haematoma volume in the 64 SAH patients was significantly larger on 3D-CT than 2D-CT scans (48 ± 12 vs. 31 ± 45 ml, p < 0.05). As the volume data yielded by 3D-CT can be observed from any direction, the location of the SAH could be easily identified (Fig. 1). In addition, chronological changes in the SAH volume can be followed readily on 3D images (Fig. 2). Of the 64 patients, 4 developed SVS; the

spasms were transient in 2 patients. In the other two patients, they were persistent, and these patients manifested a newly developed low-density area. At all time points examined (days 0, 1, 4, 7, 14), the average SAH volume was significantly smaller in patients without than with SVS (p<0.01).

Discussion

Attempts to quantify SAH volumetrically have been reported. Friedman et al. [1] developed a software-based volumetric quantification method using 2D-CT. They quantified the hemorrhagic volume in the sylvian and interhemispheric fissures and in the suprasellar, ambient, quadrigeminal, and prepontine cisterns. They determined the amount of blood in each discrete region of interest (ROI) visually based on its density and outlined the ROI manually on each CT slice. Then, they calculated the hemorrhagic volumes in cubic centimeters based on the slice thickness and in-plane resolution of the CT scans. They found that at admission, the hematoma volume in their 40 patients was 2.27-112.3 ml. Their method to estimate the SAH volume requires 20 min compared to 2 min using our method. In a series of 75 patients reported by Reilly et al. [5], the SAH volume at admission was 0.2-38 ml (mean 10.4 ml). We found that the hematoma volume was significantly larger on 3D- than 2D-CT scans (p < 0.05). This difference may be attributable to the partial volume effect on 2D-CT scans and to the neglected SAH volume in the convexity and posterior fossa.

Reilly et al. [5] used univariate logistic model and multivariate analysis; they reported that the initial clot volume and the percentage of clot cleared each day were significant predictors of vasospasm. We found that at all time points examined, the SAH volume was significantly lower in patients without than with SVS. We delivered continuous cisternal irrigation to prevent SVS [3, 4, 6]. In our efforts to dissolve the clot, we used urokinase, and we delivered ascorbic acid to degrade oxyhemoglobin, one of the strongest spasmogenic substances [3, 4, 6]. Even if the SAH volume on day 0 is large, it may be possible to prevent SVS by intraoperative clot evacuation and postoperative irrigation.

When using our method, care must be taken to avoid errors attributable to normal structures with CT numbers ranging from 40 to 80 HU. Elsewhere, we documented that the mean volume of normal structures was 12 ml [7]; we used this value in the assessment of the true SAH volume in our present patients. In cases where the normal structures are of larger volume, the calculated hematoma volume can be expected to be larger. Nonetheless, we were able to monitor chronological volume changes in 64 patients.


Fig. 1 *Top*: Axial views of conventional computed tomographic (CT) images. After discrete ROIs are manually outlined on each axial slice, the software calculates the two-dimensional CT (2D-CT) volume within that region. *Bottom*: Volume data acquired by three-dimensional CT

(3D-CT): *left*, superior view; *right*, anterior view. The localization of the subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) can be estimated from all directions. The SAH can be visualized in the convexity and posterior fossa

Conclusion

We developed a new method that makes it possible to quantify the SAH volume quickly on 3D-CT images. 3D-CT facilitates the observation of the hematoma from any direction and helps to evaluate the localization of the SAH. In addition, chronological changes in the SAH volume can be monitored easily on 3D-CT images. Our method may be a useful tool in clinical studies of cerebral vasospasm, although further investigation is necessary. **Fig. 2** Chronological changes in the volume of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) in patients with (n=4) and without symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) (n=60). At all time points examined, the SAH volume was significantly smaller in patients without than with SVS (p<0.01 on days 0, 1, 4, 7, and 14)



Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Friedman JA, Goerss SJ, Meyer FB, Piepgras DG, Pichelmann MA, MClver JI, Toussaint LG 3rd, McClelland RL, Nichols DA, Atkinson JL, Wijdicks EF (2002) Volumetric quantification of Fisher Grade 3 aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a novel method to predict symptomatic vasospasm on admission computerized tomography scans. J Neurosurg 97:401–407
- Hijdra A, van Gijn J, Nagelkerke NJ, Vermeulen M, van Crevel H (1998) Prediction of delayed cerebral ischemia, rebleeding, and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 19:1250–1256
- Kawakami M, Kodama N, Toda N (1991) Suppression of the cerebral vasospastic actions of oxyhemoglobin by ascorbic acid. Neurosurgery 28:33–40
- Kodama N, Sasaki T, Kawakami M, Sato M, Asari J (2000) Cisternal irrigation therapy with urokinase and ascorbic acid for prevention of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: outcome in 217 patients. Surg Neurol 53:110–118

- Reilly C, Amidei C, Tolentino J, Jahromi BS, Macdonald RL (2004) Clot volume and clearance rate as independent predictors of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 101:255–256
- Sasaki T, Kodama N, Kawakami M, Sato M, Asari J, Sakurai Y, Watanabe K, Onuma T, Matsuda T (2000) Urokinase cisternal irrigation therapy for prevention of symptomatic vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: study on urokinase concentration and fibrinolytic system. Stroke 31:1256–1262
- Sato T, Sasaki T, Sakuma J, Watanabe T, Ichikawa M, Ito E, Matsumoto Y, Ando H, Saito K, Kikori K, Yusa T, Suzuki K, Watanabe Y, Taira S, Sato M (2011) Quantification of subarachnoid hemorrhage by three-dimensional computed tomography: correlation between hematoma volume and symptomatic vasospasm. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 51:187–194
- Shibuya M, Suzuki Y, Sugita K, Saito I, Sasaki T, Takakura K, Nagata I, Kikuchi H, Takemae T, Hidaka H, Nakashima M (1992) Effect of AT877 on cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Results of a prospective placebo-controlled double-blind trial. J Neurosurg 76:571–577
- Suzuki J, Komatsu S, Sato T, Sakurai Y (1980) Correlation between CT findings and subsequent development of cerebral infarction due to vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir 55:63–70

COSBID-M3: A Platform for Multimodal Monitoring, Data Collection, and Research in Neurocritical Care

J. Adam Wilson, Lori A. Shutter, and Jed A. Hartings

Abstract Neuromonitoring in patients with severe brain trauma and stroke is often limited to intracranial pressure (ICP); advanced neuroscience intensive care units may also monitor brain oxygenation (partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen, P_LO₂), electroencephalogram (EEG), cerebral blood flow (CBF), or neurochemistry. For example, cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) recorded by electrocorticography (ECoG) are associated with delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage and are an attractive target for novel therapeutic approaches. However, to better understand pathophysiologic relations and realize the potential of multimodal monitoring, a common platform for data collection and integration is needed. We have developed a multimodal system that integrates clinical, research, and imaging data into a single research and development (R&D) platform. Our system is adapted from the widely used BCI2000, a brain-computer interface tool which is written in the C++ language and supports over 20 data acquisition systems. It is optimized for real-time analysis of multimodal data using advanced time and frequency domain analyses and is extensible for research development using a combination of C++, MATLAB, and Python languages. Continuous streams of raw and processed data, including BP (blood pressure), ICP, PtiO2, CBF, ECoG, EEG, and patient video are stored in an open binary data format. Selected events identified in raw (e.g., ICP) or processed (e.g., CSD) measures are displayed graphically, can trigger alarms, or can be sent to researchers or clinicians via text message. For instance, algorithms for automated detection of CSD have been incorporated, and processed ECoG signals are projected onto three-dimensional (3D) brain models based on patient magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomographic (CT) scans, allowing real-time correlation of pathoanatomy and

e-mail: adam.wilson@uc.edu

cortical function. This platform will provide clinicians and researchers with an advanced tool to investigate pathophysiologic relationships and novel measures of cerebral status, as well as implement treatment algorithms based on such multimodal measures.

Keywords Cortical spreading depolarizations Electrocorticography • Multimodality monitoring Neurocritical care • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

Delayed cerebral ischemia, including clinical deterioration and the development of new infarcts, is the leading potentially treatable cause of mortality and disability in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Cerebral vasospasm has been presumed to be a main contributing cause, and periodic assessment of vascular flow by transcranial Doppler and computed tomographic angiography [1] are central to its diagnosis. Methods of continuous monitoring to detect ischemic changes, such as brain tissue oxygenation $(P_{\mu}O_{2})$, cerebral microdialysis [2], quantitative electroencephalography (EEG) [3, 4], thermal diffusion flowmetry [5], and near-infrared spectroscopy [6] have also been investigated. These techniques hold promise not only for early detection of cerebral vasospasm, but also for fresh insight into the pathophysiology of delayed ischemic complications. Results of recent studies have suggested an dissociation between vasospasm and neurologic outcome, prompting a paradigm shift with renewed search for other factors involved in delayed cerebral ischemia [7, 8].

Development and investigation of neuromonitoring methods is therefore critical for understanding cerebral pathophysiology following SAH and for determining best management practices. Unfortunately, however, realization of the full potential of multimodal techniques has been

J.A. Wilson, Ph.D. (🖂), L.A. Shutter, M.D., and J.A. Hartings, Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

limited by the lack of integration of diverse modalities. Each modality typically requires a separate monitor and data collection system; therefore, subsequent downloading, importing, and time synchronizing in an additional system is necessary for multimodal data review. The Component Neuromonitoring System (CNS Technology, LLC, Ambler, PA) is a rare example of a clinical system for integration of multimodal data. However, monitors approved for clinical use are highly restricted in their capabilities to display and process data in new ways, while a system for research requires this ability to prototype and test algorithms for acquisition, processing, display, and real-time decision support. As one example, to discover the clinical meaning and utility of nonseizure EEG activities such as periodic epileptiform discharges, pattern recognition routines could be developed and then displayed alongside processed metrics of other modalities in a common platform. Clearly, advances are limited by our ability to interpret and integrate complex, multimodal data streams.

Our aim was to develop and test a multimodal neuromonitoring system that integrates clinical and research data into a single data collection, analysis, and detection platform. Our specific motivation was to support clinical studies of spreading depolarizations by the CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarizations (http://www.cosbid.org). Spreading depolarizations are pathologic waves of mass neuronal depolarization that are measured by electrocorticography (ECoG) in human cerebral cortex after brain trauma and ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke [9, 10]. In SAH, they are associated with development of delayed cerebral ischemia and infarction and are a potential future target for neuromonitoring and treatment [11-15]. Evidence suggests that spreading depolarizations may be triggered by low blood pressure and high temperature [16], low regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) [17], and low plasma glucose [18] and may in turn cause changes in cerebral lactate, glucose [18, 19], rCBF [12], and local $P_{\mu}O_{2}$ [20]. To best understand these pathophysiologic relationships, a platform that integrates these multiple modalities is needed. Furthermore, interventional studies using spreading depolarizations as a treatment indication might require a system capable of predicting and detecting their occurrence, monitoring their evolution, and providing user feedback based on depolarizations and possibly criteria from other monitored modalities. A treatment protocol, for instance, might be triggered when depolarizations occur >1/h and CPP is >70 mmHg.

We developed a system, the COSBID-M3, that is adapted from the widely used BCI2000 platform, a brain-computer interface tool for real-time analysis of EEG and ECoG data [21]. BCI2000 has been in use for more than a decade and has been distributed to more than 600 labs worldwide for research. Importantly, it provides a flexible and adaptable research platform capable of performing tasks beyond standard BCI experiments, including functional cortical mapping for epilepsy surgery [22], behavioral experiments in both humans and animals [23], and human-computer interface research. Therefore, we adapted the BCI2000 system to function as a multimodal research monitor capable of acquiring continuous streams of raw data, including arterial blood pressure (ABP), intracranial pressure (ICP), $P_{bt}O_2$, rCBF, EEG, ECoG, and continuous video. It is capable of advanced signal-processing techniques and decision support and is designed in a flexible, open development format. Furthermore, it can be used for researching any signal type or computational algorithm and is not specific to the COSBID group or ECoG signals.

Software System Design

The COSBID-M3 maintains core design principles of the BCI2000 system [21]. These are (1) a common model that can describe any multimodal monitoring system, such that multiple data streams can be split, processed, and recombined to study the interaction of any arbitrary combination of signals; (2) interchangeability and independence of modules, with logical programmatic separation of data acquisition, signal processing, data visualization, system configuration, and decision support; (3) scalability of experimental parameters with no restraints on signal sampling rates, number of channels, or signal-processing complexity; (4) real-time capability such that the time from signal acquisition to processing and display is on the order of milliseconds; and (5) support for offline analysis via a custom data storage format that stores all acquired data, records of all events, and the experimental operating protocol, thus allowing the entire experiment to be replicated offline and in future recording sessions.

The software system is comprised of four independent programs or modules. First, the *Acquisition* module digitizes signals, stores them to disk, and passes them to the processing module. The *Processing* module performs signal analysis routines, ranging from simple mathematical operations (e.g., digital filtering, decimation, matrix multiplication, squaring, etc.) to more complex algorithms (e.g., fast Fourier transforms [FFTs], autoregressive power spectral analysis, seizure detection, etc.). The processed results are passed to the *Decision Support and Feedback* module, which provides useful feedback to the researcher or clinician. The final module is the *Operator*, which handles synchronizing and communication between the other modules, provides an experimental user interface for recording configuration, and handles data visualization (Fig. 1)

Fig. 1 The COSBID M3 system diagram. The M3 acquires signals from various bedside monitors, including arterial blood pressure (ABP), intracranial pressure (ICP), brain tissue oxygenation $(P_{ht}O_{2})$, regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF), EEG (electroencephalogram), and ECoG (electrocorticography). EEG and ECoG signals are acquired directly into the g.USBamps. The ABP, ICP, P_{bt}O₂, and rCBF are collected from the analog outputs of the pressure sensor modules and Hemedex monitors. These analog signals are input to a box with four BNC connectors. The box uses a voltage divider to decrease the signal amplitude 500 times so that it is in the appropriate input range for the g.USBamp



Data Acquisition

The Acquisition module collects data from one or more sources; currently more than 20 amplifiers and analog-todigital converters (ADCs) are supported. The primary data source for COSBID studies is full-band ECoG. Therefore, for the core acquisition hardware we have used the g.USBamp (g.tec, Graz, Austria), a 24-bit direct-current amplifier and ADC with a ± 250 -mV input range and sampling rate of up to 38.6 kHz per channel. Each g.USBamp has 16 analog input channels, and multiple units can be stacked to allow up to 256 channels. Therefore, our basic setup consists of 2 g.USBamps that acquire 6 ECoG channels, 20 EEG channels, ICP, ABP, $P_{bt}O_2$, and rCBF, for a total of 30 data channels (Fig. 1). However, additional channels could be acquired by adding additional g.USBamps or other ADCs.

Data are sampled at configurable rates, which can be set differently for various signals in the same recording. Blocks of data samples are acquired from the ADC, typically every 30–50 ms; for example, a 50-ms block of data sampled at 1,200 Hz will contain 60 samples. The raw, unfiltered data are stored to disk in a single file in the BCI2000 format, sent to the Operator module for visualization, and finally sent to the Processing module. The data file is saved using the BCI2000 format, which is open source and provides interfaces with a number of programming languages, including C++, MATLAB, and Python. The file can also be down-sampled and converted to other formats, such as binary or European data format (EDF), for importing to other data analysis programs such as LabChart (ADInstruments, New South Wales, Australia).

Signal Processing

The Processing module uses a *plug-in* architecture for signal analysis and event detection. Plug-ins serve as algorithmic building blocks that allow complex analysis routines to be constructed. Examples of existing plug-ins are digital filtering, data remontaging, down-sampling, FFT, and threshold detection; new plug-ins may be written using the plug-in framework, described in the following. Prior to monitoring, a signal-processing network of plug-ins is designed in a simple text file in which specific subsets of channels are passed to plug-ins for processing (Fig. 2b). The results of each plug-in are passed to subsequent plug-ins for further processing as needed until all of the designated analyses are complete. For example, to detect depressions of 0.5–100 Hz ECoG brain activity induced by spreading depolarizations, a sequence of

plug-ins would include a down-sampler, digital filter, squaring and integration filter, and finally a relative threshold filter that detects decreases in this computed power integral. Similarly, cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is calculated by building a chain including down-sampling of the ICP and ABP channels, calculating mean values, and finally subtracting ICP from ABP. An example signal-processing chain is shown in Fig. 2a, and a portion of the chain definition is in Fig. 2b.

Although many commonly used plug-ins already exist and are distributed with the COSBID-M3, the plug-in framework was designed to make the M3 extensible and configurable according to specific data-processing needs of individual researchers. Thus, new plug-ins can be created simply using the C++, MATLAB, or Python programming languages. While C++ is the preferred method due to its speed and direct interface with the M3, MATLAB and Python support allows signal-processing prototypes to be tested directly within the real-time system and provides access to the extensive numerical libraries available on these platforms. The M3 framework provides support for data trending, efficient data buffering, and multiple visualization techniques, in addition to many other features. Figure 3 shows an example of the main processing functions for both C++ and MATLAB.

Decision Support and Feedback

The fourth module is the Decision Support and Feedback module. This module is designed to summarize the processed results and relay important information to the researcher or clinicians and caregivers. Using a relatively simple syntax, a variety of displays and alarms can be triggered for any number of conditions based on raw or processed data. For example, to trigger an event when the ICP exceeds 20 mmHg for more than 5 min, the syntax would be ICP >20, 360 s. For a trigger based on multiple conditions, ICP >20 AND CPP <60, 360 s would trigger an event when both ICP is above 20 mmHg and CPP is less than 60 mmHg for longer than 360 s. Another example of using processed data would be detection of decreases in the ECoG power integral, as described previously.

Several default event types have been defined, although these can be extended using the plug-in architecture as well. Currently, events can trigger (1) a visual alert in which flashing text is shown on the display, (2) an audio alert that continuously plays a selected alarm until it is disabled, or (3) an electronic alert that sends an e-mail or text message to a list of recipients. Alerts are useful not



- 5. DownsamplePlugin; EEGDownsample; Source=EEG*
- 6. FFTPlugin; EEGFFT; EEGDownsample
- 7. RatioPlugin; ADR; EEGFFT
- 8. RatioPlugin; ATR; EEGFFT

Fig. 2 (a) An example processing chain involving ECoG (electrocorticography), EEG (electroencephalogram), ICP (intracranial pressure), and BP (blood pressure). This chain down-samples each data stream appropriately using the Downsample plug-in. The EEG is then processed using the FFT (fast Fourier transform) plug-in, and the power spectrum from the FFT is passed to the ratio plug-in, which calculates quantitative EEG measures such as the alpha-delta ratio and alpha-total power ratio. The ECoG signal is split into two separate chains that detect both spreading depolarizations and spreading depressions. The ICP and BP are both down-sampled to 10 Hz; the MAP (mean arterial pressure http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mean_arterial_pressure) is calculated with a Mean plug-in that calculates the mean of the blood pressure over the previous cardiac cycle. The ICP and MAP are recombined in the CPP (cerebral perfusion pressure) plug-in, which subtracts the ICP from the MAP to find the CPP. Finally, the CPP is smoothed with a digital filter. It is important to note that many of these plug-ins are reused (e.g., the Downsample and Digital Filter plug-ins), and that the plug-ins do not depend on any particular data type; that is, they are generalpurpose plug-ins. (b) A portion of the processing definitions for (a). Lines 1-4 define the CPP plug-ins, and lines 5-8 define the quantitative EEG plug-ins. The general format for a plug-in line is the name of the plug-in, a unique identifier for the plug-in, and a list of input signals, all separated by semicolons. In line 1, the down-sampler is used; it is named "BPDownsample," and it is taking the signal named "BP" as its input. The ICP is down-sampled similarly. On line 3, the output from BPDownsample is passed into the MeanPlugin, which calculates the mean over some period and is named MAP. Finally, on line 4 the CPPPlugin, named CPP, takes the ICP and MAP signals as input to find the CPP. On line 5, the DownsamplePlugin, named EEGDownsample, takes all channels with "EEG" in the name as input; the "*" character is used as a wild card for string matching, so that channels named EEG1, EEG2, ..., EEG20 will all match as input for this plug-in. On line 6, the FFTPlugin takes the FFT of all EEG channels over a specified duration (e.g., 10 s). On lines 7 and 8, the QEEG plug-ins are defined for the alpha-delta ratio (line 7) and alpha-total power ratio (line 8)

only for routine clinical care but also particularly for research protocols. They could be used, for instance, to alert staff to collect more detailed clinical data surrounding particular events in observational research or to activate a treatment protocol in an interventional trial that targets neuromonitoring variables. As a practical benefit, they can also alert staff to malfunctions or unintended data interruptions.

```
а
     void
     CPPplugin::Process (const GenericSignal& Input,
                         GenericSignal& Output)
     {
  1....
        float mCPP = Input (mMAPch,0) - Input (mICPch,0);
  2....
        mCPPtrend. Insert (mCPP):
  3....
        Output (0, 0) = mCPP;
        mCPPvis . Send (Output); // send results to graph
  4....
     }
b
  function out_signal = bci_Process (in_signal)
  out signal = in signal * refToBipolarMatrix;
```

Fig. 3 Example plug-in code written in C++ (a) and MATLAB (b). (a) The *Input* signal contains the mean arterial pressure (MAP; calculated in the preceding plug-in) and the intracranial pressure (ICP). This plug-in calculates the cerebral perfusion pressure by subtracting the ICP channel from the MAP channel (*line 1*). The CPP (cerebral perfusion

pressure) is inserted into a trending buffer (*line 2*) and written to the Output signal (*line 3*). Last, the *Output* signal is sent to the visualization window for the CPP. (**b**) This MATLAB function rereferences the input signal (*in_signal*) using matrix multiplication. The result is saved to *out_signal* in a single line of code and returns the result to the M3

Configuration and Data Visualization

The Operator module handles the most common user interface and visualization tasks. Prior to starting recording, the system is set up via a Configuration Tool, in which hundreds of variables describing the experiment are set. These variables typically have intelligent preset values, and the default values are loaded from a configuration file. Therefore, once a standard experimental and monitoring paradigm is defined and saved in the configuration file, the setup time can be rapid, requiring only entry of subject-specific information (e.g., subject identifiers). In addition, a graphical tool is provided to configure new signals, processing chains, and decision support quickly.

The Acquisition and Processing modules send processed signals to the Operator for visualization. This can consist of raw time series data or any processed data as computed by the Processing module. The monitoring display contains all of the visualization and log windows (Fig. 4). These windows are grouped into tabs for organization and can be moved from tab to tab to compare multiple data streams. For example, Fig. 4 shows three different processed ECoG windows (low-pass filtered, high-pass filtered and squared, and the alpha-delta ratio for each channel) along with the CPP. There are many options for configuring the displays, such as different colors, line fills, and signal clipping, and axes can be changed to display the desired amplitudes and timescales. Elementary data processing, such as filtering and squaring, is also available; this processing is performed for visualization only, does not interrupt data acquisition or affect recorded data, and does not need to be set in the Configuration tool.

Conclusion

The COSBID-M3 provides researchers with a flexible, realtime system for multimodal data acquisition, processing, and display at the bedside. Over 20 amplifier systems are currently supported, and any system that provides a programming interface can be added as well. The g.USBamp was chosen for its previously discussed acquisition characteristics designed for EEG and ECoG; however, alternative, lessexpensive amplifiers such as those available from DataTranslation could be used instead for other research purposes, such as computation of autoregulatory indices, rapid microdialysis [24], near-infrared spectroscopy, or laser Doppler flowmetry.

Development of the M3 is ongoing, and future versions will include a full review system integrated with the signal-processing frame to allow review of processed data, inclusion of additional signals such as microdialysis, and better incorporation of imaging results. We also plan to add support for efficient annotations at the bedside, including clinical exam notes, comments, and other notes and results. The COSBID-M3 system is freely available for download. More information may be found at http://www. cosbidm3.com. We are actively seeking developers to contribute to this project and need clinicians to help drive development. Therefore, this highly customizable and extensible platform will provide clinicians and researchers with an advanced tool to investigate pathophysiologic relationships and implement advanced multimodal treatment algorithms.



Fig. 4 Example display during monitoring. The main display shows two raw ECoG signals during a spreading depolarization (**a**), the same two channels with the low-pass filtered signal overlaid on the high-pass filtered signal (**b**), and the cerebral perfusion pressure (**c**). The secondary

Acknowledgement Supported by grants from the Mayfield Education and Research Foundation and the US Army CDMRP PH/TBI research program (W81XWH-08-2-0016).

References

- 1. Washington CW, Zipfel GJ (2011) Detection and monitoring of vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia: a review and assessment of the literature. Neurocrit Care 15(2):312–317
- Macdonald RL (2009) Subarachnoid hemorrhage and microdialysis. J Neurosurg 111(5):907–908
- Vespa PM et al (1997) Early detection of vasospasm after acute subarachnoid hemorrhage using continuous EEG ICU monitoring. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 103(6):607–615
- Labar DR et al (1991) Quantitative EEG monitoring for patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 78(5):325–332
- Vajkoczy P et al (2003) Regional cerebral blood flow monitoring in the diagnosis of delayed ischemia following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 98(6):1227–1234
- Zweifel C et al (2010) Continuous assessment of cerebral autoregulation with near-infrared spectroscopy in adults after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 41(9):1963–1968

windows on the right contain the synchronized patient video (\mathbf{d}), the 3D MRI model co-registered with CT data (\mathbf{e}), and the comment and event log (\mathbf{f})

- Pluta RM et al (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31(2):151–158
- Hansen-Schwartz J et al (2007) Cerebral vasospasm: looking beyond vasoconstriction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28(6):252–256
- Lauritzen M et al (2011) Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31(1):17–35
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17(4):439–447
- Dreier JP et al (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid haemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129(Pt 12):3224–3237
- 12. Dreier JP et al (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132(Pt 7):1866–1881
- Iadecola C (2009) Bleeding in the brain: killer waves of depolarization in subarachnoid bleed. Nat Med 15(10):1131–1132
- Hartings JA et al (2011) Spreading depolarizations have prolonged direct current shifts and are associated with poor outcome in brain trauma. Brain 134:1529–1540
- 15. Dohmen C et al (2008) Spreading depolarizations occur in human ischemic stroke with high incidence. Ann Neurol 63(6):720–728
- Hartings JA et al (2009) Spreading depolarizations and late secondary insults after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 26(11): 1857–1866

- Nakamura H et al (2010) Spreading depolarizations cycle around and enlarge focal ischaemic brain lesions. Brain 133(Pt 7):1994–2006
- Hopwood SE et al (2005) Transient changes in cortical glucose and lactate levels associated with peri-infarct depolarisations, studied with rapid-sampling microdialysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25(3):391–401
- Krajewski KL et al (2011) Cerebral microdialysis in acutely braininjured patients with spreading depolarizations. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110(Pt 1):125–130
- Bosche B et al (2010) Recurrent spreading depolarizations after subarachnoid hemorrhage decreases oxygen availability in human cerebral cortex. Ann Neurol 67(5):607–617
- Schalk G et al (2004) BCI2000: a general-purpose brain-computer interface (BCI) system. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 51(6): 1034–1043
- 22. Brunner P et al (2009) A practical procedure for real-time functional mapping of eloquent cortex using electrocorticographic signals in humans. Epilepsy Behav 15(3):278–286
- 23. Felton EA et al (2009) Evaluation of a modified Fitts law braincomputer interface target acquisition task in Able and motor disabled individuals. J Neural Eng 6(5):056002
- 24. Feuerstein D et al (2010) Dynamic metabolic response to multiple spreading depolarizations in patients with acute brain injury: an online microdialysis study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30(7):1343

Transcranial Doppler as a Routine in the Treatment of Vasospasm Following Subarachanoid Hemorrhage (SAH)

Renata F. Simm, Paulo H. Pires de Aguiar, M. de Oliveira Lima, and Bernardo L. Paiva

Abstract *Background*: Vasospasm is an important complication observed after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and is a frequent cause of mortality and morbidity. We present our routine management of vasospasm after SAH and emphasize the importance of transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography in this management.

Method: Historical records and images were sampled from June 2005 to September 2011 for 110 patients with SAH due to ruptured aneurysm in the anterior circulation. All surviving patients were followed after discharge. Vasospasm was defined as mild (Lindegaard index 3–4), moderate (Lindegaard index 4–5), and severe (Lindegaard index greater than 5). We excluded patients treated after 72 h of symptom onset. TCD was performed twice per day.

Findings: Ninety-nine patients had surgical clipping of the aneurysm, and 11 had endovascular treatment. Seventy patients treated by clipping and six treated by endovascular procedure had vasospasm. Of the 70 clipped patients with vasospasm, 40 had mild vasospasm, 13 had moderate vasospasm, and 17 had severe vasospasm. All six patients treated by coils had moderate vasospasm. The average duration of vasospasm was 9 days (from 7 to 32 days).

R.F. Simm (🖂)

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurology, Santa Paula Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil

Intensive Care Unit, Department of Neurology, Santa Paula Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil e-mail: rfsimm@gmail.com

P.H.P. de Aguiar Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurology, Santa Paula Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil

M. de Oliveira Lima Division of Sonology, Santa Paula Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil

B.L. Paiva Intensive Care Unit, Department of Neurology, Santa Paula Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil *Conclusions*: TCD was crucial for monitoring patients with SAH, and to identify which patients will have a higher risk of developing vasospasm.

Keywords Cerebral vasospasm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Brain aneurysm • Transcranial Doppler

Introduction

The diagnosis and treatment of vasospasm remains clinically challenging.

Neither clinical signs and symptoms nor neuroimaging including computerized tomography [CT] scan and magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] are sufficient to diagnose vasospasm. While arteriography may be useful to detect, qualify, and treat vasospasm, it is invasive and impractical to perform without good clinical justification.

Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography detects blood flow velocity to monitor vasospastic arterial narrowing and is routine in the evaluation and monitoring of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [1–7].

We present our clinical experience with the routine use of the TCD for monitoring and guiding treatment of symptomatic vasospasm in patients with SAH. We discuss the role of TCD monitoring in conjunction with the clinical exam for inpatients who underwent intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring, induced coma, as well as decompressive craniotomy or angioplasty in advanced stages of vasospasm.

Methods

Historical records and images were obtained from June 2005 to September 2011 for 110 patients with SAH due to ruptured aneurysm in the anterior circulation. All surviving patients were followed after discharge. Vasospasm was defined as mild (Lindegaard index 3–4), moderate (Lindegaard index 4–5), and severe (Lindegaard index greater than 5). We excluded patients treated after 72 h of symptom onset [7]. TCD was performed twice per day during hospitalization.

Results

Ninety-nine patients had surgical clipping of the aneurysm, and 11 had endovascular treatment. Among patients with clipped aneurysms, the Hunt Hess Scale scores were I (n=25), II (n=24), III (n=49), and IV (n=1). Among patients treated by endovascular procedures, the scores were I (n=2), II (n=1), III (n=3), and IV (n=5). Seventy patients treated by clipping and six treated by endovascular procedure had vasospasm. Of the 70 clipped patients with vasospasm, 40 had mild vasospasm. All six patients treated by coils had moderate vasospasm. Of the 17 patients with severe vasospasm by TCD, 12 patients ultimately underwent decompressive craniotomy due to brain ischemia, and an additional two underwent angioplasty. The average duration of vasospasm for all patients was 9 days (range 7–32 days).

Discussion

We found twice-daily TCDs to be a useful screening tool in conjunction with the clinical exam for identifying SAH patients experiencing symptomatic vasospasm. Depending on the grade of vasospasm, we used specific therapies, such as triple H (hypertensive, hypervolemic, and hemodilution) treatment, statins, and correction of magnesium serum levels. Patients with mild vasospasm received only nimodipine. Fasudil is not approved in Brazil.

TCD is useful in the first 24 h to characterize baseline cerebral blood flow, at 24–48 h to monitor for any hyperemia, and after 48 h for early identification of vasospasm.

TCD ensures early diagnosis of vasospasm, classification of vasospasm intensity, monitoring of progression of vasospasm and detection of vasospasm, in multiple arterial segments.

Conclusions

Transcranial Doppler is a useful tool for monitoring patients with SAH and for identifying which patients will have a higher risk of developing vasospasm.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Aaslid R, Marwalder TM, Nornes H (1982) Noninvasive transcranial Doppler ultrasound recording of flow velocity in basal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 57:769–774
- Babikian VL, Feldmann E, Wechsler LR, Newell DW, Gomez CR, Bogdahn U, Caplan LR, Spencer MP, Tegeler C, Ringelstein EB, Alexandrov AV (2000) Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography: year 2000 update. J Neuroimaging 10:101–115
- Can M, Kahyaoglu O, Çolak I, Aydin Y (2008) Predictive value of transcranial Doppler to detect clinical vasospasm in patients with aneurismal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:259–261
- Creissard P, Proust F, Langlois O (1995) Vasospasm diagnostic theoretical and real transcranial Doppler sensitivity. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 136:181–185
- Giraldo EA, Fugate JE, Rabinstein AA, Lanzino G, Wijdicks EF (2011) Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome associated with hemodynamic augmentation in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 14(3):427–432
- Laumer R, Steinmeier R, Gonner F, Vogtmann T, Priem R, Fahlbusch R (1993) Cerebral haemodynamics in subarachnoid haemorrhage evaluated by transcranial Doppler sonography: part I. Reliability of flow velocities in clinical management. Neurosurgery 33:1–9
- Lindegaard KF, Nornes H, Bakke SJ, Sorteberg W, Nakstad P (1989) Cerebral vasospasm diagnosis by means of angiography and blood velocity measurements. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 100(1–2):12–24

Systemic Interleukin-6 Levels Reflect Illness Course and Prognosis of Patients with Spontaneous Nonaneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Carl Muroi, Martin Seule, Christopher Sikorski, Wolfgang Dent, and Emanuela Keller

Abstract *Background*: Patients with nonaneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) show either perimesencephal (pm)SAH or nonperimesencephalic (non-pm)SAH, with hemorrhage extending into adjacent cisterns. Patients with non-pmSAH have higher risk for a complicated clinical course with cerebral vasospasm (CVS) and worse outcome. Systemic inflammatory response has been linked to CVS occurrence and worse outcome in aneurysmal SAH. We analyzed whether levels of interleukin (IL)-6, a proinflammatory cytokine, differ in patients with pmSAH compared with non-pmSAH.

Methods: The clinical course with attention to symptomatic CVS occurrence and clinical outcome was assessed. Daily systemic IL-6 levels and leukocyte counts (Lc) were measured in the acute phase in 11 patients with pmSAH and in 9 patients with non-pmSAH.

Results: Patients with non-pmSAH had significantly higher IL-6 levels compared to patients with pmSAH (14.7 ± 3.2 vs. 3.0 ± 0.6 pg/ml, p=0.001). Lc counts did not differ (11.5 ± 0.5 vs. 11.2 ± 0.6 × 10³/µl, p=0.485). Patients with non-pmSAH stayed significantly longer in the neurocritical care unit (16.4 ± 2.1 vs. 10.2 ± 1.1 days, p=0.012). Symptomatic CVS occurred in two patients with non-pmSAH. Patients with pmSAH had a significantly more favorable outcome, defined as Glasgow Outcome Scale 5.

Conclusion: Higher IL-6 levels in patients with nonpmSAH supports the common observation of more

C. Muroi, M.D. (🖂)

Neurocritical Care Unit, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Department of Neurosurgery, Kantonsspital Aarau, Tellstrasse, Aarau CH-5001, Switzerland e-mail: carl.muroi@ksa.ch

M. Seule, C. Sikorski, W. Dent, and E. Keller Neurocritical Care Unit, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland complicated illness course with higher incidence of CVS compared to patients with pmSAH.

Keywords Interleukin-6 • Cerebral vasospasm • Systemic inflammation • Nonaneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage • Perimesencephalic subarachnoid hemorrhage

Background

Despite considerable advances in imaging techniques, a bleeding source cannot be found in a tiny subgroup of patients with spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [1, 6]. These patients are considered to suffer from a nonaneurysmal SAH. Nonaneurysmal SAHs are further subdivided in perimesencephalic (pmSAH) and nonperimesencephalic (non-pm)SAH, based on the systematic description by van Gijin et al. [11]. In patients with pmSAH, the blood is located strictly around the midbrain or brain stem, whereas in patients with non-pmSAH the hemorrhage extends into adjacent cisterns [1, 6]. Patients with pmSAH have an uncomplicated illness course with favorable outcome. In particular, the risk of developing cerebral vasospasm (CVS) and delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) is negligible [1, 3, 4, 6]. Patients with non-pmSAH have a higher risk for a complicated clinical course, with occurrence of CVS/DCI and worse outcome [1, 4, 5, 12]. As well local as systemic inflammatory response is associated with severity of illness, clinical outcome, and occurrence of CVS/DCI in patients with aneurysmal SAH [9]. The possible significance of systemic leukocyte count (Lc) in this context has been discussed [9]. More recently, higher levels of interleukin (IL)-6, a proinflammatory cytokine, have been linked to the occurrence of symptomatic CVS and worse outcome [9, 10]. Systemic IL-6 levels could reflect the severity of illness and risk of CVS to some extent. Recently, we described the difference in systemic IL-6 levels between patients with aneurysmal and nonaneurysmal SAH. The results showed a significantly higher concentration in patients with aneurysmal SAH [8]. In the current chapter, we refine our subgroup analysis between patients with pmSAH and non-pmSAH.

Methods

All patients presenting with nonaneurysmal SAH during a 1-year period were included in the current study. The diagnoses of pmSAH and non-pmSAH were based on the initial computed tomographic (CT) scan. Exclusion of a bleeding source was based on cerebral angiography. If the subarachnoid blood was strictly located in the interpeduncular or prepontine cistern, the patient was considered to suffer from pmSAH [8]. If the blood was located in the adjacent basal cisterns, the patient was considered to have a nonpmSAH [8]. In the latter group of patients, repeated angiography was performed after the acute phase to definitely exclude a bleeding source. Clinical assessment at time of admission was carried out according to the World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS). WFNS grade was dichotomized between WFNS 1-3 and WFNS 4-5. The clinical illness course with attention to symptomatic CVS occurrence [7] and clinical outcome after 3 months, based on the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS), was assessed. Favorable outcome was defined as GOS value of 5. Systemic IL-6 concentrations and Lc were measured daily until day 12 after ictus. IL-6 levels were measured by chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay. Lc was performed by automated photometric measurement. The current study was of a prospective observational nature. Variables are given as

mean plus or minus standard error of the mean. Numeric variables were compared by independent t test and nominal variables by Fisher's exact test. A p value less than 0.05 was assumed to be statistically significant.

Results

A total of 20 patients with nonaneurysmal SAH were identified, 11 patients presenting with pmSAH and 9 patients with non-pmSAH. Gender and age did not differ between patients with pmSAH and non-pmSAH (Table 1). Although two patients with non-pmSAH showed a WFNS grade 4, dichotomized WFNS grade at time of admission did not differ between the two groups (Table 1). Patients with pmSAH had statistically significant lower IL-6 levels during the illness course compared to patients with non-pmSAH (3.1 ± 0.6 vs. 14.7 ± 3.2 pg/ml, p = 0.001), while the Lc did not differ (11.2 ± 0.6 vs. 11.5 ± 0.5 × 10³/µl, p=0.636) (Table 1, Fig. 1). Patients with non-pmSAH had statistically longer stay in the neurocritical care unit (16.4 \pm 2.1 vs. 10.2 \pm 1.1 days, p=0.012) (Table 1, Fig. 1). In two of nine patients with non-pmSAH, symptomatic CVS occurred in the illness course. Concerning outcome, ten patients with pmSAH had a favorable outcome, with a GOS value of 5. One patient had a GOS of 4. In patients with non-pmSAH, 3 were considered to have a favorable outcome after 3 months, while the remaining 6 patients had a GOS of 4 and 1 patient a GOS of 1. The cause of death (GOS 1) was not directly related to the bleeding. The outcome was statistically different in a dichotomized manner (p=0.017) (Table 1).

	pmSAH (n=	=11)		non-pmSAF	I (<i>n</i> =9)	
Sex (male:female)	3:8		ns ^a	4:5		
Age (mean ± SEM) (years)	53.9	±2.4	ns ^b	59.9	±4.3	
WFNS grade						
1–3	11		ns ^a	7		
4–5	0			2		
IL-6 (mean \pm SEM) (pg/ml)	3.1	±0.6	$p = 0.001^{\text{b}}$	14.7	±3.2	
Lc counts (mean \pm SEM) (×10 ³ /µl)	11.2	±0.6	ns ^b	11.5	±0.5	
Stay in the NCU (mean \pm SEM) (days)	10.2	±1.1	p=0.012 ^b	16.4	±2.1	
Symptomatic CVS occurrence	0		ns ^a	2		
Outcome						
Favorable (GOS 5)	10		$p = 0.017^{a}$	3		
Unfavorable (GOS <5)	1			6		

Table 1 Characteristics of patients with nonaneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and results

pmSAH perimesencephalic subarachnoid hemorrhage, *n* number of patients, *ns* statistically not significant, *SEM* standard error of the mean, *WFNS* World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies, *IL* interleukin, *Lc* leukocytes, *NCU* neurocritical care unit, *CVS* cerebral vasospasm, *GOS* Glasgow Outcome Scale

^aFisher's exact test

^bIndependent t test



Fig. 1 Results shown as bar graphs. (a) Systemic interleukin 6-(IL-6) levels; (b) systemic leukocyte counts (Lc); (c) stay in the neurocritical care unit (NCU). Statistically significant: *p=0.001, **p=0.017

Discussion

In the present study, lower systemic IL-6 levels could be shown in patients with pmSAH compared to patients with non-pmSAH. The Lc counts did not differ between these groups. Clinically relevant CVS was observed in two patients presenting with non-pmSAH. No patient with pmSAH had any signs of CVS during the illness course. However, the incidence was not statistically significant, probably due to the small sample size. Further, patients with non-pmSAH had a significantly longer stay in the neurocritical care unit. Although overall outcome could be considered as good in both groups (almost all patients presenting with GOS 4 or 5), statistically significantly more patients with pmSAH had a favorable outcome (defined as aGOS value of 5) compared to patients with non-pmSAH (Table 1).

IL-6 is a pleiotropic proinflammatory cytokine and acts as an acute-phase reactant. Pathologically high IL-6 levels have been found systemically as well as in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in patients with aneurysmal SAH. In particular, higher levels in the CSF have been linked with the occurrence of CVS/DCI and subsequent worse outcome [9, 10]. Systemic IL-6 has been shown to be an independent predictor of outcome in unselected critically ill patients [2]. Pathological levels have also been found in patients with aneurysmal SAH [9, 10]. Significantly higher systemic IL-6 levels have been reported in patients with symptomatic CVS [10]. Recently, we have shown higher systemic IL-6 levels in patients with aneurysmal SAH compared to nonaneurysmal SAH [8]. The current results support our previous assumption that systemic IL-6 concentration reflects the severity of inflammatory stress response and the severity of the illness in patients with nonaneurysmal SAH.

The shortcomings of this study are the small patient number with limited statistical perspectives. Further, the question of whether systemic IL-6 has a direct impact on the development of CVS in patients with nonaneurysmal SAH cannot be answered. A consecutive study with a larger patient population might answer the question of whether systemic IL-6 levels have a predictive value for poor outcome and development of CVS/DCI in patients with nonaneurysmal SAH, in particular in patients with non-pmSAH who are considered to have a higher risk.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the current results indicate that systemic IL-6 concentration reflects the severity of inflammatory stress response and underline the already-known fact of the more complicated illness course with possible poor outcome and higher incidence of CVS/DCI in patients with non-pmSAH compared to pmSAH.

Note The results were published in part as indicated in the text [8].

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Beseoglu K, Pannes S, Steiger HJ, Hanggi D (2009) Long-term outcome and quality of life after nonaneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 152:409–416
- Dimopoulou I, Orfanos S, Kotanidou A, Livaditi O, Giamarellos-Bourboulis E, Athanasiou C, Korovesi I, Sotiropoulou C, Kopterides P, Ilias I, Kanellakopoulou K, Armaganidis A (2008) Plasma pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine levels and outcome prediction in unselected critically ill patients. Cytokine 41:263–267
- 3. Greebe P, Rinkel GJ (2007) Life expectancy after perimesencephalic subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 38:1222–1224
- Gupta SK, Gupta R, Khosla VK, Mohindra S, Chhabra R, Khandelwal N, Gupta V, Mukherjee KK, Tewari MK, Pathak A, Mathuriya SN (2009) Nonaneurysmal nonperimesencephalic subarachnoid hemorrhage: is it a benign entity? Surg Neurol 71:566– 571; discussion 571, 571–572, 572
- Hui FK, Tumialan LM, Tanaka T, Cawley CM, Zhang YJ (2009) Clinical differences between angiographically negative, diffuse subarachnoid hemorrhage and perimesencephalic subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 11:64–70
- Kang DH, Park J, Lee SH, Park SH, Kim YS, Hamm IS (2009) Does non-perimesencephalic type non-aneurysmal subarachnoid

hemorrhage have a benign prognosis? J Clin Neurosci 16: 904–908

- Keller E, Krayenbuhl N, Bjeljac M, Yonekawa Y (2005) Cerebral vasospasm: results of a structured multimodal treatment. Acta Neurochir Suppl 94:65–73
- Muroi C, Bellut D, Coluccia D, Mink S, Fujioka M, Keller E (2011) Systemic interleukin-6 concentrations in patients with perimesencephalic non-aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Clin Neurosci. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2011.03.022
- Muroi C, Mink S, Seule M, Bellut D, Fandino J, Keller E (2011) Monitoring of the inflammatory response after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage in the clinical setting: review of literature

and report of preliminary clinical experience. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:191-196

- Sarrafzadeh A, Schlenk F, Gericke C, Vajkoczy P (2010) Relevance of cerebral interleukin-6 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 13:339–346
- van Gijn J, van Dongen KJ, Vermeulen M, Hijdra A (1985) Perimesencephalic hemorrhage: a nonaneurysmal and benign form of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 35:493–497
- Whiting J, Reavey-Cantwell J, Velat G, Fautheree G, Firment C, Lewis S, Hoh B (2009) Clinical course of nontraumatic, nonaneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a single-institution experience. Neurosurg Focus 26:E21

Beneficial Effect of Selective Intra-arterial Infusion of Fasudil Hydrochloride as a Treatment of Symptomatic Vasospasm Following SAH

Takumi Nakamura, Toru Matsui, Atsushi Hosono, Atsushi Okano, Naoaki Fujisawa, Tsukasa Tsuchiya, Masahiro Indo, Yasutaka Suzuki, Soichi Oya, and Han Soo Chang

Abstract Introduction: We envisage the efficacy and safety of intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF) for symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). We compared results obtained from the groups that received selective IAF (a microcatheter inserted in intracranial arteries) and nonselective IAF (a microcatheter inserted in the cervical arteries). Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) value and computed tomographic (CT) score were used to evaluate clinical outcome and the extent of infarction due to delayed vasospasm.

Material and methods: Over 2 years, 113 patients with SAH underwent clipping or coiling. Among them, 31 patients (27.4%) developed SVS. We performed nonselective IAF in 10 patients and selective IAF in 10 other patients. Eleven patients with SVS were treated without IAF. The data were statistically analyzed.

Result: By univariate linear regression analysis, IAF negatively correlated with CT score (p=0.016), but IAF was significantly correlated with GOS (p=0.035). By multiple regression analysis, Hunt and Kosnik grade and CT score significantly correlated with GOS.

Discussion: CT score significantly correlated with functional outcome. Although IAF, both selective and nonselective, was significantly effective for the treatment of delayed vasospasm, the former seemed to be more beneficial.

Keywords Aneurysm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Symptomatic vasospasm • Intra-arterial infusion • Fasudil hydrochloride (FA)

Saitama Medical Center/Saitama Medical University,

Introduction

Recently, fasudil hydrochloride (IAF) for treatment of symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) has been widely used in Japan [1, 2, 5, 7–9]. Fasudil hydrochloride (FA) is a Rho kinase inhibitor (RKI), attenuating smooth muscle contraction of cerebral artery. In Japan, intravenous administration of RKI is widely accepted for prevention of delayed cerebral vasospasm after SAH [6]. From a retrospective point of view, we have analyzed a correlation between intra-arterial infusion of FA (IAF) and final outcome of the symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) cases to envisage the usefulness of IAF in treatment of SVS. In addition, we compared results obtained from the groups that received selective IAF (In these patients, a catheter was inserted into the A1, M1, M2, C1, C2 segment close to the spastic arteries) and nonselective IAF (in these patients, a catheter was placed in the extradural portion of the internal carotid artery or vertebral artery). In this report, we demonstrate more beneficial effect of IAF in the former group than in the latter group as a treatment of SVS following SAH.

Materials and Methods

Treatment Strategy for SVS

Our clinical path for patients with SAH is as follows: We performed clipping or coiling of ruptured aneurysms within 72 h from the onset of SAH. We routinely administered FA intravenously during the period of vasospasm. If patients began to develop SVS, we went to angiogram and infuse FA into the affected vessel at the rate of 3 mg/min. We routinely started intravenous administration of the free radical scavenger Edarabon, which has been accepted for a treatment of acute cerebral ischemia [4], as soon as possible when the patient was diagnosed with SVS.

T. Nakamura, M.D., T. Matsui, M.D., D.MSc. (🖂), A. Hosono, M.D.,

A. Okano, M.D., N. Fujisawa, M.D., T. Tsuchiya, M.D., M. Indo, M.D., Y. Suzuki, M.D., S. Oya, M.D., D.MSc., and

H.S. Chang, M.D., D.MSc.

Department of Neurosurgery,

¹⁹⁸¹ Kamoda, Kawagoe City, Saitama 350-8550, Japan

e-mail: matsui@saitama-med.ac.jp

From January 2009 to March 2011, 113 patients with aneurysmal SAH were treated with clipping or coiling. Among them, 31 patients (27.4%) developed SVS. We performed IAF in 20 patients; 10 patients were treated nonselectively (group 2) and the other 10 patients selectively (group 3). Eleven patients with SVS did not undergo IAF (group 1).

In group 2, IAF was performed with the catheter introduced into the unilateral cervical portion of the internal carotid artery (ICA) in 6 patients (60.0%), bilateral cervical ICA in 2 cases (20.0%), unilateral ICA and unilateral vertebral artery (VA) in 1 case (10.0%), and bilateral cervical ICA and unilateral VA in 1 case (10.0%). In group 2, all patients received a single IAF procedure except for a case who received IAF twice during the period of vasospasm (at days 8 and 10).

In group 3, IAF into the M1 segment was performed in 7 patients (70.0%), the A1 segment in 2 patients (20.0%), and the C2 segment in 1 patient (10.0%). Balloon angioplasty was done in only 1 case.

Functional outcome was evaluated by final Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) value at discharge to home or other hospital. For statistical evaluation, we referred to GOS value as follows: good recovery as 1, moderately disabled as 2, severely disabled as 3, vegetative survival as 4, and dead as 5.

In addition, we graded the extent of cerebral infarction due to delayed vasospasm by an original scoring system called the computed tomographic (CT) score (see Table 1).

We analyzed the correlation between functional outcome and IAF as well as CT score and IAF by univariate linear regression analysis to evaluate the efficacy of IAF for reducing the extent of infarction due to delayed vasospasm and improving the final outcome. In addition, we investigated the factors that have significant influence on GOS value by multiple regression analysis. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Table 1 Computed tomographic (CT) score to analyze the extent of cerebral infarction due to vasospasm in a simple fashion

	CT scoring system: Extent of infarction due to delayed vasospasm
None (1)	No definite infarction due to delayed vasospasm
Small (2)	Less than 1 cm in major axis
Medium (3)	Limited in the territory of one cortical branch
Large (4)	Extending to the territory of two or more cortical branches but limited unilaterally
Extensive (5)	Extending to bilateral hemispheres widely

We demonstrated a significant correlation between computed tomographic (CT) score and Glasgow Outcome Score (GOS) by univariate linear regression analysis in this chapter.

Representative Case

A 72-year old female with SAH Hunt and Kosnik (HK) grade II underwent clipping of the right distal anterior cerebral artery (ACA) ruptured aneurysm. At day 10, this patient developed severe left hemiparesis. Angiography showed severe vasospasm in the bilateral ACAs (Fig. 1a). We introduced a microcatheter into the left A1 segment, and 30 mg of FA was infused at the rate of 3 mg/min (Fig. 1b). After IAF, angiographical vasospasm rapidly and remarkably improved, and the left hemiparesis recovered fully after the treatment (Fig. 1c). CT at day 44 showed a small low-density area in the right cingulate gyrus (Fig. 2). The CT score and GOS value of the patient were 1 and 2, respectively.

Results

Profile and Clinical Features of Patients

The age and female/male ratio are recorded in Table 2.

In group 1, the HK grade was II in 3 cases (27.3%), grade III in 3 cases (27.3%), grade IV in 1 case (9.1%), and grade V in 4 cases (36.4%). In group 2, the HK grade was I in 1 case (10.0%), grade II in 2 cases (20.0%), grade III in 3 cases (30.0%), grade IV in 2 cases (20.0%), and grade V in 2 cases (20.0%). In group 3, the HK grade was I in 1 case (10.0%), grade II in 4 cases (40.0%), grade III in 3 cases (30.0%), grade IV in 1 case (10.0%), and grade V in 1 case (10.0%). Mean \pm SD HK grade of groups 1, 2, and 3 was 3.5 \pm 1.5, 3.2 \pm 1.3, and 2.7 \pm 1.2, respectively.

CT Score

In group 1, the CT score was 1 in 2 cases (18.2%), 3 in 1 case (9.1%), 4 in 2 cases (18.2%), and 5 in 5 cases (45.5%). In group 2, the CT score was 1 in 4 cases (40.0%), 4 in 2 cases (20.0%), and 5 in 4 cases (40.0%). In group 3, the CT score was 1 in 4 cases (40.0%), 2 in 2 cases (20.0%), 3 in 3 cases (30.0%), and 4 in 1 case (10.0%). Mean plus or minus standard deviation (SD) of the CT score of groups 1, 2, and 3 was 3.8 ± 1.5 , 3.2 ± 1.9 , and 2.1 ± 1.1 , respectively (Table 2).

GOS Value

In group 1, the GOS value was 1 in 1 case (9.1%), 2 in 2 cases (18.2%), 3 in 1 case (9.1%), 4 in 4 cases (36.4%), and 5 in 3 cases (27.3%). In group 2, the GOS value was 1 in 1



Fig. 1 The anteroposterior view of the left internal carotid angiogram showed severe vasospasm (*yellow arrow*) in the bilateral anterior cerebral arteries (ACAs) (**a**). A microcatheter was introduced into the left

A1 segment, then 30 mg of fasudil were infused at the rate of 3 mg/min (**b**). (*yellow arrow*) after selective IAF, angiographical vasospasm improved immediately (**c**)



Fig. 2 Computed tomography at day 44 showed a small low = density area in the right cingulate gyrus. The left hemiparesis recovered fully after the intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF)

Table 2 Profiles and clinical features of three groups

		0 1	
	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3
$Age(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$	65.1 ± 11.8	63.5 ± 15.4	51.8 ± 14.3
Female	10 (90.9%)	9 (90.0%)	7 (70.0%)
H&K grade			
Grade 1	0 (0%)	1 (10.0%)	1 (10.0%)
Grade 2	3 (27.3%)	2 (20.0%)	4 (40.0%)
Grade 3	3(27.3%)	3 (30.0%)	3 (30.0%)
Grade 4	1 (9.1%)	2 (20.0%)	1 (10.0%)
Grade 5	4(36.4%)	2 (20.0%)	1 (10.0%)
Location of aneurysm			
Anterior circulation	10 (90.9%)	7 (70.0%)	9 (90.0%)
Acom	2 (18.2%)	2 (20.0%)	1 (10.0%)
Distal ACA	1 (9.1%)	0 (0%)	1 (10.0%)
IC	5 (45.5%)	4 (40.0%)	4 (40.0%)
MCA	2 (18.2%)	1 (10.0%)	3 (30.0%)
Posterior circulation	1 (9.1%)	3 (30.0%)	1 (10.0%)
VA	0 (0%)	1 (10.0%)	1 (10.0%)
BA	1 (9.1%)	2 (20.0%)	0 (0%)
Mean CT score	3.8 ± 1.5	3.2 ± 1.9	2.1 ± 1.1
Mean GOS score	3.5 ± 1.4	3.6 ± 1.6	2.2 ± 0.9

ACA anterior cerebral artery, CT computed tomography, GOS Glasgow Outcome Scale, IC internal carotid, H&K Hunt and Kosnik, VA vertebral artery, MCA middle cerebral artery, BA basilar artery, Acom anterior communicating artery

case (10.0%), 2 in 1 case (10.0%), 4 in 3 cases (30.0%), and 5 in 4 cases (40.0%). In group 3, the GOS value was 1 in 3 cases (30.0%), 2 in 2 cases (20.0%), and 3 in 5 cases (50.0%). Mean plus or minus SD of the GOS value of groups 1, 2, and 3 was 3.5 ± 1.4 , 3.6 ± 1.6 , and 2.2 ± 0.9 , respectively (Table 2).

Univariate Linear Regression and Multivariate Regression Analysis

Univariate linear regression analysis showed negative correlation between GOS and IAF as well as between CT score and IAF (Table 2). A correlation coefficient between CT score and IAF was -0.86 (-1.54 to -0.17; 95% confidence interval [CI], p = 0.016.). A correlation coefficient between GOS and IAF was -0.66 (-1.27 to -0.05; 95% CI, p = 0.035).

In multiple regression analysis, HK grade and CT score significantly correlated with GOS value (correlation coefficient=0.641, p=0.000, and correlation coefficient=0.5159, p=0.000, respectively).

Adverse Effect of IAF

Epileptic seizures that seemed to be related to the IAF procedure occurred in some cases. These seizures started during the IAF or the next day. An IAF-related epileptic seizure occurred in one patient (10.0%) in groups 2 and in 3 (30.0%) in group 3. Therefore, sufficient administration of antiepileptic drug prior to the IAF procedure is recommended. No other adverse effects related to the IAF procedure were appreciated.

Discussion

The pathogenesis of delayed vasospasm after SAH has not been fully elucidated [3]. Therefore, it is still a major cause of disability and death in patients with SAH. In the present study, 27.4% of patients with SAH developed SVS and required intensive treatment in spite of prophylactic intravenous administration of fasudil. In such situations, IAF is thought to be one of the best additional treatment options because it enables us to deliver RKI to the affected vessel directly. Recently, IAF for SVS has become popular in Japan [1, 2, 7–9]. We analyzed the cases with IAF retrospectively and envisaged the efficacy and safety of IAF in the treatment of SVS.

Adverse Effects

The major adverse effect of intravenous fasudil infusion is intracranial bleeding and hypotension [1]. A postmarketing surveillance study of 1,462 patients reported that intracranial bleeding occurred in 1.6% and hypotension in 0.1%. In the present study, we encountered neither intracranial bleeding nor hypotension after IAF, possibly because of the small size of our study [2]. We did encounter epileptic seizure after IAF procedure in 4 cases. Among them, 3 cases with epileptic seizure were included in group 3. Thus, attention should be paid to the possibility of seizures, especially in cases with SVS who undergo selective IAF.

CT Score

We introduced a CT score system (Table 1) to analyze the extent of cerebral infarction originating from delayed vasospasm after SAH. According to multiple regression analysis, CT score significantly correlated with GOS value. We believe that our simple, inexpensive CT scoring system may be a good tool for prediction of final GOS value.

Efficacy of IAF

In this study, IAF significantly correlated with CT score and GOS value by univariate linear regression analysis. This result indicated that IAF may have a beneficial effect in the treatment of SVS, and selective IAF seemed to be more effective than nonselective IAF.

Thus, the present investigation supported the usefulness of selective IAF for ultimate treatment of SVS.

Conclusion

CT score significantly correlated with functional outcome by multiple regression analysis. IAF, both selective and nonselective, was significantly effective in treatment of delayed vasospasm. Since the present study was analyzed retrospectively and included a small number of cases, the findings merit further prospective randomized controlled trials to investigate the efficacy of IAF for treatment of SVS.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Enomoto Y, Yoshimura S, Yamada K, Iwama T (2010) Convulsion during intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir 50:7–12
- Iwabuchi S, Yokouchi T, Hayashi M, Uehara H, Ueda M, Samejima H (2006) Intra-arterial administration of fasudil hydrochloride for vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir 11:535–540
- Matsui T, Ishikawa T (2007) Treatment for cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: an overview of recent advances. Surg Cereb Stroke (Jpn) 35:1–6
- Munakata A, Ohkuma H, Nakano T, Shimamura N, Asano K, Naraoka M (2009) Effect of a free radical scavenger, edaravone, in the treatment of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 64:423–428
- Mutoh T, Kobayashi S, Tamakawa N, Ishikawa T (2011) Multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy as a tool for assisting intra-arterial fasudil therapy for diffuse vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol Int 2:68
- Satoh S, Suzuki Y, Ikegaki I, Asano T, Shibuya M, Sugita K, Hidaka H (1991) The effects of HA1077 on the cerebral circulation after subarachnoid haemorrhage in dogs. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 110:185–188
- Suzuki Y, Shibuya M, Satoh S, Sugimoto Y, Takakura K (2007) A postmarketing surveillance study of fasudil treatment after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol 68:126–132
- Tanaka K, Minami H, Kota M, Kuwamura K, Kohmura E (2005) Treatment of cerebral vasospasm with intra-arterial fasudil hydrochloride. Neurosurgery 56:214–223
- Zhao J, Zhou D, Guo J, Ren Z, Zhou L, Wang S, Xu B, Wang R (2006) Effect of fasudil hydrochloride, a protein kinase inhibitor, on cerebral ischemic symptoms after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage – results of a randomized trial of fasudil hydrochloride versus nimodipine. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 46:421–428

Cerebral Hemodynamic Changes After Wartime Traumatic Brain Injury

Alexander Razumovsky, Teodoro Tigno, Sven M. Hochheimer, Fred L. Stephens, Randy Bell, Alexander H. Vo, Meryl A. Severson, Scott A. Marshall, Stephen M. Oppenheimer, Robert Ecker, and Rocco A. Armonda

Abstract Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is associated with the severest casualties from Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) and Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF). From October 1, 2008, the U.S. Army Medical Department initiated a transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound service for TBI; included patients were retrospectively evaluated for TCD-determined incidence of post-traumatic cerebral vasospasm and intracranial hypertension after wartime TBI. Ninety patients were investigated with daily TCD studies and a comprehensive TCD protocol, and published diagnostic criteria for vasospasm and increased intracranial pressure (ICP) were applied. TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasms were observed in 37%, 22%, and 12% of patients, respectively. TCD signs of intracranial hypertension were recorded in 62.2%; 5 patients (4.5%) underwent transluminal angioplasty for post-traumatic clinical vasospasm treatment, and 16 (14.4%) had cranioplasty. These findings demonstrate that cerebral arterial spasm and intracranial hypertension are frequent and significant complications of combat TBI; therefore, daily TCD monitoring is recommended for their recognition and subsequent management.

T. Tigno, M.D., S.M. Hochheimer, M.D., F.L. Stephens, M.D., R. Bell, M.D., M.A. Severson, and R.A. Armonda Department of Neurosurgery, Walter Reed National Military Medical Center, Bethesda, MD, USA

A.H. Vo, Ph.D. The University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, USA

S.A. Marshall, M.D. Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences,

Department of Neurology, Bethesda, MD, USA

R. Ecker, M.D.

Department of Neuroradiology, Maine Medical Center, Portland, ME, USA

Keywords Combat-associated wartime traumatic brain injury • Wartime traumatic brain injury • Transcranial Doppler ultrasonography • Cerebral blood flow velocity • Vasospasm • Intracranial pressure

Introduction

Cerebral vasospasm is a frequent complication after aneurysmal and traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and carries significant morbidity and mortality [9, 11, 13, 19]. Armonda and co-authors indicated that vasospasm occurred in a substantial number of patients with wartime traumatic brain injury (TBI), and clinical outcomes were worse in such patients [2]. Cerebral angiography remains the standard diagnostic test in this setting; however, this procedure is invasive, expensive, not always available, and not without risk [8]. In contrast, transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography has been increasingly used over the past few years for diagnosis and monitoring cerebral vasospasm and implementing therapeutic interventions [21]. TBI and cerebrovascular injury are associated with the severest casualties from Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) and Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) [3]. From October 1, 2008, the U.S. Army Medical Department TBI program initiated a TCD protocol for examination of head-injured patients who were evacuated from the combat theater to receive care at the National Naval Medical Center, the San Antonio Military Medical Center, and the Walter Reed Army Medical Center. The purpose of this retrospective analysis was to evaluate the TCD determined incidence of post-traumatic cerebral vasospasm and intracranial hypertension after wartime TBI in these patients.

Materials and Methods

TCD data were retrospectively analyzed in 90 patients (two females) aged 18–50 years (mean 25.9 years) who had suffered wartime TBI (with Glasgow Coma Scale scores ranging from

A. Razumovsky, Ph.D., FAHA (⊠), S.M. Oppenheimer, M.D., Ph.D. Sentient NeuroCare Services, Inc, 11011 McCormick Rd, Suite 200, Hunt Valley, MD, USA e-mail: arazumovsky@sentientmedical.com

3 to 15). The patients were categorized according to injury: 18 patients with closed head injury (CHI), 19 patients with CHI due to improvised explosive device (CHI/IED), 33 patients with penetrating head injury (PHI), and 20 patients with PHI due to IED (PHI/IED). A total of 567 TCD studies were made after admission. Patients were identified using a computerized registry and a prospective TCD database maintained in the Sentient NeuroCare Services. TCD recordings of mean cerebral blood flow velocities (CBFV, in cm/s) and Pulsatility Indices (PI) of the anterior and posterior circulation vessels were recorded using a 2-MHz transducer (Doppler Box, DWL/ Compumedics, USA). A comprehensive TCD protocol was applied in all cases [1]: If mean CBFV equaled or exceeded 100, 140, and 200 cm/s, the TCD signs of mild vasospasm, moderate vasospasm, and severe vasospasm, respectively, were considered present [20]. Lindegaard ratio was measured when the CBFV exceeded 100 cm/s [15]. On average, patients received 6.4 TCD examinations (range 1-30).

The primary purpose of TCD methodology is to determine the CBFV by quantitative interpretation of Doppler spectrum waveforms. Although the qualitative contour of the TCD waveform during intracranial pressure (ICP) elevation falls into a recognizable pattern, their interpretation depends on the experience and expertise of the TCD examiner/interpreter. Objective, reproducible, and verifiable measures of TCD waveform changes are necessary for TCD findings to be used with certainty for evaluation of intracranial hypertension. One method of quantifying these changes is the utilization of the PI [4], which is a reflection of downstream resistance. The PI takes into account the peak systolic CBFV (pCBFV) and the end-diastolic CBFV (edCBFV) and compares changes in these variables against the change in the standard measure of the entire waveform, such as mean CBFV. Changes in arterial pulsatility, especially occurring during intracranial hypertension, will affect both pCBFV and edCBFV, which are easily identified in the TCD waveform and are reflected by the equation PI = pCBFV - edCBFV/mean CBFV.

The SAS statistical package was used for data analysis $(SAS/STAT^{\circ} 9.3 Software, SAS Institute, Inc., USA)$. All data were tested for normal distribution using the Shapiro Wilk test: Nonparametric statistics were used if determined appropriate. All data were described using median and interquartile range (25th and 75th percentiles). Spearman rank correlations of MAP (mean arterial pressure), Hct (hematocrit), ICP, and PaCO₂ (arterial partial pressure of carbon dioxide) with measures of the CBFV were calculated. Anterior and posterior CBFV data were compared between groups defined by severity of vasospasm (mild, moderate, and severe) using the Wilcoxon rank sum test for each diagnostic group. General linear models were employed to test between diagnostic group differences, adjusting for severity of vasospasm. Statistical significance was assumed on the 5% level. Study and analysis of the data were done according to the IRBNet protocol 363439-4.

Results

TCD signs of vasospasm were observed in 57 cases (63.3%): 13 (14.4%) in CHI, 12 (13.3%) in CHI/IED, 21 (23.3%) in PHI, and 11 (12.3%) in PHI/IED groups (p = 0.732). Different degree of TCD signs of vasospasm presented in Table 1. In PHI patients, there were 75%, 35.7%, and 14.3% TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm, respectively. In the PHI/IED group, there were 36.8%, 5.2%, and 5.2% TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm, respectively. In the CHI group, there were 68.4%, 31.5%, and 15.7% TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm, respectively. Last, in the CHI/IED group, there were 29%, 23.5%, and 17.6% TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm, respectively. TCD evidence of intracranial hypertension was seen in 57.1% of PHI patients, in 63% of PHI/IED patients, in 63.1% of CHI patients, and in 50% of CHI/IED patients. While there were no overall differences in presence of vasospasm, there were statistically significant differences between frequency of degrees of TCD signs of vasospasm between different TBI groups (p <0.001). Post hoc analysis revealed that PHI and CHI groups had higher frequency of mild vasospasm compared to both CHI/IED and PHI/IED (p < 0.05). The PHI/IED group had a higher frequency of moderate vasospasm compared to the CHI, PHI, and CHI/IED groups (p < 0.05).

Discussion

These results suggest that abnormal TCD findings are frequent in patients with wartime TBI and indicate post-traumatic vasospasm and intracranial hypertension in a significant number of patients. In addition, delayed cerebral arterial spasm is a frequent complication of combat TBI, and severity of cerebral vasospasm is comparable to that seen in aneurysmal SAH. This confirms earlier data that traumatic SAH is associated with a high incidence of cerebral vasospasm with a higher probability in patients with severe TBI [2, 9, 19]. Another cause of abnormally high CBFVs could be reactive hyperemia after TBI; however, the literature suggests that global post-trauma malignant hyperemia is present primarily in the acute stage of TBI [18], although more recent data showed that post-TBI focal hyperemia can be present up to 3 weeks [7]. In our study, utilization of the Lindegaard ratio and qualitative evaluation of the Doppler spectrum were helpful in differentiating between hyperemia and vasospasm.

	TBI groups				
TCD signs of vasospasm	PHI	PHI/IED	CHI	CHI/IED	
Mild vasospasm					
Anterior	114 (106,124)	112 (105,121)	114 (106,124)	116 (107,129)	
Posterior	66 (63,71)	(63.5,71)	68 (63,74.5)	67 (62,72)	
Moderate vasospasm					
Anterior	159 (149,172)	162 (148,181)	154 (146,173)	150 (146,164)	
Posterior	86 (83.5,90)	85.5 (83,89)	89 (85,97)	87 (85,92)	
Severe vasospasm					
Anterior	220.5 (210,234)	216 (206,248)	214 (210,225)	214 (209,237)	
Posterior	114 (108,124)	124 (104.5,161)	115 (107,132.5)	113 (106.5,124)	

Table 1 Different degree of transcranial Doppler (TCD) signs of vasospasm in wartime patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI)

Numbers represent median cerebral blood flow velocity (CBFV) in centimeters/second (interquartile range, 25th and 75th percentile) *CHI* closed head injury, *IED* improvised explosive device, *PHI* penetrating head injury

Of interest is the finding that the PHI/IED TBI group had a higher frequency of TCD signs of moderate vasospasm when compared to other TBI groups. This result emphasizes the point that explosive blast TBI is one of the more serious wounds suffered by U.S. service members injured in the current conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan. Observations suggest that the mechanism by which explosive blast injures the central nervous system may be more complex than initially assumed [16].

The purpose of monitoring patients with TBI is to detect treatable and reversible causes of neurological deterioration. There are numerous causes of such deterioration after TBI, and frequent neurological examinations, the availability of urgent neuroimaging, and electroencephalograms (EEGs) are standards in the management of patients with traumatic SAH. Physiological monitoring modalities include TCD, electroencephalography, brain tissue oxygen monitoring, cerebral microdialysis, and near-infrared spectroscopy. TCD has long been used for monitoring patients with SAH, but studies of diagnostic accuracy for detection of vasospasm and cerebral angiography vary widely with regard to sensitivity and specificity of TCD. Ability of TCD to predict clinical deterioration and infarction from delayed cerebral ischemia is not yet validated in a prospective trial. In spite of this, TCD examination is noninvasive and inexpensive, and the pattern of CBFVs observed in patients after SAH of different etiology is very distinctive, enabling immediate detection of abnormally high CBFVs and it appears to be predictive of vasospasm [10, 14].

Recent evidence suggests TCD holds promise for the detection of critical elevations of ICP and decreases in cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP). Using the PI, Bellner et al. [4] demonstrated that an ICP of 20 mmHg can be determined with a sensitivity of 0.89 and specificity of 0.92. They concluded that the PI may provide guidance in those patients with suspected intracranial hypertension, and that repeated measurements may be of use in the neurocritical care unit.

There is significant evidence that independent of the type of intracranial pathology, a strong correlation between PI and ICP exists [4, 5, 12, 17]. A recent study indicated that TCD had 94% of sensitivity for identifying high ICP/low CPP at admission and a negative predictive value of 95% to identify normal ICP at admission; the sensitivity for predicting abnormal CPP was 80% [17]. In 2011, Bouzat and co-authors showed that in patients with mild-to-moderate TBI, the TCD test on admission, together with brain CT scan, could accurately screen patients at risk for secondary neurological damage [6]. At the same time, to the best of our knowledge, no one as yet has suggested using the PI as an accurate method to assess ICP quantitatively. Nevertheless, even at this juncture, quantitative and qualitative changes in CBFV values and TCD waveform morphologies may persuade physicians to undertake other diagnostic steps or change medical treatment that will improve care of these patients and their outcomes. At the moment, TCD appears to be useful for following PIs trends, and it is a practical ancillary technique for estimating the direction of CBFV changes in response to increasing ICP or falling CPP. It may also reveal whether there is a response to therapeutic interventions, although further sophistication of TCD data analysis is essential before it may be used with confidence to measure ICP and CPP in the intensive care unit (ICU).

This study had some limitations. First, we were not able to correlate clinical vasospasm with angiographic vasospasm and combine TCD data with other neuroimaging methods that help to identify vasospasm and impaired cerebral perfusion in patients with traumatic SAH. Second, current data should be validated prospectively. In addition, the lack of established TCD criteria for vasospasm in younger patients presents interpretative issues.

The high sensitivity of TCD to identify abnormally high CBFVs and PIs due to the onset of vasospasm and intracranial hypertension, respectively, demonstrates that TCD is an excellent first-line examination to determine those patients who may need urgent aggressive treatment and continuous invasive ICP monitoring. Because vasospasm and intracranial hypertension represent significant events in a high proportion of patients after wartime TBI, daily TCD monitoring is recommended for the management of such patients.

Acknowledgements This chapter was supported in part by the U.S. Army Medical Research and Material Command's Telemedicine and Advanced Technology Research Center (Fort Detrick, MD, USA). In addition, we would like to express our gratitude to Richard L. Skolasky, Jr., assistant professor, director of the Spine Outcomes Research Center at Johns Hopkins University (Baltimore, MD, USA), for his statistical assistance and guidance. Also, we need to thank neurosonographers A. Dzhanashvili and Mirkko Galdo, who were responsible for data collection.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Alexandrov AV, Sloan MA, Wong LKS, Douville C, Razumovsky AY, Koroshetz W, Kaps M, Tegeler CH, for the American Society of Neuroimaging Practice Guidelines Committee (2007) Practice standards for transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound. Part I. Test performance. J Neuroimaging 17:11–18
- Armonda RA, Bell R, Vo A, Ling G, DeGraba T, Ecklund J, Crandall B, Campbell WW (2006) Wartime traumatic cerebral vasospasm: recent review of combat casualties. Neurosurgery 59:1215–1225
- Bell RS, Ecker RD, Severson MA III, Wanebo JE, Crandall B, Armonda RA (2010) The evolution of the treatment of traumatic cerebrovascular injury during wartime. A review. Neurosurg Focus 28(5):E5
- Bellner J, Romner B, Reinstrup P, Kristiansson KA, Ryding E, Brandt L (2004) Transcranial Doppler sonography pulsatility index (PI) reflects intracranial pressure (ICP). Surg Neurol 62:45–51
- Bor-Seng-Shu E, Hirsch R, Teixeira MJ, De Andrade AF, Marino R Jr (2006) Cerebral hemodynamic changes gauged by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in patients with posttraumatic brain swelling treated by surgical decompression. J Neurosurg 104:93–100
- Bouzat P, Francony G, Declety P, Genty C, Kaddour A, Bessou P, Brun J, Jacquot C, Chabardes S, Bosson JL, Payen JF (2011) Transcranial Doppler to screen on admission patients with mild to moderate traumatic brain injury. Neurosurgery 68:1603–1609
- Bullock PM, Patterson J, Hadley P, Wiper DJ, Teasdale GM (1996) Focal cerebral hyperemia after focal head injury: a benign phenomenon? J Neurosurg 83:277–284
- Cloft HJ, Joseph GJ, Dion JE (1999) Risk of cerebral angiography in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage, cerebral aneurysm, and arteriovenous malformation: a meta-analysis. Stroke 30:317–320

- Diringer MN, Axelrod Y (2007) Hemodynamic manipulation in the neuro-intensive care unit: cerebral perfusion pressure therapy in head injury and hemodynamic augmentation for cerebral vasospasm. Curr Opin Crit Care 13:156–162
- 10. Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Hemphill JC III, Menon D, Shutter L, Vespa P, Bruder N, Connolly ES Jr, Citerio G, Gress D, Hänggi D, Hoh BL, Lanzino G, Le Roux P, Rabinstein A, Schmutzhard E, Stocchetti N, Suarez JI, Treggiari M, Tseng M-Y, Vergouwen MDI, Wolf S, Zipfel G (2011) Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the Neurocritical Care Society's Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference. Neurocrit Care 15:211–240
- Dorsch N (2011) A clinical review of cerebral vasospasm and delayed ischaemia following aneurysm rupture. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110(Pt 1):5–6
- Gura M, Elmaci I, Sari R, Coskun N (2011) Correlation of pulsatility index with intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury. Turk Neurosurg 21:210–215
- Kassell NF, Peerless SJ, Durward QJ, Beck DW, Drake CG, Adams HP (1982) Treatment of ischemic deficits from vasospasm with intravascular volume expansion and induced arterial hypertension. Neurosurgery 11:337–343
- Kincaid MS, Souter MJ, Treggiari MM, Yanez ND, Anne Moore A, Lam AM (2009) Accuracy of transcranial Doppler ultrasonography and single-photon emission computed tomography in the diagnosis of angiographically demonstrated cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosurg 110:67–72
- Lindegaard KF, Nornes H, Bakke SJ, Sorteberg W, Nakstad P (1988) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage investigated by means of transcranial Doppler ultrasound. Acta Neurochir Suppl 42:81–84
- 16. Ling G, Bandak F, Armonda R, Grant G, Ecklund J (2009) Explosive blast neurotrauma. J Neurotrauma 26(6):815–825
- Melo JR, Di Rocco F, Blanot S, Cuttaree H, Sainte-Rose C, Oliveira-Filho J, Zerah M, Meyer PG (2011) Transcranial Doppler can predict intracranial hypertension in children with severe traumatic brain injuries. Childs Nerv Syst 27:979–984
- Obrist WD, Langfitt TW, Jaqqi JL, Cruz J, Gennarelli T (1984) Cerebral blood flow and metabolism in comatose patients with acute head injury. Relationship to intracranial hypertension. J Neurosurg 61:241–253
- Oertel M, Boscardin WJ, Obrist WD, Glenn TC, McArthur DL, Gravori T, Lee JH, Martin NA (2005) Posttraumatic vasospasm: the epidemiology, severity, and time course of an underestimated phenomenon: a prospective study performed in 299 patients. J Neurosurg 103:812–824
- Sloan MA, Rigamonti D, Wozniak MA, Aldrich EF, Acosta JA, Shotts P, Jones D, Macko RF (1994) Prevalence of anterior circulation vasospasm: a transcranial Doppler study. Stroke 25:744
- 21. Washington CW, Zipfel GJ, The Participants in the International Multi-Disciplinary Consensus Conference on the Critical Care management of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (2011) Detection and monitoring of vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia: a review and assessment of the literature. Neurocrit Care 15:312–317

Removal of Clots in Subarachnoid Space Could Reduce the Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Paulo H. Pires de Aguiar, Icaro Barros, Bernardo L. Paiva, and Renata F. Simm

Abstract *Background*: Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. We studied the effects of clot removal on multiple outcome variables following the clipping of ruptured anterior communicating aneurysms.

Methods: From 2007 to 2011, 30 patients with Fisher grade III aneurysmal SAH underwent clipping of an anterior communicating artery aneurysm before SAH day 3. There were 20 women and 10 men, mean age 53.4, range 28–80 years. Seventeen underwent fenestration of lamina terminalis and cisternal removal of clots (group A), and 13 did not (Group B). We compared clinical grades, presence of hydrocephalus at admission, treatment modality, occurrence of clinical vasospasm, the need for interventional vasospasm therapy, and need for ventriculoperitoneal shunting.

Findings: Vasospasm affected 5 of 17 (29%) in group A and 8 of 13 (61.5%) in group B (p<0.05). Endovascular treatment for vasospasm was required in one patient in group A (5.8% of 17, 20% of 5) and in five from group B (38.4% of 13, 62.5% of 8) (p<0.05). Mortality was observed in one case in group A (5.8% of 17, 20% of 5) and in two cases in group B (15.3% of 13, 25% of 8) and was related to vasospasm after SAH. Ventriculoperitonal shunt (VPS) was required in one case in group A (5.8%) and in five cases in group B (38.4%).

Conclusions: Fenestration of the lamina terminalis and removal of cisternal clots significantly decreased the incidence of post-SAH hydrocephalus and was associated with better outcomes in our series.

B.L. Paiva, M.D., and R.F. Simm, M.D.

Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Neurology,

Santa Paula Hospital, Av. Santo Amaro, 2468, São Paulo, Brazil

Keyword Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Vasospasm • Cerebral aneurysms • Cisternal irrigation • Lamina terminalis fenestration

Introduction

Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality [1]. Many studies have shown that subarachnoid clot thickness is an important factor in the development of vasospasm, and several authors demonstrated that rapid clot removal, lamina terminalis and Liliequist membrane fenestration, as well as cisternal irrigation reduce the incidence of cerebral vasospasm [1–6]. Experiments in monkeys also showed that removal of cisternal clots avoided severe vasospasm [7].

Many papers have been published suggesting that fenestration of the lamina terminalis during aneurysm surgery in patients with SAH may improve outcome and may decrease the rate of ventriculoperitoneal shunting for post-SAH hydrocephalus and incidence of vasospasm [5, 6, 8]. Studies have shown that the incidences of vasospasm and post-SAH hydrocephalus are proportional to the amount of blood in the subarachnoid spaces, occurring mostly in patients with a Fisher grade 3 SAH [9]. Anterior communicating artery aneurysms are associated with the highest incidence of hydrocephalus, vasospasm, and poor outcomes among anterior circulation aneurysms. The lamina terminalis, anatomically related to the anterior communicating artery complex, is always exposed during the surgical approach to this area. The presence of clots and hydrocephalus may be treated by microsurgically removing the clots and fenestrating the lamina terminalis, especially in patients with Fisher grade 3 SAH, who are more susceptible to poor prognosis. This is a safe and easy adjuvant operative procedure.

P.H.P. de Aguiar, M.D.(), I. Barros, M.D.,

Intensive Care Unit, Department of Neurology, Santa Paula Hospital, São Paulo, Brazil e-mail: phapaneurocir@gmail.com

Materials and Methods

From 2007 to 2011, 30 Fisher grade 3 patients underwent clipping of anterior communicating artery aneurysm before SAH day 3. There were 20 women and 10 men, mean age 53.4, range 28–80 years. Seventeen patients underwent fenestration of the lamina terminalis and removal of cisternal clots (group A), and 13 did not (Group B).

The records about clinical grades, presence of hydrocephalus at admission, treatment modality, occurrence of clinical vasospasm, the need for interventional vasospasm therapy, and the need for ventriculoperitoneal shunting were reviewed and analyzed. Patients in group A underwent removal of clots in the sylvian and opticocarotid cisterns. Routine transcranial Doppler studies were performed on all patients from SAH days 1 through to 20. Interventional neuroradiological procedures were performed according to the severity of symptoms and in patients with a Lindengaard score greater than 6.

Results

All aneurysms in both groups were clipped. Both groups were similar regarding age and Hunt-Hess scores. Vasospasm affected 5 of 17 (29%) in group A and 8 of 13 (61.5%) in group B (p<0.05). After surgical clipping, endovascular treatment for vasospasm was required in one patient in group A (5.8% of 17, 20% of 5) and in five in group B (38.4% of 13, 62.5% of 8) (p<0.05). Mortality was observed in one case in group A (5.8% of 17, 20% of 5) and in two cases in group B (15.3% of 13, 25% of 8). All deaths were related to vasospasm. Ventriculoperitonal shunt (VPS) was required in one case in group A (5.8%) and in five cases in group B (38.4%). The results are summarized in Table 20.1.

Discussion

Insufficient clot clearance in the sylvian cistern is likely to increase the occurrence of severe vasospasm and infarction [1]. Cisternal drainage has been proposed as a mechanism to

reduce the incidence of vasospasm and the frequency of hydrocephalus and cerebral vasospasm, which are associated in almost 60% of cases [10, 11].

Decreased rates of cerebral vasospasm and improved outcomes were observed by means of cisternal drainage or fenestration of the lamina terminalis with or without the additional fenestration of the membrane of Liliequist and removal of clots [3, 5, 6, 8, 12, 13]. The proposed mechanism is a reduction in the concentration of blood-derived spasmogenic agents in the cerebrospinal fluid surrounding the basal brain arteries. Continuous cisternal irrigation may lead to clearance of blood volumes of up to 100 ml/day and hemoglobin of up to 1 g/day. Furthermore, a drainage volume-dependent effect has been demonstrated. A very high incidence of VPS (up to 48% in some series) [12] and infection rates of up to 9% [3] have also been noted with the use of this approach. Cisternal irrigation with urokinase in patients with SAH Fisher 3 or 4 was proven to reduce the incidence of vasospasm [4]. The rates of symptomatic and angiographic vasospasm were reduced when meticulous surgical toilette of the basal cisterns, fenestration of the lamina terminalis, and insertion of a continuous cisternal lavage system with or without fibrinolytic agents (chiefly urokinase) were employed [3, 12–14].

A third ventriculostomy through the lamina terminalis to establish an internal cisternal drainage mechanism has been proposed [5]. This physiopathological mechanism would then bypass obstructions of the ventricular system and provide a continuous irrigation mechanism generated by the cerebrospinal fluid pulse pressure, consequently improving cerebrospinal fluid dynamics and reducing concentrations of blood-derived spasmogenic substances. Using this approach, European authors [5, 6] reduced shunting rates and improved outcomes when compared with a normal control group. This effect can be amplified if a microsurgical fenestration of the membrane of Liliequist also is performed [5].

To initiate early triple H (hypertensive, hypervolemic, and hemodilution) therapy in patients with vasospasm after SAH, we perform surgery before SAH day 3. The opportunity to remove cisternal clots and fenestrate the lamina terminalis and Liliequist membrane is considered in the early surgical approach, either before or after aneurysm clipping.

In our series, vasospasm developed in 61.5% of patients who did not undergo lamina terminalis fenestration and in 29% who had fenestration and removal of clots (p < 0.05).

Table 20.1 Results of the group of patients after SAH treated surgically with fenestration of lamina terminalis and removal of clots both with and without

	Vasospasm diagnosis	Endovascular intervention	Ventriculoperitoneal shunt	Death and disability
Group A, $N=17$	5 (29%)	1 (5.8%/17.2%)	1 (5.8%, 17.2%)	1 (5.8%/17.2%)
Group B, $N=13$	8 (61.5%)	5 (38.4%/62.5%)	5 (38.4%, 62.5%)	2 (15.3%/25%)
	<i>p</i> <0.05	<i>p</i> <0.05	<i>p</i> <0.05	<i>p</i> <0.05

We observed a decreased need for multiple interventional neuroradiology sessions for clinical vasospasm in patients undergoing fenestration of the lamina terminalis. Other authors published similar results previously [2, 15]. Better outcomes were also statistically more likely compared to the nonfenestration group. Previously suggested potential benefits of fenestration of the lamina terminalis and removal of clots, including reduction of the incidence of vasospasm, are proven.

Conclusion

Fenestration of the lamina terminalis and cisternal clot removal significantly decreased the incidence of post-SAH hydrocephalus and were associated with better outcomes in our series. They are safe and effective microsurgical maneuvers that can be used during the surgical treatment of anterior communicating artery aneurysms.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Toyoda T, Ohta T, Kin T, Tanishima T (2008) Clot-clearance rate in the sylvian cistern is associated with severity of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:305–307
- Andaluz N, Tomsick TA, Tew JM Jr, van Loveren HR, Yeh HS, Zucarello M (2002) Indications for endovascular therapy for refractory vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage experience at University of Cincinnati. Surg Neurol 58:131–138
- Sakaki S, Ohta S, Kuwabara H, Shiraishi M (1987) The role of ventricular and cisternal drainage in early operation for ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 88:87–94

- 4. Sasaki T, Kodama N, Kawakami M, Sato M, Asari J, Sakurai Y, Watanabe K, Onuma T, Matsuda T (2000) Urokinase cisternal irrigation therapy for prevention of symptomatic vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a study of urokinase concentration and the fibrinolytic system. Stroke 31:1256–1262
- Sindou M (1994) Favourable influence of opening the lamina terminalis and Lilliequist's membrane on the outcome of ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a study of 197 consecutive cases. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 127:15–16
- Tomasello F, DÁvella D, de Divitiis O (1999) Does lamina terminalis fenestration reduce the incidence of chronic hydrocephalus after subarachnoid hemorrhage? Neurosurgery 45:827–831
- Zhang DU, Yamini B, Komuro T, Ono S, Johns L, Marton L, Bryce W, Macdonald RL (2001) Vasospasm in monkeys resolves because of loss and encasement of subarachnoid blood clot. Stroke 32:1862–1874
- Komotar RJ, Olivi A, Rigamonti D, Tamargo RJ (2002) Microsurgical fenestration of the lamina terminalis reduces the incidence of shunt-dependent hydrocephalus after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 51:1403–1412
- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM (1980) Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. Neurosurgery 6:1–9
- Black PM (1986) Hydrocephalus and vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Neurosurgery 18:12–16
- Kolluri VR, Sengupta RP (1984) Symptomatic hydrocephalus following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol 21:402–404
- Inagawa T, Kamiya K, Matsuda Y (1991) Effect of continuous cisternal drainage on cerebral vasospasm. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 112:28–36
- Kodama N, Matsumoto M, Sasaki T, Konno Y, Sato T (2001) Cisternal irrigation therapy with urokinase and ascorbic acid for prevention of vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:171–174
- Hayashi Y, Kai Y, Mohri M, Uchiyama N, Hamada JI (2008) Microcatheter intrathecal urokinase infusion into cisterna magna for prevention of cerebral vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:321–324
- Andaluz N, Zucarello M (2003) Fenestration of the lamina terminalis reduces vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage from anterior communicating artery aneurysms. In: Macdonald RL (ed) Cerebral vasospasm: advances in research and treatment. Thieme, New York, pp 263–266

Effect of Lumbar Puncture in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Treated Microsurgically or Endovascularly

Ibrahim O. Akinci, A. Sencer, A. Basel, Y. Aras, A. Aydoseli, C. Kamar, E. Güresti, S. Sencer, K. Aydın, N. Izgi, and Talat Kiris

Abstract *Objective*: The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of treatment modality (surgical clipping vs. endovascular coiling) and lumbar puncture (LP) in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) based on neurologic status on admission and clinical outcome.

Patients and methods: One hundred forty-eight consecutive patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms treated via endovascular or surgical methods were included in our study. Patients who refused further therapy or received only supportive therapy because of bad neurologic status were excluded. Severity of SAH was evaluated using the Fisher score. World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) and Hunt and Hess (H&H) scores were used for evaluation of neurologic status. Glasgow Outcome Scale scores and modified Rankin scores were used for outcome evaluation.

Results: We found that modified Rankin scores were significantly lower in the surgical clipping group (1.1 ± 1.4) than in the endovascular coiling group (1.7 ± 1.8) (*p*: 0.04). The positive lumbar puncture [LP(+)] group had similar outcome scores as the negative lumbar puncture [LP(-)] group, although the LP(+) group had worse initial SAH evaluation scores (WFNS $1.64 \pm 0.95 - 1.23 \pm 0.61$, *p*: 0.0004 and H&H $2.18 \pm 1.07 - 1.65 \pm 0.88$, *p*: 0.001).

Conclusion: Surgical clipping might improve clinical outcome better than endovascular coiling, although a more

S. Sencer and K. Aydın Department of Radiology, Istanbul University, Istanbul Medical Faculty, Capa, Istanbul, Turkey confident conclusion requires absolute randomization of patients for both treatments. LP could also improve clinical outcome in patients with high initial SAH evaluation scores.

Keyword Intracranial aneurysm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Lumbar puncture • Cerebral vasospasm • Clipping • Coiling

Introduction

Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) due to vasospasm is still a major problem after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). Despite significant achievements in research of vasospasm management, like magnesium sulfate, statins, endothelin 1 receptor antagonists, and administration of intra-arterial vasoactive agents like papaverine or angioplasty, only nimodipine has shown a modest improvement in functional outcome [1]. Estimated incidence of cerebral vasospasm after SAH is between 16% and 71%, depending on the definition used [2-4]. While angiographic vasospasm occurs in 21-53% of patients, clinical vasospasm is observed only in 17-21% of patients [2-5]. Effective treatment strategies need to be formulated for preventing or reversing this devastating condition due to delayed cerebral vasospasm. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage for vasospasm after treatment of the ruptured aneurysm has been used by some investigators [6-8]. The better outcome of these patients may be related to the reduction of blood degradation products and inflammatory mediator levels in CSF due to continuous spinal or intraventricular drainage. CSF volume reduction by lumbar punctures (LPs) may also play a role by lowering the intracranial pressure and increasing the cerebral perfusion pressure.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of treatment modality (surgical clipping vs. endovascular coiling) and LP in aSAH patients based on neurologic status, initial SAH evaluation scores on admission, and clinical outcome.

I.O. Akinci (🖾), A. Basel, C. Kamar, and E. Güresti Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Istanbul University, Istanbul Medical Faculty, Capa, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: iozkana@yahoo.com

A. Sencer, Y. Aras, A. Aydoseli, N. Izgi, and T. Kiris (⊠) Department of Neurosurgery, Istanbul University, Istanbul Medical Faculty, Capa Klinikleri, 34390 Capa, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: talatkrs@gmail.com

Methods

Patients who were admitted to the Istanbul Medical Faculty neurointensive care unit (ICU) for treatment of aSAH between January 2007 and April 2011 were included in the study. All patients were treated by either surgical clipping or endovascular coiling and had continued follow-up in the neuro-ICU. Permission to use patients' clinical data was obtained from either the patient or the closest relative. Patients with SAH who refused further therapy or had incidental aneurysms without SAH and patients in very poor condition (high Word Federation of Neurosurgical Societies [WFNS] scores of 5 with low Glasgow Coma Scale [GCS] score less than 4) whose aneurysms had not been treated were excluded from the study.

All patients' WFNS and Fisher scores and Hunt and Hess (H&H) grades were recorded on admission to the ICU, and their systolic blood pressures were kept under 140 mmHg until their aneurysms were secured. Nimodipine, anticonvulsive, analgesic, and fluid replacement therapies (100 ml/h 0.09% NaCl) were also started immediately as routine treatment of SAH. The choice between microsurgical clipping and endovascular coiling was collaboratively discussed by the neurosurgeons and interventional neuroradiologists. The optimal method of aneurysm treatment on a patient-to-patient basis was proposed to the patient and relatives after discussion. The aneurysm was then treated as soon as possible after completing all other investigations in the early stage. After the aneurysm was secured, systolic blood pressure was left to progress normally until reaching 200 mmHg. Hydration and hypertension (HH) therapy and CSF drainage with LP were started liberally due to at least the two of the following findings or clinicians' decision: headache, agitation, elevated leukocyte level (without infection), new motor deficit, and worsening GCS score. Patients were also evaluated due to (1) diagnosis of clinical vasospasm, which was diagnosed according to the existence of three signs (headache, neurological deficit, and worsening) (>2) at GCS score; (2) mortality; (3) modified Rankin score; (4) Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) score after ICU discharge. Secondary outcomes included length of ICU stay.

All results are shown in mean and standard deviation. A chi-square test was used for mortality and vasospasm evaluation between groups, and the nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for other statistical evaluations.

Results

We have evaluated 148 of 350 consecutive patients with ruptured aneurysms since January 2007. All patients' aneurysms were secured either endovascularly or surgically. All patients were treated in the neuro-ICU. Patients' demographic data

Table 1	Demographic data
---------	------------------

51. 51.1±10.6
93F/55M
1.4 ± 0.8
2.3 ± 1.0
1.9 ± 1.0
16.6±11.5
66.0%
31.0%
68.9% (102)
33.7% (50)
2.7% (4)
4.5 ± 1.1
1.3 ± 1.6
5.4% (8)
148

WFNS World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies score, H&H Hunt and Hess, *HH* hydration and hypertension, *GOS* Glasgow Outcome Scale score, *n* number of patients

Tab	le 2	Aneury	/sm	locations
IUN		runcur	v om	rocations

	Clipping	Coiling	
ACoA	41	24	
MCA	48	10	
ICA	18	15	
Basilar A.	1	5	
PICA	3	0	
n	111	54	

ACoA anterior communicating artery, MCA middle cerebral artery, ICA internal carotid artery, PICA posterior inferior cerebellar artery

and their aneurysm locations are shown in Tables 1 and 2, respectively. According to our criteria, 46 of the 148 patients demonstrated clinical vasospasm. While 29 of them were in the clipping group, and the other 17 were in the coiling group (Table 3). HH therapy and CSF drainage with LP were started more liberally, to 99/148 and 65/148 patients, respectively, due to at least the two of the following findings: headache, agitation, elevated leukocyte level (without infection), new motor deficit, and worsening of GCS score or clinicians' decision. Although the mortality rate was higher in the coiling group, there was no statistical difference in both groups. Modified Rankin score was significantly higher in the coiling group as a morbidity measure.

When we divided our patients into two groups based on LP performed (LP+) and no LP performed during the treatment period (LP-), we saw that the LP(+) group's initial neurologic and radiologic evaluation scores were significantly higher than the LP(-) group. Although during follow-up the DCI ratio and HH therapy ratios were significantly higher in the LP(+) group, both groups' outcome scores were similar (Table 4).

Table 3 Groups according to treatment choice: surgical clipping or endovascular coiling

	Clipping	Coiling	р
Age	50.5 ± 10.7	52.6 ± 10.1	0.22
Gender	64F/38M	30F/20M	
WFNS	1.4 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.7	0.78
Fisher	2.3 ± 1.0	2.2 ± 0.9	0.70
H&H	1.9 ± 1.0	1.7 ± 0.9	0.25
ICU stay	17.6±11.5	14.9 ± 11.7	0.28
Clinical vasospasm	28.4% (29)	34.0% (17)	0.55
Modified Rankin	1.1 ± 1.4	1.7 ± 1.8	0.04
GOS	4.6±0.9	4.3 ± 1.3	0.13
Mortality	2.9% (3)	10.0% (5)	0.06 odds 0.27
n	102	50	

WFNS World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies score, *H&H* Hunt and Hess, *GOS* Glasgow Outcome Scale score, *n* number of patients

Table 4 Groups according to lumbar puncture treatment

	LP(+)	LP(-)	р
Clip/Coil	41/23	57/27	
WFNS	1.64 ± 0.95	1.23 ± 0.61	0.0004
H&H grade	2.18 ± 1.07	1.65 ± 0.88	0.001
Fisher	2.60 ± 0.84	2.02 ± 1.04	0.0002
Clinical vasospasm	46.87% (30/64)	15.47% (13/84)	< 0.0001
HH (%)	90.62% (58/64)	48.80% (41/84)	< 0.0001
ICU stay	17.90 ± 11.02	15.62 ± 11.76	0.31
GOS	4.28 ± 1.33	4.65 ± 0.88	0.10
Modified Rankin	1.56 ± 1.76	1.12 ± 1.39	0.12
Mortality	7.81% (5/64)	3.57% (3/84)	0.25
n	64	84	

p nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test, *WFNS* World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies score, *H&H* Hunt and Hess, *HH* hydration and hypertension, *GOS* Glasgow Outcome Scale score, n number of patients

Discussion

We found that surgical clipping might improve clinical outcome better than endovascular coiling, and LP could also improve clinical outcome in patients with high evaluation grades after SAH. This may be due to the cleaning of the subarachnoid cisternas from blood clots and blood lysis products during surgery. Serial LPs may also act in a similar way.

Despite a number of clinical trials, little progress has been achieved and understood about vasospasm and DCI after aSAH. Although, many treatment approaches were used to reduce angiographic vasospasm after a SAH and improve clinical outcome, vasodilation was not enough to improve clinical outcome by itself. Many other controversial factors, such as endothelial cell proliferation and nitric oxide depletion, play a role in neuroprotection and clinical outcome. There is almost a consensus on the direct relationship between increasing amount of clot and more severe vasospasm and worse outcome. Therefore, clearance of blood from the subarachnoid space would decrease the inflammation at least regionally in the brain and improve clinical outcome. In our study, surgical clipping with irrigation of the subarachnoid space with as much blood cleansing as possible may have improved the modified Rankin score more significantly than endovascular coiling.

Research on the cerebral vasospasm pathophysiology has been centered on arterial narrowing, which is initiated by blood lysis in the subarachnoid space. Factors that have been implicated in this process include oxyhemoglobin, iron, nitrous oxide, endothelins, intracellular adhesion molecule 1, vascular endothelial growth factor, and arachidonic acid derivatives. Fibrinolytic agents such as urokinase and recombinant tissue plasminogen activator(rt-PA) have been tested in many studies. In a multicenter randomized trial [9], Findlay and coworkers showed that intraoperative rt-PA injection in patients with thick SAH decreased the relative risk of vasospasm up to 56% in comparison with the control group. Although Kodama et al. showed the beneficial effect of a thrombolytic in a large series, such treatment has not yet become widely incorporated into current clinical treatment strategies. However, it is widely accepted that more blood in the subarachnoid space increases DCI and causes a worse clinical outcome. Similarly, as shown by Klimo et al. [6] and Ochiai et al. [7], cleaning the subarachnoid space from blood and blood lysis products by lumbar CSF drainage improves clinical outcome. In a recently published pilot study, they showed that there is no difference in vasospasm between continuous and intermittent LP [10]. We performed intermittent LP in a selected group of patients, while the clearance of CSF from blood and its lytic products was facilitated, transmural tension on cerebral vessels also increased, so that cerebral perfusion increased while consciousness increased. Existing agitation and delirious mental status also resolved in 30% of patients treated with LPs. While we were reaching similar outcome results in LP(+) and LP(-) groups, neurologic status and severity of SAH were significantly worse in the LP(+) group. There was a three times higher incidence of clinical vasospasm in the LP(+) group, and HH therapy was also performed in 90% of this group, but these invasive treatment strategies did not cause any additional increase in the ICU stay.

Conclusion

One of the major limitations of our study about SAH management is that it does not represent management results of patients with all kinds of aSAH. First, we included only neuro-ICU patients in our study who needed intensive care treatment after SAH. Second, we included only surgically treated patients (either open microsurgery or endovascular surgery). Third, those with incidentally found aneurysms without SAH and patients in very poor condition (high WFNS value of 5 with low GCS <4) whose aneurysms had not been treated were excluded from our study. Also, patient selection (for microsurgical or endovascular therapy) might explain the seemingly more favorable results of microsurgical therapy. Larger series are needed to show the beneficial effect of microsurgery on clinical vasospasm, if there is any, and serial LPs may have an improving effect on clinical vasospasm in selected patients.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

- Dorhout Mees SM, Rinkel GJ, Feigin VL et al (2007) Calcium antagonists for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 18(3):CD000277
- Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM et al (2009) Defining vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: what is the most clinically relevant definition? Stroke 40(6):1963–1968

- Rabinstein AA, Friedman JA, Weigand SD et al (2004) Predictors of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 35(8):1862–1866
- Dupont SA, Wijdicks EFM, Manno EM, Lanzino G, Rabinstein AA (2009) Prediction of angiographic vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: value of the Hijdrasum scoring system. Neurocrit Care 11(2):172–176
- Frontera JA, Claassen J, Schmidt JM et al (2006) Prediction of symptomatic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the modified fisher scale. Neurosurgery 59(1):21–27
- Klimo P Jr, Kestle JRW, MacDonald JD, Schmidt RH (2004) Marked reduction of cerebral vasospasm with lumbar drainage of cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 100:215–224
- Ochiai H, Yamakava Y (2001) Continuous lumber drainage for the perioperative management of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 41:576–581
- Sencer A, Kiris T (2006) Recent advances in surgical and intensive care management of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28(4):415–423
- Findlay JM, Kassell NF, Weir BK et al (1995) A randomized trial of intraoperative, intracisternal tissue plasminogen activator for the prevention of vasospasm. Neurosurgery 37:168–178
- Kim GS, Amato A, James ML, Britz GW, Zomorodi A, Graffagnino C, Zomorodi M, Olson DaiWai M (2011) Continuous and intermittent CSF diversion after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a pilot study. Neurocrit Care 14(1):68–72

Effect of Aneurysm Treatment Modalities on Cerebral Vasospasm After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Hidenori Suzuki, Waro Taki, and Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment (PRESAT) Group

Abstract *Introduction*: It is still controversial if the selection of treatment modality (clip or coil) affects cerebral vasospasm development following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Materials and Methods: We enrolled 579 SAH patients in the Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment project, and these patients were treated either microsurgically or endovascularly within 12 days of onset. The incidence of vasospasm was compared between patients treated with clipping and coiling.

Results: Clipping (282 patients) was preferably performed for small aneurysms with a wide neck or middle cerebral artery aneurysms and was followed by cerebrospinal fluid drainage; coiling (297 patients) was preferred for older patients, larger, internal carotid artery and posterior circulation aneurysms, or treatment during a nonacute stage and more frequently followed by antithrombotic treatment. Univariate analyses showed that vasospasminduced cerebral infarct occurred more frequently in clipped patients than in coiled patients, but this difference disappeared after multivariate analyses. Higher incidence of vasospasm-induced cerebral infarct after clipping was explained by the fact that clipping was selected more for the ruptured middle cerebral artery aneurysm with massive SAH or hematoma, in which vasospasm more frequently occurred.

Conclusions: Treatment modalities (clip or coil) may not significantly affect the incidence of vasospasm.

Keywords Cerebral aneurysm • Cerebral vasospasm • Endovascular treatment • Microsurgery • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Hiroshi Sakaida, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu), Masayuki Maeda, MD, PhD (Department of Radiology, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu), Hiroshi Nagai, MD, PhD (Foundation for Biomedical Research and Innovation Translational Research Informatics Center, Kobe); Neuroimaging Review Committee: Kimihiko Kichikawa, MD, PhD (Department of Radiology, Nara Medical University, Kashihara), Akihiro Uemura, MD, PhD (Department of Radiology, St. Luke's International Hospital, Chuo-ku), Yuji Numaguchi, MD, PhD (Department of Radiology, St. Luke's International Hospital, Chuo-ku), Suketaka Momoshima, MD, PhD (Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Keio University School of Medicine, Shinjuku-ku), Sachio Kuribayashi, MD, PhD (Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Keio University School of Medicine, Shinjuku-ku), Chiaki Sakai, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Kobe City Medical Center General Hospital, Kobe); Participating Centers and Investigators: Department of Neurosurgery, Nakamura Memorial Hospital, Sapporo (Toshio Hyogo, Taketo Kataoka), Department of Endovascular Neurosurgery, International Medical Center of Saitama Medical University, Hidaka (Shoichiro Ishihara), Department of Neurosurgery, Chiba Emergency Medical Center,

PRESAT group in Japan: Principal Investigator: Waro Taki, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu); Vice-principal Investigator: Nobuyuki Sakai, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Kobe City Medical Center General Hospital, Kobe); Organizing and Protocol Committee: Akio Hyodo, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Ryukyu University Hospital, Naha), Shigeru Nemoto, MD, PhD (Department of Endovascular Surgery, Jichi Medical University Hospital, Utsunomiya), Toshio Hyogo, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Nakamura Memorial Hospital, Sapporo), Tomoaki Terada, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Wakayama Rosai Hospital, Wakayama), Kouichi Satoh, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Tokushima Red Cross Hospital, Tokushima), Naoya Kuwayama, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Toyama University Hospital, Toyama), Shigeru Miyachi, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Nagoya University Hospital, Nagoya), Masaki Komiyama, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Osaka City General Hospital, Osaka), Masayuki Ezura, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Sendai Medical Center, Sendai), Yuichi Murayama, MD, PhD (Department of Neurosurgery, Jikei University School of Medicine, Minato-ku),

H. Suzuki, M.D., Ph.D. (🖂) and W. Taki, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, 2-174 Edobashi, Tsu, Mie 514-8507, Japan e-mail: suzuki02@clin.medic.mie-u.ac.jp

Chiba (Yorio Koguchi, Shigeki Kobayashi), Department of Neurosurgery, Graduate School of Medicine, Gifu University, Gifu (Yukiko Enomoto, Kiyofumi Yamada, Shinichi Yoshimura), Department of Neuroendovascular Therapy, Kohnan Hospital, Sendai (Yasushi Matsumoto), Department of Neurosurgery, Kurume University Hospital, Kurume (Masaru Hirohata), Department of Neurosurgery, Kobe City Medical Center General Hospital, Kobe (Nobuyuki Sakai, Hidemitsu Adachi, Yasushi Ueno, Takeharu Kunieda, Chiaki Sakai, Hiroshi Yamagami, Hirotoshi Imamura, Masaomi Koyanagi, Kenichi Todo, Shiro Yamamoto, Yoji Kuramoto), Department of Neurosurgery, National Hospital Organization Mito Medical Center, Ibaraki (Makoto Sonobe, Noriyuki Kato), Department of Neurological Surgery, Nihon University School of Medicine, Itabashi-ku (Teruyasu Hirayama, Tsuneo Kano), Department of Neurosurgery, Geriatrics Research Institute and Hospital, Maebashi (Isao Naito), Department of Neurosurgery, Tokushima University Hospital, Tokushima (Shunji Matsubara, Junichiro Satomi, Koichi Satoh), Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu (Hidekazu Hamada, Naoki Toma, Fumio Asakura, Hidenori Suzuki, Hiroshi Sakaida, Satoshi Matsushima, Waro Taki), Department of Neurosurgery, Wakayama Rosai Hospital, Wakayama (Tomoaki Terada), Department of Neuroendovascular Therapy, Sagamihara Kyodo Hospital, Sagamihara (Tadashi Shibuya), Department of Neurosurgery, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Bunkyo-ku (Hidenori Oishi), Department of Neurosurgery, Tachikawa General Hospital, Nagaoka (Hiroshi Abe), Department of Neurosurgery, Kyorin University School of Medicine, Mitaka (Yoshifumi Konishi, Eishi Sato), Department of Neurosurgery, Hyogo

Introduction

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a common and devastating neurological disorder [1]. Treatment requires early aneurysm repair to prevent rebleeding and intensive medical care to manage the associated problems, including cerebral vasospasm, which remains a major cause of morbidity and mortality after SAH [2]. The International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT), the only multicenter, randomized clinical trial comparing neurosurgical clipping and endovascular coiling, has had a dramatic impact on the management of aneurysmal SAH by showing that coiling had better 1-year outcomes than clipping, resulting in an increase in the proportion of patients undergoing endovascular coiling [3, 4]. However, effects of aneurysm treatment modality (clipping or coiling) on the incidence of cerebral vasospasm have not been clearly defined.

Materials and Methods

Patient and Clinical Variables

This is a prospective cohort study (Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment) performed at 29 tertiary referral centers in Japan (listed in the footnote), which Brain and Heart Center at Himeji, Himeji (Mitsugu Nakamura), Department of Neurosurgery, Kitazato University School of Medicine, Sagami (Akira Kurata), Department of Neurosurgery, Dokkyo Medicine University Koshigaya Hospital, Koshigaya (Katsumi Houya, Takanori Uchida, Akio Hyodo), Department of Neurosurgery, Kokura Memorial Hospital, Kitakyushu (Ichiro Nakahara, Toshio Higashi, Nozomi Murai, Yasushi Iwamuro, Yoshihiko Watanabe, Hideaki Nakagaki, Masahiro Takezawa, Daiki Murata), Department of Neurosurgery, Osaka City General Hospital, Osaka (Masaki Komiyama), Department of Neurosurgery, Jikei University School of Medicine, Minato-ku (Yuichi Murayama, Toshihiro Ishibashi, Takayuki Saguchi, Masaki Ebara, Hideki Arakawa, Koreaki Irie), Interventional Neuroradiology Center, Aizawa Hospital, Matsumoto (Hisashi Nagashima), Department of Neurosurgery, University of Toyama, Toyama (Naoya Kuwayama), Department of Neurological Surgery, Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Okayama (Kenji Sugiu, Koji Tokunaga, Ayumi Nishida), Endovascular Neurosurgery, Jichi Medical University Hospital, Shimotsuke (Katsunori Nanba, Shigeru Nemoto), Department of Neurosurgery, Fukuoka University Chikushi Hospital, Chikushino (Masanori Tsutsumi, Kiyoshi Kazekawa), Department of Endovascular Neurosurgery, Toranomon Hospital, Minato-ku (Mikito Hayakawa, Yuji Matsumaru); Data Center and Statistical Analysis: Foundation for Biomedical Research and Innovation Translational Research Informatics Center, Kobe (Yoshihiro Matsubavashi, Tomomi Sakabayashi, Keiko Miyakoda, Wataru Oohashi, Masaki Sano, Emiko Uno, Makiko Toyooka, Kaori Kuronaka, Kazuro Sakamoto, Hiroshi Nagai, Masanori Fukushima).

provided both microsurgical clipping and endovascular coiling, depending on the characteristics of each case, between March 2006 and February 2007. The study was approved by the institutional ethics committee. Seven hundred and sixty SAH patients reached the centers, and 614 patients met the following inclusion criteria: older than 20 years of age at onset, SAH on computed tomographic (CT) scans or lumbar puncture, saccular aneurysm as the cause of SAH confirmed on three-dimensional CT angiography (3D-CTA) or digital subtraction angiography (DSA), and aneurysmal obliteration by clipping or coiling within 14 days of onset. Excluded from the study were patients with ruptured fusiform, dissecting, traumatic, mycotic, and arteriovenous malformationrelated aneurysms or SAH of unknown etiology and patients who were treated using medical instruments or drugs that were not approved by the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare; thus, none of the patients in this series were treated with nimodipine, surface-modified or bioactive coils, or intracranial stents. There were 26 patients who did not give written informed consent. Therefore, the remaining 588 patients were registered to the data center within 2 days of the initial treatment. Timing of aneurysmal obliteration, selection of clipping or coiling, and other medical management or treatment were decided by site investigators and not limited.

Baseline demographic and clinical data included age, gender, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grade on admission [5], Fisher CT group on admission [6], interval from ictus to aneurysmal obliteration, modality used for aneurysmal obliteration, and location and size of the ruptured aneurysm. The aneurysms were classified into four groups: small size/small neck, small size/wide neck, large, and giant. Small-size/small-neck aneurysms were defined as aneurysms having a maximum aneurysmal diameter (*A*) less than 10 mm, neck size (*N*) less than 4 mm, and $A/N \ge 1.5$; the small-size/wide-neck aneurysms were set as A < 10 mm, $N \ge 4$ mm, and A/N < 1.5; large aneurysms were set as $A \ge 10$ mm but <25 mm; and giant aneurysms were those with $A \ge 25$ mm.

Data on other treatments and complications included cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage, antiplatelet administration, endovascular therapy for vasospasm, symptomatic vasospasm, and vasospasm-induced cerebral infarction. Ventricular, cisternal, or spinal CSF drainage was established to control acute hydrocephalus or to promote subarachnoid blood clearance. Antiplatelets were administered to prevent overthrombosis after coiling or to prevent symptomatic vasospasm. Symptomatic vasospasm was defined as otherwise unexplained clinical deterioration (i.e., a new focal deficit, decrease in the level of consciousness, or both) or a new infarct on CT that was not visible on admission or immediate postoperative scan (vasospasm-induced cerebral infarction) or both. Other potential causes of clinical deterioration, such as hydrocephalus, rebleeding, or seizures, were rigorously excluded. Determination of these complications was made at each center, and the organizing and protocol committee qualified them [7].

Outcome was blindly assessed using modified Rankin Scale (mRS) [8] at 3 and 12 months post-SAH.

Statistics

Categorical variables were reported as a proportion and percentile and were analyzed using chi-square or Fisher's exact test, as appropriate. Continuous variables were reported as a mean plus or minus standard deviation and compared using unpaired t test. The impact of each variable on vasospasminduced cerebral infarction was determined by multivariate unconditional logistic regression analyses using the dichotomous status (presence or absence) as the dependent variable. All variables were considered independent variables irrespective of the significance on univariate analysis, although only the variable with the smallest probability value was used as a candidate variable among similar clinical variables that were intercorrelated. Adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated, and independence of variables was tested using the likelihood ratio test on reduced models. Two-tailed probability values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

Results

Characteristics of Patients and Aneurysms Treated with Clipping or Coiling

Nine patients were excluded because data regarding vasospasm were missing. The remaining 579 patients were treated by clipping (282 patients) or coiling (297 patients). Clipping was preferably performed for small aneurysms with a wide neck and for middle cerebral artery (MCA) aneurysms, while coiling (297 patients) was preferred for older patients and for larger dome size, internal carotid artery, and posterior circulation aneurysms or treatment during a nonacute stage (Table 1). Patient gender, WFNS grade, and Fisher CT group on admission were similar between the treatment modalities. After aneurysmal obliteration, CSF drainage was performed more in clipped patients, and anti-thrombotic treatment was performed more in coiled patients.

Incidence of Vasospasm and Overall Outcome

The incidence of symptomatic vasospasm and endovascular therapy for vasospasm was not significantly different between clipping and coiling (Table 2). Vasospasm-induced cerebral infarct occurred more frequently after clipping; the differences were observed only in the ruptured MCA aneurysm cases regarding the location of aneurysms (Table 2). Compared to non-MCA aneurysm cases, MCA aneurysm cases had significantly higher incidence of Fisher CT group 4 (20.6% vs. 12.3%, p < 0.05) and were treated more with clipping (84.0% vs. 38.4%, p < 0.001) and less with antithrombotic treatment (16.0% vs. 27.0%, p < 0.05), associated with higher incidence of symptomatic vasospasm, endovascular therapy for vasospasm, and vasospasm-induced cerebral infarction (31.3% vs. 19.0%, p<0.005; 18.3% vs. 9.2%, p<0.005; 25.2% vs. 15.2%, p < 0.01, respectively). When patients were compared between clipping and coiling in ruptured MCA cases, clipping was preferably performed in patients with worse clinical conditions or more severe SAH in terms of admission WFNS grade and Fisher CT group (Table 3).

Multivariate analyses showed that only younger age (OR 0.981, 95% CI 0.964–0.999, p < 0.05) and admission WFNS grade IV (2.421, 1.215–4.821, p < 0.05) or V (2.366, 1.068–5.241, p < 0.05) were significant factors for vasospasm-induced cerebral infarction. The location of ruptured aneurysms, aneurysm treatment modalities (clipping or coiling), CSF drainage, and antithrombotic therapy did not affect the occurrence of vasospasm. With regard to outcomes, the incidence of independent survival (mRS 0–2) was similar between clipping and coiling at both 3 (62.7% vs. 67.2%) and 12 (67.7% vs. 71.1%) months post-SAH.

Table 1 Summary of patient characteristics stratified by treatment modality

Characteristics	Clip (<i>n</i> =282)	Coil (<i>n</i> =297)	p value
Age, years	60.2 ± 12.5	62.4 ± 14.6	<0.05 ^a
Sex			ns ^b
Female	197 (69.9%)	195 (65.7%)	
Male	85 (30.1)	32 (34.3)	
WFNS grade			
Ι	93 (33.0)	78 (26.3)	ns ^b
П	68 (24.1)	87 (29.3)	ns ^b
III	29 (10.3)	30 (10.1)	ns ^b
IV	57 (20.2)	66 (22.2)	ns ^b
V	35 (12.4)	36 (12.1)	ns ^b
Fisher CT group			
1	4 (1.4)	3 (1.0)	ns ^c
2	49 (17.4)	68 (22.9)	ns ^b
3	187 (66.3)	186 (62.6)	ns ^b
4	42 (14.9)	40 (13.5)	ns ^b
Date of aneurysm obliteration			<0.001 ^b
Days 0–3	273 (96.8)	264 (88.9)	
Days 4–12	9 (3.2)	33 (11.1)	
Aneurysm dome, mm	6.1 ± 3.2	6.8 ± 3.8	<0.05ª
Neck, mm	3.4 ± 1.5	3.5 ± 1.6	ns ^a
Aneurysm classification			
Small size/small neck	131 (46.6)	158 (53.2)	ns ^b
Small size/wide neck	115 (40.9)	93 (31.3)	<0.05 ^b
Large	35 (12.5)	45 (15.2)	ns ^b
Giant	0 (0)	1 (0.3)	ns ^c
Aneurysm location			
Internal carotid artery	71 (25.2)	104 (35.0)	<0.01 ^b
Middle cerebral artery	110 (39.0)	21 (7.1)	<0.001 ^b
Anterior communicating artery	71 (25.2)	91 (30.6)	ns ^b
Distal anterior cerebral artery	14 (5.0)	14 (4.7)	ns ^b
Posterior circulation	13 (4.6)	64 (21.5)	<0.001 ^b
Other	3 (1.1)	3 (1.0)	ns ^c
Cerebrospinal fluid drainage	212 (75.2)	171 (57.6)	<0.001 ^b
Antiplatelet therapy	22 (7.8)	120 (40.4)	<0.001 ^b

WFNS World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies, *CT* computed tomography, *ns* not significant Day 0 refers to the calendar day of subarachnoid hemorrhage onset

^aUnpaired *t* test

^bChi-square test

°Fisher's exact test
Tab	e 2	Incidence	of	cerebral	vasospasm	stratified	by	treatment	modali	ty
-----	-----	-----------	----	----------	-----------	------------	----	-----------	--------	----

Variable	Clip (<i>n</i> =282)	Coil (<i>n</i> =297)	p value
Symptomatic vasospasm	69 (24.5%)	57 (19.2)	ns ^a
Endovascular therapy for vasospasm	35 (12.4)	30 (10.1)	ns ^a
Vasospasm-induced cerebral infarct	59 (20.9)	42 (14.1)	<0.05 ^a
Internal carotid artery	10/71 (14.1)	14/104 (13.5)	ns ^a
Middle cerebral artery	32/110 (29.1)	1/21 (4.8)	<0.05 ^b
Anterior communicating artery	12/71 (16.9)	16/91 (17.6)	ns ^a
Distal anterior cerebral artery	3/14 (21.4)	1/14 (7.1)	ns ^b
Posterior circulation	1/13 (7.7)	10/64 (15.6)	ns ^b
Other	1/3 (33.3)	0/3 (0)	ns ^b

ns not significant

^aChi-square test

^bFisher's exact test

Table 3 Summary of patients with ruptured middle cerebral artery aneurysm stratified by treatment modality

Characteristics	Clip (<i>n</i> =110)	Coil (<i>n</i> =21)	p value
Age, years	59.7±10.9	59.4±13.0	ns ^a
Sex			ns ^b
Female	80 (72.7%)	12 (57.1%)	
Male	30 (27.3)	9 (42.9)	
WFNS grade			
Ι	38 (34.5)	9 (42.9)	ns ^b
II	20 (18.2)	7 (33.3)	ns ^c
III	15 (13.6)	1 (4.8)	ns ^c
IV	23 (20.9)	4 (19.0)	ns ^c
V	14 (12.7)	0 (0)	ns ^c
III–V	52 (47.2)	5 (23.8)	< 0.05°
Fisher CT group			
1	1 (0.9)	0 (0)	ns ^c
2	13 (11.8)	12 (57.1)	<0.001 ^b
3	71 (64.5)	7 (33.3)	<0.01°
4	25 (22.7)	2 (9.5)	ns ^c
3–4	96 (87.2)	9 (42.8)	<0.001 ^b
Date of aneurysm obliteration			ns ^c
Days 0–3	106 (96.4)	16 (76.2)	
Days 4–12	4 (3.6)	5 (23.8)	
Aneurysm dome, mm	6.1 ± 2.8	7.8 ± 5.6	ns ^a
Neck, mm	3.3 ± 1.4	3.4 ± 1.4	ns ^a
Aneurysm classification			
Small size/small neck	51 (46.8)	10 (47.6)	ns ^b
Small size/wide neck	44 (40.4)	8 (38.1)	ns ^c
Large	14 (12.8)	2 (9.5)	ns ^c
Giant	0 (0)	1 (4.8)	<0.05°
Large/giant	14 (12.8)	3 (14.3)	ns ^c
Cerebrospinal fluid drainage	81 (73.6)	8 (38.1)	<0.005°
Antiplatelet therapy	10 (9.1)	11 (52.4)	<0.001 ^b
Symptomatic vasospasm	37 (33.6)	6 (28.6)	ns ^c

Table 3 (continued)

· · · · ·			
Characteristics	Clip (<i>n</i> =110)	Coil (<i>n</i> =21)	p value
Endovascular therapy for vasospasm	19 (17.3)	5 (23.8)	ns ^c
Vasospasm-induced cerebral infarct	32 (29.1)	1 (4.8)	< 0.05°
Modified Rankin scale at 1 year			
0	41 (37.6)	17 (85.0)	<0.001 ^b
1	19 (17.4)	2 (10.0)	ns ^c
2	11 (10.1)	0 (0)	ns ^c
3	11 (10.1)	1 (5.0)	ns ^c
4	11 (10.1)	0 (0)	ns ^c
5	9 (8.3)	0 (0)	ns ^c
6	7 (6.4)	0 (0)	ns ^c
0–2	71 (65.1)	19 (95.0)	<0.05 ^b

WFNS World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies, CT computed tomography, ns not significant

Day 0 refers to the calendar day of subarachnoid hemorrhage onset

^aUnpaired t test

^bChi-square test

°Fisher's exact test

Discussion

This study showed that the incidence of cerebral vasospasm was similar between clipping and coiling, although this was not a randomized study, and the characteristics of patients and postprocedural management were different between the treatment modalities. Ruptured MCA aneurysm cases most likely had symptomatic vasospasm and its induced cerebral infarction, possibly due to sylvian hematoma. Clipping was preferably performed for ruptured MCA aneurysms with massive hematoma and poor clinical grades. However, surgical evaluation of the hematoma with postoperative CSF drainage was inadequate for preventing vasospasm; therefore, a new treatment strategy is especially necessary for these aneurysms.

Whether clipping or coiling is associated with an increased risk of cerebral vasospasm has been debated. Theoretically, early clot removal during clipping may decrease the incidence and severity of vasospasm, while this beneficial effect could be negated by other effects associated with surgery, such as brain retraction, vessel manipulation, and impaired subarachnoid space or CSF circulation [9, 10]. In fact, a meta-analysis study showed no significant differences between the treatment modalities on the risk of cerebral vasospasm development and its consequences [9]. ISAT randomized 22.4% of SAH patients who were preoperatively judged to be treated successfully by either modality into coiling or clipping groups and showed that coiling was associated with significantly better outcomes at 1 year post-SAH than clipping [3, 4]. In a subgroup of elderly patients within the ISAT cohort, the patients who received coiling for

internal carotid artery aneurysms had better outcomes than patients who were treated by clipping, while the patients with MCA aneurysms who received clipping had better outcomes than the coiling patients [11]. However, ISAT, up to now, has not published any results regarding post-treatment vasospasm incidence. In this study, although the treatment decisions were not protocolized and depended on each investigator's judgment, clipping was preferably selected for small aneurysms with a wide neck and for MCA aneurysms and was associated with CSF drainage. In contrast, coiling was preferred for older patients and those with larger, internal carotid artery, and posterior circulation aneurysms or treatment during a nonacute stage and was associated more with antithrombotic treatment. As a result, vasospasm development and outcomes were similar between clipping and coiling.

Conclusion

In summary, this study showed that selection of aneurysm treatment modalities had no significant impact on cerebral vasospasm development when we selected either treatment modality that would offer lower procedural risks depending on patient and aneurysm characteristics. However, vasospasm still occurred in a relatively high incidence irrespective of treatment modalities. Development of new therapies or strategies against vasospasm suitable for each treatment modality is needed.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Suarez JI, Tarr RW, Selman WR (2006) Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med 354:387–396
- Treggiari-Venzi MM, Suter PM, Romand JA (2001) Review of medical prevention of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A problem of neurointensive care. Neurosurgery 48:249–262
- 3. International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) Collaborative Group (2002) International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised trial. Lancet 360:1267–1274
- 4. Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Yu LM, Clarke M, Sneade M, Yarnold JA, Sandercock P, for the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) Collaborative Group (2005) International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups, and aneurysm occlusion. Lancet 366:809–817
- Drake CG (1988) Report of World Federation of Neurological Surgeons Committee on a universal subarachnoid hemorrhage grading scale [letter]. J Neurosurg 68:985–986

- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM (1980) Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. Neurosurgery 6:1–9
- Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment (PRESAT) Group (2011) Determinants of poor outcome following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage when both clipping and coiling are available: Prospective Registry of Subarachnoid Aneurysms Treatment (PRESAT) in Japan. World Neurosurg 76:437–445
- Lyden PD, Lau GT (1991) A critical appraisal of stroke evaluation and rating scales. Stroke 22:1345–1352
- de Oliveira JG, Beck J, Ulrich C, Rathert J, Raabe A, Seifert V (2007) Comparison between clipping and coiling on the incidence of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosurg Rev 30:22–31
- Shirao S, Yoneda H, Ishihara H, Harada K, Ueda K, Sano Y, Kudomi S, Hayashi Y, Shigeeda T, Nakano K, Nomura S, Fujii M, Kato S, Suzuki M (2011) Fate of clots in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage after different surgical treatment modality: a comparison between surgical clipping and Guglielmi detachable coil embolization. Neurosurgery 68:966–973
- Ryttlefors M, Enblad P, Kerr RS, Molyneux AJ (2008) International subarachnoid aneurysm trial of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling: subgroup analysis of 278 elderly patients. Stroke 39:2720–2726

Endovascular Management of Posthemorrhagic Cerebral Vasospasm: Indications, Technical Nuances, and Results

Ralph Rahme, Lincoln Jimenez, Gail J. Pyne-Geithman, Joseph Serrone, Andrew J. Ringer, Mario Zuccarello, and Todd A. Abruzzo

Abstract Posthemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm (PHCV) is a common problem and a significant cause of mortality and permanent disability following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. While medical therapy remains the mainstay of prevention against PHCV and the first-line treatment for symptomatic patients, endovascular options should not be delayed in medically refractory cases. Although both transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA) and intra-arterial vasodilator therapy (IAVT) can be effective in relieving proximal symptomatic PHCV, only IAVT is a viable treatment option for distal vasospasm. The main advantage of TBA is its long-lasting therapeutic effect and the very low rate of retreatment. However, its use has been associated with a significant risk of serious complications, particularly vessel rupture and reperfusion hemorrhage. Conversely, IAVT is generally considered an effective and low-risk procedure, despite the transient nature of its therapeutic effects and the risk of intracranial hypertension associated with its use. Moreover, newer vasodilator agents appear to have a longer duration of action and a much better safety profile than papaverine, which is rarely used in current clinical practice. Although endovascular treatment of PHCV has been reported to be effective in clinical series, whether it ultimately improves patient outcomes has yet to be demonstrated in a randomized controlled trial.

Keywords Angioplasty • Cerebral infarction • Delayed cerebral ischemia • Delayed ischemic neurological deficit • Endovascular treatment • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Vasodilator • Vasospasm

T.A. Abruzzo, M.D. (🖂)

Definition and Terminology

Posthemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm (PHCV) is a major cause of mortality and permanent disability in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) and may account for almost 50% of deaths among those surviving the initial ictus [1]. Angiographic vasospasm is very common, affecting up to 70% of aSAH patients, and has a predictable time course: delayed onset between days 3 and 5, maximal narrowing between days 5 and 14, then gradual resolution over 2-4 weeks [1-3]. Nearly half of these patients, about 30% of all aSAH survivors, will develop a delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND), the so-called symptomatic vasospasm [1]. However, recent studies have suggested that other coexisting factors than vasospasm, such as microvascular dysfunction and cortical spreading depolarizations, may contribute to the pathogenesis of DIND [4]. An international group of experts has recommended using the term *delayed* cerebral ischemia (DCI) as an end-organ phenomenon requiring clinical evidence of neurological impairment or evidence of cerebral infarction on brain imaging or autopsy, irrespective of the presence and severity of angiographic vasospasm [5]. Nevertheless, angiographically demonstrable vessel narrowing remains the most important modifiable risk factor for neurological deterioration and poor outcome in patients with DCI. In fact, DCI correlates strongly with the angiographic severity of vasospasm, and nearly 50% of patients experiencing severe vasospasm will develop territory-specific cerebral infarction [1, 6].

Pathophysiology of PHCV

The precise events that lead to arterial narrowing in PHCV remain unknown. Numerous inciting factors have been implicated, including erythrocyte degradation products, serum-derived lipids, and hematogenic proteins. Presumably, these factors trigger a cascade of biochemical and

R. Rahme, M.D., L. Jimenez, M.D., G.J. Pyne-Geithman, D.Phil., J. Serrone, M.D., A.J. Ringer, M.D., and M. Zuccarello, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati and Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati, 260 Stetson Street, Suite 2200, Cincinnati, OH 45219, USA e-mail: editor@mayfieldclinic.com

immunoinflammatory reactions that ultimately lead to unopposed activation of the contractile apparatus within cerebrovascular smooth muscle cells. Although loss of luminal caliber is initially reversible, vessel wall fibrosis can lead to irreversible stenosis if the process is sustained [7, 8]. The likelihood of developing PHCV and its severity most strongly correlate with the amount of blood entering the subarachnoid space [9, 10]. Although large subarachnoid hematomas will affect adjacent arteries most severely, PHCV is often multifocal and frequently involves remote vascular territories.

Medical Management and Indications of Endovascular Therapy

Oral administration of nimodipine, maintenance of a normotensive normovolemic state, and avoidance of systemic and metabolic insults constitute the mainstay of preventive medical measures against DCI [1]. DCI should be suspected whenever either a focal neurological deficit or loss of two points or more on the Glasgow Coma Scale, which were not immediately present after therapeutic aneurysm occlusion, develop in a patient with aSAH and are sustained for at least 1 h [5]. Other causes of neurological deterioration (e.g., aneurysm rerupture, hydrocephalus, seizures, hyponatremia) should be ruled out based on clinical, neuroimaging, and laboratory data [1, 5].

Medical therapy (i.e., hypertensive hypervolemic or triple-H therapy) is generally considered first-line management for DCI since treatment-related risks are usually much lower than those of neurointervention [1]. The purpose of medical treatment is to optimize cerebral perfusion by increasing mean arterial and central venous pressures through intravenous administration of vasopressors and intravascular volume expansion [1, 11]. However, patients with extensive myocardial infarction, decompensated heart failure, or intestinal ischemia may not tolerate aggressive medical therapy. Similarly, patients with unsecured ruptured aneurysms may be at increased risk of rerupture. Therefore, early aneurysm occlusion is recommended to allow aggressive hypertensive therapy for DCI [1, 11].

In many patients, medical therapy will restore a compensated state of cerebral perfusion and reverse neurological deficits. Failure to respond or inability to tolerate medical treatment should prompt aggressive neurointerventional management [8]. The last has been shown to be most effective when initiated within 2 h of symptom onset [12] and therefore should probably not be delayed when a satisfactory response to medical therapy is not observed within 1 h. However, it should be kept in mind that, although the ability of endovascular therapy to reverse neurological deficits has been documented in clinical case series, whether it ultimately improves patient outcomes remains unclear. For this purpose, a multicenter European randomized controlled trial is currently under way [13].

In very poor-grade aSAH patients, it may be difficult to document neurological worsening. Therefore, treatment of moderate or severe angiographic vasospasm revealed by noninvasive imaging, such as transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasonography and computed tomographic (CT) angiography, may be warranted after confirmation by digital subtraction angiography.

Endovascular Options and Preoperative Considerations

The two established neurointerventional modalities for the treatment of symptomatic PHCV are intra-arterial vasodilator therapy (IAVT) and transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA). While IAVT can be used to treat both proximal and distal vasospasm, the use of TBA should be solely reserved for treating large artery spasm within or proximal to the circle of Willis [1, 8].

Prior to transfer to the neuroangiography suite, noncontrast head CT should be obtained to rule out other causes of neurological deterioration and determine the extent of irreversible cerebral infarction. In addition, the risk of increased intracranial pressure (ICP), as a result of lying flat on the neuroangiography table and the administration of intra-arterial vasodilators, should be anticipated [14, 15]. Thus, ICP should be well controlled and consideration should be given for an external ventricular drain. Similarly, an arterial line can be helpful in this setting, given the risk of systemic hypotension during IAVT, which may negatively impact cerebral perfusion [15, 16]. If TBA is being contemplated, consideration may be given to general anesthesia to minimize patient motion during the procedure.

Is Prophylactic Endovascular Treatment Indicated?

There is currently no place for prophylactic endovascular therapy in the management of PHCV. Although prophylactic TBA was shown to prevent PHCV in animal studies [17], clinical experience has been disappointing, with procedural mortality rates as high as 8% and lack of clinical benefit [18, 19]. During prophylactic TBA, vessels are stretched beyond their baseline normal diameter, which likely accounts for the poor results. Prophylactic IAVT has not been attempted and would be counterintuitive, given the usually transient and short-lived nature of its therapeutic effects.

Transluminal Balloon Angioplasty

Technical Aspects

The mechanism of action of TBA likely involves mechanical disruption of smooth muscle cells and connective tissue fibers in the vessel wall, which results in a paralytic injury preventing vasoconstriction [8, 20]. TBA is likely to be most effective when actively contracting muscle fibers are force-fully stretched and thus should be ideally performed prior to administration of vasodilators. However, if the vessel lumen is too small to allow safe microwire or balloon catheter passage, it may be necessary to administer IAVT in preparation for TBA [8].

Suitable vessels for TBA include the internal carotid arteries, vertebral arteries, basilar trunk, and proximal segments of the middle (M1), anterior (A1), and posterior (P1) cerebral arteries. We approach A1 and P1 with caution since their wall is relatively deficient in tunica media and elastic tissue, theoretically making them more prone to rupture [8]. Although successful TBA for distal vasospasm was recently reported [21], data regarding its safety remain insufficient. In general, we do not advise performing TBA on vessels less than 1.5 mm in baseline diameter.

The major advantage of TBA is that, unlike IAVT, it confers a long-lasting therapeutic effect, making retreatment rarely necessary [8, 22, 23]. Moreover, TBA does not increase ICP, even when multiple vessels are treated. However, given the significant procedural risks, particularly vessel rupture and reperfusion hemorrhage, we typically reserve this option for hemodynamically significant (>50% reduction in vessel diameter), symptomatic proximal vasospasm that either does not respond or responds poorly to IAVT.

We apply extreme caution when a baseline angiogram is not available, making it difficult to determine the severity of PHCV reliably. In such cases, the safety of TBA becomes questionable, particularly for the A1 and P1 segments, which are frequently prone to congenital hypoplasia. Likewise, fenestrated vessels in severe spasm may appear to have a single lumen, and failure to recognize this fenestration on a baseline angiogram can lead to overdilation and vessel rupture. Although small hypodensities on CT may resolve following successful TBA [24], large completed infarcts should discourage attempts to restore cerebral perfusion, given the significant risk of reperfusion hemorrhage. Fatal intracranial hemorrhage has been reported up to 24 h after TBA [22]. Moreover, TBA adjacent to clipped ruptured aneurysms has been associated with fatal rupture of the parent artery [25].

TBA is usually performed under full systemic heparinization. Both single- and dual-lumen balloon catheters that track over 0.010- and 0.014-in. microwires, respectively, may be used. While single-lumen balloons are all compliant, dual-lumen balloons may be compliant, semicompliant, or noncompliant. Most dual-lumen balloon catheters suitable for intracranial TBA were designed for coronary angioplasty. These balloons reach nominal diameters at pressures in the range of 6–18 atm, which are much higher than those required for successful intracranial TBA. Overdilation of vessels should be avoided, and balloons should be undersized, typically to 80-85% of the baseline vessel diameter. To avoid multiple dilations, balloon length should be selected to cover the longest contiguous straight segment of vessel. Balloon inflations around sharply angulated curves may cause forced, traumatic straightening of the artery and thus, should be avoided. If needed, successive dilations may be performed from distal to proximal to avoid crossing a fresh angioplasty site and inadvertently raising a dissection flap [8].

Angiographic and Clinical Results

The success rate of TBA in reversing PHCV and restoring normal or near-normal luminal caliber is in the 80–100% range [12, 22, 26–29]. This equally translates into improved TCD velocities and cerebral blood flow [23, 29]. However, clinical success (i.e., reversal of DCI symptoms) rates are variable, ranging from 30% to 80% [22, 29–31]. This is likely due to differences in disease severity and timing of intervention. In one study, TBA performed within 2 h of symptom onset was associated with 70% clinical improvement compared to only 40% when done later [12]. Retreatment is rarely necessary, with only 3–4% of patients requiring additional procedures [8, 22, 23].

Complications

Complications of TBA include iatrogenic vessel injury (dissection, perforation, occlusion, rupture), ischemic stroke, reperfusion hemorrhage, rebleeding from unsecured aneurysms, and displacement of aneurysm clips [1, 8]. Rupture of an overdilated cerebral artery is a serious and frequently lethal complication. Although older series had documented rupture rates as high as 4-5% [32], recent studies suggested that, with technical advancements, this rate has decreased significantly, to about 1% [33]. Likewise, the rate of thromboembolic complications lies around 4-5% [34]. Although the exact long-term incidence of flow-limiting stenosis at the site of TBA has not been systematically assessed, this complication has been reported [35].

Intra-arterial Vasodilator Infusion Therapy

Technical Aspects

A variety of vasodilators has been used intra-arterially to treat PHCV, including (1) the phosphodiesterase inhibitors papaverine and milrinone; (2) the calcium channel blockers nimodipine, nicardipine, and verapamil; and (3) the rho kinase inhibitor fasudil hydrochloride [36-52]. It is believed that the mechanism of action of IAVT involves vasodilation via a direct pharmacological effect on the vascular smooth muscle cells, although a neuroprotective effect cannot be completely excluded. IAVT can be used as a stand-alone therapy to treat both proximal and distal vasospasm, regardless of the size of the vessels and their position in the arterial tree [1, 8]. Alternatively, IAVT can be used to manage residual distal vasospasm following TBA. The technique of IAVT involves either bolus injection of vasodilators or slow infusion over a period of 30-90 min. In addition, IAVT can be administered through either selective (≥ 4 French) or superselective (≤3 French) catheters. Selective IAVT through a catheter in the extracranial internal carotid or vertebral artery is usually sufficient in most patients. However, superselective infusions may be advantageous when there is competing flow at a bifurcation to ensure that most of the drug is delivered into the high-resistance, spastic cerebral vessels rather than the lowresistance, normal ones. Although generally safer than TBA, IAVT has several disadvantages, including delayed onset of action, transient therapeutic effect, and risk of increased ICP, particularly when multiple vessels are treated.

Angiographic and Clinical Results

Phosphodiesterase Inhibitors: Papaverine, Milrinone

Angiographic improvement is observed in 60–90% of patients following intra-arterial papaverine infusion [36–38]. However, clinical improvement occurs in only 25–50% [36, 38–40]. Moreover, the beneficial effect of papaverine on cerebral blood flow does not seem to last longer than 3 h [41]. Milrinone has also been shown to result in angiographic improvement and enhanced cerebral blood flow in patients with PHCV, although clinical improvement has yet to be demonstrated [42, 43].

Calcium Channel Blockers: Nimodipine, Nicardipine, Verapamil

Intra-arterial nimodipine leads to angiographic response in 40–80% of patients, although clinical improvement occurs in as many as 70–75% [44, 45]. Conversely, nicardipine has been associated with angiographic improvement in all treated

patients, but the rates of clinical improvement have been dosedependent, ranging from 42% to 91% [46, 47]. Moreover, highdose nicardipine has been associated with significant effects on systemic blood pressure [16, 47]. Likewise, verapamil has been shown to result in an angiographic response in all treated vessels, with a mean increase in vessel diameter of 29–44% [48–50]. However, the rates of clinical improvement also appear to be dose-dependent, ranging from 30% to 70% [48, 49]. Verapamil-induced cerebral vasodilation seems to develop gradually and stabilize over 15–30 min [50]. Interestingly, the positive effects of high-dose intra-arterial verapamil on cerebral hemodynamics and brain metabolism may last as long as 12 h [15]. For this reason and given its favorable safety profile, we routinely use verapamil as a first-line agent for IAVT.

Rho Kinase Inhibitors: Fasudil Hydrochloride

Fasudil hydrochloride is widely used in Japan. It has been shown to result in angiographic improvement in all treated patients and variable clinical response, ranging from 45% to 70% [51, 52].

Complications

In addition to the usual risks of cerebral angiography (e.g., arterial dissection, ischemic stroke), adverse events can be caused by the IAVT agent itself. Intracranial hypertension, systemic hypotension, and seizures have been reported with all agents [14–16, 23, 43, 46, 52, 53]. Intracranial hypertension is presumably the result of increased cerebral blood volume resulting from widespread intracranial vasodilation. Furthermore, given their short-lived therapeutic effect, multiple IAVT procedures are often necessary; therefore, the overall risk may become cumulative.

For more than 20 years, papaverine has been widely employed in IAVT procedures. However, in current clinical practice, it is infrequently used because of concerns about potential neurotoxicity, including transient or permanent monocular blindness, mydriasis, transient hemiparesis, seizures, gray matter necrosis, cardiac dysfunction, and respiratory arrest [1, 54]. Moreover, intracranial hypertension tends to be a significant problem when multiple vascular territories are being treated [14, 53]. Papaverine-related serious complications occur in 2–5% [23, 30, 53].

Conclusion

While medical management remains the first-line treatment for symptomatic PHCV, endovascular therapy should not be delayed in medically refractory cases. Proximal vasospasm can be managed by either TBA or IAVT. In contrast, only IAVT is a widely accepted treatment for distal vasospasm. Although the therapeutic effects of TBA are long-lasting and reatreatment is rarely necessary, potential serious procedural risks should limit its use to severe cases of symptomatic PHCV. Conversely, despite its transient therapeutic effects and the risk of increased ICP, IAVT has become an effective and low-risk treatment for most cases of PHCV. This is partly due to the advent of newer vasodilators with longer duration of action and better safety profile than papaverine. Finally, it should be kept in mind that the clinical benefit of endovascular therapy for PHCV has only been reported in case series and that a positive effect on ultimate patient outcome has yet to be proven.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Bederson JB, Connolly ES Jr, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, Duldner JE Jr, Harbaugh RE, Patel AB, Rosenwasser RH, American Heart Association (2009) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke 40:994–1025
- Kassell NF, Sasaki T, Colohan AR, Nazar G (1985) Cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 16:562–572
- Heros RC, Zervas NT, Varsos V (1983) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: an update. Ann Neurol 14:599–608
- Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. Stroke 42:924–929
- 5. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Dreier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Dumont AS, Ilodigwe D, Kassell NF, Mayer SA, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Pasqualin A, Macdonald RL (2011) Angiographic vasospasm is strongly correlated with cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 42:919–923
- Clark JF, Sharp FR (2006) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) and their role in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1223–1233
- Grande A, Nichols C, Khan U, Pyne-Geithman G, Abruzzo T, Ringer A, Zuccarello M (2011) Treatment of post-hemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm: role of endovascular therapy. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110(Pt 2):127–132
- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM (1980) Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. Neurosurgery 6:1–9
- Kistler JP, Crowell RM, Davis KR, Heros R, Ojemann RG, Zervas T, Fisher CM (1983) The relation of cerebral vasospasm to the extent and location of subarachnoid blood visualized by CT scan: a prospective study. Neurology 33:424–436
- Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Claude Hemphill J 3rd, Menon D, Shutter L, Vespa P, Bruder N, Connolly ES Jr, Citerio G, Gress D, Hänggi D, Hoh BL, Lanzino G, Le Roux P, Rabinstein A, Schmutzhard E,

Stocchetti N, Suarez JI, Treggiari M, Tseng MY, Vergouwen MD, Wolf S, Zipfel G (2011) Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the Neurocritical Care Society's multidisciplinary consensus conference. Neurocrit Care 15:211–240

- Rosenwasser RH, Armonda RA, Thomas JE, Benitez RP, Gannon PM, Harrop J (1999) Therapeutic modalities for the management of cerebral vasospasm: timing of endovascular options. Neurosurgery 44:975–980
- 13. Platz J, Berkefeld J, Guresir E, du Mesnil de Rochemont R, Mayer TE, Konig RW, Seifert V, Vatter H (2011) Interim analysis of a prospective randomized trial to investigate the efficacy of endovas-cular treatment in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage [abstract]. In: Presented at the 11th annual international conference on neurovascular events after subarachnoid hemorrhage, Cincinnati, July 2011
- Andaluz N, Tomsick TA, Tew JM Jr, van Loveren HR, Yeh HS, Zuccarello M (2002) Indications for endovascular therapy for refractory vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: experience at the University of Cincinnati. Surg Neurol 58:131–138
- 15. Stuart RM, Helbok R, Kurtz P, Schmidt M, Fernandez L, Lee K, Badjatia N, Mayer SA, Lavine S, Meyers P, Connolly ES, Claassen J (2011) High-dose intra-arterial verapamil for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: prolonged effects on hemodynamic parameters and brain metabolism. Neurosurgery 68:337–345
- Rosenberg N, Lazzaro MA, Lopes DK, Prabhakaran S (2011) High-dose intra-arterial nicardipine results in hypotension following vasospasm treatment in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 15:400–404
- Megyesi JF, Findlay JM, Vollrath B, Cook DA, Chen MH (1997) In vivo angioplasty prevents the development of vasospasm in canine carotid arteries. Pharmacological and morphological analyses. Stroke 28:1216–1224
- Muizelaar JP, Zwienenberg M, Rudisill NA, Hecht ST (1999) The prophylactic use of transluminal balloon angioplasty in patients with Fisher grade 3 subarachnoid hemorrhage: a pilot study. J Neurosurg 91:51–58
- 19. Zwienenberg-Lee M, Hartman J, Rudisill N, Madden LK, Smith K, Eskridge J, Newell D, Verweij B, Bullock MR, Baker A, Coplin W, Mericle R, Dai J, Rocke D, Muizelaar JP, Balloon Prophylaxis for Aneurysmal Vasospasm (BPAV) Study Group (2008) Effect of prophylactic transluminal balloon angioplasty on cerebral vasospasm and outcome in patients with Fisher grade III subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a phase II multicenter, randomized, clinical trial. Stroke 39:1759–1765
- Yamamoto Y, Smith RR, Bernanke DH (1992) Mechanism of action of balloon angioplasty in cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 30:1–6
- Santillan A, Knopman J, Zink W, Patsalides A, Gobin YP (2011) Transluminal balloon angioplasty for symptomatic distal vasospasm refractory to medical therapy in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 69:95–102
- Higashida RT, Halbach VV, Cahan LD, Brant-Zawadzki M, Barnwell S, Dowd C, Hieshima GB (1989) Transluminal angioplasty for treatment of intracranial arterial vasospasm. J Neurosurg 71:648–653
- 23. Elliott JP, Newell DW, Lam DJ, Eskridge JM, Douville CM, Le Roux PD, Lewis DH, Mayberg MR, Grady MS, Winn HR (1998) Comparison of balloon angioplasty and papaverine infusion for the treatment of vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 88:277–284
- 24. Newell DW, Eskridge JM, Aaslid R (2001) Current indications and results of cerebral angioplasty. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:181–183
- 25. Linskey ME, Horton JA, Rao GR, Yonas H (1991) Fatal rupture of the intracranial carotid artery during transluminal angioplasty for

vasospasm induced by subarachnoid hemorrhage. Case report. J Neurosurg 74:985–990

- Fujii Y, Takahashi A, Yoshimoto T (1995) Effect of balloon angioplasty on high grade symptomatic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg Rev 18:7–13
- Newell DW, Eskridge JM, Mayberg MR, Grady MS, Winn H (1989) Angioplasty for the treatment of symptomatic vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 71:654–660
- Polin RS, Coenen VA, Hansen CA, Shin P, Baskaya MK, Nanda A, Kassell NF (2000) Efficacy of transluminal angioplasty for the management of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 92:284–290
- Firlik AD, Kaufmann AM, Jungreis CA, Yonas H (1997) Effect of transluminal angioplasty on cerebral blood flow in the management of symptomatic vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 86:830–839
- Bejjani GK, Bank WO, Olan WJ, Sekhar LN (1998) The efficacy and safety of angioplasty for cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 42:979–987
- Coyne TJ, Montanera WJ, Macdonald RL, Wallace MC (1994) Percutaneous transluminal angioplasty for cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Can J Surg 37:391–396
- Eskridge JM, Song JK (1997) A practical approach to the treatment of vasospasm. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 18:1653–1660
- Hoh BL, Ogilvy CS (2005) Endovascular treatment of cerebral vasospasm: transluminal balloon angioplasty, intra-arterial papaverine, and intra-arterial nicardipine. Neurosurg Clin N Am 16:501–516
- 34. Terry A, Zipfel G, Milner E, Cross DT 3rd, Moran CJ, Diringer MN, Dacey RG Jr, Derdeyn CP (2006) Safety and technical efficacy of over-the-wire balloons for the treatment of subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurg Focus 21(3):E14
- Merchant A, Drazin D, Dalfino J, Yamamoto J, Boulos AS (2009) Delayed stenosis as a consequence of angioplasty for subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced vasospasm. Case report. Neurosurg Focus 26(5):E23
- Clouston JE, Numaguchi Y, Zoarski GH, Aldrich EF, Simard JM, Zitnay KM (1995) Intraarterial papaverine infusion for cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 16:27–38
- Kaku Y, Yonekawa Y, Tsukahara T, Kazekawa K (1992) Superselective intra-arterial infusion of papaverine for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 77:842–847
- Kassell NF, Helm G, Simmons N, Phillips CD, Cail WS (1992) Treatment of cerebral vasospasm with intra-arterial papaverine. J Neurosurg 77:848–852
- Firlik KS, Kaufmann AM, Firlik AD, Jungreis CA, Yonas H (1999) Intra-arterial papaverine for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol 51:66–74
- Polin RS, Hansen CA, German P, Chadduck JB, Kassell NF (1998) Intra-arterially administered papaverine for the treatment of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 42:1256–1267
- 41. Vajkoczy P, Horn P, Bauhuf C, Munch E, Hubner U, Ing D, Thome C, Poeckler-Schoeninger C, Roth H, Schmiedek P (2001) Effect of

intra-arterial papaverine on regional cerebral blood flow in hemodynamically relevant cerebral vasospasm. Stroke 32:498–505

- Arakawa Y, Kikuta K, Hojo M, Goto Y, Ishii A, Yamagata S (2001) Milrinone for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: report of seven cases. Neurosurgery 48:723–730
- Fraticelli AT, Cholley BP, Losser MR, Saint Maurice JP, Payen D (2008) Milrinone for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 39:893–898
- 44. Biondi A, Ricciardi GK, Puybasset L, Abdennour L, Longo M, Chiras J, Van Effenterre R (2004) Intra-arterial nimodipine for the treatment of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: preliminary results. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 25:1067–1076
- 45. Cho WS, Kang HS, Kim JE, Kwon OK, Oh CW, Son YJ, Know BJ, Jung C, Hang MH (2011) Intra-arterial nimodipine infusion for cerebral vasospasm in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Interv Neuroradiol 17:169–178
- 46. Badjatia N, Topcuoglu MA, Pryor JC, Rabinov JD, Ogilvy CS, Carter BS, Rordorf GA (2004) Preliminary experience with intraarterial nicardipine as a treatment for cerebral vasospasm. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 25:819–826
- 47. Tejada JG, Taylor RA, Ugurel MS, Hayakawa M, Lee SK, Chaloupka JC (2007) Safety and feasibility of intra-arterial nicardipine for the treatment of subarachnoid hemorrhage-associated vasospasm: initial clinical experience with high-dose infusions. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 28:844–848
- 48. Feng L, Fitzsimmons BF, Young WL, Berman MF, Lin E, Aagaard BD, Duong H, Pile-Spellman J (2002) Intraarterially administered verapamil as adjunct therapy for cerebral vasospasm: safety and 2-year experience. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 23:1284–1290
- Keuskamp J, Murali R, Chao KH (2008) High-dose intraarterial verapamil in the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 108:458–463
- Sehy JV, Holloway WE, Lin SP, Cross DT 3rd, Derdeyn CP, Moran CJ (2010) Improvement in angiographic cerebral vasospasm after intra-arterial verapamil administration. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 31:1923–1928
- 51. Iwabuchi S, Yokouchi T, Hayashi M, Sato K, Saito N, Hirata Y, Harashina J, Nakayama H, Akahata M, Ito K, Kimura H, Aoki K (2011) Intra-arterial administration of fasudil hydrochloride for vasospasm following subarachnoid haemorrhage: experience of 90 cases. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110(Pt 2):179–181
- Tanaka K, Minami H, Kota M, Kuwamura K, Kohmura E (2005) Treatment of cerebral vasospasm with intra-arterial fasudil hydrochloride. Neurosurgery 56:214–223
- 53. Cross DT 3rd, Moran CJ, Angtuaco EE, Milburn JM, Diringer MN, Dacey RGJ (1998) Intracranial pressure monitoring during intraarterial papaverine infusion for cerebral vasospasm. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 19:1319–1323
- 54. Smith WS, Dowd CF, Johnston SC, Ko NU, DeArmond SJ, Dillon WP, Setty D, Lawton MT, Young WL, Higashida RT, Halbach VV (2004) Neurotoxicity of intra-arterial papaverine preserved with chlorobutanol used for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 35:2518–2522

The Concept of a Hybrid Operating Room: Applications in Cerebrovascular Surgery

Javier Fandino, Philipp Taussky, Serge Marbacher, Carl Muroi, Michael Diepers, Ali-Reza Fathi, and Luca Remonda

Abstract The use of intraoperative digital substraction angiography (iDSA) is a tool in cerebrovascular surgery. According to recent studies, iDSA has been shown to alter surgical treatment in approximately 12% of cases. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that even experienced cerebrovascular surgeons might not accurately predict the need for iDSA. Intraoperative DSA prevents unnecessary surgical manipulations after occlusion of aneurysms and accurately demonstrates occlusion rates. We present our preliminary experience using routine iDSA within the concept of a hybrid operating room for cerebrovascular surgery. A total of 99 patients underwent iDSA in our hybrid operating room. Indications included intraoperative evaluation of occlusion rate of clipped aneurysms and patency of vicinity vessels (n=82), chemical angioplasty with papaverin (n=4), and balloon angioplasty (n=1). In four (5%) patients, a reposition of the clip was needed due to neck remnant and perfusion of the aneurysm sack after clipping. A total of five cases underwent combined microsurgical and endovascular treatment of ruptured aneurysms and arteriovenous malformations (AVMs). The concept of a hybrid operating room has been considered in the planning and design of operation rooms dedicated to cerebrovascular surgery. Hybrid procedures combining endovascular with microsurgical strategies within the same surgical session are feasible and safe. These procedures are associated with cost-benefit advantages.

Keywords Intraoperative angiography • Cerebrovascular surgery • Hybrid operation room

J. Fandino, M.D. (⊠), P. Taussky, M.D., S. Marbacher, M.D., C. Muroi, M.D., M. Diepers, M.D., A.-R. Fathi, M.D., and L. Remonda, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery and Institute of Neuroradiology (MD, LR), Kantonsspital Aarau, Tellstrasse, 5001 Aarau, Switzerland e-mail: javier.fandino@ksa.ch

Introduction

Intraoperative digital subtraction angiography (iDSA) is still a rarely applied tool in cerebrovascular surgery. In recent studies, iDSA has been shown to alter surgical treatment in approximately 12% of cases [1–4]. It prevents unnecessary surgical manipulations after occlusion of aneurysms and accurately demonstrates occlusion rates. The introduction of iDSA within a hybrid operation room enables the combinations of endovascular and microsurgical techniques in cerebrovascular surgery. We present our experience and concept of a hybrid operating room for interdisciplinary treatment of cerebral aneurysms and arteriovenous malformations (AVMs).

Materials and Methods

The hybrid operating room is defined as a surgical theater that enables the combination of endovascular and surgical treatment of cerebrovascular pathologies and the use of interventional tools such as temporary occlusion during clipping in a single procedure. In our experience, the combination of mono- or biplanar angiography apparatus with standard surgical tables is crucial to allow standard positioning of the patient during surgery. The surgical table (Alphamaquet 1150, Maquet AG, Switzerland) and C-arm (Xper FD20, Philips, Netherlands) are coupled, and a collision alarm system prevents independent or uncontrolled movements of the table or C-arm. The carbon fiber top of the table is 360 radio translucent. Radiolucent head pins and head holders are required for optimal acquisition of angiograms and intraoperative CT scans. Surgical personnel have been trained to assist endovascular procedures. Neurosurgeons are responsible for all technical issues during the procedures. This setting allows the utilization of the operating room by vascular surgeons and other surgical specialties with or without performance of angiograms (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 The hybrid operating room allows combined microsurgical and endovascular approaches in cerebrovascular surgery. Radiolucent head pins and head holders are necessary for high-quality intraoperative

imaging, which includes intraoperative digital substraction angiography (*iDSA*) and three-dimensional computed tomographic angiography (*3D-CTA*)

Results

A total of 99 patients underwent operations in our hybrid operating room. Indications included intraoperative evaluation of occlusion rate of clipped aneurysms and patency of vicinity vessels (n=82), chemical angioplasty with papaverin (n=4), balloon angioplasty (n=2), and primarily endovascular coiling with option of neurosurgical intervention (n=4). In four (5%) patients, a reposition of the clip was needed due to neck remnant and perfusion of the aneurysm sack after clipping. In one case, the clip was repositioned due to occlusion of a vessel near the aneurysm. In one case, a suboptimal

occlusion of an aneurysm (anterior communicating aneurysm) could be documented. In this case, reposition of the clip was unsuccessful in reaching a total occlusion of the aneurysm, and the postoperative follow-up conventional angiogram and coiling of the remnant aneurysm were uneventfully performed. All endovascular aneurysm embolizations were successful; in two cases, coiling of ruptured aneurysms was performed after emergency craniotomy for evacuation of an intracerebral hematoma. A total of five cases underwent combined microsurgical and endovascular treatment of ruptured aneurysms and AVMs. Three illustrative cases are presented (Figs. 2, 3, and 4). **Fig. 2** Illustrative case 1. Acute subdural hematoma after aneurysm rupture of a left posterior communicating artery aneurysm (*arrow*). The patient underwent emergency craniotomy for evacuation of the hematoma followed by coiling of the aneurysm. The duration between hospital admission and final angiogram was 4 h





Fig. 3 Illustrative case 2. Combined endovascular and microsurgical treatment of a right temporal arteriovenous malformation (*AVM*). After embolization of two main feeders, complete resection of the AVM

could be achieved. Postinterventional angiogram and computed tomography (CT) showed no remnant of the AVM



Fig. 4 Illustrative case 3. Combined endovascular and microsurgical treatment of a complex recurrent right internal carotid artery (ICA) aneurysm treated in the 1970s (a-c). Primary endovascular occlusion was not possible (d). The aneurysm was clipped using a left-sided pte-

rional approach under endovascular temporary occlusion of the right anterior communicating artery (ACA) (e-g). The remnant aneurysm could be coiled (h, i). No postoperative neurological deficit could be documented

Discussion

Intraoperative imaging in neurosurgery allows the early identification of complications and optimizes the treatment objectives. Intraoperative DSA [1-4] and near-infrared indocyanine green video angiography for the assessment of vascular flow during cerebrovascular surgery have contributed to safety and the prevention of severe complications during cerebrovascular procedures [5]. The concept of a hybrid operating room not only allows the performance of routine iDSA in all cerebrovascular procedures but also opens the possibility for combined approaches in a sterile environment. Both microsurgical and endovascular techniques can be applied to achieve excellent results and prevent complications, whose possible causes might be detected during surgery. From our point of view, the following important issues have to be included in planning for a hybrid operation room for cerebrovascular procedures: location, table, multidisciplinary application, operating room technicians, and surgeon's capability for operating the equipment. The hybrid operating room should be planned within the concept of a conventional surgical environment that allows sterile procedures and personnel flexibility. According to our experience, a surgical table that allows all standard positions is crucial not only for neurosurgeons but also for other surgical specialties; this can contribute to optimal utilization of the operation room during the slots when neurosurgical procedures are not planned. In our concept, operating room technicians have to be trained for endovascular techniques to integrate them in

combined procedures and facilitate the surgical processes. Finally, we consider it crucial that the neurosurgeon be trained for operating all the equipment installed in the hybrid operating room, including the angiogram apparatus and software for the acquisition and evaluation of three-dimensional rotational angiography.

Conclusion

The concept of a hybrid operating room should be considered in the planning and design of operating rooms dedicated to cerebrovascular surgery. Hybrid procedures combining endovascular with microsurgical strategies in the same surgical session are feasible and safe and have cost-benefit advantages.

Conflicts of Interest Statement The authors do not have financial interests with the manufacturing companies of the equipment mentioned in this manuscript.

References

 Alexander TD, Macdonald RL, Weir B, Kowalczuk A (1996) Intraoperative angiography in cerebral aneurysm surgery: a prospective study of 100 craniotomies. Neurosurgery 39:10–17, discussion 17–18

- Barrow DL, Boyer KL, Joseph GJ (1992) Intraoperative angiography in the management of neurovascular disorders. Neurosurgery 30:153–159
- Klopfenstein JD, Spetzler RF, Kim LJ, Feiz-Erfan I, Han PP, Zabramski JM, Porter RW, Albuquerque FC, McDougall CG, Fiorella DJ (2004) Comparison of routine and selective use of intraoperative angiography during aneurysm surgery: a prospective assessment. J Neurosurg 100:230–235
- Chiang VL, Gailloud P, Murphy KJ, Rigamonti D, Tamargo RJ (2002) Routine intraoperative angiography during aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg 96:988–992
- Raabe A, Beck J, Gerlach R, Zimmermann M, Seifert V (2003) Near-infrared indocyanine green video angiography: a new method for intraoperative assessment of vascular flow. Neurosurgery 52:132–139, discussion 139

Computerized Occlusion Rating of Embolized Ruptured Intracranial Aneurysms: Relation to Intra- and Postinterventional Aneurysm Rehemorrhage

Helena Milavec, Andreas Gruber, Ernst Schuster, Eva Lahnsteiner, Christian Dorfer, Maximilian Krawagna, Engelbert Knosp, and Camillo Sherif

Abstract Endovascular coil occlusion of ruptured cerebral aneurysms has a higher rate of rebleeding compared to surgical clipping. Initial aneurysm coil occlusion rate (OR) is the strongest available predictor of aneurysm rebleeding. Standard clinical subjective occlusion rating (SOR) is limited by subjective bias. Therefore, computerized occlusion rating (COR) was introduced. Its superiority was established for experimental and human aneurysms. In the present clinical study, we aimed to evaluate COR as a risk factor for postprocedural reruptures (PPRs) and intraprocedural reruptures (IPRs). In our series of 249 consecutive patients treated in our institution, we observed 7 (2.8%) cases with IPR and 7 (2.8%) cases with PPR. These patients were analyzed in the present study. Mean COR value was 85% (range 71-96%). In 12 (85.7%) cases, COR was lower than SOR. In aneurysms with a COR of 95% or higher, no PPR occurred. All

H. Milavec, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Cerebrovascular Research Group, Department of Biomedical Research, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Center for Medical Statistics, Informatics and Intelligent Systems, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Joggelacker 18, CH-5210 Windisch, Switzerland e-mail: milavec@gmx.ch

A. Gruber, M.D., C. Dorfer, M.D., M. Krawagna, M.D., and E. Knosp, M.D.

Department of Neurosurgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

E. Schuster, Ph.D. and E. Lahnsteiner, M.Sc. Center for Medical Statistics, Informatics and Intelligent Systems, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

C. Sherif, M.D.

Cerebrovascular Research Group, Department of Biomedical Research, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Department of Neurosurgery, Krankenanstalt Rudolfstiftung, Vienna, Austria

patients with IPR harbored multiple aneurysms. In conclusion, our data showed a distinct tendency of potentially dangerous overestimations when using SOR compared to the objectively measured COR values. IPR was always associated with multiple aneurysms.

Keywords Endovascular coiling • Occlusion rate • Intracranial aneurysm • Rehemorrhage • Intrainterventional rerupture • Postinterventional rerupture • Computerized occlusion rating

Introduction

Coil occlusion of intracranial aneurysms (IAs) has evolved as the first-line treatment for the majority of ruptured cerebral aneurysms [1]. Postprocedural aneurysm recurrence, rebleeding, and late rupture of incompletely occluded IAs remain drawbacks of endovascular coil embolization when compared to surgical clipping. The initial degree of aneurysm occlusion, referred to as occlusion rate (OR), is the only available predictor of aneurysm rebleeding with level 1 evidence [2]. Patients with an OR above 90% are at relatively low risk of recurrent bleeding in the long term [3].

In clinical routine, OR is only subjectively estimated. This subjective estimation is theoretically limited by considerable subjective bias. In an effort to address this issue, Sherif et al. [4] reported a new computer-assisted method for twodimensional digital subtraction angiography (DSA) images providing a more objective quantification of aneurysm occlusion on angiographic images. For experimental and human aneurysms, they showed the superiority of COR compared to angiographic subjective occlusion rating (SOR) estimations by examining the angiographic OR values in comparison with histometric computerized occlusion rating (COR) of postmortem-retrieved aneurysms [5]. In a subsequent study, the authors transferred these methods to a clinical series of 249 consecutive patients and hence also demonstrated, in a clinical setting, the superiority of COR over the present standard SOR. COR minimizes the unacceptable statistically significant interobserver variability [6].

The objective of the present study was to focus on COR along with other risk factors affecting intraprocedural rerupture (IPR) and postprocedural rerupture (PPR) and to describe the minimum COR rate that avoided rebleeding in this patient series.

Materials and Methods

This retrospective, single-center study included 14 patients with IPR or PPR, selected from a consecutive series of 249 patients with ruptured embolized IAs treated at the Department of Neurosurgery of the Medical University of Vienna in a 7-year period (1998–2004). Demographic and clinical evaluation included age at first treatment, sex, Hunt and Hess grade [7] at admission, aneurysm multiplicity, and treatment details such as time between first bleeding and first treatment.

All IAs were embolized with Guglielmi detachable coils (GDCs; Target Therapeutics/Boston Scientific, Fremont, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Pre- and postinterventional DSA was performed and

stored in digital imaging and communications in medicine (DICOM) format.

Immediately after coil embolization, the angiographic SOR of each aneurysm had been estimated by an experienced endovascular neurosurgeon according to Roy et al. [8]: Total occlusion (Roy class 1) was defined as 100% SOR, residual neck filling (Roy class 2) was defined as 95% SOR, and residual aneurysm filling (Roy class 3) was rounded to 10% accuracy (90%, 80%, 70%, etc.).

In a second step, a different independent observer performed COR of the DSA images using the new custom-made software CoilControl-2D[®] (NVtec-Neurovascular Technologies, Ltd., Vienna, Austria) (Fig. 1).

We used a binary logistic regression model to evaluate the influence of initial COR, aneurysm multiplicity, sex, and age on IPR and PPR. The paired *t* test was used to compare COR with SOR values.

Results

The findings of the quantitative evaluation are summarized in Table 1. In the present series (nine females and five males), we observed seven (2.8%) cases of IPR and seven (2.8%) cases of PPR.



Fig. 1 Image processing using CoilControl-2D[®]. *Left* Digital subtraction angiographic (*DSA*) image of a female patient, 58 years old, initially Hunt and Hess grade 1: Subjective occlusion rating (*SOR*) resulted in Roy class 3 estimation (<90%). The DSA shows a subtoally coiled aneurysm of the right M1/M2 bifurcation (middle cerebral artery, *MCA*). *Note:* The image shows a second coiled aneurysm of the posterior communicating artery (*Pcom*) *Right:* Image after processing with

the CoilControl-2D software. The total area of the aneurysm was defined. Based on a gray-level distinction of the contrast medium in the parent arteries, the blood-perfused areas within the aneurysm were defined and false-color labeled. The relation of blood-perfused areas within the aneurysm to total aneurysm area is given as percentage computerized occlusion rating (*COR*). The COR was notably lower, amounting to 64%

Table 1 Fin	idings of the qua	antitative evaluat	ion					
	Age (years)	Aneurysm multiplicity	H&H grade	Time to treatment (days)	Aneurysm rerupture (days)	SOR (%)	COR (%)	Aneurysm total area (mm ²)
Mean	52.83	0.71	3.00	6.21	41.64	91.43	84.86	61.593
SEM	3.274	0.125	0.363	1.594	39.204	1.522	2.355	16.9667
SD	12.251	0.469	1.359	5.964	146.689	5.694	8.813	63.4836
Minimum	36	0	1	0	0	80	64	18.6
Maximum	74	1	5	19	551	100	96	256.9

COR computerized occlusion rating, SOR subjective occlusion rating, H&H Hunt and Hess, SEM standard error of the mean, SD standard deviation

Fig. 2 Subjective occlusion rating (*SOR*) versus computerized occlusion rating (*COR*). *x axis* Patient number, *y axis* % COR. In 12 (85.7%) cases, COR values were lower than SOR estimations. The *t* test showed that the mean of COR values was significantly lower than the mean of SOR estimations (p=0.01)



Mean age at the time of the first treatment was 53 years, ranging from 36 to 74 years. Ten (71.4%) patients harbored multiple aneurysms.

The symptom duration before treatment ranged from 0 to 20 days. One (7.1%) patient was treated within 24 h, six (42.9%) patients received a treatment within the first 3 days, and seven (50%) patients were treated after the third day.

Of the seven aneurysms with PPR, two (28.6%) reruptured the day after initial treatment, one (14.3%) reruptured 2 days after treatment, and four (57.1%) aneurysms reruptured 3 days after treatment.

Subjective Occlusion Rating

The SOR estimations ranged from 80% to 100% (Fig. 2). SORs resulted in 100% occlusion for one (7.1%) aneurysm, in 95% occlusion for six (42.9%) aneurysms, in 90% occlusion for five (35.7%) aneurysms, and in less than 90% occlusion for two (14.3%) aneurysms.

Computerized Occlusion Rating

Mean COR was 85%, ranging from 71% to 96%. Four (28.6%) patients were graded from 91% to 99% COR. Nine (64.3%) patients had COR values ranging from 70% to 90%. One (7.1%) patient had a COR of 64%. The *t* test showed a significant difference between estimated SOR and measured COR (p=0.01). In 12 (85.7%) cases, COR values were lower than SOR estimations.

Intra- and Postprocedural Ruptures

We observed IPR in patients with a COR value from 81% to 96%. PPR occurred in patients with COR values ranging from 71% to 94%. Six (85.7%) of seven patients suffering from PPRs had a COR of less than 90% (Fig. 2). There was no PPR in aneurysms with a COR of 95% or higher.

All 7 patients who suffered IPR harbored additional unruptured aneurysms. There were significantly more females than males who presented with PPR (p=0.094). Aneurysm location, total aneurysm area, and initial Hunt and Hess grade [7] did not influence the occurrence of IPR or PPR in this series. Regressing the four variables COR, sex, age, and presence of multiple aneurysms led to correct predictions of IPR/PPR in 100%.

Discussion

Intraprocedural Reruptures

In our series, we could demonstrate that IPR remains a relevant risk of endovascular coiling procedures. According to the literature, the overall risk of IPR is 1–5% [9–11]. Elijovich et al. [10] reported potential predictors of IPR evaluating patients treated in the Cerebral Aneurysm Rerupture After Treatment (CARAT) study [2]. The authors documented IPR in 5% of their 299 patients; 63% of patients with IPR suffered incurring periprocedural death or disability as compared to only 15% of the patients without IPR. IPR occurred more frequently in clipping (19%) than in coiling (5%). In the present study, we could find a high risk of IPR for patients harboring multiple aneurysms, a condition that had not been analyzed in the CARAT study. Contrary to CARAT reporting a nonsignificant female IPR predominance, we did not observe any gender predominance for IPR. We feel this likely to be due to the smaller sample size of the present evaluations.

Postprocedural Reruptures

In a series of 1,001 patients, Johnston et al. [2] studied the predictors of early and late rehemorrhage after surgical and endovascular treatment of ruptured intracranial aneurysms. They reported that SOR estimation was the only statistically significant predictor with level 1 evidence for PPR. In their study, 75.9% of the aneurysms showed complete occlusion (SOR 100%), 17.3% were subtotally occluded (SOR 91–99%), 5.1% were partially occluded (SOR 70–90%), and 1.7% showed SOR values less than 70%. The authors concluded that complete aneurysm occlusion would not prevent aneurysm rerupture but minimize its risk. In the present study, we had no patient presenting with PPR above 95% COR. We would not dare, however, to conclude that 100% COR definitely prevents PPR. We feel it reasonable that this finding is related to the lower sample size of our study population as compared to the CARAT study.

Subjective Overestimation of Occlusion Rate

Analyzing the results of SOR, we observed in the present study a distinct tendency to overestimate aneurysmal occlusion compared to the more objective COR method. Previous findings support these results [4, 5]. The reasons for the superiority of COR are better aneurysmal border definition and better recognition of the contrast agent gray values. These factors result in minimized intra- and interobserver variability [6].

Raymond et al. [12] showed that Roy class 1 and 2 aneurysms are at a low risk of recurrence. The SOR overestimation documented in our data might lead to wrong follow-up decisions with a high risk of aneurysm recurrence. Thus, it might ultimately lead to rebleeding of COR Roy class 3 aneurysms that had been subjectively overestimated to SOR Roy class 1 and 2. This finding has a potentially great clinical impact as we may miss exactly these patients in our actual clinical routine.

Limitations

The small sample size of our study population is the main limitation to the present findings. A minimum of ten events per independent variable has been recommended [13], yet our study did not meet this requirement.

Three-dimensional (3D) structures are difficult to evaluate on two-dimensional (2D) images. Particularly for aneurysms with a complex anatomy, this is the major methodological limitation of 2D-COR. We tried to minimize this limitation by means of careful selection of representative images, displaying not only the aneurysm neck but also the whole extent of the aneurysm dome. = To avoid bias of 2D imaging evaluations, (...), 3D DSA or noninvasive 3D MRA will be required in future human series. These techniques are already available. Their superiority over 2D-SOR and even 2D-COR has been already established for experimental aneurysms [14].

Conclusion

In comparison to the objective COR values, SOR estimations showed the potential danger of overestimating aneurysm coil occlusion. These overestimations might result in wrong patient follow-ups in our actual clinical routine. An objectively assessed COR of 100% minimizes the risk of rebleeding. IPR was always associated with multiple aneurysms. **Conflicts of Interest Statement** Sherif C is shareholder of NVtec ltd., Vienna, Austria. The other authors have no conflict of interests.

References

- Molyneux A, Kerr R, Yu L-M, Clarke M, Sneade M, Yarnold JA, Sandercock P, International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) Collaborative Group (2005) International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups, and aneurysm occlusion. Lancet 366:809–817
- Johnston SC, Dowd CF, Higashida RT, Lawton MT, Duckwiler GR, Gress DR (2008) Predictors of rehemorrhage after treatment of ruptured intracranial aneurysms: the Cerebral Aneurysm Rerupture After Treatment (CARAT) study. Stroke 39: 120–125
- Schaafsma JD, Sprengers ME, van Rooij WJ, Sluzewski M, Majoie CB, Wermer MJ, Rinkel GJ (2009) Long-term recurrent subarachnoid hemorrhage after adequate coiling versus clipping of ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Stroke 40:1758–1763
- Sherif C, Plenk H Jr, Grossschmidt K, Kanz F, Bavinzski G (2006) Computer-assisted quantification of occlusion and coil densities on angiographic and histological images of experimental aneurysms. Neurosurgery 58:559–566
- Sherif C, Bavinzski G, Dorfer C, Kanz F, Schuster E, Plenk H Jr (2009) Computerized assessment of angiographic occlusion rate and coil density in embolized human cerebral aneurysms. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 30:1046–1053

- Sherif C, Gruber A, Schuster E, Lahnsteiner E, Gibson D, Milavec H, Feichter B, Wiesender M, Dorfer C, Krawagna M, di Ieva A, Bavinszki G, Knosp E (2012) Computerized occlusion-rating: a superior predictor of aneurysm rebleeding for ruptured embolized aneurysms. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2012 Apr 12. [Epub ahead of print]
- Hunt WE, Hess RM (1968) Surgical risk as related to time of intervention in the repair of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurosurg 28:14–20
- Roy D, Milot G, Raymond J (2001) Endovascular treatment of unruptured aneurysms. Stroke 32:1998–2004
- Brisman JL, Niimi Y, Song JK, Berenstein A (2008) Aneurysmal rupture during coiling: low incidence and good outcomes at a single large volume center. Neurosurgery 62:1538–1551
- Elijovich L, Higashida RT, Lawton MT, Duckwiler G, Giannotta S, Johnston SC (2008) Predictors and outcomes of intraprocedural rupture in patients treated for ruptured intracranial aneurysms: the CARAT study. Stroke 39:1501–1506
- Pierot L, Barbe C, Spelle L (2010) Endovascular treatment of very small unruptured aneurysms: rate of procedural complications, clinical outcome, and anatomical results. Stroke 41:2855–2859
- Raymond J, Guilbert F, Weill A, Roy D (2006) Follow-up of treated aneurysms: the challenge of recurrences and potential solutions. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 16:513–523, ix
- Peduzzi P, Concato J, Feinstein AR, Holford TR (1995) Importance of events per independent variable in proportional hazards regression analysis. II. Accuracy and precision of regression estimates. J Clin Epidemiol 48:1503–1510
- Sherif C, Marbacher S, Fandino J, Erhardt S, Neuschmelting V, Killer M, Remonda L. Three-dimensional computerized occlusionrating of embolized experimental aneurysms using noninvasive 1.5 T MR imaging. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2012 Apr; 33(4):661-6. Epub 2011 Dec 22

Spreading Ischemia After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Jens P. Dreier, Christoph Drenckhahn, Johannes Woitzik, Sebastian Major, Nikolas Offenhauser, Steffen Weber-Carstens, Stefan Wolf, Anthony J. Strong, Peter Vajkoczy, and Jed A. Hartings For the COSBID Study Group

Abstract Spreading depolarization (SD) is a wave of mass neuronal and glial depolarization associated with net influx

J.P. Dreier (🖂) and S. Major

Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Experimental Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany e-mail: jens.dreier@charite.de

C. Drenckhahn

Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

J. Woitzik and P. Vajkoczy Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurosurgery, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

N. Offenhauser Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Experimental Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

S. Weber-Carstens Department of Anesthesiology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

S. Wolf Department of Neurosurgery, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin 10117, Germany

A.J. Strong Department of Clinical Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK

J.A. Hartings Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA of cations and water. Prolonged SDs facilitate neuronal death. SD induces tone alterations in cerebral resistance arterioles, leading to either transient hyperperfusion (physiological neurovascular coupling) in healthy tissue or hypoperfusion (inverse neurovascular coupling = spreading ischemia) in tissue at risk for progressive damage. Spreading ischemia has been shown experimentally in an animal model replicating the conditions present following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), in animal models of the ischemic core and penumbra following middle cerebral artery occlusion, and in patients with aSAH. In animals, spreading ischemia produced widespread cortical necrosis. In patients, spreading ischemia occurred in temporal correlation with ischemic lesion development early and late after aSAH. We briefly review important features of SD and spreading ischemia following aSAH.

Keywords Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage • Spreading depression • Delayed cerebral ischemia

Introduction

Spreading depolarization (SD) is the generic term for depolarization waves in the central nervous system characterized by abrupt, near-complete sustained depolarization of neurons, observed as a large change of the slow electrical field potential. Moreover, SD is characterized by (1) near-complete breakdown of the transcellular ion gradients [23, 41], (2) extreme shunt of neuronal membrane resistance [3], (3) electrical activity loss (spreading depression) [26], and (4) neuron swelling with dendritic spine distortion [40]. Thus, the term SD describes a near-complete short circuit between neurons and extracellular space electrically, and a cytotoxic edema biochemically and morphologically [23, 40].

Synchronous near-complete sustained depolarization of thousands or millions of neurons with similar spatial orientation produces a large change of the slow extracellular potential as a direct electrocorticographic (ECoG) summary measure for SD [3]. In addition to the duration of the slow potential change, pattern and duration of the depression of spontaneous brain electrical activity and the polarity of ultraslow potential components can be assessed in the ECoG to determine the biological significance of a given SD [31].

SD is termed terminal SD in regions where neurons do not repolarize [15]. Terminal SD is always observed in response to heavily noxious situations, such as severe persistent hypoxia, severe focal ischemia (less than about 15 ml/100 g/min) or cardiac arrest. However, strictly speaking, only the initial segment of terminal SD represents the SD process, while the later ultraslow negative potential is assumed to reflect mechanisms of injury and death [31]. In contrast to heavily noxious conditions, mild ischemia induces a cluster of recurrent SDs with intermediate durations as observed experimentally using the endothelin-1 (ET-1) model of mild focal ischemia [8, 9, 31]. Very mild ischemia seems to trigger single, short-lasting events [30] whose patterns are almost identical to those recorded in normally perfused tissue around an ischemic zone where tissue recovers from SD within 1 or 2 min [29]. If oxygen, glucose, and regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) show tissue gradients, a gradual transition in space from terminal to short-lasting SD via intermediate SD patterns is measured when the depolarization wave travels along those gradients.

While terminal SD is always associated with neuronal death [34], neurons survive short-lasting SD [29, 30]. SDs of intermediate duration are typically observed in the ischemic penumbra after middle cerebral artery occlusion, defined as a region of constrained blood supply in which membrane ion homeostasis is preserved [20]. In those studies, SD occurrence and cumulative duration were correlated with infarct size and dynamics of infarct expansion [4, 18, 27]. Moreover, SDs that were chemically triggered outside the penumbra and that invaded it caused stepwise enlargement of the necrotic core [8, 40]. This suggested that SDs of intermediate duration initiate cascades leading to cell death similar to terminal SDs.

SD presumably entails triggers that activate intracellular signals causing neuronal death. However, this requires a certain minimum duration of a single SD or possibly cumulative duration of multiple SDs. The commitment point has been defined as the time point after onset of SD at which neurons undergoing SD start to be irreversibly damaged [36]. Of note, the neuronal network may transiently recover from such a deleteriously prolonged SD, and cell death may only occur in a delayed fashion. Potential mechanisms by which long-lasting SDs recruit tissue into cell death include the intracellular calcium overload, mitochondrial depolarization, and excessive release of glutamate [6, 33].

Using ECoG, SDs have been shown in abundance in patients with aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) and delayed ischemic stroke after aSAH [11, 13], malignant hemispheric stroke [5], spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury (TBI) [14, 19, 38]. The full spectrum of SD from short-lasting to very long-lasting events

was recorded in patients with aSAH [31] and TBI [19]. Interestingly, SDs also occurred in abundance in patients with delayed cerebral ischemia after aSAH in whom angiographic vasospasm was prevented by nicardipine prolonged-release implants [42]. There is increasing evidence that SDs represent an independent risk factor for poor outcome in patients with TBI [17] and aSAH [12].

The Normal Neurovascular Response to SD

In the normal neurovascular response to physiological neuronal activation and deactivation, neurotransmitter and neuropeptide release during synaptic transmission is involved [1]. Neuronal activation is associated with glutamate-evoked calcium influx in postsynaptic neurons, which activates production of nitric oxide (NO) and arachidonic acid metabolites. This results in vasodilation that reflects both presynaptic activity and the degree of postsynaptic depolarization. Furthermore, astrocytes sense glutamatergic transmission via metabotropic glutamate receptors, and signal vascular smooth muscle via end feet through arachidonic acid pathways [22]. SD is associated with more pronounced changes than physiological neuronal activation, but principles underlying the neurovascular response to SD may be remarkably similar to those underlying the neurovascular response to physiological neuronal activation [6]. This applies to the release of glutamate and vasoeffectors like NO and arachidonic acid metabolites, ion flux directions, and increase in metabolism and energy demand [25, 41].

Thus, rCBF increases in response to SD by more than 100%. This increase in rCBF typically propagates in the tissue together with the depolarization wave [28]. Therefore, it is termed *spreading hyperemia*. The spreading hyperemia seems to serve several purposes, including increased delivery of energy substrates such as glucose and oxygen to the tissue and increased clearance of metabolites from the extracellular space [39]. It outlasts SD and only ends after about 2 min. After the spreading hyperemia, rCBF shows a mild decrease for up to 2 h. This normal mild rCBF reduction after SD is called spreading oligemia [24]. During spreading oligemia, vascular responses to arterial pCO₂ changes and functional activation are attenuated [32].

The Inverse Neurovascular Response to SD

The inverse neurovascular response to SD is a marked, prolonged hypoperfusion due to severe arteriolar constriction that is evoked by SD under specific pathological conditions [6]. The inverse response occurs when there is local dysfunction of the microvasculature. With the inverse response, severe microarterial spasm instead of vasodilation is coupled to the neuronal depolarization phase of SD [10, 35, 37]. The resulting spreading perfusion deficit prolongs the neuronal depolarization phase since there is no energy for neuronal repolarization. This is observed as a prolonged negative slow potential change, also referred to as a negative direct current (DC) shift. During the inverse neurovascular response, neurons are particularly challenged as energy demand is increased and energy delivery is simultaneously decreased. The resulting prolonged depolarization is therefore more likely to cause lasting neuronal damage, as explained previously. In other words, the inverse neurovascular response to SD can convert a relatively harmless short-lasting SD into a harmful intermediate or even terminal SD. The inverse neurovascular response can thus cause widespread cortical necrosis in animals [7] in contrast to SD under physiological conditions to which hyperemia is coupled [29].

The hypoperfusion as a consequence of the inverse rCBF response to SD is often called spreading ischemia [10] to distinguish it from the harmless physiological spreading oligemia that occurs following SD-induced hyperemia under physiological conditions. Current experimental findings suggest that spreading ischemia results from a vicious cycle due to disturbed microvascular reactivity. This vicious cycle has been explained in more detail elsewhere [6]. Most important, the classic condition that causes this vicious cycle is a decrease of cortical NO availability combined with an increase of baseline extracellular potassium. Both conditions occur when blood lyses in the subarachnoid space after aSAH. Therefore, based on animal experiments, it was suggested that spreading ischemia may be a pathophysiological mechanism involved in the development of delayed cerebral ischemia after aSAH [10].

Spreading Ischemia in Patients After aSAH

Based on this experimental hypothesis, a prospective, multicenter study of the Co-Operative Studies on Brain Injury Depolarizations (COSBID) group was performed [11]. In this study, 13 patients with aSAH were investigated using subdural optoelectrode technology for simultaneous laser-Doppler flowmetry and DC-ECoG, combined with recordings of tissue partial pressure of oxygen. In total, 603 SDs were recorded in 2,467 h of ECoG recording time. SDs were characterized by a DC shift of -10.8 (-9,7, -13,7) mV (median, first, and third quartile, respectively) and a propagation velocity of 2.1 (1.8, 2.9) mm/min. Simultaneous ECoG and rCBF were measured in 1,953 h of recording time, during which 417 SDs were recorded. Isolated SDs were seen in 12 patients. Physiological, absent, or inverse rCBF responses were coupled to such isolated SDs. The normal hyperemic neurovascular response was associated with tissue hyperoxia, whereas tissue hypoxia accompanied the inverse response. In association with structural brain damage, temporal clusters of prolonged SDs were measured in five patients. These clusters

were typically associated with the inverse neurovascular response, spreading ischemia. Spreading ischemia could last for over 2 h during such clusters. Progressively hypoxic responses during clusters of SDs were also found in a subsequent study by Bosche and colleagues [2].

Pooling of all SDs with simultaneous recordings of ECoG and rCBF showed that 295 (71%) of 417 SDs had no initial hypoperfusion longer than 0.5 min, 78 (19%) SDs had an initial hypoperfusion of 0.5–2 min, and 16 (4%) had initial hypoperfusions of 2–5 min. The remaining 28 (7%) SDs showed spreading ischemia of 5–144 min in at least one optoelectrode pair. Importantly, the duration of SD-induced hypoperfusion correlated strongly with the duration of depolarization measured by the negative DC shift. These studies therefore suggested that, as in experimental animals, inverse coupling/spreading ischemia is a mechanism in the human brain that converts relatively harmless, short-lasting into deleterious long-lasting SDs.

Low-Frequency Vascular Fluctuations

Combined ECoG and rCBF monitoring also uncovered a characteristic vascular signature that might be used for noninvasive detection of SDs [6]. Low-frequency vascular fluctuations with a frequency of less than 0.1 Hz are determined by the resting spontaneous activity of the normal brain and can be detected by imaging methods such as near-infrared spectroscopy or functional magnetic resonance imaging [16]. SD causes a depolarization block of action potential generation, which disrupts this resting state and results in a spreading wave of depressed spontaneous activity [21]. Using subdural optoelectrode technology for simultaneous laser-Doppler flowmetry and ECoG, it was found that the SD-induced spreading depression of activity was accompanied by a spreading suppression of low-frequency vascular fluctuations in aSAH patients [11]. This characteristic vascular signature was associated with all neurovascular responses to SD, including physiological, absent, or inverse coupling. Importantly, the duration of the suppression of the low-frequency vascular fluctuation correlated significantly (R=0.91) with the duration of suppression of spontaneous ECoG activity.

Conclusion

Because the duration of suppression of spontaneous ECoG activity also correlates with the duration of the negative DC shift during SD, the spreading suppression of low-frequency vascular fluctuations may serve as a novel functional index of SDs and a noninvasive, real-time measure of ischemic cell damage in the human brain.

Acknowledgements Supported by grants of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG DR 323/3-1, 323/6-1), the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Center for Stroke Research Berlin, 01 EO 0801; Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience Berlin 01GQ1001C B2), the German Israeli Foundation (GIF No. 124/2008), and the Kompetenznetz Schlaganfall to Dr. Dreier, DFG DR 323/5-1 to Dr. Dreier and Dr. Woitzik, DFG WO 1704/1–1 to Dr. Woitzik, and U.S. Army CDMRP PH/TBI research programme to Dr. Hartings.

Conflicts of interest statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Attwell D, Iadecola C (2002) The neural basis of functional brain imaging signals. Trends Neurosci 25:621–625
- Bosche B, Graf R, Ernestus RI, Dohmen C, Reithmeier T, Brinker G, Strong AJ, Dreier JP, Woitzik J (2010) Recurrent spreading depolarizations after SAH decrease oxygen availability in human cerebral cortex. Ann Neurol 67:607–617
- Canals S, Makarova I, Lopez-Aguado L, Largo C, Ibarz JM, Herreras O (2005) Longitudinal depolarization gradients along the somatodendritic axis of CA1 pyramidal cells: a novel feature of spreading depression. J Neurophysiol 94:943–951
- Dijkhuizen RM, Beekwilder JP, van der Worp HB, Berkelbach van der Sprenkel JW, Tulleken KA, Nicolay K (1999) Correlation between tissue depolarizations and damage in focal ischemic rat brain. Brain Res 840:194–205
- Dohmen C, Sakowitz OW, Fabricius M, Bosche B, Reithmeier T, Ernestus RI, Brinker G, Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Strong AJ, Graf R (2008) Spreading depolarizations occur in human ischemic stroke with high incidence. Ann Neurol 63:720–728
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Dreier JP, Ebert N, Priller J, Megow D, Lindauer U, Klee R, Reuter U, Imai Y, Einhaupl KM, Victorov I, Dirnagl U (2000) Products of hemolysis in the subarachnoid space inducing spreading ischemia in the cortex and focal necrosis in rats: a model for delayed ischemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage? J Neurosurg 93:658–666
- Dreier JP, Kleeberg J, Alam M, Major S, Kohl-Bareis M, Petzold GC, Victorov I, Dirnagl U, Obrenovitch TP, Priller J (2007) Endothelin-1-induced spreading depression in rats is associated with a microarea of selective neuronal necrosis. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 232:204–213
- Dreier JP, Kleeberg J, Petzold G, Priller J, Windmuller O, Orzechowski HD, Lindauer U, Heinemann U, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U (2002) Endothelin-1 potently induces Leao's cortical spreading depression in vivo in the rat: a model for an endothelial trigger of migrainous aura? Brain 125:102–112
- Dreier JP, Korner K, Ebert N, Gorner A, Rubin I, Back T, Lindauer U, Wolf T, Villringer A, Einhaupl KM, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U (1998) Nitric oxide scavenging by hemoglobin or nitric oxide synthase inhibition by N-nitro-L-arginine induces cortical spreading ischemia when K+ is increased in the subarachnoid space. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:978–990
- Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic

damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain 132:1866-1881

- Dreier JP, Major S, Pannek HW, Woitzik J, Scheel M, Wiesenthal D, Martus P, Winkler M, Hartings JA, Fabricius M, Speckmann EJ, Gorji A (2011) Spreading convulsions, spreading depolarization, and epileptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. Brain 35:259–275
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237
- Fabricius M, Fuhr S, Bhatia R, Boutelle M, Hashemi P, Strong AJ, Lauritzen M (2006) Cortical spreading depression and peri-infarct depolarization in acutely injured human cerebral cortex. Brain 129:778–790
- Farkas E, Bari F, Obrenovitch TP (2010) Multi-modal imaging of anoxic depolarization and hemodynamic changes induced by cardiac arrest in the rat cerebral cortex. Neuroimage 51:734–742
- Fox MD, Raichle ME (2007) Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:700–711
- 17. Hartings JA, Bullock MR, Okonkwo DO, Murray LS, Murray GD, Fabricius M, Maas AIR, Woitzik J, Sakowitz OW, Mathern B, Roozenbeek B, Lingsma H, Dreier JP, Puccio AM, Shutter LA, Pahl C, Strong AJ (2011) Spreading depolarisations and outcome after traumatic brain injury: a prospective observational study. Lancet Neurol 10:1058–1064
- Hartings JA, Rolli ML, Lu XC, Tortella FC (2003) Delayed secondary phase of peri-infarct depolarizations after focal cerebral ischemia: relation to infarct growth and neuroprotection. J Neurosci 23:11602–11610
- Hartings JA, Watanabe T, Bullock MR, Okonkwo DO, Fabricius M, Woitzik J, Dreier JP, Puccio A, Shutter LA, Pahl C, Strong AJ (2011) Spreading depolarizations have prolonged direct current shifts and are associated with poor outcome in brain trauma. Brain 134:1529–1540
- Hossmann KA (1994) Viability thresholds and the penumbra of focal ischemia. Ann Neurol 36:557–565
- Kager H, Wadman WJ, Somjen GG (2002) Conditions for the triggering of spreading depression studied with computer simulations. J Neurophysiol 88:2700–2712
- 22. Koehler RC, Roman RJ, Harder DR (2009) Astrocytes and the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Trends Neurosci 32:160–169
- Kraig RP, Nicholson C (1978) Extracellular ionic variations during spreading depression. Neuroscience 3:1045–1059
- Lauritzen M (1994) Pathophysiology of the migraine aura. The spreading depression theory. Brain 117(Pt 1):199–210
- Lauritzen M, Hansen AJ, Kronborg D, Wieloch T (1990) Cortical spreading depression is associated with arachidonic acid accumulation and preservation of energy charge. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 10:115–122
- Leão AAP (1944) Spreading depression of activity in the cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol 7:359–390
- Mies G, Iijima T, Hossmann KA (1993) Correlation between periinfarct DC shifts and ischaemic neuronal damage in rat. Neuroreport 4:709–711
- Nakamura H, Strong AJ, Dohmen C, Sakowitz OW, Vollmar S, Sue M, Kracht L, Hashemi P, Bhatia R, Yoshimine T, Dreier JP, Dunn AK, Graf R (2010) Spreading depolarizations cycle around and enlarge focal ischaemic brain lesions. Brain 133:1994–2006
- Nedergaard M, Hansen AJ (1988) Spreading depression is not associated with neuronal injury in the normal brain. Brain Res 449:395–398

- Nozari A, Dilekoz E, Sukhotinsky I, Stein T, Eikermann-Haerter K, Liu C, Wang Y, Frosch MP, Waeber C, Ayata C, Moskowitz MA (2010) Microemboli may link spreading depression, migraine aura, and patent foramen ovale. Ann Neurol 67:221–229
- 31. Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Milakara D, Alam M, Jorks D, Major S, Hartings JA, Lückl J, Martus P, Graf R, Dohmen C, Bohner G, Woitzik J, Dreier JP (2010) Experimental and preliminary clinical evidence of an ischemic zone with prolonged negative DC shifts surrounded by a normally perfused tissue belt with persistent electrocorticographic depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1504–1519
- Piilgaard H, Lauritzen M (2009) Persistent increase in oxygen consumption and impaired neurovascular coupling after spreading depression in rat neocortex. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:1517–1527
- Rossi DJ, Oshima T, Attwell D (2000) Glutamate release in severe brain ischaemia is mainly by reversed uptake. Nature 403: 316–321
- 34. Saito R, Graf R, Hubel K, Fujita T, Rosner G, Heiss WD (1997) Reduction of infarct volume by halothane: effect on cerebral blood flow or perifocal spreading depression-like depolarizations. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 17:857–864
- Shin HK, Dunn AK, Jones PB, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2006) Vasoconstrictive neurovascular coupling during focal ischemic depolarizations. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1018–1030
- Somjen GG (2004) Ions in the brain. Oxford University Press, Oxford

- 37. Strong AJ, Anderson PJ, Watts HR, Virley DJ, Lloyd A, Irving EA, Nagafuji T, Ninomiya M, Nakamura H, Dunn AK, Graf R (2007) Peri-infarct depolarizations lead to loss of perfusion in ischaemic gyrencephalic cerebral cortex. Brain 130:995–1008
- Strong AJ, Fabricius M, Boutelle MG, Hibbins SJ, Hopwood SE, Jones R, Parkin MC, Lauritzen M (2002) Spreading and synchronous depressions of cortical activity in acutely injured human brain. Stroke 33:2738–2743
- 39. Sukhotinsky I, Yaseen MA, Sakadzic S, Ruvinskaya S, Sims JR, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2010) Perfusion pressuredependent recovery of cortical spreading depression is independent of tissue oxygenation over a wide physiologic range. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1168–1177
- Takano T, Tian GF, Peng W, Lou N, Lovatt D, Hansen AJ, Kasischke KA, Nedergaard M (2007) Cortical spreading depression causes and coincides with tissue hypoxia. Nat Neurosci 10:754–762
- Windmuller O, Lindauer U, Foddis M, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U, Heinemann U, Dreier JP (2005) Ion changes in spreading ischaemia induce rat middle cerebral artery constriction in the absence of NO. Brain 128:2042–2051
- 42. Woitzik J, Dreier JP, Hecht N, Fiss I, Sandow N, Major S, Winkler MKL, Dahlem YA, Manville J, Diepers M, Muench E, Kasuya H, Schmiedek P, Vajkoczy P (2012) Delayed cerebral ischemia and spreading depolarization in absence of angiographic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32:203–212

Full-Band Electrocorticography of Spreading Depolarizations in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Jed A. Hartings, J. Adam Wilson, Andrew C. Look, Achala Vagal, Lori A. Shutter, Jens P. Dreier, Andrew Ringer, and Mario Zuccarello

Abstract Cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) are a pathologic mechanism occurring in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and may contribute to delayed cerebral ischemia. We conducted a pilot study to determine the durations of depolarizations as measured by the negative direct current shifts in electrocorticography. Cortical electrode strips were placed in six patients (aged 35-63 years, Fisher grade 4, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies [WFNS] 3-4) with ruptured aneurysms treated by clip ligation. Full-band electrocorticography was performed by direct current amplification (g.USBamp, Guger Tec, Graz, Austria) with ±250-mV range, 24-bit digitization, and recording/display with a customized BCI2000 platform. We recorded 191 CSDs in 4 patients, and direct current shifts of CSD (n=403) were measured at 20 electrodes. Amplitudes were 7.2 mV (median; quartiles 6.2, 7.9), and durations were 2 min 14 s (1:53, 2:45). Ten direct current shifts in two patients with delayed infarcts were longer than 10 min, ranging up to 28 min. Taken together with previous studies, results suggest a threshold of 3-3.5 min to distinguish a normally distributed class of short CSDs with spreading hyperemia from prolonged CSDs with initial spreading ischemia.

J.A. Hartings, Ph.D. (Z), J.A. Wilson, L.A. Shutter,

A. Ringer, and M. Zuccarello

Department of Neurosurgery, Neuroscience Institute, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, 260 Stetson Street, Suite 2200, Cincinnati, OH 45219, USA e-mail: jed.hartings@uc.edu

A.C. Look

A. Vagal

Department of Radiology, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, USA

J.P. Dreier

Departments of Neurology and Experimental Neurology, Centre for Stroke Research, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany Results further demonstrate the clinical feasibility of direct current electrocorticography to monitor CSDs and assess their role in the pathology and management of subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Keywords Cortical spreading depression • Spreading depolarization • Electrocorticography • Electroencephalography • Stroke • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Delayed cerebral ischemia • Vasospasm • Neuromonitoring • Neurocritical care

Introduction

Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) is the leading cause of mortality and disability in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [21]. Occurring from days 4 to 14 after hemorrhage, DCI is evidenced by clinical deterioration, such as new onset of focal neurological impairment, and may result in the appearance of new infarcts on imaging that were not present after securing the aneurysm [25]. DCI is presumably a consequence of extravasation of blood as its toxic by-products exert effects on proximal arteries, microvasculature, or underlying cerebral cortex. However, cortical lesions represent by far the most abundant pathomorphological finding in autopsy studies of DCI after SAH [23] and are more common than territorial infarcts [8, 22]. These patterns suggest that DCI cannot be explained only by proximal vasospasm as diagnosed through angiography.

A novel pathologic mechanism described in experimental and clinical studies in SAH is cortical spreading depolarization (CSD), as reviewed recently [1, 4, 16]. CSD describes a class of pathologic electrochemical waves that slowly propagate through cerebral gray matter at 2–5 mm/min. CSD is elicited when the Na⁺/K⁺ ATP-ase (adenosine triphosphatase) fails to compensate for cation influx of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺, resulting in near-complete sustained depolarization of

University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, USA

neurons and glia. Water follows the net gain of intracellular solutes, resulting in abruptly developing cytotoxic edema. CSD is observed as an abrupt, large, negative potential shift in the low-frequency or near-direct-current (DC) range of the electrocorticogram (ECoG) [2, 13, 19]. The negative DC shift closely relates to the near-complete breakdown of electrochemical gradients across cellular membranes during mass depolarization and therefore generally mirrors the rise of $[K^+]_o$ and decline of $[Na^+]_o$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_o$ [11, 17]. In the high-frequency or alternating current (AC) range of the ECoG, CSD causes silencing of spontaneous activity (spreading depression).

Recovery from CSD depends on adequate cerebral blood flow and intact neurovascular coupling to match the increased demand for ATP (adenosine triphosphate) and restore ion gradients by the Na⁺/K⁺ pump. Thus, with normal neurovascular coupling, the hemodynamic response to CSD is spreading hyperemia, which allows for rapid repolarization, recovery of the negative DC shift, and restoration of spontaneous activity [20]. In the presence of erythrocyte degradation products such as potassium and hemoglobin, however, the hemodynamic response inverts to a cortical spreading ischemia due to profound microvascular constriction in response to depolarization [5, 6]. Cortical spreading ischemia results in prolongation of the depolarization, reflected in the duration of the negative DC shift. Prolonged depolarizations accompanied by spreading ischemia result in necrotic cortical lesions in animals [5, 19] and are a candidate mechanism underlying DCI in humans [9]. Therefore, the negative DC shift duration may serve as an index of the pathogenic effect of CSD.

Most clinical studies of CSD have used AC ECoG in the 0.1-100 Hz range, which precludes a direct assessment of the duration of tissue depolarization reflected by the negative DC shift at frequencies less than 0.1 Hz [3, 9, 10, 12]. Therefore, the durations of CSD-induced depression of spontaneous activity are used as a less-direct, although important, functional measure of the impact of CSD. More recently, however, Dreier and colleagues have successfully implemented full-band (0-100 Hz) ECoG recordings using DC-coupled amplifiers [7, 19] a technique that is ubiquitous in animal studies of CSD. They found that spreading ischemia occurs in the human brain after SAH and is associated with more prolonged DC shifts. Thus, given the importance of DC-ECoG as a direct extracellular measure of cortical depolarization, the objective of the present study was to gain further experience in full-band ECoG using DC-coupled amplifiers. In particular, we used an amplifier and data acquisition system commonly used in clinical epilepsy studies of brain-computer interfaces. In a pilot study of poorgrade SAH, here we report characteristics of the DC potential shifts of CSD and their association with vasospasm and DCI.

Methods

Clinical Protocol

Six patients with aneurysmal SAH were prospectively recruited. Inclusion criteria were (1) ruptured saccular aneurysm demonstrated by computed tomographic (CT) angiography, (2) onset of symptoms less than 72 h before admission, (3) World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grade III–IV, (4) diffuse thick or localized thick clot greater than 1 mm on initial CT (Fisher grade 3–4), (5) surgical treatment by clip ligation less than 24 h after admission, and (6) age 18–70 years. Research was approved by the local institutional review board and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consents were obtained from legally authorized representatives prior to the start of study procedures.

At the conclusion of surgery, an electrode strip for subsequent ECoG was placed on the surface of viable cortex in the vascular territory of the affected artery. After surgery, patients were transferred to the intensive care unit, where continuous ECoG was acquired for up to 15 days. Thereafter, electrode strips were removed at the bedside by gentle traction. No hemorrhagic or infectious complications of the electrode strip were encountered. Clinical outcome was assessed at 6 months using the Glasgow Outcome Scale Extended (GOSE) by a telephone interview or clinic visit.

Throughout recordings, patients were ventilated and pharmacologically immobilized as required. Sedation was mostly maintained with propofol or midazolam, and analgesia was provided with fentanyl. Intracranial pressure (ICP) was monitored, if clinically indicated, by a ventricular drainage catheter or an intraparenchymal ICP transducer (Codman, Raynham, MA). Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score, blood gases, glucose, and electrolytes were documented regularly.

A delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) was defined as a decrease of at least 2 points on the GCS exam or the occurrence of a new focal neurological impairment that persisted for at least 1 h, occurred more than 3 days after SAH, and was not present after aneurysm occlusion. The diagnosis of a DIND required the exclusion of other causes by routine assessments, including CT imaging, physiologic measures, and appropriate laboratory studies [25]. Serial CT scans were performed postoperatively, at the time of clinical deterioration, and after the monitoring period to screen for delayed infarcts. In addition, four patients had magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies after termination of ECoG on days 6-16 post-SAH. Imaging was evaluated by a study neuroradiologist (A.V.) for Fisher grade scoring and to determine the presence of delayed infarcts. Significant vasospasm was defined using transcranial Doppler (TCD) sonography as mean velocity of 200 cm/s or greater in at least one middle cerebral artery (MCA) [26]. Patients with angiogram-proven vasospasm or elevated TCD velocities were treated with hemodynamic therapy (hypertension, hypervolemia) [24]. Patients with DIND but no evidence of vasospasm were maintained normotensive and euvolemic.

Electrocorticography

The ECoG recordings were made from a linear subdural strip that consisted of six electrodes with 10-mm spacing between contacts (Wyler, Ad-Tech Medical, Racine, WI), and ground was provided by a self-adhesive Ag/AgCl patch electrode on the shoulder. Cortical strip electrodes were connected in a sequential bipolar fashion to a full-band, DC-coupled amplifier (g.USBamp, Guger Technologies, Graz, Austria). The amplifier records with a ±250-mV range and uses 24-bit digitization to obtain resolution less than 30 nV; it was set to digitize the analog signal at 1,200 samples/s. No filtering was performed at the recording stage, yielding a frequency range of 0-600 Hz. When monitored, analog signals of ICP, arterial blood pressure, partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen (P₂O₂; Licox, Plainsboro, NJ), and local cerebral blood flow (Hemedex, Inc., Boston) were acquired by the g.USBamp without signal conditioning through a custom interface. Digital ECoG and physiologic signals were recorded and displayed at bedside using the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) Multi-Modal Monitor (M3). The M3 was developed based on the BCI2000 platform, a brain-computer interface tool written in C++ to support a variety of data acquisition systems, which was adapted to meet the needs of multimodal data acquisition and research in neurocritical care (see the chapter by Wilson et al., this volume).

Data Processing and Analysis

For review and scoring, ECoG and physiologic signals were down-sampled to 200 Hz, imported into LabChart software (ADInstruments, New South Wales, Australia), and analyzed off line for CSD. In DC recordings, the signature of spreading depolarization is a sustained negative shift of the slow potential of 2–15 mV lasting more than 1 min [14]. When spontaneous brain electrical activity is present (0.5–100 Hz band), the depolarization also causes electrocorticographic depression, which spreads with the negative DC shift. Thus, spreading depolarizations were identified by (1) the simultaneous occurrence of the negative DC shift and depression of spontaneous activity and (2) the sequential occurrence of DC shifts and depressions on adjacent channels, evidencing the propagation of CSD across the cortex. DC shifts in bipolar recordings may reflect the superposition (subtraction) of DC shifts occurring individually at each of the two electrodes connected in a recording channel [14]. This distortion precludes analysis of DC shift durations and amplitudes, which can only be interpreted as monopolar signals of an active channel against a neutral reference. Therefore, for analysis of DC shifts, pseudoreferential channels were derived from the original bipolar recordings. Pseudoreferential channels are derived by summing adjacent channels so that the derived channel reflects the potential difference between an active electrode of interest (i.e., with depolarizations) and a silent pseudoreference electrode [13]. An appropriate reference electrode is identified as one with a stable baseline and lack of depolarization activity.

Data are given as median (first, third quartile); p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

ECoG was obtained from six patients who were surgically treated by clip ligation for ruptured saccular aneurysms. Patient characteristics are given in Table 1. All patients were operated within 24 h after admission, and ECoG recordings began within 3 days of onset of SAH symptoms. Long-duration recordings through the period of risk for DCI were possible in only two patients (9.9- and 12.9-day durations). In other patients, recordings were terminated early due to damage to electrode lead wires (n=3) and based on clinical decision of a favorable recovery (n=1). CSDs were observed in four patients.

A total of nine DINDs occurred in six patients, and two were associated with concurrent vasospasm. ECoG recordings were obtained during only one DIND, which precludes assessment of their association with CSD. Delayed infarcts occurred in four patients. Three of these had both CSD and significant vasospasm; the fourth had neither. Only one delayed infarct was directly attributable to vasospasm. In addition to CSD, two patients had focal electrographic status epilepticus based on ECoG. Patient 1 had 53 seizures lasting 17.2 h, and patient 6 had 28 seizures lasting 8.6 h.

The majority of CSDs (148 of 191, 77%) occurred in 3 patients through day 5 post-SAH. Both patients with recordings through days 6–13 had a total of 43 CSDs in this period. Amplitudes and durations of DC shifts were measured in pseudoreferential derivations of recordings from each electrode. For each CSD, the DC shift was measured at each electrode participating in the wave and having a stable baseline. Thus, 403 DC shifts total were measured for the 148 events, providing an average of 2.72 electrodes analyzed for each depolarization wave. These occurred at 20 of the total possible 24 electrodes of 4 patients. Electrode impedances ranged from 6 to 110 k Ω , with the majority

Table 1 Sur	nmary of	f Patient C	Characteris	stics								
Patient no.	Age, sex	Fisher grade	WFNS	Aneurysm location, size (mm)	ECoG start (days post-SAH)	ECoG duration (days)	Number of CSD	Max DC shift duration (min)	DIND (days post-SAH)	Vasospasm (days post-SAH) ^a	Delayed infarct	6-month GOSE
1	63, F	4	4	ACoP, 3	0.5	2.5	97	8.3	6.4, 7.7	No	No	4
2	35, F	4	4	MCA, 5	3.0	9.9	17	28.1	15.4	Yes, 4–8	Yes	2
3	49, F	4	4	BCA, 3	1.3	6.0	0	I	7.6	No	Yes	7
4	61, M	4	ю	ACA, 2	0.6	3.8	0	I	7.2, 9.3	No data	No	8
5	35, F	4	ю	ICA, 4	1.4	12.9	31	7.8	17.5	Yes, 9–17	$\mathbf{Yes}^{\mathrm{b}}$	8
9	51, F	4	4	ICA, 3	1.5	2.7	46	10.9	3.2, 6.0	Yes, 6–9	Yes	8
ACoP poster depolarizatio	ior comr n, WFN	nunicating S World F	g artery, M	ICA middle cerebral art of Neurological Societ	ery, <i>BCA</i> basal ceret ies scale, <i>DIND</i> dela	bral artery, ACA ar ayed ischemic neu	nterior cere urologic de	bral artery, <i>ICA</i> ir ficit, <i>GOSE</i> Glasg	iternal carotid artery, gow Outcome Scale	, DC direct current, CEXtended, SAH subs	CSD cortica arachnoid h	l spreading emorrhage,

ECoG electrocorticography ^aBased on transcranial Doppler (TCD) sonography. Computed tomographic (CT) angiography data were available for patients 2 and 5 and confirmed TCD findings ^bVasospasm-related territorial infarct of posterior cerebral artery (PCA)-MCA distribution

(68%) in the 20–40 k Ω range, and offset potentials were typically less than 100 mV.

DC Shift Durations

The median duration of DC shifts at the 20 electrodes was 2 min 14 s (quartiles 1:53, 2:45). Maximum and minimum durations observed at each electrode were 4:35 (3:16, 7:56) and 1:26 (1:10, 1:53), respectively. Median amplitude at the 20 electrodes was 7.2 mV (6.2, 7.9). Figure 1a shows

the frequency distribution of all 403 DC shift durations. This distribution differs significantly from normality, with a skew toward larger values (Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests, p < 0.01). We assumed that within this distribution there is a population of shorter events reflecting CSD as occurs in normal tissue with spreading hyperemia, and that these conform to a normal distribution, whereas longer CSDs in tissue with impaired metabolism or inverse vascular reactivity (spreading ischemia) account for the positive skew. To distinguish these groups, tests for fit to a normal distribution were performed as the longest-duration DC shifts were truncated from the distribution. At a cutoff of 3 min 13 s, the distribution no longer differed from



Fig. 1 Histograms of direct current (*DC*) shift durations. Frequency distribution of all 403 DC shifts measured at 20 electrodes in 4 patients (**a**) and of 310 DC shifts after removing all values greater than 3 min 13 s (**b**). *Solid lines* show normal fits to the distributions. *Dashed vertical lines* show the 95% confidence value for the distribution in (**b**) normality (Kolmogorov-Smirnov, p > 0.05) (Fig. 1b). For the truncated distribution, the mean was 2 min 4 s (SD 0:29), and 95% of values were less than 2 min 52 s. Using this 95% confidence interval of the truncated distribution as a cutoff, 310 of all 403 (77%) DC shifts were of short duration, and 93 (23%) were prolonged. Prolonged DC shifts occurred at 16 of 20 electrodes and in all 4 patients with CSD.

Case Examples of Very Prolonged DC Shifts

While prolonged DC shifts were common, two patients exhibited particularly long DC shifts lasting more than 10 min. The case example of patient 2 is illustrated in Fig. 2. This 35-year-old female had an MCA aneurysm clipped on day 1 and underwent a decompressive craniectomy on day 2 due to rising ICP and mass effect in association with MCA stroke (Fig. 2d). No CSD was observed from the start of ECoG recording at 3 days post-SAH until day 7. Seventeen CSDs then occurred from day 7 to day 13 (Fig. 2a, b). DC shifts at the anteriorly located electrode 3 were mostly less than 4 min in duration and did not increase. By contrast, at posterior electrode 6, DC shifts were initially less than 5 min but progressively increased to 15 min and then 28 min by day 13. Neurologic exam was steady throughout these episodes, improved from GCS 8 to 10 at 5 h after the last CSD, and remained 10 when no CSD occurred on the last day of recording. Vasospasm was diagnosed by TCD and CT angiography on days 4-8 in left proximal MCA and MCA-ACA (anterior cerebral artery) windows, but flow velocities attenuated thereafter, before prolongation of CSDs. On day 16, MRI showed a new infarction of the basal ganglia (Fig. 2e, f).

In patient 6, an electrode strip was placed at the anterior temporal lobe after clipping an ICA (internal carotid artery) aneurysm (Fig. 3a, b). In 2.7 days of recording, 46 CSDs occurred at four electrodes. All DC shift durations were less than 4 min at three electrodes. In the fourth electrode, durations were less than 2 min through 2.0 days post-SAH, but then 5 CSDs became prolonged until day 3.6, ranging from 5 min 20 s to 10 min 55 s. At this time, a DIND occurred with decrease in GCS from 13 to 9. After ECoG ended, a second DIND occurred at day 6, with the onset of vasospasm diagnosed by TCD flow velocity greater than 200 cm/s in the MCA-ACA window. Follow-up MRI on day 7 showed development of a new infarct in the anterior temporal lobe adjacent to the electrode strip (Fig. 3c, d).

Discussion

This pilot study confirmed the technical feasibility of obtaining long-term, full-band ECoG recordings in patients with acute brain injury. The major challenge of recording with DC amplifiers is an unstable, shifting baseline potential, which complicates recording and review for several reasons. First, there is a possibility that the baseline potential would exceed the input range of the amplifier, resulting in clipping of the signal and loss of data. To prevent this, a lower gain setting could be used, but at the cost of reduced resolution of the lower-amplitude signals in the higher-frequency ranges (>0.5 Hz) typically studied in clinical neurophysiology. Finally, shifting baselines complicate data review because frequent adjustment to amplitude scaling and range are required to maintain signals in display view. AC amplifiers, the common choice for clinical neurophysiology studies, avoid these pitfalls with use of capacitative coupling to filter baseline offset potentials, but at the cost of losing low-frequency (<0.1 Hz) signals.

In our study using the DC-coupled g.USBamp (Guger Technologies, Graz, Austria) and a custom platform for data acquisition and display (see the chapter by Wilson et al., this volume), these theoretical problems were not encountered. Offset potentials between platinum cortical electrodes were usually less than 100 mV and never exceeded the ±250 mV recording range of the amplifier. Furthermore, excellent amplitude resolution to less than 30 nV was obtained with 24-bit digitization. Real-time review and display of data were facilitated by the use of various data-processing tabs customized for study of CSD. These included display of raw and filtered data (to view slow potentials with a constant baseline [0.02 Hz high-pass filter] and to view high-frequency activity [0.5-100 Hz band-pass filter]) in addition to processed measures such as spectrograms and power ratios. Thus, demonstration of full-band recording methods with DC amplifiers, both here and in studies of Dreier and colleagues [7, 19], should enable their broader use.

Previously, we used an inverse filter signal-processing technique to recover DC potentials from recordings made with AC-coupled amplifiers [14]. These studies confirmed that complex, multiphasic, slow potential changes in AC recordings do reflect the typical DC potential shifts of spreading depolarizations as recorded in animals with DC amplifiers. Furthermore, using this technique to analyze 295 negative DC shifts in patients with traumatic brain injury, we found a median duration of 2 min 22 s (1:56, 3:04) [13], which is similar to the values found here in SAH patients (median 2:14 [1:53, 2:45]). Based on these studies, it appears that 3 min is a conservative upper limit for the duration of a normally distributed group of shorter CSD events. These are presumed to be depolarizations coupled to a primary hyperemic response as evoked experimentally in the uninjured brain [15, 18, 20]. Human data support this: Depolarizations with initial hypoperfusion (i.e., spreading ischemia), as recorded with laser Doppler flowmetry adjacent to electrodes, were observed mainly when negative DC shift durations exceeded 3.5 min [7]. Thus, a threshold of 3–3.5 min may represent a physiologic principle in the human brain distinguishing different degrees of CSD pathology.



Fig. 2 Prolongation of direct current (*DC*) shifts and delayed infarction. (a) The DC shift durations of spreading depolarizations occurring on electrodes 3–6 from days 6 to 13 after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). Depolarization waves highlighted with dashed boxes (*i*, *ii*) are shown in (b). Top traces in (b) show full-band DC-ECoG (*electrocorticography*) and bottom traces show recordings of the same electrodes (3–6) after high-pass filtering (0.5 Hz). Note the prolongation of depolarizations occurring on day 13 (*ii*, *arrows*) compared to day 8 (*i*). (**c**, **d**) Postoperative computed tomographic (*CT*) scans on day 4 after SAH. (**e**, **f**) T2 fluidattenuated inversion recovery (*FLAIR*) and diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (*MRI*) scans, respectively, obtained on day 16 after completion of ECoG. Diffusion restriction and hyperintense FLAIR signal in the basal ganglia (*arrows*) are consistent with acute infarction, which is new relative to the postoperative CT



Fig. 2 (continued)



Fig. 3 Development of delayed infarct. (**a**, **b**) The positioning of the electrode strip along the right anterior temporal lobe in postoperative computed tomographic (*CT*) scans on day 2 after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). The *arrow* in (**b**) shows the location of electrode artifact. (**c**, **d**) Diffusion-weighted and T2 fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (*FLAIR*) magnetic resonance imaging (*MRI*) scans, respectively, obtained on day 7, after completion of electrocorticography (*ECoG*).

Diffusion restriction and hyperintense FLAIR signal in the right anterior temporal lobe (*arrows*) are consistent with acute infarction, which is new relative to the postoperative CT and located adjacent to the electrode strip (**b**)

We found that prolonged negative DC shifts are common in SAH, occurring at 16 of the 20 electrodes that had CSD. This is likely attributable to the uniformly poor grade of patients studied, in whom DIND and delayed infarction occurred with high incidence. Limitations in sample size and ECoG recording durations preclude any assessment of the association of CSD with DCI, vasospasm, or outcome. However, it is noteworthy that two patients with delayed infarct development had CSDs of increasing duration that eventually exceeded 10 min. These results are consistent with a possible role of CSD and ECoG in the pathogenesis and monitoring of DCI, respectively. The value of different measures of CSD, such as high-frequency depression durations, DC shift durations, and their temporal patterns, to monitor DCI is the focus of a larger patient series and deserves further study.

Conclusion

Taken together with previous studies, our results suggest a threshold of 3–3.5 min to distinguish a normally distributed class of short CSDs with spreading hyperemia from prolonged CSDs with initial spreading ischemia. Results further demonstrate the clinical feasibility of direct current electrocorticography to monitor CSDs and assess their role in the pathology and management of subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Acknowledgments Supported by a grant from the Mayfield Education and Research Foundation. Dr. Dreier acknowledges support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG DR 323/5-1) and the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Center for Stroke Research Berlin, 01 EO 0801).

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Andaluz N, Zuccarello M, Dreier JP, Hartings JA (2011) The role of cortical spreading depolarizations in delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Bras Neurochir 22:45–53
- Canals S, Makarova I, Lopez-Aguado L, Largo C, Ibarz JM, Herreras O (2005) Longitudinal depolarization gradients along the somatodendritic axis of CA1 pyramidal cells: a novel feature of spreading depression. J Neurophysiol 94:943–951
- Dohmen C, Sakowitz OW, Fabricius M, Bosche B, Reithmeier T, Ernestus RI, Brinker G, Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Strong AJ, Graf R (2008) Spreading depolarizations occur in human ischemic stroke with high incidence. Ann Neurol 63:720–728
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447

- 6. Dreier JP, Korner K, Ebert N, Gorner A, Rubin I, Back T, Lindauer U, Wolf T, Villringer A, Einhaupl KM, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U (1998) Nitric oxide scavenging by hemoglobin or nitric oxide synthase inhibition by N-nitro-L-arginine induces cortical spreading ischemia when K+ is increased in the subarachnoid space. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:978–990
- Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132:1866–1881
- Dreier JP, Sakowitz OW, Harder A, Zimmer C, Dirnagl U, Valdueza JM, Unterberg AW (2002) Focal laminar cortical MR signal abnormalities after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Ann Neurol 52:825–829
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid haemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237
- Fabricius M, Fuhr S, Bhatia R, Boutelle M, Hashemi P, Strong AJ, Lauritzen M (2006) Cortical spreading depression and peri-infarct depolarization in acutely injured human cerebral cortex. Brain 129:778–790
- Hansen AJ, Zeuthen T (1981) Extracellular ion concentrations during spreading depression and ischemia in the rat brain cortex. Acta Physiol Scand 113:437–445
- Hartings JA, Strong AJ, Fabricius M, Manning A, Bhatia R, Dreier JP, Mazzeo AT, Tortella FC, Bullock MR (2009) Spreading depolarizations and late secondary insults after traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 26:1857–1866
- Hartings JA, Watanabe T, Bullock MR, Okonkwo DO, Fabricius M, Woitzik J, Dreier JP, Puccio A, Shutter LA, Pahl C, Strong AJ (2011) Spreading depolarizations have prolonged direct current shifts and are associated with poor outcome in brain trauma. Brain 134:1529–1540
- Hartings JA, Watanabe T, Dreier JP, Major S, Vendelbo L, Fabricius M (2009) Recovery of slow potentials in AC-coupled electrocorticography: application to spreading depolarizations in rat and human cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol 102:2563–2575
- 15. Hashemi P, Bhatia R, Nakamura H, Dreier JP, Graf R, Strong AJ, Boutelle MG (2008) Persisting depletion of brain glucose following cortical spreading depression, despite apparent hyperaemia: evidence for risk of an adverse effect of Leão's spreading depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:166–175
- Iadecola C (2009) Bleeding in the brain: killer waves of depolarization in subarachnoid bleed. Nat Med 15:1131–1132
- Kraig RP, Nicholson C (1978) Extracellular ionic variations during spreading depression. Neuroscience 3:1045–1059
- Nedergaard M, Hansen AJ (1988) Spreading depression is not associated with neuronal injury in the normal brain. Brain Res 449:395–398
- Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Milakara D, Alam M, Jorks D, Major S, Hartings JA, Luckl J, Martus P, Graf R, Dohmen C, Bohner G, Woitzik J, Dreier JP (2010) Experimental and preliminary clinical evidence of an ischemic zone with prolonged negative DC shifts surrounded by a normally perfused tissue belt with persistent electrocorticographic depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30: 1504–1519

- Piilgaard H, Lauritzen M (2009) Persistent increase in oxygen consumption and impaired neurovascular coupling after spreading depression in rat neocortex. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:1517–1527
- Roos YB, de Haan RJ, Beenen LF, Groen RJ, Albrecht KW, Vermeulen M (2000) Complications and outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a prospective hospital based cohort study in the Netherlands. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 68:337–341
- 22. Schatlo B, Dreier JP, Gläsker S, Fathi A-R, Moncrief T, Oldfield EH, Vortmeyer AO, Pluta RM (2010) Report of selective cortical infarcts in the primate clot model of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 67:721–729
- 23. Stoltenburg-Didinger G, Schwarz K (1987) Brain lesions secondary to subarachnoid hemorrhage due to ruptured aneurysms. In:

Cervo's-Navarro J, Ferszt R (eds) Stroke and microcirculation. Raven, New York, pp 471–480

- van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ (2001) Subarachnoid haemorrhage: diagnosis, causes and management. Brain 124:249–278
- 25. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Dreier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- Vora YY, Suarez-Almazor M, Steinke DE, Martin ML, Findlay JM (1999) Role of transcranial Doppler monitoring in the diagnosis of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 44:1237–1247; discussion 1247–1238

Cerebral Glucose and Spreading Depolarization in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Asita Sarrafzadeh, Edgar Santos, Dirk Wiesenthal, Peter Martus, Peter Vajkoczy, Marcel Oehmchen, Andreas Unterberg, Jens P. Dreier, and Oliver Sakowitz

Abstract The pathogenesis of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) is multifactorial and not completely elucidated. Our objective was to determine if episodes of spreading depolarization (SD) are reflected in compromised levels of extracellular glucose monitored by bedside microdialysis (MD) in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) patients. Patients with aSAH, prospectively included in the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) protocol (Berlin, Heidelberg), had hourly monitoring of cerebral glucose by MD and in parallel electrocorticographic (ECoG) monitoring for SD detection on day of admission until days 10–14 after

A. Sarrafzadeh, M.D. (⊠) Department of Neurosurgery, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany

Division of Neurosurgery, Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva Neuroscience Center, Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Switzerland e-mail: asita.sarrafzadeh@charite.de

E. Santos, A. Unterberg, and O. Sakowitz Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

D. Wiesenthal Institute of Biometrie and Clinical Epidemiology, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany

P. Martus Institute of Biometrie and Clinical Epidemiology, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany

Institute of Medical Biometrie, University Tübingen

P. Vajkoczy Department of Neurosurgery, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany

M. Oehmichen Department of Neurosurgery, Military Hospital Berlin, Academic Teching Hospital Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany

J.P. Dreier Department of Neurology, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany aSAH. Cerebral MD probes were placed in the vascular territory at risk for DCI. Twenty-one aSAH patients (53.3 ± 9.1 years; mean ± standard deviation), classified according to the World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) in low (I-III, 11) and high (IV-V, 10) grades, were studied. Of these, 13 patients (62%) presented with DCI. Median glucose was 1.48 (0.00-8.79). Median occurrence of SD was 7 (0-66)/ patients. High WFNS grade (WFNS grades IV-V) patients had more SDs (p=0.027), while the overall glucose level did not differ. In high-grade SAH patients, SDs were more frequent. Individually, the occurrence of SD was not linked to local deviations (neither high nor low) from the LOWESS (locally weighted scatterplot smoothing) trend curve for extracellular glucose concentrations. Rapid-sampling MD techniques and analyses of SD clusters may elucidate more detail of the relationship between SD and brain energy metabolism.

Keywords Cortical spreading depolarization • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Electrocorticography • Cerebral microdialysis

Introduction

Advances in medical and surgical management have resulted in a dramatic decline in hospital mortality after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) [16]. Nevertheless, aSAH remains a major cause of premature mortality, accounting for 27% of all stroke-related potential years of life lost before age 65 [1]. Treatment of aSAH is based on the prevention and management of secondary complications, mainly secondary deterioration caused by delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), which occurs in approximately 21% of aSAH patients, most commonly between 4 and 14 days posthemorrhage, and is a leading cause of long-term morbidity [5]. Multivariate analyses revealed that both transcranial Doppler (TCD) sonography and angiographic vasospasm failed to be related to prediction of cerebral infarction [13], suggesting that the pathophysiological model of cerebral ischemia after aSAH may need to consider additional factors other than large-artery spasm.
Cortical spreading depolarization (SD) waves are associated with dramatic failure of brain ion homeostasis, efflux of excitatory amino acids from nerve cells, increased energy metabolism, and changes in cerebral blood flow [10]. SDs have been monitored in aSAH patients [3] and possibly play an important role in the development of the neuronal injury in both the early and the delayed phase [2]. The consequences of these intrinsic mechanisms are intimately linked to the composition of the brain extracellular microenvironment, the level of brain perfusion, and in consequence brain energy supply [10]. In hypoxic, ischemic, or hypoglycemic brain tissue, SDs will usually occur spontaneously, and recovery occurs with a prolonged time course [9].

As shown experimentally, SD may be more frequent under hypoglycemic conditions. Furthermore, "vasospasmrelated" hypoperfusion may lead to a reduction of glucose as the main substrate for the brain cells inducing SDs. We therefore studied the dynamics of glucose using bedside microdialysis (MD) during the occurrence of SDs in patients with aSAH based on the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) protocol (http://www.cosbid.org).

Methods

Multimodal cerebral monitoring, including cerebral MD and subdural electrocorticography (ECoG), was performed in a prospective observational study in 21 patients. Inclusion criteria were age of 18 years or more and a Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score of 4 or higher. Exclusion criteria were bilaterally fixed and dilated pupils or other signs of imminent death, as well as a history of trauma/bleed of 5 days or more prior to admission. All research procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee, University of Heidelberg Medical School, and the Ethics Committee, Charité University Medicine Berlin. Informed consent was obtained for all patients.

Operative Procedures

The patients underwent craniotomy for early (<72 h) aneurysm clipping. All patients received an invasive intracranial pressure probe and a flexible cerebral MD probe. In addition to routine monitoring, patients had a subdural 6- or 8-contact linear electrode strip (Wyler, 5/10-mm platinum; Ad-Tech Medical Instrument Corp., Racine, WI) placed on cortex accessible through the craniotomy or a burr hole. Care was taken to insert the MD probe close to the ECoG electrode strip.

Postoperative Care

All patients were treated in the intensive care unit for as long as indicated by their primary disease or other organ system

disorders. Treatment of increased intracranial pressure was initiated when necessary. Treatment of DCI with hypertensive, and if necessary, with hypervolemic, and hemodilutional therapy was performed as soon as it was diagnosed. DCI was defined as symptomatic vasospasm (delayed ischemic neurological deficit, DIND), infarction attributable to vasospasm, or both [5]. A DIND was defined as the occurrence of focal neurological impairment, or a decrease of at least 2 points on the GCS. This should have lasted for at least 1 h, not be apparent immediately after aneurysm occlusion, and not be attributed to other causes, such as hydrocephalus, sepsis, or rebleeding as assessed by clinical assessment, computed tomography (CT), and appropriate laboratory studies [17]. A postoperative CT scan was carried out in every patient to confirm the location of the probes. Neurological, GCS, and pupil exams were carried out hourly.

Bedside Microdialysis

An MD catheter with a 10-mm membrane was inserted into the brain parenchyma of the corresponding vascular territory of the aneurysm, with the catheter tip located approximately 1.5 cm from dura level (CMA 71, CMA, Sweden; molecular weight limit of 100 kDa). Care was taken to avoid insertion into macroscopically lesioned brain tissue or into an intracerebral hemorrhage. The correct positioning of the catheter tip was verified postoperatively by CT. Catheters were perfused with sterile Ringer's solution at a flow rate of 0.3 µl/min. Molecules from the cerebral extracellular fluid enter into the catheter with an estimated recovery of 0.65-0.72 [6, 7]. On the outlet tube, perfusates were collected in microvials and analyzed hourly at bedside in a mobile photometric, enzymekinetic analyzer (CMA 600). MD was performed for 10-14 days after SAH, and daily medians of the microdialysate concentrations were calculated for each patient. Decreases in glucose below 0.6 mmol [14] and below 1.0 mmol were interpreted as critical and as a deterioration of cerebral metabolism, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed by statisticians and coauthors of the present study (D.W., P.M.). They were blinded to the clinical details of the patients. The initial 12 h after the placement of the MD catheter were not used for analysis to avoid invalid measurement. The ECoG data for each patient were analyzed using Chart v.7.0 by experienced members of the COSBID group and coauthors of this study (J.D., O.S.) The hourly measurements of MD metabolites were used to explore the relative changes after each SD. One measurement before each SD was used as a

reference (basal value named "value 0") for the next two hourly measurements. Curves of extracellular glucose concentrations were determined by applying local regression (locally weighted scatterplot smoothing, LOWESS). LOWESS curves depict the individual trend of a given parameter. Glucose concentrations above and below the LOWESS curve were analyzed when they coincided with an SD. The sign test was performed to compare SDs associated with glucose levels above or below the LOWESS curve. The SPSS software package was used for statistical analyses and graphical presentation of the results (SPSS v. 17.0, Chicago, IL, USA). We regarded p values less than 0.05 as significant.

Results

Patient Characteristics

In 21 patients, combined ECoG recording and simultaneous MD measures were available. The mean age was 53.3 ± 9.1 years. Twelve patients were female (57%). Patients were

classified according to the World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) in low (I–III, 11) and high grade (IV–V, 10). Thirteen patients developed DCI.

SD and Cerebral Glucose Levels

Median occurrence of SD was seven events (0-66, range)/ patient, and 3 patients had no SD during the intensive care stay. Median glucose was 1.48 mmol (0.00-8.79, range). As glucose concentrations were difficult to compare between patients, data were categorized according to being above or below the LOWESS curve (Fig. 1). During and 1 h after SD, the levels of cerebral glucose in the interstitial brain fluid of aSAH patients were slightly but not significantly lower than the LOWESS curve (p=0.210, sign test). In individual patients, critically low phases of cerebral glucose (<0.6 mmol) [14] were observed. Patients with high WFNS grade had more SDs (p=0.027, t test), while the overall glucose level did not differ significantly (p=0.844, t test of means of LOWESS curve between high and low WFNS grade patients; Fig. 2).



Fig. 1 Individual example showing the variability of cerebral glucose during 11.5 days. The *thicker line* corresponds to the locally weighted scatterplot smoothing (*LOWESS*) curve. The patient had 21 SDs, marked by circles. Sixteen occurred during local "highs" and 5 during local "lows" as compared to the LOWESS curve. Of note, during the first 4 days, cerebral glucose was critically low (<0.6 mmol [14]). *MD* microdialysis, *SD* spreading depolarizations **Fig. 2** The number of spreading depolarizations (*SDs*) for each individual patient is shown. In almost all patients, SDs occurred *above* and *below* the locally weighted scatterplot smoothing (*LOWESS*) curve



Discussion

In high-grade aSAH patients, SDs were more frequent, while MD glucose levels remained stable. Critically low phases of cerebral glucose were observed in individual patients. Individually, the occurrence of SD was not linked to local deviations (neither high nor low) from the trend curve for extracellular glucose concentrations.

The brain extracellular fluid maintains nutriment trafficking (oxygen and glucose) among the brain cells. Microdialysis is an in vivo sampling technique used to monitor the variations in the composition of extracellular fluid in a specific tissue or organ. Profound changes in extracellular glucose, lactate, glutamate, and glycerol in patients with signs of acute or DCI have been shown [8, 11]. Hyperglycemia appears not to be automatically reflected in high cerebral glucose levels [14], and critically low cerebral glucose is associated with unfavorable outcome after traumatic brain injury [18] and after aSAH [15]. As shown experimentally, SD may be more frequent when cerebral glucose is low. Furthermore, vasospasm-related hypoperfusion may lead to a reduction of glucose as the main substrate for the brain cells, inducing SDs. Rapid-sampling MD has consistently shown rapid transient decreases of glucose and increases of lactate in the injured human brain in patients with traumatic brain injury [4, 12]. In the present study, the MD technique used employs a longer time interval of monitoring (hourly

analysis), limiting the assessment of short SD-associated metabolite changes. Furthermore, spatial resolution may not always be optimal as the distance of the microdialysis probe to the possible ischemic/hypoperfused brain tissue is variable among the patients. This is a common problem of every regional neuromonitoring technique. We also observed a high variability of basal metabolite concentrations before SD. Because of these significant interindividual differences between baseline levels, we used the LOWESS approach and did not analyze absolute concentration changes. Accordingly, we cannot argue that low extracellular brain glucose does not affect SDs, but alterations (either "high" or "low") of glucose in individual patients are not linked to occurrence of SD. Additional limitation stems from the low sampling frequency of MD (i.e., 1/h). Rapid-sampling MD techniques and analyses of SD clusters may elucidate more detail of the relationship between SD and brain energy metabolism.

Conclusion

In high grade aSAH patients, SDs were more frequent while MD-glucose levels remained stable. Though critically low phases of cerebral glucose were observed in individual patients, the occurrence of SD was not linked to local deviations (neither high nor low) from the trend curve for extracellular glucose concentrations. Rapid sampling MD techniques and analyses of SD clusters may elucidate more detail of the relationship between SD and brain energy metabolism.

Acknowledgment We would like to thank Sabine Seidlitz and Jasmin Kopetzki, our colleagues, and the nursing staff of the interdisciplinary intensive care unit of both centers for excellent support. Supported by a grant of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG DR 323/5–1) to O.W.S., P.V., and J.P.D.; ZNS Hannelore Kohl Stiftung (2004006) to O.W.S.; and of the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Center for Stroke Research Berlin, 01 EO 0801) to J.P.D.

Financial Disclosure We declare that we have no financial interest in the monitoring device described.

References

- Bederson JB, Connolly ES Jr, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, Duldner JE Jr, Harbaugh RE, Patel AB, Rosenwasser RH (2009) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke 40:994–1025
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid haemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237
- Feuerstein D, Manning A, Hashemi P, Bhatia R, Fabricius M, Tolias C, Pahl C, Ervine M, Strong AJ, Boutelle MG (2010) Dynamic metabolic response to multiple spreading depolarizations in patients with acute brain injury: an online microdialysis study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1343–1355
- Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Wartenberg KE, Badjatia N, Connolly ES, Mayer SA (2009) Defining vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: what is the most clinically relevant definition? Stroke 40:1963–1968
- Hutchinson PJ, O'Connell MT, Al-Rawi PG, Maskell LB, Kett-White R, Gupta AK, Richards HK, Hutchinson DB, Kirkpatrick PJ, Pickard JD (2000) Clinical cerebral microdialysis: a methodological study. J Neurosurg 93:37–43

- Hutchinson PJ, O'Connell MT, Nortje J, Smith P, Al-Rawi PG, Gupta AK, Menon DK, Pickard JD (2005) Cerebral microdialysis methodology – evaluation of 20 kDa and 100 kDa catheters. Physiol Meas 26:423–428
- Kett-White R, Hutchinson PJ, Al-Rawi PG, Gupta AK, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2002) Adverse cerebral events detected after subarachnoid hemorrhage using brain oxygen and microdialysis probes. Neurosurgery 50:1213–1221; discussion 1221–1222
- Kraig RP, Nicholson C (1978) Extracellular ionic variations during spreading depression. Neuroscience 3:1045–1059
- Lauritzen M, Dreier JP, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Graf R, Strong AJ (2011) Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:17–35
- Nilsson OG, Brandt L, Ungerstedt U, Saveland H (1999) Bedside detection of brain ischemia using intracerebral microdialysis: subarachnoid hemorrhage and delayed ischemic deterioration. Neurosurgery 45:1176–1184; discussion 1184–1185
- Parkin M, Hopwood S, Jones DA, Hashemi P, Landolt H, Fabricius M, Lauritzen M, Boutelle MG, Strong AJ (2005) Dynamic changes in brain glucose and lactate in pericontusional areas of the human cerebral cortex, monitored with rapid sampling on-line microdialysis: relationship with depolarisation-like events. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25:402–413
- Rabinstein AA, Wijdicks EF (2004) Outcome of survivors of acute stroke who require prolonged ventilatory assistance and tracheostomy. Cerebrovasc Dis 18:325–331
- Schlenk F, Nagel A, Graetz D, Sarrafzadeh AS (2008) Hyperglycemia and cerebral glucose in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Intensive Care Med 34:1200–1207
- Schlenk F, Vajkoczy P, Sarrafzadeh A (2009) Inpatient hyperglycemia following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: relation to cerebral metabolism and outcome. Neurocrit Care 11:56–63
- van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ (2001) Subarachnoid haemorrhage: diagnosis, causes and management. Brain 124:249–278
- 17. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Dreier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- Vespa P, Boonyaputthikul R, McArthur DL, Miller C, Etchepare M, Bergsneider M, Glenn T, Martin N, Hovda D (2006) Intensive insulin therapy reduces microdialysis glucose values without altering glucose utilization or improving the lactate/pyruvate ratio after traumatic brain injury. Crit Care Med 34:850–856

Evaluation of Intracranial Electrocorticography Recording Strips and Tissue Partial Pressure of Oxygen and Temperature Probes for Radio-Frequency-Induced Heating

Michael Scheel, Jens P. Dreier, and G. Bohner

Abstract Spreading depolarization and subsequent cortical spreading ischemia have been recognized as new mechanisms of ischemic damage in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. We are investigating these mechanisms using intracranial implanted devices and perform magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to monitor for early or delayed ischemia. Before patients undergo MRI with intracranially implanted devices, MR safety with respect to heating induced by radio frequency (RF) needs to be carefully considered. We tested an electrocorticography (ECoG) six-contact electrode strip (Adtech TS06R-SP10X-000) at 1.5 T and a tissue oxygenation/temperature LicoxTM probe (model CC1.P1) at 3.0 T for RF-induced heating as MRI safety tests were not available at these field strengths. We observed no relevant temperature increases for the ECoG probe at 1.5 T. For the Licox probe, temperature increased beyond 4°C when measurements were performed at 3.0 T. Our data suggest that MRI can be safely performed in patients with an implanted ECoG electrode strip at 1.5 and 3.0 T. For the Licox probe, MRI can be performed at 1.5 T according to safety regulations, but at 3.0 T, temperature increases pose a significant risk for tissue damage due to RF-induced heating.

Keywords Cortical spreading depolarization • Electrocorticography • Cerebral oximetry • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Magnetic resonance imaging

Introduction

In patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), spreading depolarization has been identified as a new damaging mechanism [8, 9]. The DISCHARGE-1 (Depolarisations in ISCHaemia after subARachnoid haemorrhaGE) study, currently under way at our institution, is part of the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) initiative and investigates the association of spreading depolarization with delayed ischemia in patients with SAH. The study protocol includes continuous intracranial electrocorticographic (ECoG) readings (using an ECoG electrode strip) and partial brain tissue oxygenation measurements (using a Licox[™] probe; Integra NeuroSciences[™] model CC1.P1) over a period of 2 weeks. During these 2 weeks, we performed three magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examinations to monitor for the occurrence of early and delayed ischemia.

Before patients with implanted devices undergo MRI examinations, special safety considerations need to be made. MR safety considerations associated with medical devices may be split into three categories: (1) displacement and torque, (2) RF heating, and (3) imaging artifacts. For the two devices that we used in our study, RF-induced heating effects were the primary concern. AdtechTM, the manufacturer of the ECoG probe, provided us with (otherwise-unpublished) MR safety tests at 3.0 T, but no test results or documentation for 1.5 T were available. The Licox probe, on the other hand, has been rated at 1.5 T as "MR conditional" (i.e., MRI measurements may be performed when adhering to certain safety regulations). However, no test results or documentation at 3.0 T were available for the Licox probe.

We investigated at which field strength we may safely perform MRI measurements when ECoG and Licox probes are implanted. We therefore performed MR safety measurements with the ECoG probe at 1.5 T and with the Licox probe at 3.0 T. Based on the available reports, we expected no deflection or torque for either device and therefore focused on testing RF-induced heating effects.

M. Scheel (\boxtimes) and G. Bohner

Department of Neuroradiology, Charite – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Chariteplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany e-mail: michael.scheel@charite.de

J.P. Dreier

Department of Neurology, Charite – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Materials and Methods

We tested the ECoG and tissue temperature/oxygenation probes that we use in the context of the DISCHARGE-1 study: (1) a six-contact electrode strip (4-mm platinum iridium contacts within a silicon sheet with stainless steel internal wires and nickel-chromium tail contacts contained within polyurethane tubing; Adtech TS06R-SP10X-000) and (2) a Licox probe (Integra NeuroSciences, model CC1. P1). Each device was placed in a phantom with the approximate size of a human head (width \times height \times depth = 13 \times 15 \times 20 cm). The phantom was filled with gelled saline (1.6 g NaCl/l) simulating electrical conductivity of human tissue. Both devices were placed in a typical configuration that would be used for recording in patients. Temperature recording was performed continuously during the MRI protocol described in the following using a fluoroptic temperature measurement kit (model m3300, Luxtron Corp., accuracy $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C at a rate of 0.1 Hz). The two thermal fiberoptic probes were placed at the first (most distant) and third contact of the six-contact electrode strip. While testing the Licox probe, we placed the two thermal fiber-optic probes at the tips of the two internal wires of the Licox probe. These locations were chosen as they will most likely demonstrate the largest temperature change [1, 13]. The MRI protocol included spin echo, inversion recovery, and echo planar imaging sequences. Table 1 describes the full details of the tested scanners and imaging protocol. At both scanners, the body coil served as the transmit coil and the head coil as the receiver coil.

Table 1 Sequence parameter at the 1.5-T and 3.0-T scanner

Sequence	TR (TI)	TE	SL	SAR W/kg		
Adtech: ECOG strip electrode at 1.5-T Phillips Intera						
FLAIR	6,000 (2,000)	150	6	1.8		
T1 spin echo	450	14	6	1.5		
DWI	4,330	95	6	0.2		
T2*	830	30	6	0.1		
3D-T1- FFE	7.3	3.3	1	0.1		
LICOX: temperature/pO2 probe at 3.0-T Siemens Trio						
DWI	7,600	93	2.5	0.14		
FLAIR	8,000	100	5	0.28		
3D-TOF	24	3.9	0.6	0.27		
T1-SE	500	9	4	0.15		
T1-GRE	292	2.5	5	0.31		

DWI diffusion-weighted imaging, *FFE* fast field echo, *FLAIR* fluidattenuated inversion recovery, *TOF* time-of-flight angiography, *SE* spin echo, *GRE* gradient echo, *TR* time of repetition, *TE* time of echo, *SL* slice thickness, *SAR* specific absorption rate

Results

We observed no relevant temperature increases for the ECoG probe. Temperature changes always stayed below 1°C, not exceeding baseline temperature fluctuations (Fig. 1). Testing the Licox probe at 3.0 T, we observed relevant temperature increases up to 4°C. Temperature increases were different for the two temperature probes; the one at the more distant internal wire tip (probe 2) showed more pronounced increases (Fig. 2).

Discussion

When adhering to safety recommendations, MRI can be safely performed in patients with implanted medical devices and is done literally every day at many institutions worldwide. However, various case reports notably demonstrated that implanted devices may pose a significant risk to patients undergoing an MRI examination [7, 12, 14, 15]. Therefore, before an MRI is performed in such patients, careful inquiries and, if necessary, specific testing needs to be done. Otherwise, MRI cannot be performed.

For our setup and study protocol of DISCHARGE-1, we found no relevant temperature increase with respect to the Adtech ECoG electrode strip at 1.5 T. The data add to retrospective case series in patients undergoing MRI with intracranial ECoG electrodes that described no adverse effects in clinical observations [3, 6]. Moreover, previous phantom studies showed that MRI can be safely performed following safety recommendations [2, 4, 5, 11]. It should be noted, however, that due to complex interactions between different factors contributing to RF-induced heating, individual testing may be necessary for the specific setup to be used [4]. It is noted that "Ad-Tech Medical does not have, or claim FDA [Food and Drug Administration] approved MR-Conditional status for these products, or European certification for safe use with MRI. However (otherwise unpublished) test results for these products are reported in a statement provided by the company suggesting that MRI may be safe under certain specific conditions" [4].

Following safety regulations, MRI may also be safely performed with Licox probes at 1.5 T [10]. However, at 3.0 T, our tests showed a significant temperature increase $(\Delta T \sim 4^{\circ}C)$ for the Licox probe, exceeding safety limits. Therefore, in patients with an implanted Licox probe, MRI should not be performed at this field strength or the probe needs to be removed. These results are in agreement with the current regulations as communicated by Integra NeuroSciences, stating that tests "included radio frequency induced heating, magnetically induced displacement force

Fig. 1 Temperature changes at the first and third contact of the electrocorticography (*ECoG*) electrode. Letters *a*–*e* represent the duration of the different sequences: *a* FLAIR (fluidattenuated inversion recovery), *b* T1-SE (spin echo), *c* DWI (diffusion-weighted imaging), *d* T2*, *e* 3D-T1



Fig. 2 Temperature changes at tips of the two internal wires of the Licox probe. Probe 2 at the more distant internal wire tip shows pronounced heating. Letters a-e represent the duration of the different sequences: a DWI (diffusion-weighted imaging), b FLAIR (fluid-attenuated inversion recovery), c 3D-TOF (three-dimensional time of flight), d T1-SE (spin echo), e T1-GRE (gradient echo)

Licox temperature/oxygen probe - 3.0 T



and torque to demonstrate that these components were considered MR Conditional as defined in ASTM F2503 ... using a 1.5 T MR system, only. Testing has not been performed on other MR Systems and therefore should not be used" [10].

A limitation of our study is that we only tested at one spatial configuration using a body-transmit/head-receive

configuration. Using a head-transmit coil reduces the amount of RF energy applied, and it has been shown that by using such a setup, RF-induced heating effects are significantly lower than in the body-transmit/head-receive configuration [4]. We are planning such tests in the near future to investigate different coil configuration and orientations of the devices.

Conclusion

In summary, we performed tests assessing RF-induced heating effects for two intracranial devices (Adtech electrode strip and Licox tissue partial oxygen and temperature probe) demonstrating that at 1.5 T both devices are "MR conditional," that is, MRI can be safely performed when following specific safety regulations. We have now performed more than 50 MRIs at 1.5 T in patients with this electrode strip implanted and never observed any effects that would suggest cerebral damage due to RF-induced heating or other MRIrelated adverse events. For the Licox probe at 3.0 T, however, we found temperature increases (4°C) that exceed safety limits; MR examinations should therefore not be performed at 3.0 T without prior removal of the Licox probe.

Acknowledgments Supported by grants of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG DR 323/5-1) and the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Center for Stroke Research Berlin, 01 EO 0801) to Dr. Dreier. Dr. Scheel was supported by the "Friedrich C. Luft" Clinical Scientist Pilot Program funded by Volkswagen Foundation and Charité Foundation.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Achenbach S, Moshage W, Diem B, Bieberle T, Schibgilla V, Bachmann K (1997) Effects of magnetic resonance imaging on cardiac pacemakers and electrodes. Am Heart J 134:467–473
- Boucousis S, Cunningham C, Goodyear B, Frederico P (2007) Safety and feasibility of using implanted depth electrodes for intracranial EEG-fMRI at 3 Tesla. In: Proceedings of the 15th meeting of the ISMRM, Berlin, 2007. Abstract 1081
- Brooks ML, O'Connor MJ, Sperling MR, Mayer DP (1992) Magnetic resonance imaging in localization of EEG depth electrodes for seizure monitoring. Epilepsia 33:888–891
- Carmichael DW, Thornton JS, Rodionov R, Thornton R, McEvoy A, Allen PJ, Lemieux L (2008) Safety of localizing epilepsy moni-

toring intracranial electroencephalograph electrodes using MRI: radiofrequency-induced heating. J Magn Reson Imaging 28: 1233–1244

- Carmichael DW, Thornton JS, Rodionov R, Thornton R, McEvoy AW, Ordidge RJ, Allen PJ, Lemieux L (2010) Feasibility of simultaneous intracranial EEG-fMRI in humans: a safety study. Neuroimage 49:379–390
- Davis LM, Spencer DD, Spencer SS, Bronen RA (1999) MR imaging of implanted depth and subdural electrodes: is it safe? Epilepsy Res 35:95–98
- Dempsey MF, Condon B (2001) Thermal injuries associated with MRI. Clin Radiol 56:457–465
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132:1866–1881
- Integra MRI statement (2006) MRI safety of the Licox[®] it2 complete brain tunneling probe kit including the model cc1.p1 oxygen and temperature probe and model vk5.2 parenteral probe guide at 1.5 tesla. http://integralife.com/products/pdfs/MRI_Safety.pdf. Accessed 2 Dec 2011
- Kanal E, Meltzer CC, Adelson PD, Scheuer MP (1999) Platinum subdural grid: MR imaging compatibility testing. Radiology 211:886–888
- Nutt JG, Anderson VC, Peacock JH, Hammerstad JP, Burchiel KJ (2001) DBS and diathermy interaction induces severe CNS damage. Neurology 56:1384–1386
- Pictet J, Meuli R, Wicky S, van der Klink JJ (2002) Radiofrequency heating effects around resonant lengths of wire in MRI. Phys Med Biol 47:2973–2985
- Rezai AR, Phillips M, Baker KB, Sharan AD, Nyenhuis J, Tkach J, Henderson J, Shellock FG (2004) Neurostimulation system used for deep brain stimulation (DBS): MR safety issues and implications of failing to follow safety recommendations. Invest Radiol 39:300–303
- Spiegel J, Fuss G, Backens M, Reith W, Magnus T, Becker G, Moringlane J-R, Dillmann U (2003) Transient dystonia following magnetic resonance imaging in a patient with deep brain stimulation electrodes for the treatment of Parkinson disease. Case report. J Neurosurg 99:772–774

Criteria for the Diagnosis of Noninfectious and Infectious Complications After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in DISCHARGE-1

Christoph Drenckhahn, Claudia Brabetz, Sebastian Major, Dirk Wiesenthal, Johannes Woitzik, and Jens P. Dreier For the COSBID Study Group

Abstract Patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) frequently develop secondary noninfectious and infectious complications that have an important impact on clinical course and outcome. We here report on criteria for the diagnosis of the most important complications after aSAH based on clinical status, neuroimaging, and laboratory tests, including cerebrospinal fluid parameters. These criteria will be used for a retrospective analysis of aSAH patients who were recruited at the Charité Berlin for the CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations (COSBID) before

C. Drenckhahn

Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: christoph.drenckhahn@charite.de

C. Brabetz

Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

S. Major and J.P. Dreier Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Department of Experimental Neurology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany

D. Wiesenthal Institute for Biostatistics and Clinical Epidemiology, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany

J. Woitzik

Center for Stroke Research Berlin, Campus Charité Mitte, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, Berlin 10117, Germany

Department of Neurosurgery, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany

the Depolarisations in Ischaemia after Subarachnoid Haemorrhage-1 (DISCHARGE-1) trial started. Moreover, they serve for the survey of complications in DISCHARGE-1. We also report on a customized, Web-based database that has been developed for the documentation of the clinical course after aSAH. This database is used for the COSBID outcome study on aSAH and for DISCHARGE-1.

Keywords Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage • Complications • Infections

Introduction

Subarachnoid hemorrhage has an incidence of 6–11 per 100,000 [1, 18] and accounts for 5% of all strokes [16]. The cause of subarachnoid hemorrhage is a ruptured saccular aneurysm in 85% of cases [24]. Despite improvement in understanding and management of aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), the prognosis is still poor. Case-fatality rates vary between 32% and 67%, and one third of the survivors remain dependent on assistance [13].

About 10-15% of patients die immediately after onset of aSAH prior to hospital admission [15]. This is mainly due to the direct impact of the bleeding, which can cause global cerebral ischemia, epileptic seizures, or dysfunction of the cerebrospinal circulation with increase in intracranial pressure and brain herniation. In addition, secondary complications occur in the early and delayed phase after aSAH, such as infections associated with systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) or sepsis, anemia, electrolyte disorders, cardiac failure and arrhythmia, or lung edema. More than 50% of aSAH patients develop such complications, with important implications for clinical course and outcome [23, 30]. The most important in-hospital complication, however, is delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), which occurs in at least one third of the patients and is associated with a statistically significant adverse effect on patient outcome [26, 27].

COSBID Substudy on aSAH and DISCHARGE-1

The term cytotoxic edema describes the "Tsunami"-like process of neuronal swelling in the brain cortex that is ignited when passive cation influx across the cellular membranes exceeds adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent sodium pump activity followed by water influx. Dependent on the capacity to recruit additional pump activity, the cytotoxic edema is reversible or not. Thus, the cytotoxic edema marks the transition from life to neuronal death in those neurological conditions that place the highest health burden on our society in terms of mortality, morbidity, and economic costs: stroke and hypoxia. Diffusion-weighted imaging is clinically used for early detection of cytotoxic edema but is unsuitable for continuous bedside monitoring. Extensive experimental work has established that spreading depolarization (SD) is the mechanism that abruptly causes cytotoxic edema in the cortex [6]. Technology has been developed to record SDs in patients using subdural electrode strips [25]. Using this technology, it was shown that SDs occur abundantly in patients with aSAH [4, 7, 9, 20]. DCI was associated with temporal clusters of recurrent SDs [9]. The CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations (COSBID) now investigates how to make clinical use of the monitoring of SDs. Specifically, the COSBID outcome study on aSAH aims at investigating whether SDs are associated

with worse outcome. DISCHARGE-1 (Depolarisations in Ischaemia after Subarachnoid Haemorrhage-1) is a prospective, multicenter diagnostic phase III trial [22] that is, in a sense, nested in the COSBID outcome study on aSAH. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are given in Table 1. In DISCHARGE-1, serial magnetic resonance imaging is performed to characterize the relationship between SDs and DCI (International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number [ISRCTN]: ISRCTN05667702, http://www.controlled-trials.com/ISRCTN05667702). Specifically, DISCHARGE-1 aims at determining a cutoff value for the duration of SD-induced depression of spontaneous brain activity that would indicate DCI in real time and would thus inform about neuroprotective treatment decisions in the future. This may translate the SD concept into clinical practice and may provide novel targets for treatment development and a novel type of proof-ofconcept study on neuroprotectants that allows for early selective intervention. For the purpose of these studies on SD that require an invasive electrocorticography (ECoG) recording strip, it is necessary to monitor the diverse noninfectious and infectious complications after aSAH. In the following, the criteria for the diagnosis of these complications are briefly described. Moreover, our database that has been developed for documentation of the various parameters is briefly explained.

Table 1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Key inclusion criteria:

Male or female patients aged 18 years or older (inclusive)

World Federation of Neurosurgery (WFNS) grade I–V unless the clinical state suggests an unfavorable prognosis such as wide, nonreactive pupils for more than 1 h

Ruptured saccular aneurysm demonstrated by computed tomographic (CT) angiography or digital subtraction angiography (DSA)

Onset of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) clinical symptoms in the preceding 72 h

Treatment of aneurysm (clip ligation or endovascular coil embolisation)

Indication for a ventricular drain or oxygen sensor in coiled patients

Informed consent is obtained from the patient or a legal representative

Key exclusion criteria:

aSAH due to other causes (e.g., trauma, fusiform or mycotic aneurysm)

Admission in a clinical state with unfavorable prognosis (e.g., wide, nonreactive pupils for more than 1 h)

Bleeding diasthesis

Cytostatic therapy in patients with malignant disease

Pregnancy

Special exclusion criteria for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) such as non-MRI-compatible, nonremovable metals, artificial joints and the like, electronic devices (pacemaker, pumps, etc.)

Interruption of monitoring for more than 48 h during days 3–5, for 24 h during days 6–8, or for 24 h during days 9–11 unless the patient dies after day 5 or develops an MRI-documented delayed ischemic stroke during the monitoring period and recording is only interrupted after those events

Respiratory/hemodynamic instability does not allow MR transport (i.e., transport of the patient to the scanner, patient monitoring during imaging, transport back to the ward)

Definition of Time Frames and Time Points

As *initial status*, we define either the period from onset of the first symptom until surgical intervention or the first 24 h if the surgical intervention is performed later than 24 h. All changes in clinical status or pathological findings in this phase are not considered complications but are related to the initial event. As the *early period*, we define the time period following the initial period until 72 h. All events occurring thereafter until day 15 are defined as *delayed*. Hunt and Hess Scale, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) scale, and Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) are scored as documented at first contact with a doctor.

Definition of Complications

As a complication we define any (1) worsening of patient status (medical status, neurological status; vital parameters; requirement for new medication, treatments or interventions); (2) new pathological neuroimaging findings; or (3) new pathological parameters in laboratory or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) tests. We identify 18 groups of adverse events (AEs) and 4 groups of serious adverse events (SAEs) as shown in Table 2. For any event with onset after implantation of the ECoG recording strip, it is documented whether it occurred in relation to the recording strip.

The Most Important Noninfectious Complications

A delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) is defined as the occurrence of focal neurological impairment (such as hemiparesis, aphasia, apraxia, hemianopia, or neglect) or a decrease of at least 2 GCS points (either on the total score or on one of its individual components [eye, motor on either side, verbal]). Moreover, the diagnosis of a DIND requires that the neurological deficit is not present immediately after aneurysm occlusion; that it lasts for at least 1 h; cannot be attributed to other causes such as hydrocephalus or rebleeding by means of clinical assessment, computed tomography or MRI of the brain, and appropriate laboratory studies; and does not occur earlier than 72 h after the initial haemorrhage [28]. DCI is defined by the occurrence of a DIND or evidence of a new brain infarct on serial neuroimaging studies. Any neurological deficit or cerebral infarct detected prior to 72 h is termed early ischemic neurological deficit or early cerebral infarct, respectively.

Epileptic seizures are defined according to the criteria of the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) [5].

Table 2 Definition of adverse events (AEs) and serious adverse advents (SAEs)

Definition of AEs:

Impairment of the general condition of the patient

Physical injury, including falls

Surgical/interventional complications

Increase of intracranial pressure/hydrocephalus

Infection, sepsis, or systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS)

Cerebral infarct or intracranial bleeding

Epileptic seizure

Vasospasm of cerebral arteries

New neurological deficit

Electrolyte disorder

Clinical worsening of organ functions (heart, lung, gastrointestinal tract, liver, kidney, blood)

Pathological laboratory parameters (if not covered by other AEs)

Intracranial bleeding in the proximity of electrocorticography (ECoG) recording strip

Bleeding or liquorrhea at the exit point of the ECoG recording strip from the skull

Wound infection or dehiscence at the exit point of the ECoG recording strip from the skull

Intended or accidental manipulation of the ECoG recording strip

Bleeding, liquorrhea, infection, or manipulation at other intracranial probes than the ECoG recording strip

Any suspicious findings that may have relationship to the study

Definition of SAEs:

Fatal events/death

Life-threatening events (cause immediate risk of death from the event as it occurred)

Events that require inpatient hospitalization during follow-up period Required surgical intervention to prevent permanent impairment

Criteria for proximal vasospasm after aSAH are defined using digital subtraction angiography (DSA) as greater than 30% narrowing of the arterial luminal diameter in one of the following arterial segments: A1, A2, M1, M2, and C1–C2. Magnification errors are corrected by comparing extradural segments of the internal carotid artery (C4–C5). Using transcranial Doppler (TCD) sonography, significant vasospasm is defined by a mean velocity of 200 cm/s or greater in at least one middle cerebral artery (MCA) [29]. Vasospasm is excluded if the MCA mean velocities remain below 120 cm/s throughout the observation period.

Criteria for Infections

For SIRS and sepsis, we use the criteria established in 1992 by the American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine Consensus Conference [3]. The following sites of focal infection are considered according to the definitions by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) [11, 14]: surgical site infection (SSI); bloodstream infection/sepsis (BSI); pneumonia (PNU); urinary tract infection (UTI); central nervous system (CNS) infection; cardiovascular system (CVS) infection; eye, ear, nose, throat (EENT), or mouth infection; lower respiratory tract infection (LRI); and gastrointestinal system (GI) infection. For diagnosis, CDC criteria are applied except for meningitis and ventriculitis (see next section).

Criteria for Acute, Nosocomial Meningitis or Ventriculitis and Differentiation from Noninfectious Changes of CSF Parameters Following aSAH

Bacterial meningitis and ventriculitis are frequent complications in neurocritical care patients. Extraventricular drainage (EVD) is an important risk factor for these infections as the drain represents a communicating tube between brain and patient environment that is ideal for the invasion of microorganisms. A meta-analysis reported an incidence of 5–20% for EVD-associated CNS infections [2]. Other intracranial probes, not representing communicating tubes, such as microdialysis (MD) catheters, electrode strips for ECoG recordin, or oxygen sensors are only rarely associated with ventriculitis or meningitis. Nevertheless, the risk is C. Drenckhahn et al.

nilection may develop per continuitatem from an extracranial focus (e.g., from wound infection or sinusitis). Based on studies in patients undergoing presurgical diagnostics for epilepsy with invasive electrodes, a risk of infection between 2.6% and 3.9% was estimated [10, 17]. These studies, however, were not restricted to electrode strips but also included electrode grids, which show a higher risk.

The diagnoses of ventriculitis and meningitis are a challenge in patients with aSAH since, similar to meningitis, aSAH is typically associated with fever, headache, neck stiffness, meningeal signs, cranial nerve signs, and irritability (Criterion 2 of the CDC definitions). These symptoms not only are observed with the initial hemorrhage but also can recur as symptoms of DCI. Hence, the CDC definition for meningitis can only be used with limitations in aSAH patients. Moreover, aSAH of itself induces a massive inflammatory reaction in the cerebrospinal compartment [19]. We therefore define a bacterial, nosocomial meningitis or ventriculitis according to the following criteria given in Table 3: (1) cultured organisms from CSF (Criterion 1 of the CDC definitions), (2) development of clinical signs typical of a CNS infection and worsening of CSF parameters in the course of the inhospital stay (modified Criterion 2 of the CDC definition), or (3) MRI-proven signs for CNS infection. The cell index (ratio of leukocytes to erythrocytes in CSF and leukocytes to erythrocytes in peripheral blood) is also calculated as a potential marker for CNS infections in aSAH patients [21].

 Table 3
 Criteria for meningitis or ventriculitis

Patient must meet at least one of the following criteria:				
Criterion 1: Patient has organisms cultured from cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).				
or				
Criterion 2: A–C have to be fulfilled.				
A: Patient develops at least one of the following signs or symptoms during in-hospital stay that differs from the initial symptoms related to aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) onset:				
Fever (>38°C)				
Headache				
Neck stiffness				
Meningeal signs				
Cranial nerve signs				
Irritability				
B: If diagnosis is made ante mortem, physician institutes appropriate antimicrobial therapy.				
C: Laboratory tests or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan show at least one of the following:				
Secondarily increased white cells, elevated protein, or decreased glucose in CSF				
Organisms seen on Gram stain of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)				
Positive antigen test of CSF				
MRI-proven signs of acute central nervous system (CNS) infection				
Modified from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) definitions				

Database

For the COSBID substudy on aSAH and DISCHARGE-1, we developed a customized, Web-based database. It uses the Django Web framework (http://www.djangoproject.com/) written in Python (http://www.python.org) and the PostgreSQL database back end (http://www.postgresql.org). For security purposes, all network traffic uses a https protocol with Apache server. SSL certificates are provided by Charité-IT. The database is patient centered, and all other objects are related to the patients. This design allows multiple studies; for example, DISCHARGE-1 is embedded in the COSBID outcome study. All changes to the data are recorded and stored in the database. Users of the database can have different roles with specified access to data. This is done on different levels: Firstly, access can be restricted to a specified group of objects, such as study, study center, set of values; secondly, different users can have the right only to read the data or add or modify items. Currently implemented roles are

- Normal user with read/write access to the patients in his or her recruiting center.
- Study monitor with read access to all patients from the monitored study and ability to write tickets/queries for any item related to monitored patients. Furthermore, the monitor can close cases, which means that data of a closed case can no longer be changed.
- Administrator.
- Analyzer without writing access.

An important part of the database is automated internal data validation:

- Logical validation (e.g., monitoring) cannot start before admission to the hospital.
- Pathophysiological/clinical validation; for example, if the diagnosis of migraine is stated, the headache has to fulfill the criteria of the International Headache Society (IHS) for migraine [12]; if GCS on admission was 3, WFNS score cannot be 1.
- Check for complete data:
 - A subgroup of data has to be inserted immediately.
 - Another subgroup of data has to be entered at the end of the monitoring period to allow the case to be completed.
 - In general, all data are mandatory. Items have to be allowed to be set as "missing data."
 - For repetitive data (e.g., blood pressure, glucose), the smallest required intervals (e.g., daily, hourly) are set.

Special focus was placed on the recording of AEs and SAEs. For each day during the monitoring period, an AE event record has to be set. At the least, it has to be stated that there was no AE on the specified day. Furthermore, interdependence between different AEs has to be documented. If AEs are related to the study, a recommendation for a protocol change can be specified if necessary. Some AEs, such as infective diseases, require further description, such as kind of infection, pathogen (if confirmed), including foreign body where the pathogen was found (e.g., EVD or central venous catheter). For documentation purposes, AEs have to be printed out and stored in the patient file. In case of SAEs, an additional copy is printed that has to be sent to the study sponsor.

Discussion

The criteria described here for the diagnosis of complications will serve as a basis for a retrospective analysis of aSAH patients who were recruited at the Charité Berlin for the COSBID before the DISCHARGE-1 trial started. Moreover, the criteria serve for the survey of complications in DISCHARGE-1.

The aim of the retrospective study will be to determine the incidences of different complications after aSAH, including ventriculitis, meningitis, or local hemorrhage in all patients who received a subdural recording strip versus control patients who did not receive such a strip during the same time period. There may be limitations to the control group of this study. It is aimed for a match regarding age, sex, severity of aSAH and EVD. A bias may result from the fact that the clinical course is less well documented in such a retrospective control group. Moreover, it is likely that neuroimaging was less frequently performed in the control group, so that relevant complications might have been missed.

In DISCHARGE-1, evaluation of safety endpoint occurrence is carried out on the safety set that is defined by all patients in whom a recording device was implanted. Independent data monitoring and a data safety and monitoring board (DSMB) has been established. Adverse events such as shunt-dependent documented up to 6 months post-aSAH. Late epilepsy (>2 weeks postintervention) is documented up to 3 years post-aSAH, similar to a pilot study on patients who were recruited prior to DISCHARGE-1 [8]. Stop criteria in DISCHARGE-1 are (1) local epi-/subdural hemorrhage in the recording area (estimated risk 0–2%) or (2) local infection (estimated risk 2.6–3.9%) [10, 17]. No such complications were observed in the small previous case series of aSAH patients who received a subdural recording strip [4, 6, 7, 20].

Conclusion

We here present the study design for the analysis of noninfectious and infectious complications in patients suffering from aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage. The criteria for these complications follow international standards and definitions. These criteria will be used in a retrospective analysis of aSAH patients who were previously recruited at the Charité Berlin for the COSBID study and in a prospective analysis of patients recruited for the DISCHARGE-1 study. In addition we reported on the database that has been developed for the documentation of the clinical course and complications after aSAH.

Acknowledgement This work was supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG DR 323/5-1) to Dr. Dreier and Dr. Woitzik and the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Center for Stroke Research Berlin, 01 EO 0801) to Dr. Dreier.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Anderson C, Anderson N, Bonita R, et al., for the ACROSS Group (2000) Epidemiology of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in Australia and New Zealand: incidence and case fatality from the Australasian Cooperative Research on Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Study (ACROSS). Stroke 31:1843–1850
- Beer R, Lackner P, Pfausler B, Schmutzhard E (2008) Nosocomial ventriculitis and meningitis in neurocritical care patients. J Neurol 255:1617–1624
- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, Schein RM, Sibbald WJ (1992) Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest 101:1644–1655
- 4. Bosche B, Graf R, Ernestus RI, Dohmen C, Reithmeier T, Brinker G, Strong AJ, Dreier JP, Woitzik J (2010) Members of the cooperative study of brain injury depolarizations (COSBID) (2010) recurrent spreading depolarizations after subarachnoid hemorrhage decreases oxygen availability in human cerebral cortex. Ann Neurol 67:607–617
- Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy (1989) Proposal for revised classification of epilepsies and epileptic syndromes. Epilepsia 30:389–399
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ, COSBID study group (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132:1866–1881
- Dreier JP, Major S, Pannek HW, Woitzik J, Scheel M, Wiesenthal D, Martus P, Winkler M, Hartings JA, Fabricius M, Speckmann EJ, Gorji A (2011) Spreading convulsions, spreading depolarization, and epileptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. Brain 135:259–275
- Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Fabricius M, Bhatia R, Major S, Drenckhahn C, Lehmann TN, Sarrafzadeh A, Willumsen L, Hartings JA, Sakowitz OW, Seemann JH, Thieme A, Lauritzen M, Strong AJ (2006) Delayed ischaemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid haemorrhage are associated with clusters of spreading depolarizations. Brain 129:3224–3237

- Espinosa J, Olivier A, Andermann F, Quesney F, Dubeau F, Savard G (1994) Morbidity of chronic recording with intracranial depth electrodes in 170 patients. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 63: 63–65
- Garner JS, Jarvis WR, Emori TG, Horan TC, Hughes JM (1996) CDC definitions for nosocomial infections. In: Olmsted RN (ed) APIC infection control and applied epidemiology: principles and practice. Mosby, St. Louis, pp A-1–A-20
- Headache Classification Subcommittee of the International Headache Society (2004) The international classification of headache disorders: 2nd ed. Cephalalgia 24(Suppl 1):9–160
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1997) Case-fatality rates and functional outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. Stroke 28:660–664
- Horan TC, Andrus M, Dudeck MA (2008) CDC/NHSN surveillance definition of health care-associated infection and criteria for specific types of infections in the acute care setting. Am J Infect Control 36:309–332
- Huang J, van Gelder JM (2002) The probability of sudden death from rupture of intracranial aneurysms: a meta-analysis. Neurosurgery 51:1101–1105
- Johnston SC, Selvin S, Gress DR (1998) The burden, trends, and demographics of mortality from subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 50:1413–1418
- Lee WS, Lee JK, Lee SA, Kang JK, Ko TS (2000) Complications and results of subdural grid electrode implantation in epilepsy surgery. Surg Neurol 54:346–351
- Linn FH, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1996) Incidence of subarachnoid hemorrhage: role of region, year, and rate of computed tomography: a meta-analysis. Stroke 27:625–629
- Olischer RM, Osuch Z, Potemkowski A, Adrian G (1985) Der liquor cerebrospinalis, insbesondere die zellbefunde im verlauf subarachnoidaler blutungen. Psychiatr Neurol Med Psychol (Leipz) 37:529–540
- 20. Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Milakara D, Alam M, Jorks D, Major S, Hartings JA, Lückl J, Martus P, Graf R, Dohmen C, Bohner G, Woitzik J, Dreier JP, COSBID Study Group (2010) Experimental and preliminary clinical evidence of an ischemic zone with prolonged negative DC shifts surrounded by a normally perfused tissue belt with persistent electrocorticographic depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1504–1519
- 21. Pfausler B, Beer R, Engelhardt K, Kemmler G, Mohsenipour I, Schmutzhard E (2004) Cell index-a new parameter for the early diagnosis of ventriculostomy (external ventricular drainage)related ventriculitis in patients with intraventricular hemorrhage? Acta Neurochir (Wien) 146:477–481
- Sackett DL, Haynes RB (2002) The architecture of diagnostic research. BMJ 324(7336):539–541
- 23. Solenski NJ, Haley EC Jr, Kassell NF, Kongable G, Germanson T, Truskowski L, Torner JC (1995) Medical complications of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a report of the multicenter, cooperative aneurysm study. Participants of the multicenter cooperative aneurysm study. Crit Care Med 23:1007–1017
- Stegmayr B, Eriksson M, Asplund K (2004) Declining mortality from subarachnoid hemorrhage: changes in incidence and case fatality from 1985 through 2000. Stroke 35:2059–2063
- Strong AJ, Fabricius M, Boutelle MG, Hibbins SJ, Hopwood SE, Jones R, Parkin MC, Lauritzen M (2002) Spreading and synchronous depressions of cortical activity in acutely injured human brain. Stroke 33:2738–2743
- van Gijn J, Kerr RS, Rinkel GJ (2007) Subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet 369(9558):306–318
- Vergouwen MD, Etminan N, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Lower incidence of cerebral infarction correlates with improved functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1545–1553

- 28. Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, Mendelow AD, Juvela S, Yonas H, Terbrugge KG, Macdonald RL, Diringer MN, Broderick JP, Dreier JP, Roos YB (2010) Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. Stroke 41:2391–2395
- Vora YY, Suarez-Almazor M, Steinke DE, Martin ML, Findlay JM (1999) Role of transcranial Doppler monitoring in the diagnosis of

cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 44:1237–1247

 Wartenberg KE, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Temes RE, Frontera JA, Ostapkovich N, Parra A, Connolly ES, Mayer SA (2006) Impact of medical complications on outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Crit Care Med 34:617–623

Neurovascular Coupling During Spreading Depolarizations

Ulrike Hoffmann and Cenk Ayata

Abstract Injury depolarizations akin to spreading depression of Leão are important in the progression of tissue damage in ischemic stroke, intracranial hemorrhage, and trauma. Much of the research on injury depolarizations has been focused on their origins, electrophysiological mechanisms, and metabolic impact. Recent studies showed that injury depolarizations cause vasoconstriction and diminish perfusion, which radically differs from the predominantly hyperemic response to spreading depression in otherwise-normal brain tissue. This adverse hemodynamic effect exacerbates metabolic supply-demand mismatch and worsens the tissue outcome. Although the mechanisms transforming the hemodynamic response from vasodilation into vasoconstriction are unclear, recent data suggest a role for elevated extracellular K⁺ and reduced intravascular perfusion pressure, among other factors. Clues from physiological and pharmacological studies in normal or injured brain in different species suggest that the intense pandepolarization evokes multiple opposing vasomotor mechanisms with variable magnitudes and timing, providing a conceptual framework to dissect the complex neurovascular coupling in brain injury.

Keywords Cortical spreading depolarizations • Neurovascular coupling • Cerebral perfusion • Electrocorticography

U. Hoffmann

Klinik für Anaesthesiologie Technische, Universität MünchenKlinikum rechts der Isar, Ismaningerstr. 2281675, München

C. Ayata, M.D. (🖂)

Neurovascular Research Laboratory, Department of Radiology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, 149 13th Street, Room 6408, Charlestown, MA 02129, USA

The Stroke Service and Neuroscience Intensive Care Unit, Department of Neurology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Charlestown, MA, USA e-mail: cayata@partners.org

Spreading Depression Versus Injury Depolarizations

Almost 70 years after Leão discovered the peculiar, slowly propagating electrocorticogram suppression triggered by intense stimulation in rabbit brain [9], spreading depolarization waves are now recognized as major pathophysiological events in brain injury states, such as stroke, intracranial hemorrhage, and trauma, as well as in migraine [8]. Although originally termed "spreading depression" by Leão based on the depression of cortical electrical activity, the key feature is indeed an overwhelming pandepolarization of most, if not all, cell types in brain tissue. The critical event appears to be a sudden loss of neuronal membrane resistance due to opening of large conductance nonselective cation channels, triggering a massive K⁺ and glutamate efflux coupled to Ca²⁺, Na⁺, and water influx and cell swelling. It is believed that the sudden uncontrolled rise in extracellular K^+ ([K⁺]) and glutamate depolarize nearby cells, and in this way the process slowly propagates (~3 mm/min) by way of contiguity regardless of functional or vascular divisions. As severe as it sounds, however, transmembrane potentials and ion and water homeostasis are restored within less than a minute in otherwise-healthy brain tissue, and there is as yet no evidence that spreading depolarizations are injurious in normal brain even when they occur in large numbers over a short period of time.

The situation is different, however, when spreading depolarizations occur in injured brain tissue, such as in ischemic stroke or subarachnoid hemorrhage. This is because the clearance of $[K^+]_e$ and glutamate and the restoration of transmembrane ionic and water homeostasis are to some extent perfusion and energy dependent. Therefore, when injury depolarizations occur in ischemic penumbra, their recovery is delayed and duration prolonged, often by manyfold (Fig. 1). Indeed, some depolarization events may fail to recover altogether and become incorporated into the permanently depolarized ischemic core. Further complicating the picture, the cerebrovascular response to spreading depolarizations radically differs between normal and ischemic or injured brain.



Fig. 1 Spreading depressions versus injury depolarizations. Electrophysiological tracings show the extracellular slow (direct current, *DC*) potential changes recorded by glass intracortical micropipettes. Each negative deflection represents a spreading depolarization wave. In contrast to spreading depolarization waves triggered by topical KCl

application in normal brain tissue (*upper tracing*), injury depolarizations spontaneously triggered in focal ischemic brain are significantly prolonged when recorded within the penumbra (*lower tracing*). *MCAO* middle cerebral artery occlusion

Neurovascular Coupling During Spreading Depolarizations

In healthy brain tissue, spreading depolarizations evoke a large hyperemic response (~100% increase), occasionally preceded by a brief and small hypoperfusion in most species [7]. This is indeed one of the largest, if not the largest, hyperemias evoked by any physiological stimulus studied to date. However, the magnitude of hyperemia significantly diminishes in ischemic or injured brain tissue. This is not at all surprising because the classical doctrine of autoregulation dictates that when perfusion pressure drops, cerebral vessels dilate to reduce cerebrovascular resistance and thus keep perfusion unchanged. This diminishes the capacity of vessels to dilate further during the depolarization wave (i.e., ceiling effect). What is surprising in the blood flow response to depolarization in ischemic or injured brain is the emergence of a vasoconstrictive phase at its onset, coincident with the depolarization (i.e., direct current [DC] shift), during which tissue perfusion drops below baseline. In other words, not only the hyperemic component is diminished but also a hypoperfusion component appears preceding and ultimately replacing the hyperemia and is coupled to prolonged depolarizations (Fig. 2).

A detailed spatiotemporal analysis of the hemodynamic response to injury depolarizations has been carried out in focal ischemic brain using high-resolution laser speckle flowmetry in lissencephalic mice and rats, as well as in

gyrencephalic cats. The data clearly demonstrate that the magnitudes of hypoperfusion and hyperemia are inversely related, and both change as a function of baseline perfusion [2, 10, 11, 13, 15]. The lower the baseline perfusion is, the larger and longer the initial hypoperfusion and the smaller the subsequent hyperemia will be. Consequently, the magnitude and duration of hypoperfusion during an injury depolarization closely correspond to the duration of the depolarization. Indeed, when the depolarization is permanent, it is associated with a permanent reduction in tissue perfusion. By this way, the perfusion deficit expands in a stepwise fashion coupled to the occurrence of spreading depolarization events [13]. The transformation of the vasodilation response to spreading depolarizations into vasoconstriction in injured brain (i.e., its inversion) has recently been elegantly demonstrated in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage as well [1, 4].

Factors Transforming the Hemodynamic Response in Ischemic or Injured Brain

The mechanisms responsible for the inversion of the hyperemic response to hypoperfusion are not known but likely relate to tissue homeostasis in ischemic brain. The primary inciting event in ischemia is, of course, a reduction in tissue perfusion pressure. We have therefore tested the impact of reduced perfusion pressure in simulated penumbra conditions using controlled hypotension [16, 17]. We found that



Fig. 2 Transformation of the cerebral blood flow (*CBF*) response to injury depolarizations as a function of reduction in perfusion pressure. Line drawings depict typical slow (*DC*) potential shift of spreading depolarizations (*blue*) and accompanying CBF changes (*red*) in nonischemic, and mild, moderate, or severely ischemic regions of interest (*red squares* from *left* to *right*). Note the gradual prolongation of the depolarization (*blue arrows*) and the emergence of an initial hypoperfusion that ultimately replaces diminished hyperemia (*red arrows*). The repolarization

simply decreasing systemic arterial blood pressure by approximately 50% doubled the duration of spreading depolarization waves and diminished the magnitude of associated hyperemia by more than 60%; a transient hypoperfusion also appeared preceding the hyperemia (Fig. 3). Interestingly, these changes took place without a major drop in tissue perfusion, suggesting that intraluminal perfusion pressure rather than the tissue metabolic state (i.e., ischemia) was the critical determinant. Conversely, pharmacologically induced hypertension potently opposed the vasoconstrictive effect of periinfarct injury depolarizations during middle cerebral artery occlusion [14], underscoring the importance of perfusion pressure with direct relevance to hypertension, hypervolemia, and hemodilution (HHH) therapy against delayed vasospasm and ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage. In contrast, a reduction in tissue pO₂ alone, simulated by systemic hypoxia without a change in perfusion pressure, did not significantly alter the DC shift or the blood flow response to spreading depolarizations. Further, the effect of reduced perfusion pressure on the duration of spreading depolarizations and the transformed blood flow response was not restored when tissue oxygenation was augmented by normobaric hyperoxia, again suggesting that tissue O2 availability or energy status are not that critical within a wide physiological range.

Another potential mechanism transforming the hemodynamic response to spreading depolarizations in ischemic or injured brain is elevated baseline $[K^+]_e$ (~5–10 mmol) due to the partial suppression of Na⁺, K⁺ ATPase (adenosine

is critically dependent on restoration of ionic and water balances, such as clearance of the surge in $[K^*]_e$, which is gradually diminished in poorly perfused or ischemic tissue (*blue cycle*). When an injury depolarization fails to recover, the associated hypoperfusion also fails to recover completely. The CBF map imaged using laser speckle flowmetry is overlaid on a mouse skull, with superimposed blue pixels showing the spatial extent of the perfusion defect after distal middle cerebral artery occlusion (*MCAO*). *Vc* vasoconstriction, *Vd* vasodilation

triphosphatase) activity. Indeed, superfusion of cortical surface with artificially elevated [K⁺] is sufficient to transform the blood flow response to spreading depolarizations from a monophasic hyperemia into a biphasic wave with an initial hypoperfusion in otherwise-normal brain [5]. An additional factor that is capable of transforming the blood flow response is reduced nitric oxide availability. Systemic administration or topical superfusion of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors or scavengers mimics the effects of reduced perfusion pressure by bringing out an initial hypoperfusion and diminishing the subsequent hyperemia [3, 6, 7]. Indeed, when coupled to elevated resting [K⁺]_e (35 mmol), reduced nitric oxide availability is capable of triggering prolonged and severe vasoconstriction, leading to spreading ischemia [2, 5].

Vasomotor Components of the Hemodynamic Response to Spreading Depolarizations

Therefore, a few seemingly unrelated factors (e.g., intraluminal perfusion pressure, resting $[K^+]_e$, and nitric oxide availability) are all capable of transforming the blood flow response in otherwise-normal brain by augmenting the initial vasoconstriction/hypoperfusion and diminishing the subsequent hyperemia, similar to that observed in ischemic or injured brain. Interestingly, the blood flow response to



Fig. 3 Representative cortical laser Doppler blood flow tracings during spreading depolarizations in a normal rat (*upper*), in a hypotensive rat (*middle*; arterial blood pressure 45 mmHg), and in a normal mouse (*lower*) showing the initial vasoconstrictive (a) and subsequent hyperemic (b) phases, followed by a longer-lasting oligemia (c). Such physiological manipulations and species differences suggest that the integrated flow response is composed of multiple opposing vasomotor components corresponding to each phase (*bottom drawing*). The magnitude and duration of each component are variable in different species and under different conditions. *Shaded area* indicates the approximate timing of the depolarization as detected by the slow potential shift (direct current, *DC*) shown on the upper-right inset, which temporally coincides with the vasoconstrictive (a) phase. *Vertical bar*: CBF 100%, *horizontal bar*: time 2 min

spreading depolarization in normal mouse brain differs from that in normal rat and human brain: The initial hypoperfusion is more pronounced and temporally corresponds to the constrictive phase in the hypotensive rat (Fig. 3). These diverse vascular responses across species and under different conditions can be explained by proposing multiple opposing vasomotor components that, when integrated, form the cerebral blood flow response to spreading depolarizations. At least three such components are discernible (Fig. 3):

- (a) Short-lasting initial vasoconstriction that temporally coincides with the depolarization
- (b) Vasodilation that starts toward the end of the depolarization and peaks after repolarization
- (c) Slowly developing oligemia that lasts up to an hour

Importantly, the expression of each component appears to be species dependent and can be physiologically and pharmacologically modulated. For instance, mechanisms of the initial vasoconstriction in the normal rat brain are postulated to act throughout the duration of the depolarization but are counteracted by the prevailing vasodilator response that begins later during depolarization. The result is a very brief initial hypoperfusion in the normal brain. During hypotension, the extended vasoconstrictive influence is unmasked due to its enhancement and the relative diminution of the vasodilator influence, which only appears in the net response after some delay. This relative balance of vasoconstriction/dilation may be similar to the normal situation in the mouse brain.

Individual vasomotor components are presumably mechanistically distinct. The most likely mediator for the initial vasoconstrictive component (a) is the dramatic rise in $[K^+]_e$ (>40–80 mmol), which is a strong vasoconstrictor agent, possibly siphoned by astrocyte end feet surrounding the small arteries and arterioles. Subsequent vasodilation (b) likely has multiple mediators (e.g., nitric oxide) and is in part metabolically driven. The postdepolarization oligemia is also likely to have multiple mechanisms and mediators, as recently shown in rats [12]. Of course, this is an oversimplified scheme, but it serves as a conceptual framework to gain insight into physiological and pharmacological modulation of neurovascular coupling during intense tissue depolarizations.

Conclusion

Identifying the precise mechanisms and mediators of the neurovascular coupling during spreading depolarizations has been challenging because of the intense nature of ionic and water shifts, biochemical and metabolic changes (e.g., pH), and massive and uncontrolled release of numerous neurotransmitter and modulator molecules. To further complicate the matter, the depolarization likely has an impact on all cell types in the neurovascular unit, including the endothelium. Nevertheless, resolving the mechanisms and mediators will be critical to target and prevent the adverse hemodynamic effects of injury depolarizations to curb the delayed secondary worsening of tissue outcome after ischemic stroke, intracranial hemorrhage, and trauma.

Acknowledgment This work was supported by NIH (NS061505, NS055104).

Conflicts of Interest I declare that I have no conflict of interest.

References

- Bosche B, Graf R, Ernestus RI, Dohmen C, Reithmeier T, Brinker G, Strong AJ, Dreier JP, Woitzik J (2010) Recurrent spreading depolarizations after subarachnoid hemorrhage decreases oxygen availability in human cerebral cortex. Ann Neurol 67:607–617
- Dreier JP, Korner K, Ebert N, Gorner A, Rubin I, Back T, Lindauer U, Wolf T, Villringer A, Einhaupl KM, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U (1998) Nitric oxide scavenging by hemoglobin or nitric oxide synthase inhibition by N-nitro-L-arginine induces cortical spreading ischemia when K⁺ is increased in the subarachnoid space. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:978–990
- Dreier JP, Korner K, Gorner A, Lindauer U, Weih M, Villringer A, Dirnagl U (1995) Nitric oxide modulates the CBF response to increased extracellular potassium. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 15:914–919
- 4. Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132:1866–1881
- Dreier JP, Petzold G, Tille K, Lindauer U, Arnold G, Heinemann U, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U (2001) Ischaemia triggered by spreading neuronal activation is inhibited by vasodilators in rats. J Physiol 531:515–526
- Duckrow RB (1993) A brief hypoperfusion precedes spreading depression if nitric oxide synthesis is inhibited. Brain Res 618:190–195

- Fabricius M, Akgoren N, Lauritzen M (1995) Arginine-nitric oxide pathway and cerebrovascular regulation in cortical spreading depression. Am J Physiol 269:H23–H29
- Lauritzen M, Dreier JP, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Graf R, Strong AJ (2010) Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:17–35
- Leao AAP (1944) Spreading depression of activity in cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol 7:359–390
- Luckl J, Zhou C, Durduran T, Yodh AG, Greenberg JH (2009) Characterization of periinfarct flow transients with laser speckle and Doppler after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. J Neurosci Res 87:1219–1229
- Nakamura H, Strong AJ, Dohmen C, Sakowitz OW, Vollmar S, Sue M, Kracht L, Hashemi P, Bhatia R, Yoshimine T, Dreier JP, Dunn AK, Graf R (2010) Spreading depolarizations cycle around and enlarge focal ischaemic brain lesions. Brain 133:1994–2006
- Piilgaard H, Witgen BM, Rasmussen P, Lauritzen M (2011) Cyclosporine A, FK506, and NIM811 ameliorate prolonged CBF reduction and impaired neurovascular coupling after cortical spreading depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1588–1598
- Shin HK, Dunn AK, Jones PB, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2006) Vasoconstrictive neurovascular coupling during focal ischemic depolarizations. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1018–1030
- 14. Shin HK, Nishimura M, Jones PB, Ay H, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2008) Mild induced hypertension improves blood flow and oxygen metabolism in transient focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke 39:1548–1555
- Strong AJ, Anderson PJ, Watts HR, Virley DJ, Lloyd A, Irving EA, Nagafuji T, Ninomiya M, Nakamura H, Dunn AK, Graf R (2007) Peri-infarct depolarizations lead to loss of perfusion in ischaemic gyrencephalic cerebral cortex. Brain 130:995–1008
- 16. Sukhotinsky I, Dilekoz E, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2008) Hypoxia and hypotension transform the blood flow response to cortical spreading depression from hyperemia into hypoperfusion in the rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:1369–1376
- Sukhotinsky I, Yaseen MA, Sakadzic S, Ruvinskaya S, Sims JR, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2010) Perfusion pressuredependent recovery of cortical spreading depression is independent of tissue oxygenation over a wide physiologic range. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:1168–1177

Subarachnoid Blood Converts Neurally Evoked Vasodilation to Vasoconstriction in Rat Brain Cortex

Masayo Koide, Adrian D. Bonev, Mark T. Nelson, and George C. Wellman

Abstract The matching of blood flow to regional brain function, called functional hyperemia or neurovascular coupling, involves the coordinated activity of neurons, astrocytes, and parenchymal arterioles. Under physiological conditions, localized neuronal activation leads to elevated astrocyte endfoot Ca2+ and vasodilation, resulting in an increase in cerebral blood flow. In this study, we examined the impact of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) on neurovascular coupling. SAH model rats received two injections of autologous blood into the cisterna magna 24 h apart. Cortical brain slices from SAH model animals were prepared 4 days after the initial blood injection. Arteriolar diameter and astrocyte endfoot Ca2+ were simultaneously measured using two-photon microscopy. As expected, neuronal activity evoked by electrical field stimulation (EFS) caused an elevation in endfoot Ca²⁺ and vasodilation in brain slices from control animals. However, in brain slices from SAH animals, EFS induced a similar increase in astrocyte endfoot Ca2+ that caused arteriolar constriction rather than vasodilation. Vasoconstriction was observed in approximately 90% of brain slices from SAH animals in response to EFS, with 40% exhibiting a sustained vasoconstriction, 30% exhibiting a transient vasoconstriction (diameter restored within 1 min after EFS), and 20% responded with a biphasic response (brief vasodilation followed by vasoconstriction). This inversion of neurovascular coupling may play a role in the development of neurological deficits following SAH.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Neurovascular coupling • Cerebral artery • Parenchymal arteriole • Astrocyte • Microcirculation • Cortical brain slice • Vasospasm

Introduction

Neurovascular coupling forms the basis of functional hyperemia, whereby localized neuronal activity leads to vasodilation and increased blood flow to enhance the supply of oxygen and nutrients to active neurons. This physiologically crucial mechanism is mediated by the coordinated activity of neurons, astrocytes, and parenchymal arterioles. During neurovascular coupling, neurally released glutamate activates astrocytic metabotropic glutamate receptors, leading to an inositol triphosphate (IP₂) receptor-mediated wave of intracellular Ca²⁺ release in astrocytes. Astrocyte endfeet completely encase parenchymal arterioles and evoked increases in endfoot Ca2+ lead to the release of vasodilatory substances (e.g., vasodilatory arachidonic acid metabolites, K⁺ efflux from large-conductance Ca²⁺activated K⁺ channels) from astrocytic endfeet onto parenchymal arterioles [1, 4, 7, 24].

For decades, angiographically detected cerebral vasospasm was considered the major cause of delayed ischemic neurological deficits following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [11, 22]. However, recent studies suggest that prevention of angiographically defined cerebral vasospasm did not improve outcome in SAH patients [16, 17]. Perfusion deficiencies within the microcirculation, which cannot be resolved using conventional angiography, may be one mechanism contributing to delayed ischemic neurological deficits following SAH [8, 9, 15, 22]. Restricted blood flow through intracerebral/parenchymal arterioles could result from microthrombi [25], vasoconstriction due to extravascular blood or blood breakdown products [20, 21], or impaired neurovascular communication [2].

In this study, we examined the impact of SAH on neurovascular coupling using a rat double-injection SAH model. Here, we report that SAH converts neurovascular coupling from vasodilation to vasoconstriction. Local vasoconstriction in response to neuronal activity would promote a decrease in local blood flow and could potentially compromise neuronal viability.

M. Koide, Ph.D., A.D. Bonev, Ph.D., M.T. Nelson, Ph.D., and G.C. Wellman, Ph.D.(🖂)

Department of Pharmacology, University of Vermont College of Medicine, 89 Beaumont Avenue, Burlington, VT 05405-0068, USA e-mail: george.wellman@uvm.edu

Materials and Methods

Rat SAH Model

Sprague-Dawley rats (males, 10–12 weeks old) were used in accordance with *The Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* (NIH Pub. No. 85–23, revised 1996) following protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Use and Care Committee of the University of Vermont. Autologous and unheparinized arterial blood (0.5 ml) was injected twice into the cisterna magna of anesthetized animals at an interval of 24 h [21]. Animals were euthanized by decapitation under deep anesthesia (pentobarbital, 60 mg/kg, ip) 4 days after the initial blood injection.

Brain Slice Experiments

Cortical brain slices (coronal sections, 160-µm thick) were prepared from the territory of the middle cerebral artery using a vibratome (VT1000S, Leica) and then loaded with the Ca²⁺ indicator dye fluo-4 (10 µM, acetoxymethyl ester) with 0.05% pluronic acid at 29°C for 1 h. Parenchymal arteriolar diameter and astrocytic endfoot Ca2+ were simultaneously imaged (~1 Hz) using a BioRad Radiance 2100 MP dedicated multiphoton imaging system. To mimic in vivo conditions, brain slices were superfused with artificial cerebrospinal fluid containing U46619 (100 nM) to induce a modest level of arterial tone. Electrical field stimulation (EFS; 50 Hz, 0.3-ms duration alternating square pulse for 3 s) with a pair of platinum wires placed parallel to the brain slice was used to stimulate neurons and induce an elevation in astrocytic endfoot Ca2+. Arteriolar diameter was determined by averaging the internal diameter obtained from three points along the arteriole on a given image and expressed as percentage change from the diameter recorded prior to EFS (first image of the recording). Astrocyte endfoot Ca²⁺ was quantified using the maximal fluorescent method [5]. All experiments were conducted at 37°C.

Results

In the vast majority (52 of 53) of brain slices from unoperated control animals, neuronal activation by EFS elicited the predicted elevation in astrocyte endfoot Ca²⁺, followed by parenchymal arteriole vasodilation. In about half of these control brain slices (28/53 brain slices), the vasodilation to EFS was transient in nature, with arterioles returning to their prestimulation diameter within 1 min after EFS. In

Table 1 Summary of arteriolar responses induced by electrical field stimulation (EFS)

	Cont		SAH	
Dilation transient	52.8%	(28/53)	5.1%	(3/59)
Dilation sustained	35.8%	(19/53)	3.4%	(2/59)
Biphasic response	9.4%	(5/53)	20.3%	(12/59)
Constriction transient	1.9%	(1/53)	28.8%	(17/59)
Constriction sustained	0.0%	(0/53)	42.4%	(25/59) slices
1 6477 1	1 . 1 1	1		

cont control, SAH subarachnoid hemorrhage

an additional 19 brain slices from control animals, parenchymal arterioles showed sustained (>1 min) vasodilation to EFS. The remainder of brain slices from control animals (5/53 brain slices, 9.4%) exhibited "biphasic" vascular responses: brief/transient dilation followed by constriction. In one brain slice from a control animal, EFS evoked only vasoconstriction.

In marked contrast, EFS caused parenchymal arteriolar vasoconstriction in over 90% of brain slices (54/59) from SAH animals. This EFS-induced vasoconstriction after SAH was transient in 17 of 59 brain slices and sustained in 25 of 59 brain slices. In 12 of 59 brain slices, parenchymal arteries showed a biphasic vascular response (brief vasodilation followed by vasoconstriction). The remainder of brain slices (5 of 59) from SAH animals responded with vasodilation after EFS (transient: 3 brain slices; sustained: 2 brain slices). These observations demonstrate an inversion in EFS-induced arteriolar response from dilation to constriction in brain slices from SAH model animals (Table 1). Interestingly, despite the dramatic SAH-induced change in the polarity of the neurovascular response, EFS-induced increases in astrocyte endfoot Ca²⁺ that preceded vasodilation (control animals) and vasoconstriction (SAH model animals) were remarkably similar (Fig. 1).

Discussion

Our observations demonstrate a fundamental change in neurovascular coupling following SAH. In over 90% of cortical brain slices from SAH model animals, evoked neuronal activity caused an elevation in astrocytic endfoot Ca²⁺ followed by vasoconstriction. This vasoconstriction observed after SAH is in marked contrast to neurally evoked vasodilation typically observed in brain slices from control animals. Vasodilation is the predicted physiological response to increased neuronal activity and is the basis of functional hyperemia. On the other hand, vasoconstriction to neuronal activity represents a pathological response that could severely limit blood flow to active neurons. Our work is consistent with recent in vivo and clinical studies that have reported



Fig. 1 Parenchymal arteriolar responses in rat cortical brain slices induced by electrical field stimulation (*EFS*). Parenchymal arteriolar diameter and astrocyte endfoot Ca^{2+} concentration were simultaneously measured using two-photon microscopy. Increased neuronal activity evoked by EFS caused an elevation in astrocyte endfoot Ca^{2+} , leading to several patterns of arteriolar responses. Representative traces of changes in arteriolar diameter and astrocyte endfoot Ca^{2+} concentration are shown in brain slices obtained from control and subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) animals. Responses were defined as "transient" if arteriolar diameter returned to baseline within 1 min after EFS. Arteriolar

responses that were maintained for 1 min after EFS were counted as "sustained" responses. Recordings exhibiting both dilation and constriction were classified as "biphasic" responses. All biphasic responses showed an initial brief dilation followed by sustained constriction. Transient dilations and sustained dilations were observed in brain slices from control animals. Traces of transient constriction, sustained constriction, and biphasic response were recorded from brain slices from SAH model animals. All patterns of arteriolar responses were observed after similar increases of astrocytic endfoot Ca^{2+} evoked by EFS

decreased cerebral blood flow in response to global neuronal hyperactivity under certain pathological conditions, such as ischemic depolarizations in mice [23] and cortical spreading depression in human aneurysmal SAH patients [3]. Our studies suggest that SAH can also induce more subtle changes in brain function that have a profound impact on neurovascular coupling.

The majority of neurovascular coupling studies, obtained using healthy animals, have reported neurally evoked vasodilation, consistent with functional hyperemia. However, a few reports have demonstrated that neuronal activation and elevated astrocytic endfoot Ca2+ can, under certain conditions, lead to parenchymal arteriolar constriction in healthy "control" animals [5, 6, 18]. Several mechanisms have been found to underlie neurally evoked vasoconstriction in brain slices from control animals, including production of the vasoconstrictor 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid [18], excessive release of K⁺ from large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels located on astrocyte endfeet caused by abnormally high levels of endfoot Ca²⁺ [5] and hyperoxia-induced decrease of vasodilators prostaglandin E_2 and adenosine [6]. Our unpublished observations suggest these mechanisms are not involved in neurally evoked vasoconstriction in brain slices from SAH animals.

Conclusion

We have previously reported that SAH can induce reactive astrogliosis, leading to altered astrocyte structure and function [19]. The cellular mechanisms linking SAH to altered astrocyte function and inversion of neurovascular coupling are currently under investigation and may involve an elevation in perivascular potassium [12]. Inversion of neurovascular coupling may act in concert with SAH-induced enhanced constriction of pial arteries [10, 13, 14, 26] and parenchymal arterioles [21] to induce ischemic neuronal damage. In summary, we report the conversion of neurovascular coupling from vasodilation to vasoconstriction in brain slices from SAH model rats. This phenomenon may play an important role in the development of cortical infarcts following cerebral aneurysm rupture.

Acknowledgment The authors acknowledge the University of Vermont Neuroscience COBRE molecular biology and imaging core facilities. This work was supported by the Totman Trust for Medical Research, the Peter Martin Brain Aneurysm Endowment, and the National Institutes of Health (P01 HL095488, R01 HL078983, R01 HL078983–05 S1, and R01 HL044455).

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Attwell D, Buchan AM, Charpak S, Lauritzen M, Macvicar BA, Newman EA (2010) Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. Nature 468:232–243
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Dreier JP, Major S, Manning A, Woitzik J, Drenckhahn C, Steinbrink J, Tolias C, Oliveira-Ferreira AI, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Vajkoczy P, Lauritzen M, Dirnagl U, Bohner G, Strong AJ (2009) Cortical spreading ischaemia is a novel process involved in ischaemic damage in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 132:7–81
- Filosa JA, Bonev AD, Straub SV, Meredith AL, Wilkerson MK, Aldrich RW, Nelson MT (2006) Local potassium signaling couples neuronal activity to vasodilation in the brain. Nat Neurosci 9:1397–1403
- Girouard H, Bonev AD, Hannah RM, Meredith A, Aldrich RW, Nelson MT (2010) Astrocytic endfoot Ca²⁺ and BK channels determine both arteriolar dilation and constriction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:3811–3816
- Gordon GR, Choi HB, Rungta RL, Ellis-Davies GC, Macvicar BA (2008) Brain metabolism dictates the polarity of astrocyte control over arterioles. Nature 456:745–749
- Gordon GR, Mulligan SJ, Macvicar BA (2007) Astrocyte control of the cerebrovasculature. Glia 55:1214–1221
- Hansen-Schwartz J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm: looking beyond vasoconstriction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:252–256
- 9. Iadecola C (2009) Bleeding in the brain: killer waves of depolarization in subarachnoid bleed. Nat Med 15:1131–1132
- Ishiguro M, Puryear CB, Bisson E, Saundry CM, Nathan DJ, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2002) Enhanced myogenic tone in cerebral arteries from a rabbit model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283:H2217–H2225
- Kassell NF, Sasaki T, Colohan AR, Nazar G (1985) Cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 16:562–572
- Koide M, Bonev AD, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2012) Inversion of neurovasculare coupling by subarachnoid blood depends on large-concoductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (BK) channels. PNAS Plus 2012; publishised ahead of print April 30, 2012.
- Koide M, Nystoriak MA, Krishnamoorthy G, O'Connor KP, Bonev AD, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Reduced Ca²⁺ spark activity after subarachnoid hemorrhage disables BK channel control of cerebral artery tone. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:3–16
- Koide M, Penar PL, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2007) Heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor mediates oxyhemoglobin-induced suppression of voltage-dependent potassium channels in rabbit cerebral artery myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H1750–H1759
- Lauritzen M, Dreier JP, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Graf R, Strong AJ (2011) Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:17–35
- 16. Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, Vajkoczy P, Wanke I, Bach D, Frey A, Marr A, Roux S, Kassell N (2011) Clazosentan, an endothelin receptor antagonist, in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage undergoing surgical clipping: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial (CONSCIOUS-2). Lancet Neurol 10:618–625

- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A (2008) Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39:3015–3021
- Mulligan SJ, Macvicar BA (2004) Calcium transients in astrocyte endfeet cause cerebrovascular constrictions. Nature 431:195–199
- Murakami K, Koide M, Dumont TM, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2011) Subarachnoid hemorrhage induces gliosis and increased expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine high mobility group box 1 protein. Transl Stroke Res 2:72–79
- Nishizawa S, Laher I (2005) Signaling mechanisms in cerebral vasospasm. Trends Cardiovasc Med 15:24–34
- Nystoriak MA, O'Connor KP, Sonkusare SK, Brayden JE, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Fundamental increase in pressure-dependent constriction of brain parenchymal arterioles from subarachnoid hemorrhage model rats due to membrane depolarization. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300:H803–H812

- 22. Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, Leroux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Shin HK, Dunn AK, Jones PB, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA, Ayata C (2006) Vasoconstrictive neurovascular coupling during focal ischemic depolarizations. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1018–1030
- Takano T, Tian GF, Peng W, Lou N, Libionka W, Han X, Nedergaard M (2006) Astrocyte-mediated control of cerebral blood flow. Nat Neurosci 9:260–267
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB (2008) Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 28:1761–1770
- Wellman GC (2006) Ion channels and calcium signaling in cerebral arteries following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28:690–702

Impact of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage on Parenchymal Arteriolar Function

George C. Wellman and Masayo Koide

Abstract Intracerebral or parenchymal arterioles play an important role in the regulation of both global and regional blood flow within the brain. Brain cortex lacks significant collateral sources of blood and thus is at risk if blood flow through parenchymal arterioles is restricted. Increasingly, evidence is accumulating that abnormal parenchymal arteriolar constriction contributes to the development of neurological deficits caused by subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). For example, parenchymal arterioles isolated from SAH model rats exhibit enhanced constriction in response to increased intravascular pressure. This increased pressuredependent constriction or myogenic tone would result in a shift in the cerebral autoregulatory response and decreased cerebral perfusion. Here, we summarize our current knowledge regarding cellular mechanisms contributing to enhanced contractility of parenchymal arteriolar myocytes following SAH. Our studies demonstrated that SAH-induced membrane potential depolarization involving altered K⁺ homeostasis leads to enhanced voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channel activity, increased smooth muscle cytosolic Ca2+, and parenchymal arteriolar constriction. In summary, emerging evidence demonstrates that SAH can profoundly affect parenchymal arteriolar tone, promoting decreased cortical blood flow and compromised neuronal viability.

Keywords Ca²⁺ channels • K⁺ channels • Microcirculation • Vascular smooth muscle • Vasospasm

G.C. Wellman, Ph.D. (⊠) and M. Koide, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacology, University of Vermont College of Medicine, Given Building, 89 Beaumont Avenue, Burlington, VT 05405-0068, USA e-mail: george.wellman@uvm.edu

Role of Parenchymal Arterioles in the Regulation of Cerebral Blood Flow

Parenchymal arterioles are small-diameter blood vessels containing a single layer of smooth muscle that are located in the brain parenchyma downstream of the Virchow-Robin space. Parenchymal arterioles can be distinguished from pial arteries, surface arterioles, and arterioles located within the transitional Virchow-Robin space by their lack of extrinsic innervation and encasement by astrocytic end feet [2]. Considering Poiseuille's law, which states that flow through a cylinder is proportional to the fourth power of the radius, it is not surprising that small changes in the diameter of these blood vessels will have a profound impact on the delivery of oxygen and nutrients to cells within the brain. Further, because collateral blood supply to the brain cortex is meager, hyperconstriction or occlusion of a parenchymal arteriole will severely limit tissue perfusion and nutrient supply to a given cortical region [12]. Another unique feature of parenchymal arterioles is their role in functional hyperemia, by which focal increases in neuronal activity are coupled to parenchymal arteriolar dilation. This matching of local blood flow to regional brain function involves the coordinated activity of neurons, astrocytes, and parenchymal arterioles (i.e., the neurovascular unit) [1]. Thus, parenchymal arterioles play an important role in local, as well as global, cerebral blood flow.

Enhanced Pressure-Induced Constriction and Elevated Arteriolar Wall Ca²⁺ of Parenchymal Arterioles from Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Model Rats

Pial or brain surface arteries from subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) model animals exhibit enhanced constriction, reflecting a combination of enhanced expression of voltage-dependent



Fig. 33.1 Elevated cytosolic Ca^{2+} and enhanced myogenic tone in parenchymal arterioles from subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) animals. (**a–c**) Representative simultaneous $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and diameter measurements obtained from intact arterioles isolated from unoperated ((**a**) control), sham-operated ((**b**) sham) and SAH (**c**) animals. Recordings were obtained during stepwise increases in intravascular pressure and subsequent nimodipine application (300 nM) at 60 mmHg. *Dashed traces*

represent diameters in Ca²⁺-free artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF) containing nimodipine (300 nM). (**d**, **e**) Summary of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (**d**) and constriction (**e**) obtained in the absence and presence of 300 nM nimodipine. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 versus control unoperated and sham operated. (**f**) Relationship between $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and constriction for arterioles isolated from control, sham-operated, and SAH animals derived from summary data depicted in *panels* (**d**) and (**e**) (Reproduced from Nystoriak et al. [13])

Ca²⁺ channels (VDCCs) and increased activity of these channels due to membrane potential depolarization [4, 5, 21]. Although available information is equivocal, a number of in vivo studies suggested that SAH can also negatively affect the microcirculation within the brain parenchyma [7, 15, 16]. However, because the small size of parenchymal arterioles poses a significant technical challenge, few in vitro studies have directly examined the impact of SAH on the parenchymal vasculature [19]. Most histological studies suggested that parenchymal arterioles from SAH model animals are more constricted [14]. Further, mechanistic information regarding the impact of SAH on the function of parenchymal arteriolar myocytes is limited. Our recent and ongoing work has begun to address these knowledge gaps.

Using the rat "double-injection" SAH model, we have examined the impact of subarachnoid blood on parenchymal arteriolar function and Ca²⁺ signaling [13]. In this study, SAH rats received two intracisternal injections of autologous arterial blood via the cisterna magna at 24-h intervals. This model recapitulates key pathologies observed in human SAH patients, including vasospasm, behavioral deficits, and decreased cortical blood flow [10, 18, 20]. Importantly, we observed extravascular red blood cells along parenchymal arterioles for distances greater than 500 μ m into the cerebral cortex, demonstrating that subarachnoid blood can pass beyond the Virchow-Robin space and directly interact with parenchymal arterioles within the brain cortex. These observations are consistent with previous reports of labeled (biotinylated) oxyhemoglobin penetrating a depth of greater than 1 mm into the cerebral cortex in a similar rat SAH model [17].

To examine the relationship between smooth muscle cytosolic Ca²⁺ and pressure-induced myogenic tone, simultaneous measurements of Ca²⁺ and diameter were obtained from isolated parenchymal arterioles using the ratiometric Ca²⁺ indicator fura-2 [13]. Within the physiological range of intravascular pressures (40–60 mmHg), parenchymal arterioles isolated from day 4 SAH rats exhibited significantly elevated arterial wall Ca²⁺ and enhanced vasoconstriction (Fig. 33.1a–e). Interestingly, the relationship between arteriolar Ca²⁺ and constriction (i.e., Ca²⁺ sensitivity) was similar between groups (Fig. 33.1f). Further, selective L-type VDCC antagonists (e.g., nimodipine) caused a near-maximum decrease in arteriolar Ca²⁺ and vasodilation (Fig. 33.1a–e). In the presence of L-type VDCC inhibitors, the R-type VDCC antagonist SNX-482 and the purported T-type VDCC antagonist mibefradil did not alter cytosolic Ca²⁺ or diameter of parenchymal arterioles isolated from control or SAH model animals. These data demonstrate that elevated [Ca²⁺]_i due to enhanced L-type VDCC activity underlies SAH-enhanced parenchymal arteriolar constriction.

SAH-Enhanced VDCC Activity in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes Is Due to Suppression of Voltage-Dependent K⁺ Channels and Smooth Muscle Membrane Potential Depolarization

Enhanced L-type VDCC activity in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH animals could result from enhanced L-type VDCC expression or membrane potential depolarization leading to increased activity of existing channels. Our data are consistent with the latter of these two possibilities. First, quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) determined that expression of Ca_v1.2 messenger RNA (mRNA), encoding the predominantly expressed L-type VDCC pore-forming α_1 subunit in vascular smooth muscle, was similar in parenchymal arterioles isolated from control and SAH animals. Second, Ca_v1.2 protein levels were not different between parenchymal arteriolar homogenates obtained from control and SAH animals. Third, in vitro measurements using intracellular microelectrodes revealed a smooth muscle membrane potential depolarization of approximately 7 mV in pressurized parenchymal arterioles obtained from SAH animals relative to control animals. As the open-state probability of L-type VDCCs is steeply voltage dependent in the physiological range of membrane potentials [11], a membrane potential depolarization of this magnitude (7 mV) would be expected to cause a substantial increase in Ca²⁺ channel activity [13]. These findings demonstrate that smooth muscle membrane potential depolarization, not increased L-type VDCC expression, is responsible for enhanced parenchymal arteriole constriction after SAH.

Voltage-dependent delayed rectifier $K^+(K_y)$ channels are expressed in the cerebral vasculature and are key regulators of smooth muscle membrane potential and arterial diameter [11]. Decreased K_{y} channel activity would cause membrane potential depolarization, increased Ca2+ influx via VDCCs, and vasoconstriction [6]. Thus, membrane potential depolarization and enhanced constriction of parenchymal arterioles from SAH animals could reflect a reduction in K_y channel activity. We have previously demonstrated in pial cerebral arteries that the blood component oxyhemoglobin suppresses $K_{\rm v}$ currents in cerebral artery myocytes by 30–40% and causes vasoconstriction within minutes of application [3, 9]. This acute oxyhemoglobin-induced K_{y} channel suppression is mediated via a cell-signaling pathway involving activation of matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), leading to shedding of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like (EGF-like) growth factor (HB-EGF), activation of the tyrosine kinase EGF receptor, and K_v channel internalization [3, 9] (Fig. 33.2). Currently, it is not known if this novel mechanism of $K_{\rm v}$ channel suppression contributes to the sustained membrane potential depolarization and constriction that we have observed in parenchymal arterioles obtained from 4-day

Fig. 33.2 Proposed signaling pathway of OxyHb-induced K, current suppression involving HB-EGF and EGFR activation. Schematic diagram illustrates OxyHb-induced K_v current suppression via enhanced MMP activation and HB-EGF shedding. OxyHb oxyhemoglobin, MMP matrix metalloprotease, ADAM a disintegrin and metalloprotease, HB-EGF heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor, EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor, PY phosphorylated tyrosine residue, *K_v channel* voltage-dependent potassium channel (Reproduced from Koide et al. [9])





200 ms

SAH model rats. Consistent with this possibility, using conventional whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology, we have preliminary evidence indicating that outward voltage-dependent K⁺ currents are indeed suppressed in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes freshly isolated from day 4 SAH model rats (Fig. 33.3). Consistent with our previous studies using myocytes isolated from pial arteries [3, 8, 9], we have found that 4-AP-sensitive K_{y} current density is dramatically decreased in freshly isolated parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH animals. We have also observed that suppression of K_{y} currents by HB-EGF was reduced in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH animals. Further, we have found that MMP-2 activity, but not expression, is enhanced in homogenates of cerebral arteries obtained from SAH animals. These data are consistent with SAH-induced suppression of K_{y} currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes through a mechanism involving MMP and EGF receptor activation.

Conclusion

Parenchymal arterioles play a critical role and represent a potential bottleneck in the delivery of blood to brain cortex. Subarachnoid blood causes enhanced parenchymal arteriole constriction at physiological intravascular pressures. This enhanced vasoconstriction is due to K_v channel suppression leading to membrane potential depolarization and increased Ca²⁺ influx due to enhanced VDCC activity. SAH-induced parenchymal arteriolar constriction may contribute to decreased cerebral blood and the development of ischemic neuronal damage commonly observed in patients following cerebral aneurysm rupture.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the Totman Medical Research Trust Fund, the Peter Martin Brain Aneurysm Endowment, the National Institutes of Health (P01 HL095488, R01 HL078983, R01 HL078983-05S1, and R01 HL044455). We would also like to acknowledge the University of Vermont Neuroscience COBRE molecular biology and imaging core facilities.

Conflicts of Interest We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Filosa JA, Bonev AD, Nelson MT (2004) Calcium dynamics in cortical astrocytes and arterioles during neurovascular coupling. Circ Res 95:e73–e81
- Iadecola C (2004) Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:347–360
- Ishiguro M, Morielli AD, Zvarova K, Tranmer BI, Penar PL, Wellman GC (2006) Oxyhemoglobin-induced suppression of voltage-dependent K⁺ channels in cerebral arteries by enhanced tyrosine kinase activity. Circ Res 99:1252–1260
- Ishiguro M, Puryear CB, Bisson E, Saundry CM, Nathan DJ, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2002) Enhanced myogenic tone in cerebral arteries from a rabbit model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283: H2217–H2225
- Ishiguro M, Wellman TL, Honda A, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2005) Emergence of a R-type Ca²⁺ channel (Ca_v 2.3) contributes to cerebral artery constriction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Circ Res 96:419–426
- Knot HJ, Nelson MT (1995) Regulation of membrane potential and diameter by voltage-dependent K⁺ channels in rabbit myogenic cerebral arteries. Am J Physiol 269:H348–H355
- Knuckey NW, Fox RA, Surveyor I, Stokes BA (1985) Early cerebral blood flow and computerized tomography in predicting ischemia after cerebral aneurysm rupture. J Neurosurg 62:850–855
- Koide M, Nystoriak MA, Krishnamoorthy G, O'Connor KP, Bonev AD, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Reduced Ca²⁺ spark activity after subarachnoid hemorrhage disables BK channel control of cerebral artery tone. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:3–16
- Koide M, Penar PL, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2007) Heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor mediates oxyhemoglobin-induced suppression of voltage-dependent potassium channels in rabbit cerebral artery myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H1750–H1759
- Lee JY, Huang DL, Keep R, Sagher O (2008) Characterization of an improved double hemorrhage rat model for the study of delayed cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosci Methods 168:358–366
- Nelson MT, Patlak JB, Worley JF, Standen NB (1990) Calcium channels, potassium channels, and voltage dependence of arterial smooth muscle tone. Am J Physiol 259:C3–C18
- Nishimura N, Schaffer CB, Friedman B, Lyden PD, Kleinfeld D (2007) Penetrating arterioles are a bottleneck in the perfusion of neocortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:365–370
- Nystoriak MA, O'Connor KP, Sonkusare SK, Brayden JE, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Fundamental increase in pressure-dependent constriction of brain parenchymal arterioles from subarachnoid hemorrhage model rats due to membrane depolarization. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300:H803–H812

- Ohkuma H, Itoh K, Shibata S, Suzuki S (1997) Morphological changes of intraparenchymal arterioles after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in dogs. Neurosurgery 41:230–235
- Ohkuma H, Manabe H, Tanaka M, Suzuki S (2000) Impact of cerebral microcirculatory changes on cerebral blood flow during cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 31:1621–1627
- Takeuchi H, Handa Y, Kobayashi H, Kawano H, Hayashi M (1991) Impairment of cerebral autoregulation during the development of chronic cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in primates. Neurosurgery 28:41–48
- Turner CP, Bergeron M, Matz P, Zegna A, Noble LJ, Panter SS, Sharp FR (1998) Heme oxygenase-1 is induced in glia throughout brain by subarachnoid hemoglobin. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:257–273
- Vatter H, Weidauer S, Konczalla J, Dettmann E, Zimmermann M, Raabe A, Preibisch C, Zanella FE, Seifert V (2006) Time course in

the development of cerebral vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: clinical and neuroradiological assessment of the rat double hemorrhage model. Neurosurgery 58:1190–1197

- Vollmer DG, Takayasu M, Dacey RG Jr (1992) An in vitro comparative study of conducting vessels and penetrating arterioles after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rabbit. J Neurosurg 77:113–119
- Weidauer S, Vatter H, Dettmann E, Seifert V, Zanella FE (2006) Assessment of vasospasm in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats by selective biplane digital subtraction angiography. Neuroradiology 48:176–181
- Wellman GC (2006) Ion channels and calcium signaling in cerebral arteries following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28:690–702

SAH-Induced Suppression of Voltage-Gated K⁺ (K_v) Channel Currents in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes Involves Activation of the HB-EGF/EGFR Pathway

Masayo Koide and George C. Wellman

Abstract Potassium channels play an important role in the regulation of arterial tone, and decreased activity of these ion channels has been linked to pial artery vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Our previous work has shown that acute application of a blood component, oxyhemoglobin, caused suppression of voltage-gated K^+ (K_v) channels through heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (HB-EGF)-mediated activation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). Using patch clamp electrophysiology, we have now examined whether this pathway of K_u channel suppression is activated in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes following long-term in vivo exposure to subarachnoid blood. We have found that K_v currents, but not large conductance Ca2+ activated or inwardly rectifying K+ channel currents, were decreased in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes freshly isolated from day 5 SAH model rabbits. Interestingly, parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control animals were more sensitive to exogenous HB-EGF (halfmaximal inhibitory concentration $[IC_{50}]$ 0.2±0.4 ng/ml) compared to pial arterial myocytes (IC₅₀ 2.4 ± 1.3 ng/ml). However, HB-EGF and oxyhemoglobin failed to decrease K_v currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH animals, consistent with EGFR activation and K_v current suppression by SAH. These data suggest that HB-EGF/ EGFR pathway activation contributes to K_v current suppression and enhanced parenchymal arteriolar constriction after SAH.

Keywords K⁺ channels • Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF) • Parenchymal arteriole • Patch clamp • Vascular smooth muscle • Vasospasm

M. Koide, Ph.D., and G.C. Wellman, Ph.D.()

Introduction

Potassium-selective ion channels represent a family of ubiquitously expressed pore-forming proteins that have diverse physiological functions. Several types of K⁺ channels, including voltage-gated K⁺ (K_v) channels, large conductance Ca²⁺activated K⁺ (BK) channels, inward rectifier K⁺ (Kir) channels, and adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels are expressed in cerebral arterial myocytes and play an important role in the regulation of arterial tone [11]. In arterial myocytes, decreased K⁺ channel activity promotes membrane potential depolarization, leading to activation of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels, increased Ca²⁺ influx, and vasoconstriction [5].

Previous studies have demonstrated that decreased K. channel currents contribute to enhanced arteriolar tone in pial cerebral arteries following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [2, 13, 14]. With respect to potential mechanisms of decreased K_{v} channel activity, our laboratory has demonstrated that acute exposure of cerebral artery myocytes to the blood component oxyhemoglobin caused Kv current suppression via a pathway involving activation of the tyrosine kinase epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) by its ligand heparinbinding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (HB-EGF) [2, 8]. These studies provided evidence that oxyhemoglobin increased matrix metalloprotease activity in cerebral arteries. leading to the cleavage and release of HB-EGF from membrane-bound pro-HB-EGF. Binding of HB-EGF to EGFR may lead to K_v channel endocytosis and vasoconstriction [8]. Presently, it is unclear whether the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway is activated in the cerebral vasculature after SAH.

Parenchymal arterioles, located in brain parenchyma downstream of the Virchow-Robin space, play an important role in the regulation of both local and global cerebral blood flow. Compared to brain surface arteries, relatively little is currently known regarding the impact of SAH on parenchymal arteriolar function. Recently, Nystoriak et al. [12] demonstrated that parenchymal arterioles isolated from SAH model rats exhibit enhanced myogenic tone and vascular

Department of Pharmacology, University of Vermont College of Medicine, 89 Beaumont Avenue, Burlington, VT 05405-0068, USA e-mail: george.wellman@uvm.edu

smooth muscle membrane potential depolarization. Here, we examine the hypothesis that decreased K_v currents contribute to enhanced tone in parenchymal arterioles isolated from SAH model rabbits via a pathway involving HB-EGF-induced activation of EGFR.

Materials and Methods

Rabbit SAH Model

This study used male New Zealand white rabbits (3.0–3.5 kg; Charles River) in accordance with the Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH publication 85-23, revised 1996) and followed protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Use and Care Committee of the University of Vermont. Under isoflurane anesthesia, animals received two injections of unheparinized autologous arterial blood (2.5 ml) into the cisterna magna at an interval of 48 h [3, 6, 7, 10]. Immediately prior to each injection of blood, an equivalent volume of cerebral spinal fluid was removed. Buprenophine (0.01 mg/kg) was administered as an analgesic every 12 h for 36 h after each surgery. Five days after the initial surgery, animals were euthanized by exsanguination and decapitation under deep pentobarbital anesthesia (60 mg/kg, iv). Parenchymal arterioles from the middle cerebral artery territory were dissected in ice-cold physiological saline solution (in mM: 118.5 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 24 NaHCO₂, 1.18 KH₂PO₄, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 MgCl₂, 0.023 EDTA [ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid], and 11 glucose; pH 7.4) aerated with 20% O₂, 5% CO₂, 75% N₂.

Electrophysiology

Arteriolar Smooth Muscle Cell Isolation

Individual myocytes were enzymatically dissociated from parenchymal arterioles as described previously [4, 7, 8]. Briefly, parenchymal arterioles were incubated at 37°C for 17 min in glutamate-containing isolation solution (in mM: 55 NaCl, 5.6 KCl, 80 L-glutamic acid, 2.0 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES [4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid], and 10 glucose; pH 7.3) with 0.3 mg/ml papain and 0.7 mg/ml dithioerythritol. Arterioles were then transferred into isolation solution containing collagenase (0.7 mg/ml collagenase type F and 0.3 mg/ml collagenase type H) and 0.1 mM CaCl₂ for 10 min at 37°C. After incubation in isolation solution with 2 mM CaCl₂ on ice for 30 min, tissues were gently triturated using a small-bore fire-polished Pasteur pipette.

Whole-Cell Voltage-Dependent K⁺ Channel Current Recordings

Whole-cell membrane K⁺ currents were measured at room temperature using the conventional whole-cell configuration of the patch clamp technique. The bath solution consisted of (in mM): 134 NaCl, 6 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 1.8 CaCl₂, 10 glucose, and 10 HEPES (pH 7.4). Except when specifically mentioned, bath solution also contained 1.8 mM CaCl₂. Patch pipettes (8–10 MΩ) were filled with an (internal) solution containing (in mM) 87 K⁺ aspartate, 20 KCl, 1 CaCl₂, 1 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES, 10 EGTA [ethylene glycol-bis(2-aminoethylether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid], and 25 KOH (pH 7.2). Outward currents were elicited by a series of 500-ms depolarizing voltage steps from a holding potential of -70 to +50 mV, followed by a step to -40 mV for 300 ms. Voltage steps were made at 10 mV increments at intervals of 10 s.

Inward Rectifier K⁺ Channel Current Measurement

Kir currents were measured using conventional whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology. The bath solution contained (in mM) 140 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 10 glucose, and 10 HEPES (pH 7.4). Internal (pipette) solution contained (in mM) 87 K⁺ aspartate, 20 KCl, 1 CaCl₂, 1 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES, 10 EGTA, and 25 KOH (pH 7.2). From a holding potential of -70 mV, voltage was stepped to -100 mV for 100 ms, then ramped from -100 mV to +40 mV over a period of 500 ms. Kir currents were defined as membrane currents sensitive to 100 μ M BaCl₂.

Statistical Analysis

Data are expressed as mean plus or minus SEM with *n* representing the number of cells per group and *N* representing the number of animals per group. Student's paired or unpaired *t* tests were used to determine statistical significance at the level of p < 0.05 (*) or p < 0.01 (**).

Results

Decreased K_v Currents in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes After SAH

Whole-cell, voltage-dependent K⁺ currents, representing a combination of BK and K_v channel activity, were measured in freshly isolated parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control and SAH model animals. Whole-cell currents were significantly decreased in cells from SAH model animals (Fig. 1a,b). For example, current density at +50 mV was 30.0 ± 2.8 pA/pF (n=6, N=2 animals) and 21.7 ± 2.5 pA/pF (n=5, N=2) in

Fig. 1 Decreased voltage-gated K⁺ (K_y) currents in rabbit parenchymal arteriolar myocytes following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). (a) Representative traces of voltage-dependent K⁺ channel currents obtained using conventional whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology. Blockers of large conductance Ca2+-activated K⁺ (BK) channels (paxilline, Pax, 1 μ M) and voltage-gated K⁺ (K_v) channels (4-aminopyridine, 4-AP, 10 mM) were cumulatively added to cells at an interval of 10 min. Cell capacitance in control and SAH myoctes were 11.1 and 10.9 pF, respectively. (b) Summary of current densities in the presence and absence of paxilline and 4-AP. Current density was calculated by dividing membrane currents by cell capacitance for each myocyte. Whole K⁺ currents (in the absence of paxilline and 4-AP, closed circles) were significantly smaller in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH model animals. Control: n=6 cells from two animals; SAH: n=5 cells from two animals. (c-e) Summary of K+ currents obtained in the presence of paxilline and 4-AP. 4-AP-sensitive (K_) currents were decreased in myocytes obtained from SAH model animals (d). Paxilline-sensitive (c) and paxilline-insensitive/4-AP-insensitive (e) currents were similar between groups. (f) Inward rectifier K+ (Kir) currents obtained at -100 mV were similar between control (n = 15 cells from eight)animals) and SAH (n = 12 cells from five animals) myocytes.



myocytes from control and SAH animals, respectively. Cell capacitance was not different between groups (control 11.2 ± 1.4 pF, n=6; SAH 10.7 ± 0.8 pF, n=5). To examine BK channel currents, cells were treated with paxilline, a blocker of BK channels. Paxilline-sensitive currents were similar at +50 mV in myocytes from control (5.5 ± 1.3 pA/pF, n=6) and SAH (5.2 \pm 1.5 pA/pF, n=5) animals, indicating that BK currents were unaltered after SAH (Fig. 1c). In contrast, currents sensitive to 4-aminopyridine (4-AP, 10 mM), a K_v channel blocker, were markedly decreased in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH model animals (Fig. 1d). At +50 mV, 4-AP-sensitive current density was 21.1 ± 2.0 pA/pF in myocytes from control animals (n=6) compared to 13.5±1.1 pA/ pF in myocytes from SAH animals (n=5). Outward K⁺ currents insensitive to both paxilline and 4-AP were similar between groups (Fig. 1e), as were Kir currents (Fig. 1f). These data demonstrate that K_v currents are selectively decreased in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH model animals.

HB-EGF Causes K_v Current Suppression in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes from Control Animals

We have previously shown that acute application of oxyhemoglobin suppresses K_v currents in pial artery myocytes

from control animals via a pathway involving HB-EGF and EGFR activation [8]. We therefore hypothesized that activation of the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway contributes to K_v current suppression in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes after SAH. To examine this hypothesis, we first examined the ability of exogenous HB-EGF to suppress K_y currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control animals. In this experimental series, Ca2+ in the bath solution was lowered from 2 to 0.1 mM to minimize BK currents. Treatment of exogenous HB-EGF decreased K_u currents in a concentration-dependent manner in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control animals (Fig. 2a). Interestingly, control parenchymal arteriolar myocytes $(IC_{50} 0.2 \pm 0.4 \text{ ng/ml})$ were more sensitive to HB-EGF compared to pial artery myocytes (IC₅₀ 2.4 ± 1.3 ng/ml). In control parenchymal arteriolar myocytes, 30 ng/ml HB-EGF suppressed whole-cell K⁺ currents by approximately 45%, or $12.8 \pm 1.9 \text{ pA/pF}$ (*n*=4, *N*=3). In a second experimental series, the effect of HB-EGF on K_v current was also examined using bath solution containing 1.8 mM Ca²⁺ and the BK channel blocker paxilline (Fig. 2b). Using these conditions, HB-EGF (30 ng/ml)-induced current suppression was 12.4 ± 1.4 pA/pF, n=5, N=3, which was similar to that observed using 0.1 mM Ca²⁺ in the bath solution. These data demonstrate that HB-EGF can potently suppress K_v currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes in the absence of SAH.



Fig. 2 Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (*HB-EGF*)-induced K_v current suppression in parenchymal and cerebral arterial myocytes isolated from control rabbits. (**a**) Concentration-response curve of HB-EGF-induced K⁺ current suppression. K⁺ currents were obtained from rabbit parenchymal arteriolar (*closed circle*) and cerebral arterial myocytes (*open circle*) using 800-ms of voltage steps to +50 mV from a holding potential of -70 mV. To minimize large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (*BK*) current, Ca²⁺ in the bath solution was

lowered to 0.1 mM. Decreased current densities after 10 min HB-EGF treatment were plotted (n=4-6 cells) for each HB-EGF concentration. Data from pial arterial myocytes were modified from Koide et al. [8]. (b) Suppression of K_v currents by HB-EGF (30 ng/ml) in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes at +50 mV. Prior to treatment with HB-EGF, BK currents were minimized either by lowering Ca²⁺ in the extracellular solution from 1.8 to 0.1 mM or adding paxilline (1 μ M), suggesting HB-EGF suppresses K_v current, not BK current (n=4-5)



Fig. 3 Suppression of voltage-gated K^+ (K_v) currents by heparinbinding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (*HB-EGF*) and oxyhemoglobin in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes is reduced in subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) compared to control animals. (**a**) Representative traces of the effects of HB-EGF treatment (30 ng/ml) on K_v currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control and SAH

HB-EGF and Oxyhemoglobin Do Not Cause K_v Current Suppression in Parenchymal Arteriolar Myocytes from SAH Model Animals

Considering that SAH may cause K_v current suppression via EGFR activation, it is conceivable that the actions of exogenous activators of EGFR may be diminished when applied to parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH model animals. Consistent with this possibility, K_v current suppression induced by HB-EGF (Fig. 3a) and oxyhemoglobin (Fig. 3b) were markedly decreased in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH animals compared to similar cells from control animals. Although further study is needed, these data strongly suggest that activation of the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway contributes to K_v current suppression in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes after SAH.

Discussion

а

Control

SAH

Here, we demonstrate that K_v currents are suppressed in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes after SAH. K_v current suppression would cause membrane potential depolarization [12], increased voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channel activity [12], and enhanced arteriolar tone [3, 6, 12]. Our findings are in agreement with previous studies demonstrating SAH-induced K_v current suppression in pial arteries [2, 13, 14]. Further, we provide evidence of a novel mechanism linking SAH to K_v current suppression involving HB-EGF-mediated activation of EGFR. Consistent with activation of this pathway after SAH, suppression of K_v currents by HB-EGF and oxyhemoglobin in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes was reduced in SAH compared to control animals. Considering that the blood component oxyhemoglobin is able to activate the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway [8], release of oxyhemoglobin

animals. Cell capacitance was 10.3 pF (*control*) and 9.7 pF (*SAH*). (**b**) Oxyhemoglobin (*OxyHb*, 10 μ M) decreased K_v currents in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control but not SAH animals. Cell capacitance was 10.8 pF (*control*) and 11.1 pF (*SAH*). Recordings were obtained in the presence of the large conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (BK) channel blocker paxilline (1 μ M)

from subarachnoid blood may contribute to SAH-induced K_v current suppression in parenchymal arterioles. However, parenchymal arterioles are downstream of the Virchow-Robin space and are tightly encased by astrocyte end feet. Further research is required to determine whether blood components such as oxyhemoglobin directly interact with parenchymal arteriolar myocytes to cause K_v channel suppression.

Interestingly, we found that HB-EGF caused K_v current suppression at lower concentrations in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes compared to myocytes from pial arteries. This finding suggests that activation of the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway during pathological conditions (e.g., SAH) may have a greater impact on parenchymal arterioles than brain surface arteries. Further, the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway may play an important role in the physiological regulation of parenchymal arteriolar tone. Consistent with this possibility, the IC_{50} value determined for HB-EGF-induced K_v current suppression (approximately 0.2 ng/ml; Fig. 2) is close to serum levels of HB-EGF (0.05–0.15 ng/ml) reported in humans [9]. It is also possible the enhanced HB-EGF/EGFR-mediated K_y channel suppression may contribute to enhanced pressureinduced constrictions reported in parenchymal arterioles isolated from healthy animals [1, 12].

Conclusion

In summary, diminished K_v currents were observed in parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from SAH model rabbits. Suppression of K_v currents promoting enhanced arteriolar tone and decreased cerebral blood flow may contribute to the development of neurological deficits following SAH. Further, our findings suggest involvement of the HB-EGF/EGFR pathway in K_v current suppression following SAH. This work describing a novel pathway of K_v current suppression should provide new insights for the development of treatments for patients after not only cerebral aneurysm rupture but also brain trauma, for which SAH is a common but understudied occurrence.

Acknowledgment This work was supported by the Totman Trust for Medical Research, the Peter Martin Brain Aneurysm Endowment, and the National Institutes of Health (P01 HL095488, R01 HL078983, and R01 HL078983-05 S1).

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Cipolla MJ, Li R, Vitullo L (2004) Perivascular innervation of penetrating brain parenchymal arterioles. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 44:1–8
- Ishiguro M, Morielli AD, Zvarova K, Tranmer BI, Penar PL, Wellman GC (2006) Oxyhemoglobin-induced suppression of voltage-dependent K⁺ channels in cerebral arteries by enhanced tyrosine kinase activity. Circ Res 99:1252–1260
- Ishiguro M, Puryear CB, Bisson E, Saundry CM, Nathan DJ, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2002) Enhanced myogenic tone in cerebral arteries from a rabbit model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283:H2217–H2225
- Ishiguro M, Wellman TL, Honda A, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2005) Emergence of a R-type Ca²⁺ channel (Ca_v 2.3) contributes to cerebral artery constriction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Circ Res 96:419–426
- Knot HJ, Nelson MT (1995) Regulation of membrane potential and diameter by voltage-dependent K⁺ channels in rabbit myogenic cerebral arteries. Am J Physiol 269:H348–H355

- Koide M, Nystoriak MA, Brayden JE, Wellman GC (2011) Impact of subarachnoid hemorrhage on local and global calcium signaling in cerebral artery myocytes. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:1–50
- Koide M, Nystoriak MA, Krishnamoorthy G, O'Connor KP, Bonev AD, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Reduced Ca²⁺ spark activity after subarachnoid hemorrhage disables BK channel control of cerebral artery tone. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:3–16
- Koide M, Penar PL, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2007) Heparinbinding EGF-like growth factor mediates oxyhemoglobin-induced suppression of voltage-dependent potassium channels in rabbit cerebral artery myocytes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 293:H1750–H1759
- Matsumoto S, Kishida K, Shimomura I, Maeda N, Nagaretani H, Matsuda M, Nishizawa H, Kihara S, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y, Yamada A, Yamashita S, Tamura S, Kawata S (2002) Increased plasma HB-EGF associated with obesity and coronary artery disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 292:781–786
- Murakami K, Koide M, Dumont TM, Russell SR, Tranmer BI, Wellman GC (2011) Subarachnoid hemorrhage induces gliosis and increased expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine high mobility group box 1 protein. Transl Stroke Res 2:72–79
- Nelson MT, Patlak JB, Worley JF, Standen NB (1990) Calcium channels, potassium channels, and voltage dependence of arterial smooth muscle tone. Am J Physiol 259:C3–C8
- Nystoriak MA, O'Connor KP, Sonkusare SK, Brayden JE, Nelson MT, Wellman GC (2011) Fundamental increase in pressure-dependent constriction of brain parenchymal arterioles from subarachnoid hemorrhage model rats due to membrane depolarization. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300:H803–H812
- Quan L, Sobey CG (2000) Selective effects of subarachnoid hemorrhage on cerebral vascular responses to 4-aminopyridine in rats. Stroke 31:2460–2465
- Wellman GC (2006) Ion channels and calcium signaling in cerebral arteries following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28:690–702
Mechanisms of Microthrombosis and Microcirculatory Constriction After Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Mohammed Sabri, Jinglu Ai, Katarina Lakovic, and R. Loch Macdonald

Abstract Microcirculatory dysfunction may contribute to delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). This study investigated structural changes in microvessels and their relationship to brain injury after SAH. We used 15 mice (n=5 for each group) to create sham, salineinjected (100 µl 0.9% NaCl) or SAH (100 µl autologous blood) model by injection into the prechiasmatic cistern. We sacrificed mice 2 days after surgery and examined the brains using scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), and immunohistochemical staining of fibrinogen. We assessed neuronal apoptosis by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP (deoxyuridine triphosphate) nick end labeling (TUNEL). Nitric oxide (NO) was measured with 4,5-diaminofluorescein-2-diacetate. TEM and SEM demonstrated that mice with SAH had significantly more of them arterioles with lesion characteristics consistent with microthrombi. Microthrombi number correlated with the number of apoptotic neurons and decreased NO in the brain. In conclusion, SAH causes microthrombosis and constriction of arterioles, which correlates with neuronal death and decreased NO. These data suggest

M. Sabri, B.Sc. • K. Lakovic, B.Sc.

Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

J. Ai, Ph.D.

R.L. Macdonald, M.D., Ph.D.(🖂)

Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON M5B 1W8, Canada

Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: macdonaldlo@smh.ca

NO depletion may contribute to the formation of microthrombosis and arteriolar constriction, which in turn results in neuronal cell death.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Microthrombosis • Scanning electron microscopy • Transmission electron microscopy • Nitric oxide • Mice

Introduction

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) accounts for about 6% of cases of stroke and afflicts more than 50,000 individuals annually in North America [20]. Cerebral angiographic vasospasm has been recognized as commonly associated with aneurysmal SAH for many years and has been regarded as potentially the most treatable prognostic factor for outcome [10]. However, recent studies showed that angiographic vasospasm does not predict the location of infarction in at least one fifth to one third of SAH patients [14]. Furthermore, some patients with SAH develop ischemia and cortical infarctions without any evidence of angiographic vasospasm [14, 22]. Other postulated secondary mechanisms after SAH include acute brain injury, microcirculatory dysfunction, microthromboembolism, and cortical spreading ischemia [10, 13]. Microthromboemboli were reported after fatal human SAH [18]. Transcranial Doppler ultrasound in humans with SAH detects microembolic signals, so it is not clear if these lesions are thrombi formed in situ or emboli from proximal vasospastic arteries [15]. If they are thrombi, do they form primarily due to endothelial injury, or are they secondary to vasoconstriction? The focus of this study was to determine whether experimental SAH is associated with microcirculatory constriction and thrombosis, what the nature of microthromboemboli (thrombi or emboli?) is, and whether these changes correlate with brain injury.

Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON M5B 1W8, Canada

Materials and Methods

Animal Model

Experimental protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee. We used 15 male CD1 mice weighing 20-25 g in this study. We anesthetized mice with ketamine (10 mg/kg) and xylazine (4 mg/kg) by intraperitoneal injection. We maintained body temperature of the animals at 37.0 ± 0.5 °C with a rectal temperature probe and a homeothermic heating pad (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA). SAH was created by injection of autologous blood into the prechiasmatic cistern [17]. The mice were positioned in a stereotactic frame equipped with a mouse adapter (Stoelting Co., Wood Dale, IL). Relative cerebral blood flow (CBF) was measured using a laser Doppler flow probe (BLT21, Transonics Systems, New York City). We angled a drill 40° caudally at the site 4.5 mm anterior to the bregma and drilled a 0.9-mm hole slightly lateral to the midline of the skull to avoid the superior sagittal sinus. A 27-gauge spinal needle was advanced through the burr hole to the base of the skull and into the prechiasmatic cistern. We withdrew autologous blood (nonheparinized, 100 µl) from the ventral tail artery using a 25-gauge needle and injected it into the prechiasmatic cistern over 10 s (n=5). We used the same procedure to create saline-injected controls (100 μ l 0.9% NaCl, n=5). For sham control animals, we did the same procedure but without injecting anything (n=5).

Scanning Electron Microscopy

Two days later, animals were anesthetized and perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde and 1% glutaraldehyde in phosphate buffer, pH 7.3, at physiological blood pressure. Brains were removed and immersed in this fixative for 24 h. Specimens were taken from coronal slices of the brain 2 mm from the bregma and 1–2 mm from the midline. Specimens were then washed, postfixed in 2% aqueous osmium tetroxide for 1 h, washed, and dehydrated in increasing concentrations of ethanol. They were critical point dried by placement in liquid CO₂ and then mounted on carbon tape and coated with gold-palladium. They were viewed in a scanning electron microscope (SEM; JEM-820, JEOL Corp., Peabody, MA) with images acquired using an image converter (IXRF Systems Inc., Houston, TX).

Transmission Electron Microscopy

Specimens of coronal brain slices 2 mm from the bregma and 1-2 mm from the midline were immersed in 4% formaldehyde

and 1% glutaraldehyde in phosphate buffer, pH 7.3, for 24 h. They were postfixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 h. They were dehydrated in a graded series of acetone solutions and then embedded in epon-araldite epoxy resin. A microwave oven was used for the processing steps from postfixation to polymerization of resin blocks (Pelco BioWave 34770, Pelco International, Clovis, CA). Ultrathin sections were cut with a diamond knife on a microtome (Reichert Ultracut E, Leica Inc., Vienna, Austria) and stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate before examination in a transmission electron microscope (TEM; JEM-1011, JEOL Corp.). Digital TEM micrographs were acquired directly with a 1,024 × 1,024 pixel charge-coupled device camera (AMT Corp., Denver, CO).

Microvessel Vasoconstriction and Vascular Wall Assessment

Images of all visible vessels in both TEM and SEM slides were obtained using the following criteria: (1) vessels with a diameter that ranged from 10 to 20 µm, (2) vessels with at least one distinct endothelial cell visible on TEM, and (3) vessels with wall thickness greater than 0.5 µm in all directions. These criteria were thought to select for arterioles as opposed to venules. We assessed the lumen diameter, area, and perimeter using SEM images and vascular wall thickness using TEM. We averaged measurement of these parameters from all vessels for each animal. We measured microvessel lumen area using the freehand tool (Image J, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) to outline the artery lumen after calibration to the microscope-generated scale. Microvessel wall thickness was measured at four equally spaced points around the vessel circumference and averaged for each vessel. An observer blinded to the group the mouse was from performed all measurements.

Fibrinogen Staining and Measurement of Nitric Oxide

Coronal brain sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated. Antigen was retrieved by heating the sections for 20 min in 0.01 mmol/L sodium citrate (pH 6.0) at 96°C. Sections were permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X-100 for 10 min and then incubated with 10% normal goat serum for 60 min. Primary antibody used was rat polyclonal antifibrinogen (1:200, Abcam, Cambridge, MA), and secondary antibody was Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated antimouse for fibrinogen (1:1,000, Invitrogen). After incubating the sections with secondary antibody, they were washed and coverslipped with antifading mounting medium and sealed with nail polish. Slides were viewed in a confocal microscope, and images were captured using consistent parameters (pinhole size, exposure time, and laser intensity).

The cell-permeable fluorophore 4,5-diaminofluorescein-2-diacetate (DAF-2DA; Alexis Biochemicals, Gruenberg, Germany) was used to detect nitric oxide (NO). Homogenized brain tissues were incubated with 10 μ mol/L DAF-2DA for 30 min in transparent 96-well plates (Fisher, Ottawa, ON, Canada) at room temperature in the dark. DAF-2DA was excited at 495 nm and emission read at 515 nm in a spectrofluorometer (SpectraMAX-Gemini, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). All experiments were repeated three times, with an average used for data analysis.

TUNEL and Fibrinogen Double Immunostaining

Apoptosis was detected using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (deoxyuridine triphosphate) dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL; DeadEnd Fluorometric kit, Promega, WI) according to the protocols from the manufacturer. We counterstained the slides with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). Some slides were then stained with antifibrinogen antibodies (rat polyclonal antifibrinogen; 1:100, Abcam).

Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as means plus or minus standard deviation. Data were compared within groups over time and between groups at each time by analysis of variance (ANOVA) or Student *t* test for continuous variables and by χ^2 test for categorical variables; *p*<0.05 was considered significant. Correlations between variables were tested by linear regression.

Results

Scanning Electron Microscopy

Microvessel spasm was observed in all animals with SAH (Fig. 1). Microvessels from the brains of animals with SAH had significantly decreased lumen area, which was accompanied by thickened vessel wall (Fig. 1c). Mean microvessel lumen area was $289 \pm 29 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ for sham, $269 \pm 39 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ for saline-injected, and $115 \pm 69 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ for SAH animals (p < 0.01, ANOVA; Fig. 1b). The interior of the microvessels from control animals was smooth. In contrast, the interior of

microvessels from animals with SAH was corrugated and irregular with zigzagging structures (Fig. 1c). Some constricted microvessels contained intraluminal material that had an appearance consistent with thrombosis, rather than embolism, based on material arising from the endothelium and that was adherent to the endothelium. There were intact and crenated erythrocytes embedded in fibrin matrix that appeared to adhere to the vessel wall. There were constricted vessels without microthrombi, but no vessels were seen with microthrombi but no constriction.

Nitric Oxide

The decreased microvessel area was associated with decreased NO in the brain. The NO concentration was 44 ± 9 AU for sham and 46 ± 20 AU for saline-injected and 24 ± 11 AU for SAH animals (p<0.05, ANOVA).

Transmission Electron Microscopy

There was significantly increased microvessel wall thickness in animals with SAH as compared to sham or saline-injected controls $(1.69\pm0.35 \ \mu\text{m}$ for SAH, $0.83\pm0.08 \ \mu\text{m}$ for sham, and $0.79\pm0.04 \ \mu\text{m}$ for saline-injected; p < 0.01, one-way ANOVA; Fig. 2b). Some of the constricted microvessels in animals with SAH contained thromboemboli, but this was not observed in sham or saline-injected controls, which showed smooth empty lumen (Fig. 2a). In microvessels from SAH animals, the lumen contained endothelial and perivascular cells that protruded into the lumen, and the cell membranes were corrugated, in contrast to the smooth membrane of endothelial and perivascular cells in the sham and salineinjected controls (Fig. 2a).

Correlation of Neuron Death with Microthromboemboli

To investigate whether vasoconstriction of microvessels and microthromboemboli were associated with brain injury, we stained brain slices with TUNEL to detect cell death. TUNEL-stained cells were found around fibrinogen-stained microthromboemboli in the brains of animals with SAH but not in sham or saline-injected controls (Fig. 3a). TUNELstained cells were obviously pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus and appeared to be neurons in the cortex. Quantification showed significantly more TUNEL-positive neurons and fibrinogen-positive microthromboemboli in



Microspasm

Microthrombus

Fig. 1 Scanning electron microscopy (*SEM*) of microvessel constriction and microthrombi formation after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). (a) and (b) Representative SEM images from sham and saline-injected (a) controls and SAH (b) showing smooth, empty microvessels in controls but constricted vessels, some filled with microthrombi, in

SAH animals. (c) Quantification of microvessel constriction showing significantly decreased microvessel lumen area in animals with SAH compared to sham or saline-injected controls (p < 0.01, analysis of variance; data are means plus or minus standard deviations; n=5 for all the groups)





Fig. 2 Transmission electron microscopy (*TEM*) of microvessel vasoconstriction after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). (a) *Upper panel* representative TEM images from saline-injected control animals showing thin-walled microvessels with smooth, empty lumen. *Lower panel* representative TEM images from SAH animals showing thickened microvessel walls and a thrombus in a constricted microvessel lumen. (b) Quantification of microvessel wall thickness showing significantly increased microvessel wall thickness in animals with SAH compared to sham or saline-injected controls (p < 0.01, analysis of variance; data are means plus or minus standard deviations; n=5 for all the groups)



Fig. 3 Colocalization of cells that are terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (*TUNEL*) positive with fibrinogen-positive microthrombi. (**a**) Representative images showing colocalization of TUNEL and fibrinogen staining only in animals with subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) (*yellow* in *H*) but not in saline-injected control animals (*D*). (**b**) There is a significantly increased number of TUNEL-

positive cells in SAH animals compared to saline-injected controls (p < 0.01). (c) Marked increase of fibrinogen-positive microvessels are found in animals with SAH as compared to controls (p < 0.01). There is a correlation of TUNEL positivity with fibrinogen positivity in the SAH group. All data in (b) and (c) are expressed as mean plus or minus standard deviation; *n* was 5 for all the groups

SAH as compared to saline-injected control animals (Fig. 3b, c). In animals with SAH, the TUNEL-positive cell count was 70±23. This was 18±7 for saline-injected controls (Fig. 3b; p<0.01, t test). Similar to the observations with TUNEL staining, in animals with SAH, fibrinogen-positive stained microthromboemboli counts were 25±6. In contrast, the count was 10±6 for saline-injected controls (Fig. 3c; p<0.01, t test). There was a linear correlation between TUNEL positivity and fibrinogen positivity.

Discussion

Controversy surrounds the etiology of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and infarction in patients with SAH. Postulated mechanisms include angiographic vasospasm, cortical spreading ischemia, microcirculatory dysfunction, and microthromboembolism. We investigated microthromboembolism in an animal model. We used electron microscopy to visualize both microthromboembolism and microcirculatory vasoconstriction in cortical and hippocampal arterioles after SAH. Few studies have determined if there is microthromboembolism. Electron microscopy was utilized in earlier studies to characterize ultrastructural differences in larger intradural arteries surrounding the region of hemorrhage [4, 19]. The changes observed included those associated with vasoconstriction, as well as pathological changes such as endothelial cell swelling, internal elastic lamina thickening, endothelial and smooth muscle cell vacuolation and necrosis, and loss of interendothelial cell tight junctions [5]. Adherence of platelets and potential embolic material was seen in some studies [1]. However, none of the studies reported ultrastructural differences in microvessels and parenchymal vessels after SAH.

In the current study, we demonstrated that microvessels in animals with SAH developed significant vasoconstriction with thickening of the endothelial and subendothelial layers. There were intimal convolutions and intraluminal thrombi in the majority of the constricted vessels. These vasoconstricted, thrombosed microvessels were spatially associated with TUNEL-stained cells that appeared to be neurons. Similar changes were seen on TEM, including thickening of vascular walls, intimal convolutions, and swelling of the endothelial cells with vacuolation. These findings are consistent with data showing that CBF is reduced days after SAH in animal models and in humans [3, 8, 9]. Prior studies also have examined larger penetrating brain arterioles by physiologic or anatomic methods and demonstrated vasoconstriction [12, 23] or, in some cases, vasodilation after SAH [6, 21]. Given that CBF is regulated mainly by the microcirculation, the present findings support the notion that microcirculatory changes contribute to brain injury after SAH.

We sought to determine if the intravascular lesions were thrombi or emboli. Other than directly visualizing the microcirculation in vivo after SAH, it is difficult to differentiate these possibilities, but several lines of evidence suggest the lesions are thrombi formed in situ. The e appearance was more consistent with thrombi than emboli [7]. Second, there were constricted microvessels but no thrombosed vessels that were not constricted, suggesting that constriction led to thrombosis, as opposed to emboli occluding microvessels, leading to secondary constriction. We previously demonstrated that in mice with SAH there is dysfunction of endothelial NO synthase that results in depletion of parenchymal NO and increased production of reactive oxygen species [16]. Decreased NO also was found after SAH in this study. We speculate that decreased NO may cause increased P-selectin. It has been shown that inhibition of NO synthesis results in an increase in P-selectin expression that is partially mediated by activation of protein kinase C in platelets [2, 11]. Inhibition of NO production also resulted in upregulation of P-selectin in endothelial cells, which may contribute to the formation of microthrombi in SAH animals.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study found ultrastructural evidence of microthrombosis and vasoconstriction in smaller vessels after SAH. These correlated with apoptotic neurons in adjacent brain tissue. Both microvessel vasoconstriction and microthrombi were accompanied by decreased NO in the brain, both of which may contribute to reduced CBF and brain injury after SAH.

Acknowledgement This research was funded by Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation and Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Clower BR, Yoshioka J, Honma T, Smith RR (1988) Blood platelets and early intimal changes in cerebral arteries following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. In: Wilkins RH (ed) Cerebral vasospasm. Raven, New York, pp 335–341
- Davenpeck KL, Gauthier TW, Lefer AM (1994) Inhibition of endothelial-derived nitric oxide promotes P-selectin expression and actions in the rat microcirculation. Gastroenterology 107:1050–1058
- Diringer MN, Kirsch JR, Traystman RJ (1994) Reduced cerebral blood flow but intact reactivity to hypercarbia and hypoxia following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rabbits. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 14:59–63
- Fein JM, Flor WJ, Cohan SL, Parkhurst J (1974) Sequential changes of vascular ultrastructure in experimental cerebral vasospasm. Myonecrosis of subarachnoid arteries. J Neurosurg 41:49–58
- Findlay JM, Weir BK, Kanamaru K, Espinosa F (1989) Arterial wall changes in cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 25:736–745
- Grubb RLJ, Raichle ME, Eichling JO, Gado MH (1977) Effects of subarachnoid hemorrhage on cerebral blood volume, blood flow, and oxygen utilization in humans. J Neurosurg 46:446–453
- Hatsuoka M, Makita T (1981) Scanning electron microscopy of experimental thrombus formation in canine lateral saphena vein. Scan Electron Microsc 4:189–194
- Jakobsen M, Overgaard J, Marcussen E, Enevoldsen EM (1990) Relation between angiographic cerebral vasospasm and regional CBF in patients with SAH. Acta Neurol Scand 82:109–115
- Lee JY, Huang DL, Keep R, Sagher O (2008) Characterization of an improved double hemorrhage rat model for the study of delayed cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosci Methods 168:358–366
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 3:256–263
- Murohara T, Parkinson SJ, Waldman SA, Lefer AM (1995) Inhibition of nitric oxide biosynthesis promotes P-selectin expression in platelets. Role of protein kinase C. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 15:2068–2075
- Ohkuma H, Itoh K, Shibata S, Suzuki S (1997) Morphological changes of intraparenchymal arterioles after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in dogs. Neurosurgery 41:230–235

- Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, Leroux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Rabinstein AA, Friedman JA, Weigand SD, McClelland RL, Fulgham JR, Manno EM, Atkinson JL, Wijdicks EF (2004) Predictors of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 35:1862–1866
- Romano JG, Forteza AM, Concha M, Koch S, Heros RC, Morcos JJ, Babikian VL (2002) Detection of microemboli by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 50:1026–1030
- Sabri M, Ai J, Knight B, Tariq A, Jeon H, Shang X, Marsden PA, Loch MR (2011) Uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:190–199
- Sabri M, Jeon H, Ai J, Tariq A, Shang X, Chen G, Macdonald RL (2009) Anterior circulation mouse model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain Res 1295:179–185

- Stein SC, Browne KD, Chen XH, Smith DH, Graham DI (2006) Thromboembolism and delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage: an autopsy study. Neurosurgery 59:781–787
- Tanabe Y, Sakata K, Yamada H, Ito T, Takada M (1978) Cerebral vasospasm and ultrastructural changes in cerebral arterial wall. An experimental study. J Neurosurg 49:229–238
- Taylor TN, Davis PH, Torner JC, Holmes J, Meyer JW, Jacobson MF (1996) Lifetime cost of stroke in the United States. Stroke 27:1459–1466
- Vollmer DG, Takayasu M, Dacey RG Jr (1992) An in vitro comparative study of conducting vessels and penetrating arterioles after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rabbit. J Neurosurg 77:113–119
- Weidauer S, Vatter H, Beck J, Raabe A, Lanfermann H, Seifert V, Zanella F (2008) Focal laminar cortical infarcts following aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Neuroradiology 50:1–8
- Yundt KD, Grubb RL Jr, Diringer MN, Powers WJ (1998) Autoregulatory vasodilation of parenchymal vessels is impaired during cerebral vasospasm. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:419–424

Cerebral Hemodynamic and Metabolic Effects of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Nestor R. Gonzalez, Robert Hamilton, Arzu Bilgin-Freiert, Josh Dusick, Paul Vespa, Xiao Hu, and Shadnaz Asgari

Abstract *Background*: Remote ischemic preconditioning (RIPC) is a form of endogenous neuroprotection induced by transient, subcritical ischemia in a distant tissue. RIPC effects on cerebral hemodynamics and metabolism have not been explored in humans. This study evaluates hemodynamic and metabolic changes induced by RIPC in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Methods: Patients underwent three or four RIPC sessions 2–12 days following SAH. Continuous vitals, intracranial pressure (ICP), and transcranial Doppler (TCD) data were collected. Brain microdialysis metabolic changes were monitored. ICP and TCD morphological clustering and analysis of intracranial pulse (MOCAIP) metrics were compared to positive and negative control groups for cerebral vasodilation.

Results: Seven ICP and six TCD recordings from four patients demonstrated an increase in mean ICP (8–14.57 mmHg, p<0.05). There was a reduction in middle cerebral artery (MCA) mean velocities (111–87 cm/s, p=0.039). ICP and TCD MOCAIP metrics demonstrated variances consistent with vasodilation that returned to baseline following the RIPC. Over the duration of the RIPC, microdialysis showed reduction in the lactate/ pyruvate (L/P) ratio (42.37–33.77, p=0.005) and glycerol

Department of Radiology, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, 10833 LeConte Avenue, Room 18-251 Semel, Los Angeles, CA 90095-7039, USA e-mail: ngonzalez@mednet.ucla.edu

R. Hamilton, M.S., A. Bilgin-Freiert, M.D., J. Dusick, M.D.,
P. Vespa, M.D., X. Hu, Ph.D., and S. Asgari, Ph.D.
Department of Neurosurgery, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, 10833 LeConte Avenue, Room 18-251 Semel,
Los Angeles, CA 90095-7039, USA (174.04–126 μ g/l, *p*<0.005), which persisted for 25–54 h after the last RIPC.

Conclusions: This study demonstrated cerebrovascular effects induced by RIPC consistent with transient vasodilation. Cerebral metabolic effects suggest protection from ischemia and cell membrane preservation lasting up to 2 days following RIPC.

Keywords Ischemic preconditioning • Cerebral ischemia • Stroke • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Neuroprotection

Introduction

The concept of ischemic preconditioning was introduced in the late 1980s by Murry et al. [17]. In essence, preconditioning is an endogenous protection mechanism to increase tolerance against critical ischemia by inducing brief subcritical ischemic challenges to a tissue [7]. Numerous animal experiments and several human studies have shown that sublethal ischemic injuries can also confer a systemic protective effect to other organs distant to the one being preconditioned. This has been referred to as "remote ischemic preconditioning" (RIPC) [4, 19].

Early attempts to test RIPC in clinical settings for brain protection have not determined the appropriate timing and technique to induce the neuroprotective effect [13]. Furthermore, before RIPC can be successfully translated into clinical practice, there is a need to expand our understanding of the effects of RIPC on human cerebral metabolism and tolerance to ischemia.

The large majority of preclinical studies have centered on defining the mechanisms of preconditioning, but no investigation has addressed the direct effects that the RIPC may induce in the target organ vascular bed in humans and the durability of those effects. Moreover, the manifestations of

N.R. Gonzalez, M.D. (🖂)

Department of Neurosurgery, David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, 10833 LeConte Avenue, Room 18-251 Semel, Los Angeles, CA 90095-7039, USA

increased tolerance to ischemia in human brain metabolic pathways induced by RIPC have not been examined.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate acute and delayed hemodynamic and metabolic changes induced in the intracranial circulation by the induction of RIPC in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Materials and Methods

Patients with continuous intracranial pressure (ICP), brain microdialysis, and transcranial Doppler (TCD) monitoring enrolled in an ongoing phase I clinical trial of RIPC in subarachnoid hemorrhage were included. The local institutional review board approved the study. Individuals considered for enrollment were 18–80 years of age, with SAH confirmed on computed tomographic (CT) scans or lumbar puncture with a single aneurysm protected by coiling or clipping. Patients with a history of peripheral vascular arterial or venous disease, peripheral nerve disease, or unprotected intracranial aneurysms were excluded.

RIPC Sessions

Patients underwent 3–4 RIPC sessions on nonconsecutive days during days 2–12 after aneurysm rupture. The RIPC consisted of 4 sessions of 5 min of inflation of an adult, large, lowerextremity blood pressure cuff to 30 mmHg above the systolic blood pressure baseline value for each patient. The absence of distal pulse was confirmed by Doppler evaluation of the dorsalis pedis pulse. If Doppler pulse signals were detected, the cuff was further inflated until they disappeared. After 5 min of ischemia time, the cuff was deflated, and distal pulse recovery was evaluated. After 5 min of reperfusion, the cuff was inflated again using the protocol described. A total of four inflations followed by reperfusion were performed in each session.

Patients were continuously monitored before, during, and after the RIPC sessions. Brain metabolic changes were monitored with microdialysis (CMA 600), and continuous ICP was monitored using the BedMasterTM system, which acquires data from the bedside monitors with a sampling rate of 240 Hz. TCD waveforms were measured continuously during the RIPC study, along with electrocardiogram (ECG), via PowerLabTM SP-16 acquisition system (ADInstruments, Colorado Springs, CO) at a sampling frequency of 400 Hz. The ICP and TCD continuous monitoring extended 120 min before the RIPC session and 120 min after the session was finished. Additional TCD monitoring of the internal carotid arteries (ICAs) before and after the sessions and daily complete TCD of all accessible vessels of the circle of Willis were performed. Systemic hemodynamic monitoring was conducted by recording systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial pressure, heart rate, and central venous pressure. Pain scales, temperature, and oxygen saturation were also recorded.

Vascular Reactivity Analysis

To evaluate the vascular changes induced by the RIPC in the intracranial circulation, we utilized the morphological clustering and analysis of intracranial pulse (MOCAIP) algorithm developed by our group. This technique has been previously described in the literature [9]. In summary, the MOCAIP algorithm captures one to one the curves of every ICP and TCD cycle. The pulses are clustered, and nonartifactual ICP pulses are recognized. This permits reliable peak detection, which finally allows for optimal peak designation and analysis. Onehundred-and-twenty-eight metrics obtained by the analysis of these curves have been previously defined and characterized in prior publications [12]. For this study, a MOCAIP dominant pulse was calculated every 6 s for the duration of the baseline and RIPC procedure, yielding approximately 450 dominant pulses per study for both ICP and TCD. Following the calculation of the MOCAIP metrics, a linear model was fit to each trend (128 MOCAIP metrics); the sign of the slope and the respective p value were collected. If the p value was greater than 0.05, the metric was assigned zero. Therefore, a 7 by 128 array of 1, 0, or -1 represented the trending results of the 128 metrics for the seven studies. A metric was accepted as a consistently trending metric (either positive or negative) if there was no disagreement on sign (+1 or -1).

Control Groups

Two MOCAIP analysis control groups were used to correlate specific positive or negative metric trends with vasodilation: A positive control for vasodilation consisted of four non-SAH, uninjured individuals who underwent a CO_2 inhalation challenge in which acute cerebral vasodilation was produced by induced hypercapnia and confirmed by TCD; a negative control for vasodilation consisted of four non-SAH, uninjured individuals with normal-pressure hydrocephalus (NPH).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS (version 19.0; SPSS, Chicago, IL) and SAS (version 9.1.3; SAS Institute, Cary, NC) statistical software packages. The SAS procedure Mixed was used for repeated measurements. Standard z score was calculated to compare the ICP and TCD MOCAIP metric

data. The standard score was calculated on an individual study basis; no statistical calculations were made for the study population. Vitals, ICP, and microdialysis data were compared with paired sample *t* test. Two-tailed significance levels are reported.

Results

We present the results of a total of seven ICP continuous pulse recordings and six TCD continuous recordings from four patients enrolled in the Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Trial. We also present the results of the brain microdialysis during the RIPC sessions and during the complete duration of the patient's treatment. These patients were two males and two females with a mean age of 51.7 years (SD±8.6). Three patients were Hunt and Hess grade 4; one was a Hunt and Hess 2. All the patients had Fisher 4 CT scans at presentation (4 intraventricular hemorrhages and 1 intraparenchymal). The four individuals had external ventricular catheters placed and were managed in the intensive care unit (ICU) under our standard SAH protocol.

Systemic Hemodynamic Results

During the 40 min of the RIPC sessions, there were no significant changes (p>0.5) in heart rate, blood pressure, temperature, respiratory rate, or central venous pressure in any session for any patient. Mean systolic blood pressure at baseline was 166.7 mmHg (SD 28.1) and 170 mmHg (SD 28.8) at the end of the sessions. Mean diastolic blood pressure at baseline was 86.5 mmHg (SD 17.2) and 89 mmHg (SD 18) at the end of the sessions. Baseline mean temperature was 37.2°C (SD 0.7°C) and at the end of the sessions was 37.3°C (SD 0.7°C). Mean respiratory rate at baseline was 17/min (SD 6.3) and 17/min (SD 5.4) at the end of the sessions. The mean heart rate was 74.8/min (SD 24.9) at baseline and 77.3 (SD 24) at the end of the sessions. The mean central venous pressure (CVP) at baseline was 10 mmHg (SD 2.1) and at the end of the sessions was 11 (SD 4.6). The analog pain scale score used in conscious patients showed no changes between the beginning and end scores for each patient (average 1/10).

ICP Changes

There was an increase in ICP in all but one of the RIPC sessions. The mean ICP changed from an average at baseline of 8-14.57 mmHg by the end of the session (p < 0.001). This change in ICP was not associated with pain in conscious patients or any other vitals change in conscious or unconscious individuals.

Cerebral Hemodynamic Changes

Transcranial Doppler Results

During the RIPC sessions, there was a tendency toward increased ICA velocities with a median ICA mean velocity of 34.5 cm/s at the beginning of the session versus 37 cm/s at the end. This difference was not significant (p=0.61). On the other hand, there was a statistically significant reduction of the median middle cerebral artery (MCA) mean velocities from 111 to 87 cm/s by the end of the sessions (p=0.039). This effect does not appear to be sustained beyond the period of the RIPC maneuvers as the MCA velocities did not follow any specific tendency in the 24–48 h after the sessions.

RIPC Session MOCAIP ICP Results

In the positive control group, 72 MOCAIP ICP metrics deviated during the CO₂ inhalation challenge. During the confirmed period of vasodilation in the CO₂ inhalation group, 50 metrics demonstrated a positive variance, while 22 had a negative variance. Based on the greatest relative time rate of change during hypercapnia and normal breathing post-test, the top 10 metrics (demonstrating the strongest correlation) indicating vasodilation were selected with positive and negative variances. In the negative control group, none of the ICP metrics demonstrated a consistent variation during the 40 min of continuous examination. In the RIPC group, 20 MOCAIP ICP metrics showed significant deviation from the baseline during the preconditioning session. Of these, 15 had a positive variance, all of which were included in the 50 metrics with positive variance in the CO₂ challenge group. Seven positively varying metrics were part of the top 10, or strong indicators of vasodilation, in the positive control group. A statistically significant increase was reached in 79.1% of the positively varying metrics. Five metrics in the RIPC group demonstrated a negative variance. Also, all of these metrics had exhibited negative variance in the CO₂ challenge group. Three of the five were also strong indicators of vasodilation. Statistically significant decrease was observed in 60% of the negatively varying metrics. No variance in the RIPC group was in a direction opposite to that observed in the CO₂ challenge group. These results indicate vasodilation of the cerebral vasculature during the RIPC sessions.

RIPC Session MOCAIP TCD Results

In the positive control group, 51 MOCAIP TCD metrics deviated during the CO_2 inhalation challenge. During the confirmed period of vasodilation in the CO_2 inhalation group, 28 metrics demonstrated a positive variance, while 23 had a negative variance. For MOCAIP TCD, 10 positively and

negatively varying metrics were also selected based on their greatest relative time rate. In the negative control group, none of the TCD metrics demonstrated consistent variance during the examination time. In the RIPC group, 3 MOCAIP TCD metrics showed significant deviation from the baseline during the preconditioning session. Of these, 2 had a positive variance, and both of them were part of the 28 metrics with positive variance in the CO₂ challenge group. One metric in the RIPC group demonstrated a negative variance. This singular metric had exhibited negative variance in the CO₂ challenge group as well. Once again in the MOCAIP TCD, no variance in the RIPC group was in a direction opposite to that observed in the CO₂ challenge group. These results also indicate vasodilation of the cerebral vasculature associated with RIPC.

Pre- and Post-RIPC Session MOCAIP Results

The MOCAIP analysis of the ICP and TCD curve metrics demonstrated no significant variance in a positive or negative direction immediately before or after the RIPC session, comparable with the results of the negative control group. This finding is consistent with the results observed in the daily TCD studies, which also showed no particular tendencies in the MCA velocities. These results indicate that the vasodilating effect of the RIPC session on the cerebral vasculature was limited to the duration of the procedure.

Brain Metabolic Results

The microdialysis data collected before and immediately after each RIPC session showed no significant variations in the glucose levels (0.91–0.81 mmol/l, p=0.4) or in the lactate levels (4.62–4.63 mmol/l, p=0.87). There was a tendency to a decrease in the lactate/pyruvate (L/P) ratio (27.25–24.39, p=0.12), which was also not significant. However, there was a significant reduction in the glycerol levels from 113.8 to 99.5 µg/l (p=0.05). This change occurred despite TCD and angiographic demonstration of vasospasm in two of the patients.

Over the complete duration of the RIPC sessions, from before the first session through the end of the last session, the microdialysis data showed a significant reduction in the L/P ratio from 42.37 to 33.77 (p=0.005) and in the glycerol levels from 174.04 to 126 µg/l (p<0.005). This reduction occurred despite the confirmed presence of vasospasm in two patients. The reduction of L/P ratio lasted between 26 and 50 h, and the reduction of glycerol lasted between 25 and 54 h after the last RIPC session. These results indicate that the metabolic shift induced by the RIPC session, with a reduction of cerebral L/P and glycerol, despite vasospasm, had an extended duration of 25–54 h after the RIPC session. In the individuals with vasospasm, after this period of ischemia protection there were peaks in both the glycerol and the L/P ratio that correlated with the clinical development of neurological deficit and, despite maximum medical therapy and endovascular intervention for vasospasm, the development of areas of stroke on follow-up MRI.

Discussion

An evaluation of the effects of RIPC on the human cerebral vascular bed and metabolism has not been published previously. The effects of preconditioning on cerebral blood flow have produced contradictory results in animal studies. Initially, the role of altered perfusion in preconditioning was largely discounted. This was based on early studies that used autoradiography [1, 3, 6], hydrogen clearance [15], or laser Doppler measurements [2] of cerebral blood flow that failed to demonstrate a difference between controls and preconditioned animals in the acute interval following the preconditioning stimulus. However, several recent experimental observations, such as the finding of progressive recovery of microvessel filling during ischemia in preconditioned rat brains [6] and the recovery from strokes even after complete occlusion without reperfusion in the hypertensive rat model of Barone et al. [2], strongly suggest a perfusion component in the protection mechanism. In a review of that model, Zhao and Nowak [23], using acute perfusion measurements, found a delayed but sustained increase of cerebral perfusion 3 h after vessel occlusion in animals treated with ischemic preconditioning. Furthermore, Woitzik et al. [21] have recently demonstrated increased vessel diameters of the leptomeningeal anastomoses in rats after hypoxic preconditioning by visualization of the brain angioarchitecture using a latex perfusion technique. Additional recent studies using laser Doppler flowmetry [16] and measurements of perfused microvessels [6] support these findings.

RIPC effects in the vascular bed of the target organ were indirectly investigated in the study of Kharbanda et al. [11], who demonstrated that RIPC prevented ischemia-reperfusion endothelial dysfunction in humans by assessing strain-gauge plethysmography measurements in healthy volunteers undergoing a 20-min cuff inflation in an arm after three cycles of 5 min of ischemia in the contralateral limb. In this study, the forearm responses to the endothelium-dependent dilator acetylcholine (ACh) were tested at three different doses in control and RIPC groups. The response to ACh after 15 min of reperfusion was actually increased in the RIPC group, while it was significantly blunted in the controls, demonstrating enhance vasodilation in the RIPC group. In agreement with these later reports, our results suggest that RIPC induced a consistent vasodilation of the cerebral circulation in both TCD measurements and the more sensitive MOCAIP analysis. The variance of every metric reaching significance in both the ICP and TCD curves emulated the variance of patients with vasodilation in the CO_2 challenge. However, this effect was not sustained and dissipated immediately after the session. This vasodilation would also explain the elevation in ICP despite the absence of pain or other change in vitals, most likely indicating increased cerebral blood flow during the RIPC treatment.

Either metabolic depression or enhanced energy production of the target organ have been suggested to play a role in the mechanism of preconditioning. There is evidence that preconditioning preserves tissue levels of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) during periods of decreased perfusion. However, it is unclear whether this is due to decreased metabolic demand or increased energy production and mitochondrial protection. Supporting the second possibility, Janier et al. [10] used a rabbit cardiac model to show that 3 min of ischemic challenge led to less ischemic damage and higher ATP due to upregulation of compensatory anaerobic metabolism. In addition, Dave et al. [5] examined mitochondria extracted 24 h after a carotid occlusion challenge and found that mitochondria that had preconditioning challenges were able to retain normal metabolic function compared to controls without preconditioning. In support of this mechanism of brain ischemia protection, Yannopoulos et al. [22], using periods of limb ischemia induced by an inflatable blood pressure cuff in a porcine model, demonstrated cerebral protection when the animals underwent cardiopulmonary bypass. Using electroencephalographic (EEG) and brain microdialysis, they found increased recovery from burst suppression as well as lower lactate levels compared to the control group.

Several studies have indicated that bedside cerebral microdialysis provides valuable information in acute and delayed ischemic neurological deficits in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients [14, 20]. Lactate and glutamate are considered early markers of clinical vasospasm, followed by the lactate/pyruvate ratio and glycerol, during manifest vasospasm in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Glycerol, which is an end product of phospholipid degradation, is a marker for membrane disintegration and has been associated with the degree of ischemic brain damage in experimental intracerebral vascular occlusion [8] and as a predictor of poor outcome or death [18]. Our results demonstrate a tendency to a reduction in the lactate/ pyruvate brain microdialysis ratio during the RIPC sessions and a significant reduction during the complete period of the study, despite the presence of vasospasm. The glycerol levels were reduced during the sessions and during the complete period of study. These findings suggest a protective effect against ischemia and an increased membrane preservation that lasted between 25 and 54 h after the RIPC session.

Conclusion

In summary, our study demonstrated immediate cerebrovascular effects induced by the RIPC maneuvers consistent with transient vasodilation, which extinguished immediately after the session concluded. There were more durable metabolic effects suggestive of ischemia protection and cell membrane preservation that lasted 25–54 h after RIPC. This information is crucial for the planning of further pivotal trials of RIPC in SAH and can assist in defining the timing of the sessions, as well as provide a qualitative tool to evaluate potential neuroprotective effects induced by preconditioning.

Acknowledgment The Ruth and Raymond Stotter Endowed Chair in Neurosurgery (NRG) provide support for this work.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Alkayed NJ, Goyagi T, Joh HD, Klaus J, Harder DR, Traystman RJ, Hurn PD (2002) Neuroprotection and P450 2 C11 upregulation after experimental transient ischemic attack. Stroke 33:1677
- Barone FC, White RF, Spera PA, Ellison J, Currie RW, Wang X, Feuerstein GZ, Rothwell NJ (1998) Ischemic preconditioning and brain tolerance: temporal histological and functional outcomes, protein synthesis requirement, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and early gene expression [editorial comment]. Stroke 29:1937
- Chen J, Graham SH, Zhu RL, Simon RP (1996) Stress proteins and tolerance to focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 16:566–577
- Chen YS, Chien CT, Ma MC, Tseng YZ, Lin FY, Wang SS, Chen CF (2005) Protection "outside the box" (skeletal remote preconditioning) in rat model is triggered by free radical pathway. J Surg Res 126:92–101
- Dave KR, Saul I, Busto R, Ginsberg MD, Sick TJ, Perez-Pinzon MA (2001) Ischemic preconditioning preserves mitochondrial function after global cerebral ischemia in rat hippocampus. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21:1401–1410
- 6. Dawson DA, Furuya K, Gotoh J, Nakao Y, Hallenbeck JM (1999) Cerebrovascular hemodynamics and ischemic tolerance: lipopolysaccharide-induced resistance to focal cerebral ischemia is not due to changes in severity of the initial ischemic insult, but is associated with preservation of microvascular perfusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:616–623
- Dirnagl U, Becker K, Meisel A (2009) Preconditioning and tolerance against cerebral ischaemia: from experimental strategies to clinical use. Lancet Neurol 8:398–412
- Frykholm P, Hillered L, Langstrom B, Persson L, Valtysson J, Watanabe Y, Enblad P (2001) Increase of interstitial glycerol reflects the degree of ischaemic brain damage: a PET and microdialysis study in a middle cerebral artery occlusion-reperfusion primate model. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 71:455
- Hu X, Xu P, Scalzo F, Vespa P, Bergsneider M (2009) Morphological clustering and analysis of continuous intracranial pressure. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 56:696–705

- Janier MF, Vanoverschelde J, Bergmann SR (1994) Ischemic preconditioning stimulates anaerobic glycolysis in the isolated rabbit heart. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 267:H1353
- Kharbanda RK, Mortensen UM, White PA, Kristiansen SB, Schmidt MR, Hoschtitzky JA, Vogel M, Sorensen K, Redington AN, MacAllister R (2002) Transient limb ischemia induces remote ischemic preconditioning in vivo. Circulation 106:2881–2883
- Kim S, Hu X, McArthur D, Hamilton R, Bergsneider M, Glenn T, Martin N, Vespa P (2011) Inter-subject correlation exists between morphological metrics of cerebral blood flow velocity and intracranial pressure pulses. Neurocrit Care 14:229–237
- Koch S, Katsnelson M, Dong C, Perez-Pinzon M (2011) Remote ischemic limb preconditioning after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase Ib study of safety and feasibility. Stroke 42:1387–1391
- 14. Lee GJ, Park JH, Park HK (2008) Microdialysis applications in neuroscience. Neurol Res 30:661–668
- Matsushima K, Hakim AM (1995) Transient forebrain ischemia protects against subsequent focal cerebral ischemia without changing cerebral perfusion. Stroke 26:1047
- Muramatsu H, Karikó K, Welsh FA (2004) Induction of tolerance to focal ischemia in rat brain: dissociation between cortical lesioning and spreading depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 24:1167–1171
- Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA (1986) Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. Circulation 74:1124–1136

- Peerdeman SM, Girbes ARJ, Polderman KH, Vandertop WP (2003) Changes in cerebral interstitial glycerol concentration in head-injured patients; correlation with secondary events. Intensive Care Med 29:1825–1828
- Przyklenk K, Bauer B, Ovize M, Kloner RA, Whittaker P (1993) Regional ischemic "preconditioning" protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. Circulation 87:893–899
- Sarrafzadeh AS, Sakowitz OW, Kiening KL, Benndorf G, Lanksch WR, Unterberg AW (2002) Bedside microdialysis: a tool to monitor cerebral metabolism in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients? Crit Care Med 30:1062
- Woitzik J, Hecht N, Schneider UC, Peñ-Tapia PG, Vajkoczy P (2006) Increased vessel diameter of leptomeningeal anastomoses after hypoxic preconditioning. Brain Res 1115:209–212
- 22. Yannopoulos FS, Makela T, Niemela E, Tuominen H, Lepola P, Alestalo K, Kaakinen H, Kiviluoma K, Anttila V, Juvonen T (2010) Improved cerebral recovery from hypothermic circulatory arrest after remote ischemic preconditioning. Ann Thorac Surg 90:182–188
- Zhao L, Nowak TS Jr (2006) CBF changes associated with focal ischemic preconditioning in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1128–1140

Cerebral Microvasculature Is an Early Target of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Fatima A. Sehba and Victor Friedrich

Abstract Most subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients exhibit clinical signs of cerebral ischemia at admission but no angiographic vasospasm. Consequently, the source of early cerebral ischemia is not understood. Parenchymal microvessels may contribute to early cerebral ischemia, but the low resolution of current imaging has prevented their analysis in SAH patients. Animal studies demonstrated that early after SAH structure and function of parenchymal vessels are compromised to the level that may very well contribute to early ischemia. We review these studies.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Cerebral vasospasm • Cerebral ischemia • Microcirculation

Introduction

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) accounts for 5% of all stroke cases and may occur in up to 30,000 North Americans each year [1]. Early brain injury is a major cause of early mortality (up to 70%) after SAH [2]. Cerebral microdialysis and autopsy studies in animals and humans indicate that early brain injury after SAH is ischemic in nature [3–5]. The source of early cerebral ischemia, however, is not clear.

In animals, intracranial pressure rises, cerebral perfusion pressure and cerebral blood flow fall, and large cerebral arteries constrict minutes after SAH. In humans, although a

Departments of Neurosurgery and Neurosciences, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, 1 Gustave L. Levy Place, New York, NY 10029, USA e-mail: fatima.sehba@mssm.edu

V. Friedrich, Ph.D. Department of Neuroscience, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, 1 Gustave L. Levy Place, New York, NY 10029, USA rise in intracranial pressure and a fall in cerebral perfusion pressure and cerebral blood flow are established after SAH, angiographic evidence of constriction of cerebral arteries is not found [6, 7]. Consequently early cerebral ischemia in humans is often attributed to the fall in cerebral perfusion pressure; however, studies supporting this claim are mostly performed during repeated hemorrhages, when brain compliance is already reduced [8, 9]. Experimental studies of first-time hemorrhages indicated that the drop in cerebral perfusion pressure is transient and not sufficient to cause perfusion arrest; hence, although it might contribute to early cerebral ischemia, it cannot be the primary cause [10].

In recent years, cerebral microvasculature has emerged as an important source and target of early cerebral ischemia after SAH. Given that these vessels are below the resolution of clinical imaging devices, they are mostly studied in experimental settings. However, recent observations made during surgery and during autopsy studies of SAH patients suggested changes in microvessels similar to those in animals [11, 12]. We here review the literature for structural damage and functional deficits in microvessels during the first 48 h after SAH and the mechanisms capable of causing them.

Structural Damage and Functional Deficits

Whereas large cerebral vessels bathe in the blood released on aneurysmal rupture, microvessels do not come in direct contact with that blood. Nevertheless, compared to the large cerebral vessels, microvessels experience a greater and more rapid compromise in structure and function after SAH [13]. Perhaps differences in structure make cerebral microvessels more vulnerable to damaging signal cascades and biochemical changes activated after SAH.

The cerebral microvessel contains three main units: the endothelial cell layer, the basal lamina, and the surrounding astrocyte end feet. In addition, pericytes are located at the abluminal side of the endothelium and are encased by basal

F.A. Sehba, Ph.D. (🖂)

Fig. 1 Structural changes in cerebral microvessels 1 h after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). (a) The vessel in the center of the field shows intact endothelium and endothelial basal lamina; however, the vessel is partially collapsed. Marked swelling of pervivascular astrocytic end feet (asterisks) has occurred, and luminal protrusions of the endothelium are visible (arrows). Scale bar: 5 µm. (b) The endothelium and basal lamina of this vessel are intact. Multiple luminal protrusions are visible (arrows). The basal lamina is crenellated at one point (circle), a possible effect of vasoconstriction. Scale bar: 2 um. (c) Endothelial protrusions are viewed at higher magnification (arrows). Continuity of protrusions with the parent endothelial cell is clearly revealed. Scale bar: 500 nm



lamina that separates them from the endothelium and from the surrounding astrocytic end feet. Pericytes represent the contractile elements of central nervous system (CNS) microvessels [14]. The regulation of microcirculation depends on the integrity of each element of the microvascular unit and on constant communication between them. Endothelial cells, with astrocytes, provide a barrier that restricts passage of both cells and molecules across the vessel wall. Adhesion receptors (such as P- and E-selectin, vascular adhesion molecule 1 [VCAM-1], intercellular adhesion molecule 1 [ICAM-1], and integrin), expressed on endothelium, regulate events such as the activation and adhesion of platelets and of neutrophils in response to change in cellular environment. Substantial alterations in the microvascular unit, affecting its integrity and compromising microcirculation, are reported after SAH. These alterations appear within minutes and evolve with time; they include changes in endothelial cells themselves, in the endothelial basal lamina, and in perivascular astroctyic end feet.

Endothelial cytoplasmic flaps or microvilli appear and extend into the vessel lumen (Fig. 1a-c). These flaps are

expansions of endothelial cell cytoplasm and are characteristic of cerebral ischemia. Their appearance is considered a cellular attempt to maintain normal tissue integrity as the cerebral oxygenation is altered [15]. At the capillary level, endothelial flaps are known to give rise to blebs that can obstruct the vessel lumen [16]. In many microvessels, focal areas appear at which the endothelium or basal lamina are fragmented and physically detached from basal lamina [17] (see Fig. 2). Such focal areas are present as early as 10 min after SAH and persist for 24 h. Some endothelial antigens disappear after SAH, likely because of focal endothelial damage [18-21]. These antigens, many of which have important cellular functions and others that signal endothelial integrity, include endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), endothelial barrier antigen (EBA), and rat endothelial cell antigen 1 (RECA-1). The state of adhesion receptors located on microvascular endothelium after SAH is not known, but studies of large arteries showed that of ICAM-1, which promotes neutrophil-endothelial adhesion, increases 3 h to 2 days after SAH [22, 23]. Remarkably, neutrophils accumulate in large number in microvessels 10 min after SAH, suggesting a possible increase in ICAM expression [21]. As endothelial cells detach or withdraw from basal lamina, the proteins of basal lamina matrix become exposed directly to blood elements, making it possible for platelets to adhere to the collagen IV of basal lamina. Platelets interact with neutrophils and incorporate into growing vascular aggregates [24]. Collagenases capable of digesting collagen IV are present in platelets and neutrophils, and active collagenases, such as matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) are found in microvessels after SAH. Minute holes appear in otherwise-continuous basal lamina, the likely product of collagenase activity [17, 18]. Agents that inhibit MMP-9 activity reduce edema and improve the outcome of animals after SAH [25, 26].

Astrocytes also respond early to SAH. Changes include swelling of perivascular end feet (Fig. 1) and increased glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) immunostaining [27]. Degeneration of astrocytes is observed 2 days after SAH [28]. The exact role that reactive astrocytes play in the pathology of SAH is not known, but an increase in their size, process extension, and GFAP content is a characteristic response to brain injury [29]. Not much is known of pericyte response after SAH, but an early ultrastructural study by Dodson et al. found that their content increased after SAH [30]. Perhaps an indirect evidence of pericyte involvement in brain injury after SAH comes from the finding that Rho kinase inhibitors such as fasudil reduce brain injury in SAH animals. Rho kinase plays an important role in pericyte contractility and pericyte-mediated regulation of endothelial growth [31].

Each microvessel unit is important in maintaining microcirculation. Consequently, damage to these units after SAH leads to disruption in microcirculation, observed as widespread perfusion deficits and permeability increases [32, 33]. Endothelium keeps a check on the vessel tone and blood flow by releasing an array of vasoactive agents and by maintaining a delicate balance between them. These agents include powerful vasodilators such as nitric oxide (NO) and powerful vasoconstrictors such as endothelin 1. Injury to endothelium after SAH makes it dysfunctional, causing a decrease in NO at the arterial bed and loss of vasodilation by the agents that require a functional endothelium to elicit response [34, 35]. Meanwhile, the endothelin 1 level increases at the arterial bed, a consequence of excessive release by astrocytes during the period of initial ischemia [36]. A consequence of these events is a shift of the balance between vasodilator and constructive tone toward constriction. In animals, vessel constriction after SAH is widespread, is present in large and small vessels, and causes a reduction in cerebral blood flow [37-39]. Sabri and colleagues have reported that one of the mechanisms leading to decreased NO production by cerebral vessels post-SAH is uncoupling of eNOS (one of the enzymes responsible of arterial NO supply) so that it begins producing superoxide $(O_2^-; a \text{ powerful})$ free radical) instead of NO [40]. Whether the same occurs in microvessels is yet to be determined; however, the finding

that an NO donor used within minutes after SAH reduces constriction in microvessels suggests that this may be the case [18]. Constriction in large and small (50 μ m) vessels also involves protein kinase C, the delta isoform of which activates 1 h after SAH [41]. Constriction of microvessels in the absence of smooth muscle may involve compression by astrocyte swelling and edema and pericyte response to the change in cerebral environment (discussed previously). Another mechanism that would disrupt microcirculation is obstruction of the vessel lumen by platelet aggregates, neutrophils, and endothelium blebs present in the vascular lumen after SAH (as discussed).

Permeability of microvessels also increases after SAH. Vessels become leaky, leading to extravasation of blood components, including platelets, and proteins into the parenchyma, promoting edema and inflammation [17, 33]. Platelets themselves may promote inflammation by releasing leftover granule contents. In addition, platelets have neurotoxic effects and may promote neuronal death [42].

Mechanisms Contributing to Vascular Damage Post-SAH

A variety of mechanisms are implicated in microvascular damage after SAH. Three of these are discussed next.

Altered NO-NOS Pathway

NO plays an irreplaceable role in cerebral blood flow regulation. It does so by maintaining arterial diameter and inhibiting platelet adherence and aggregation and adhesion of leukocyte to the endothelium. A constant supply of NO is required for blood flow maintenance, and at the microvessel level is mainly maintained by its synthesis by eNOS located on the vascular endothelium. Animal studies demonstrated that cerebral NO level decreases within minutes after SAH. This decrease is present at 10 min post-SAH and may persist for 24 h. A number of mechanisms that activate early after SAH are capable of depleting cerebral NO, such as decreased synthesis, scavenging by hemoglobin or binding with oxygen radicals released by oxidative damage to the vessel wall or by macrophages during inflammation [35, 43]. A decreased in NO synthesis may result from uncoupling of eNOS or by damage to the endothelial lining, resulting in eNOS loss [17, 40]. Moreover, hemoglobin released on degradation of subarachnoid blood possesses high affinity for NO and can bind NO, creating its deficiency. Similarly, oxidative species released in the vessel lumen during an oxidative burst by neutrophils can bind NO, creating its deficiency. Irrespective of the cause, events that NO reduction would promote at microvascular

level—reduction in blood flow, constriction, aggregation of platelets in the vessel lumen, and adhesion of neutrophils to the vessel wall—appear minutes after SAH. Other evidence the NO-NOS pathway plays an important role in microvascular damage came from the study that demonstrated that recovering NO levels minutes after SAH (such as by an NO donor) recovers cerebral blood flow and decreases endothelial and collagen IV loss [18, 44].

Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is a phenomenon well known to cause damage to vessel walls and trigger astrocyte reactivity. Free radicals implicated in post-SAH oxidative injury include superoxide anion (O_2^{\bullet}), hydroxyl radical (OH \bullet), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), nitric oxide (NO \bullet), and peroxynitrate (ONOO–) (for review, see [45]). These free radicals are generated during autooxidation of hemoglobin on erythrocyte lysis in the subarachnoid space; during an oxidative burst of neutrophils, disruption of mitochondrial respiration, hypoxic conversion of endothelial xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase, lipid peroxidation; by eNOS uncoupling (as mentioned); and upregulation of NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate) oxidase (for review, see [46]). As the activities of enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant systems (defense systems against free radicals) saturate within 60 min [47, 48], little defense is available against oxidative stress-induced injury after SAH. At the microvascular level, oxidative stress can injure endothelium, disrupt the blood–brain barrier, and promote cell apoptosis by inducing proapoptotic enzymes. Signals promoting and marking cells for death, such as proapoptotic caspase-3, activate in endothelial cells at 10 min after SAH (Fig. 2), and cell death via apoptosis follows with time (Friedrich et al., unpublished; [49–53]). Consequently, antioxidants when used within 3 h after SAH prevent alteration in cerebral blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure and protect microvascular endothelium and the blood–brain barrier [54–56].

Inflammation (Platelets and Neutrophils)

At least two components of inflammatory cascade, platelets and neutrophils, are activated within 10 min after SAH [21, 57], and soluble markers of inflammation are increased 24 h later. These include ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin and cytokines [22, 58–60]. In humans, an increase in



Fig. 2 Destruction of endothelium and basal lamina after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). (a) Both basal lamina and endothelium are broken in this profile, leaving a gaping hole in the vessel. The surrounding astrocytic end feet are grossly swollen and disrupted. Scale bar: 2 μ m. (b) Three-dimensional reconstruction of a vessel immunostained for the basal lamina component collagen IV and analyzed by confocal microscopy. The vessel appears as a continuous tube, with small holes visible

in its basal lamina (*arrows*). The large opening represents the cut end of a branch, located at the section surface. Scale bar: $10 \,\mu\text{m}$ (Adapted from Friedrich et al. [33]). (c) Interruption of endothelium and basal lamina (*arrow*) viewed in cross section, computed from three-dimensional confocal immunofluorescence image data. *Pink* collagen IV; *green* rat endothelium cell antigen 1 (*RECA-1*; endothelial marker). Scale bar: $5 \,\mu\text{m}$ (Adapted from Friedrich et al. [33])



Fig. 2 (continued)

cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of adhesion molecules is observed during the first 72 h after SAH [59]. Activated platelets and leukocytes can contribute to the endothelial injury after SAH. Activated platelets can disrupt and denude endothelium to make these sites attractive to passing emboli and promote further aggregation [61]. Moreover, platelet activation factor, which promotes platelet activation, accelerates transendothelial migration or diapedesis of leukocytes, forming microlesions in the endothelium [62]. Similarly, oxidative radicals produced during an oxidative burst by neutrophils may damage endothelium and reduce cerebral NO (as discussed). The importance of neutrophils in endothelium damage is evident in a recent study that demonstrated that their depletion prior to SAH reduced endothelium injury [21].

Conclusion

In conclusion, rapid damage in microvessel structure and deficits in function occur after SAH. In recent years, we are starting to comprehend the importance of post-SAH microvessel compromise in early ischemia and brain injury. The molecular signals and processes involved in microvessel injury are being studied, and compounds that protect microvessels against early injury are being identified. The majority of research in this field, however, remains experimental. Technological advances are required to allow its translation to SAH patients. **Conflicts of Interest Statement** We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Bederson JB, Connolly ES Jr, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, Duldner JE Jr, Harbaugh RE, Patel AB, Rosenwasser RH (2009) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke 40:994–1025
- Broderick JP, Brott TG, Duldner JE, Tomsick T, Leach A (1994) Initial and recurrent bleeding are the major causes of death following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 25:1342–1347
- Stoltenberg-Didinger G, Schwartz K (1987) Brain lesions secondary to subarachnoid hemorrhage due to ruptured aneurysms. In: Cervos-Navarro J, Ferst R (eds) Stroke and microcirculation. Raven, New York, pp 471–480
- Inagawa T (1997) What are the actual incidence and mortality rates of subarachnoid hemorrhage? Surg Neurol 47:47–52
- Gewirtz RJ, Dhillon HS, Goes SE, DeAtley SM, Scheff SW (1999) Lactate and free fatty acids after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain Res 840:84–91
- Weir B, Grace M, Hansen J, Rothberg C (1978) Time course of vasospasm in man. J Neurosurg 48:173–178
- Grosset DG, Straiton J, McDonald I, Bullock R (1993) Angiographic and Doppler diagnosis of cerebral artery vasospasm following subarachnoid haemorrhage. Br J Neurosurg 7:291–298
- Nornes H (1973) The role of intracranial pressure in the arrest of hemorrhage in patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysm. J Neurosurg 39:226–234
- Nornes H (1978) Cerebral arterial flow dynamics during aneurysm haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir 41:39–48
- Bederson JB, Germano IM, Guarino L (1995) Cortical blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure in a new noncraniotomy model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. Stroke 26:1086–1091
- Hatake K, Wakabayashi I, Kakishita E, Hishida S (1992) Impairment of endothelium-dependent relaxation in human basilar artery after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 23:1111–1116, discussion 1116–1117
- Uhl E, Lehmberg J, Steiger HJ, Messmer K (2003) Intraoperative detection of early microvasospasm in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage by using orthogonal polarization spectral imaging. Neurosurgery 52:1307–1315
- Sehba FA, Friedrich V (2011) Early micro vascular changes after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:49–55
- Peppiatt CM, Howarth C, Mobbs P, Attwell D (2006) Bidirectional control of CNS capillary diameter by pericytes. Nature 443:700–704
- Schechter J (1972) Ultrastructural changes in the capillary bed of human pituitary tumors. Am J Pathol 67:109–126
- Chiang J, Kowada M, Ames A 3rd, Wright RL, Majno G (1968) Cerebral ischemia. III. Vascular changes. Am J Pathol 52:455–476
- Friedrich V, Flores R, Muller A, Sehba FA (2010) Escape of intraluminal platelets into brain parenchyma after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neuroscience 165:968–975
- Sehba FA, Makonnen G, Friedrich V, Bederson JB (2007) Acute cerebral vascular injury occurs after subarachnoid hemorrhage and can be prevented by administration of a nitric oxide donor. J Neurosurg 106:321–329
- Sehba FA, Mostafa G, Knopman J, Friedrich V Jr, Bederson JB (2004) Acute alterations in microvascular basal lamina after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 101:633–640

- Sehba FA, Flores R, Muller A, Friedrich V, Bederson JB (2007) Early decrease in cerebral endothelial nitric oxide synthase occurs after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Annu Stroke Conf Session 172:P527
- Friedrich V, Flores R, Muller A, Bi W, Peerschke EI, Sehba FA (2011) Reduction of neutrophil activity decreases early microvascular injury after subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neuroinflammation 8:103. doi:1742-2094-8-103
- Handa Y, Kubota T, Kaneko M, Tsuchida A, Kobayashi H, Kawano H (1995) Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on the cerebral artery following subarachnoid haemorrhage in rats. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 132:92–97
- Sills AK Jr, Clatterbuck RE, Thompson RC, Cohen PL, Tamargo RJ (1997) Endothelial cell expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 in experimental posthemorrhagic vasospasm. Neurosurgery 41:453–460, discussion 460–451
- Ishikawa M, Kusaka G, Yamaguchi N, Sekizuka E, Nakadate H, Minamitani H, Shinoda S, Watanabe E (2009) Platelet and leukocyte adhesion in the microvasculature at the cerebral surface immediately after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 64:546–553, discussion 553–544
- 25. Suzuki H, Ayer R, Sugawara T, Chen W, Sozen T, Hasegawa Y, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2010) Protective effects of recombinant osteopontin on early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Crit Care Med 38:612–618
- Sherchan P, Lekic T, Suzuki H, Hasegawa Y, Rolland W, Duris K, Zhan Y, Tang J, Zhang JH (2011) Minocycline improves functional outcomes, memory deficits, and histopathology after endovascular perforation-induced subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. J Neurotrauma. doi:10.1089/neu.2011.1864
- Dodson RF, Hashi K, Meyer JS (1973) The effect of glycerol and intracarotid phenoxybenzamine after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. An ultrastructural study. Acta Neuropathol 24:1–11
- Prunell GF, Svendgaard NA, Alkass K, Mathiesen T (2005) Delayed cell death related to acute cerebral blood flow changes following subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat brain. J Neurosurg 102:1046–1054
- Bignami A, Eng LF, Dahl D, Uyeda CT (1972) Localization of the glial fibrillary acidic protein in astrocytes by immunofluorescence. Brain Res 43:429–435
- Dodson RE (1973) Electron microscopy of microvascular pericytes in the brain. Cytobios 1:183–188
- Kutcher ME, Herman IM (2009) The pericyte: cellular regulator of microvascular blood flow. Microvasc Res 77:235–246
- 32. Trojanowski T (1984) Early effects of experimental arterial subarachnoid haemorrhage on the cerebral circulation. Part II: regional cerebral blood flow and cerebral microcirculation after experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir 72:241–255
- Friedrich V, Flores R, Muller A, Sehba FA (2010) Luminal platelet aggregates in functional deficits in parenchymal vessels after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Brain Res 1354:179–187
- Park KW, Metais C, Dai HB, Comunale ME, Sellke FW (2001) Microvascular endothelial dysfunction and its mechanism in a rat model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Anesth Analg 92:990–996
- Sehba FA, Schwartz AY, Chereshnev I, Bederson JB (2000) Acute decrease in cerebral nitric oxide levels after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 20:604–611
- Pluta RM, Boock RJ, Afshar JK, Clouse K, Bacic M, Ehrenreich H, Oldfield EH (1997) Source and cause of endothelin-1 release into cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 87:287–293
- Bederson JB, Levy AL, Ding WH, Kahn R, DiPerna CA, Jenkins AL 3rd, Vallabhajosyula P (1998) Acute vasoconstriction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 42:352–360

- Ono S, Date I, Onoda K, Ohmoto T (2003) Time course of the diameter of the major cerebral arteries after subarachnoid hemorrhage using corrosion cast technique. Neurol Res 25:383–389
- Sehba FA, Flores R, Muller A, Friedrich V, Chen JF, Britz GW, Winn HR, Bederson JB (2010) Adenosine A(2A) receptors in early ischemic vascular injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Laboratory investigation. J Neurosurg 113:826–834
- Sabri M, Ai J, Knight B, Tariq A, Jeon H, Shang X, Marsden PA, Loch Macdonald R (2011) Uncoupling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:190–199
- Ansar S, Edvinsson L (2008) Subtype activation and interaction of protein kinase C and mitogen-activated protein kinase controlling receptor expression in cerebral arteries and microvessels after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 39:185–190
- 42. Joseph R, Tsering C, Welch KM (1992) Study of platelet-mediated neurotoxicity in rat brain. Stroke 23:394–398
- Gryglewski RJ, Palmer RM, Moncada S (1986) Superoxide anion is involved in the breakdown of endothelium-derived vascular relaxing factor. Nature 320:454–456
- Sehba FA, Ding WH, Chereshnev I, Bederson JB (1999) Effects of S-nitrosoglutathione on acute vasoconstriction and glutamate release after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 30:1955–1961
- 45. Sehba FA, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2011) Metamorphosis of subarachnoid hemorrhage research: from delayed vasospasm to early brain injury. Mol Neurobiol 43:27–40
- Ayer RE, Zhang JH (2008) Oxidative stress in subarachnoid haemorrhage: significance in acute brain injury and vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:33–41
- 47. Gaetani P, Marzatico F, Rodriguez y Baena R, Pacchiarini L, Vigano T, Grignani G, Crivellari MT, Benzi G (1990) Arachidonic acid metabolism and pathophysiologic aspects of subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Stroke 21:328–332
- Marzatico F, Gaetani P, Cafe C, Spanu G, Rodriguez y Baena R (1993) Antioxidant enzymatic activities after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Acta Neurol Scand 87:62–66
- Park S, Yamaguchi M, Zhou C, Calvert JW, Tang J, Zhang JH (2004) Neurovascular protection reduces early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 35:2412–2417
- Simard JM, Geng Z, Woo SK, Ivanova S, Tosun C, Melnichenko L, Gerzanich V (2009) Glibenclamide reduces inflammation, vasogenic edema, and caspase-3 activation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29:317–330
- Cahill J, Calvert JW, Solaroglu I, Zhang JH (2006) Vasospasm and p53-induced apoptosis in an experimental model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 37:1868–1874
- 52. Yan J, Chen C, Hu Q, Yang X, Lei J, Yang L, Wang K, Qin L, Huang H, Zhou C (2008) The role of p53 in brain edema after 24 h of experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in a rat model. Exp Neurol 214:37–46
- Yatsushige H, Ostrowski RP, Tsubokawa T, Colohan A, Zhang JH (2007) Role of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosci Res 85:1436–1448
- Hall ED, Travis MA (1988) Attenuation of progressive brain hypoperfusion following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage by large intravenous doses of methylprednisolone. Exp Neurol 99:594–606
- Hall ED, Travis MA (1988) Effects of the nonglucocorticoid 21-aminosteroid U74006F on acute cerebral hypoperfusion following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Exp Neurol 102:244–248
- Smith SL, Scherch HM, Hall ED (1996) Protective effects of tirilazad mesylate and metabolite U-89678 against blood–brain barrier damage after subarachnoid hemorrhage and lipid peroxidative neuronal injury. J Neurosurg 84:229–233

- Sehba FA, Mustafa G, Friedrich V, Bederson JB (2005) Acute microvascular platelet aggregation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 102:1094–1100
- Rothoerl RD, Schebesch KM, Kubitza M, Woertgen C, Brawanski A, Pina AL (2006) ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and their possible role in the pathophysiology of subsequent ischemic deficits. Cerebrovasc Dis 22:143–149
- Polin RS, Bavbek M, Shaffrey ME, Billups K, Bogaev CA, Kassell NF, Lee KS (1998) Detection of soluble E-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and L-selectin in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 89:559–567
- Bavbek M, Polin R, Kwan AL, Arthur AS, Kassell NF, Lee KS (1998) Monoclonal antibodies against ICAM-1 and CD18 attenuate cerebral vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in rabbits. Stroke 29:1930–1935, discussion 1935–1936
- Rosenblum WI (1997) Platelet adhesion and aggregation without endothelial denudation or exposure of basal lamina and/or collagen. J Vasc Res 34:409–417
- Akopov SE, Sercombe R, Seylaz J (1995) Leukocyte-induced endothelial dysfunction in the rabbit basilar artery: modulation by platelet-activating factor. J Lipid Mediat Cell Signal 11:267–279

The Roles of Early Brain Injury in Cerebral Vasospasm Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: From Clinical and Scientific Aspects

Shigeru Nishizawa

Abstract Cerebral vasospasm research has been focused on investigating the mechanisms of prolonged delayed vasoconstriction of cerebral arteries following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). However, it has been clarified that induction of significant vasodilation of such arteries does not lead to better overall outcomes in SAH patients. On the other hand, early brain injury, such as cortical spreading depression, early cortical depolarization waves, and impairment of neurovascular coupling, is seen acutely after SAH and may play a significant role in early impairment of brain function following SAH. These results clearly indicate that it is time to reconsider what causes this early brain damage and dictates patient outcome following SAH; classical delayed cerebral vasospasm following SAH might be an epiphenomenon. It is of utmost importance to investigate whether early brain injury and delayed cerebral vasospasm correlate with each other following SAH or are independent. Recent results of cerebral vasospasm research indicates future directions, and such investigations would lead to better outcome for SAH patients.

Keywords Early brain injury • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Cerebral vasospasm • Animal models

Introduction

It is well-known that delayed cerebral vasospasm (DCV) following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a key factor contributing to outcome and prognosis of SAH patients. For this reason, many basic researchers and neurosurgeons have been investigating mechanisms of and approaches to DCV. Typically, when we refer to "delayed cerebral vasospasm following SAH," the target is vasoconstriction of major cerebral arteries. In experimental animal models, the major concerns are extent of constriction of major cerebral arteries and how this constriction can be inhibited by pharmacological intervention.

One experimental approach for cerebral vasospasm is to investigate the mechanism producing long-lasting cerebral arterial contraction. In this approach, the roles of the signal transduction mechanism of vascular smooth muscle cells have been highlighted [3, 7–11], that is, of protein kinase C (PKC) [7–11], protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) [3], mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK), among others. Another approach is to investigate molecules known to cause longlasting cerebral arterial contraction, such as oxyhemoglobin (OxyHb) or endothelin 1 (ET-1). Candidates to inhibit those key mediators have been investigated, and some have successfully been shown to attenuate cerebral vasospasm in experimental animal models.

On the other hand, clinical neurosurgeons know well that initial patient neurological state following SAH, especially consciousness level, correlates very well with the final outcome. In other words, not only the DCV but also initial the consciousness state, which is known to reflect early brain injury accurately, are significantly important to indicate the prognosis of the patients.

Here, we discuss the past and recent research and possible future direction of research regarding cerebral vasospasm following SAH.

Results

Protein Kinase C

We have extensively investigated the roles of PKC in the DCV following SAH [3, 7–11]. Using a two-hemorrhage canine model (Fig. 1), the activity of PKC in smooth muscle cells of basilar arteries was measured by radioisotope study.

S. Nishizawa, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, 1-1 Iseigaoka, Yahata-Nishi, Kitakyushu, Fukuoka 807-8555, Japan e-mail: snishizawa@nifty.com

Control study



Fig. 1 The control study using a two-hemorrhage canine model. The cerebral vasospasm occurs after the second injection on day 4 up to 50% of the control diameter and continues until day 7

In vasospastic cerebral arteries, PKC is significantly enhanced [8], and the time courses of the progression of cerebral vasospasm and PKC activation are correlated well by an enzyme immunoassay study [10]. Based on these results, we concluded that PKC isoenzymes play a pivotal role in the mechanism of DCV after SAH.

Eleven isoforms of the PKC family have been identified. We examined which isoforms are important in the mechanism of DCV. In smooth muscle cells of a canine basilar artery, four PKC isoforms, PKC α , - δ , - ζ , and - η , were identified by Western blotting methods [9]. Among those isoforms, PKC δ was initially activated, followed by PKC α [9]. These results suggest us that PKC δ plays the role in the initiation and PKC α in the maintenance of DCV [9] (Fig. 2).

Using a high-throughput screening method, we investigated whether chemical agents to inhibit the determined PKC isoforms were available. In this study, we found one chemical product, M-62885, that shows significant inhibition of both PKC δ and PKC α . According to those results, we examined M-62885 in our two-hemorrhage canine model. Both PKC α and PKC δ activations were inhibited significantly, and angiographic DCVs were also completely inhibited (Fig. 3).

Our experimental results confirmed that both PKC δ and PKC α are significantly important for initiation and maintenance of DCV after SAH. A chemical agent such as M-62885 might be strongly beneficial. This experimental approach was also used in the clazosentan study described next.



Clazosentan

(SAH)

Clazosentan is a potent specific antagonist on ET-1 receptor, and it has been extensively tested in the two-hemorrhage canine model for inhibition of DCV following SAH. The results were very encouraging; complete inhibition of cerebral vasospasm was obtained in a dose-dependent manner [5, 13].

Based on those experimental results, multicenter clinical trials using clazosentan were initiated. As expected, clazosentan inhibited DCV after SAH in patients just as in the experimental animal study. However, despite these promising angiographic findings, the overall outcome of the patients treated with clazosentan was not significantly different from the control group. Moreover, mortality rate in the clazosentan treatment group was higher than the control group due to

209

adverse effects, such as pulmonary edema, renal dysfunction, and liver dysfunction [5, 6].

Nimodipine

Nimodipine is a calcium channel blocker, and it is widely used in North America and European countries for the prevention of neuronal deficits due to SAH. Nimodipine itself does not have a vasodilatory effect. However, a nimodipinetreated group of SAH patients was significantly better compared with the control. It was suggested that the effect of nimodipine on the better outcome of SAH patients might be due to a neuroprotective effect [1].

Discussion

What Do Those Studies Mean?

Full dilation of vasospastic cerebral major arteries does not lead to favorable patient outcome. Inhibition of the cerebral vasospasm of major cerebral arteries and the outcome of the patients are completely independent.

What does it mean? Many researchers have been focusing on the following issues for long time: What mechanisms contribute to produce long-lasting contractions of major cerebral arteries following SAH? What are the solutions to dilate major cerebral arteries for a better outcome for SAH patients? However, we now have to reconsider what the role of so-called delayed cerebral vasospasm is in the pathophysiology of SAH. In another words, we have to redefine the real role of DCV following SAH, and whether classical DCV is really the key factor to decide the final outcome of SAH patients.

Early Brain Injury

As mentioned, clinical neurosurgeons know the initial consciousness level of the SAH patient (assessed by various scales based on level of consciousness) is directly correlated with the patient's final outcome. The initial conscious level is definitely impacted by early brain injury due to SAH [1].

A number of articles for early brain injury have been published in both the clinical and the experimental fields. In the clinical articles, it has been reported that severity of brain damage after SAH is closely correlated with the final outcome [1]. However, these are observational studies, and no definite scientific mechanisms defining a relationship between early brain injury and the final outcome have yet been established.

In the research articles, mechanisms of early brain injury have been reported, such as cortical spreading depression, cortical depolarization wave [2, 4], and impairment of neurovascular coupling acutely following SAH. These data reinforce the significance of the role of early brain injury that causes overall poor patient outcome following SAH.

As mentioned, nimodipine does not have a vasodilatory effect but induces a better outcome for the SAH patient compared with the control. In another words, nimodipine shows its effect through a neuroprotective mechanism, likely by attenuation of early brain injury.

Conclusion

The results of the clazosentan study tell us a lot about the future direction of vasospasm research [12]. In clinical aspects, significant attenuation of spasm of the major cerebral arteries following SAH does not lead to improvement of patient outcomes. SAH patients are classified in clinical grades based on the clinical state, especially on the consciousness level; such grades, however, are directly correlated with the final outcome of SAH patients. The initial clinical grades of the SAH patients are strongly associated with early brain injury due to SAH. In that sense, it is significantly important to determine how to protect neural functions from early brain injury to improve the overall outcome of SAH patients. To investigate the mechanisms of early brain injury, such as cortical spreading depression, cortical spreading depolarization waves, and impairment of neurovascular coupling, is extremely important. Moreover, the relation between early brain injury and so-called classical DCV has to be identified. It is not clear that they are closely related or are completely independent events. DCV might be an epiphenomenon of the pathophysiology of SAH.

Prolonged cerebral arterial contraction is only seen in cerebral arteries following SAH. Investigation of such mechanisms is still important and interesting from the aspects of physiological, pharmacological, and biochemical research. However, as there appears to be little clinical correlation between vessel caliber and functional outcome, we should perhaps shift our research focus.

Even in experimental animal models, we have focused on how to produce irreversible delayed prolonged major cerebral arterial contraction following SAH. It is now time to reconsider whether classical SAH animal models themselves can be justified as effective models.

Conflicts of Interest Statement I declare that I have no conflict of interest.

References

- Dorsch N (2011) A clinical review of cerebral vasospasm and delayed ischaemia following aneurysmal rupture. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:5–8
- Dreier JP (2011) The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med 17:439–447
- Koide M, Nishizawa S, Ohta S, Yokoyama T, Namba H (2002) Chronological changes of the contractile mechanism in prolonged vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: from protein kinase C to protein tyrosine kinase. Neurosurgery 51:1468–1476
- Leng LZ, Fink ME, Iadecola C (2011) Spreading depolarization: a possible new culprit in the delayed cerebral ischemia of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Arch Neurol 68:31–36
- Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, Vajkoczy P, Bach D, Frey A, Marr A, Roux S, Kassell N (2011) Clazosentan, an endothelin receptor antagonist in patients with aneurysmal haemorrhage undergoing surgical clipping: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial (CONSCIOUS-2). Lancet Neurol 10:618–625
- Meyers PM, Connolly ES Jr (2011) Stroke: disappointing results for clazosentan in COSCIOUS-2. Nat Rev Neurol 10:1038
- Nishizawa S, Laher I (2005) Signaling mechanisms in cerebral vasospasm. Trends Cardiovasc Med 15:24–34

- Nishizawa S, Nezu N, Uemura K (1992) Direct evidence for a key role of protein kinase C in the development of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 76:635–639
- 9. Nishizawa S, Obara K, Nakayama K, Koide M, Yokoyama T, Yokota N, Ohta S (2000) Protein kinase C δ and α are involved in the development of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Eur J Pharmacol 398:113–119
- Nishizawa S, Yamamoto S, Yokoyama T, Ryu H, Uemura K (1995) Chronological changes of arterial diameter, cGMP, and protein kinase C in the development of vasospasm. Stroke 26:1916–1921
- Obara K, Nishizawa S, Koide M, Nozawa K, Mitate A, Ishikawa T, Nakayama K (2005) Interactive role of protein kinase Cδ with Rho-kinase in the development of cerebral vasospasm in a caninehemorrhage model. J Vasc Res 42:67–76
- Sehba FA, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2011) Metamorphosis of subarachnoid hemorrhage research: from delayed vasospasm to early brain injury. Mol Neurobiol 43:27–40
- Tam AK, Ilodigwe D, Mocco J, Mayer S, Kassek N, Ruefenacht D, Schniedek P, Pasqualin A, Macdonald RL (2010) Impact of systemic inflammatory response syndrome on vasospasm, cerebral infarction, and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: exploratory analysis of CONSCIOUS-1 database. Neurocrit Care 13:182–189

Matricellular Protein: A New Player in Cerebral Vasospasm Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Hidenori Suzuki, Masato Shiba, Masashi Fujimoto, Kengo Kawamura, Mai Nanpei, Eriko Tekeuchi, Satoshi Matsushima, Kenji Kanamaru, Kyoko Imanaka-Yoshida, Toshimichi Yoshida, and Waro Taki

Abstract *Introduction*: Matricellular protein (MCP) is a class of nonstructural and secreted extracellular matrix proteins that exert diverse functions, but its role in vascular smooth muscle contraction has not been investigated.

Material and Methods: First, rat subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) models were produced by endovascular perforation and examined for tenascin-C (TNC) and osteopontin (OPN) induction (representatives of MCPs) in vasospastic cerebral arteries using immunostaining. Second, recombinant TNC (r-TNC), recombinant OPN (r-OPN), or both were injected into a cisterna magna in healthy rats, and the effects on the diameter of basilar arteries were determined using India ink angiography.

Results: In SAH rats, TNC immunoreactivity was markedly induced in the smooth muscle cell layers of spastic cerebral arteries on day 1 but not in control animals. The TNC immunoreactivity decreased on day 3 as vasospasm improved: OPN immunoreactivity, on the other hand, was more induced in the arterial wall on day 3. r-TNC injections caused prolonged contractions of rat basilar arteries, which were reversed by r-OPN, although r-OPN itself had no effect on the vessel diameter.

Conclusions: MCPs, including TNC and OPN, may contribute to the pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm and provide a novel therapeutic approach against it.

Keywords Cerebral vasospasm • Extracellular matrix • Matricellular protein • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

K. Kawamura, MS, M. Nanpei, MS, E. Tekeuchi, MS,

Introduction

The term matricellular proteins was introduced to explain the unusual diversity of functions that were beginning to be recognized in proteins such as thrombospondin 1 in 1995 [1], and the number of matricellular proteins is still increasing. Matricellular proteins are a class of secreted extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins that exert diverse functions through direct binding to cell surface receptors, other matrix proteins, and soluble extracellular factors such as growth factors and cytokines [4]. Matricellular proteins do not contribute directly to the structural organization of the ECM, but rather modulate cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions [4]. Their levels are generally low in steady-state condition in adult tissues, but they are readily upregulated in conditions that activate an inflammatory response [2]. Matricellular proteins are considered to be key mediators of some inflammatory diseases [2].

Osteopontin (OPN) and tenascin-C (TNC) are representative of matricellular proteins. We have already reported that recombinant OPN (r-OPN) induced mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphatase 1, an endogenous MAPK inhibitor, in the spastic cerebral arteries via binding to L-arginyl-glycyl-L-aspartate-dependent integrin receptors and prevented cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) in rats [9]. In a clinical setting, in addition, multivariate analyses demonstrated that higher TNC levels in the cerebrospinal fluid were an independent predictor of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm occurrence [11]. Here, we show some new findings, leading to one conclusion: that TNC and OPN are new players in cerebral vasospasm after SAH.

Materials and Methods

All procedures were approved by the Animal Ethics Review Committee of Mie University and were in accordance with the institution's Guidelines for Animal Experiments.

H. Suzuki, M.D., Ph.D.(🖂), M. Shiba, M.D., M. Fujimoto, M.D.,

S. Matsushima, M.D., Ph.D., and W. Taki, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, 2-174 Edobashi, Tsu, Mie 514-8507, Japan e-mail: suzuki02@clin.medic.mie-u.ac.jp

K. Kanamaru, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Suzuka Kaisei Hospital, Suzuka, Mie, Japan

K. Imanaka-Yoshida, M.D., Ph.D. and T. Yoshida, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pathology and Matrix Biology, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu, Mie, Japan

SAH Model and Study Protocol

The endovascular perforation model of SAH was produced in male adult Sprague–Dawley rats (age 8–9 weeks, 270– 320 g; SLC, Hamamatsu, Japan) as previously described [9]. Each animal was anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of 4% chloral hydrate (10 ml/kg). A sharpened 4-0 monofilament nylon suture was advanced rostrally into the left internal carotid artery from the external carotid artery stump to perforate the bifurcation of the left anterior and middle cerebral arteries. Blood pressure and blood gas were measured via the left femoral artery. Rectal temperature was kept at 37°C during surgery. Sham-operated rats underwent identical procedures except that the suture was withdrawn without puncture.

First, 24 rats were randomly divided into either SAH or sham groups, sacrificed after neurobehavioral tests and India ink angiography on days 1 and 3, and examined if TNC or OPN was induced in post-SAH cerebral arteries using immunostaining.

Second, phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) vehicle, recombinant TNC (r-TNC), r-OPN, or r-TNC plus r-OPN were injected into a cisterna magna in 66 healthy rats, and the effects on the diameter of basilar arteries were determined using India ink angiography following neurobehavioral tests on days 1–3.

Neurobehavioral Test

Neurological impairments were blindly evaluated using two methods. Neurological scores (2–18 points) were assessed by summing six test scores (spontaneous activity; spontaneous movement of four limbs; forepaw outstretching; climbing; body proprioception; and response to whisker stimulation) as previously described [9]. Beam balance tests investigated the animal's ability to walk on a narrow wooden beam (2.25-cm diameter and columnar) for 60 s: 4 points, walking more than 20 cm; 3 points, walking more than 10 cm but less than 20 cm; 2 points, walking more than 10 cm but falling; 1 point, walking less than 10 cm; and 0 points, falling with walking less than 10 cm [9]. The average score of three consecutive trials in a 5-min interval was calculated.

Intracisternal Infusion

Using a surgical microscope, the posterior cervical muscles were dissected through a suboccipital midline skin incision, and the atlanto-occipital membrane was exposed [12]. The membrane was penetrated by a 27-gauge needle. Sterile PBS

vehicle (100 μ l), mouse r-TNC (2 μ g in 100 μ l; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN); mouse r-OPN (3 μ g in 100 μ l; EMD Chemicals, La Jolla, CA); or 2 μ g of r-TNC plus 1 or 3 μ g of r-OPN in 100 μ l of PBS were infused into a cisterna magna at a rate of 100 μ l/min irrespective of the animal's body weight. The needle was removed 10 min after an infusion, and the pore was quickly plugged with oxidized cellulose.

India Ink Angiography

Gelatin-India ink solution was made by dissolving gelatin powder (7 g) in 100 ml PBS and mixing with 100 ml India ink (Kuretake Co., Nara, Japan) [9]. The ascending aorta was cannulated with a blunted 16-gauge needle attached to flexible plastic tubing, which was connected to a pressure transducer (Nihon Kohden Co., Tokyo, Japan) and a syringe on an automatic infusion pump. After an incision was made in the right atrium to allow for the outflow of perfusion solutions, 100 ml of PBS, 15 min of 10% formalin, and 10 min of 3.5% gelatin-India ink solution were infused through the closed circuit. All perfusates were passed through a 0.2-µm pore size filter and delivered at 60-80 mmHg [9]. The rat was refrigerated at 4°C for 24 h to allow gelatin solidification. The brains were harvested and high-resolution pictures of the circle of Willis and basilar arteries were taken with a scale before and after the removal of a subarachnoid clot. The brain was stored in 10% neutral buffered formalin for immunohistochemistry.

An experienced person who was unaware of the treatment groups measured the smallest lumen diameter within each vascular segment of intracranial cerebral arteries (sphenoidal segment of the middle cerebral artery, precommunicating segment of the anterior cerebral artery, intradural internal carotid artery, and basilar artery) three times using Image J software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) and determined a mean value per segment.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections was performed as described previously [13]. After dewaxing and rehydration, the sections were treated with 3% hydrogen peroxide for 10 min to block endogenous peroxidase activities, placed in 1 mmol ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (pH 8.0), and heated in an autoclave at 121°C for 1 min. The sections were then blocked with 5% goat or horse serum and incubated overnight at 4°C with the mouse monoclonal anti-OPN (1:100, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) and mouse monoclonal anti-TNC (1 µg/ml, Immuno-

Biological Laboratories, Takasaki, Japan) antibodies. They were subsequently incubated with biotinylated antimouse immunoglobulin (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for 30 min and then with an avidin-biotin complex for 30 min at room temperature. Color reactions were developed in diaminobenzidine/hydrogen peroxide solution, and the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin solution for light microscopic examination. Negative controls consisted of serial sections incubated with buffer alone instead of the primary antibodies.

Statistics

Neurological and beam balance scores were expressed as median plus or minus the 25th–75th percentiles and were analyzed using Mann–Whitney U tests or Kruskal–Wallis tests, followed by Steel–Dwass multiple comparisons. Other values were expressed as mean plus or minus standard deviation, and unpaired t tests and one-way analysis of variance with Tukey-Kramer post hoc tests were used as appropriate. We considered p < 0.05 significant.

Results

Induction of TNC and OPN in Rat Cerebral Arteries After SAH

Three SAH rats and no sham-operated rats died before euthanasia. The final number of animals in the 1- and 3-day SAH groups therefore was 5 and 4, respectively, and that in the sham-operated rats was 6 in both 1- and 3-day groups. There were no significant differences in physiological parameters between SAH and sham-operated rats at any time point or within the groups over time. The sham-operated rats showed no vasospasm, while significant vasospasm occurred in all cerebral arteries, including the intradural internal carotid arteries in the SAH rats on day 1, associated with neurobehavioral impairments, and began to improve on day 3. On day 1, when vasospasm was the most prominent, marked induction of TNC immunoreactivity was noted, especially in the smooth muscle cell layers of cerebral arteries in the SAH rats (Fig. 1). The TNC immunoreactivity decreased on day 3 as vasospasm improved. On the other hand, OPN immunoreactivity was detectable in the adventitia but was less apparent in the smooth muscle cell layers of cerebral arteries in the SAH rats on day 1; OPN immunoreactivity was more markedly induced throughout the vascular wall on day 3, when vasospasm was improved (Fig. 1). Neither TNC nor OPN was induced in the sham-operated rats.

Effects of r-TNC on Basilar Arteries in Rats

A cisternal injection of r-TNC caused no mortality and neurobehavioral impairments, but induced significant contraction of basilar arteries (Fig. 2a). The contraction continued for 48 h compared with the PBS-injected rats (Fig. 2b).

Effects of r-OPN on r-TNC-Induced Contraction of Basilar Arteries in Rats

A cisternal injection of r-OPN had no effect on the diameter of basilar arteries (Fig. 3). However, r-OPN reversed r-TNCinduced contraction of basilar arteries in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 3).

c N Sham 24 h 72 h

TNC

Fig. 1 Immunohistochemistry for tenascin-C (*TNC*) and osteopontin (*OPN*) in the intradural internal carotid artery at 24 and 72 h after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) in rats. *Sham* sham-operated rats. *Black stains* depict India ink because specimens were harvested after India ink angiography

SAH

Fig. 2 Effects of a cisternal injection of 2 μ g of recombinant tenascin-C (*r*-*TNC*) on the diameter of basilar arteries in rats. (**a**) Representative India ink angiograms; (**b**) vessel diameter of basilar arteries at 24–72 h after a cisternal injection of r-TNC or phosphate-buffered saline (*PBS*) vehicle. *Arrow* basilar artery; n=6per group; data, mean ± standard deviation; p values, unpaired ttests between r-TNC- and PBS-injected rats







Fig. 3 Effects of a cisternal injection of recombinant osteopontin (*r-OPN*; 1 or 3 μ g) on recombinant tenascin-C (*r-TNC*)induced contraction of rat basilar arteries at 24 h postinjection. *PBS* phosphate-buffered saline vehicle; n=6 per group; data, mean \pm standard deviation; *p* values, one-way analysis of variance with Tukey-Kramer post hoc tests

Discussion

The components of ECM include basic structural proteins such as collagen and elastin and specialized proteins such as fibronectin, proteoglycans, and matricellular proteins. A few studies have focused on the relationships between basic structural ECM proteins and vasospasm [6], but matricellular proteins have not been investigated in the context of cerebral vasospasm. The biological functions of matricellular proteins are highly variable and often seemingly contradictory, depending on the biological scenario surrounding its induction [8]. However, in our recent studies, r-OPN has consistently been found to have protective effects on post-SAH early brain injury and vasospasm [8, 9]. On the other hand, clinical studies demonstrated that TNC, another matricellular protein, was induced in SAH patients with symptomatic vasospasm [11]. This study furthermore demonstrated that SAH induced TNC in the cerebral arterial wall associated with the development of vasospasm, while OPN was induced in the artery wall associated with the resolution of vasospasm. A cisternal injection of r-TNC caused prolonged contractions of rat basilar arteries, while r-OPN prevented r-TNC-induced arterial contraction. These findings suggest that TNC as well as OPN are important players in the pathophysiology of post-SAH vasospasm.

A previous study reported that r-OPN inactivated MAPK, a potential final common pathway for the signaling transduction during cerebral vasospasm [10], and therefore prevented vasospasm after SAH, although OPN can also inhibit proinflammatory reactions and protein kinase C activation, other potential mediators of vasospasm [9]. In regard to TNC, however, the mechanisms to induce vasospasm have not been investigated. Therefore, the mechanisms of how OPN antagonizes TNC's effect also remain unclear; one possibility is that OPN may inhibit TNC's binding to its receptor competitively because they share some receptors [5, 14]. Reportedly, TNC can activate phospholipase C, protein kinase C, calcium/calmodulin kinase, MAPK, and some growth factor receptors; upregulate proinflammatory cytokines and endothelin receptor type A; and induce cell apoptosis [5], all of which potentially cause cerebral vasospasm [10]. As TNC activates MAPK-dependent and RhoAdependent pathways, both of which also induce vasospasm, and is induced via either pathway at the transcriptional level in smooth muscle cells [3], TNC signaling may positively feed back on upregulation of TNC itself, leading to more activation of the signaling transduction and the development of cerebral vasospasm. TNC and OPN may be efficient modulators of cerebral vasospasm at several different levels.

There are many other matricellular proteins known [2, 4], and they are also potentially involved in the pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm because most matricellular proteins are known to affect potential mediators of vasospasm. For example, thrombospondin 1 inhibits nitric oxide pathways at multiple levels to control acute vascular tone and blood flow and activates a Src kinase in vascular cells [15]; secreted protein, acid and rich in cysteine (SPARC; also known as osteonectin) has anti-inflammatory properties [2]; and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF/CCN2) induces MAPK and inflammation and activates some growth factor signaling [7].

Conclusion

Future studies will determine whether matricellular proteins other than TNC and OPN are involved in the pathophysiology of post-SAH vasospasm. In addition, further studies are necessary to understand the mechanism of how each matricellular protein orchestrates various phases of vasospasm and to define the therapeutic potential of these matricellular proteins in post-SAH vasospasm.

Acknowledgements We thank Chiduru Yamamoto (Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine) for technical assistance. This work was supported in part by a grant-in-aid for scientific research from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (22591584) and Mie Society for the Promotion of Medical Research to Dr. Suzuki.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Bornstein P (1995) Diversity of function is inherent in matricellular proteins: an appraisal of thrombospondin I. J Cell Biol 130:503–506
- Chiodoni C, Colombo MP, Sangaletti S (2010) Matricellular proteins: from homeostasis to inflammation, cancer, and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 29:295–307
- Chiquet M, Gelman L, Lutz R, Maier S (2009) From mechanotransduction to extracellular matrix gene expression in fibroblasts. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793:911–920
- Matsui Y, Morimoto J, Uede T (2010) Role of matricellular proteins in cardiac tissue remodeling after myocardial infarction. World J Biol Chem 1:69–80
- Midwood KS, Orend G (2009) The role of tenascin-C in tissue injury and tumorigenesis. J Cell Commun Signal 3:287–310
- Nakamura S, Tsubokawa T, Yoshida K, Hirasawa T, Nakano M (1992) Appearance of collagen fibers in the cerebral vascular wall following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 32:877–882
- Shi-Wen X, Leask A, Abraham D (2008) Regulation and function of connective tissue growth factor/CCN2 in tissue repair, scarring and fibrosis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 19:133–144
- Suzuki H, Ayer R, Sugawara T, Chen W, Sozen T, Hasegawa Y, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2010) Protective effects of recombinant

osteopontin on early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Crit Care Med 38:612–618

- Suzuki H, Hasegawa Y, Chen W, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2010) Recombinant osteopontin in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Ann Neurol 68:650–660
- Suzuki H, Hasegawa Y, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2011) Mitogenactivated protein kinases in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a review. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:133–139
- Suzuki H, Kanamaru K, Shiba M, Fujimoto M, Imanaka-Yoshida K, Yoshida T, Taki W (2011) Cerebrospinal fluid tenascin-C in cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 23:310–317
- 12. Suzuki H, Kanamaru K, Tsunoda H, Inada H, Kuroki M, Sun H, Waga S, Tanaka T (1999) Heme oxygenase-1 gene induction as an

intrinsic regulation against delayed cerebral vasospasm in rats. J Clin Invest 104:59–66

- Toma N, Imanaka-Yoshida K, Takeuchi T, Matsushima S, Iwata H, Yoshida T, Taki W (2005) Tenascin-C-coated platinum coils for acceleration of organization of cavities and reduction of lumen size in a rat aneurysm model. J Neurosurg 103:681–686
- 14. Uede T (2011) Osteopontin, intrinsic tissue regulator of intractable inflammatory diseases. Pathol Int 61:265–280
- Yao M, Roberts DD, Isenberg JS (2011) Thrombospondin-1 inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell responses occurs via modulation of both cAMP and cGMP. Pharmacol Res 63:13–22

Role of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor in Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Rats

Masato Shiba, Hidenori Suzuki, Masashi Fujimoto, Naoshi Shimojo, Kyoko Imanaka-Yoshida, Toshimichi Yoshida, Kenji Kanamaru, Satoshi Matsushima, and Waro Taki

Abstract *Background and purpose*: The role of plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) remains unknown in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). In this study, we examined the effects of PDGF receptor (PDGFR) inactivation on cerebral vasospasm in the endovascular perforation model of SAH in rats.

Methods: Rats were assigned to sham, SAH plus vehicle, and SAH plus imatinib mesylate (imatinib) groups (n=4 per group). Imatinib (50 mg/kg body weight), an inhibitor of the tyrosine kinases of PDGFR, or vehicle was administered intraperitoneally 30 min post-SAH. Vasospasm was evaluated in the left (perforation-sided) internal carotid artery by means of neurobehavioral tests, India ink angiography, and immunohistochemistry at 24 h after SAH.

Results: Imatinib significantly inhibited post-SAH PDGFR activation in the left internal carotid artery, in which vasospasm was significantly prevented. Animal's neurobe-havior also showed a tendency to improve by imatinib treatment.

H. Suzuki, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, 2-174 Edobashi, Tsu, Mie 514-8507, Japan

Research Center for Matrix Biology, Mie University, Tsu, Japan

N. Shimojo, Ph.D., K. Imanaka-Yoshida, M.D., Ph.D., and T. Yoshida, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pathology and Matrix Biology, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Tsu, Japan

Research Center for Matrix Biology, Mie University, Tsu, Japan

K. Kanamaru, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Suzuka Kaisei Hospital, Suzuka, Japan *Conclusions*: PDGF may play an important role in the pathogenesis of vasospasm after SAH.

Keywords Imatinib • Cerebral vasospasm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Platelet-derived growth factor

Introduction

Although the pathogenesis of vasospasm is multifactorial, it remains unknown if platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) is involved in the pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Some studies have suggested the linkage between post-SAH PDGF production and vasospasm occurrence [3, 5, 14, 15], while others have negatively reported it [4, 6, 13]. Thus far, only one in vivo study tested if PDGF caused vasospasm using a PDGF receptor (PDGFR)-\u03b3 antagonist, trapidil, in a single cisternal autologous blood injection model of SAH in rabbits [15]. In this study, we selected imatinib mesylate (imatinib), a selective inhibitor of the tyrosine kinases of PDGFR- α and - β , as a PDGF inhibitor because it is clinically available [7] and examined whether imatinib prevents cerebral vasospasm to determine the role of PDGF in the development of vasospasm in the endovascular perforation model of SAH in rats, which shows a high mortality and acute metabolic changes similar to clinical findings [11].

Materials and Methods

All procedures were approved by the Animal Ethics Review Committee of Mie University and were in accordance with the institution's Guidelines for Animal Experiments.

M. Shiba, M.D. (🖂), M. Fujimoto, M.D., S. Matsushima, M.D., Ph.D., and W. Taki, M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Neurosurgery, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, 2-174 Edobashi, Tsu, Mie 514-8507, Japan e-mail: mshiba@clin.medic.mie-u.ac.jp

SAH Model and Study Protocol

The endovascular perforation model of SAH was produced in male adult Sprague–Dawley rats (age 8–9 weeks, 270–320 g; SLC, Hamamatsu, Japan) as previously described [8]. Each animal was anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of 4% chloral hydrate (10 ml/kg). A sharpened 4-0 monofilament nylon suture was advanced rostrally into the left internal carotid artery (ICA) from the external carotid artery stump to perforate the bifurcation of the left anterior (ACA) and middle cerebral arteries (MCA). Blood pressure and blood gas were measured via the left femoral artery. Rectal temperature was kept at 37°C during surgery. Shamoperated rats underwent the identical procedures except that the suture was withdrawn without puncture.

Twenty-two rats underwent the endovascular perforation SAH or sham operation. After 30 min, 12 surviving rats were randomly assigned to 3 groups (sham + vehicle, SAH + vehicle, and SAH + imatinib groups), and 50 mg/kg body weight of imatinib (Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) or vehicle (phosphate-buffered saline [PBS], 10 ml/kg) were administered intraperitoneally. Neurological scores were evaluated prior to and at 24 h after the operation. Cerebral vasospasm was evaluated by India ink angiography at 24 h post-SAH, followed by the assessment of severity of SAH and immunohistochemistry.

Neurological Scoring

Neurological scores were evaluated with the scoring system in a blinded fashion [8]. Briefly, the evaluation consists of six tests that can be scored 0–3 or 1–3. These six tests include spontaneous activity; symmetry in the movement of all four limbs; forepaw outstretching; climbing; body proprioception; and response to whisker stimulation. The maximum score is 18, and the minimum score is 3. Higher scores indicate greater function.

Severity of SAH

The severity of SAH was assessed in a blinded fashion using high-resolution photographs as described previously [8]. In brief, the SAH grading system was as follows: The basal cistern was divided into six segments, and each segment was allotted a grade from 0 to 3 depending on the amount of subarachnoid blood clot in the segment; grade 0: no subarachnoid blood; grade 1: minimal subarachnoid blood; grade 2: moderate blood clot with recognizable arteries; grade 3: blood clot obliterating all arteries within the segment. The animals received a total score ranging from 0 to 18 after adding the scores from all six segments.

India Ink Angiography

Gelatin-India ink solution was made by dissolving gelatin powder (7 g) in 100 ml PBS and mixing with 100 ml India ink (Kuretake Co., Nara, Japan) [9]. The ascending aorta was cannulated with a blunted 16-gauge needle attached to flexible plastic tubing, which was connected to a pressure transducer (Nihon Kohden Co., Tokyo, Japan) and a syringe on an automatic infusion pump. After an incision was made in the right atrium to allow for the outflow of perfusion solutions, 100 ml of PBS, 15 min of 10% formalin, and 10 min of 3.5% gelatin-India ink solution were infused through the closed circuit. All perfusates were passed through a 0.2-µm pore size filter and delivered at 60–80 mmHg [9]. The rat was refrigerated at 4°C for 24 h to allow gelatin solidification. The brains were harvested, and high-resolution pictures of the circle of Willis were taken with a scale before and after the removal of a subarachnoid clot. The brain was stored in 10% neutral buffered formalin for immunohistochemistry.

An experienced person who was unaware of the treatment groups measured the smallest lumen diameter in the left ICAs three times using Image J software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) and determined a mean value.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections was performed as described previously [12]. After dewaxing and rehydration, the sections were treated with 3% hydrogen peroxide for 10 min to block endogenous peroxidase activity, placed in 1 mmol ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (pH 8.0) and heated in an autoclave at 121°C for 1 min. The sections were then blocked with 5% goat serum and incubated overnight at 4°C with the rabbit anti-PDGFR-β (1:200; Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA) and rabbit polyclonal antiphosphorylated PDGFR (α: Y572/574, β: Y579/581; 1:200; Biosource, Camarillo, CA) antibodies. They were subsequently incubated with biotinylated antirabbit immunoglobulin (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for 30 min and then with an avidin-biotin complex for 30 min at room temperature. Color reactions were developed in diaminobenzidine/hydrogen peroxide solution and the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin solution for light microscopic examination. Negative controls consisted of serial sections incubated with buffer alone instead of the primary antibodies.

Statistics

Neurological scores were expressed as median plus or minus 25th–75th percentiles and were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis tests, followed by Steel-Dwass multiple comparisons. Other values were expressed as mean plus or minus standard error of the mean (SEM). Comparisons were assessed using chi-square, unpaired *t* tests, or oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey-Kramer post hoc tests as appropriate. We considered P < 0.05significant.

Results

Comparisons of physiological parameters, severity of SAH, and mortality were not significantly different between the vehicle- and imatinib-treated SAH rats. None of the shamoperated rats died.

Neurological scores were impaired at 24 h after SAH in comparison with the sham group, and post-SAH administration of imatinib improved neurological scores, but these differences were not significant (Fig. 1). However, significant vasospasm occurred in the left ICA at 24 h post-SAH, which was significantly attenuated by imatinib treatment (Fig. 2).

Immunohistochemistry showed that PDGFR- β and phosphorylated PDGFR were increased mainly in the smooth muscle layer of the spastic ICAs in the SAH-vehicle rats. These immunoreactivities were attenuated by imatinib treatment (Fig. 3).

Discussion

This study showed that SAH activated PDGFR associated with upregulation of PDGFR- β in the spastic cerebral artery, and that inhibition of the tyrosine kinases of PDGFRs by imatinib suppressed the activation of PDGFR and the upregulation of PDGFR- β , leading to improvement of vasospasm.

After SAH, coagulated clot around cerebral arteries triggers thrombin activation, which induces the expression of PDGF in arterial smooth muscle cells [3, 13, 14]. However, the functional significance of PDGF upregulation has been controversial in cerebral vasospasm. In a clinical setting, SAH patients with symptomatic vasospasm were reported to have significantly higher cerebrospinal fluid levels of the BB [3] or AB [2] isoform of PDGF (PDGF-BB or PDGF-AB), while Lad et al. [4] considered that PDGF was not an important biomarker for cerebral vasospasm. In experimental studies as well, a cisternal injection of recombinant PDGF-BB caused long-lasting vasoconstriction of basilar arteries in rabbits, resembling post-SAH vasospasm [14, 15], while PDGF-AB alone caused no significant vasoconstriction in the same model [6]. Maeda et al. [5] reported that PDGF-BB caused only slight vasoconstriction of basilar arteries in rabbits, but the contractile response of basilar artery to PDGF-BB was enhanced after SAH in rabbits [5]. Zhang et al. reported that the blockage of PDGF-BB production by two kinds of thrombin inhibitors [14] or PDGF-BB inactivation by a PDGFR-β antagonist trapidil [15] prevented vasospasm after SAH in rabbits. This study for the first time demonstrated that SAH upregulated PDGFR- β in the spastic cerebral artery, and that inhibition of the tyrosine kinases of PDGFRs





Fig. 2 Effects of imatinib treatment after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) on vasospasm. Vessel diameter of left internal cerebral artery at 24 h postsurgery. Data, mean plus or minus standard error of the mean (*SEM*); *P* value, analysis of variance (*ANOVA*)





Fig. 3 Hematoxylin and eosin (*HE*) and immunohistochemical stainings of the intracranial internal carotid artery at 24 h after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). *PDGFR* platelet-derived growth factor receptor. Bar=20 μ m
by imatinib suppressed PDGFR activation, PDGFR- β upregulation, and vasospasm in the endovascular perforation model of SAH in rats. Taken together, it is possible that not only PDGF-BB production but also PDGFR- β upregulation contribute to enhanced contractility of post-SAH cerebral artery and therefore the development of vasospasm.

PDGF-induced arterial contraction may occur via Ca²⁺-dependent myosin-light chain kinase [5], tyrosine kinase [5], RhoA/Rho-associated kinase [15], and mitogenactivated protein kinase pathways [1, 10]. Maeda et al. [5] demonstrated that Ca²⁺-dependent myosin-light chain kinase and tyrosine kinase were involved in the mechanism of post-SAH vasospasm development in rabbits. However, the involvement of other pathways remains undetermined in vasospasm.

Conclusion

This study positively supported the association between PDGF and cerebral vasospasm, but the detailed mechanism was not explored. In this regard, further investigations are needed.

Acknowledgments This work was supported in part by a grant-in-aid for scientific research from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (22591584) and Mie Society for the Promotion of Medical Research to Dr. Suzuki.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Andrae J, Gallini R, Betsholtz C (2008) Role of platelet-derived growth factors in physiology and medicine. Genes Dev 22:1276–1312
- Borel CO, McKee A, Parra A, Haglund MM, Solan A, Prabhakar V, Sheng H, Warner DS, Niklason L (2003) Possible role for vas-

cular cell proliferation in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 34:427–433

- Gaetani P, Tancioni F, Grignani G, Tartara F, Merlo EM, Brocchieri A, Rodriguez Y, Baena R (1997) Platelet derived growth factor and subarachnoid haemorrhage: a study on cisternal cerebrospinal fluid. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 139:319–324
- Lad SP, Hegen H, Gupta G, Deisenhammer F, Steinberg GK (2010) Proteomic biomarker discovery in cerebrospinal fluid for cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 21:30–41
- Maeda Y, Hirano K, Hirano M, Kikkawa Y, Kameda K, Sasaki T, Kanaide H (2009) Enhanced contractile response of the basilar artery to platelet-derived growth factor in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 40:591–596
- Miller CA, Lombard FW, Wu CT, Hubbard CJ, Silbajoris L, Borel CO, Niklason LE (2006) Role of vascular mitogens in subarachnoid hemorrhage-associated cerebral vasculopathy. Neurocrit Care 5:215–221
- Savage DG, Antman KH (2002) Imatinib mesylate-a new oral targeted therapy. N Engl J Med 346:683–693
- Sugawara T, Ayer R, Jadhav V, Zhang JH (2008) A new grading system evaluating bleeding scale in filament perforation subarachnoid hemorrhage rat model. J Neurosci Methods 167:327–334
- Suzuki H, Hasegawa Y, Chen W, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2010) Recombinant osteopontin in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Ann Neurol 68:65 0–660
- Suzuki H, Hasegawa Y, Kanamaru K, Zhang JH (2011) Mitogenactivated protein kinases in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a review. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:133–139
- Titova E, Ostrowski RP, Zhang JH, Tang J (2009) Experimental models of subarachnoid hemorrhage for studies of cerebral vasospasm. Neurol Res 31:568–581
- Toma N, Imanaka-Yoshida K, Takeuchi T, Matsushima S, Iwata H, Yoshida T, Taki W (2005) Tenascin-C-coated platinum coils for acceleration of organization of cavities and reduction of lumen size in a rat aneurysm model. J Neurosurg 103:681–686
- Vieweg U, Schramm J, Urbach H (1999) Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-AB) like immune reactivity in serum and in cerebral spinal fluid following experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage in dogs. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 141:861–866
- 14. Zhang Z, Nagata I, Kikuchi H, Xue JH, Sakai N, Sakai K, Yanamoto H (2001) Broad-spectrum and selective serine protease inhibitors prevent expression of platelet-derived growth factor-BB and cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: vasospasm caused by cisternal injection of recombinant platelet-derived growth factor-BB. Stroke 32:1665–1672
- Zhang ZW, Yanamoto H, Nagata I, Miyamoto S, Nakajo Y, Xue JH, Iihara K, Kikuchi H (2010) Platelet-derived growth factorinduced severe and chronic vasoconstriction of cerebral arteries: proposed growth factor explanation of cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 66:728–735

Relevance of Animal Models of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage for Examining Neurobehavioral Changes

Ryszard M. Pluta, Boris Skopets, and Jerald D. Kralik

Abstract *Background and purpose*: For many years survival and neurological functionality of patients were the main outcome measures after treatment of intracranial aneurysms. But, the variable outcomes of patients operated on in a delayed fashion or before the aneurysm rupture indicate that more precise measures are needed for assessment of not only the neurological but also the neuropsychological outcome. However, development and testing of such new tools requires better understanding of pathomechanisms of neurobehavioral changes evoked by aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), which can be achieved using animal models.

Methods: We reviewed and selected (1) animal models developed to investigate delayed cerebral vasospasm that could be useful for examining effects of brain injury evoked by aSAH and (2) a battery of neurobehavioral animal testing that can be used for assessment of patients after aSAH.

Results: For every species used as an aSAH model, a battery of neurobehavioral test exists.

Conclusion: Albeit some limitations must be recognized, research using animal models of SAH should continue to play a critical role in assessment of cognitive and behavioral functions after aSAH.

Keywords SAH • Vasospasm • Animal models • Neurobehavior

R.M. Pluta (🖂)

Office of Research Services, Division of Veterinary Resources, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

J.D. Kralik

Introduction

Mortality and morbidity after treatment of intracranial aneurysms have declined significantly as early clipping and coiling become a standard treatment of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) [66]. But, methods assessing the outcome of these treatments have remained unchanged despite the growing body of evidence that the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) and the Quality of Life (QOL) scale inadequately assess the impact of aSAH on a patient's life [26, 32]. Thus, it becomes imperative to reevaluate the "classic" outcome measures assessing the outcome of surgical and endovascular treatments, delayed cerebral vasospasm, and delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) after aSAH.

Sources of Neurobehavioral Changes After aSAH

The pathomechanism of poor outcome of patients after aSAH remains unclear. For many years, a delayed cerebral vasospasm was recognized as the single most important cause of clinical deterioration and poor outcome after aSAH after successful treatment of aneurysm [17, 66]. But recently, several ultraearly, early, delayed, and late mechanisms of brain injury by aSAH have been recognized and linked to the clinical and neurobehavioral outcome. Also, surgical trauma or cerebral blood flow changes evoked by the endovascular intervention [66, 74] may add yet another insult to the brain [36]. Unfortunately, the list of events affecting the outcome of aSAH does not end here as adjunct treatments (cerebrospinal fluid [CSF] diversion, administration of nimodipine, or triple H [hypertension, hypervolemia, and hemodilution] therapy [14, 59, 61, 72]) may also contribute to development of DINDs and neurobehavioral changes. Furthermore, the increased number of treated unruptured aneurysms [30] raises expectations for a good postoperative outcome among

Surgical Neurology Branch, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, National Institutes of Health, 5512 Pembroke Terrace, Bethesda, MD 20817, USA e-mail: rysiek@ninds.nih.gov

B. Skopets

Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, USA

patients, their families, and health providers. As an effect of this, a mere lack of neurological deficits becomes unsatisfying, and treatment outcome is expected to be "a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being" [66, 74]. Thus, neurobehavioral effects of aSAH and their treatment are becoming increasingly investigated.

Neurobehavioral Changes After Aneurismal SAH

Several small, retrospective studies (Table 1) have addressed neurobehavioral changes after aSAH. Unfortunately, no comprehensive and reliable conclusions can be drawn about the role of acute, delayed, or chronic changes evoked by aSAH on neurobehavior because these studies were focused only on delayed vasospasm [18, 49, 58, 65, 70]. Nevertheless, despite remaining controversial [26, 34, 68], results of these studies revealed that 30-50% of patients after aSAH suffered some attention and memory deficits [25]. In addition, these studies established several new factors beyond vasospasm to be associated with the neurobehavioral deficits (Table 2) and showed that the results of neuropsychological testing predicted the patient's well-being and ability to resume work [45]. However, time of the functional recovery remains unknown [25]; there is a significant range in neuropsychological status that receives the same score on the current outcome scales, such that patients with a Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) score of 5 can still have compromised function; and, somewhat surprisingly, there is a lack of difference in neurobehavioral deficits between patients who had surgery for aSAH compared with those without surgery [25]. The practical consequence of these reports is that even a patient whose clinical status is assessed at GOS 5 can be significantly socially or economically disabled and may benefit from neuropsychological diagnostics and rehabilitation. Thus, establishing causes and pathophysiology of neurobehavioral changes after aSAH and eventual ways to prevent them should advance diagnostics and enrich treatment options. Proper animal models should facilitate better insight into causes, pathophysiology, and pathomechanisms of neurobehavioral deficits, thereby providing a necessary tool to develop targeted treatments.

Models of aSAH

We have developed excellent experimental models of SAH, but all of them were focused on pathophysiology or treatment of delayed cerebral vasospasm because vasospasm was considered the single most important cause of poor outcome [17, 44, 66]. Recently, this dogma has been questioned [40, 54], and research has focused on acute, delayed, and chronic mechanisms that seem to be as important as vasospasm in evoking neurological and neurobehavioral consequences [40, 54].

There are numerous animal models mimicking the aSAH (Table 3). A detailed description of these models can be found in two recently published excellent reviews on this topic [29, 71]. But, all these models have been developed to investigate vasospasm. So, it remains unclear whether they can be adopted to examine neurobehavioral changes evoked by aSAH (Table 4).

Animal Neurobehavioral Tasks

There are numerous animal neurobehavioral tasks that could be used to examine the aSAH-related phenomena (Table 5). These tasks have proven to be applicable to clinical situations (e.g., http://www.cantab.com), particularly if there were many confounding factors that obscured or even prevented separation of their influence on disease progression,

Table 1 Clinical trials devoted to assessment of neurobehavioral changes in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) and vasospasm

Reference	Leading cognitive dysfunction	Limitations
[58]	Moderate deficit in free recall	Retrospective, small
[34]	Free recall and short memory tests affected AcoA and vasospasm associated	Retrospective, 2-14 years after SAH
[18]	31% of amnesia in the acute phase	Retrospective, small, 23% of patient had the aneurysm trapped
[65]	Cognitive defects and frontal lobe syndrome	Retrospective, small, 1–7 years after aSAH and one-third with hydrocephalus
[49]	The only prospective study; mild- to-moderate cognitive and memory dysfunction at GOS 5	Neurobehavioral dysfunctions unrelated to vasospasm, ischemia or hydrocephalus
[70]	65% of the patients were impaired in at least one cognitive domain	Retrospective, small

SAH subarachnoid hemorrhage, aSAH aneurismal subarachnoid hemorrhage, GOS Glasgow Outcome Scale

Table 2 Prognostic factors ofneurobehavioral changes afteraneurysmal subarachnoidhemorrhage (aSAH)

Factor	References
Initial Hunt and Hess grade	[26, 45]
Severity of bleeding (Fisher's scale)	[26, 45]
Intraperenchymal/intraventricular bleeding	[49]
Persistent neurological deficits	[75]
Age at the time of aSAH	[26]

Table 3 Experimental models of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) or vasospasm

SAH method			Effect				
		Single	Double				
Species	Artery	Puncture	Intrathecal injection	Clot	SAH	Vasospasm	Reference
Mouse	+	+	+	_	+	?	[52]
Rat	+	+	+	-	+	±	[56]
Rabbit	+	+	+	-	+	±	[39]
Cat	+	+	+		+		[73]
Pig		+	+	+	+	+	[42]
Dog	+	+	+	+	+	+	[79]
Nonhuman primate	+	+	+	+	±	+	[15]

Гable	4 Modified	neuropsychological	and	psychopathological
sequela	e of aneurysm	al subarachnoid hemo	rrhage	(aSAH)

Visual field defects Neglect Defects of visual and spatial constructive capacities Distortions of face and object recognition Memory disorders Language disturbances (aphasias) Deficits in problem solving Apraxias Attention deficits Mental rigidity Dementia Deficits of concentration capacity Personality changes/emotional disorders Behavioral disorders Organic personality disorder Apathy and loss of interest Impairment of social judgment Aggressiveness or rage Affect labiality, disinhibition, or syndrome (depression) Organic psychosocial maladjustment

Source: From [25]

its treatment, or outcome. In aSAH, such factors are (1) location of subarachnoid blood; (2) the amount of blood in subarachnoid cisterns and ventricles; (3) the effect of surgical or endovascular manipulations; (4) the presence of increased intracranial pressure or (5) hydrocephalus; and (6) other secondary complications of aSAH (e.g., cerebral edema). The use of aSAH animal models allowed for separation and in-depth examination of pathophysiological effects of these factors and application of the findings to clinical settings.

Neurobehavioral Tasks and a Nonhuman Primate Model of aSAH

It is widely accepted that a clot model of SAH mimics faithfully a clinical course of delayed cerebral vasospasm [44]. However, it rarely evokes neurological deficits [29] despite producing cortical injury [62]. There are several reasons why DINDs in this model are not present, including (1) a limited distribution of clot in the subarachnoid space; (2) a collateral blood flow; (3) a small area of the brain exposed to blood clot; and (4) lack of the "early" SAH-related events [29, 54]. The modification of this model by a wider exposure of cortex to clot after removal of the arachnoid over the "eloquent" parts of the brain not only may result in cortical changes, as has been recently shown [62], but also should allow examination of the pathophysiological, neurological, and neurobehavioral changes evoked by a clot placed on the exposed surface of the brain.

There are numerous standard behavioral tasks (Table 6) that can be conducted to examine and characterize potential

		Animal s	species				
Defects	Task	Mouse	Rat	Dog	Cat	Rabbit	Pig
Visual defects	No task available						
Neglect	Task for neglect		[57]		[53]		
Visual spatial capacities	No task available						
Distortions of face and object recognition	Matching/non matching task	See mem	ory model	s			
Memory	Morris water maze	[69]	[<mark>46</mark>]				[<mark>63</mark>]
	Radial arm maze	[6]	[<mark>60</mark>]				[21]
	Radial arm water maze	[<mark>6</mark>]	[29]				
	Barnes maze	[67]	[<mark>46</mark>]				
	Y- or V-maze	[<mark>6</mark>]	[<mark>46</mark>]				
	T-maze	[6, 12]	[46]		[37]		[48]
	Other types of mazes	[3]	[46]				[28]
	Passive-avoidance learning	[3, 6]	[29, 46]				
	Active avoidance	[<mark>6</mark>]	[29]	[<mark>11</mark>]	[<mark>9</mark>]		[22]
	Matching /non matching task	[10, 12]	[29]	[24]	[50]		[48]
	Displacement			[13, 47]	[13]		
	Obstacle memory				[13, 43]		
Language disturbances (aphasias)	No task available						
Deficits of problem solving	Matching/nonmatching task	See mem	ory model	s			
	Go-trial reaction time (GoRT) task and stop-signal reaction time (SSRT) task	See atten	tion deficit	S			
	Attention set shifting	See atten	tion deficit	s			
	Other types of mazes	See mem	ory model	s			
	String-pulling task			[51]			
Apraxia	No task available						
Attention deficits	Five-choice serial reaction time task	[10]	[7]				
	Attentional set shifting	[4]	[5, 33]				
	Go-trial reaction time (GoRT) task and stop-signal reaction time (SSRT) task		[5]				
Mental rigidity	No task available						
Dementia	See memory models						
Deficits of concentration capacity	No task available						
Personality changes/emotional	Elevated-plus maze	[3]	[33]				[1]
disorders/behavioral disorders	Open field task	[3, 6]	[29]	[2]	[41]	[81]	[1, 63]
	Light-dark exploration task	[3]	[38]				[1]
	Social interaction task	[3]	[33]				
	Shock probe defensive burying task	[16]	[33]				
	Novelty-induced hypophagia	[3]	[64]				
	Attention set shifting	See atten	tion deficit	s			
Affect labiality, disinhibition, or	Forced swimming task	[8]	[8]				
syndrome (depression)	Tail suspension task	[8]					
Organic personality disorder	No task available						
Apathy and loss of interest	No task available						
Impairment of social judgment	No task available						
Aggressiveness or rage	Social interaction task	See perso	onality chan	ges/emotion	nal disorder	s/behaviora	al disorders
Organic psychosocial maladjustment	No task available						

 Table 5
 Neurobehavioral tasks for small animal models of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH)

Neurobehavioral defects	Test	References
Visual defects	Visual discrimination tasks	[19]
Neglect	Test for neglect	[19]
Visual spatial capacities	Discrimination based on object location task; spatial recognition task	[19, 77]
Distortions of face and object recognition	Object and face recognition tasks using match/nonmatch to sample	[19, 77]
Memory	Delayed response task	[19]
	Delayed nonmatch to sample	[19, 77]
	Paired-associates task	[77]
	Memory versus attention task	[35]
Language disturbances (aphasias)	N/A	
Deficits of problem solving	Wisconsin card-sorting task analogs	[19, 77]
	Strategy task	[20]
	Reverse-reward task	[31]
	Rule-learning task	[76]
	Decision-making task	[23]
Apraxia	Reaction time task; motor coordination bimanual task; motor-sequencing tasks; conditional motor-learning tasks	[19, 77]
Attention deficits	Cuing tasks	[19, 77]
	Visual search	[19, 77]
	Intra-/extradimensional shift	[77]
Mental rigidity	Object reversal learning; extinction; Wisconsin card-sorting task analogs; reverse-reward tasks	[19, 31, 77]
Dementia	No current tests	
Deficits of concentration capacity	Fixation tasks	[19, 77]
Personality changes/emotional disorders/	Classical conditioning; stimulus-reward association	[19, 27]
behavioral disorders	Snake fear task	[27]
	Intruder task	[27]
	Affective go/no go task	[77]
Affect lability, disinhibition, or syndrome	Gambling task	[77]
(depression)	Stop signal task	[19, 77]
Organic personality disorder	No available task	
Apathy and loss of interest	Progressive ratio task; gambling task; reward evaluation	[77]
Impairment of social judgment	Intruder test; social images choice task	[27]
Aggressiveness or rage	Direct facial expression and behavioral assessment	[19]
Organic psychosocial maladjustment	No available task	

Table 6 Behavioral tasks assessing signs and deficits in a nonhuman primate model of subarachnoid hemorrhage

damage to particular regions of cerebral cortex of the monkey to address neurobehavioral changes reported in patients after aSAH.

It seems that a slightly modified, by the additional removal of arachnoid from cortical surface, nonhuman primate model of cerebral vasospasm offers not only a possibility to apply a variety of sophisticated tasks to characterize specific cortical damage but also perhaps an advantage over other animal models by allowing clinical examination of important areas of the cortex that are shared with humans [55, 80] as well as the aSAH impact on the higher-order cognitive functions [78].

Conclusion and Study Limitations

For years, neurosurgeons have been focused on the neurological functionality of patients as a main measure of their success after treatment of intracranial aneurysms. But, for many patients these measures have been inadequate in the face of everyday life challenges. Several clinical studies and an individual experience have suggested that more precise and in-depth assessments of neurobehavioral changes are necessary [26]. A better understanding of the pathomechanism(s) of neurobehavioral changes should precede development of such new tools. To address this issue, we need to expand aSAH-related research beyond delayed vasospasm [40, 54] and include neurobehavioral testing to facilitate development of proper diagnostic and therapeutic tools, to separate and examine components of psychobehavioral changes evoked by aSAH, and to objectify neurobehavioral complaints of patients. Neurobehavioral testing of nonhuman primates after aSAH can provide the precision to distinguish between aSAH- and vasospasm-related neurobehavioral changes and become a reliable translational tool to develop appropriate treatments. However, several limitations of translating the experimental results to the patient population have to be recognized early and carefully addressed. These include the difficulty in separating early versus delayed effects of aSAH and the effects on vasospasm of surgical versus endovascular intervention. Although these limitations must be kept firmly in mind, research that uses animal models should continue to play a critical role in determining the effects aSAH has on the cognitive and behavioral functions of patients.

Acknowledgment This research was partially supported by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke at the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Andersen IL, Færevik G, Bøe KE, Janczak AM, Bakken M (2000) Effects of diazepam on the behaviour of weaned pigs in three putative models of anxiety. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 68:121–130
- Araujo J, Chan A, Winka L, Seymour P, Milgram N (2004) Dosespecific effects of scopolamine on canine cognition: impairment of visuospatial memory, but not visuospatial discrimination. Psychopharmacology 175:92–98
- Bailey K, Crawley J (2009) Anxiety-related behaviors in mice. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 77–101
- Bissonette GB, Martins GJ, Franz TM, Harper ES, Schoenbaum G, Powell E (2008) Double dissociation of the effects of medial and orbital prefrontal cortical lesions on attentional and affective shifts in mice. J Neurosci 28:11124–11130
- Boulougouris V, Tsaltas E (2008) Serotonergic and dopaminergic modulation of attentional processes. Prog Brain Res 172:517–542
- Bryan KJ, Lee HG, Perry G, Smith MA, Casadesus G (2009) Transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Behavioral testing and considerations. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 1–18
- Bushnell P, Strupp B (2009) Assessing attention in rodents. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 119–144
- Castagné V, Moser P, Porsolt R (2009) Behavioral assessment of antidepressant activity in rodents. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, p 102

- Chávez-Martínez ME, Reyes-Vázquez C, Brust-Carmona H (1987) Lever pressing and active avoidance conditioning after electrolytic lesions of the entopeduncular nucleus in cats. Brain Res Bull 18:279–284
- 10. Crawley J (2007) What's wrong with my mouse? Wiley, Hoboken
- Davydova E (1985) Changes in excitability in the motor cortex of the dog during switching-over conditioned escape and avoidance reflexes [In Russian]. Zhurnal Vyssheĭ Nervnoĭ Deiatelnosti Imeni I P Pavlova 35:668–673
- Döbrössy MD, Brooks S, Trueman R, Brasted P, Dunnett S (2008) Operant analysis of fronto-striatal function in rodents. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Methods of behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 215–246
- Dore FY, Fiset S, Goulet S, Dumas MC, Gagnon S (1996) Search behavior in cats and dogs: interspecific differences in working memory and spatial cognition. Anim Learn Behav 24:142–149
- 14. Dorsch N (2002) Therapeutic approaches to vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Curr Opin Crit Care 2002:128–133
- Espinosa F, Weir B, Overton T, Castor W, Grace M, Boisvert O (1984) A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind trial of nimodipine after SAH in monkeys. Part I: clinical and radiological findings. J Neurosurg 60:1167–1175
- 16. Fegley DB, Holmes A, Riordan T, Faber CA, Weiss JR, Ma S, Batkai S, Pacher P, Dobolyi A, Murphy A, Sleeman MW, Usdin T (2008) Increased fear- and stress-related anxiety-like behavior in mice lacking tuberoinfundibular peptide of 39 residues. Genes Brain Behav 7:933–942
- Fisher CM, Roberson GH, Ojemann RG (1977) Cerebral vasospasm with ruptured saccular aneurysm – the clinical manifestations. Neurosurgery 1:245–248
- Gade A (1982) Amnesia after operations on aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery. Surg Neurol 18:46–49
- Gazzaniga M, Ivry R, Mangun G (2008) Cognitive neuroscience. Norton, New York
- Genovesio A, Tsujimoto S, Wise S (2008) Encoding problemsolving strategies in prefrontal cortex: activity during strategic errors. Eur J Neurosci 27:984–990
- Hagl C, Weisz DJ, Khaladj N, Griepp MM, Spielvogel D, Yang BY, de Asla RA, Bodian CA, Griepp R (2005) Use of a maze to detect cognitive dysfunction in a porcine model of hypothermic circulatory arrest. Ann Thorac Surg 79:1307–1315
- Hammel DL, Kratzer DD, Bramble W (1975) Avoidance and maze learning in pigs. J Anim Sci 40:573–579
- Hayden BY, Heilbronner SR, Nair AC, Platt ML (2008) Cognitive influences on risk-seeking by rhesus macaques. Judgm Decis Mak 3:389–395
- Head E, Callahan H, Cummings BJ, Cotman CW, Ruehl WW, Muggenberg BA, Milgram N (1997) Open field activity and human interaction as a function of age and breed in dogs. Physiol Behav 62:963–971
- 25. Hutter B (2000) Neurobehavioral sequelae of subarchnoid hemorrhage and its treatment. Springer, New York
- Hutter BO, Gilsbach JM (1993) Which neuropsychological deficits are hidden behind a good outcome (Glasgow=I) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage? Neurosurgery 33:999–1005; discussion 1005–1006
- Izquierdo A, Suda RK, Murray EA (2005) Comparison of the effects of bilateral orbital prefrontal cortex lesions and amygdala lesions on emotional responses in rhesus monkeys. J Neurosci 25:8534–8542
- Jansen J, Bolhuis JE, Schouten WG, Spruijt BM, Wiegant V (2009) Spatial learning in pigs: effects of environmental enrichment and individual characteristics on behaviour and performance. Anim Cogn 12:303–315
- Jeon H, Ai J, Sabri M, Tariq A, Shang X, Chen G, Macdonald R (2009) Neurological and neurobehavioral assessment of experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. BMC Neurosci 10:103

231

- Juvela S, Porras M, Poussa K (2000) Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: probability of and risk factors for aneurysm rupture. J Neurosurg 93:379–387
- Kralik JD (2005) Inhibitory control and response selection in problem solving: how cotton-top tamarins (*Saguinus oedipus*) overcome a bias for selecting the larger quantity of food. J Comp Psychol 119:78–89
- 32. Kreitschmann-Andermahr I, Poll E, Hutter BO, Reineke A, Kristes S, Gilsbach JM, Saller B (2007) Quality of life and psychiatric sequelae following aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: does neuroendocrine dysfunction play a role? Clin Endocrinol 66:833–837
- Lapiz-Bluhm MDS, Bondi CO, Doyen J, Rodriguez GA, B-A T, Morilak D (2008) Behavioural assays to model cognitive and affective dimensions of depression and anxiety in rats. J Neuroendocrinol 20:1115–1137
- Larsson C, Ronnberg J, Forssell A, Nilsson LG, Lindberg M, Angquist KA (1989) Verbal memory function after subarachnoid haemorrhage determined by the localisation of the ruptured aneurysm. Br J Neurosurg 3:549–560
- Lebedev MA, Messinger A, Kralik JD, Wise SP (2004) Representation of attended versus remembered locations in prefrontal cortex. PLoS Biol 2:e365
- LeRoux P, Elliott J, Eskridge J et al (1998) Risks and benefits of diagnostic angiography after aneurysm surgery: a restrospective analysis of 597 studies. Neurosurgery 42:1248–1255
- Levine MS, Lloyd RL, Fisher RS, Hull CD, Buchwald N (1987) Sensory, motor and cognitive alterations in aged cats. Neurobiol Aging 8:253–263
- Lindema S, Gernet M, Bennay M, Koch M, Löscher W (2008) Comparative analysis of anxiety-like behaviors and sensorimotor functions in two rat mutants, ci2 and ci3, with lateralized rotational behavior. Physiol Behav 93:417–426
- Logothetis J, Karacostas D, Karoutas G, Artemis N, Mansouri A, Milonas I (1983) A new model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in experimental animals with the purpose to examine cerebral vasospasm. Exp Neurol 81:257–278
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 3:256–263
- Marchei P, Diverio S, Falocci N, Fatjó J, Ruiz-de-la-Torre JL, Manteca X (2009) Breed differences in behavioural development in kittens. Physiol Behav 96:522–531
- Mayberg M, Okada T, Bark D (1990) The role of hemoglobin in arterial narrowing after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 72:634–640
- McVea D, Pearson K (2007) Contextual learning and obstacle memory in the walking cat. Integrative and Comparative Biology 47:457–464
- Megyesi JF, Vollrath B, Cook DA, Findlay JM (2000) In vivo animal models of cerebral vasospasm: a review. Neurosurgery 46:448–460; discussion 460–461
- 45. Mercier P, Le Gall D, Aubin G, Joseph PA, Alhayek G, Guy G (1991) Value of the neuropsychological evaluation in cerebral arterial aneurysms surgically treated. Neurochirurgie 37:32–39
- Metz G, Kolb B, Whishaw I (2005) Neurophysiological tests. In: Whishaw I, Kolb B (eds) The behavior of the laboratory rat. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 475–498
- Miller HC, Rayburn-Reeves R, Zentall T (2009) What do dogs know about hidden objects? Behav Processes 81:439–446
- Nielsen TR, Kornum BR, Moustgaard A, Gade A, Lind NM, Knudsen G (2009) A novel spatial delayed non-match to sample (DNMS) task in the Göttingen minipig. Behav Brain Res 196:93–98
- Ogden J, Mee E, Hanning M (1993) A prospective study of impairment of cognition and memory and recovery after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 33:572–587

- Okujava V, Natishvili T, Mishkin M, Gurashvili T, Chipashvili S, Bagashvili T, Andronikashvil G, Kvernadze G (2005) One-trial visual recognition in cats. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 65:205–211
- Osthaus B, Lea SE, Slater A (2005) Dogs (Canis lupus familiaris) fail to show understanding of means-end connections in a stringpulling task. Anim Cogn 8:37–47
- Parra A, McGirt MJ, Sheng H, Laskowitz DT, Pearlstein RD, Warner DS (2002) Mouse model of subarachnoid hemorrhage associated cerebral vasospasm: methodological analysis. Neurol Res 24:510–516
- Payne B, Rushmore R (2004) Functional circuitry underlying natural and interventional cancellation of visual neglect. Exp Brain Res 154:127–153
- 54. Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, Leroux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Preuss T (1995) Do rats have a prefrontal cortex the Rose-Woolsey-Akert program reconsidered. J Cogn Neurosci 7:1–24
- Prunell G, Mathiesen T, Svendgaard NA (2002) A new experimental model in rats for study of the pathophysiology of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neuroreport 13:2553–2556
- Reep R, Corwin J (2009) Posterior parietal cortex as part of a neural network for directed attention in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 91:104–113
- Richardson J (1989) Performance in free recall following rupture and repair of intracranial aneurysm. Brain Cogn 9:210–226
- Rosenwasser R, Delgado T, Buchheit W, Freed M (1983) Control of hypertension and prophylaxis against vasospasm in case of subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary report. Neurosurgery 12:658–661
- Save E, Poucet B (2005) Piloting. In: Buccafusco J (ed) The behavior of the laboratory rat. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 392–400
- Sayama CM, Liu JK, Couldwell WT (2006) Update on endovascular therapies for cerebral vasospasm induced by aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg Focus 21:E12
- 62. Schatlo B, Dreier JP, Glasker S, Fathi AR, Moncrief T, Oldfield EH, Vortmeyer AO, Pluta RM (2010) Report of selective cortical infarcts in the primate clot model of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 67:721–728
- 63. Siegford JM, Rucker G, Zanella A (2008) Effects of pre-weaning exposure to a maze on stress responses in pigs at weaning and on subsequent performance in spatial and fear-related tests. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 110:189–202
- 64. Steimer T, Escorihuela RM, Fernandez-Teruel A, Driscoll P (1998) Long-term behavioural and neuroendocrine changes in Roman high-(RHA/Verh) and low-(RLA-Verh) avoidance rats following neonatal handling. Int J Dev Neurosci 16:165–174
- 65. Stenhouse LM, Knight RG, Longmore BE, Bishara SN (1991) Long-term cognitive deficits in patients after surgery on aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 54:909–914
- Suarez J, Tarr R, Selman W (2005) Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med 354:387–396
- Sunyer B, Patil S, Hoger H, Lubec G (2007) Barnes maze, a useful task to assess spatial reference memory in the mice. Nat Protoc 390:10–38
- Teissier du Cros J, Lhermitte F (1984) Neuropsychological analysis of ruptured saccular aneurysms of the anterior communicating artery after radical therapy (32 cases). Surg Neurol 22:353–359
- Terry A (2009) Spatial navigation (water maze) tasks. In: Buccafusco J (ed) Behavior analysis in neuroscience. CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, pp 267–280

- Tidswell P, Dias PS, Sagar HJ, Mayes AR, Battersby RD (1995) Cognitive outcome after aneurysm rupture: relationship to aneurysm site and perioperative complications. Neurology 45:875–882
- Titova E, Ostrowski R, Zhang J, Tang J (2009) Experimental models of subarachnoid hemorrhage for studies of cerebral vasospasm. Neurol Res 31:568–581
- Treggiari-Venzi M, Suter P, Romand J-A (2001) Review of medical prevention of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a problem of neurointensive care. Neurosurgery 48:249–262
- 73. Trojanowski T (1984) Early effects of experimental arterial subarachnoid haemorrhage on the cerebral circulation. Part II: regional cerebral blood flow and cerebral microcirculation after experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir 72:241–259
- van Gijin J, Rinkel G (2001) Subarachnoid haemorrhage: diagnosis, causes, and management. Brain 124:249–278
- 75. Vilkki J, Holst P, Ohman J, Servo A, Heiskanen O (1990) Social outcome related to cognitive performance and computed tomo-

graphic findings after surgery for a ruptured intracranial aneurysm. Neurosurgery 26:579–584; discussion 584–585

- Wallis JD, Anderson KC, Miller EK (2001) Single neurons in prefrontal cortex encode abstract rules. Nature 411:953–956
- 77. Weed MR, Bryant R, Perry S (2008) Cognitive development in macaques: attentional set-shifting in juvenile and adult rhesus monkeys. Neuroscience 157:22–28
- Weed MR, Taffe MA, Polis I, Roberts AC, Robbins TW, Koob GF, Bloom FE, Gold LH (1999) Performance norms for a rhesus monkey neuropsychological testing battery: acquisition and long-term performance. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 8:185–201
- Wilkins R, Levitt P (1970) Intracranial arterial spasm in the dog: a chronic experimental model. J Neurosurg 33:260–269
- Wise S (2008) Forward frontal fields: phylogeny and fundamental function. Trends Neurosci 31:599–608
- Zhou ML, Shi JX, Zhu JQ, Hang CH, Mao L, K-F C, H-X Y (2007) Comparison between one- and two-hemorrhage models of cerebral vasospasm in rabbits. J Neurosci Methods 159:318–324

Inflammation in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Delayed Deterioration Associated with Vasospasm: A Review

J. Javier Provencio

Abstract Delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), (often called vasospasm) continues to be both a difficult entity to treat and a leading cause of morbidity in patients. Until recently, attention was focused on alleviating the vascular spasm. Recent evidence shows that vascular spasm may not account for all the morbidity of DDAV. There is renewed interest in looking for other potential targets for therapy. Inflammation has become a promising area of research for new treatments. This review explores the evidence that inflammation is a driver of DDAV by asking three questions: (1) If inflammation is important in the pathogenesis of the disease, what part or parts of the inflammatory response are involved? (2) When does inflammation occur in SAH? (3) In what compartment of the skull does the inflammation occur, the cerebrospinal fluid and meninges, the cerebral arteries, or the brain itself?

Keywords Inflammation • Delayed cerebral vasospasm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Neutrophils

Introduction

Delayed neurological deterioration after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) was initially described before the advent of cerebral angiography. After the development of cerebral angiography, the association with cerebral vasospasm became apparent, prompting researchers to focus on reversal of the vascular spasm. Results of trials using the calcium channel blocker nicardipine and the endothelin-1 antagonist clazosentan revealed an unexpected finding: The cerebral

Department of Neurology, Neuroinflammation Research and Cerebrovascular Centers, Cleveland Clinic, NC30, 9500 Euclid Avenue, Cleveland, OH 44195, USA e-mail: provenj@ccf.org vasculature can be dilated without improvement in patient outcomes [17, 28]. Recently, there have been a number of investigators who have questioned whether vascular constriction is associated with *all* the morbidity of the syndrome [10, 20, 39, 52]. Over the last 15 years, a number of laboratories have investigated the inflammatory underpinnings of both vascular constriction and the brain damage associated with SAH.

The names associated with delayed neurological deterioration after SAH have been a source of confusion. Over the years, the terms delayed cerebral vasospasm (DCV), delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DIND), and delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) have all been employed to describe the syndrome. Unfortunately, all of these names assume that the cause of damage is due to vasospasm or ischemia. The studies of nicardipine and clazosentan would suggest that other mechanisms might be at play [17, 28]. The ideal name should both appreciate the association with vasospasm and not make assumptions about the cause of damage. I favor the name delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) as it meets both criteria and keeps open the possibility that forces other than ischemia, such as inflammation, may play a role. In this review, I use DDAV to describe the syndrome of delayed deterioration and vasospasm to denote specifically changes in vessel caliber.

This review asks a series of questions about the possible role of inflammation in DDAV. I describe the research to date that supports the answers to the specific questions.

What Type of Inflammation Is Associated with DDAV?

The study of inflammation in SAH dates back more than 30 years with the finding that early elevations in white blood cell (WBC) cell counts are associated with the later development of vasospasm [29, 31, 35, 37]. A number of studies have investigated inflammation by examining cytokine levels

J.J. Provencio, M.D.

in blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in patients with SAH. In addition, there have been a number of interesting animal studies that have suggested the involvement of the inflammatory system in DDAV.

We must first define what inflammation is in the context of SAH. The term *inflammation* very broadly describes a local response to tissue injury that is marked by a number of specific events: increased capillary permeability and fluid extravasation into the tissue, leukocyte infiltration, and the four cardinal signs described by Celsus over 2,000 years ago of tumor, calor, rubor, and dolor. Inflammation is the final common pathway of processes directed by the immune system.

The immune system is a complex and tightly regulated system of effectors against external pathogens *and* endogenous tissue damage. It can be broadly divided into two component parts, the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. It is out of the scope of this review to discuss the intricacies of the two systems, but a good review was published in 2000 [8]. Although the immune system functions both to attack external pathogens and to mitigate internal cell malfunctions, the role of immunity against external pathogens has been better studied.

The innate immune system is the first line of defense against external pathogens that includes processes from the skin (preventing entry of foreign pathogens) to marrow-derived innate immune cells that form the first responder corps against bacteria and viruses. In infection, the innate cell response, which consists mainly of neutrophils (also macrophages, natural killer cells, and monocytes) enters an infected tissue and nonspecifically releases tissue-destroying enzymes and reactive oxygen species. The signals to which innate immune cells respond were originally thought to be due to recognition of self versus nonself. This theory has been largely replaced by a newer theory that is supported by evidence that neutrophils respond to specific danger signals called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that can be either from pathogens or from release of intracellular contents when a cell is damaged or cancerous [1]. When presented these signals, innate cells destroy the tissue and send signals to the adaptive immune system to develop a more specific response.

The adaptive immune system is a well-regulated set of processes that has as its end product a very specific response to a specific organism (or tissue). T cells and B cells are able to develop a specific response to cellular elements of an external pathogen by selection and clonal expansion. This response takes longer to develop than the innate system but has long-lasting effects, including immunity against pathogens years after initial exposure. The process of regulation of adaptive immunity is based on communication between antigen-presenting cells in the lymph nodes and naïve lymphocytes with signaling from numerous cytokines.

Given the time that it takes DDAV to develop, one would suspect that the actor in inflammation would be the adaptive immune system (Fig. 1). Interestingly, there is mounting evidence in other critical illness-associated injuries that suggests that in a noninfected environment, the innate immune system can have actions that are longer lasting than in infection [48, 51]. Research from our laboratory suggested that neutrophils are associated with vasospasm in patients with SAH [46]. This is consistent with studies done in animal models that suggested that interfering with the mechanism of neutrophil signaling or availability ameliorated vasospasm. Studies from the laboratory of Tamargo and colleagues have shown that blocking the CD11b/CD18 complex (the cell surface ligand on myeloid cells that pairs with intercellular adhesion molecule 1 [ICAM-1] for trafficking out of the bloodstream) prevents vasospasm [5]. Ma and colleagues have shown that there is evidence of signaling of the largely neutrophil-associated Tolllike receptor 4 in the brain after SAH [27]. Minami and colleagues also found evidence of neutrophil interaction with basilar artery interstitium after SAH associated with vasospasm [33]. The laboratory of Zhang and colleagues has been investigating early inflammation after SAH and its implications for vasospasm. They have found that administration of L-arginine decreases early inflammation after SAH [57]. L-Arginine is the substrate for NADPH oxidase, a neutrophil enzyme. This is evidence that innate mechanisms are active early after SAH.

There is little evidence from sampled CSF in patients with SAH that adaptive immune system cells (T cells and B cells) are associated with DDAV, although definitive investigation of this is lacking (Provencio, unpublished data). There is some conflicting data in the field that decrease our certainty that innate immunity has a definite role. A study from patients with SAH who had surgical clipping showed that levels of interleukin (IL) 1 β but not tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α were increased and correlated with the later development of vasospasm [34]. If the innate immune system were the driver, one would expect that both IL-1 β and TNF- α would correlate to vasospasm. A study by Oruckaptan and colleagues in Turkey found no role for neutrophils or myeloperoxidase (MPO, a neutrophil-derived effector enzyme [38]). Although there were methodological issues that call into question the results of this study, replication of this study has not been published to my knowledge. These few contradictory studies do not dissuade my enthusiasm for inflammation as a reasonable area of research in SAH.

When Does Inflammation Occur That Leads to Delayed Deterioration Associated with Vasospasm?

One of the most tantalizing prospects for treatment of DDAV is its occurrence often a week after the onset of SAH. With so much time between ictus and onset of symptoms, it is hoped that treatments can be implemented in this window. The

235



Fig. 1 Depiction of possible instigators, actors, and effectors of inflammation that could contribute to both vascular changes and poor outcomes in patients with delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) after aneurysmal SAH

important question that arises is whether the processes that lead to DDAV and cerebral vasospasm develop at the time of clinical presentation or are the end product of a process that begins at the time of SAH and takes time to develop clinically.

Evidence from studies of early inflammation after SAH suggests that inflammatory processes begin early. Zhang and

colleagues have shown that vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) are upregulated early after experimental SAH [9]. Both are associated with innate inflammatory responses. Likewise, McGirt, Laskowitz, and colleagues found that in patients with SAH, early, elevated levels of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) and VEGF were associated with vasospasm [30]. An interesting study by Clatterbuck and colleagues showed that inhibition of lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) within 3 h of the hemorrhage prevents vasospasm of isolated femoral arteries, suggesting that the process of inflammation occurs very early in the course of SAH [6]. In our laboratory, we have found that neutrophils are elevated in the first 3 days after SAH, days before the onset of clinical symptoms or evidence of vasospasm [46]. In a mouse model of vasospasm, depletion of myeloid cells (neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages) prior to SAH prevents both the vascular manifestations of DDAV and the behavioral deficits [45].

Where Does the Inflammation Occur?

There are three possible sites of inflammation after SAH as it pertains to DDAV: the meninges and CSF space, the brain, and the cerebral arteries. It is possible that more than one compartment is affected in the process. Studies investigating the different compartments are lacking. One of the strongest criticisms of inflammation as a driver for vasospasm and DDAV is that there is not as robust a meningeal reaction to spilled blood in the CSF space as in bacterial meningitis, which is less associated with this syndrome. It is important to reiterate the caution that innate inflammatory responses in infected tissues appear to differ from those responses in sterile environments.

Work in our laboratory and others have suggested that inflammation does occur in the CSF of patients with SAH, although not to the extent seen in meningitis [13, 21, 25, 36, 43, 46, 54]. Whether the inflammatory cells cause permanent cerebral damage is still unclear.

Damage to the blood vessels is the most studied of the inflammatory pathways. There is evidence of inflammation in blood vessels after SAH associated with vasospasm [55, 57]. Inflammatory cell infiltration of vascular intima has been described [7, 22, 42]. Tamargo and colleagues described inflammation in blood vessels in conceptual terms as the "leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction" [14]. This was supported by a number of studies that reported endothelial dysfunction in animal models of vasospasm [18, 23, 26].

Inflammation of the brain directly causing both the vascular syndrome of vasospasm and the clinical syndrome of delayed deterioration is possible based on the data but is a sobering finding because the process seems to occur extremely early after SAH, obliterating the window-of-treatment theory that is integral to our optimism for a cure (see the work of Sehba, Pluta, and Zhang for an informative review [50]). A number of studies suggested that early inflammation leads to poor outcome after SAH [55, 56, 58]. The innate brain inflammatory cell most likely to participate in early brain inflammation is the microglial cell. Results from our laboratory showed that microglial activation in the first day of SAH in a murine model histologically correlated well with the presence of later vasospasm and behavioral deficits [45]. It is still unclear if microglia direct the inflammation from the brain or respond to outside influences. In brain trauma, microglia seem to play an important and direct role in the inflammation [11, 12, 16].

What Are the Drivers of Inflammation?

It is well recognized that where there is cerebral ischemia, there is brain inflammation. The question at the root of DDAV is whether inflammation is the mechanism of cell injury in SAH or whether other factors directly or indirectly (through vasoconstriction and stroke) lead to poor outcomes in patients. There are a number of putative agents that have been proposed to cause vasospasm and (by assumption) DDAV because most studies have not looked at long-term outcome from DDAV. The studies of clazosentan and nicardipine warned that the assumption that vasospasm and outcome are tightly linked may be faulty [17, 28].

Early studies of vasospasm focused on hemoglobin and oxyhemoglobin as the causative agents [41]. Two correlates of this theory are that blood breakdown produces either (1) bilirubin oxidation products (BOXs) that lead to damage or (2) free hemoglobin, which is a sump for nitric oxide, which leads to spasm based on relative overexpression of endothelin-1 [3, 4, 40, 41, 44, 47, 49]. There are number of genetic allele variants that seem to be important in the risk for the development of vasospasm in humans. They include the apolipoprotein E4 (ApoE4) and the haptoglobin $\alpha 2/\alpha 2$ genotype and are thought to code for products that alter the risk of vasopasm [2, 15, 24, 32]. Finally, other blood cell components, such as platelets, have been postulated to lead to direct damage to blood vessels and the cause of vasospasm [19, 53].

It is possible that all of these mediators are actually early triggers for inflammation in the brain, the blood vessels, or the meninges. It has been postulated for a number of the mentioned entities that inflammation may be the mechanism of injury.

Conclusion

A great deal of work is left to resolve whether inflammation is a driver of DDAV or a consequence of the ischemia that results from vasospasm. The failure of vasodilators to improve patient outcome despite improving vascular constriction suggests that investigating other possible entities is warranted. Inflammation seems the most probable nonvascular research avenue to pursue. In the next few years, I look forward to new studies and mechanistic evaluations of inflammation in SAH based on the three questions discussed here. When we know what cells, when, and in what compartment of the cranium inflammation acts, it is hoped we will be able to develop rational treatment strategies.

Acknowledgment I would like to acknowledge David Schumick for developing the illustration.

Financial Disclosure This work was supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health (K08-NS051350 J.J.P.) and the Cleveland Clinic Cerebrovascular Center (Institutional Support J.J.P.).

Conflicts of Interest Statement I declare that I have no conflict of interest.

References

- Bianchi ME (2007) DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol 81:1–5
- Chaichana KL, Levy AP, Miller-Lotan R, Shakur S, Tamargo RJ (2007) Haptoglobin 2–2 genotype determines chronic vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 38: 3266–3271
- Clark JF, Reilly M, Sharp FR (2002) Oxidation of bilirubin produces compounds that cause prolonged vasospasm of rat cerebral vessels: a contributor to subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced vasospasm. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22:472–478
- Clark JF, Sharp FR (2006) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) and their role in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1223–1233
- Clatterbuck RE, Gailloud P, Ogata L, Gebremariam A, Dietsch GN, Murphy KJ, Tamargo RJ (2003) Prevention of cerebral vasospasm by a humanized anti-CD11/CD18 monoclonal antibody administered after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in nonhuman primates. J Neurosurg 99:376–382
- Clatterbuck RE, Oshiro EM, Hoffman PA, Dietsch GN, Pardoll DM, Tamargo RJ (2002) Inhibition of vasospasm with lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 monoclonal antibody in a femoral artery model in rats. J Neurosurg 97:676–682
- Crompton MR (1964) The pathogenesis of cerebral infarction following the rupture of cerebral berry aneurysms. Brain 87:491–510
- Delves PJ, Roitt IM (2000) The immune system. N Engl J Med 343:37–49
- Eiserich JP, Baldus S, Brennan ML, Ma W, Zhang C, Tousson A, Castro L, Lusis AJ, Nauseef WM, White CR, Freeman BA (2002) Myeloperoxidase, a leukocyte-derived vascular NO oxidase. Science 296:2391–2394
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1443–1451
- Eugenin EA, Eckardt D, Theis M, Willecke K, Bennett MV, Saez JC (2001) Microglia at brain stab wounds express connexin 43 and in vitro form functional gap junctions after treatment with interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:4190–4195

- Fassbender K, Schneider S, Bertsch T, Schlueter D, Fatar M, Ragoschke A, Kuhl S, Kischka U, Hennerici M (2000) Temporal profile of release of interleukin-1beta in neurotrauma. Neurosci Lett 284:135–138
- Gaetani P, Tartara F, Pignatti P, Tancioni F, Rodriguez y Baena R, De Benedetti F (1998) Cisternal CSF levels of cytokines after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 20:337–342
- Gallia GL, Tamargo RJ (2006) Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in chronic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28:750–758
- Gao J, Wang H, Sheng H, Lynch JR, Warner DS, Durham L, Vitek MP, Laskowitz DT (2006) A novel apoE-derived therapeutic reduces vasospasm and improves outcome in a murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 4:25–31
- Gentleman SM, Leclercq PD, Moyes L, Graham DI, Smith C, Griffin WST, Nicoll JAR (2004) Long-term intracerebral inflammatory response after traumatic brain injury. Forensic Sci Int 146:97–104
- Haley EC Jr, Kassell NF, Torner JC, Truskowski LL, Germanson TP (1994) A randomized trial of two doses of nicardipine in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A report of the Cooperative Aneurysm Study. J Neurosurg 80:788–796
- Handa Y, Kabuto M, Kobayashi H, Kawano H, Takeuchi H, Hayashi M (1991) The correlation between immunological reaction in the arterial wall and the time course of the development of cerebral vasospasm in a primate model. Neurosurgery 28:542–549
- Hansen-Schwartz J (2004) Cerebral vasospasm: a consideration of the various cellular mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology. Neurocrit Care 1:235–246
- Hansen-Schwartz J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm: looking beyond vasoconstriction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:252–256
- Hendryk S, Jarzab B, Josko J (2004) Increase of the IL-1 beta and IL-6 levels in CSF in patients with vasospasm following aneurysmal SAH. Neuroendocrinol Lett 25:141–147
- Hughes JT, Schianchi PM (1978) Cerebral artery spasm. A histological study at necropsy of the blood vessels in cases of subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 48:515–525
- Iuliano BA, Pluta RM, Jung C, Oldfield EH (2004) Endothelial dysfunction in a primate model of cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosurg 100:287–294
- Khurana VG, Fox DJ, Meissner I, Meyer FB, Spetzler RF (2006) Update on evidence for a genetic predisposition to cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurg Focus 21:E3
- Kikuchi T, Okuda Y, Kaito N, Abe T (1995) Cytokine production in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Neurol Res 17:106–108
- Kwan AL, Solenski NJ, Kassell NF, Lee KS (1997) Inhibition of nitric oxide generation and lipid peroxidation attenuates hemolysate-induced injury to cerebrovascular endothelium. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 139:240–247
- Ma CX, Yin WN, Cai BW, Wu J, Wang JY, He M, Sun H, Ding JL, You C (2009) Toll-like receptor 4/nuclear factor-kappa B signaling detected in brain after early subarachnoid hemorrhage. Chin Med J (Engl) 122:1575–1581
- Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, Frey A, Roux S, Pasqualin A, CONSCIOUS-1 Investigators (2008) Clazosentan to Overcome Neurological Ischemia and Infarction Occurring After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. Stroke 39:3015–3021
- Maiuri F, Gallicchio B, Donati P, Carandente M (1987) The blood leukocyte count and its prognostic significance in subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg Sci 31:45–48
- 30. McGirt MJ, Lynch JR, Blessing R, Warner DS, Friedman AH, Laskowitz DT (2002) Serum von Willebrand factor, matrix

metalloproteinase-9, and vascular endothelial growth factor levels predict the onset of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 51:1128–1134

- McGirt MJ, Mavropoulos JC, McGirt LY, Alexander MJ, Friedman AH, Laskowitz DT, Lynch JR (2003) Leukocytosis as an independent risk factor for cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 98:1222–1226
- 32. Mesis RG, Wang H, Lombard FW, Yates R, Vitek MP, Borel CO, Warner DS, Laskowitz DT (2006) Dissociation between vasospasm and functional improvement in a murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurg Focus 21:E4
- Minami N, Tani E, Yokota M, Maeda Y, Yamaura I (1991) Immunohistochemistry of leukotriene C4 in experimental cerebral vasospasm. Acta Neuropathol 81:401–407
- 34. Nam DH, Kim JS, Hong SC, Lee WH, Lee JI, Shin HJ, Park K, Eoh W, Han DH, Kim JH (2001) Expression of interleukin-1 beta in lipopolysaccharide stimulated monocytes derived from patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is correlated with cerebral vasospasm. Neurosci Lett 312:41–44
- Neil-Dwyer G, Cruickshank J (1974) The blood leucocyte count and its prognostic significance in subarachnoid haemorrhage. Brain 97:79–86
- 36. Ng WH, Moochhala S, Yeo TT, Ong PL, Ng PY (2001) Nitric oxide and subarachnoid hemorrhage: elevated level in cerebrospinal fluid and their implications. Neurosurgery 49:622–626
- Niikawa S, Hara S, Ohe N, Miwa Y, Ohkuma A (1997) Correlation between blood parameters and symptomatic vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients. Neurol Med Chir 37:881–884
- Oruckaptan HH, Caner HH, Kilinc K, Ozgen T (2000) No apparent role for neutrophils and neutrophil-derived myeloperoxidase in experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage and vasospasm: a preliminary study. Acta Neurochir 142:83–90
- Pellettieri L, Carlson CA, Lindholm L (1981) Is the vasospasm following subarachnoidal hemorrhage an immunoreactive disease? Experientia 37:1170–1171
- Pluta RM, Oldfield EH (2006) Sodium nitrite as a therapeutic agent for central nervous system diseases. Surg Neurol 66:5–7
- Pluta RM, Thompson BG, Afshar JK, Boock RJ, Iuliano B, Oldfield EH (2001) Nitric oxide and vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:67–72
- Pluta RM, Zauner A, Morgan JK, Muraszko KM, Oldfield EH (1992) Is vasospasm related to proliferative arteriopathy? J Neurosurg 77:740–748
- 43. Polin RS, Bavbek M, Shaffrey ME, Billups K, Bogaev CA, Kassell NF, Lee KS (1998) Detection of soluble E-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and L-selectin in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg 89:559–567
- 44. Pradilla G, Thai QA, Legnani FG, Hsu W, Kretzer RM, Wang PP, Tamargo RJ (2004) Delayed intracranial delivery of a nitric oxide donor from a controlled-release polymer prevents experimental cerebral vasospasm in rabbits. Neurosurgery 55:1393–1399
- Provencio JJ, Altay T, Smithason S, Moore SK, Ransohoff RM (2011) Depletion of Ly6G/C(+) cells ameliorates delayed cerebral

vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neuroimmunol 232:94-100

- 46. Provencio JJ, Fu X, Siu A, Rasmussen PA, Hazen SL, Ransohoff RM (2010) CSF neutrophils are implicated in the development of vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 12:244–251
- 47. Pyne-Geithman GJ, Morgan CJ, Wagner K, Dulaney EM, Carrozzella J, Kanter DS, Zuccarello M, Clark JF (2005) Bilirubin production and oxidation in CSF of patients with cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25:1070–1077
- Roy A, Rozanov C, Mokashi A, Daudu P, Al-mehdi AB, Shams H, Lahiri S (2000) Mice lacking in gp91 phox subunit of NAD(P)H oxidase showed glomus cell [Ca(2+)](i) and respiratory responses to hypoxia. Brain Res 872:188–193
- Sabri M, Ai J, Macdonald RL (2011) Nitric oxide related pathophysiological changes following subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl 110:105–109
- Sehba FA, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2011) Metamorphosis of subarachnoid hemorrhage research: from delayed vasospasm to early brain injury. Mol Neurobiol 43:27–40
- 51. Sela S, Shurtz-Swirski R, Awad J, Shapiro G, Nasser L, Shasha SM, Kristal B (2002) The involvement of peripheral polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the oxidative stress and inflammation among cigarette smokers. Isr Med Assoc J 4:1015–1019
- 52. Stein SC, Levine JM, Nagpal S, LeRoux PD (2006) Vasospasm as the sole cause of cerebral ischemia: how strong is the evidence? Neurosurg Focus 21:E2
- 53. Tekkok IH, Tekkok S, Ozcan OE, Erbengi T, Erbengi A (1994) Preventive effect of intracisternal heparin for proliferative angiopathy after experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage in rats. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 127:112–117
- Vieweg U, Schramm J, Urbach H (1999) Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-AB) like immune reactivity in serum and in cerebral spinal fluid following experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage in dogs. Acta Neurochir 141:861–865
- Wang L, Shi JX, Yin HX, Ma CY, Zhang QR (2005) The influence of subarachnoid hemorrhage on neurons: an animal model. Ann Clin Lab Sci 35:79–85
- Yamaguchi M, Zhou C, Nanda A, Zhang JH (2004) Ras protein contributes to cerebral vasospasm in a canine double-hemorrhage model. Stroke 35:1750–1755
- 57. Yang MF, Sun BL, Xia ZL, Zhu LZ, Qiu PM, Zhang SM (2003) Alleviation of brain edema by L-arginine following experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage in a rat model. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 29:437–443
- Yatsushige H, Yamaguchi M, Zhou C, Calvert JW, Zhang JH, Yatsushige H, Yamaguchi M, Zhou C, Calvert JW, Zhang JH (2005) Role of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in cerebral vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 36:1538–1543

Attenuation of Cerebral Vasospasm Following Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage by the Bronchodilator KMUP-3

William Winardi, Chih-Jen Wang, Chih-Lung Lin, Shu-Chuan Wu, Hung-Pei Tsai, Yen-Hsin Kuo, Ming-Yen Lee, Ing-Jun Chen, and Aij-Lie Kwan

Abstract Delayed cerebral vasospasm is a main cause of morbidity and mortality as well as poor outcome in patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). In this study, the effect of the bronchodilator KMUP-3 (7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine) on basilar artery narrowing, neurological outcome, and expression of rhoA/rho kinase II (ROCKII), rhoA, and protein kinase C (PKC) γ proteins were evaluated in a rat model of SAH. SAH was induced by double injection of autologous blood into the cistern magna on days 0 and 3. KMUP-3 was administered (0.3 mg/kg/day) by osmotic minipumps implanted subcutaneously (beginning day –3 in pretreatment group and at 1 h after the initiation of the first autologous blood injection

W. Winardi Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

C.J. Wang and A.-L. Kwan (⊠)
Department of Neurosurgery,
Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital,
100 Shih-Chuan First Road,
Kaohsiung, Taiwan, R.O.C

College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, R.O.C e-mail: a_lkwan@yahoo.com

C.-L. Lin Department of Neurosurgery, Chang Gung University and Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kweishan, Taiwan, R.O.C

S.-C. WuDepartment of Neurosurgery,Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital,100 Shih-Chuan First Road, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, R.O.C

H.-P. Tsai, Y.-H. Kuo, and M.-Y. Lee College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, R.O.C

I.-J. Chen College of Medicine, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, R.O.C

Department of Pharmacology, Kaohsiung Medical University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, China in the treatment group). Neurological outcome was assessed by ambulation and placing/stepping reflex responses at 48 h after the second injection of autologous blood. Tissue morphology and protein expression were conducted on day 7 postday 0 injection. Both KMUP-3 treatment regimens significantly improved neurological outcome and completely attenuated basilar artery narrowing as well as reduced the enhancement of ROCKII, rhoA, and PKC γ protein expression in rats subjected to SAH, compared with normal and untreated SAH rats. These results suggest that KMUP-3 may be a novel agent for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm following SAH.

Keywords KMUP-3 • Bronchodilator • Cerebral vasospasm • Experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

Delayed cerebral vasospasm has been recognized as the main cause of morbidity and mortality as well as poor outcome in patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [6, 14]. Despite advancement in various technologies and treatments used for the management of this devastating condition, current therapies are still considered inadequate [1, 13], and extensive preclinical studies have been conducted to search for new mechanisms/medications for more effective control of the problem. These efforts have led to the identification of key factors involved in the pathogenesis of delayed arterial narrowing, exemplified by excessive productions of oxyhemoglobin as well as the vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 (ET-1) and defective generation of the vasodilator nitric oxide (NO) [15]. Consequently, compounds such as ET-1 receptor antagonists, endothelin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and agents that potentiate the levels of NO have all been shown to have beneficial effects for limiting delayed cerebral vasospasm in preclinical animal models and humans [3, 8, 10, 18].

It has been found that oxyhemoglobin-induced contraction of cerebrovascular smooth muscle is modulated by ET-1 via the protein kinase C (PKC) and rhoA/rho kinase (ROCK) pathways [9]. RhoA belongs to a family of small G proteins that play an important role in intracellular signaling [2, 16]. On stimulation by vasoactive agents, rhoA interacts with its downstream effectors such as ROCK to elicit vasoconstrictive effects. The involvement of ROCK in cerebral vasospasm following SAH has been supported by several studies [4, 17]. KMUP-3 (7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine) is a bronchodilator, and it inhibits the tumor necrosis factor-a-induced tracheal contraction in the rat by increasing the endogenous NO release and activating the cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)/ protein kinase G (PKG) pathway [11]. The purpose of the present study was to evaluate the effect of KMUP-3 on cerebral vasospasm induced in a rat model of double SAH. Hemodynamic parameters, morphology of the basilar artery, and neurological outcome after treatment with KMUP-3 were assessed. Furthermore, the effect of KMUP-3 on the expression of ROCKII, rhoA, and PKCy proteins in the basilar artery of rats subjected to SAH were also examined.

Materials and Methods

Materials

Male Sprague–Dawley rats weighing 250–300 g were purchased from National Animal Center, Taiwan. Antimouse ROCKII, antimouse rhoA, antimouse PKCγ, and horseradish peroxidase-labeled goat antimouse immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies were products of Upstate Biotech (Lake Placid, NY, USA), Santa Cruz Biotech (Santa Cruz, CA, USA), BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA, USA), and Chemicon International (Temecula, CA, USA), respectively.

Animal Procedures

All animal procedures were approved by the Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital animal research committee. After arriving at the Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital vivarium, the rats were acclimated for at least 1 week before being used in the experiment. They were housed in a room on a 12-h light/dark cycle under controlled temperature and relative humidity of 22.1°C and 55%, respectively, and were provided with normal chow and water ad libitum. Thirty rats used in this study were divided into the following five groups (n=6/group): group 1, normal; group 2, animals subjected to SAH without treatment; group 3, SAH rats treated with vehicle (5% glucose water); group 4, SAH animals pretreated

with KMUP-3 (pretreatment group); and group 5, SAH rats treated with KMUP-3 (treatment group). SAH was induced by double injection of autologous blood into the cistern magna. Briefly, rats were anesthetized with a mixture of KetaVed (55 mg/kg) and xylazine (9 mg/kg) intraperitoneally (ip), and fresh blood (1 ml/kg) was drawn from the central tail artery and injected into the cistern magna on day 0. This procedure was repeated on day 3. KMUP-3 was administered at a dose of 0.3 mg/kg/day by osmotic minipumps implanted subcutaneously, starting on day –3 in the pretreatment group (group 4) and at 1 h after the initiation of the first autologous blood injection in the treatment group (group 5).

Behavioral Assessment

Behavioral changes in the SAH rats were assessed by an investigator blinded to the experiment at 48 h after the second injection of autologous blood. Assessment of ambulation (walking with lower extremities) and placing/stepping reflex (dragging the dorsum of hind paw over the edge of a surface) responses was used as an index of motor function according to a scoring system published previously and shown in Table 1A [5, 12]. The sum of scores from ambulation and placing/stepping reflex responses is referred to as the motor deficit index (MDI).

Hemodynamic Measurements

Heart rate and blood pressure were monitored by a tail-cuff method before the injection of the first autologous blood and again prior to sacrifice on day 7.

Tissue Morphometry

On day 7 postinjection of the first autologous blood, animals were anesthetized by chloral hydrate (0.3 mg/kg ip), and perfusion-fixation was conducted according to a published method [7]. Basilar arteries were then harvested from the brain stems. The middle third of each artery was dissected for morphometrical analysis by an investigator blinded to the experiment; the rest of tissue was frozen in liquid N₂ and stored at -70° C until used for measurements of levels of ROCKII, rhoA, and PKC γ protein expression. Five sections of the basilar artery were randomly selected for measurement of the cross-sectional area, and the average of these five numbers was used as a single value for each rat.

Table T Benavioral changes induced by experimental SATI in the rat
--

A. Scoring system used for motor function assessment Motor function	[5, 12] Behavior	Score
Ambulation	Walking with lower extremities	0
	Normal (symmetric and coordinated ambulation)	
	Toes flat under the body while walking with ataxia	1
	Knuckle walking	2
	Movement in lower extremities but unable to knuckle walk	3
	No movement, dragging lower extremities	4
Placing/stepping reflex	Dragging the dorsum of hind paw over the edge of a surface	0
	Normal (coordinated lifting and placing response)	
	Weak	1
	No stepping	2

B. Effect of MKUP-3 on behavioral changes induced by experimental SAH in the rat

Group	Ambulation	Placing/stepping reflex	Motor deficit index (MDI)
Normal	0***	0***	0***
SAH	1.28 ± 0.18	1.42 ± 0.17	2.11 ± 0.10
SAH+vehicle	1.19±0.21	1.34 ± 0.32	2.42 ± 0.28
SAH+KMUP-3 (T)	1.13 ± 0.04	1.29 ± 0.14	2.31 ± 0.19
SAH+KMUP-3 (P)	$0.7 \pm 0.05*$	$0.88 \pm 0.04*$	$1.51 \pm 0.17*$

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) was induced in rats by injecting autologous blood into the cisterna magna on day 0 and again on day 3. KMUP-3 (7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine) was administered at a dose of 0.3 mg/kg/day by osmotic minipumps implanted subcutaneously, starting on day -3 (pretreatment group, P) or at 1 h after the initiation of the first autologous blood injection (treatment group, T). The motor function was assessed using the scoring system shown in Table 1A and was performed on day 5 after the first SAH injection. MDI is the sum of scores from ambulation and placing/stepping reflex

* p < 0.05 versus the SAH group

*** p < 0.001 versus the SAH group

Protein Expression

Basilar arteries were homogenized in a buffer containing C, N, and M for extraction of cytoplasmic, nuclear, and membranebound proteins, respectively, according to the instructions of the manufacturer. Expression of ROCKII, rhoA, and PKC γ was determined by western blot analysis using specific antibodies according to the instructions of the respective manufacturers. The intensity of the protein expression was quantified by densitometry, and the results were normalized by β -actin expression.

Statistical Analysis

All results were expressed as mean plus or minus SEM (n=6). An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed, followed by Mann-Whitney's test to determine statistical significance between two experimental groups. A *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results and Discussion

Hemodynamic Measurements and General Observations

No statistically significant differences in blood pressure or heart rate were noted among the five groups before the initiation of SAH, and there were not any significant differences in these parameters on day 7 after the injection of the first autologous blood (results not shown). On removal of the brain, visual inspection confirmed the formation of subarachnoid clots that covered the basilar artery in all rats subjected to SAH.

Behavioral Assessment

As expected, normal animals had no neurological deficit and had a score of zero in both the ambulation and placing/stepping reflex responses. In contrast, the scores in both the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups were significantly higher (Table 1B). The values were 1.28 ± 0.18 (mean \pm SEM, n=6) and 1.32 ± 0.17 for the ambulation and placing/stepping responses, respectively, in the SAH group, while the respective values were 1.19 ± 0.21 and 1.34 ± 0.32 for the SAH plus vehicle group (all p < 0.05 compared with corresponding value in the normal group) (Table 1B). The values of MDI in the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups were 2.51 ± 0.14 and 2.42 ± 0.28 , respectively, compared with a score of 0 in the normal rats. Treatment with KMUP-3 at 0.3 mg/kg/day beginning at 1 h before the induction of SAH did not show significant improvement in MDI when compared with the SAH or SAH plus vehicle groups (Table 1B). However, pretreatment with KMUP-3 significantly improved the ambulation and placing/stepping reflex scores to 0.7±0.05 and 0.88 ± 0.04 , respectively (p < 0.05 for both compared with the SAH plus vehicle group). The MDI value for the pretreatment group (1.51 ± 0.17) also decreased significantly compared with the SAH plus vehicle group (Table 1B).

Tissue Morphometry

Compared with the internal elastic lamina in the basilar artery of normal animals, those of the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups showed substantial corrugation (Fig. 1 micrographs). Corrugation was significantly less prominent in both the KMUP-3 treatment and pretreatment groups. The cross-sectional areas of basilar artery in the five groups of animals are shown in Fig. 1 (lower panel). The basilar artery in the normal animals had an average cross-sectional area of $0.24 \pm 0.01 \text{ mm}^2$ (mean \pm SEM, n=6). In contrast, the cross-sectional areas from the SAH or SAH plus vehicle groups were decreased by approximately 60% compared with that of the normal group. Treatment or pretreatment with KMUP-3 attenuated the decrease in the basilar artery cross-sectional areas to levels not significantly different from that obtained in the normal animals (Fig. 1, lower panel).



Fig. 1 Effect of 7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine (*KMUP-3*) on morphology and the cross-sectional area of basilar artery in rats subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). SAH was induced by double injection of autologous blood into the cistern magna on day 0 and again on day 3. KMUP-3 was administered at a dose of 0.3 mg/kg/day by osmotic minipumps implanted subcutaneously, starting on day -3 in the pretreatment group and at 1 h after the initiation of the first autologous blood injection in the treatment group. The SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups showed substantial corrugation

of the internal elastic lamina compared with that of the normal rats (*upper panel*). Corrugation was significantly less prominent in both the KMUP-3 treatment and pretreatment groups. The cross-sectional areas from the SAH or SAH plus vehicle groups were substantially decreased, while treatment or pretreatment with KMUP-3 attenuated the decrease in the basilar artery cross-sectional areas to levels not significantly different from that obtained in the normal animals (*lower panel*). *p < 0.05 compared with the SAH+vehicle group

Western blot analysis revealed that ROCKII protein expression in the basilar artery of the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups was significantly higher when compared with that obtained from the normal rats (Fig. 2, upper panel). Treatment with KMUP-3 prevented the increase in ROCKII expression to levels not significantly different from that obtained in the normal animals (Fig. 2, lower panel). A similar effect was also achieved in the KMUP-3 pretreatment group.

The effect of KMUP-3 on rhoA protein expression in the



Fig. 2 Effect of 7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine (*KMUP-3*) on rhoA/rho kinase II (*ROCKII*) protein expression in the basilar artery of rats subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). The conditions for induction of SAH and administration of KMUP-3 are stated in the legend of Fig. 1. A representative Western blot analysis of ROCKII expression in the basilar artery of five groups of animals is shown in the (*upper panel*). The intensity of the protein expression was quantified by densitometry and normalized by

β-actin expression (mean±SEM, n=6) (*lower panel*). ROCKII protein expression in the basilar artery of the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups were significantly higher when compared with that obtained from the normal rats. Treatment or pretreatment with KMUP-3 prevented the increase in ROCKII expression to levels not significantly different from that obtained in the normal animals. **p < 0.01 compared with the SAH+vehicle group



Fig. 3 Effect of 7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine (*KMUP-3*) on rhoA protein expression in the basilar artery of rats subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). The conditions for induction of SAH and administration of KMUP-3 are stated in the legend of Fig. 1. A representative western blot analysis of rhoA expression in the basilar artery of five groups of animals is shown in the (*upper panel*). The intensity of the protein expression was quantified by densi-

basilar artery resembled that seen with the ROCKII results, except that rhoA protein expression was drastically increased (greater than fivefold) in the basilar artery of rats subjected to SAH compared to the normal group (Fig. 3, lower panel). Again, both of the KMUP-3 treatment groups attenuated the increase in rhoA expression to levels not significantly differently from that obtained from the normal animals (Fig. 3, lower panel).

Likewise, western blot analysis showed that the levels of PKC γ protein expression in the basilar artery of the SAH rats were significantly increased when compared with normal animals (Fig. 4, upper panel). Interestingly, treatment with KMUP-3 reduced the expression of PKC γ to levels lower than that of the normal rats (Fig. 4, lower panel).

tometry and normalized by β -actin expression (*lower panel*). RhoA protein expression in the basilar artery of the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups were significantly higher when compared with that obtained from the normal rats. Treatment or pretreatment with KMUP-3 prevented the increase in rhoA expression to levels not significantly different from that obtained in the normal animals. ***p < 0.001 compared with the SAH+vehicle group

Conclusion

In summary, this study showed that treatment with KMUP-3 significantly improved neurological outcome and completely attenuated basilar artery narrowing as well as reduced the enhancement of ROCKII, rhoA, and PKC γ protein expression in rats subjected to SAH. These results suggest that KMUP-3 may be a novel agent for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm following SAH. The beneficial effect is at least partially due to inhibition of the PKC and rhoA/ROCKII pathways involved in this devastating condition. However, further clinical studies are needed to substantiate these findings.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.



Fig. 4 Effect of 7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine (*KMUP-3*) on protein kinase $C\gamma$ (*PKC* γ) protein expression in the basilar artery of rats subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). The conditions for induction of SAH and administration of KMUP-3 are stated in the legend of Fig. 1. A representative western blot analysis of PKC γ expression in the basilar artery of five groups of animals is shown in the (*upper panel*). The intensity of the protein expression was

quantified by densitometry, and the results were normalized by β -actin expression (*lower panel*). RhoA protein expression in the basilar artery of the SAH and SAH plus vehicle groups were significantly higher when compared with that obtained from the normal rats. Treatment or pre-treatment with KMUP-3 prevented the increase in rhoA expression to levels below that obtained in the normal animals. ***p < 0.001 compared with the SAH+vehicle group

References

- Bederson JB, Connolly ES Jr, Batjer HH, Dacey RG, Dion JE, Diringer MN, Duldner JE Jr, Harbaugh RE, Patel AB, Rosenwasser RH (2009) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the stroke council, American Heart Association. Stroke 40:994–1025
- Chrissobolis S, Sobey CG (2006) Recent evidence for an involvement of rho-kinase in cerebral vascular disease. Stroke 37:2174–2180
- Dejam A, Hunter CJ, Tremonti C, Pluta RM, Hon YY, Grimes G, Partovi K, Pelletier MM, Oldfield EH, Cannon RO, Schechter AN, Gladwin MT (2007) Nitrite infusion in humans and nonhuman

primates: endocrine effects, pharmacokinetics, and tolerance formation. Circulation 116:1821–1831

- Hansen-Schwartz J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH (2007) Cerebral vasospasm: looking beyond vasoconstriction. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:252–256
- Kakinohana M, Nakamura S, Fuchigami T, Davison KJ, Marsala M, Sugahara K (2006) Mu and delta, but not kappa, opioid agonists induce spastic paraparesis after a short period of spinal cord ischaemia in rats. Br J Anaesth 96:88–94
- Keyrouz SG, Diringer MN (2007) Clinical review: prevention and therapy of vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Crit Care 11:220
- Kwan A-L, Lin C-L, Chang C-Z, Wu H-J, Hwong S-L, Jeng AY, Lee KS (2001) Continuous intravenous infusion of CGS 26303, an endothelin-converting enzyme inhibitor, prevents and reverses

cerebral vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 49:422–429

- Kwan A-L, Lin C-L, Chang C-Z, Wu S-C, Howng S-L, Jeng AY (2002) Attenuation of SAH-induced cerebral vasospasm by a selective ECE inhibitor. Neuroreport 13:197–199
- Lan C, Das D, Wloskowicz A, Vollrath B (2004) Endothelin-1 modulates hemoglobin-mediated signaling in cerebrovascular smooth muscle via rhoA/rho kinase and protein kinase C. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 286:H165–H173
- Lin C-L, Jeng AY, Howng S-L, Kwan A-L (2004) Endothelin and subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced cerebral vasospasm: pathogenesis and treatment. Curr Med Chem 11:1779–1791
- Lin R-J, Wu B-N, Lo Y-C, An L-M, Dai Z-K, Lin Y-T, Tang C-S, Chen I-J (2006) A xanthine-based epithelium-dependent airway relaxant KMUP-3 (7-[2-[4-(4-nitrobenzene)piperazinyl]ethyl]-1,3-dimethylxanthine) increases respiratory performance and protects against tumor necrosis factor-α-induced tracheal contraction, involving nitric oxide release and expression of cGMP and protein kinase G. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:709–717
- Marsala M, Yaksh TL (1994) Transient spinal ischemia in the rat: characterization of behavioral and histopathological consequences as a function of the duration of aortic occlusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 14:526–535

- McGrath BJ, Guy J, Borel CO, Friedman AH, Warner DS (1995) Perioperative management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: part 2. Postoperative management. Anesth Analg 81:1295–1302
- 14. Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, LeRoux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Sercombe R, Dinh YRT, Gomis P (2002) Cerebrovascular inflammation following subarachnoid hemorrhage. Jpn J Pharmacol 88:227–249
- Shimokawa H, Rashid M (2007) Development of rho-kinase inhibitors for cardiovascular medicine. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28:296–302
- Shimokawa H, Takeshita A (2005) Rho-kinase is an important therapeutic target in cardiovascular medicine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25:1767–1775
- Thomas JE, Rosenwasser RH, Armonda RA, Harrop J, Mitchell W, Galaria I (1999) Safety of intrathecal sodium nitroprusside for the treatment and prevention of refractory cerebral vasospasm and ischemia in humans. Stroke 30:1409–1416

Pharmacologic Reduction of Angiographic Vasospasm in Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Systematic Review

Tommaso Zoerle, Don Ilodigwe, Hoyee Wan, Katarina Lakovic, Mohammed Sabri, Jinglu Ai, and R. Loch Macdonald

Abstract Animal models have been developed to simulate angiographic vasospasm secondary to subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and to test pharmacologic treatments. Our aim was to evaluate the effect of pharmacologic treatments that have been tested in humans and in preclinical studies to determine if animal models inform results reported in humans. A systematic review and meta-analysis of SAH studies was performed. We investigated predictors of translation from animals to humans with multivariate logistic regression. Pharmacologic reduction of vasospasm was effective in mice, rats, rabbits, dogs, nonhuman primates, and humans. Animal studies were generally of poor methodologic quality, and there was evidence of publication bias. Fresh blood injection to simulate SAH (vs. clot placement) and evaluation of vasospasm more than 3 days after SAH were independently associated with successful translation. We conclude that reduction of vasospasm is effective in animals and humans, and that injection of fresh blood and evaluation of vasospasm more than 3 days after SAH may be preferable for preclinical models.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Cerebral vasospasm Animal models • Vasospasm therapy

T. Zoerle, M.D.

K. Lakovic, H.B.Sc., and M. Sabri, H.B.Sc. Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

D. Ilodigwe, H. Wan, J. Ai, M.D., Ph.D., and R.L. Macdonald, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Division of Neurosurgery, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, 30 Bond Street, Toronto, ON M5B 1W8, Canada

Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: macdonaldlo@smh.ca

Introduction

Many drugs have been tested in animal models for reducing angiographic vasospasm, but few have proven effective in high-quality clinical trials. There are many possible reasons for lack of translation of reducing angiographic vasospasm in animal models to improving outcome in humans, including clinical trial design, whether the animal model reproduces the disease and methodological flaws in experimental studies [1]. Preclinical subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) studies for pharmaceutical reduction of vasospasm differ in terms of animal used, induction of SAH, time course and severity of angiographic vasospasm [2], as well as quality of design (i.e., randomization, blinding). All these characteristics could have an impact on the results of experimental treatment and perhaps the chance of translation, but to our knowledge there is no evidence that one model of SAH is better than any other for the purposes of informing human clinical trials.

A meta-analysis of human clinical trials of drugs to decrease vasospasm showed that some, but obviously not all, drugs tested did reduce vasospasm in randomized clinical trials [3]. The goal of this work was therefore to determine the effect of pharmacologic treatments tested in SAH clinical trials on angiographic vasospasm in preclinical studies. The questions were whether there is evidence that any animal model can inform clinical trials, and whether any specific model or study characteristics more accurately reflect results reported in humans.

Materials and Methods

Search Methods for Identification of Studies

PubMed and Embase were searched using the following terms: (subarachnoid hemorrhage) AND [(statin) OR (tissue plasminogen activator) OR (ticlopidine) OR (erythropoietin) OR (clazosentan) OR (nimodipine) OR (nicardipine) OR

Department of Anesthesia and Critical Care Medicine, University of Milano, Fondazione IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, Milan, Italy

(fasudil) OR (tirilazad)] AND (animal OR experimental). The same search was performed for magnesium, endothelinconverting enzyme and endothelin receptor antagonist.

Criteria for Included Animal Studies

We included preclinical studies in vivo in which SAH was simulated by endovascular puncture of a cerebral artery, subarachnoid clot placement, or injection of blood into the subarachnoid space. We included studies of treatment of cerebral vasospasm with any drug tested in both experimental and clinical trials for the same purpose. Intervention was defined as treatment for the purposes of this study if drug administration was started before the development of angiographic vasospasm. For selecting drugs we considered a systematic review of drug treatments for humans with SAH and included all drugs tested in randomized, blinded clinical trials [3]. The primary outcome was cerebral vasospasm evaluated by catheter, computed tomographic (CT), magnetic resonance angiographic, or histological methods.

Data Collection

For every included study, we extracted data on the species and sex of animals, method of induction of SAH, drug tested, timing and method of delivery of the drug, time and method for outcome assessment, randomization, blinding, and physiological variables that were measured. Data on the number of animals and degree of vasospasm in treatment and control groups were extracted. If in the same study different doses or delivery manners were used, data on the effect of the intervention were extracted for every group, and the most effective regimen was used for the analysis. If in the same study different drugs were tested, data on the effect of each drug were extracted and analyzed separately. Vasospasm was expressed as the percentage reduction in cerebral artery diameter from baseline or control values. Methodologic quality of the animal studies was assessed by two reviewers by extracting data on study design, allocation concealment, blinding, number of animals randomized, age of animals, recording of physiologic variables, and inclusion of controls. To assess the effect of each drug in human trials, the data were obtained from Etminan et al. [3].

Statistical Analysis

To test which species may reflect more accurately the effect of drug treatment on reducing vasospasm in humans, we analyzed the concordance between the drug effect in human and in the different animals. The drug effect in humans was defined as reported [3]. The effects were defined as concordant if the drug showed evidence of positive effect in humans as well as in animals or no evidence of effect in humans as well as in animals. Drug effect was defined as discordant if the drug showed evidence of efficacy in animals but not in humans or vice versa.

A random effect weighted meta-analysis was used to assess the effect of pharmacologic reduction of vasospasm in animal studies. Effect sizes were expressed as pooled standard mean difference. Subgroup analyses by drug and animal species were performed. Publication bias was investigated using Begg's and Egger's tests.

For human studies, effect sizes were expressed in pooled risk ratio estimates. To assess predictors of translation from animal to human, univariable and multivariable logistic regressions were used with the dependent variable being concordance/discordance of the drug. Variables entered in the regressions were species and sex of animals; method of induction of SAH; drug tested; route of drug delivery; treatment start time (before or after SAH); time and method of outcome assessment; randomization; blinding (for outcome assessment and whether animals belonged to treatment or control groups before surgery); monitoring of physiological variables (temperature, blood pressure, heart rate, oxygenation, intracranial pressure); and monitoring of CO₂ (Table 1). We considered p < 0.05 significant.

Results

A total of 453 studies were identified. Three hundred nineteen studies were excluded after review of the title and abstract showed the study was a review article, clinical study with no single treatment, in vitro study, or test of a treatment to reverse established angiographic vasospasm. An additional 64 studies were excluded after reading the full text because they did not completely fulfill the inclusion criteria, or they reported preliminary or incomplete data. Data from 70 papers were then extracted. There were 556 animals assigned to treatment groups and 664 to control groups. Characteristics of the studies are reported in Table 1.

The pooled effect size expressed as standard mean difference showed that pharmacologic treatments significantly reduced cerebral vasospasm in the experimental studies (standard mean difference of -1.74; 95% confidence interval [CI] -2.04 to -1.44). Substantial and significant heterogeneity was detected (heterogeneity χ^2 statistic=340.60 [degrees of freedom=73], p=0.0001) (Fig. 1). Subgroup analysis by drug showed that every drug except magnesium was

Table 1 Characteristics of animal studies

Characteristic	Number (%)
Species	
Monkey	16 (22)
Dog	23 (31)
Rabbit	24 (32)
Rat	9 (12)
Mouse	2 (2)
Sex	
Male	27 (36)
Female	11 (14)
Male/female	36 (49)
Method of induction of SAH	
Clot placement	17 (23)
Two injections cisterna magna	29 (39)
One injection cisterna magna	21 (28)
Endovascular perforation	4 (5)
Other ^a	3 (4)
Severity of vasospasm in control group	
Mild	16 (22)
Moderate	55 (74)
Severe	3 (4)
Evaluation of vasospasm	
Angiography	52 (70)
Histology	22 (30)
Day of evaluation of vasospasm	
≤3	21 (28)
>3	53 (72)
Drug	
Tirilazad	8 (11)
Calcium antagonist	14 (19)
Erythropoietin	4 (5)
Statins	7 (9)
Endothelin antagonist/endothelin-converting enzyme inhibitor	26 (35)
Fasudil	4 (5)
Tissue plasminogen activator	9 (12)
Magnesium	1 (1.5)
Other ^b	1 (1.5)
Route of drug delivery	
Intracranial	30 (40)
Systemic	44 (60)
Pretreatment	
Before induction of SAH	7 (9)
After induction of SAH	67 (91)
Blinding of outcome	
No	29 (40)
Yes	45 (60)

Characteristic	Number (%)
Blinding to induction of SAH versus sham surgery	s saline/
No	59 (80)
Yes	15 (20)
Inclusion and exclusion criteria	
No	65 (88)
Yes	9 (12)
Randomization	
No	36 (49)
Yes	38 (51)
Monitoring of physiological variable	es
No	15 (20)
Yes	59 (80)
Monitoring CO ₂	
No	16 (22)
Yes	58 (78)

SAH subarachnoid hemorrhage

^aModified cisterna magna injection and prechiasmatic cistern injection ^bTissue plasminogen activator plus endothelin antagonist

effective for reducing vasospasm (Fig. 2). Heterogeneity was detected for every subgroup except for fasudil. Subgroup analysis by species showed that pharmacologic treatment was effective in all species. Again, heterogeneity was detected. Both the Begg's (*z* score continuity-corrected 6.68, p=0.000) and Egger's test (bias coefficient -4.83; 95% CI -5.96 to -3.69; p=0.000) returned strong evidence of publication bias.

We next considered data in a systematic review of the effect of pharmaceutical reduction of radiographic vasospasm with different drugs in human clinical trials [3]. Drug effects were classified as concordant or discordant as defined in the methods. Fasudil, endothelin antagonists (clazosentan), and tissue plasminogen activator showed a beneficial effect on angiographic vasospasm in humans, while calcium antagonists (nimodipine and nicardipine), erythropoietin, statins, and tirilizad showed no significant effect (data not shown). Since no data were available on the effects of magnesium and tissue plasminogen activator plus endothelin antagonists, experiments using these treatments were excluded from further analysis.

Considering animal studies individually, 55% were concordant with human results. In multivariate logistic regression, significant predictors of translation were the type of SAH model (classified into fresh blood vs. blood clot placement, unadjusted odds ratio [95% CI] 0.20 [0.06–0.70], p=0.013) and the day of assessment of vasospasm (\leq vs. >3 days, unadjusted odds ratio [95% CI] 11.2 (3.13–40.1),



Fig. 1 Effect size of 74 animal studies of pharmacologic reduction of vasospasm included in meta-analysis. *Gray* band represents overall effect with 95% confidence intervals (* and ** are effect of different drugs in the same publication)

p=0.0002). Studies in which fresh blood is used to simulate SAH and studies in which vasospasm was evaluated after day 3 from SAH had results more concordant with human trials than others.

Discussion

This systematic review found that pharmacologic treatments that are effective in animal models of SAH and vasospasm are also usually effective in humans. However, publication bias was detected, suggesting that some studies remain unpublished, and that our data probably overestimate the true effect of the drugs. On the other hand, methodologic quality of many of the studies was poor and would limit the interpretation of experimental studies showing treatment benefits, as well as of those showing no benefit.

In multivariate logistic regression, only fresh blood (injection and endovascular puncture), as compared to clot placement, and the day of evaluation of vasospasm (more than 3 days after SAH) were correlated with successful translation of results to humans. These observations have practical implications for study design and model selection, and it may be that in further preclinical experiments long-term drug effect evaluation and fresh blood models should be preferred.

There are a number of limitations to this analysis. Most instances of concordance were positive in that drugs worked in animals and humans. However, additional important confirmatory data would be studies showing that drugs that were not effective in humans also were not in animals. Only 15% of the studies used rats or mice, and almost all recent studies use them. In human trials, angiographic vasospasm frequently was considered as a dichotomous variable (none/ mild or moderate/severe), while in animal studies it is expressed as a continuous variable. For this reason, it was not possible to compare exactly the effects in animals and humans. Most models of SAH differ from human SAH in that animals do not develop cerebral infarctions or other delayed processes that are proposed to be important in humans, such as cortical spreading ischemia and microthromboembolism. The endpoints in human clinical trials are usually clinical outcome and delayed cerebral ischemia, but neurological and functional examination after experimental SAH is still uncommonly used.

Conclusion

5

We conclude that reduction of vasospasm is effective in animals and humans, and that injection of fresh blood and evaluation of vasospasm greater than 3 days after SAH may be preferable for preclinical models.



Acknowledgment This work was supported by grants from the Physicians Services Incorporated Foundation and the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Ontario to R.L. Macdonald.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

 van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, Macleod MR (2010) Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med 7:e1000245

- Titova E, Ostrowski RP, Zhang JH, Tang J (2009) Experimental models of subarachnoid hemorrhage for studies of cerebral vasospasm. Neurol Res 31:568–581
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald R (2011) Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:1443–1451

Low-Dose Lipopolysaccharide Injection Prior to Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Modulates Delayed Deterioration Associated with Vasospasm in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Saksith Smithason, Shari K. Moore, and J. Javier Provencio

Abstract There is increasing evidence that inflammation plays a role in the development of Delayed Deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is an activator of the innate inflammatory system that causes DDAV in animal models. The effect of low-dose LPS has been shown to be protective in stroke models but has not been investigated in SAH. Two treatments were studied: (1) a single intraperitoneal dose of 0.6 mg/kg injected 24 h prior to SAH and (2) four daily doses administered prior to SAH. DDAV was determined by India ink angiography at day 6; behavioral testing was done in a different cohort of animals, and analysis of brain chemokine levels was accomplished by dot blot. Vessel caliber was improved compared to the SAH group in the single-injection group (ldLPS ×1) (p < 0.05). In the multiple-injection group (ldLPS ×4), the vessel caliber was similar to SAH (p < 0.05). ldLPS ×1 improved performance on the Barnes maze test, whereas the ldLPS ×4 was worse (p < 0.001). Brain levels of the inflammatory chemokine KC (keratinocyte-derived chemokine) were decreased in the ldLPS ×1 and increased in the ldLPS ×4 group. Single-injection low-dose LPS preconditioning was protective for delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV), whereas the multiple-injection course exacerbated DDAV. This further supports that inflammation plays an important role in the development of DDAV, and that modulating the inflammatory system may be a potential target for future therapies in SAH.

S. Smithason, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: smithas@ccf.org

S.K. Moore, BA. Neuroinflammation Research Center, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: moores2@ccf.org

J.J. Provencio, M.D. (⊠) Neuroinflammation Research Center and Cerebrovascular Center, NC30 Lerner Research Institute, Cleveland Clinic, 9500 Euclid Avenue, Cleveland, OH 44195, USA e-mail: provenj@ccf.org **Keywords** Inflammation • Lipopolysaccharide • Tolerance Delayed cerebral vasospasm • Subarachnoid hemorrhage

Introduction

Delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is the major cause of morbidity and mortality in patients who survive the initial bleeding episode [1]. This vexing disease presents with spasm of proximal arteries and delayed neurological deficits 4–12 days after the aneurysm rupture. Although the terms delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and delayed neurological ischemic deficits (DINDs) have been used to describe the proposed cause of the injury, recent evidence suggests that mechanisms other than ischemia may be at play [2–4]. A more appropriate term to describe the phenomenon may be DDAV to denote the uncertainty in the cause of the brain injury.

Our laboratory has focused on the role of early innate inflammation in both vascular and cerebral manifestations of DDAV. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) A from E. coli is a known signaling molecule of the innate immune system mediated through the TLR4 receptor on the neutrophil and endothelial cell surface. We have previously shown that the neutrophil percentage in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) early in the course of SAH can predict who will later develop DDAV [5]. We have also shown that myeloid cell depletion in a mouse model of DDAV ameliorates both the vascular and the behavioral effects [6]. Previous animal work has shown that early administration of modulators of innate inflammation can alter the course of the disease [7-10]. Direct administration of LPS into the CSF without SAH causes vasospasm [9], and systemic administration of LPS worsens DDAV after SAH in a myeloid cell-dependent manner [11].

Data from stroke animal models showed that low-dose LPS injection prevents inflammation and is neuroprotective [12–14]. The mechanism of this protection has been

proposed to be due to overexpression of genes coding for proteins in the TLR signaling pathway [15]. In this study, we found that systemic administration of low-dose LPS 1 day prior to SAH protected against DDAV, but four daily sequential doses did not.

Materials and Methods

All experiments were conduct under the supervision of the Cleveland Clinic Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). Animals were randomized into six groups for the vasospasm study and four groups for the behavioral, immunohistochemistry, and chemokine studies: (1) sham surgery (sham), (2) SAH (SAH), (3) low-dose LPS administration 1 day prior to SAH (ldLPS ×1), and (4) low-dose LPS administration daily for 4 days prior to SAH (ldLPS ×4) for all the studies and the two control groups low-dose LPS administration 1 day prior to sham surgery (sham ldLPS ×1) and low-dose LPS administration 4 days prior to sham surgery (sham ldLPS ×4) in the vessel diameter study. All surgeries were done by one investigator (S.S.), who randomly assigned animals to each of the three treatment groups. Analysis of the perfusion experiments and all behavioral tests were done by a different investigator (S.K.M.) blinded to the surgical assignments.

Experimental SAH

We studied male C57BL6 mice (Jackson Labs, Maine) weighing 20–32 g, 10–12 weeks of age. Our murine model of SAH has been described [16]. Briefly, mice were anesthetized and placed in a prone position. An incision was made in the midline of the neck, the atlanto-occipital membrane was punctured, and a subarachnoid vein was transected. The bleeding was allowed to stop spontaneously, after which the incision was closed. Saline injection sham surgery involved the same procedure except that the atlanto-occipital membrane was entered with a 30-gauge needle, and 50 μ l of saline were instilled. All animals that had surgery survived all the posthemorrhage testing.

LPS Administration

We injected 0.6 mg/kg of LPS in 150 μ l diluent (Sigma Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO) into the peritoneal cavity of experimental animals either 24 h prior SAH (ldLPS ×1) or daily for 4 days prior to SAH (ldLPS ×4). This dosage was

increased threefold from previous studies of low-dose LPS-induced tolerance in stroke [12, 15] due to the 1-day protocol in our study (unlike 2 days prior to stroke in published protocols).

India Ink Assessment of Vessel Caliber

Animals were anesthetized with pentobarbital (6 mg/100 g ip); transcardiac perfusion was performed with 20 ml 4% paraformaldehyde followed by 10 ml of warmed 5% India ink in gelatin. Animals were decapitated, and their brains were removed carefully, preserving the vasculature. The circle of Willis vasculature was examined under the surgical microscope and relevant pictures captured (Leica, Wetzler, Germany) and analyzed with Adobe Photoshop CS2 (San Jose, CA). The diameter of the middle cerebral artery (MCA) segment was measured 1 mm from the posterior wall of the carotid artery by a member of the research team not involved in the surgery and blinded to the intervention. All measurements were made on the sixth day after the hemorrhage based on previous work that showed that delayed vasospasm occurs around the sixth posthemorrhage day in our model [6]. Ten mice were used for each of the four conditions (sham, SAH, ldLPS ×1, and ldLPS ×4).

Behavioral Testing

Animals in the behavioral study underwent three batteries of tests in groups of 10 mice. All tests were done at the same time of the day by a single handler (S.K.M.) who was blinded to the treatment allocation. Groups of 5–10 animals randomized for treatment and blinded to the handler were tested together. This was repeated until 10 animals from each group were tested. On day 2 after the hemorrhage, the mice underwent rotarod testing to evaluate motor function and coordination. The third day posthemorrhage, the mice underwent Y-maze testing to evaluate spatial working (immediate) memory. On days 2 and 3, the animals also had training for the Barnes maze. On days 4 through 9, the mice were tested in a Barnes maze to test spatial learning and short-term and long-term memory.

In the rotarod test, time on the rod and maximum speed of rotation (rpm) were measured. Animals were placed in one of four separated chambers with the spinning rod and a landing base. After a habituation for 30 s at low speed, the mice were tested with a continuously increasing rate of speed for 5 min or until the subject fell off the rod.

In the Y maze, animals were placed in a random orientation in the center of a high-walled maze that had three equal-length passages in a Y configuration. The mice were recorded by video monitoring during 5 min of exploration and scored later. Percentage alterations were calculated as the ratio of the number of times the animals chose to enter the three arms of the maze in succession to the total number of unique arms the animal chose to enter.

In the Barnes maze, the mice were placed on a round table with multiple open holes in the periphery, one of which contains an undermounted box that represents a safe haven for the mice. There are visual cues on the wall around the table for the animal to orient itself. Each animal had 2 days of training during which it was gently guided to the goal box. On subsequent days, animals were placed in the center of the table in a covered enclosure until ready for the trial. The cover was lifted, and mice were allowed to find the goal box. The movements were recorded by video monitoring and scored later. The time it took to find the goal box (latency) was recorded.

Immunohistochemistry

The four groups of animals were tested using monoclonal antimicroglial cell antibody (Iba1) (generous gift from Dr. Bruce Trapp) and fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibody against ICAM-1 (intercellular adhesion molecule 1; BioLegend, San Diego, CA) (which tests for endothelial activation). We incubated 30- μ m brain slices in primary antibody for 24 h using a free-floating technique. Briefly, slices were microwaved for 2 min in citrate buffer followed by incubation in 500 μ L of 3% goat serum and primary antibody at 20°C overnight in a 24-well plate. Iba1 antibodies were incubated with a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated, isotype-specific secondary antibody and resolved with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB).

Chemokine Determination

Brain inflammatory chemokine levels were determined by dot-blot analysis (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) 24 h after surgery. Animals were anesthetized with pentobarbital (6 mg/100 g ip); transcardiac perfusion was performed with 20 ml 1% phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Animals were decapitated, and their brains were removed carefully and homogenized. After tissue protein extraction, the supernatant was incubated on the dot-blot membrane. Three brain samples were pooled to increase concentrations of chemokines. Dots were visualized by radiography. Dot intensity was measured and normalized to a positive control and analyzed with Image J (NIH, Bethesda, MD).

Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed with the aid of Graphpad Prism 5.0 (Graphpad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). Multiple comparisons were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Comparisons between individual groups in experiments in which one-way ANOVA was significantly different were assessed using Tukey's multiple comparison test. Two-way ANOVA was used to evaluate the effects of SAH over time. A p value of 0.05 was considered significant in all comparisons.

Results

Vasospasm and Behavioral Assessment After SAH

Comparison of all four groups in the study for the vascular constriction showed that the groups were significantly different [ANOVA, F(5, 30)=10.56, p<0.0001]. SAH animals had significant vasospasm at day 6 compared to sham control animals (Tukey's multiple comparison test, p<0.05) (Fig. 1a). On Barnes maze behavioral testing, the four groups were significantly different with respect to time to find the goal box [two-way ANOVA, F(3,15)=47.76, p<0.0001]. SAH animals took a significantly longer time to find the goal box than the sham control animals [two-way ANOVA, F(1,5)=60.05, p<0.0001] (Fig. 1b). The differences between the SAH and sham animals in both vasospasm and behavioral assessment confirmed an earlier finding from our laboratory [6]. There were no significant differences between the groups with regard to rotorod testing or Y-maze testing.

Single-Dose Preconditioning

Single-dose preconditioning with LPS ameliorated both the vasospasm and the behavioral effects of SAH, while multiple-dose preconditioning did not. Animals in the ldLPS ×1 group did not show significant vasospasm (Tukey's multiple comparison test, ldLPS ×1 to SAH, p<0.05) or behavioral changes on Barnes maze [two-way ANOVA, ldLPS ×1 to SAH, F(1,5)=28.36, p<0.0001] when compared to sham animals (Fig. 1a, b). Conversely, animals in the ldLPS ×4 group had similar vasospasm (Tukey's multiple comparison test, ldLPS ×4 to SAH, not significant) to animals with SAH. Interestingly, the behavioral changes on Barnes maze were more severe than for the SAH animals [two-way ANOVA, ldLPS ×4 to SAH, F(1,5)=7.898, p=0.0064]. These results show that a single dose of LPS prior to SAH is protective of



Fig. 1 Single-dose versus multiple-dose low-dose lipopolysaccharide (*LPS*) schedule in subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). (a) Middle cerebral artery (*MCA*) diameter 6 days after SAH shows that SAH and low-dose LPS given 4 days prior to SAH (ldLPS ×4) have significantly smaller diameters, indicating vasospasm [analysis of variance (*ANOVA*), F(5,30)=10.56, p<0.0001). The low-dose LPS administered once did not exhibit vasospasm compared to sham ldLPS ×1 (Tukey's multiple comparisons test, p=NS). *p<0.05 on Tukey's multiple comparisons test for comparisons shown by bars. (b) On Barnes maze test, animals in the ldLPS ×4 group and SAH had worse times to find the goal box than those in the sham or ldLPS ×1 group [two-way ANOVA, F(3,15)=47.76, p<0.0001]. Together, these data show that a single dose of LPS prior to SAH prevented both the vasospasm and behavioral effects, whereas the four-dose regimen prior to SAH was not protective

both vasospasm and the behavioral consequences, whereas multiple doses appeared to not be protective and made the behavioral manifestations worse.

Immunohistochemical Changes

Immunohistochemical changes suggest that ldLPS ×1 decreases brain and vascular inflammation, whereas ldLPS ×4 exacerbated inflammation. Immunohistochemical analysis of brain slices showed that animals in the ldLPS ×1 has decreased

staining for ICAM-1 on endothelial cells of the blood vessels, suggesting that despite SAH the endothelial cells were not activated, and ramified morphology of the microglia, suggesting decreased microglial activation. By contrast, animals in the ldLPS \times 2 group showed the opposite, with increased staining of ICAM-1 and ameboid morphology of the microglia suggesting inflammation (Fig. 2). For animals in the sham and SAH groups, the ICAM-1 staining and morphology of microglia predictably showed signs of inflammation in the SAH group and no inflammation in the sham group.

Expression of Keratinocyte-Derived Chemokine

The keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC) was suppressed in ldLPS ×1 and increased in ldLPS ×4 animals after SAH. Mice do not express homologs to the human CXCL1 (Gro α) and CXCL8 (interleukin 8 [IL-8]) chemokines. Instead, they express the analogous KC chemokine, which stimulates the CXCR2 receptor on neutrophils. We tested whole-brain levels of KC in mice in the ldLPS ×1 and ldLPS ×4 groups (Fig. 3). To develop adequate signal, three brains were pooled for each experiment. Each experiment represents pooled samples of three different animals. We found that compared to sham and SAH animals, animals in the ldLPS $\times 1$ group had lower whole-brain KC levels and the ldLPS ×4 group had higher KC levels at both day 1 and day 6 after SAH. This supports the findings in the vasospasm, behavioral assessment, and immunohistochemical analysis that a single dose of LPS decreased inflammation, whereas the multiple-dose course increased inflammation. This further suggests that part of the mechanism of inflammation suppression is due to decreased signaling for neutrophils.

Discussion

Our study shows that a single dose of low-dose LPS given prior to SAH prevents both the vascular and behavioral sequelae of DDAV. Interestingly, the same dose of LPS given four consecutive days prior to SAH had no effect on vasospasm and opposite effects on behavioral ability on Barnes maze tests. Immunohistochemical staining and chemokine analysis suggested that single-dose LPS silenced the inflammatory response to the blood, whereas multiple doses increased the inflammatory signaling in the brain.

The mechanism by which low-dose LPS pretreatment induces "tolerance" in stroke has been investigated. In the case of LPS-induced tolerance, the mechanism revolves around induction of IRF3 activation in the brain [15, 17]. It is still not clear if systemic administration of LPS directly



Fig. 2 Immunohistochemical analysis of brain slices. Sham animals show ramified morphology of microglia (by Iba1 staining resolved with 3,3 -diaminobenzidine [*DAB*]) (*top*) and no vascular staining for intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (*ICAM-1*) (*bottom*, confocal microscopy), suggesting no inflammation. Subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) animals show ameboid morphology of microglia and increased vascular stain-

Fig. 3 Level of keratinocytederived chemokine (KC) in pooled brain samples. In both the day 1 samples (*left*) and day 6 samples (*right*), low-dose lipopolysaccharide (*LPS*) administered one time prior to subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) (ldLPS ×1) decreased the production of the neutrophil attractant chemokine KC, whereas the four-dose regimen prior to SAH increased KC production





affects the brain parenchyma or works through mediators in the endothelium.

In our study, we found differential effects of LPS depending on the administration schedule. This suggests two possible mechanisms require further research: (1) The endothelium mediates depression of brain inflammatory responses and has a summated effect based on LPS doses. That is to say, a single dose of LPS decreases endothelial propensity to signal inflammation and multiple doses summate to release inflammatory signaling molecules. Or (2), LPS crosses the blood–brain barrier intact and signals inflammatory cells in the brain (microglia, astrocytes, etc.) to develop an inflammatory response. The immunohistochemical studies presented here suggest that the endothelium is the gatekeeper of inflammation, and that the brain follows the lead of the endothelium. This affords welcome opportunities to interact with the endothelial lining without having to devise drug or biological therapies that cross the blood-brain barrier. We did not investigate activation of IRF3 or other TLR4 pathway mediators.

There are a number of limitations of our study. First, the severity of DDAV elicited by our model was mild compared to other models. It is possible that the mechanisms are different for mild versus severe DDAV. We feel that this mild form of DDAV was similar to what we see clinically in patients with good-to-medium grade SAH (Hunt and Hess 1–3).

Second, our study did not address directly the molecular mechanism of tolerance. We felt that it was more important to determine the cells involved before entertaining specific molecular or cellular mechanisms.

The development of DDAV appears to be dependent on inflammation after SAH. How early this inflammation develops is still unknown but of critical importance for the development of meaningful therapies. In stroke models, increased inflammatory mediator levels are seen as early as 3 h after the infarction [15, 18, 19]. In stroke in humans, inflammation and edema develop over the span of 3–5 days. In SAH patients, DDAV begins later. It is possible that this is due to later activation of the inflammatory system, making first-day therapies realistic.

Conclusion

This study added to our understanding of how inflammation in the brain of patients with SAH may lead to DDAV. It focuses attention on the acute innate inflammatory response and confirms earlier findings that neutrophils are important in this process. Further work will need to focus on the molecular pathway that initiates this inflammatory response. This is the best hope for a viable treatment or preventive.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Shu-mei Man for help with confocal imaging.

Financial Disclosure This work was supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health (K08-NS051350 J.J.P.) and the Cleveland Clinic Cerebrovascular Center (Institutional Support J.J.P.).

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ (2001) Subarachnoid haemorrhage: diagnosis, causes and management. Brain 124:249–278
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2011.7
- Stein SC, Levine JM, Nagpal S, LeRoux PD (2006) Vasospasm as the sole cause of cerebral ischemia: how strong is the evidence? Neurosurg Focus 21:E2
- Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2011) Cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasm-dependent and -independent effects. Stroke 42:924–929. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.597914
- Provencio JJ, Fu X, Siu A, Rasmussen PA, Hazen SL, Ransohoff RM (2010) CSF neutrophils are implicated in the development of

vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care 12:244–251. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9308-7

- Provencio JJ, Altay T, Smithason S, Moore SK, Ransohoff RM (2010) Depletion of Ly6G/C(+) cells ameliorates delayed cerebral vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neuroimmunol. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.016
- Pradilla G, Wang PP, Legnani FG, Ogata L, Dietsch GN, Tamargo RJ (2004) Prevention of vasospasm by anti-CD11/CD18 monoclonal antibody therapy following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rabbits. J Neurosurg 101:88–92
- Zubkov AY, Tibbs RE, Aoki K, Zhang JH (2000) Prevention of vasospasm in penetrating arteries with MAPK inhibitors in dog double-hemorrhage model. Surg Neurol 54:221–227, discussion 227–228
- Recinos PF, Pradilla G, Thai Q-A, Perez M, Hdeib AM, Tamargo RJ (2006) Controlled release of lipopolysaccharide in the subarachnoid space of rabbits induces chronic vasospasm in the absence of blood. Surg Neurol 66:463–469, discussion 469
- Zhou C, Yamaguchi M, Kusaka G, Schonholz C, Nanda A, Zhang JH (2004) Caspase inhibitors prevent endothelial apoptosis and cerebral vasospasm in dog model of experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 24:419–431
- Smithason S, Moore SK, Provencio JJ (2011) Systemic administration of LPS worsens delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm after subarchnoid hemorrhage through a myeloid cell dependent mechanism. Neurocrit Care 16(2):327–334, Epub ahead of print
- Rosenzweig HL, Lessov NS, Henshall DC, Minami M, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP (2004) Endotoxin preconditioning prevents cellular inflammatory response during ischemic neuroprotection in mice. Stroke 35:2576–2581. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000143450.04438. ae01.STR.0000143450.04438.ae [pii]
- Rosenzweig HL, Minami M, Lessov NS, Coste SC, Stevens SL, Henshall DC, Meller R, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP (2007) Endotoxin preconditioning protects against the cytotoxic effects of TNFalpha after stroke: a novel role for TNFalpha in LPS-ischemic tolerance. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27:1663–1674. doi:10.1038/ sj.jcbfm.9600464
- Tasaki K, Ruetzler CA, Ohtsuki T, Martin D, Nawashiro H, Hallenbeck JM (1997) Lipopolysaccharide pre-treatment induces resistance against subsequent focal cerebral ischemic damage in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Brain Res 748:267–270
- Stevens SL, Leung PY, Vartanian KB, Gopalan B, Yang T, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP (2011) Multiple preconditioning paradigms converge on interferon regulatory factor-dependent signaling to promote tolerance to ischemic brain injury. J Neurosci 31: 8456–8463. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0821-11.2011
- Altay T, Smithason S, Volokh N, Rasmussen PA, Ransohoff RM, Provencio JJ (2009) A novel method for subarachnoid hemorrhage to induce vasospasm in mice. J Neurosci Methods 183:136–140. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.06.027
- Marsh B, Stevens SL, Packard AE, Gopalan B, Hunter B, Leung PY, Harrington CA, Stenzel-Poore MP (2009) Systemic lipopolysaccharide protects the brain from ischemic injury by reprogramming the response of the brain to stroke: a critical role for IRF3. J Neurosci 29:9839–9849. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 2496-09.2009
- Broad A, Kirby JA, Jones DE (2007) Toll-like receptor interactions: tolerance of MyD88-dependent cytokines but enhancement of MyD88-independent interferon-beta production. Immunology 120:103–111. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02485.x
- Broad A, Jones DE, Kirby JA (2006) Toll-like receptor (TLR) response tolerance: a key physiological "damage limitation" effect and an important potential opportunity for therapy. Curr Med Chem 13:2487–2502

Statin-Induced T-Lymphocyte Modulation and Neuroprotection Following Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Robert E. Ayer, Robert P. Ostrowski, Takashi Sugawara, Qingy Ma, Nazanin Jafarian, Jiping Tang, and John H. Zhang

Abstract *Introduction*: Statins influence immune system activities through mechanisms independent of their lipid-lowering properties. T cells can be subdivided based on cytokine secretion patterns into two subsets: T-helper cells type 1 (Th1) and type 2 (Th2). Independent laboratory studies have shown statins to be potent inducers of a Th2 switch in immune cell response and be neuroprotective in several models of central nervous system (CNS) disease. This study was the first to evaluate the immune modulating effects of statins in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

R.E. Ayer, M.D. Department of Neurosurgery, Loma Linda University Medical Center, 11234 Anderson Street, Room 2562B, Loma Linda, CA, USA

R.P. Ostrowski, M.D., Ph.D., Q. Ma, BS, and J. Tang, M.D. Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Loma Linda University Medical Center, Loma Linda, CA, USA

T. Sugawara, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Neurosurgery, National Hospital Organization Disaster Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan

N. Jafarian, M.D. Department of Anesthesiology, Loma Linda University Medical Center, Loma Linda, CA, USA

J.H. Zhang, M.D., Ph.D. (⊠) Department of Neurosurgery, Loma Linda University Medical Center, 11234 Anderson Street, Room 2562B, Loma Linda, CA, USA

Department of Anesthesiology, Loma Linda University Medical Center, Loma Linda, CA, USA

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Loma Linda University Medical Center, Loma Linda, CA, USA e-mail: johnzhang3910@yahoo.com *Methods*: Simvastatin was administered to rats intraperitoneally in two dosages (1 and 20 mg/kg) 30 min after the induction of SAH using endovascular perforation. Neurological scores were assessed 24 h later. Animals were then sacrificed, and samples of cortex and brain stem were tested for expression of the T-regulatory cell cytokine transforming growth factor (TGF) β 1, as well as interleukin (IL) 1 β , a proinflammatory cytokine associated with Th1 immune responses. The presence of TGF- β 1 secreting T cells was evaluated with the use of brain slices.

Results: SAH significantly impaired neurological function in all SAH groups (treated and untreated) versus sham. Animals treated with high-dose simvastatin had less neurological impairment than both untreated and low-dose groups. Cortical and brain-stem levels of TGF- β 1 were significantly elevated following SAH in the high-dose group. IL-1 β was significantly elevated following the induction of SAH but was inhibited by high-dose simvastatin. Double-labeled fluorescent immunohistochemical data demonstrated the presence of lymphocytes in the subarachnoid and perivascular spaces following SAH. Expression of TGF- β 1 by lymphocytes was markedly increased following treatment with high-dose simvastatin.

Conclusion: The present study elucidated the potential role of a Th2 immune switch in statin provided neuroprotection following SAH.

Keywords Endovascular perforation model • Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Simvastatin • Early brain injury • TGF- β 1 • Th2 lymphocytes • Th3 lymphocytes

Introduction

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), accounting for roughly 3% of all strokes, is a devastating neurological event that has been the focus of scientific investigation for decades [13, 38]. Significant advances in the surgical treatment and intensive care for these patients have resulted in significantly improved mortality and functional outcome [20]. However, the disease still has mortality as high as 40%, and a majority of the survivors still have significant disability [34]. An inflammatory response occurs within the central nervous system (CNS) following SAH and likely plays a significant role in the early brain injury following SAH [4]. Whether the infiltration of lymphocytes into the CNS following injury has a neuroprotective and regenerative role versus being a response that is detrimental to recovery is still being intensively investigated [19]. Resolution appears to lie with understanding the roles of subpopulations of cells, particularly T-helper cells type 1 (Th1), type 2 (Th2), and type 3 (Th3) subsets. Th1-dominated immune responses are associated with significant CNS injury [7, 8]. These responses are exacerbated or increased in frequency under certain conditions, such as systemic infection in conjunction with CNS injury [7]. The ability to inhibit Th1 immune responses has been found to reduce infarct size and improve outcomes following ischemic stroke [8]. In addition, the augmentation of Th2 and Th3 immune responses has been associated with neuroprotection and may augment neuroregeneration [15, 19]. Statins have been described as being able to elicit a Th2 immune response, and they been found to promote neuronal recovery in models of spinal cord injury and traumatic brain injury [2, 18]. The immunomodulating properties of statins may help explain their reported efficacy in treating SAH patients [25, 28, 32, 42]. In this experiment, we hypothesized that statins would provide neuroprotection against the neurological injury following experimental SAH that is associated with a Th2 immune switch in the CNS characterized by the infiltration of leukocytes producing the immunosuppressive cytokine transforming growth factor (TGF) β 1. We also predicted that this immune modulation would result in the suppression of proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL) 1β .

Materials and Methods

Experimental Animals and Groups

One hundred fifteen adult male Sprague–Dawley rats (Harlan, Indianapolis, IN) weighing between 250 and 350 g were divided randomly into four weight-matched groups: shamoperated treated with vehicle (sham, n=24), SAH treated with vehicle (SAH, n=32), SAH treated with low-dosage simvastatin (Calbiochem, CA, USA) (1 mg/kg, S-1, n=33) or high-dosage simvastatin (20 mg/kg, S-20, n=26). Our group's previous experiments have shown that 20 mg/kg simvastatin had no effect on cerebral physiology in sham animals [39]; therefore, a sham group treated with 1 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg simvastatin was not evaluated in this experiment.

Animals experiencing mild SAH (grades 0-7) were excluded from the study as per the SAH grading system

criteria because mild SAH does induce detectable neurological deficits in experimental studies [40]. In brief, the SAH grading system is as follows: The basal cistern is divided into six segments, and each segment is allotted a grade from 0 to 3 depending on the amount of subarachnoid blood clot in the segment: grade 0, no subarachnoid blood; 1, minimal subarachnoid blood; 2, moderate blood clot with recognizable arteries; 3, blood clot obliterating all arteries within the segment. The animals received a total score ranging from 0 to 18 after adding the scores from all six segments. Mild SAH was categorized as all animals that received a total score of five or less. The SAH grading was done in a blinded fashion.

Induction of SAH

All procedures and experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Loma Linda University. The endovascular perforation model of SAH in rats was used for this study as previously described [9, 30]. Briefly, general anesthesia was induced with ketamine (100 mg/kg ip) and xylazine hydrochloride (10 mg/kg ip) followed by atropine (0.1 mg/kg sc). After intubation, the animals were ventilated with an animal ventilator (Harvard Apparatus). A heating pad and a heating lamp were used to maintain the rectal temperature at 36.0±0.5°C. SAH was induced by endovascular perforation of the internal carotid artery (ICA) bifurcation with a sharpened 4-0 nylon suture. After exposing the left common carotid artery (CCA), external carotid artery (ECA), and ICA through a midline skin incision, the ECA was ligated, cut, and shaped into a 3-mm stump. The suture was advanced rostrally into the ICA from the ECA stump until resistance was felt (~18 mm from the common carotid bifurcation) and then pushed 3 mm further to perforate the bifurcation of the anterior cerebral and middle cerebral arteries. Immediately after puncture, the suture was withdrawn into the ECA stump, and the ICA was reperfused. Operative procedures were exactly same for the sham group, except that the suture was removed once resistance was felt without puncture. The incision was then closed, and rats were housed individually following their recovery from anesthesia. All rats received 3 ml normal saline intraperitoneally to prevent dehydration, and animals had free access to food and water until euthanization.

Drug Administration

Thirty minutes after the procedure, treatment groups received either a high (20 mg/kg) or low (1 mg/kg) dose of simvastatin via an intraperitoneal injection. High-dose simvastatin (20 mg/ kg) was selected on guidance from previous literature [29], whereas the low dosage (1 mg/kg) is comparable to that used
in current clinical settings. All simvastatin dosages were dissolved in ethanol and adjusted to a final concentration of 10%, with a total volume of 1.5 ml when they were administered. Sham and SAH groups received vehicle (1.5 ml of 10% ethanol in normal saline). This concentration of ethanol was not likely to affect any of the physiologic parameters assessed during this experiment [3, 5, 10].

Neurological Scoring

Neurological scores were evaluated in a blinded fashion 24 h after SAH with a modification of the scoring system reported by Garcia et al. [14]. An 18-point scoring system was used to evaluate the sensorimotor deficits.

Western Blotting Analysis

A standard western blotting protocol using the following antibodies: anti-TGF-\u00df1 (Cell Signaling, cat. 3711) and IL-1\u00bf (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-74138) was performed on brain tissue collected 24 h after SAH [22]. Briefly, animals were euthanized under anesthesia (5% isoflurane anesthetic in 70% medical air with 30% oxygen), and brains were immediately removed and stored at -80° C until analysis (n=6 for each group). Protein extraction from the brain obtained by gently homogenizing in RIPA (Radioimmunoprecipitation Lysis Buffer) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-24948) and further centrifuged at 14,000 g at 4°C for 30 min. The supernatant was used as whole-cell protein extract, and the protein concentration was determined by using a detergent-compatible assay (Bio-Rad, Dc protein assay). Equal amounts of protein (50 µg) were loaded on a sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gel. Protein was electrophoresed and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane; the membrane was then blocked and incubated with one of two primary antibodies, anti-TGF^β1 (Cell Signaling, cat. 3711) or IL-1 β (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-74138) overnight at 4°C. Nitrocellulose membranes were then incubated with secondary antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for 1 h at room temperature. Immunoblots were then probed with an ECL Plus chemiluminescence reagent kit (Amersham Biosciences, Arlington Heights, IL) and exposed to films. The data were analyzed by the software ImageJ 1.41 (National Institutes of Health).

Fluorescence Immunohistochemical Staining

Double-fluorescence labeling for TGF- β 1 and T cells in the brain slices mounted on histological glass slides was carried

out as previously described [12]. Four 10-µm thick sections per brain, from the central portion of the subarachnoid blood clot, were used in each group (n=4). Brain slices were immersed in the citrate buffer and boiled in a microwave oven for 10 min for antigen retrieval, then washed three times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) as described elsewhere [41]. This was followed by incubation with 5% donkey serum for 1 h at room temperature (RT). After removing excess blocking serum, primary antibodies were applied overnight at 4°C followed by secondary antibodies for 2 h at RT. Histological preparations were coverslipped with antifade reagent (Millipore) and observed under an Olympus BX51 epifluorescent microscope. The primary antibodies used were rabbit anti-TGF-B1 (Cell Signaling) and mouse anti-T-cell marker (Santa Cruz), each diluted 1:100. The respective secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Labs) were diluted 1:200. All other histological regents were obtained from Fisher Scientific Company. Photomicrographs were captured with a computer-assisted camera and merged with aid of Magna Fire Software (Systat Co.) [11].

Statistical Analysis

The data are expressed as mean plus or minus SEM. Statistical differences between the various groups were assessed with a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Holm-Sidak post hoc analysis. Statistical differences between two groups were assessed with Student *t* test. Mortality was analyzed using a chi-square test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Physiological Data

Physiological parameters were monitored before, during, and after surgery. No statistical differences were observed between the SAH group (n=6) and the S-20 group (n=6) with regard to mean arterial blood pressure, arterial blood gases, paO₂ and paCO₂, pH levels, and glucose levels before, immediately after puncture, and 30 min after SAH (data not published).

Mortality and Exclusion

Twelve rats were excluded from further evaluation following the grading of their SAH at 24 h. Eleven were due to mild grade SAH (0-7), and one was due to the presence of an acute subdural hematoma. This resulted in the following number of animals in each experimental group: Sham n=24, SAH n=29, S-1 n=27, S-20 n=25. Nine rats died before intended sacrifice time and were excluded from assessment of vasospasm and neurological deficits at 24 h. However, these rats were included in mortality statistics. The 24-h mortality rates in each group were as follows: sham, 0.0% (0/24); SAH, 17.2% (5/29); S-1, 11.1% (3/27); S-20, 4.0% (1/25). This resulted in 24 animals being in each experimental group at 24 h. The SAH groups (both treated and untreated) did not differ significantly in their mortality rates (p > 0.05, ANOVA).

High-Dose Simvastatin

High-dose simvastatin provided neuroprotection following SAH. SAH created significant neurological injury in all groups (Fig. 1). Animals treated with 20 mg/kg of simvastatin had improved neurological scores over vehicle or groups treated with 1 mg/kg simvastatin 24 h after SAH (Fig. 1).

High-dose simvastatin administration was associated with increased expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine TGF- β and inhibition of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β . Cortical and brain-stem samples demonstrated a differential expression of IL-1 β and TGF- β 1 following SAH that was affected by simvastatin treatment. TGF- β 1 levels were not significantly increased by the induction of experimental SAH, and low-dose simvastatin (1 mg/kg) did not have a significant effect on TGF- β 1 levels following SAH (Fig. 2a, c). High-dose simvastatin (20 mg/kg) resulted in a significant increase in the expression of TGF- β 1 following SAH (Fig. 2a, c). Following SAH, cortical brain samples showed a significant increase in the expression of IL-1 β versus sham (Fig. 2b). Treatment with simvastatin appeared to reduce IL-1 β expression following SAH in a dose-dependent manner, with significant reduction seen at a dose of 20 mg/kg (Fig. 2b). Similar results were found in brain-stem samples from the same animals (Fig. 2d).

Fluorescence Immunohistochemical Evidence of Th2 Switch

Representative photos of double-fluorescence labeling for TGF- β 1 and T cells in the brain slices mounted on histological glass slides demonstrated that lymphocytes were not visible in the subarachnoid space of the basal cisterns following sham surgery (Fig. 3). Lymphocytes were present following SAH, and their number did not appear to be affected by the administration of simvastatin (Fig. 3). Cells expressing TGF- β 1 were present in the subarachnoid space in the statin-treated groups (Fig. 3). Evaluation of the merged images demonstrated that these cells were lymphocytes (Fig. 3). Comparison of the SAH and S-20 groups clearly demonstrated that leukocytes were only expressing TGF- β 1 in the simvastatin-treated animals (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1 Effects of statin treatment on neurological score 24 h following subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). A modified Garcia Neurological Score was used, which ranges from 0 to 18. Eighteen represents normal

neurological function. n=24 per group; error bar, SE. #p<0.05 versus sham; *p<0.05 versus vehicle; @p<0.05 versus S-1; analysis of variance (ANOVA). LPS lipopolysaccharide, MCA middle cerebral artery





Fig. 2 Effects of statin treatment on transforming growth factor (*TGF*) β 1 and interleukin (*IL*) 1 β on expression in the cortex and brain stem 24 h after subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*). Western blots for cortex TGF- β 1 (**a**) and IL-1 β (**b**), as well as brain stem TGF- β 1 (**c**) and IL-1 β

Discussion

Subarachnoid hemorrhage, like nearly all CNS injuries, results in an inflammatory reaction. Several investigators have characterized the timeline and population of cells infiltrating the CNS following subarachnoid hemorrhage, indicating that SAH may elicit its own characteristic inflammatory reaction [23, 27]. Kubot et al. looked at several populations of leukocytes, including macrophages and lymphocytes, and found that populations of these cells peaked between 24 and 48 h [23]. Lymphocyte subpopulations, such as Th1, Th2, and Th3, have been found to play critical roles in determining the extent of injury in ischemic stroke and other experimental CNS injuries [7, 9, 19]. Circumstances such as concordant systemic infection or history of previous CNS antigen exposure, can determine which type of lymphocyte population dominates a CNS inflammatory reaction [7, 9, 19]. Typically, Th1dominant responses are associated with greater degrees of neuronal apoptosis and CNS injury, while Th2- or

(d). Expression levels of each protein in western blot are expressed as a ratio of β -actin levels for normalization. n=6 rats per groups; error bar, SE. #p<0.05 versus sham; *p<0.05 versus vehicle; analysis of variance (ANOVA)

Th3-dominant responses are associated with neuroregeneration and attenuated detrimental inflammatory reactions [15, 19]. Manipulation of the immune system following CNS injury to produce Th2 and Th3 lymphocyte-dominated immune responses, which are characterized by the secretion of immunomodulatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10, and TGF- β 1, has been sought after by investigators with the goal of providing neuroprotection [15, 19]. Wolf et al. showed that Th2 cells support neuronal survival better than Th1 cells in vitro [44]. Gimsa et al. demonstrated the Th2 cells mediated suppression of inflammatory signals in brain slices [16]. In addition, vaccination for the treatment of experimental CNS injury showed that Th2-inducing adjuvants promote axon regeneration better than the Th1-inducing adjuvant [21, 35]. Becker et al. demonstrated that a Th1 immune response following stroke resulted in larger infarctions in ischemic stroke models, while smaller infarctions were observed when Th2 immune responses were elicited [7, 8].

Statins, the drugs widely recognized as 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A–coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) Fig. 3 Representative photographs of double-fluorescence labeling for transforming growth factor (TGF) β 1 and T cells in the brain slices mounted on histological glass slides. The mouse anti-T-cell maker indicated T cells are not visualized in the subarachnoid space following sham surgery but become present following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). The TGF- β 1 expression by leukocytes was detected following treatment with simvastatin with the use of rabbit anti-TGFB-1 antibodies. Samples collected 24 h after SAH



reductase inhibitors and cholesterol-lowering agents, have been shown to be able to promote Th2- and Th3-dominated immune responses in various experimental conditions [1, 2, 18, 45]. For example, Youssef et al. showed that atorvastatin induced a Th2 switch characterized by TGF- β upregulation, interleukin downregulation, and reversed paralysis in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [45]. Other investigators have found statins to be neuroprotective in several CNS diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis (MS), stroke, and traumatic brain injury [7, 8, 24, 31, 33, 36]. Pannu et al. found that statin treatment reduced IL-1B expression in the spinal cord while preventing neuronal apoptosis [31]. We have previously demonstrated that simvastatin reverses vasospasm following experimental SAH in rats, and that this treatment is associated with less-severe neurological injury [39]. However, many authors have previously noted that vasospasm does not induce neurological deficits in rats due to their abundant collateral circulation and neuronal physiology [17]. Therefore, we sought to investigate the potential mechanisms of this statin-mediated neuroprotection. In this study, we have shown that simvastatin in a dosage of 20 mg/kg results in a significant reduction in the neurological injury induced by SAH. In addition, high-dose simvastatin increased the cortical and brain-stem expression of TGF- β 1 following SAH. TGF- β 1 is a cytokine that is expressed in the normal adult brain by parenchymal microglial cells, exerting a trophic anti-inflammatory effect [26]. It has been shown to promote the survival of neurons and inhibit microglial and astrocyte proliferation in the setting of CNS inflammatory reactions [27]. TGF- β 1 is a potent inhibitor of cell-mediated immunity and a key marker for Th2 lymphocyte-dominated inflammatory responses [43]. Our results also showed that simvastatin reduces the expression of IL-1 β . IL-1 β is known to be markedly elevated following CNS trauma, infection, and stroke and is also a marker of Th1-mediated inflammatory reactions [6, 37].

Our fluorescence immunohistochemical staining from cortex and brain-stem samples helped to provide a potential explanation for the marked elevation of TGF- β 1. Lymphocytes were observed to accumulate in the subarachnoid space following SAH (Fig. 3). In untreated SAH animals, infiltrating lymphocytes did not demonstrate TGF- β 1 expression. However, animals treated with high-dose simvastatin following SAH showed marked expression of TGF- β 1 by lymphocytes in the subarachnoid space and brain parenchyma (Figs. 2 and 3). These observations help to support the hypothesis that simvastatin induces a Th2 immune switch in these animals, and that infiltrating Th2 lymphocytes are responsible for the measured increase in TGF- β 1 expression in the brain following treatment.

Conclusion

The present study provided evidence for the neuroprotective role of statins following SAH and suggested that statins induce the presence of regulatory T lymphocytes in the subarachnoid space following SAH. The use of immune modulation through the use of statins or other inducers of Th2 switches has the potential to provide better outcomes for patients who suffer aneurysmal SAH.

Acknowledgment This study was supported by grants (NS053407) from the National Institutes of Health to J.H.Z.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Aktas O, Waiczies S, Smorodchenko A, Dorr J, Seeger B, Prozorovski T, Sallach S, Endres M, Brocke S, Nitsch R, Zipp F (2003) Treatment of relapsing paralysis in experimental encephalomyelitis by targeting Th1 cells through atorvastatin. J Exp Med 197:725–733
- Arora M, Chen L, Paglia M, Gallagher I, Allen JE, Vyas YM, Ray A, Ray P (2006) Simvastatin promotes Th2-type responses through the induction of the chitinase family member Ym1 in dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:7777–7782
- Ayer RE, Sugawara T, Chen W, Tong W, Zhang JH (2008) Melatonin decreases mortality following severe subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Pineal Res 44:197–204
- Ayer RE, Zhang JH (2008) The clinical significance of acute brain injury in subarachnoid hemorrhage and opportunity for intervention. Acta Neurochir Suppl 105:179–184
- Barry KJ, Scott RM (1979) Effect of intravenous ethanol on cerebral vasospasm produced by subarachnoid blood. Stroke 10:535–537
- Basu A, Krady JK, Levison SW (2004) Interleukin-1: a master regulator of neuroinflammation. J Neurosci Res 78:151–156
- Becker KJ, Kindrick DL, Lester MP, Shea C, Ye ZC (2005) Sensitization to brain antigens after stroke is augmented by lipopolysaccharide. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25:1634–1644
- Becker KJ, McCarron RM, Ruetzler C, Laban O, Sternberg E, Flanders KC, Hallenbeck JM (1997) Immunologic tolerance to myelin basic protein decreases stroke size after transient focal cerebral ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:10873–10878
- Bederson JB, Germano IM, Guarino L (1995) Cortical blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure in a new noncraniotomy model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. Stroke 26:1086–1091

- Biros MH, Kukielka D, Sutton RL, Rockswold GL, Bergman TA (1999) The effects of acute and chronic alcohol ingestion on outcome following multiple episodes of mild traumatic brain injury in rats. Acad Emerg Med 6:1088–1097
- Cheng O, Ostrowski RP, Wu B, Liu W, Chen C, Zhang JH (2011) Cyclooxygenase-2 mediates hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning in the rat model of transient global cerebral ischemia. Stroke 42:484–490
- Fathali N, Ostrowski RP, Lekic T, Jadhav V, Tong W, Tang J, Zhang JH (2010) Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition provides lasting protection against neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Crit Care Med 38:572–578
- Feigin VL, Lawes CM, Bennett DA, Anderson CS (2003) Stroke epidemiology: a review of population-based studies of incidence, prevalence, and case-fatality in the late 20th century. Lancet Neurol 2:43–45
- Garcia JH, Wagner S, Liu KF, Hu XJ (1995) Neurological deficit and extent of neuronal necrosis attributable to middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Statistical validation. Stroke 26:627–634
- Gee JM, Kalil A, Shea C, Becker KJ (2007) Lymphocytes: potential mediators of postischemic injury and neuroprotection. Stroke 38(2 Suppl):783–788
- Gimsa U, Wolf SA, Haas D, Bechmann I, Nitsch R (2001) Th2 cells support intrinsic anti-inflammatory properties of the brain. J Neuroimmunol 119:73–80
- Gules I, Satoh M, Clower BR, Nanda A, Zhang JH (2002) Comparison of three rat models of cerebral vasospasm. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283:H2551–H2559
- Hakamada-Taguchi R, Uehara Y, Kuribayashi K, Numabe A, Saito K, Negoro H, Fujita T, Toyo-oka T, Kato T (2003) Inhibition of hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme a reductase reduces Th1 development and promotes Th2 development. Circ Res 93:948–956
- Hendrix S, Nitsch R (2007) The role of T helper cells in neuroprotection and regeneration. J Neuroimmunol 184:100–112
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J (1997) Case-fatality rates and functional outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. Stroke 28:660–664
- Huang DW, McKerracher L, Braun PE, David SA (1999) A therapeutic vaccine approach to stimulate axon regeneration in the adult mammalian spinal cord. Neuron 24:639–647
- Jadhav V, Matchett G, Hsu FP, Zhang JH (2007) Inhibition of Src tyrosine kinase and effect on outcomes in a new in vivo model of surgically induced brain injury. J Neurosurg 106:680–686
- Kubota T, Handa Y, Tsuchida A, Kaneko M, Kobayashi H, Kubota T (1993) The kinetics of lymphocyte subsets and macrophages in subarachnoid space after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. Stroke 24:1993–2000
- Lu D, Goussev A, Chen J, Pannu P, Li Y, Mahmood A, Chopp M (2004) Atorvastatin reduces neurological deficit and increases synaptogenesis, angiogenesis, and neuronal survival in rats subjected to traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 21:21–32
- 25. Lynch JR, Wang H, McGirt MJ, Floyd J, Friedman AH, Coon AL, Blessing R, Alexander MJ, Graffagnino C, Warner DS, Laskowitz DT (2005) Simvastatin reduces vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: results of a pilot randomized clinical trial. Stroke 36:2024–2026
- 26. Makwana M, Jones LL, Cuthill D, Heuer H, Bohatschek M, Hristova M, Friedrichsen S, Ormsby I, Bueringer D, Koppius A, Bauer K, Doetschman T, Raivich G (2007) Endogenous transforming growth factor beta 1 suppresses inflammation and promotes survival in adult CNS. J Neurosci 27:11201–11213
- Mathiesen T, Lefvert AK (1996) Cerebrospinal fluid and blood lymphocyte subpopulations following subarachnoid haemorrhage. Br J Neurosurg 10:89–92
- McGirt MJ, Blessing R, Alexander MJ, Nimjee SM, Woodworth GF, Friedman AH, Graffagnino C, Laskowitz DT, Lynch JR (2006)

Risk of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage reduced by statin therapy: a multivariate analysis of an institutional experience. J Neurosurg 105:671–674

- McGirt MJ, Lynch JR, Parra A, Sheng H, Pearlstein RD, Laskowitz DT, Pelligrino DA, Warner DS (2002) Simvastatin increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase and ameliorates cerebral vasospasm resulting from subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 33:2950–2956
- Ostrowski RP, Colohan AR, Zhang JH (2005) Mechanisms of hyperbaric oxygen-induced neuroprotection in a rat model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 25:554–571
- Pannu R, Barbosa E, Singh AK, Singh I (2005) Attenuation of acute inflammatory response by atorvastatin after spinal cord injury in rats. J Neurosci Res 79:340–350
- 32. Parra A, Kreiter KT, Williams S, Sciacca R, Mack WJ, Naidech AM, Commichau CS, Fitzsimmons BF, Janjua N, Mayer SA, Connolly ES Jr (2005) Effect of prior statin use on functional outcome and delayed vasospasm after acute aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a matched controlled cohort study. Neurosurgery 56:476–484
- 33. Qu C, Lu D, Goussev A, Schallert T, Mahmood A, Chopp M (2005) Effect of atorvastatin on spatial memory, neuronal survival, and vascular density in female rats after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg 103:695–701
- Schievink WI (1997) Intracranial aneurysms. N Engl J Med 336:28–40
- 35. Sicotte M, Tsatas O, Jeong SY, Cai CQ, He Z, David S (2003) Immunization with myelin or recombinant Nogo-66/MAG in alum promotes axon regeneration and sprouting after corticospinal tract lesions in the spinal cord. Mol Cell Neurosci 23:251–263
- Stepien K, Tomaszewski M, Czuczwar SJ (2005) Neuroprotective properties of statins. Pharmacol Rep 57:561–569
- 37. Stojanov S, Lapidus S, Chitkara P, Feder H, Salazar JC, Fleisher TA, Brown MR, Edwards KM, Ward MM, Colbert RA, Sun HW, Wood GM, Barham BK, Jones A, Aksentijevich I, Goldbach-Mansky R, Athreya B, Barron KS, Kastner DL (2011) Periodic

fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis (PFAPA) is a disorder of innate immunity and Th1 activation responsive to IL-1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA A108:7148–7153

- Sudlow CL, Warlow CP (1997) Comparable studies of the incidence of stroke and its pathological types: results from an international collaboration. International Stroke Incidence Collaboration. Stroke 28:491–499
- 39. Sugawara T, Ayer R, Jadhav V, Chen W, Tsubokawa T, Zhang JH (2008) Simvastatin attenuation of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats via increased phosphorylation of Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Neurosci Res 86:3635–3643
- Sugawara T, Ayer R, Jadhav V, Zhang JH (2008) A new grading system evaluating bleeding scale in filament perforation subarachnoid hemorrhage rat model. J Neurosci Methods 167:327–334
- Titova E, Kevil CG, Ostrowski RP, Rojas H, Liu S, Zhang JH, Tang J (2008) Deficiency of CD18 gene reduces brain edema in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage in mice. Acta Neurochir Suppl 105:85–87
- 42. Tseng MY, Czosnyka M, Richards H, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ (2005) Effects of acute treatment with pravastatin on cerebral vasospasm, autoregulation, and delayed ischemic deficits after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase II randomized placebo-controlled trial. Stroke 36:1627–1632
- Weiner HL (2001) Oral tolerance: immune mechanisms and the generation of Th3-type TGF-beta-secreting regulatory cells. Microbes Infect 3:947–954
- Wolf SA, Fisher J, Bechmann I, Steiner B, Kwidzinski E, Nitsch R (2002) Neuroprotection by T-cells depends on their subtype and activation state. J Neuroimmunol 133:72–80
- 45. Youssef S, Stüve O, Patarroyo JC, Ruiz PJ, Radosevich JL, Hur EM, Bravo M, Mitchell DJ, Sobel RA, Steinman L, Zamvil SS (2002) The HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, atorvastatin, promotes a Th2 bias and reverses paralysis in central nervous system autoimmune disease. Nature 420:78–84

Role of Bilirubin Oxidation Products in the Pathophysiology of DIND Following SAH

Gail J. Pyne-Geithman, Sunil G. Nair, Danielle N. Caudell Stamper, and Joseph F. Clark

Abstract Despite intensive research efforts, by our own team and many others, the molecules responsible for acute neurological damage following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and contributing to delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) have not yet been elucidated. While there are a number of candidate mechanisms, including nitric oxide (NO) scavenging, endothelin-1, protein kinase C (PKC) activation, and rho kinase activation, to name but a few, that have been investigated using animal models and human trials, we are, it seems, no closer to discovering the true nature of this complex and enigmatic pathology. Efforts in our laboratory have focused on the chemical milieu present in hemorrhagic cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) following SAH and the interaction of the environment with the molecules generated by SAH and subsequent events, including NO scavenging, immune response, and clot breakdown. We have identified and characterized a group of molecules formed by the oxidative degradation of bilirubin (a clot breakdown product) and known as BOXes (bilirubin oxidation products). We present

G.J. Pyne-Geithman, D.Phil (⊠) Mayfield Neurovascular Research, Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Department of Neurosurgery, University of Cincinnati, 231 Albert Sabin Way, Cincinnati, OH 45267, USA e-mail: pynegj@ucmail.uc.edu

S.G. Nair, MBBS Department of Systems Biology and Physiology, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Department of Neurology, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

D.N.C. Stamper, BSN, RNDepartment of Neurosurgery,University of Cincinnati,231 Albert Sabin Way, Cincinnati, OH 45267, USA

J.F. Clark, Ph.D. Department of Neurology, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA a synopsis of the characterization of BOXes as found in human SAH patients' CSF and the multiple signaling pathways by which BOXes act. In summary, BOXes are likely to play an essential role in the etiology of acute brain injury following SAH, as well as DIND.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Delayed ischemic neurological deficit • Bilirubin • Vascular smooth muscle

Introduction

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) resulting from a ruptured aneurysm afflicts approximately 30,000 Americans yearly. Of those who survive the initial insult, 30-40% will subsequently suffer from delayed cerebral vasospasm (CV). This is a serious complication, leading to further stroke with higher mortality, increased morbidity, and significant neurological deficit [1], resulting in increased need for extensive rehabilitation and long-term health care. The pathological constriction of cerebral vessels (large conductance [2, 3] and microvessels [4]) that occurs during CV may lead to ischemia, infarction, or death; however, the 3- to 10-day hiatus between the initial hemorrhage and onset of CV potentially affords the clinician a therapeutic window [5]. Unfortunately, despite considerable research efforts, the etiology of CV is still unknown and appears to be a complex combination of events [4, 6]. Until we understand more clearly the molecular events contributing to delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) and acute brain injury after SAH, developing intelligent and effective prognostic, diagnostic, and therapeutic approaches will be a real challenge. Understanding the perturbations that occur in the cerebral microvasculature after SAH, including cortical spreading depolarization (CSD) and conversion of hyperemia to microvessel spasm in the presence of blood products [7], is a vitally important step toward identification, development, and validation of an effective prophylactic therapy against DIND.

Based on extensive studies, from our own and others' laboratories, showing that bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) affect large-vessel contractility [8], signaling [9], and metabolic function [10] and that they are present only in SAH patients with vasospasm [11], we posit that BOXes play a significant role in perturbations of microvessel reactivity and conversion of CSD-induced hyperemia into hypoperfusion [12] via constriction.

Discovery and Chemical Characterization of BOXes

The literature records a bewildering array of molecules that may be implicated in the etiology of CV after SAH. They include endothelin [13], hemoglobin [14, 15], bilirubin [16– 19], arachidonic acid and its peroxidized metabolites [20– 24], and immune system molecules [25]. However, almost all of these molecules are present in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) from SAH patients that develop and do not develop DIND, so they cannot be the only determinant of vasospasm. There is also the question of time course: These agents are present acutely and probably play a role in short-term vasoconstriction to minimize hemorrhage and perhaps brain injury, but DIND does not occur until 3–10 days after the SAH. Bilirubin, however, is produced in this time frame. The formation of bilirubin occurs as a result of the following reactions: Heme is converted into biliverdin by the inducible enzyme heme oxygenase 1 (HO1, also known as heat shock protein [HSP] 32). HO1 is induced in the presence of heme, or trauma. It is found in the microglia of the brain and the choroid plexus and arachnoid cells of the ventricular system [26]. Biliverdin is then converted into bilirubin by the enzyme biliverdin reductase, which is found principally in the liver, but in low levels in all tissues. Biliverdin reductase is not rate limiting as it is constitutively active and ubiquitous [27]. These reactions are illustrated in Fig. 1.

BOXes can be synthesized in the laboratory from bilirubin [17, 28]. We have found that their formation requires molecular oxygen [29], and that enzymatic processes can also produce BOXes in vitro [30–32].

BOXes and Their Properties in Human Patients

We have found that BOXes are present in measurable quantities in CSF of SAH patients, but that there are significantly higher concentrations of BOXes in CSF from patients who later developed DIND compared with those who did not; this was independent of hemoglobin concentration in the CSF [11]. By replicating as closely as possible the



Fig. 1 Formation of BOXes in vivo. (*i*) The conversion of heme to bilirubin involves two enzymes: heme oxygenase 1 (1.14.99.3) and biliverdin reductase (1.3.1.24). These reactions occur in the cerebrospinal fluid (*CSF*); the enzymes are found in brain tissue. (*ii*) Structures of bilirubin oxidation products (*BOXes*) that are found in CSF from patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) with delayed ischemic

neurological deficit (*DIND*) (but not SAH patients without DIND). They are formed in the presence of bilirubin and an oxidizing environment (see *iii*). These molecules are regularly synthesized in our laboratories. (*iii*) Matrix illustrating the four conditions that can be found in SAH patient CSF and the likelihood of BOXes being found in pathophysiological concentrations under that condition

conditions likely to exist in post-SAH CSF, we were able to synthesize BOXes in vitro and purify them to examine their effects on smooth muscle and brain tissue [17, 33]. We found that in vivo conditions favorable to the formation of BOXes were quite specific; an oxidative environment and high levels of bilirubin were required, and these seemed to be independent of initial hemorrhage volume [11]. Figure 1b diagrammatically represents these observations. Bilirubin appears in SAH CSF after around 12 h posthemorrhage, but the levels do not peak until days later. We have shown that bilirubin levels are in fact higher in CSF from DIND SAH patients, and that this bilirubin production peaks at 3-8 days [11, 19]. The oxidizing environment required for the formation of BOXes is also present in CSF from DIND SAH patients, as reported by us and others. An oxidizing environment may result from macrophage infiltration [34], which leads to elevated peroxide concentrations and nonspecific peroxidation of CSF components, as well as induction of cyclooxygenase [33], glutathione peroxidase [35], and lipooxygenase enzymes that produce hydroxyeicosatetranoic acid (HETE) molecules from arachidonic acid [22, 24]. These molecules are particularly implicated in resistance vessel spasm [36], and they are known to have actions on potassium channels [37], which are associated with CSDs [7]. Recently, we found that BOXes also affect smooth muscle potassium channel function [38]. BOXes synthesized in the laboratory (chemically identical to those isolated from SAH patient CSF [17, 28]) have been shown to be vasoactive both in vivo and in vitro, whereas unoxidized bilirubin had no effect [8, 10, 18].

Signaling Pathways Implicated in DIND Where BOXes May Act

The balance of basal tone in the cerebral vasculature is regulated by the ratio of endothelin/nitric oxide (NO) [39–41]. The disturbance of this balance has been reported to be due to hemoglobin scavenging of NO [42, 43], inhibition of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) [41, 44, 45], or upregulation of endothelin receptor expression [13]. Recent research showed that NO affects smooth muscle relaxation in two main ways: the multiple mechanisms by which intracellular calcium concentration is reduced [46–48] and a recently discovered role [49]. Kitazawa et al. reported that NO also effects vascular relaxation via decreased phosphorylation, and thus deactivation, of the intrinsic myosin light-chain phosphatase (MLCP) inhibitor CPI-17.

Protein kinase C (PKC) has been shown to play a role in the sensitization of the smooth muscle contractile apparatus to calcium [50–53]. More than one isoform of PKC has been implicated in the etiology of CV after SAH [54]. These studies, as well as work from our laboratory, showed that PKC δ is translocated to the cell membrane during the initiation of contraction in the basilar artery, and PKC α is translocated during the maintenance phase [8, 55]. However, this translocation does not appear to result in activation of the PKC enzymes (S.G. Nair, unpublished data). PKC, then, may play a role in initial contraction and sensitization of smooth muscle contractile apparatus, but the sustained pathological constriction seen in CV also involves a pathological failure to relax.

Phosphorylation of Myosin Light Chains (MLC20) activates the intrinsic adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) activity of the myosin heavy chain and thus allows cross-bridge interaction and contraction. For the energy-efficient "latch" state to be entered, or for relaxation to be effected, MLC20 must be dephosphorylated by MLCP, a type 1 protein phosphatase (PP1) [56, 57]. The latch state is a physiological event that enables smooth muscles to maintain tension at low energy cost, and it responds to physiological vasodilatory signals [58]. Dephosphorylation must also occur to allow relaxation. Vasospasm is not energy efficient and does not respond to physiological or pharmacological dilatory signals [59, 60]. Phosphorylation events control the contractile activity, the calcium sensitivity of smooth muscle contraction, and perturbation of these events and their control is likely to cause vascular dysfunction and pathology [6, 60, 61]; inhibition of MLCP leads to a failure to relax [62]. Increased myosin ATPase phosphorylation has been reported in the canine double-hemorrhage model [15, 63–65]. These increases are reported to be due to mobilization of Rho, which activates rho kinase (ROCK), which in turn phosphorylates and inactivates MLCP [66–68]. Rho is activated by a number of agonists, including thromboxane A2 and other lipid-signaling molecules [69]. Investigations in our laboratory have shown that BOXes induce expression and activation of rho A and ROCK in both intact tissue [8] and cells in culture [70]. Rho activation by BOXes leads to potentiation of smooth muscle contraction (vessel rings) in response to phenylephrine [8] and formation of stress fibers (in cultured cells) [70], a hallmark of rho-mediated perturbations [71, 72]. Figure 2 illustrates these data.

Conclusion

Given the widespread effects of BOXes, it is likely that they are a significant contributor not only to vascular pathophysiology but also to neuronal damage (Crutcher K,



 $20 \,\mu\text{M}$ BOXes

100 nM U46619

Fig. 2 Rho-dependent stress fiber formation in primary smooth muscle cell culture. Representative images of smooth muscle cells in culture under various conditions. Cells were cultured from porcine carotid arteries for 24 h in serum-depleted media. Cells were exposed to treatment for 30 min, then fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde. Cells were then stained for actin using smooth muscle actin α SMA-mAb (1:50). Alexafluor-488 (*green*) goat antimouse immunoglobulin (Ig) G (1:400) (Molecular Probes) was used as secondary antibody, and Topro-3 (*red*) (1:500) (Molecular Probes) was used to counterstain nuclei. (**a**) Vehicle control-treated cells (0.9% NaCl) show typical smooth muscle mor-

Pyne-Geithman GJ, unpublished data). Figure 3 shows a schematic including (many, but not all) known and postulated pathways implicated in the vascular etiology of DIND following SAH. BOXes have been found to have effects in many of these pathways, as indicated in the schematic. Although much of our work has, to date, been focused on

phology and actin distribution. (**b**) Cells treated with bilirubin oxidation products (*BOXes*) at pathophysiological levels in the presence of a rho inhibitor (CT-04) exhibit similar typical morphology. (**c**) BOXes at levels seen in delayed ischemic neurological deficit (*DIND*) subarachnoid hemorrhage (*SAH*) patient cerebrospinal fluid (*CSF*) (20 μ M) elicited stress fiber formation. Cells are retracted, and actin filaments are no longer arranged along the axis of the cells. (**d**) Remarkably similar morphology is seen in cells treated with U46619 at 100 nM (a thromboxane A₂ receptor agonist, which is known to act through rho). Scale bar represents 50 μ m

large-vessel physiology and biochemistry, many of our findings are applicable to cerebral microvessels. Given the increasing evidence for the role of microvessel integrity and signaling and CSDs in DIND following SAH, we are now pursuing these avenues with respect to the role of BOXes.

271



Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Mayberg MR, Batjer HH, Dacey R, Diringer M, Haley EC, Heros RC, Sternau LL, Torner J, Adams HP Jr, Feinberg W et al (1994) Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. A statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. Stroke 25:2315–2328
- Weir B (1995) The pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm. Br J Neurosurg 9:375–390
- Macdonald RL (2001) Pathophysiology and molecular genetics of vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:7–11
- Pluta RM, Hansen-Schwartz J, Dreier J, Vajkoczy P, Macdonald RL, Nishizawa S, Kasuya H, Wellman G, Keller E, Zauner A, Dorsch N, Clark J, Ono S, Kiris T, Leroux P, Zhang JH (2009) Cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage: time for a new world of thought. Neurol Res 31:151–158
- Weir B, Grace M, Hansen J, Rothberg C (1978) Time course of vasospasm in man. J Neurosurg 48:173–178

- Clark JF, Pyne-Geithman GJ (2005) Vascular smooth muscle function: the physiology and pathology of vasoconstriction. Pathophysiology 12:35–45
- Dreier JP, Ebert N, Priller J, Megow D, Lindauer U, Klee R, Reuter U, Imai Y, Einhaupl KM, Victorov I, Dirnagl U (2000) Products of hemolysis in the subarachnoid space inducing spreading ischemia in the cortex and focal necrosis in rats: a model for delayed ischemic neurological deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage? J Neurosurg 93:658–666
- Pyne-Geithman G, Nair S, Caudell D, Clark J (2008) PKC and Rho in vascular smooth muscle: activation by BOXes and SAH CSF. Front Biosci 13:1526–1534
- Nair S, Clark JF, Pyne-Geithman GJ (2007) Patterns of protein kinase C and Rho activation during cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:e43
- Lyons MA, Shukla R, Zhang K, Pyne GJ, Sing M, Biehle SJ, Clark JF (2004) Increase of metabolic activity and disruption of normal contractile protein distribution by bilirubin oxidation products in vascular smooth-muscle cells. J Neurosurg 100:505–511
- Pyne-Geithman GJ, Morgan CJ, Wagner KR, Dulaney EM, Carrozzella JA, Kanter DS, Zuccarello M, Clark JF (2005) Bilirubin production and oxidation in CSF of patients with cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:1070–1077

- Petzold GC, Einhaupl KM, Dirnagl U, Dreier JP (2003) Ischemia triggered by spreading neuronal activation is induced by endothelin-1 and hemoglobin in the subarachnoid space. Ann Neurol 54:591–598
- Zuccarello M, Romano A, Passalacqua M, Rapoport RM (1995) Decreased endothelium-dependent relaxation in subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced vasospasm: role of ET-1. Am J Physiol 269:H1009–H1015
- Buckell M (1964) Demonstration of substances capable of contracting smooth muscle in haematoma fluid from certain cases of ruptured cerebral aneurysm. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 27:198–199
- Wickman G, Lan C, Vollrath B (2003) Functional roles of the rho/ rho kinase pathway and protein kinase C in the regulation of cerebrovascular constriction. Circ Res 92:809–816
- Miao FJ, Lee TJ (1989) Effects of bilirubin on cerebral arterial tone in vitro. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 9:666–674
- Kranc KR, Pyne GJ, Tao L, Claridge TDW, Harris DA, Cadoux-Hudson TAD, Turnbull JJ, Schofield CJ, Clark JF (2000) Oxidative degradation of bilirubin produces vasoactive compounds. Eur J Biochem 267:7094–7101
- Clark JF, Reilly M, Sharp FR (2002) Oxidation of bilirubin produces compounds that cause prolonged vasospasm of rat cerebral vessels: a contributor to subarachnoid hemorrhage induced cerebral vasospasm. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22:472–478
- Morgan CJ, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Jauch EC, Shukla R, Wagner KR, Clark JF, Zuccarello M (2004) Bilirubin as a cerebrospinal fluid marker of sentinel subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary report in pigs. J Neurosurg 101:1026–1029
- Seifert V, Stolke D, Kaever V, Dietz H (1987) Arachidonic acid metabolism following aneurysm rupture. Surg Neurol 27:243–252
- Watanabe T, Asano T, Shimizu T, Seyama Y, Takakura K (1988) Participation of lipooxygenase products from arachidonic acid in the pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm. J Neurochem 50:1145–1150
- 22. Ohta S, Nishihara J, Oka Y, Todo H, Kumon Y, Sakaki S (1995) Possible mechanism to induce protein kinase C-dependent arterial smooth muscle contraction after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 137:217–225
- Zimpfer U, Hofmann C, Dichmann S, Schopf E, Norgauer J (1998) Synthesis, biological effects and pathophysiological implications of the novel arachidonic acid metabolite 5-oxo-eicosatetranoic acid (Review). Int J Mol Med 2:149–153
- Pyne GJ, Cadoux-Hudson TAD, Clark JF (2003) Platelets play an essential role in the aetiology of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Med Hypotheses 60:525–530
- Vieweg U, Schramm J, Urbach H (1999) Platelet derived growth factor (PGDF-AB)-like immune reactivity in serum and in cerebral spinal fluid following experimental subarachnoid haemorrhage in dogs. Acta Neurochir 141:861–866
- Turner CP, Bergeron M, Matz P, Zegna A, Noble LJ, Panter SS, Sharp FR (1998) Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) is induced in glia throughout the brain by subarachnoid hemoglobin. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:257–273
- Tenhunen R, Ross ME, Marver HS, Schmid R (1970) Reduced nicotinamide-adenine dinucleotide phosphatse dependent biliverdin reductase: partial purification and characterization. Biochemistry 9:298–303
- Wurster W, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Peat I, Clark JF (2007) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXEs): synthesis, stability and chemical characteristics. Acta Neurochir Suppl 104:43–50
- Loftspring M, Wurster WL, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Clark JF (2006) Molecular oxygen is required for oxidation of bilirubin in vitro. Society for Neuroscience (SfN). J. Neurosci, Atlanta

- Wurster WL, Loftspring M, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Clark JF (2008) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) are produced by biochemical oxidation involving free peroxynitrite. FASEB J 22:758.16
- Wurster WL, Loftspring M, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Peat IR, Clark JF (2007) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) are produced by biochemical oxidation involving free hemoglobin. Society for Neuroscience (SfN). J. Neurosci, San Diego
- 32. Wurster WL, Loftspring M, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Peat IR, Clark JF (2008) Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) are produced by biochemical oxidation involving xanthine oxidase. Society for Neuroscience (SfN). J. Neurosci, Washington, DC
- Loftspring M, Wurster W, Pyne-Geithman GJ, Clark JF (2007) An in vitro model of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: oxidation of unconjugated bilirubin by cytochrome oxidase. J Neurochem 102:1990–1995
- Oshiro EM, Hoffman PA, Dietsch GN, Watts MC, Pardoll DM, Tamargo RJ (1997) Inhibition of experimental vasospasm with anti-intercellular adhesion molecule-1 monoclonal antibody in rats. Stroke 28:2031–2037
- Pyne-Geithman G, Caudell D, Prakash P, Clark J (2009) Glutathione peroxidase and subarachnoid hemorrhage: implications for the role of oxidative stress in cerebral vasospasm. Neurol Res 31:195–199
- 36. Katayama T, Watanabe M, Tanaka H, Hino M, Miyakawa T, Ohki T, Ye L-H, Xie C, Yoshiyama S, Nakamura A, Ishikawa R, Tanokura M, Oiwa K, Kohama K (2010) Stimulatory effects of arachidonic acid on myosin ATPase activity and contraction of smooth muscle via myosin motor domain. Am J Physiol 298:H505–H514
- Ratz PH, Miner AS, Barbour SE (2009) Calcium-independent phospholipase A₂ participates in KCl-induced calcium sensitization of vascular smooth muscle. Cell Calcium 46:65–72
- Hou S, Xu R, Clark JF, Wurster WL, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2011) Bilirubin oxidation end products directly alter K⁺ channels important in the regulation of vascular tone. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 31:102–112
- Faraci FM (1990) Role of nitric oxide in regulation of basilar artery tone in vivo. Am J Physiol 28:H1216–H1221
- Harrison DG, WIdder J, Grumbach IM, Chen W, Weber M, Searles C (2006) Endothelial mechanotransduction, nitric oxide and vascular inflammation. J Intern Med 259:351–363
- Pluta RM, Thompson BG, Dawson TM, Snyder SH, Boock RJ, Oldfield EH (1996) Loss of nitric oxide synthase immunoreactivity in cerebral vasospasm. J Neurosurg 84:648–654
- Pluta RM, Thompson BG, Afshar JK, Boock RJ, Iuliano B, Oldfield EH (2001) Nitric oxide and vasospasm. Acta Neurochir Suppl 77:67–72
- Gladwin MT, Lancaster MR Jr, Freeman BA, Schecter AN (2003) Nitric oxide reactions with hemoglobin: a view through the SNOstorm. Nat Med 9:496–500
- Edwards DH, Byrne JV, Griffith TM (1992) The effect of chronic subarachnoid hemorrhage on basal endothelium-derived relaxing factor activity in intrathecal cerebral arteries. J Neurosurg 76:830–837
- 45. Sehba FA, Bederson JB (2006) Mechanisms of acute brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 28:381–398
- Moncada S, Palmer RMJ, Higgs EA (1991) Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 43:109–142
- 47. Dostmann W, Tegge W, Frank R, Nickl C, Taylor M, Brayden J (2002) Exploring the mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle tone with highly specific, membrane-permeable inhibitors of cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase I alpha. Pharmacol Ther 93:203
- Tuteja N, Chandra M, Tuteja R, Misra MK (2004) Nitric oxide as a unique bioactive signaling messenger in physiology and pathophysiology. J Biomed Biotechnol 2004:227–237
- Kitazawa T, Semba S, Huh YH, Kitazawa K, Eto M (2009) Nitric oxide-induced biphasic mechanism of vascular relaxation via

dephosphorylation of CPI-17 and MYPT1. J Physiol 587:3587-3603

- Laher I, Bevan JA (1987) Protein kinase C activation selectively augments a stretch induced, calcium dependent tone in vascular smooth muscle. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 242:566–572
- Erdodi F, Rokolya A, Barany M, Barany K (1988) Phosphorylation of the 20,000-Da myosin light chain isoforms of arterial smooth muscle by myosin light chain kinase and protein kinase C. J Biochem Biophys 306:583–591
- Haller H, Smallwood JI (1990) Protein kinase C translocation in intact vascular smooth muscle strips. Biochem J 270:375–381
- Ruegg JC (2000) Smooth muscle; PKC-induced Ca²⁺ sensization by myosin phosphatase inhibition. J Physiol 520:3
- Nishizawa S, Yamamoto S, Uemura K (1996) Interrelation between protein kinase C and nitric oxide in the development of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Res 18:89–95
- 55. Nishizawa S, Obara K, Nakayama K, Koide M, Yokoyama T, Yokota N, Ohta S (2000) Protein kinase C δ and α are involved in the development of vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Eur J Pharmacol 398:113–119
- Barany M, Barany K (1996) Protein phosphorylation during contraction and relaxation. In: Barany M (ed) Biochemistry of smooth muscle contraction, vol 1. Academic, San Diego, pp 321–339
- 57. Sellers JR (1999) Unphosphorylated crossbridges and latch: smooth muscle regulation revisited. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 20:347–349
- Murphy RA, Rembold CM, Hai C-M (1990) Contraction in smooth muscle. What is latch? Front Smooth Musc Res 327:39–50
- 59. Varsos V, Liszczak TM, Hee Lan D, Kistler JP, Vielma J, McL Black P, Heros RC, Zervas NT (1983) Delayed cerebral vasospasm is not reversible by aminophylline, nifedipine or papaverine in a "two-hemorrhage" canine model. J Neurosurg 58:11–17
- Pyne GJ, Cadoux-Hudson TAD, Clark JF (1998) Force-function relations in vascular smooth muscle during cerebral vasospasm. Biophys J 74:A256
- 61. Bolz S-SM, Vogel L, Sollinger D, Derwand RM, de Wit CM, Loirand GP, Pohl UMP (2003) Nitric oxide-induced decrease in calcium sensitivity of resistance arteries is attributed to activation of the myosin light chain phosphatase and antagonized by the rhoa/ rho kinase pathway. Circulation 107:3081–3087

- 62. Pyne G, Cadoux-Hudson T, Clark J (2000) The presence of an extractable substance in the CSF of humans with cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage that correlates with phosphatase inhibition. Biochim Biophys Acta 1474:283–290
- Butler TM, Narayan SR, Mooers SU, Siegman MJ (1994) Rapid turnover of myosin light chain phosphate during cross bridge cycling. Am J Physiol 267:C1160–C1166
- Butler WE, Peterson JW, Zervas NT, Morgan KG (1996) Intracellular calcium, myosin light chain phosphorylation and contractile force in experimental cerebral vasospasm. Neurosurgery 38:781–788
- Sato M, Tani E, Fujikawa H, Kaibuchi K (2000) Involvement of Rho-kinase-mediated phosphorylation of myosin light chain in enhancement of cerebral vasospasm [see comments]. Circ Res 87:195–200
- 66. Feng J, Ito M, Ichikawa K, Isaki N, Nishikawa M, Hartshorne DJ, Nakano T (1999) Inhibitory phosphorylation site for Rhoassociated kinase on smooth muscle myosin phosphatase. J Biol Chem 274:37385–37390
- Koyama M, Ito M, Feng J, Seko T, Shiraki K, Takase K, Hartshorne DJ, Nakano T (2000) Phosphorylation of CPI-17, an inhibitory phosphoprotein of smooth muscle myosin phosphatase, by Rhokinase. FEBS Lett 475:197–200
- Nobe K, Paul RJ (2001) Distinct pathways of Ca²⁺ sensitization in porcine coronary artery. Effects of Rho-related kinase and protein kinase C inhibition on force and intracellular Ca²⁺. Circ Res 88:1283–1290
- Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV (2000) Signal transduction by G-proteins, rho-kinase and protein phosphatase to smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II. J Physiol 522:177–185
- Pyne-Geithman GJ, Nair SG, Clark JF (2009) Rho-mediated stress fiber formation in smooth muscle esposed to bilirubin oxidation products: a mechanism for cerebral vasospasm. In: Tenth international conference on cerebral vasospasm, Thieme Chongqing, 2009
- Brandt D, Gimona M, Hillman M, Haller H, Mischak H (2002) Protein kinase C induced actin reorganization via a Src- and Rhodependent pathway. J Biol Chem 277:20903–20910
- Ridley AJ, Hall A (1992) The small GTP-binding protein rho regulated the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. Cell 70:389–399

Association of Morphologic and Demographic Features of Intracranial Aneurysms with Their Rupture: A Retrospective Analysis

Sayantani Ghosh, Saugat Dey, Stavropoula Tjoumakaris, Fernando Gonzalez, Robert Rosenwasser, Jabbour Pascal, and Jack Jallo

Abstract *Background*: In spite of its common occurrence, the factors predictive of the rupture of intracranial aneurysms (IAs) remain poorly defined.

Method: A retrospective analysis of patients admitted with a primary diagnosis of cerebral aneurysm in a single institution was done. The factors studied were age, sex, size, site, side, multiplicity, neck type, aspect ratio, positive family history, smoking and drinking habits, and hypertension. The morphological parameters were evaluated for a total of 5,138 aneurysms obtained from the 2,347 patients. Factors found significant on univariate analysis were further tested on a multivariate model.

Findings: We found 1,088 patients (46.36%) had at least a single aneurysmal rupture. Among the morphologic factors, size greater than 10 mm, right sidedness, aspect ratio greater than 1.6, deviated neck type, and multiplicity were found to be associated with higher incidences of rupture. Aneurysms on posterior communicating and middle cerebral arteries were found to be more prone to rupture. The demographic factors that were more linked with the ruptured aneurysms were positive family history, smoking, and hypertension.

Conclusions: Relevant cases should be started on intensive lifestyle modification, and extensive screening of those with a positive family history is highly warranted. All "atrisk" patients should be evaluated for early surgical intervention.

Keywords Cerebral aneurysms • Risk factors • Familial cerebral aneurysms • Hypertension • Smoking

M.D., FACS, and J. Jallo, M.D., Ph.D., FACS

Department of Neurological Surgery,

Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Introduction

Intracranial aneurysms (IAs) affect 2–5% of the entire population [18]. But, despite their expected common occurrence, only 1% of all IAs actually rupture [20]. Ruptured IAs classically cause subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) but may cause intraventricular hemorrhage and subdural blood [8]. About 65% of patients die of the first SAH, and a further 20–25% experience complications [22]. Hence, understanding of the pattern of rupture in IAs is helpful in predicting the rupture risk in patients and would result in earlier and better management of this disease.

Although there have been clinical studies in the past concerning the various factors leading to aneurysmal rupture, including those involving absolute size [12, 18, 24]; various angles, indices, and size ratios [6, 21]; fluid dynamic studies [3, 9, 19]; location of the aneurysm [4, 15]; age and sex [5]; family history [14]; hypertension [16]; and smoking and alcohol consumption [11], there has been little large-scale research taking all the factors together. Hence, we took the 12 most controversial yet vital factors and compared them for ruptured and unruptured cases to discover their actual significance.

Methods and Materials

Retrospective review was made of all patients admitted in the cerebrovascular facility of Philadelphia's Thomas Jefferson University from March 2006 to January 2010, irrespective of when or where their aneurysms were operated on; this made us include many people having their surgeries prior to 2006. Only patients with a radiographically confirmed diagnosis of cerebral aneurysm by computed tomographic angiography (CTA), magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), or digital subtraction angiography (DSA) were included. There were 2,347 patients who met the criteria, among which 1,088 had rupture of at least a single IA. There were 884 patients with multiple aneurysms, so a total of 5,138 IA s were obtained from the 2,347 cases.

S. Ghosh, MBBS, S. Dey, MBBS (🖂), S. Tjoumakaris, M.D., FACS, F. Gonzalez, M.D., FACS, R. Rosenwasser, M.D., FACS, J. Pascal,

e-mail: dey_saugat@rediffmail.com

Information on age, sex, familial preponderance, hypertension (>140/90 mmHg), aneurysm size, aspect ratio, location, multiplicity, and history of smoking and alcohol consumption was retrieved from the database. Former smokers who had quit smoking more than 2 years ago and sporadic alcohol consumers were excluded from the smoking and alcohol analysis. The information about the size (the maximum perpendicular height), neck type, and the aspect ratio (the ratio of the maximum perpendicular height to the average neck diameter) was either noted from the operative and discharge notes or measured from angiographic images obtained from iPhilips. Approval for the collection and review of data was obtained from the institutional review board at Thomas Jefferson University.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using JMP 7.0.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Initial univariate analysis was done to assess the statistical significance of the observed difference between the ruptured and unruptured groups for each parameter. A chi-square test was performed for rate versus rate, and logistic regression was used for rate versus continuous variable. The *p* values and 95% confidence intervals were calculated and reported. Effect of age was also assessed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) with age as the dependent variable and rupture, sex, and family history as the main effects. All parameters that were found to be significant (p<0.05) in the univariate analysis were further analyzed using multivariate regression to identify those parameters that retained significance while accounting for all relevant variables.

Results

There were a total of 1,555 females and 792 males in the study, so the ratio of females to males was 1.96:1. The rupture rate [(number of persons having a rupture/total number of persons)×100] was higher in males (49.24%) than in females (44.89%) (p = 0.045), with 38.26% of the total number of males and 37.36% of the total number of females having more than one IA (p = 0.67). The rupture rate among the 884 cases with multiple aneurysms was 65.38%, while it was 34.86% for those with a single aneurysm (p < 0.0001). Mean age of rupture in males was 4.04 years more than that in females. Increasing age, when considered alone, was associated with less chance of rupture (odds ratio 0.98; 95% confidence interval 0.97–0.99).

Of those with a history of aneurysm in a first-degree relative, 72.21% had a rupture against 38.50% of those who did not have a single family member having an IA (p < 0.0001). Also, people who did have a positive family history had more chance of having multiple aneurysms (p < 0.0001) and had a rupture 3.22 years (95% confidence interval 1.83–4.62) before those who did not (p < 0.0001).

Among the other demographic factors, smoking and hypertension seemed to have a role in rupture. Of current smokers or ex-smokers who had smoked for at least 10 pack years and have quit smoking less than 2 years ago, 67.94% had a rupture compared to 40.20% of nonsmokers (p < 0.0001). Of hypertensive people, 58.21% had a rupture compared to 40.32% of those with a normal blood pressure (p < 0.0001). Smoking and hypertension were also associated with increased incidences of multiple aneurysms (p = 0.00078 and p = 0.032, for smoking and hypertension respectively).

Aneurysm size was found to have the most significant effect among all factors. Of IAs greater than 10 mm in size, 58.32% ruptured, while only 18.97% of those with a size less than 10 mm did rupture (p<0.0001). Other morphologic factors like aspect ratio also had a major role to play: 52.5% of IAs with aspect ratio greater than 1.6 ruptured, while only 19.72% of those with aspect ratio less than 1.6 (p<0.0001) did rupture. As expected, IAs with deviated neck ruptured more (35.77%) than those with classical necks (28.43%) (p=0.0003). Of patients having a deviated neck aneurysm greater than 10 mm size and greater than 1.6 aspect ratio, 69.21% did rupture (p<0.0001). Although most of the aneurysms were left sided (69.85%), right-sided ones had a higher rupture rate of 39.38% compared to 32.96% for the left-sided ones (p<0.0001).

Most of the IAs (71.7%) were in the anterior circulation, with most of them in the anterior communicating artery. The posterior circulation harbored a higher fraction of the smallersize IAs (p=0.004) than the anterior circulation, with most of them in the posterior communicating artery. The rupture rates for the posterior circulation IAs were also higher (37.55%) than for the anterior circulation ones (33.85%) (p=0.0121). The highest rupture rate was in the posterior communicating artery, but the maximum number of rupture cases occurred in the middle cerebral artery.

Discussion

Our study revealed that aneurysm size greater than 10 mm was the most imperative factor for rupture, which is contrary to recent large-scale studies, such as the International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms [10, 24], which predicted extremely low rupture rates based on absolute IA size. Numerous other studies have also disputed the role of size as a rupture predictor by illustrating incidences of rupture from small aneurysms [1, 2].

Family history of ruptured IA in even one first-degree relative proved to increase the rupture risk manyfold and



reduce the age at rupture. Family history of aneurysm also increased the risk for multiple aneurysms. This should persuade early and regular screening for IAs in the family members of patients with a ruptured IA. Smoking and hypertension also increased the chance of IA multiplicity. Having multiple aneurysms alone can also amplify the rupture risk.

Current smoking and resting blood pressure above 140/90 also seemed to be independent risk factors for aneurysmal SAH. Alcohol intake had no definite relationship with rupture, whereas increasing age reduced the chances of rupture. IAs were more widespread in females, but males were found to have slightly higher chances of rupture, although the difference lost its significance on multivariate analysis (p = 0.08). Figure 1 illustrates the odds ratio for rupture for the different demographic parameters in the multivariate model.

Higher aspect ratio also accounted for higher rupture rates, which is in sync with the previous studies [21, 23]. Presence of deviated neck (i.e., side-wall aneurysms), although it was associated with higher rupture risk but was not as important as the other factors, corroborating a recent volumetric study that parent vessel geometry has more role to play than type of aneurysm [19]. Right-sided aneurysms, although less common, had higher chances of rupture. Figure 2 illustrates the odds ratio for rupture for the different morphologic parameters in the multivariate model.

Previous studies based on the location of IAs showed that certain vessels, such as the posterior communicating artery and the anterior communicating artery, have a higher incidence of ruptured aneurysms when compared with other locations, such as the internal carotid artery [1, 2, 7, 13, 22]. In our study, we obtained the highest rupture rates in the posterior communicating artery, followed by the middle cerebral artery and anterior communicating artery. As a whole, we had higher rupture rates in the posterior circulation. Also, we had smaller aneurysms rupturing in the posterior circulation, with most of them in the posterior communicating artery; previous studies showed a high percentage of small ruptured IAs in the anterior communicating artery [13, 17].

Conclusion

Our study reignited the debate on the implication of greater aneurysmal size in the rupture of IA again by demonstrating a considerable proportion of larger aneurysms rupturing. This should pilot more large-scale prospective trials in this regard. The effects of aspect ratio and aneurysm neck type on rupture were distinguished, although not that remarkably. Right-sided aneurysms also seemed to be related to the rupture process. Family history of ruptured IAs, aneurysm multiplicity, smoking, and hypertension also were observed to have an enormous effect on the rupture process. **Conflicts of Interest Statement** We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Beck J, Rohde S, Berkefeld J, Seifert V, Raabe A (2006) Size and location of ruptured and unruptured intracranial aneurysms measured by 3-dimensional rotational angiography. Surg Neurol 65:18–27
- Carter BS, Sheth S, Chang E, Sethl M, Ogilvy CS (2006) Epidemiology of the size distribution of intracranial bifurcation aneurysms: smaller size of distal aneurysms and increasing size of unruptured aneurysms with age. Neurosurgery 58:217–223
- Cebral JR, Castro MA, Burgess JE, Pergolizzi RS, Sheridan MJ, Putman CM (2005) Characterization of cerebral aneurysms for assessing risk of rupture by using patient-specific computational hemodynamics models. Am J Neuroradiol 26:2550–2559
- Clarke G, Mendelow AD, Mitchell P (2005) Predicting the risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms based on anatomical location. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 147:259–263
- Clarke M (2008) Systematic review of reviews of risk factors for intracranial aneurysms. Neuroradiology 50:653–664
- Dhar S, Tremmel M, Mocco J, Kim M, Yamamoto J, Siddiqui AH, Hopkins LN, Meng H (2008) Morphology parameters for intracranial aneurysm rupture risk assessment. Neurosurgery 63:185–197
- Forget TR Jr, Benitez R, Veznedaroglu E, Sharan A, Mitchell W, Silva M, Rosenwasser RH (2001) A review of size and location of ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Neurosurgery 49:1322–1326
- Greenberg MS (2006) Handbook of neurosurgery, 6th edn. Thieme, New York, pp 781–826
- Hassan T, Timofeev EV, Saito T, Shimizu H, Ezura M, Matsumoto Y, Takayama K, Tominaga T, Takahashi A (2005) A proposed parent vessel geometry-based categorization of saccular intracranial aneurysms: computational flow dynamics analysis of the risk factors for lesion rupture. J Neurosurg 103:662–680

- International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms Investigators (1998) Unruptured intracranial aneurysm – risk of rupture and risks of surgical intervention. N Engl J Med 339:1725–1733
- Juvela S, Hillbom M, Numminen H, Koskinen P (1993) Cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption as risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 24:639–646
- Juvela S, Porras M, Poussa K (2000) Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: probability of and risk factors for aneurysm rupture. J Neurosurg 93:379–387
- Lai HP, Cheng KM, Yu SCH, Yeung KMA, Cheung YL, Chan CM, Poon WS, Lui WM (2009) Size, location, and multiplicity of ruptured intracranial aneurysms in the Hong Kong Chinese population with subarachnoid haemorrhage. Hong Kong Med J 15:262–266
- Lee JS, Park IS et al (2008) Familial intracranial aneurysms. J Korean Neurosurg Soc 44:136–140
- Lindner SH, Bor ASE, Rinkel GJE (2010) Differences in risk factors according to the site of intracranial aneurysms. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 81:116–118
- Nahed BV, DiLuna ML et al (2005) Hypertension, age and location predict rupture of small intracranial aneurysms. Neurosurgery 57:676–683
- Orz Y, Kobayashi S, Osawa M, Tanaka Y (1997) Aneurysm size: a prognostic factor for rupture. Br J Neurosurg 11:144–149
- Rinkel GJ, Djibuti M, Algra A, van Gijn J (1998) Prevalence and risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms: a systematic review. Stroke 29:251–256
- Tremmel M, Dhar S, Levy EI et al (2009) Influence of intracranial aneurysm-to-parent vessel size ratio on hemodynamics and implications for rupture: results from a virtual experimental study. Neurosurgery 64:622–631
- Ujiie H, Sato K, Onda H, Oikawa A, Kagawa M, Takakura K, Kobayashi N (1993) Clinical analysis of incidentally discovered unruptured aneurysms. Stroke 24:1850–1856
- Ujiie H, Tamano Y, Sasaki K, Hori T (2001) Is the aspect ratio a reliable index for predicting the rupture of a saccular aneurysm? Neurosurgery 48:495–503
- Weir B, Disney L, Karrison T (2002) Sizes of ruptured and unruptured aneurysms in relation to their sites and the ages of patients. J Neurosurg 96:64–70
- Weir B, Amidei C, Kongable G, Findlay JM, Kassell NF, Kelly J, Dai L, Karrison TG (2003) The aspect ratio (dome/neck) of ruptured and unruptured aneurysms. J Neurosurg 99:447–451
- 24. Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, Huston J et al (2003) Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. Lancet 362: 103–110

Location, Interaction, and Anticipation of Aneurysm Formation

Daniel Woo

Abstract It is well established that family members of those individuals with intracranial aneurysm are at high risk of intracranial aneurysms. In the past several years, more information on the heritability of location, familial susceptibility to cigarette smoking, and whether "anticipation" of aneurysm formation has been published. We review these three topics in detail and summarize what we gathered from this information.

Keywords Genetics • Stroke • Intracranial aneurysm • Family history

Introduction

The familial aggregation of intracranial aneurysm (IA) and aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) has been extensively documented in the literature. Such familial aggregation suggests that heritable factors may contribute to aneurysm formation, but other factors also aggregate within families, such as the risk factors of smoking and hypertension. In addition, prior reports have suggested that "anticipation" of aneurysm formation occurs. We examine three phenomena to better understand the heritability of IA.

Location of Aneurysm

There are case reports in the literature of identical twins having IAs in the same locations [4]. In addition, some studies suggested that "shear stress" in particular anatomic locations lends

D. Woo, M.D., M.S.

Department of Neurology, University of Cincinnati College of Medicine, 260 Stetson Street, Suite 2310, ML 0525, Cincinnati, OH 45267-0525, USA e-mail: daniel.woo@uc.edu those territories to greater susceptibility to aneurysm formation [5]. If we take these two facts together, it could reasonably be hypothesized that anatomic vulnerability may be heritable.

If true, then we would expect that if a proband in a family has an aneurysm in a particular location, that person's firstdegree relatives, who share 50% of the person's genetic variation, would be more likely to have an aneurysm in the same territory compared to someone in a different family (who would share less than 50% of the genetic variation). To test this hypothesis, Mackey et al. examined families in the Familial Intracranial Aneurysm study to determine if aneurysmal territory concordance within families was greater than that between families [2].

For that analysis, affected subjects with a definite or probable aneurysm were used, and the proband was defined as the affected subject within each family pedigree that had the most affected first-degree relatives. To summarize the results, within-family concordance occurred more frequently than between-family concordance with some territories demonstrating greater concordance than others. This finding strongly supports the hypothesis that a genetic predisposition for aneurysms in the same arterial territory exists.

Gene-Environment Interactions

Both smoking and family history of aneurysmal SAH are independent risk factors for aneurysmal SAH [1]. Smoking also tends to aggregate within families, and although family history is an independent risk factor, it is also possible that an inherited factor increases the susceptibility to the risk factor of smoking. Woo et al. examined this hypothesis using a population-based case–control study of hemorrhagic stroke [7]. Using a total of 339 cases and 1,016 controls, the study confirmed that current smoking (odds ratio [OR] 3.1, 95% confidence interval [CI] 2.2–4.4) and family history of SAH (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.0–6.9) were independent risk factors but further identified that the combination of both family history and current smoking (OR 6.4, 95% CI 3.1–13.2) markedly increased the risk, and that this increase was more than additive.

This finding suggests that an inherited risk factor for susceptibility to smoking leading to IA formation exists. This may affect management in that family members of individuals with aneurysmal SAH who smoke should be advised to quit smoking with the further information of their marked increase in risk.

Anticipation of Intracranial Aneurysm

Not all genetic variants are the same. A type of variant called a microsatellite consists of multiple repeats of the same sequence, such as trinucleotide repeats. These repeats are unstable and may increase in size over generations, thus leading to more severe or early disease called *anticipation*. In Huntington's disease, increase in CAG repeats from one generation to the next has been documented along with earlier and more severe presentation. If anticipation occurs for IA, one may expect to see aneurysm formation at a younger age in subsequent generations, and this may inform us regarding the type of variant that may be causative.

However, anticipation studies have to be considered carefully for design flaws of follow-up period [3]. For example, if a proband is aged 40 years and one of the person's offspring has an aneurysm documented at 20 years of age, this may appear to be a case of anticipation. However, if none of their offspring has actually reached the age of 40 or greater, there was no chance for them to have developed an aneurysm at an "older" age than the proband. For example, if another offspring has an aneurysm form and rupture at age 60 years, the average between the two offspring would be 40 years, and no anticipation may occur. A study may require 40 years of additional follow-up to find such an occurrence.

To address this issue, Woo et al. performed a Kaplan-Meier curve to determine the age of aneurysm identification from one generation to the next [6]. In their report, they found that the subsequent generation, once correcting for the age reached, did not have an earlier presentation of aneurysm and may actually have been delayed (perhaps due to earlier identification and treatment).

This finding suggests that the type of variant to be sought is not a microsatellite that may lead to anticipation, but that more typical variants such as polymorphisms, insertions, or deletions may be responsible.

Conclusion

To summarize, recent studies have provided strong support that aneurysm formation has a genetic component, and that there may be an anatomic vulnerability that is heritable and that a risk factor that increases the susceptibility to smoking behavior may be responsible. In addition, anticipation is unlikely to occur for aneurysm formation consistent with the type of inherited variant being of a type other than microsatellites.

Acknowledgment This study was funded by grants from the National Institute of Neurological Diseases and Stroke (NINDS: NS 36695, NS 39512).

Conflicts of Interest Statement I declare that I have no conflict of interest.

References

- Kissela BM, Sauerbeck L, Woo D, Khoury J, Carrozzella J, Pancioli A, Jauch E, Moomaw CJ, Shukla R, Gebel J, Fontaine R, Broderick J (2002) Subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preventable disease with a heritable component. Stroke 33:1321–1326
- Mackey J, Brown RD, Moomaw CJ, Hornung R, Sauerbeck L, Woo D, Foroud T, Gandhi D, Kleindorfer D, Flaherty ML, Meissner I, Anderson C, Rouleau G, Connolly ES, Deka R, Koller DL, Aburzzo T, Huston J, Broderick JP (2011) Familial intracranial aneurysms: is anatomic vulnerability heritable? Int Stroke Conf 42:e42–e110
- 3. Rabinowitz D, Yang Q (1999) Testing for age-at-onset anticipation with affected parent–child pairs. Biometrics 55:834–838
- ter Laan M, Kerstjens-Frederikse WS, Metzemaekers JD, van Dijk JM, Groen RJ (2009) Concordant symptomatic intracranial aneurysm in a monozygotic twin: a case report and review of the literature. Twin Res Hum Genet 12:295–300
- Valencia A, Morales H, Rivera R, Bravo E, Galvez M (2008) Blood flow dynamics in patient-specific cerebral aneurysm models: the relationship between wall shear stress and aneurysm area index. Med Eng Phys 30:329–340
- Woo D, Hornung R, Sauerbeck L, Brown R, Meissner I, Huston J, Foroud T, Broderick J (2009) Age at intracranial aneurysm rupture among generations: Familial Intracranial Aneurysm Study. Neurology 72:695–698
- Woo D, Khoury J, Haverbusch MM, Sekar P, Flaherty ML, Kleindorfer DO, Kissela BM, Moomaw CJ, Deka R, Broderick JP (2009) Smoking and family history and risk of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurology 72:69–72

Symptomatic Vasospasm in Elderly Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Comparison with Nonelderly Patients

Mizuho Inoue, Tatsuya Sasaki, Hiroki Takazawa, Takahiro Morita, Ayumi Narisawa, Atsushi Saito, Hiroshi Midorikawa, and Michiharu Nishijima

Abstract *Objective*: To clarify the influence of age on the occurrence of symptomatic vasospasm (SVS), we retrospectively compared 34 elderly (over 70 years) and 71 nonelderly patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Methods: Between 2008 and 2010, at our hospital 105 patients (Hunt and Kosnik grades I–IV) underwent aneurysm surgery within 72 h of the insult. They were divided into four groups based on their age (younger/older than 70 years) and treatment (aneurysmal clipping or coiling). In all patients, we used the same protocol, which included the delivery of intrathecal urokinase and intravenous fasudil chloride; in patients with angiographic evidence of vasospasm, we also injected fasudil chloride intra-arterially.

Results: Among the elderly patients, 4.3% of those treated by clipping and 9.1% of those treated by coiling experienced SVS; the comparative incidence in younger patients was 6.5% and 4.0%, respectively. The differences were not statistically significant (p=0.40). The ratio of ventriculo peritoneal (VP) shunts was higher in the elderly patients (p=0.00007). The incidence of favorable treatment outcomes was significantly lower in elderly patients (p=0.00004).

Conclusion: Under our treatment protocol, patient age did not affect the incidence of SVS. Our protocol may be effective for the prevention of SVS after aneurysmal SAH regardless of patient age.

Keywords Subarachnoid hemorrhage • Cerebral vasospasm • Urokinase • Fasudil chloride

H. Midorikawa

Introduction

As vasospasm is the major cause of morbidity and mortality after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), it is important to predict the risk for vasospasm, especially symptomatic vasospasm (SVS), for early diagnosis and intervention. While patient age is thought to be an independent predictor of vasospasm, this issue remains controversial. We routinely deliver urokinase intrathecally and fasudil chloride intravenously to patients with aneurysmal SAH treated by clipping or coiling. Patients with angiographic evidence of vasospasm are also injected intra-arterially with fasudil chloride. We compared the incidence of SVS among elderly and nonelderly patients treated under this protocol.

Materials and Methods

Between 2008 and 2010 at our hospital, 105 patients (Hunt and Kosnik [H&K] grade I–IV) underwent aneurysm surgery within 72 h of the insult. All were treated under the same protocol after aneurysmal clipping or coiling. They were divided into four groups. Group 1 (n=23) was comprised of elderly patients (older than 70 years) treated by clipping, group 2 (n=11) had elderly patients subjected to coiling, group 3 (n=46) consisted of nonelderly patients treated by clipping, and group 4 (n=25) was nonelderly patients subjected to aneurysmal coiling. The male:female ratio was 1:2.7; the mean age was 61.3 years.

Our treatment protocol is shown in Fig. 1. All patients treated by clipping (n=69) underwent intraoperative cisternal irrigation with urokinase (30 IU/ml); the intrathecal delivery of urokinase (20,000 IU/day) via cisternal drainage was added for 3 days after clipping. In patients treated by aneurysmal coiling (n=36), we also administered urokinase (20,000 IU/day for 3 days postcoiling) via spinal drainage. All 105 patients underwent the intravenous administration of fasudil chloride (90 mg/day) for 14 days after surgery. Digital

M. Inoue, T. Sasaki, M.D. (🖂), H. Takazawa, T. Morita, A. Narisawa, A. Saito, and M. Nishijima

Department of Neurosurgery, Aomori Prefectural Central Hospital, 2-1-1 Higashi-Tsukurimichi, Aomori 030-8553, Japan e-mail: tatsuya_sasaki@med.pref.aomori.jp

Department of Radiology, Aomori Prefectural Central Hospital, Aomori, Japan



subtraction angiography was performed on postoperative days 5–7. Patients with angiographic evidence of arterial narrowing were also treated with 30 mg fasudil chloride injected intra-arterially.

Treatment outcomes were evaluated based on the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) at discharge, the incidence of SVS, the ratio of patients with ventriculo peritoneal (VP) shunts, and the length of hospitalization. Differences of p<0.05 by chi-square analysis were considered statistically significant.

Results

The H&K grade on admission was more severe in elderly patients. Among them, 21.7% of those subjected to clipping and 27.3% of patients treated by coiling manifested H&K grade IV; in nonelderly patients, the comparative incidence

was 10.9% and 8.0%, respectively (Table 1). The aneurysm site was not significantly different between elderly and nonelderly patients. Middle cerebral artery (MCA) aneurysms prevailed among patients treated by clipping (clipping n=26, coiling n=2), while the aneurysms in the posterior circulation tended to be subjected to coiling (clipping n=1, coiling n=7).

The GOS at discharge was worse in the elderly irrespective of coiling or clipping. Among the elderly, 35.3% had unfavorable outcomes severely disabled, vegetative state and death; this was true in 11.3% of nonelderly patients (p=0.00004) (Fig. 2). Elderly patients subjected to coiling tended to have unfavorable treatment outcomes compared to patients treated by clipping; however, the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.058). Based on the GOS, patients with worse H&K grades at admission tended to have poorer treatment outcomes. The average length of hospitalization was 45.7 days for elderly and 35.3 days for nonelderly patients; the difference was not statistically significant

		Elderly clipping $(n = 23, 21.9\%)$	Elderly coiling ($n = 11, 10.5\%$)	Non-elderly clipping $(n = 46, 43.8\%)$	Non-elderly coiling $(n = 25, 23.8\%)$
Hunt &Kosnik grade	Grade 1 &2	7 (30.4%)	3 (27.3%)	22 (47.8%)	17 (68.0%)
	Grade 3	11 (47.8%)	5 (45.5%)	19 (41.3%)	6 (24.0%)
	Grade 4	5 (21.7%)	3 (27.3%)	5 (10.9%)	2 (8.0%)
Location of aneurysm	ICA	3 (13.0%)	4 (36.4%)	8 (17.4%)	10 (40.0%)
	MCA	10 (43.5%)	_	16 (34.8%)	2 (8.0%)
	AComA	7 (30.4%)	5 (45.5%)	14 (30.4%)	7 (28.0%)
	V-B	_	1 (9.1%)	1 (2.2%)	6 (24.0%)
	Others	3 (13.0%)	1 (9.1%)	7 (15.2%)	-
Incidence of vasospasm	Angiographic	12 (52.2%)	7 (63.6%)	22 (47.8%)	5 (20.0%)
	Symptomatic	1 (4.3%)	1 (9.1%)	3 (6.5%)	1 (4.0%)
Ventriculo-peritoneal shunt		9 (39.1%)	5 (45.5%)	8 (17.4%)	3 (12.0%)
Duration of hospitalization (days)		47.8	41.2	36.6	32.8

 Table 1
 Patient characteristics and outcomes

(p=0.67). Patients with higher H&K grades required longer hospitalization.

Among the elderly patients, 4.3% of those treated by clipping and 9.1% of patients subjected to aneurysm coiling experienced SVS; the comparative incidence in younger patients was 6.5% and 4.0%, respectively, and the differences were not statistically significant (p=0.40). The rate of angiographically confirmed vasospasm was lowest in nonelderly patients treated by coiling.

The incidence of VP shunt was significantly higher (41.2%) in elderly than nonelderly patients (15.5%) (p=0.00007) and was not affected by treatment via clipping or coiling.

Discussion

It remains controversial whether age is an independent predictor for the risk of SVS. Some studies showed that its incidence was lower in the elderly [1, 9, 10], while in others it was not significantly different [2, 6] or higher than in younger patients [4]. A lower incidence of SVS may be explicable by the presence of age-related atherosclerosis, which impairs the contractility and elasticity of the muscle wall of small arteries and arterioles [2, 9].

Although there was selection bias in our study, we found that the incidence of SVS was not significantly different for elderly and nonelderly patients (5.9% vs. 5.6%). In our series, the incidence of SVS was lower in both age groups compared to earlier reports. This suggests that our treatment protocol effectively prevented SVS in both elderly and nonelderly patients.

Our treatment protocol includes the intrathecal administration of urokinase to wash out SAH and the intravenous administration of fasudil chloride to prevent vasoconstriction. If arterial narrowing is observed on angiographs obtained 5–7 days after the operation, we inject fasudil chloride intraarterially.

Cisternal irrigation therapy with urokinase is performed in many institutions. Kodama et al. [3] combined urokinase with ascorbic acid and lowered the occurrence of SVS in their patients to 2.8%. Sasaki et al. [7] demonstrated the efficacy and safety of the irrigation therapy with urokinase, and Moriyama et al. [5] delivered a bolus injection of urokinase via cisternal drainage to reduce the risk for SVS. Although a bolus injection may be less effective for washing out spasmogenic substances than continuous irrigation as it is easier to perform and lowers the risk for infectious complications, we chose this method in our patients.

Fasudil chloride is a rho kinase inhibitor that prevents myosin phosphorylation; its use is currently permitted only in Japan. Shibuya et al. [8] demonstrated that it effectively reduces the incidence of both angiographic and symptomatic vasospasm. To the best of our knowledge, ours is the first study to assess the effectiveness of combined therapy with intrathecal urokinase and intravenous fasudil chloride.

Conclusion

Multiple studies, as did ours, showed that advanced age is a predictor of a poor outcome after SAH [4]. Although the incidence of SVS was not significantly different in our age groups, the poorer outcomes in elderly patients may be explained by their worse clinical status at admission and a high incidence of hydrocephalus.

Conflicts of Interest Statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Charpentier C, Audibert G, Guillemin F, Civit T, Ducrocq X, Bracard S, Hepner H, Picard L, Laxenaire MC (1999) Multivariate analysis of predictors of cerebral vasospasm occurrence after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 30:1402–1408
- Inagawa T (1991) Cerebral vasospasm in elderly patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Surg Neurol 36:91–98
- Kodama N, Sasaki T, Kawakami M, Sato M, Asari J (2000) Cisternal irrigation therapy with urokinase and ascorbic acid for prevention of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Outcome in 217 patients. Surg Neurol 53:110–117
- Lanzino G, Kassell NF, Germanson TP, Kongable GL, Truskowski LL, Torner JC, Jane JA (1996) Age and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: why do older patients fare worse? J Neurosurg 85:410–418
- Moriyama E, Matsumoto Y, Meguro T, Kawada S, Mandai S, Gohda Y, Sakurai M (1995) Combined cisternal drainage and intrathecal urokinase injection therapy for prevention of vasospasm in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo) 35:732–736

- Ryttlefors M, Enblad P, Ronne-Engström E, Persson L, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL (2010) Patient age and vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosurgery 67:911–917
- Sasaki T, Kodama N, Kawakami M, Sato M, Asari J, Sakurai Y, Watanabe K, Onuma T, Matsuda T (2000) Urokinase cisternal irrigation therapy for prevention of symptomatic vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a study of urokinase concentration and the fibrinolytic system. Stroke 31:1256–1262
- Shibuya M, Suzuki Y, Sugita K, Saito I, Sasaki T, Takakura K, Nagata I, Kikuchi H, Takemae T, Hidaka H et al (1992) Effect of AT877 on cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Results of a prospective placebo-controlled doubleblind trial. J Neurosurg 76:571–577
- Torbey MT, Hauser TK, Bhardwaj A, Williams MA, Ulatowski JA, Mirski MA, Razumovsky AY (2001) Effect of age on cerebral blood flow velocity and incidence of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke 32:2005–2011
- Wachter D, Hans F, Kreitschmann-Andermahr I, Rohde V (2011) Lower incidence of transcranial Doppler and symptomatic vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and aneurysm clipping in the elderly patient? Neurosurgery 69:261–266

Appendix-Select Abstracts

1. Repeate Intra-arterial Infusions of Fasudil Hydrochloride (IAF) and a Single Intra-arterial Infusion of Nicardipine (IAN) for Cerebral Vasospasm: A Case Report

Authors: Okuma, Yu (Presenting); Ono, Shigeki; Itami, Hisakazu; Hishikawa, Tomohito; Tokunaga, Koji; Sugiu, Kenji; Date, Isao

Institution: Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Okayama, Japan

We report a case of repeated intra-arterial infusions of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF) and a single intra-arterial infusion of nicardipine (IAN) for cerebral vasospasm. A 67-yearold woman suffering from ruptured aneurysm was admitted to our hospital on day 12 from its onset of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Computed tomography (CT) showed minimal subarachnoid hemorrhage with subacute hydrocephalus. Cerebral angiography showed an aneurysm on the right internal carotid-anterior choroidal artery (IC-AchA), and severe and diffuse cerebral vasospasm was observed in the bilateral middle cerebral artery (MCA) area. We diagnosed her condition as SAH (Hunt and Kosnik grade 2, Fisher group 1) on day 12. Cerebral vasospasm was so severe it precluded performing coil embolization; first IAN (1 mg) was performed in the right M1 to dilate the proximal artery. By using IAN, we expected not only therapeutic effect for prolonged vasospasm but also a preventive effect for mechanical vasospasm. Then, the aneurysm was successfully embolized with platinum coils. Spastic vessels were partially dilated by IAN, and angiography showed improvement of their blood flow to some extent after IAN and embolization. Because the vasodilative effects of IAN was mild and temporary, an additional treatment, 25 mg fasudil hydrochloride were injected into the bilateral spastic M1 artery selectively. Cerebral vasospasm was almost recovered after IAF. However, on the next day after embolization, the patient suddenly developed severe left motor weakness. Repeated angiography revealed recurrence of moderate cerebral vasospasm in the right M1, M2 segments. IAF was performed, and left motor weakness improved gradually. She had no

neurological deficits on the day of discharge. Nicardipine is a calcium channel antagonist, and fasudil is a protein kinase inhibitor. Because of the different mechanism of vasodilative effects, IAF and IAN may be good combination therapy for treatment of vasospasm following SAH.

2. Comparison of Surgical- or Endovascular-Treated Aneurysmal SAH Patients with a Special Emphasis on Cerebral Vasospasm

Authors: Kamar, Ceren; Guresti, Ece; Sencer, Altay; Sencer, Serra; Aydin, Kubilay; Basel, Ahmet; Aras, Yavuz; Kiris, Talat; Akinci, Ibrahim Ozkan (Presenting)

Institution: I.U. Istanbul Medical School, Fatih, Istanbul, Turkey

Introduction: We evaluated the incidence of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and outcome in 139 consecutive subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients with a special reference to the treatment modality who were admitted to our hospital in the past 3 years for surgical or endovascular procedures to treat cerebral aneurysm. Materials and Methods: Patients were evaluated according to demographic data, severity of illness on admission according to Fisher and WFNS (World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies) grade, incidence of DCI, outcome, and choice of treatment. Statistical evaluations were made by t test for parametric and Fisher's exact test for nonparametric values. Results: All patients' demographic data were as shown in Table 1. Clinical vasospasm diagnosis was made by the existence of three signs: headache, neurological deficit, and worsening of Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score. Due to this evaluation, 42 of the 139 patients demonstrated DCI. While 26 of them were in clipping group, the other 16 were in the coiling group. Hypertensive (H) therapy and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage with lumber puncture started more liberally, to 88 and 57 patients, respectively, due to at least two of the following findings or clinicians' decision: headache, agitation, elevated leukocyte level (without infection), new motor deficit, and worsening in GCS score. The severity of cases on admission in the clipping and coiling groups was similar for both (APACHE-II [Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II]: 3.8 ± 2.8 to 6.3 ± 5.8).

Although mortality and morbidity rates were higher in the coiling group, there was no statistical difference in both groups (Table). *Conclusion*: This study demonstrated that although mortality, morbidity rates, and DCI incidence were lower in the surgical group, there was no statistical significance.

3. Magnesium Use on Prophylaxis of Vasospasm Morbidity and Mortality Rate in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (SAH)

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer (Presenting); Siqueira, Carlos Mauricio; Siqueira, Savio; Nuss, Rodrigo; Carvalho, Robson; Dias, Joana; Guarçoni, Angelo; Fiorot, Jessica

Institution: Sao Jose Do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio De Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: Cerebral aneurysms are an important cause of morbidity and mortality. We propose this study in order to reach two endpoints: (1) its clinical incidence, confirmed by computed tomography (CT) and (2) the mortality of these patients in 28 days. It shows a comparison of a group of patients who received magnesium (intervention group 1) from those who did not use it (control group 2). Method: After institutional approval and informed consent, a prospective, randomized, single-blind study was conducted between February 2008 and March 2009. The study evaluated the magnesium use on patients from the 1 to 4 beds and control group from 5 to 8 beds. The serum measure of magnesium was made by colorimetry to reach a measurement between 2.5 and 3.5 mg/dl using a solution of 2% magnesium (5% specific gravity, 400 ml+10% MgSO₄ 100 ml/24 h) during the first 14 days after an event (aneurysm rupture). Admission Criteria: Patients diagnosed with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) confirmed by CT or cerebral angiography and Î't less than 96 h. Exclusion Criteria: We excluded patients with SAH and \hat{I} T > 96 h; patients who presented a vasospasm episode in less than 24 h of Mg solution infusion; multiple organic failure; previous hepatic failure documented or total bilirubin (TB) >1.2. Results: In a previous study, we analyzed a total of 94 patients with n=46 in group 1 and n=48in group 2 (Tables 1 and 2). The main results were as follows: Group 1 vasospasm frequency 19.6%, confidence interval (CI) 9.4-33.9%; and mortality 17.4% in 28 days, CI 7.8-31.4%; group 2 vasospasm frequency 54.2%, CI 39.2-68.6%, and mortality 22.9% in 28 days, CI 12.0-37.3%. The analysis for the vasospasm showed an odds ratio (OR) of 0.20, CI 0.08–0.51%, and p=0.0011; the mortality had an OR of 0.70, CI 0.25–1.95%, and p value = 0.6818. Conclusion: Group 1 obtained greater protection on the vasospasm incidence in comparison to group 2 but showed no difference in mortality. The p value was significant for vasospasm but still not significant for mortality.

4. Nitroprusside Sodium Intrathecal for Prophylaxis and Treatment of Cerebral Vasospasm Associated with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer (Presenting); Siqueira,

Savio; Gonçalves, Ivete; Guarçoni, Angelo; Colodetti, Thais; Silva, Luciana

Institution: Sao Jose Do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio De Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: Therapy using sodium nitroprusside (SNP) intrathecal aims for a more effective approach for prophylaxis and treatment of cerebral vasospasm associated with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Results: There were two patients; the first was a female 62 years old with aneurysm rupture of the left posterior communicating artery, SAH Fisher III, Hunt and Hess 2. The second was a male 46 years old with artery rupture of the middle cerebral artery, SAH Fisher III, Hunt and Hess 2. Both submitted to embolization, leading to acute hydrocephalus, in which external ventricular drainage (EVD) was established. Through the EVD, a prophylactic intrathecal protocol was instituted (2 ml SNP solution with 10.5 ml normal saline 0.9%, applying 2 ml SNP through the EVD each 12 h for 1 h by infusion pump). Patients evolved well with no neurologic or motor sequelae; with removal of the EVD and insertion of a ventricle-peritoneal shunt, patients were sent to a ward, then discharged without complications with a modified Rankin scale of 0. A third patient was male, 37 years old, with aneurysm rupture of the anterior communicating artery, SAH Fisher III, Hunt and Hess 4; severe vasospasm per operative in the left middle cerebral artery was treated by angioplasty with a balloon. Starting by lumbar catheter, the treatment protocol for the cerebral vasospasm was 50 mg (2 ml) SNP in solution with 4 ml SNP at 6 ml of normal saline 0.9%, applying 4 ml through the lumbar catheter every 12 h for 1 h by infusion pump. The patient progressed without complications with modified Rankin scale of 1. Conclusion: The use of intraventricular SNP may be a viable therapeutic option in preventing and treating cerebral vasospasms and cerebral ischemia. We noted that the cost for prophylactic therapy for 14 days was U\$627.86; if the patient developed clinical vasospasm, the cost for a 14-day treatment would be an average of U\$15,287.80, having a great impact on the reduction of morbidity, mortality, and cost of hospital stay.

5. Simvastatin Improves Outcomes in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage with Heavy Blood Load: Results from a Single-Centre Audit

Authors: Chakraborti, Santo (Presenting); Ling, John; Tolias, Christos; Walsh, Daniel

Institution: King's College Hospital, London, UK

Introduction: Do statins reduce the risk of vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and death after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH)? Two recent meta-analyses [1, 2] reached opposite conclusions. The current analysis looked at outcomes associated with different prescribing practices by two neurovascular surgeons within our neurosurgical department. *Materials and Methods*: We analyzed 150 patients; 80 patients received simvastatin, and 70 patients did not. Primary outcome measures were modified Rankin score (mRS) and

Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (EGOS) score. Secondary outcome measure was infarction on computed tomography (CT). The interaction between Fisher grade and outcome was also assessed. Results: In the statin group at 8 months followup, the mRS was better (1.1 vs. 2.5), as was the EGOS (6.8 vs. 5.5). The incidence of infarction was also less in the statin group (5% vs. 7%). Fisher's exact test was used to assess the interaction between functional outcome and Fisher grade. Patients were dichotomized into those with Fisher grade 3 (F3) or those who fulfilled both Fisher 3 criteria and had intraparenchymal/intraventricular blood (F3+F4). In these subsets, the improvement in functional outcome was magnified (mRS 1.0 vs. 3.0 and EGOS 7.0 vs. 5.3, p < 0.05). Incidence of infarction was also significantly reduced in patients who had Fisher 3 or Fisher 3 plus 4 hemorrhages (3% vs. 9% for Fisher 3 and 3% vs. 8% for Fisher 3 plus 4, p < 0.05). Conclusion: There is a trend towards better outcomes in patients who received simvastatin. The trend towards better functional outcomes and reduced incidence of infarction was magnified in those patients with Fisher 3 and Fisher 3 plus 4 subarachnoid hemorrhages. The results of the ongoing STASH trial and other large randomized controlled trials will provide further insight into this potentially important therapeutic intervention.

Aneurysm Formation, Characterization, Treatment

6. Anatomical Classification of Posterior Communicating Artery Aneurysms

Authors: Pierobon, Marcel (Presenting); Zicarelli, Carlos; Santiago, Natali; Maudaun, Marcos; Simm, Renata; Aguiar, Paulo H. P.

Institution: Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Dourados, Mato Grosso do Sul, Brazil

This article aims to review literature on the classification of aneurysms of the posterior communicating artery. Scientific research on aneurysms of the posterior communicating artery is a practical necessity for clinical neurology and neurosurgery as they represent 0.1–2.8% of all aneurysms. The classification of aneurysms of the posterior communicating artery is important in that it favors a firm diagnosis to facilitate surgical technique. The results showed that there are marked differences in the results of surveys conducted among the authors studied, yet all believed that the classification of aneurysms of the posterior communicating artery facilitates the surgical technique and can eliminate possible complications during surgery.

7. Lenticulostriate Brain Aneurysms

Authors: Santiago, Natally; Pires De Aguiar, Paulo Henrique (Presenting)

Institution: Santa Paula Hospital, São Paulo, Brazil

Objective: Lenticulostriate artery (LSA) aneurysms are

rare. We present two cases of lenticulostriate artery aneurysm, their clinical presentation, diagnosis, surgical treatment, and postoperative follow-up, with a review about the topic. Case Reports: We report two cases of LSA aneurysms among 194 surgically treated aneurysms in Santa Paula and São Camilo Hospital. The first one is a 48-year-old whose aneurysms were detected incidentally in an angiographic study performed due to a cavernous sinus thrombosis. Both cerebral angiogram and magnetic angioresonance were performed and demonstrated a left lenticulostriate aneurysm and two parassylvian aneurysms. The other case is a 62-year-old Japanese hypertensive patient who presented with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), Fisher scale 2, and Hunt and Hess classification 2. Her angiogram demonstrated right LSA, left middle cerebral artery, and anterior communicating artery aneurysms. No other pathology or infectious etiology was noted. Both patients were treated by opening of the sylvian fissure, allowing the visualization of lenticulostriate vessels and aneurysm clipping. Postoperative angiographies were performed in both cases. During 2-year follow-up, the younger patient remained with distal right arm paresis and Rankin scale score 1; the older patient developed normalpressure hydrocephalus and needed peritoneal ventricular

8. Biological Mechanisms of Adaptive Remodeling in Flow-Loaded Cerebral Arteries: Potential Significance to the Pathogenesis of Cerebral Aneurysms in a Rat Model

drainage. *Conclusion*: LSA aneurysms are uncommon. The most common clinical presentation is intraparenchymal hemorrhage. Microsurgical treatment is often the chosen modal-

ity of intervention. Elderly people are more likely to develop

postoperative complications before and after hospital discharge. They are under higher risk of more severe vasospasm

and risk of hydrocephalus development in cases of ruptured

aneurysms.

Authors: Pyne-Geithman, Gail (Presenting); Kurosawa, Yuko; DiNapoli, Vincent; Choutka, Ondrej; Smith, Shawn; Martini, Sharyl; El-Badewi, Yasmine; Abruzzo, Todd

Institution: University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Cerebral aneurysms (CAs) are the product of an interaction between hemodynamic factors in a permissive biological and anatomical milieu; in animal models, flow loading is a necessary hemodynamic factor. The spectrum of promotional biological factors likely includes variant forms of the adaptive response to flow loading. Using a rat model, this study characterizes the molecular and anatomical events comprising the cerebral arterial response to flow loading and reveals their significance in relation to the CA phenotype. Rats were subjected to bilateral common carotid artery ligation or sham carotid surgery. Tail cuff blood pressure was monitored at baseline and postoperatively. Nineteen days after surgery, the vertebrobasilar arterial complex was harvested from each rat and processed for analysis of messenger RNA (mRNA) and protein expression. Each basilar artery terminus was preserved and processed for histological examination. Flowinduced changes in mRNA expression, protein expression, and mural structure/histology were determined by comparing carotid ligated to sham surgery rats. Flow-induced changes in mRNA and protein expression were assessed. Blood pressure was not significantly different between sham and carotidligated animals. Over 1,500 significantly (p < 0.05) altered gene expressions (more than twofold) were identified. These included Cbp/p300-interacting transactivator, a vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-responsive element active during vascular remodeling; interferon gamma receptor 1, known to be activated in vascular/endothelial repair after injury; abselon helper integration site 1, involved in actin filament generation; alpha-2 laminin, a blood-brain barrier component; and ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase, which has been shown to be upregulated in vascular calcification and plaque formation. Thus, our preliminary findings suggested several interconnected processes implicated in the pathogenesis of CA.

Animal Models of SAH/Vasospasm

9. Intracisternal Magnesium Injection Therapy (Experimental Data for Its Clinical Application)

Authors: Mori, Kentaro (Presenting); Yamamoto, Takuji; Hasegawa, Hiroshi; Nakao, Yasuaki; Esaki, Takanori

Institution: Juntendo University Shizuoka Hospital, Izunokuni, Shizuoka, Japan

Introduction: The temporal profile of the vasodilatory effect and optimal cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) Mg2+ concentration after intracisternal magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄) solution were investigated in the canine subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) model (part 1). We also evaluated MgSO₄ therapy via a microcatheter for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm in the clinical setting of endovascular treatment of ruptured aneurysm (part 2). Materials and Methods: Cerebral vasospasm was induced in 33 dogs. Part 1: In 26 dogs, on day 7, 0.5 ml/kg of 15, 10, 5, or 0 mmol/l MgSO₄ in Ringer was injected into the cisterna magna. Angiography was performed on day 1 and before and 1, 3, and 6 h after the intracisternal injection on day 7 to measure arterial diameters. Part 2: In 7 dogs, angiography was repeated on day 1 and on day 7 before and 1.5 h after injection of 0.5 ml/kg of 15 mmol/l MgSO via the tip of a microcatheter placed in the cisterna magna from the lumbar spine. Results: Part 1: The arterial diameter ratios (ratio of arterial diameter after MgSO₄ injection to diameter before injection on day 7) at 1 and 3 h after intracisternal injection were positively correlated with CSF Mg2+ concentration. Arterial diameter ratios exceeded 1 if the CSF Mg²⁺ concentration was more than 3 mEq/l. Animals with CSF Mg²⁺ concentration more than 3 mEq/l showed

significantly increased arterial diameters 3–6 h after injection compared with before injection. Part 2: After intracisternal injection of $MgSO_4$ via a microcatheter, the spastic arterial diameters significantly increased (Fig. 1). *Conclusion*: The reversible effect of intracisternal $MgSO_4$ therapy requires a CSF Mg^{2+} concentration of more than 3 mEq/l. The vasodilatory effect continues for 3–6 h after injection; therefore, continuous or intermittent injection is needed to constantly ameliorate vasospasm. Intracisternal $MgSO_4$ therapy using a microcatheter can be effective against vasospasm in the clinical setting of endovascular treatment of ruptured aneurysm.

10. Dissociation of Vasospasm and Secondary Effects of Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage by Clazosentan

Authors: Ai, Jinglu (Presenting) [Award Finalist]; Sabri, Mohammed; Tariq, Asma; Jeon, Hyo-jin; Chen, Gang; Lakovic, Katarina; Elaine, Tang; Macdonald, R. Loch

Institution: St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

Introduction: A common complication of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is cerebral vasospasm of the large arteries at the base of the brain. However, a recent clinical trial of clazosentan demonstrated a 65% relative risk reduction in angiographic vasospasm but had no effect on clinical outcome. We used clazosentan to gain insight into the pathophysiology of SAH by determining if decreasing vasospasm is associated with alleviation of other secondary complications of SAH, such as oxidative stress, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) dysfunction, microthromboembolism, loss of long-term potentiation (LTP), and neuronal injury. Materials and Methods: Mice or rats were subjected to SAH by injection of blood into the chiasmatic cistern. For rats, 10 mg/kg clazosentan bolus was administered intravenously 1 h after SAH, followed by a continuous infusion of 1 mg/kg through an osmotic pump with a catheter inserted into the jugular vein. For mice, 1 mg/kg bolus was given intraperitoneally 1 h after SAH and infused through an osmotic pump implanted into the peritoneum. Infusions were for 48 h (mice) or 7 days (rats). Middle cerebral artery vasospasm, microthromboemboli, cerebral blood flow, neuronal injury, and mortality were assessed for both mice and rats. Mice were also assessed for eNOS uncoupling, superoxide anion radical, and peroxynitrite in the brain. Rats were also tested for LTP presence. Results: Clazosentan preserved cerebral blood flow, alleviated vasospasm, and decreased mortality but did not affect superoxide anion radical, peroxynitrite, and microthromboemboli or prevent endothelial NOS uncoupling and neuronal injury in mice. In rats, clazosentan reduced vasospasm and mortality but did not reverse the loss of LTP, microthromboemboli or neuronal cell death. Conclusion: This study suggested that large-artery vasospasm is pathophysiologically independent of some other effects of SAH. The findings have implications for development of treatments for this disease.

11. Predeterminative Effect of Pterygopalatine Ganglion Neuron Density on Choroid Plexus Degeneration in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage-Induced Choroidal Artery Vasospasm: Experimental Study

Authors: Aydin, Mehmet Dumlu (Presenting); Aydin, Nazan; Kanat, Ayhan; Unal, Bunyami; Kayaci, Selim; Gundogdu, Cemal; Kaplan, Suleyman

Institution: Ataturk University, Erzurum, Yakutiye-Erzurum, Turkey

Introduction: The choroid plexuses (CPs) have important roles in cerebral nutrition, detoxification, immunity, endocrine, secretory, repository, and regulation of cerebrospinal fluid pH areas [1]. CP degeneration may be possible due to anterior choroidal artery (AChA) vasospasm induced by subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [2]. We examined whether there is a relationship among CP degeneration, severity of AChA vasospasm, and vasodilatory pterygopalatine ganglion (PPG) [3] neuron density in SAH. Materials and Methods: This study was conducted on 24 rabbits that had formerly been used in experiments. Five of them were normal, 5 of them from sham, and 14 were from animals with SAH created by injecting autologous blood into their cisterna magna and followed up 20 days. Their CPs, AChAs stained with TUNEL (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling), and PPGs stained with masson's trichrome (MTC) were examined stereologically. Wall ring surface/lumen surface values (R2-r2/r2) were accepted as the vasospasm index (VSI). Densities of CP cells and PPG neurons were estimated stereologically. Densities of apoptotic CP cells and VSI values were compared with PPG neuron density. The data analysis consisted of the Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U test. Results: The mean VSI was 0.375 ± 0.032 , the mean CP cells density was $10,320 \pm 1,890/$ mm³, the mean apoptotic CP cells number was $110 \pm 14/\text{mm}^3$, and the mean neuronal density of the PPGs was $12,310 \pm 1,590/$ mm³ in all animals (n=24). There were no important differences in the sham (n=5; p<0.5) and in animals that developed less vasospasm animals (n=6; p<0.05). The mean VSIs were estimated as 1.380 ± 0.150 , apoptotic CP cell density was $6,342 \pm 957$ /mm³, and the mean neuronal density of the PPGs was $8,960 \pm 990$ /mm³ in animals that developed severe vasospasm (n=8; p<0.005) (Fig. 1: a, b : PPG; c: ChA; d: CP). Conclusion: The high neuron density of PPGs may play significant roles on the prevention of AChA vasospasm. Ischemic CP degeneration may play significant roles on the development of various neurodegenerative diseases.

12. Preconditioning Atorvastatins Attenuate Endothelins in Chronic Vasospasm

Authors: Howng, Shen-Long (Presenting); Chang, Chih-Zen; Kwan, Aij-Lie

Institution: Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

Statins have been reported to provide a beneficial effect in

cardiovascular disease as well as neurodegenerative disease. Evidence of clinical and experimental study also revealed these compounds have the potential to induce apoptosis in neurons and astroglia. Thus, it was of interest to examine the effect of statins on endothelin-1 (ET-1), which is generated partly from glia cells, and vasospasm in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). A rodent SAH model was employed. Animals were assigned to four groups (sham, vehicle, 10 mg/day atorvastatin preconditioning, 10 mg/day atorvastatin). Basilar artery cross-sectional area was measured to evaluate vasospasm. Cerebrospinal fluid ET-1 was measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Significant vasospasm was noted in the vehicle group (lumen potency 63.4%, compared with the sham group), but neither in the atorvastatin preconditioning and treatment group (lumen potency, 87.3% and 70.2%, respectively). In addition, preconditioning atorvastatin effectively decreased release of ET-1 in cerebrospinal fluid (p=0.204) when compared with the sham group and avoided experimental vasospasm, while the same condition was not found in the atorvastatin treatment group. This study supported that preconditioning with atorvastatin attenuates endothelin production in vasospasm and suggested that astroglia might play a role in chronic vasospasm.

13. Thalidomide, a Glutamic Acid Derivative, Attenuates TNF- α -Mediated Adhesive Molecules in Experimental Vasospasm

Authors: Kwan, Aij-Lie (Presenting); Chang, Sheng-Chieh; Wu, Shu-Chuan; Kuo, Yen-Hsin; Wang, Chih-Jen; Howng, Shen-Long; Chang, Chih-Zen

Institution: Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

Increased adhesion molecules, including intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), and E-selectin, are observed in the serum of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Thalidomide proved to be effective in halting arterial narrowing in a rodent SAH model. This present study was to examine the effect of thalidomide on adhesion molecules/ tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) in this animal model. Methods: A rodent SAH model was employed. Animals were each injected with autologous blood into the cisterna magna, and oral administration with thalidomide (1 mg/kg) was initiated 1 h before (prevention) or later (reversal). The compound was subsequently administered at 24-h intervals post-SAH. Serum samples were gathered at 72 h post-SAH to determine TNF-a, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin levels (via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA). The basilar arteries (BAs) were harvested and sliced to measure their cross-sectional areas. Furthermore, TNF- α (1 ng/ml) was administered to test the downregulation of thalidomide TNF- α -mediated adhesion molecules. Results: on Morphologically, convoluted internal elastic lamina, deformed endothelial walls, and necrotic smooth muscle

290

were well perceived in the SAH groups that were not in the thalidomide plus SAH groups or the healthy controls. The levels of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and E-selectin were increased in all animals subject to SAH (SAH-only and SAH plus vehicle groups) compared with the healthy controls (no SAH), but not in the thalidomide group (SAH plus thalidomide reversal and prevention). Likewise, the levels of TNF- α in the SAH-only and SAH plus vehicle groups were significantly elevated (p < 0.01), and pretreatment and treatment with thalidomide reduced TNF- α to control levels. *Conclusion*: These results showed that TNF- α may play a role in mediating SAH-induced vasospasm, and a reduction of both adhesive molecules and TNF- α after SAH may contribute to the antispastic effect of thalidomide.

14. Intracranial-Pressure-Controlled Rabbit Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Model for the Study of Early Brain Injury

Authors: Marbacher, Serge (Presenting); Andereggen, Lukas; Neuschmelting, Volker; Widmer, HansRudolf; Takala, Jukka; Jakob, Stephan M.; Fandino, Javier

Institution: Kantonsspital Aarau, Aarau, Switzerland

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm is no longer believed to be solely responsible for unfavorable outcome following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Pathophysiological derangements at the time of bleeding and within the first few days are made responsible for significant brain damage. This phenomenon of early brain injury (EBI) after SAH has moved into the center of current research activities. To this day, a rabbit model that reflects early events after SAH is missing. Methods: Experimental SAH was initiated by opening of an extra-intracranial (EC/IC) shunt from the subclavian artery into the cerebromedullar cistern in eight rabbits. Standard cardiovascular monitoring (arterial blood pressure, heart rate, electrocardiogram [ECG], end-tidal carbon dioxide partial pressure), intracranial pressure (ICP), cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), and bilateral regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) were continuously measured. Apoptosis was detected 24 h post-SAH using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL). Neurodegeneration secondary to ischemia was determined using Fluoro-jade B (FJB) in bilateral basal cortex and hypocampal regions (CA1 and CA3). Results: After initiation of the EC/IC blood shunt, ICP rose to diastolic blood pressure within 1-2 min and returned to a steady state in 3-5 min. Increase of ICP caused decrease of CPP to almost zero $(8.2 \pm 4.9 \text{ mmHg})$ and drop of left and right rCBF to $23\% \pm 8\%$ and $19\% \pm 9\%$ of its baseline value. TUNEL- and FJB-stained sections revealed significant apoptosis and neurodegeneration in both cortex and hypocampal regions when compared to sham-operated animals (p < 0.05). Conclusion: The presented experimental bleeding technique closely simulated human pathophysiological sequelae of aneurysm rupture and reflected early pathophysiological derangements after SAH. The detection

of marked neuronal cell death and neurodegeneration warrants the study of EBI in the EC/IC blood shunt-induced SAH model in rabbits.

15. Effect of Intrathecal Injection of Lipocalin-Type Prostaglandin D Synthase on Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Outcome in Primates

Authors: Mase, Mitsuhito (Presenting); Aritake, Kosuke; Siato, Naoyuki; Ono, Fumiko; Urade, Yoshihiro; Yamada, Kazuo

Institution: Nagoya City University Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Nagoya, Aichi, Japan

Lipocalin-type prostaglandin (PG) D synthase (L-PGDS) is one of the major proteins in human cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and acts as both a PGD2-producing enzyme and as an extracellular transporter for lipophilic ligands. We have already reported that the L-PGDS concentration increased in the CSF of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and combined with biliverdin, which was one of vasoconstrictors [1, 2]. In this paper, we present a newly developed, less-invasive SAH model with delayed cerebral vasospasm using a primate and investigate the effect of intrathecal administration of L-PGDS on cerebral vasospasm and cognitive outcome. Under general anesthesia, a polyethylene tube was inserted into the subarachnoid space by a lumbar puncture, and the tip of the tube was placed in the prepontine cistern of a cynomolgus monkey. SAH was induced by 2 ml of arterial blood injection through the tube twice with a 2-day interval. L-PGDS (2 mg/kg/day) (L-PGDS group, n=5) or artificial CSF (control group, n=6) was administrated through the tube for 7 days after SAH. Serial cerebral angiography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (perfusion study), and food retrieval test [3] (to estimate spatial memory) were performed for 1 month. All monkeys showed cerebral vasospasm on angiogram 7 days after SAH. Diameter of the basilar artery of the control group $(68.82\% \pm 5.03\%)$ was smaller than that of the L-PGDS group $(79.00\% \pm 8.07\%)$, but there was no statistical significance. MRI perfusion study showed that mean transit time (MTT) tended to be prolonged in both groups on days 7-14. Spatial memory function of L-PGDS group in the chronic state was significantly better than that of the control group. We developed a less-invasive and reproducible SAH model with delayed cerebral vasospasm using a primate. Intrathecal administration of L-PGDS improved chronic cognitive outcome after SAH and would become a new treatment for SAH sequelae.

16. L-Citrulline Therapy Prevents Basilar Artery Vasospasm in Haptoglobin 2-2 Transgenic Mice After Induced Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Pradilla, Gustavo; Garzon-Muvdi, Tomas; Ruzevick, Jacob J.; Bender, Matthew; Edwards, Lindsay; Momin, Eric; Thompson, Reid C.; Tamargo, Rafael J. (Presenting) Institution: Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA

Introduction: Depletion of nitric oxide (NO) and periadventitial inflammation contribute to the pathophysiology of posthemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm. L-Citrulline is an amino acid that participates in the urea cycle and increases L-arginine levels, resulting in elevated NO synthesis. Transgenic C57Bl6 mice with a haptoglobin (Hp) 2-2 genotype appear to develop more severe vasospasm, with higher concomitant inflammatory cell penetration than wild type (Hp1-1) mice after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). In the present study, the toxicity of systemic L-citrulline, its effect on basilar artery (BA) vasospasm, neurobehavioral scores, and inducible nitric oxide synthase/endothelial nitric oxide synthase (iNOS/eNOS) expression after SAH were evaluated in Hp2-2 mice. Materials and Methods: Hp2-2 genotypes were confirmed by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). L-Citrulline toxicity was assessed with escalating doses. To test efficacy, Hp1-1 and Hp2-2 mice (n=64) were divided into four groups (n=32/genotype): sham surgery (n=8), SAH no treatment (n=8), SAH plus vehicle (n=8), and SAH plus L-citrulline (200 mg/kg every 8 h ip, n=8). Post-SAH neurobehavioral scores were recorded at 24 h, animals were perfused, and BAs were processed for analysis. Expression of iNOS and eNOS was determined by RT-PCR. Results: The administration of L-citrulline resulted in higher BA lumen patencies in both genotypes (Hp1-1: SAH plus vehicle 77.8% ±3.2% vs. SAH plus L-citrulline 91.8% \pm 5.9% [mean \pm SEM, p < 0.05]; Hp2-2, SAH plus vehicle 67.1%±2.0% vs. SAH plus L-citrulline $86.9\% \pm 2.2\%$, p < 0.0001). Neurobehavioral scores were higher in Hp2-2 mice treated with L-citrulline (SAH plus vehicle 1.2 ± 0.2 vs. SAH plus L-citrulline 2.4 ± 0.2 , p < 0.01). Expression of iNOS and eNOS increased in Hp2-2 mice after L-citrulline treatment, but limited sample sizes prevented further statistical analysis. L-Citrulline was not toxic even at the highest dose. Conclusion: L-Citrulline was safe, increased BA patency, neurobehavioral scores, and NOS expression in Hp 2-2 mice post-SAH, and was a potential agent for treatment of vasospasm after SAH.

17. Administration of S-4-CPG (S-4-Carboxyphenylgicine) Decreases Vasospasm in Haptoglobin 2-2 Mice by Inhibition of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors

Authors: Garzon-Muvdi, Tomas (Presenting); Pradilla, Gustavo; Ruzevick, Jacob; Bender, Matthew; Edwards, Lindsay; Tamargo, Rafael

Institution: Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm is an important cause of stroke after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) [1, 2]. Infiltrating immune cells such as neutrophils secrete glutamate [3]. S-4-CPG (S-4-carboxyphenylgicine) is a selective antagonist of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) 1 and 5, which are expressed in endothelial cells. Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) is a protein that regulates endothelial function by modulating actin polymerization and tight junctions and nitric oxide/cGMP pathway effects. Hp2-2 genotype in humans predicts a higher risk of presenting vasospasm after SAH. We tested the efficacy of S-4-CPG in the treatment of vasospasm after induction of SAH in Hp2-2 and Hp1-1 mice. Methods: The penetration of S-4-CPG through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in vivo after systemic injection was studied. Hp1-1 and Hp2-2 mice were randomized to four groups to measure basilar artery lumen patency: (1) sham surgery (sham, n=5), (2) SAH only (n=5), (3) SAH plus vehicle (n=8), and (4) SAH plus S-4-CPG (n=8). We evaluated the presence of neutrophils surrounding the basilar artery after experimental SAH. VASP phosphorylation status in response to S-4-CPG and glutamate was assessed through immunoblotting. Results: S-4-CPG was able to cross the BBB with a concentration of $4.02 \pm 0.7 \ \mu\text{g/ml}$ at 1.5 h ($t^{1/2} = 2.76 \pm 1.8 \text{ h}$). S-4-CPG was not toxic to wild-type mice. Treatment of mice with S-4-CPG after SAH significantly decreased vasospasm after 24 h. Exposure of human brain microvascular endothelial cells to glutamate decreased the phospho-VASP. S-4-CPG maintained phospho-VASP in the presence of glutamate. Conclusion: S-4-CPG is a potential therapeutic agent to prevent vasospasm after aneurysmal SAH. It crosses the BBB and prevents vasospasm after SAH. Maintenance of phospho-VASP suggests a possible mechanism for this effect through the maintenance of the integrity of the BBB and possibly maintenance of the nitric oxide/cGMP signaling pathway.

18. Continuous Intravenous Sodium Nitrite Can Maintain Reversal of Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Primates

Authors: Fathi, Ali R. (Presenting); Pluta, Ryszard M.; Bakhtian, Kamran D.; Lonser, Russell R.

Institution: Kantonsspital Aarau, Aarau, Switzerland

Introduction: Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH)-induced vasospasm is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality. While long-term intravenous sodium nitrite (NaNO₂) infusion has been shown to prevent cerebral vasospasm after SAH in primates, the purpose of this study was to determine if intravenous NaNO, can reverse established SAH-induced vasospasm in primates and whether this effect can be maintained with continuous infusion. Methods: SAH-induced vasospasm was created in 14 cynomolgus macaques. Animals were randomized to either control (saline infusion, n=5) or treatment groups (intravenous NaNO₂ infusion for 3 h [n=7]or 8 h [n=2] at 300 µg/kg/h). Arteriographic vessel diameter was blindly analyzed to determine the degree of vasospasm. Nitric oxide metabolites (NO2, NO3, and S-nitrosothiols) were measured in whole blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). Results: Moderate-to-severe vasospasm was present in all animals before treatment (control 36% ± 8.3% [SD]; treatment $45\% \pm 12.5\%$; p=0.9). While saline infusion did not reduce vasospasm, NaNO, infusion significantly reduced the degree of vasospasm $(27\% \pm 7.6\%; p=0.008)$. Two hours after cessation of NaNO₂ infusion, the reduction in vasos-(mean increase vessel pasm persisted diameter. $17.8\% \pm 10.9\%$; p<0.05). The NaNO₂-induced vasodilation lasted 4 h after infusion cessation. At 6 and 8 h after infusion cessation, vessels returned to spasm (mean reduction artery diameter, $38.4\% \pm 8.3\%$). Continuous NaNO₂ infusion over 8 h maintained a significantly reduced degree of vasospasm $(32.3\% \pm 5.3\% \text{ compared to } 56.8\% \pm 23.1\% \text{ after SAH; mean}$ increased vessel diameter $24.5\% \pm 17.8\%$). Nitrite (peak value $3.7 \pm 2.1 \ \mu mol/l$), nitrate (18.2 ± 5.3 $\mu mol/l$), and S-nitrosothiols $(33.4 \pm 11.4 \text{ nmol/l})$ increased significantly in whole blood, and nitrite increased significantly in CSF. Conclusion: These findings suggest that intravenous infusion of NaNO₂ can reverse SAH-induced vasospasm in primates and that this effect can be maintained with prolonged infusions.

Blood and CSF Biomarkers

19. The Value of Serial Plasma/CSF Nuclear and Mitochondrial DNA Levels in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Wang, Hung-Chen (Presenting); Kwan, Aij-Lie Institution: Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Kaohsiung,

Taiwan Introduction: Increased levels of plasma nuclear and mitochondrial DNA have been reported in critically ill patients, and extracellular DNA may originate from damaged tissues to peripheral blood. We tested the hypothesis that nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and plasma are substantially increased in acute spontaneous aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients and decrease thereafter, and that nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels can predict treatment outcomes. Materials and Methods: We examined serial nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels in CSF and plasma from 21 adult spontaneous aneurysmal SAH patients. The nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels in CSF and plasma were also evaluated from 39 volunteer subjects who received myelography examinations during the study period. Results: Our data showed that circulating plasma nuclear DNA concentrations and both nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels in CSF significantly increased in aneurysmal SAH patients at admission compared with the volunteer group. The levels of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA in both CSF and plasma were significantly increased initially and substantially decreased thereafter. Both CSF nuclear DNA and CSF mitochondrial DNA levels on admission were significantly negatively correlated with the Barthel Index (average) at 6 months after discharge (average) (r=-0.668, p=0.013, and r=-0.713, p=0.006, respectively) in this study. Both higher CSF nuclear (cutoff value of >85.1 ng/ml) and mitochondrial DNA levels (cutoff value of >31.4 ng/ml) at presentation were associated with worse outcome in aneurysmal SAH patients. *Conclusion*: Based on our results, the higher CSF DNA levels, rather than plasma DNA levels, at presentation were associated with a worse outcome. Therefore, we look forward to more prospective multicenter investigations specifically confirming the predictive value of CSF and plasma DNA levels in outcome prediction.

20. Serial Expression of SOCS3 in CSF After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Osuka, Koji (Presenting); Takayasu, Masakazu Institution: Aichi Medical University, Nagakute, Aichi, Japan

Introduction: We have previously reported that elevation of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin 6 (IL-6) activates the janus kinase signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (JAK-STAT3) signaling pathway in the rat single subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) model (Fig. 1) [1]. This pathway might play an important role in cerebral vasospasm. In this study, we explored the expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), which regulates the JAK-STAT3 signaling pathway in CSF after SAH. Materials and Methods: Eight patients who underwent clipping surgery within 24 h after the onset of SAH (Fisher Group 2-3) were included in this study. Cerebrospinal fluids (CSFs) were collected during surgery (day 0) and on days 1, 3, 5, 7, 10 after surgery through the cisternal drainage tube. CSF samples from unruptured aneurysms were used as controls. Concentrations of IL-6 were measured using Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits. SOCS3 immunoprecipitated from CSF with a SOCS3 antibody. The resulting immunocomplexes were subjected to Western blot analysis with SOCS3 antibody. Results: Concentrations of IL-6 in CSF were increased transiently on day 1 compared with day 0. Those of IL-6 decreased gradually thereafter. Expressions of SOCS3 were detected on days 1 and 3, which decreased thereafter. Conclusion: JAK-STAT3 signaling pathway activated by IL-6 is strictly regulated by multiple factors. SOCS3 is a well-known inhibitor of the JAK-STAT3 signaling pathway that attaches to JAK molecules and inhibits the activity of JAK. From our data, expression of SOCS3 was immediately induced in CSF and might regulate the signaling pathway of JAKSTAT3 after SAH.

21. Do NSE and S100 in Serum as Well as Excitatory and Inhibitory Amino Acids in CSF Indicate Cerebral Vasospasm or Ischemia After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage?

Author: Jung, Carla (Presenting)

Institution: University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Delayed cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and delayed ischemic neurological deficits are still feared complications after SAH. Although microdialysis has been demonstrated to be a useful method for detection of brain ischemia, it remains a local indicator for intracerebral events. Therefore, we sought to determine if alterations in neuron specific enolase (NSE) and S100 in serum or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of free amino acids (AAs), including inhibitory and exitatory AAs, may be associated with cerebral vasospasm or ischemic lesions in patients after SAH. Levels of free AAs (including glutamate, aspartate, glycine, and gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA)) in CSF were analyzed by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in patients after SAH. Cerebral arteriograms were performed to assess cerebral vasospasm, and follow-up CCT scans were performed to assess ischemic brain lesions. Glutamate increased after SAH. S100 in serum indicated ischemic events, and glycine was associated with arteriograpic cerebral vasospasm. Further studies with a larger number of cases are needed to validate these results.

Clinical Trials (Ongoing, Challenges, Design)

22. Effect of Intrathecal Urokinase, Intravenous Fasudil, and Additional Intra-arterial Fasudil for Prevention of Cerebral Vasospasm: Comparison Between Clipping and Coiling

Authors: Takazawa, Hiroki (Presenting); Sasaki, Tatsuya; Morita, Takahiro; Narisawa, Ayumi; Saito, Atsushi; Arai, Masayuki; Koide, Kenichiro; Harada, Jun; Hasegawa, Takeshi; Nishijima, Michiharu

Institution: Koseiren Takaoka Hospital, Takaoka, Toyama, Japan

Object: To prevent symptomatic vasospasm (SVS), study of intrathecal urokinase (UK), intravenous fasudil chloride (FC), and additional intra-arterial FC has been performed in patients who underwent acute surgery for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). The effect of our protocol in preventing SVS was evaluated separately in clipping and coiling groups. Materials and Methods: From January 2008 to January 2011, we had 132 patients with aneurysmal SAH (Hunt and Kosnic grades I-IV). These patients were divided into two groups: clipping group (77 patients) and coiling group (55 patients). In the clipping group, intraoperative cisternal irrigation of UK occurred, and intrathecal UK via cisternal drainage was performed for 3 days after clipping. In the coiling group, intrathecal UK via spinal drainage was performed for 3 days after coiling. Intravenous administration of FC (90 mg) was combined in all cases for 14 days after surgery. Digital subtraction angiography (DSA) was performed at days 5-7, and intra-arterial administration of FC (30 mg) was added if the arterial narrowing was observed. Results: Intra-arterial FC was performed in 58 in the clipping group (75.3%) and in 34 patients in the coiling

group (61.8%). Symptoms due to vasospasm remained in 3 of the clipping group (3.9%) and in 5 patients of the coiling group (9.1%). No adverse effect of these therapies was observed. *Conclusion*: Intrathecal UK and intravenous FC and additional intra-arterial FC may be safe and effective for prevention of SVS after aneurysmal SAH. There were fewer SVSs in the clipping group than in the coiling group. This result might reflect the effect of intraoperative UK irrigation.

23. A Prospective, Randomized, and Controlled Trial Investigating the Use of Lumbar Cerebrospinal Fluid Drainage Following Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Al-Tamimi, Yahia [Award Finalist] (Presenting); Bhargava, Deepti; Hall, Greg; Feltbower, Richard; Goddard, Anthony; Quinn, Audrey; Ross, Stuart

Institution: Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust, Leeds, West Yorkshire, UK

Introduction: A single-center prospective, randomized, and controlled trial has been conducted to test the hypothesis that lumbar drainage of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) reduces the prevalence of delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) and improves outcome. Materials and Methods: Patients with World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grades 1-3 aSAH and Fisher grades 2-4 were randomized to either the study group of standard therapy plus insertion of a lumbar drain or the control group of standard therapy alone. The primary outcome measure was the prevalence of delayed ischemic neurological deficit. Results: We recruited 210 patients with aSAH (166 females, 44 males; median age 54 years, interquartile range 45-62 years) between October 2006 and July 2010 into the control (n=105) and study (n=105) groups of the trial. WFNS grades were as follows: 1, n=139; 2, n=60; and 3, n=11. Fisher grades were 2, n=87; 3, n=85; and 4, n=38. There was no significant difference in patient characteristics between the two groups. The prevalence of DIND was 35.2% in the control group and 21.0% in the study group. This was statistically significant (p=0.021). The prevalence of a modified Rankin score of 4, 5, or 6 at day 10 postictus was 62.5% in the control group and 44.8% in the study group (p=0.009). At 6 months, this was 18.6% in the control group and 19.8% in the study group (not significant, NS). There were 22 and 15 patients with a radiologically proven infarct at discharge in the control and study groups, respectively (NS). The prevalence of permanent CSF shunting was 7.6% in the control group and 5.7% in the study group (NS). There were two cases of meningitis associated with lumbar drain use and one case of a superficial lumbar drain exit site infection. All were treated successfully with antibiotics. Conclusion: There was a significant reduction in the prevalence of DIND and improvement in early outcome with the use of lumbar CSF drainage following aSAH.

24. Safety and Feasibility of Long-Term Intravenous Sodium Nitrite Infusion in Healthy Volunteers

Author: Pluta, Ryszard (Presenting)

Institution: NIH/JAMA, Bethesda, MD, USA

Introduction: Infusion of sodium nitrite could provide sustained therapeutic concentrations of nitric oxide (NO) for the treatment of a variety of vascular disorders. The study was developed to determine the safety and feasibility of prolonged sodium nitrite infusion. Materials and Methods: Healthy volunteers, aged 21-60 years old, were candidates for the study performed at the National Institutes of Health (NIH; protocol 05-N-0075) between July 2007 and August 2008. All subjects provided written consent to participate. Twelve subjects (5 males, 7 females; mean age 38.8 ± 9.2 years [range 27-56 years]) were intravenously infused with increasing doses of sodium nitrite for 48 h (starting dose at 4.2 µg/kg/h; maximal dose of 533.8 µg/kg/h). Clinical, physiologic, and laboratory data before, during, and after infusion were analyzed. Results: The maximal tolerated dose for intravenous infusion of sodium nitrite was 267 µg/kg/h. Dose-limiting toxicity occurred at 446 µg/kg/h. Toxicity included a transient asymptomatic decrease of mean arterial blood pressure (more than 15 mmHg) or an asymptomatic increase of methemoglobin level above 5%. Nitrite, nitrate, and S-nitrosothiol concentrations in plasma and whole blood increased in all subjects and returned to preinfusion baseline values within 12 h after cessation of the infusion. The mean half-life of nitrite estimated at maximal tolerated dose was 45.3 min for plasma and 51.4 min for whole blood. Conclusion: Sodium nitrite can be safely infused intravenously at defined concentrations for prolonged intervals. These results should be valuable for developing studies to investigate new NO treatment paradigms for a variety of clinical disorders, including cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage, and ischemia of the heart, liver, kidney, and brain, as well as organ transplants, blood-brain barrier modulation, and pulmonary hypertension.

25. Erythropoietin for the Treatment of Vasospasm: A New Age May Be Close

Author: Grasso, Giovanni (Presenting)

Institution: University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) associated with ruptured cerebral aneurysm is a devastating clinical syndrome constituting 3% of all strokes. Although several drugs have been developed with the aim to prevent the arterial narrowing and limit the delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DNID) following the initial hemorrhage, no pharmacological agent has been shown conclusively to improve the outcome in clinical practice. Neuroprotection has been advocated as the ultimate goal in the treatment of acute neurological conditions, maintaining the highest possible integrity of cellular interactions in the brain and protection of neural function. Among all the neuroprotective agents so far proposed, a large body of preclinical and clinical studies has pointed out the high beneficial effect of recombinant human erythropoietin (rHuEPO) in reducing neuronal injury. Systemic EPO therapy acts via EPO receptors on cerebrovascular endothelia and ischemic neurons, inhibiting neuronal apoptosis, favoring production of antioxidant enzymes in neurons and neoangiogenesis, with the ultimate effect of reversing impaired autoregulation, reducing vasospasm and DNID. Besides the encouraging results provided by the use of rHuEPO in experimental SAH, the recent clinical trials have not been conclusive on EPO efficacy in this setting. The clinical side effects related to rHuEPO administration, such as hypertension, hypertensive encephalopathy, atherosclerosis, seizures, and thrombotic events, may be overcame using the new EPOderiving drugs, which have been demonstrated to present the same neuroprotective effect without erythropoietic action. Further clinical investigations that consider the optimal tolerated dosage, therapeutic time window, and duration of therapy are encouraged to assess safety and efficacy of this promising therapeutic agent.

26. Prospective Randomized Phase II Trial on Concomitant Intraventricular Thrombolysis and Low-Frequency Head Motion After Severe Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Analysis of Effect on Clot Clearance Rate, Radiological Vasospasm, Delayed Cerebral Ischemia, and Functional Outcome

Authors: Etminan, Nima (Presenting); Eicker, Sven; Beseoglu, Kerim; Perrin, Jason; Steiger, Hans-Jakob; Haenggi, Daniel

Institution: Heinrich-Heine University, Düsseldorf, NRW, Germany

Previous pilot studies demonstrated a positive effect on delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and functional outcome in patients suffering from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) using a combination of intracerebral thrombolysis and kinetic therapy. The goal of this prospective, randomized phase II study was to investigate the effect of concomitant low-frequency head motion therapy and intraventricular thrombolysis on clot clearance rate, radiological vasospasm, clinical features of DCI, and clinical outcome in patients suffering from severe SAH. We included 50 patients suffering from severe SAH (World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies [WFNS] III-V) were included in the study. Experimental therapy in the study group consisted of intraventricular application of recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rt-PA) and lateral rotational therapy (RotoRest®) for 48 h after admission, and aneurysm treatment was compared to best medical treatment (control group). Clot clearance rate was evaluated based on computerized tomography (CT). For these patients, radiological vasospasm, clinical features of DCI, and functional outcome, as measured by modified Rankin Scale (mRS), were observed during the course of treatment. There were no severe adverse events in the study group. Clot clearance rate was higher in the study

group than in the control group (p=0.003). The incidence of radiological vasospasm did not differ between the two groups (p=0.713). The incidence of clinical features of DCI in awake patients was significantly decreased in the study group (p=0.016). A distinct trend of mRS improvement (p=0.06) was noted in the study group at 1 month follow-up. The preliminary data of our phase II study suggested a beneficial effect of concomitant intraventricular thrombolysis and lateral rotational therapy regarding clot clearance rate and clinical features of DCI in the absence of severe adverse events. The effect on cerebral perfusion, cerebral infarction, and functional outcome at 3 months remains to be analyzed.

27. Interim Analysis of a Prospective Randomized Controlled Trial to Investigate the Efficacy of Endovascular Treatment in Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Platz, Johannes (Presenting); Berkefeld, Joachim; Güresir, Erdem; du Mesnil de Rochemont, Richard; Mayer, Thomas E.; König, Ralph W.; Seifert, Volker; Vatter, Hartmut

Institution: Johann Wolfgang Goethe-University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Introduction: Endovascular treatment (EVT), like transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA) or intra-arterial nimodipine (IAN), represents rescue therapy for cerebral vasospasm (CVS) after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Even though improvement of vessel diameter and cerebral blood flow was shown, its efficacy to prevent delayed cerebral infarction (DCI) is missing. The aim of the present study was therefore to investigate if delayed cerebral infarction can be reduced by repeated EVT. Methods: The design of the trial was prospective, controlled, and multicentric. Patients with CVS proven by magnetic resonance (MR)-based perfusion (PWI)/diffusion weighted imaging (DWI) mismatch (baseline MR) were randomized into an invasive or conventional treatment arm. All patients were treated with induced hypertension. In the invasive arm, additional digital subtraction angiography (DSA) was performed after the MR imaging. CVS is then treated by TBA or IAN. At 48±12 h after treatment, follow-up MR imaging was acquired to assess the treatment success. If CVS persisted, DSA and EVT are repeated. The primary endpoint was the development of DCI, defined as new DWI lesions on a final MRI. For analysis, the brain was partitioned into 19 segments of comparable volume. Major infarct (MI) was defined as a lesion 50% or greater of one segment. Results: This interim analysis was based on the first 18 (of 92 scheduled) patients of the trial. We randomized 7 into the invasive and 11 into the conventional arms. In the interventional arm, 1 patient died before the final MR imaging. DCI was observed in 7 (64%) patients in the conventional and in 3 (50%) in the interventional arm. MI occurred in 4 (36%) and in 2 patients (33%), respectively. Conclusion: This interim analysis suggests that there are patients who may benefit from EVT. However, DCI

was also observed in spite of supposedly successful EVT. It remains, therefore, to be seen if the efficacy of endovascular therapy is significantly higher than the periprocedural risk, including transport of these patients.

CNS Pathology: Acute and Delayed Deficits

28. Microglia (MG) Activation After Acute Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (aSAH): An Intraparenchymal Reaction to an Extraparenchymal Disease

Authors: Schneider, Ulf (Presenting) [Winner, Young Investigator Award]; Radon, Anja-Maria; Brandenburg, Susan; Brück, Wolfgang; Heppner, Frank; Vajkoczy, Peter

Institution: Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Objective: Recently, inflammatory reactions have been discussed as a contributor to brain damage after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). To characterize the intraparenchymal reaction to the extraparenchymal noxa of aSAH, we evaluated time course and cytokine expression of microglia (MG) activation after experimental and clinical aSAH. Methods: (1) Experimental aSAH was induced in mice. On days 4, 14, and 28, brain slices were stained for ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1) and amyloid precursor protein (APP). (2) CD11b-positive MG cells were isolated from murine brains after aSAH on days 4, 14, and 28. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed for tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin (IL) 1a, -b, and 6 and their corresponding receptors. (3) Human brain sections of patients who had died from aSAH were stained for Iba-1 and APP. Results: In murine as well as human brain sections after aSAH, an intraparenchymal accumulation of Iba-1-positive cells was documented that started around day 4 and peaked around day 14. Furthermore, axonal damage could be recorded in murine and human brain slices according to intense APP expression, following the same time course and expression pattern. (human day 4/day 14/day 28: Iba-1 (cells/hpf): $13.5 \pm 8.7/73.4 \pm 36.8/15.7 \pm 4.6$; APP activation (arbitrary scale): 0.3/1.8/1.0; murine day 4/day 14/day 28: Iba-1 (area in mm²): $0.23 \pm 0.04/4.13 \pm 1.22/3.15 \pm 2.77$; APP (area in mm²): $0.19 \pm 0.01/3.36 \pm 1.01/0.27 \pm 0.02$). Cytokine levels of IL1a, -b, and 6 and TNF as well as the corresponding receptors in the isolated CD11b-positive cells were significantly increased on day 14 (IL1a 2.5, IL1b 5.2, TNF 4.1, IL1R2 3.2, TNFR1 2.4, TNFR2 4.1-fold vs. control). Conclusion: A significant intraparenchymal accumulation of MG cells was documented after aSAH. Time course, expression pattern, and upregulated transcription of inflammatory cytokines corresponded well with signs of axonal damage. For the first time, MG activation as an intraparenchymal inflammatory reaction to aSAH was

characterized, and a hint of the elucidating the underlying mechanisms could be achieved.

29. The Influence of Parenchymal Damage and Hemorrhage on Cortical Spreading Depression in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Eriksen, Nina (Presenting); Pakkenberg, Bente; Rostrup, Egill; Lauritzen, Martin, J.; Fabricius, Martin E.; Woitzik, Johannes; Scheel, Michael; Strong, Anthony J.; Dreier, Jens P.

Institution: Bispebjerg Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

Introduction: Acute brain injury is often followed by serious complications. The initial brain damage is the most important factor for outcome; hence, we are focusing on the early phase after subarachnoid hemorrhage. In ischemic brain injury, a phase of delayed deterioration sometimes develops between 2 and 5 days postictus and is associated with severe and refractory brain swelling and poor outcome. Experimental investigations have shown that spreading depolarization of gray matter may lead to progressive deterioration in border zones of ischemic foci. This project is a part of COSBID, the CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarizations, and the aim is to focus on volume estimation of injured regions as a prognostic tool. Materials and Methods: Quantitative measurements, such as regional volumes under various conditions, are essential for understanding both structural and functional changes in the brain and assessing prognosis. The affected brain tissue in patients suffering from acute brain injury is very inhomogeneous; hence, traditional methods are not always applicable, and automatic methods may not be able to match the individual observer. Stereological techniques are alternative tools for quantification of damage to the human brain. In the current project, we used the Cavalieri method to obtain the volume of injured regions and hemorrhage in patients during the acute and subacute stage on computed tomographic (CT) scans. The volumes were correlated to events of spreading depolarizations. *Results*: Our preliminary data in 20 patients showed a positive correlation between the number of spreading depolarizations versus volume of parenchymal damage and hemorrhage. Conclusion: This may suggest that increased parenchymal damage and blood in the subarachnoid space favor the occurrence of spreading depolarization in acute brain injury. However, we will need to analyze more patients to fully understand the relationship between parenchymal damage, hemorrhage, and spreading depolarization.

30. Early CT Perfusion Measurement in 50 Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Tool to Detect Primary Damage Determining Clinical Course and Outcome

Authors: Heiroth, Hi-Jae (Presenting) [Award Finalist]; Kamp, Marcel A.; Turowski, Bernd; Steiger, Hans-Jakob; Hänggi, Daniel

Institution: University of Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, NRW, Germany

Introduction: The clinical outcome of patients suffering from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) seems to be influenced by the primary perfusion damage as well as by delayed cerebral ischemia. The goal of the present study was to investigate the predictive impact of early computed tomographic (CT) perfusion measurement in SAH patients on the clinical course and outcome. Materials and Methods: We included 50 patients with aneurysmal SAH in the prospective setting of this study. An early CT-based perfusion measurement within the first 12 h after initial bleeding was performed. The mean transit time (MTT) and the time to peak (TTP) were recorded. The results were correlated with the World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) score and the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS). Results: The initial TTP correlated significantly with the WFNS scale (p=0.004; correlation coefficient r=0.405; Spearman correlation [Sc] with significance level [sl] of 0.01); that is, the higher the TTP, the higher the WFNS score was. The initial MTT correlated negatively with the GOS (p=0.016; r=-0.339; Sc, sl: 0.05), as did the initial TTP (p=0.018; r=-0.333; Sc, sl: 0.05); that is, the higher the MTT or TTP was, the lower the GOS score was. There were 36 patients (i.e., 72%) who required external ventricular drainage (EVD). Patients with EVD showed a significantly higher MTT than those without EVD (p=0.001; r=0.472; Sc, sl: 0.01). The occurrence of vasospasm in the clinical course correlated highly with initial TTP (p=0.008; r=0.370; Sc, sl: 0.01); that is, the higher the initial TTP was, the more likely was the occurrence of vasospasm in the clinical course. Conclusion: The results of the present study revealed that (1) early CT perfusion measurement correlated highly significantly with the initial clinical grade and (2) contained a highly predictive impact for determining the clinical course and outcome in patients suffering from aneurysmal SAH. Based on the present results, delayed cerebral ischemia as the major secondary morbidity after SAH could be estimated as a sequel of the primary decreases in perfusion status.

31. Early Activation of Cell Death After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Sehba, Fatima (Presenting); Friedrich, Victor; Flores, Rowena

Institution: Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

Introduction: Cell death in brain by apoptosis and necrosis is present at 24 h after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). It is not known how soon after SAH cell death begins. We studied apoptosis and necrosis in the brain during the first 24 h after SAH. *Methods*: Animals (rats) were sacrificed at 10 min to 24 h after SAH or sham surgery (n=5per group per time studied). Apoptosis in brain sections was studied by cleaved caspase-3 immunostaining and necrosis by fluorojade staining. Vascular and parenchymal origin of caspase-3-positive cells was studied by rat endothelial cell antigen (RECA-1; endothelial marker) and DAPI staining. Brain sections were photographed, and the number of

caspase-3- and fluorojade-positive cells was determined (IP lab). Brain areas examined included cerebral cortex, caudate putamen, and hippocampus. Results: Caspase-3 staining was present in endothelial and parenchymal cells at 10 min after SAH and was significantly greater than time-matched shams (p < 0.05). Caspase-3 staining increased further at 24 h after SAH and was similar in all brain regions and across hemisphere. Fluorojade-positive neurons were present in the caudate putamen at 6 h after SAH. By 24 h, fluorojade staining had spread to cortex, hippocampus, and caudate putamen and was significantly greater in the right compared to the left hemisphere. No fluorojade staining was present in sham animals. Conclusion: Our data established an early activation of endothelial and parenchymal cell apoptosis and neuronal necrosis after SAH and identified endpoints that can be targeted to reduce early brain injury after SAH.

Definition and Diagnosis of Vasospasm

32. Evaluation of Cerebral Vasospasm with CT Angiography and Perfusion CT

Authors: Kasuya, Hidetoshi (Presenting); Tanaka, Noriko; Hagiwara, Shinji; Tani, Shigeru; Akiyama, Mami; Koseki, Hirokazu; Hana, Taijun; Yoshimura, Chika

Institution: Tokyo Women's Medical University Medical Center East, Tokyo, Japan

Introduction: We investigated the usefulness of threedimensional computed tomographic angiography (CTA) and perfusion CT (pCT) for the diagnosis and management of cerebral vasospasm (CV). Materials and Methods: We retrospectively evaluated 41 consecutive patients suffering from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). CTA and pCT were performed on the day of admission (day 0) and at least once between day 5 and day 14. Data were analyzed by comparing clinical characteristics and findings with conventional CT and digital subtraction angiography (DSA). Results: Eighteen patients were more than 60 years old; 24 were female; 22 were World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grades 4 and 5; 32 were in Fisher group 3; 35 of the ruptured aneurysms were located in the anterior circulation, and 18 were treated by craniotomy. Sensitivity and specificity for detecting severe CV on DSA was 100% and 76%, respectively. Four patients received intra-arterial vasodilator treatment according to the results found in CTA and pCT. False-positive findings were caused by coil artifacts, parenchymal hematoma, and effects related to the surgical and endovascular procedures. CV was well characterized with a combination of mean transit time, cerebral blood flow, and cerebral blood volume. Conclusion: CTA/pCT can detect critical vasospasm and be used as an indicator for invasive treatment.

33. Application of Noninvasive Continuous Monitoring

System, INVOS® for Detecting Cerebral Vasospasm

Author: Ono, Shigeki (Presenting)

Institution: Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry, and Sciences, Okayama, Japan

Introduction: Detection of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage is somehow difficult because, so far, there are no absolute tools for timely and accurate detection. Although transcranial Doppler monitoring, single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), three-dimensional computed tomography (3D-CT), or angiography are all excellent monitoring tools for vasospasm, these are not continuous noninvasive monitoring systems. The INVOS monitor shows continuous regional saturation data in the brain cortex through the skin and skull, and it reveals sitespecific insights on perfusion of brain cortex. Also, it is not only a noninvasive detachable monitor but also a small and portable one. We here report whether it can be useful for detection of cerebral vasospasm and analyze its advantages and disadvantages for vasospasm detection. Methods and Results: Patients showing Hunt and Kosnik grade between 2 and 4 were included from 2005 to 2011 in Okayama University Hospital. The INVOS monitoring system was used for detecting vasospasm from day 3 to day 14. Monitoring probes were usually attached to the regions predicted for vasospasm. When INVOS values decreased, immediate angiography was routinely performed, and we checked a degree of vascular narrowing; then, intra-arterial fasudil infusion was carried out if necessary. In 38 patients, the INVOS was applied, and saturation was analyzed for detecting vasospasm. Except for 2 patients, vasospasm was well detected in a timely and accurate manner. Vasospasm could be treated very well by intra-arterial fasudil injection in the early vasospastic period. However, local vasospasm or vasospasm in the very peripheral lesions could not be detected well in 2 patients. Discussion and Conclusion: The INVOS monitor can detect cerebral vasospasm in a timely and accurate fashion. It may be a good monitoring system for detecting vasospasm. In the meantime, we need some ingenuity for detecting local vasospasm or vasospasm in the very peripheral regions.

Endovascular Approaches

34. Intra-arterial Verapamil-Induced Seizures: An Underrecognized Side Effect or the Result of Rapid Reperfusion?

Authors: Rahme, Ralph (Presenting); Abruzzo, Todd; Zuccarello, Mario; Khan, Usman; Ringer, Andrew

Institution: University of Cincinnati/Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Introduction: Seizures induced by intra-arterial infusion of vasodilators in patients with posthemorrhagic vasospasm are exceptionally reported and thought to result from a direct
effect of the drug on metabolically challenged neurons. We present evidence that challenges this concept. Materials and Methods: A 27-year-old female patient suffered rupture of a left posterior communicating artery aneurysm, resulting in massive subarachnoid hemorrhage. Despite stent-assisted coiling, the aneurysm exhibited early recanalization and rerupture within a few weeks, necessitating additional coiling. Five days later, the patient became obtunded with a dense left hemiparesis. Cerebral angiography demonstrated severe vasospasm of the right internal carotid and middle cerebral arteries. The patient was treated by direct intra-arterial infusion of verapamil (20 mg) into the right internal carotid artery. Results: Immediately after verapamil infusion, the patient complained of severe headache and became agitated. This was quickly followed by left hemibody clonic convulsions and a self-limited secondary generalized tonic-clonic seizure. Repeat angiography documented immediate resolution of vasospasm and enhanced right hemispheric perfusion. Following a transient postictal state, the patient regained normal consciousness and left hemibody motor strength. Over the next few days, the patient had recurrence of severe symptomatic vasospasm twice. She was treated with intra-arterial verapamil and exhibited each time headache, agitation, and a secondarily generalized tonic-clonic seizure followed by neurological improvement. Conclusion: Intra-arterial verapamilinduced seizures do not necessarily represent an adverse event. In the absence of an angiographically demonstrable complication such as intraprocedural aneurysm rupture, seizures may be caused by rapid drug-induced reperfusion of the ischemic brain and may be followed by neurological improvement.

35. Continuous Intra-arterial Nimodipine Infusion for the Treatment of Cerebral Vasospasm

Author: Mayer, Thomas E. (Presenting)

Institution: Friedrich-Schiller-University, Jena, Germany

Background: To treat cerebral vasospasm, balloon angioplasty has been shown to be effective and permanent in selected cases. But, since it is technically challenging and insufficient, if more distal segments are involved, it has not proven to be clinically effective. Intra-arterial infusion of vasodilators is known to reverse vasospasm. There is indication that calcium channel blockers have longer-lasting effects, including the also systemically applied nimodipine, which has been used intra-arterially by neurointerventional groups for subarachnoid hemorrhage and catheter-induced vasospasm. Nevertheless, infarctions occurs in patients treated by intra-arterial short-time infusion in up to three sessions with nimodipine. Therefore, we investigated long-term intra-arterial infusion. Methods: In case of clinical, transcranial Doppler (TCD), cerebral blood flow (CBF), or angiographic signs of vasospasm, patients were included in the study protocol. Patients were treated by one to four microcatheters implanted for 12-288 h in the internal carotid

arteries (ICAs) or vertebral arteries (VAs). Nimodipine was infused through the microcatheters with a dosage of 0.5–3 mg/h per vessel. All patients received at least single antiplatelet therapy. Results: So far, in the first 25 patients there were two major complications, with one internal carotid artery dissection and one embolism. In the first patient, the guiding catheter was left in place, not exchanged for a microcatheter. The other patient only received heparin for anticoagulation but not antiplatelet therapy. Only one patient did not respond to an intra-arterial dosage of 1 mg/h, but the following day, the dosage was increased to 2 mg/h nimodipine in one ICA, and this led to normalization of the vessel diameters. In all other patients, complete or almost-complete recanalization occurred. Clinical evaluation at this time is not completed. Conclusion: Continuous intra-arterial nimodipine infusion for the treatment of cerebral vasospasm has the potential to recanalize all patients until the end of the vasospastic phase. Randomized clinical studies are demanded.

36. Transluminal Balloon Angioplasty for Symptomatic Distal Vasospasm Refractory to Medical Therapy in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Santillan, Alejandro (Presenting) [Award Finalist]; Knopman, Jared; Zink, Walter; Patsalides, Athos; Gobin, Y. Pierre

Institution: New York Presbyterian Hospital/Weill Cornell Medical Center, New York, NY, USA

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm (VS) is a major cause of morbidity and mortality associated with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). The current endovascular paradigm for vasospasm refractory to medical therapy is to perform angioplasty for proximal vessel VS and vasodilator infusion for distal vessel VS. We report our experience of a large series of balloon angioplasty for distal VS refractory to medical therapy in patients with aneurysmal SAH. Materials and Methods: We studied a retrospective series of 32 patients with SAH and symptomatic VS refractory to medical therapy who were treated with balloon angioplasty for distal vessel VS. Immediate angiographic results, procedure-related complications, and clinical outcomes were assessed. Results: From September 2001 to January 2010, there were 32 patients with symptomatic vasospasm refractory to medical therapy who underwent angioplasty for distal arterial vasospasm. There were 26 women (81.3%), aged from 29 to 67 years. A total of 175 vessels were angioplastied (95 proximal and 80 distal). The only complication was due to rupture of an incompletely clipped aneurysm that was treated by immediate coiling and did not result in any clinical worsening. Repeated treatment was needed for 6 arteries (6/80 = 7.5%). There was no procedure-related symptomatic complication. Good outcomes (modified Rankin Scale [mRS]<2) were observed in 23/28 (82.1%) patients with follow-up. Conclusion: Balloon angioplasty for distal VS was safe and

effective and decreased the need for repeated intra-arterial treatments seen with infusion of vasodilator.

37. Comparison of the Clinical Outcome of Cerebral Vasospasm Post-Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Patients Undergoing Two Types of Angioplasty: Mechanical and Chemical

Authors: Aburto-Murrieta, Yolanda (Presenting); Marquez, Juan Manuel; López-de-Santiago Iván, Iván Tomás; Hernández-Curiel, Bernardo; Bonifacio-Delgadillo, Dulce

Institution: Instituto Nacional de Neurología y Neurocirugía, DF, México

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm (CV) causes significant morbidity and mortality in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). Angiographic vasospasm (AV) is seen in 30-70% of patients post-aSAH, and delayed ischemic neurologic deficit (DIND) has been associated with this. Prevention of rebleeding with exclusion of ruptured aneurysm is followed by a combination of interventional procedures, such as mechanical and chemical angioplasty and medical therapy. Methods: In a retrospective clinical trial of 30 patients post-aSAH (anterior circulation) with AV were treated with intra-arterial nimodipine therapy or mechanical angioplasty for CV and fulfilled Eskridge criteria. At admission, Hunt and Hess (H&H) and Fisher Scale were registered. Transcranial Doppler was performed before and after intra arterial nimodipine. Clinical follow-up was recorded every 3 months for 1 year. AV was classified as none/mild, moderate, or severe (0-33%, 34-66%, >67%, respectively), and infarctions were categorized as secondary to AV, other, or unknown causes. Results: We performed 22 intra-arterial nimodipine and 8 mechanical angioplasties in 30 patients (18 female) aged 18-74 years. At admission, the patients were HH scale I: 20%, II: 30%, III: 37%, and IV: 13% and Fisher III: 33%, IV: 20%. No differences in both scales were found. Intracranial Doppler velocities postprocedure diminished at least 45%. Clinical outcome was defined as good when a modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score of 0-2 was present at 12 months. Good outcome was present in 37% of patients. Good outcome between the two groups was similar, p=0.36. Mortality was 20%. Conclusion: We did not find differences in the clinical outcome despite the modality of endovascular strategy and adequate angiographic and ultrasound response.

38. Treatment of RCVS with Intra-arterial Verapamil: A Novel Treatment Paradigm?

Authors: Khan, Usman (Presenting); Rahme, Ralph; Abruzzo, Todd; Zuccarello, Mario; Ringer, Andrew

Institution: University of Cincinnati/Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Introduction: reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS) is a poorly understood clinical entity, and the precise underlying pathophysiology is unknown. Both primary or idiopathic and secondary types have been described. The diagnosis is usually made clinically with sparse angiographic evaluation depending on institutional preference and the index of suspicion for underlying vasculitis. Other than avoiding the triggers and withdrawal of secondary causes, no treatment has gained therapeutic currency. Methods: Four patients at this institution were treated with intra-arterial (IA) verapamil after an angiographic diagnosis of RCVS was made. All patients had a clinical history suggestive of the diagnosis, prompting the angiographic evaluation. Three patients were females, and 1 was male. Age range was 19-58 years. Clinical presentation encompassed thunderclap headache in 3 patients, subarachnoid hemorrhage in 1 patient, cerebral ischemia/infarction in 2 patients, and reversible parieto-occipital T2 signal hyperintensities in 1 patient. None of the patients had disabling neurological deficits. The mean dose of IA verapamil used was 10-20 mg per vessel. Results: Complete resolution of angiographic abnormalities with dramatic improvement in arterial luminal caliber was demonstrated 15 min after verapamil infusion in all cases. There were no adverse neurological sequelae. The improvement in vascular luminal caliber was the same in anterior and posterior circulations. There were no procedure-related complications in any of these cases. No angiographic follow-up was done as there was no recurrence of symptoms. Conclusion: IA verapamil may have a role in proving the angiographic confirmation of the RCVS diagnosis and could be a therapeutic modality available in the acute phase of the disease to prevent symptomatic ischemia in severely affected patients.

Human Imaging Studies

39. Quantification of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage by 3D-CT Part 1: Comparison of Hematoma Volume Between 3D-CT and 2D-CT

Authors: Taku, Sato (Presenting); Tatsuya, Sasaki; Jun, Sakuma; Kiyoshi, Saito; Katsuyuki, Kikori; Takeshi, Yusa; Kyouichi, Suzuki; Yoichi, Watanabe; Satoshi, Taira; Masahiro, Sato

Institution: Fukushima Medical University, Fukushima, Japan

Object: Estimation of hematoma volume of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) on computed tomography (CT) has been subjective and not quantitative, although the relation between hematoma volume and development of delayed ischemic neurological deficit has been confirmed. Attempts to quantify the SAH with a novel software-based technique and two-dimensional CT (2D-CT) encountered problems posed by the partial volume effect and the absence of SAH in the convexity or posterior fossa. We compared hematoma volume between our new method by three-dimensional CT (3D-CT) and the conventional one by 2D-CT. Methods: We used the width of CT number 40-80 Hounsfield units (HU), which was the reported CT number of SAH ranges. We examined correlation of hematoma volume by actual measurement and by 3D-CT using experimental hematomas and compared SAH volumes by 3D-CT with those by 2D-CT. Experimental hematomas were made with blood obtained from ten volunteers. Clinical materials were 50 patients with aneurysmal SAH. Results: The experimental hematoma volume was determined by actual measurements and by 3D-CT on days 1, 4, 7, 11, and 14. The coefficients on days 1 and 4 were relatively high, and the correlation between measured and estimated volumes was significant on days 7, 11, and 14. These results suggest that a CT number of 40-80 may be reliable for estimating the hematoma volume by 3D-CT. The SAH volume, including the volume of normal structures, was automatically calculated (V1). The volume of normal structures (V2) was calculated in another 50 patients without intracranial lesions as 12 ml. The total SAH volume was defined as V1 minus mean V2. The mean SAH volumes by 3D-CT and by 2D-CT were 44 ml and 34 ml, respectively, on day 0. The SAH volume was significantly larger by 3D-CT than by 2D-CT (p < 0.05). Conclusion: The SAH volume by 3D-CT may be reliable for estimating the hematoma volume. This method can rapidly measure SAH volume based on 3D-CT, and chronological changes in the SAH volume can be monitored easily.

Markers, Monitoring, and Point of Care

40. Paradoxical Increases in Near-Infrared (NIR) Cerebral Oximetry in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Suggest Vasospasm

Authors: Corry, Jesse (Presenting); Varelas, Panayiotis; Abdelhak, Tamer; Bartscher, James; Wellwood, Jody

Institution: Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit, MI, USA

Introduction: The combination of hypertensive and vasodilatory (HVD) therapy via intravenous nicardipine demonstrated faster reductions in mean middle cerebral artery (MCA) velocities following subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). Recently, we reported reductions in brain oxygenation, measured by near-infrared spectrophotometry (NIRS)determined regional cerebral oxygen saturation, with this therapy. We report findings in a patient that potentially explain this finding. Methods: A report of a patient treated with HVD. Data included daily transcranial Doppler (TCD) mean velocities of the middle cerebral and basilar arteries and NIRS oximetry. NIRS is a noninvasive, optically based technique to monitor brain oxygenation by determining the cerebral tissue oxygen saturation. Light from the NIRS forehead sensor passes through extracerebral and brain tissues, the latter containing oxy- and deoxyhemoglobin within

cerebral arterioles, capillaries, and venules. NIRS oximetry is a mixed-vascular oxygen saturation parameter. Results: Of the patients, 5 of 7 demonstrated reduced TCD velocities correlating to nicardipine administration. Six had NIRS performed. These values significantly (p < 0.05) fell 8–10% in 5 of 6 patients correlating with nicardipine administration. NIRS reductions correlated to neurologic exam improvements. One patient required intra-arterial therapy for vasospasm. The patient's TCD velocities and NIRS readings increased in the days before angiography. Angiography demonstrated external-carotid-artery-to-internal-carotid-artery (ECA-to-ICA) collateral flow via branches of the internal maxillary artery. After angioplasty and intra-arterial nicardipine, the NIRS values decreased 4-8%, continued to decrease 5-8% over 8 h, then rose to preangiography levels. Conclusion: In this small series of HVD therapy, we found reductions in both TCD velocities and NIRS values in the majority of patients treated. These findings suggest reductions in NIRS values were the result of reduced ECA arterial contribution. Increases in NIRS values may suggest increased ECA-to-ICA cross flow in vasospasm.

41. Early Platelet Activation After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Is Related to Poor Admission Hunt-and-Hess Grade

Authors: Frontera, Jennifer (Presenting); Catalano, Ashley; Jadhav, Surekha; Sehba, Fatima

Institution: Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

Introduction: Brain injury that occurs at the time of aneurysm rupture is the most important predictor of long-term outcome, yet little is known about the mechanism of injury. Animal models of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) suggest that early platelet activation and microthrombosis may play a role. Methods: Spontaneous SAH patients were prospectively enrolled within 72 h of ictus, excluding those with baseline coagulation abnormalities. Jugular and peripheral venous blood was sampled at admission prior to angiography or aneurysm repair and then every 12 h for 72 h and assessed by thromboelastography (TEG) and standard measures of coagulation. TEG studies were compared between good- and poorgrade patients (Hunt and Hess [H&H] 1-3 vs. 4-5) using repeated measures analysis. Logistic regression analysis was used to compare TEG and standard coagulation values with admission demographic features and neurological status. Results: A total of 15 SAH patients were studied. The median HH score was 3 (range 1-5), and 27% of patients were HH 4-5. Abnormally high TEG measures of platelet activation occurred in 88% of patients. Jugular venous TEG markers of platelet activation were significantly higher in poor-grade compared to good-grade patients. This difference in platelet activation was evident earlier in venous jugular blood (beginning at 24 h) and was more pronounced (p=0.008) as compared to peripheral venous blood (36 h; p=0.033). There was

a trend toward increasing TEG measures of platelet activation with each increase in HH grade (odds ratio [OR] 4.6, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.8-26.0, p=0.083). D-Dimer levels were elevated in 90% of patients (median 2.0, range 0.3-18.5), as were fibrinogen levels (median 523, range 264–617), but neither was related to clinical status. *Conclusion*: Platelet activation, as measured by TEG, was increased acutely in poor-grade SAH patients compared to good-grade patients and may play a role in the mechanism of early brain injury.

42. Is Routine Renal Screening in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients Rational?

Authors: Ghosh, Sayantani; Dey, Saugat (Presenting); Maltenfort, Mitchell; Tjoumakaris, Stavropoula; Gonzalez, L. Fernando; Jabbour, Pascal; Rosenwasser, Robert; Jallo, Jack

Institution: Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Introduction: Acute kidney injury is a problem of paramount importance in the majority of critically ill patients; hence, a routine renal screening is warranted. But, there is little known regarding the burden of acute kidney injury in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH); therefore, we have studied the effects of levels of serum BUN (blood urea nitrogen), creatinine, and BUN:creatinine ratio in such patients to investigate the extent of kidney damage. Materials and Methods: From the records of Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, we retrospectively reviewed 1,000 cases of aSAH with no prior history of kidney disease for their levels of serum BUN, creatinine, and their ratio on the day of admission and on the fourth day of hospitalization. Outcome of the patients on discharge was measured via extended Glasgow Outcome Sale (GOSE) score. Parameters were initially analyzed by Student t test and were further scrutinized by multivariate regression analysis. Results: Kruskal-Wallis (nonparametric) comparisons across outcomes were significant for BUN, creatinine, and BUN:creatinine ratio (p < 0.0001); however, in a multivariate regression model, serum creatinine was not found to have any effect on the outcome. Odds ratio for a poor outcome with per unit increase of the BUN:creatinine ratio, in a multivariate regression, was 1.39 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.22-1.68) for the fourth day and 1.22 (95% CI 1.14-1.31), while a ratio of less than 10:1 on the day of admission was also related to poor prognosis (p < 0.0001). Inverse prediction provided a 50% chance of good outcome at the maximum BUN:creatinine ratio of 22.2:1 (95% CI 21.2:1-23.5:1). Conclusion: It was concluded that serum BUN imbalances affecting the short-term prognosis of aSAH patients are mainly following the cardiovascular or neurologic damage and are less likely as a result of direct kidney injury; hence, routine renal screening in all such patients is questionable.

43. Copeptin as Possible Prognostic Biomarker for Disease Severity and Detector for Cerebral Vasospasm in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Authors: Perrin, Jason (Presenting); Hänggi, Daniel Institution: University Clinic Duesseldorf, Duesseldorf, NRW, Germany

Introduction: Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is known to be a severe disease with high morbidity and mortality rates. Early prediction of possible outcome is consequential for optimized care and treatment decision. Copeptin, a stable and sensitive surrogate for vasopressin release, has recently emerged as a valid prognostic biomarker in a variety of severe diseases. Its prognostic value for spontaneous SAH is yet unknown. Materials and Methods: Copeptin levels were measured with a line immunoassay in ten consecutive SAH patients on day of admission. Further measurements were conducted in synchronization with performed computed tomographic (CT) perfusion scans also to evaluate a possible correlation between copeptin levels and changes of the mean transit time. Initial disease severity was assessed by Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) and World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grade on admission, and recovery by Glasgow Outcome Score (GOS) on discharge. GCS smaller than 10 and WFNS larger than 3 was considered severe; a favorable outcome was defined as a GOS of 4 and above. Results: Preliminary results demonstrated that there was a positive correlation between copeptin level on admission and disease severity. Higher copeptin levels were detectable in patients with GCS 10 or lower. Copeptin levels also correlated positively with changes of the mean transit time measured by repeated CT perfusion scans ($r \gg 0.6$). Copeptin levels were notably higher in patients during cerebral vasospasm. Statistical significance could not yet be reached due to the present low number of patients. Conclusion: Copeptin is a promising prognostic biomarker for mortality and outcome in a variety of diseases associated with cerebral damage. Its predictive value for the disease severity of aneurysmal SAH patients seems promising. Furthermore, copeptin could be considered as a possible supportive detector of cerebral vasospasm. Larger studies with close consideration of comorbidities have to be conducted for further evaluation.

Neurocritical Care Monitoring

44. Multicenter Controlled Trial About the Reexamination of Triple H Therapy After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Preliminary Report

Authors: Isotani, Eiji (Presenting); Obata, Yoshiki; Ohno, Kikuo; Otomo, Yasuhiro

Institution: Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Introduction: Volume management is crucial in intensive care; however, in some patients, it is hard to achieve optimal

water balance. A subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patient is a representative example. Cardiopulmonary complications are common after SAH, including neurogenic pulmonary edema, cardiac failure, and so on. Triple H (hypertensive, hypervolemic, and hemodilution) therapy is a standard management after SAH, but it also has adverse effects: pulmonary edema, increased intracranial pressure, hyponatremia, sepsis, and so on. We have started a multicenter controlled trial about cardiopulmonary function after SAH. We describe here a trial of minimally invasive PiCCO Plus monitoring of cardiopulmonary function to reexamine the effect of triple H therapy after SAH. Materials and Methods: This multicenter controlled trial analyzed the cardiopulmonary functions of 87 patients after SAH by PiCCO Plus monitoring over a period of 2 weeks. Results: Output, contractility, and afterload were essentially normal after SAH. However, slightly elevated intrathoracic blood volume led to fluid redistribution that caused hydrostatic fluid retention in the lung tissues. Triple H therapy had no additional cardiopulmonary features except for the elevated plasma brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) levels. Persistent catecholamine release and altered sensitivity of blood vessels to catecholamines caused the blood volume redistribution and hydrostatic pulmonary edema. Cardiac preload due to catecholamine release led to (BNP) release, resulting in natriuresis. This appeared to be the underlying mechanism of cerebral salt-wasting syndrome. Conclusion: We found that hydrostatic pulmonary fluid retention occurred after SAH. Triple H therapy gave no additional benefits on the systemic circulation after SAH.

45. Continuous Regional Cerebral Oxygenation Monitoring by Multichannel Near-Infrared Spectroscopy to Assist Intra-arterial Fasudil Therapy for Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Kobayashi, Shinya (Presenting); Mutoh, Tatsushi

Institution: Department of Surgical Neurology, Research Institute for Brain and Blood Vessels-AKITA, Senshu-Kubota-machi, Akita, Japan

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) that has been refractory to maximal medical management can be treated with intra-arterial administration of vasodilators. However, it remains unclear regarding the effectiveness on regional cerebral circulation to assume the treatment response of distal/diffuse vasospasm. *Methods*: We describe a 63-year-old male with SAH and intracerebral hematoma due to ruptured right middle cerebral artery aneurysm; he developed aphasia and right-side weakness on day 9 after SAH onset, which were highly suspected of delayed cerebral ischemia attributable to diffuse vasospasm in the distal territory of the left anterior and middle cerebral arteries. The patient was refractory to hyperdynamic therapy but successfully treated with intra-arterial infusions of fasudil hydrochloride assisted by continuous

monitoring with regional cerebral oxygen saturation (rSO_2) with 4-channel flexible near-infrared spectroscopy sensors and cardiac output. Results: Decreased and fluctuating rSO, in angiographically documented vasospasm territories elevated immediately after intra-arterial fasudil infusion in accordance with the relief of vasospasm that correlated with neurological improvements. The procedure was repeated on day 11 since the effect was transient, and vasospasm-related neurological deterioration recurred. The symptoms gradually resolved accompanied by maintenance of stable rSO₂ values, resulting in favorable functional outcome. Conclusion: Our clinical experience suggests that rSO₂ with multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy may provide noninvasive, realtime, clinically relevant information to assist intra-arterial fasudil therapy for detecting and treating distal/diffuse vasospasm.

46. Mechanism for Dobutamine-Induced Hyperdynamic Therapy for Reversing Focal Cerebral Ischemia Affected by Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Mutoh, Tatsushi (Presenting); Ishikawa, Tatsuya; Kobayashi, Shinya; Yasui, Nobuyuki; Suzuki, Akifumi

Institution: Research Institute for Brain and Blood Vessels-Akita, Akita, Japan

Introduction: Therapeutic hemodynamic augmentation by increasing cardiac output (CO) with dobutamine (DOB) is a valuable method of maintaining regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) and oxygenation in the dysautoregulated vascular territories by vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). We aimed to determine the effect of DOB-induced hyperdynamic therapy on CO and regional cerebral oxygenation (rSO₂) for reversing clinical deterioration attributable to vaospasm. Materials and Methods: Fiftyfive consecutive patients with SAH treated surgically within 24 h of ictus and diagnosed to have symptomatic vasospasm between days 4 and 14 were investigated. For medical treatment, DOB was administered at an initial dose of 3 µg/kg/ min and then increased in 3-µg/kg/min increments until resolution of the symptoms. CO and rSO₂ changes during the therapy in conjunction with the assessment of neurological improvements were analyzed. Results: A total of 225 DOB challenges were performed with a maximum dose of 11 ± 3 µg/kg/min. In spasm-affected territories, decreased or fluctuating rSO₂ was detected compared with recordings in other brain regions. Patients who exhibited rapid elevation of CO by DOB challenges had subsequent uptake and stabilization of rSO₂ followed by improvement of the symptoms. A fairly strong relationship was found between peak CO slope and rSO₂ elevation during each DOB challenge (r=0.79, p<0.0001), while a poor correlation was found between peak CO change and rSO₂ (r=0.33, p=0.09). The area under the ROC curve to discriminate neurological responders to DOB was higher for peak CO slope (0.86 ± 0.08) than for peak CO (0.65 ± 0.12) (p < 0.05). Values of average

peak CO slope of 0.007 predicted neurological improvement with DOB therapy with 83% specificity and 70% sensitivity. *Conclusion*: Maximal hemodynamic acceleration rather than the peak CO values plays a key role of DOB hyperdynamic therapy in relieving focal cerebral ischemia in patients suffering from vasospasm after SAH.

47. Cerebral Hemodynamic Changes After Wartime Traumatic Brain Injury

Authors: Razumovsky, Alexander (Presenting); Tigno, Teodoro; Hochheimer, Sven; Stephens, Frederick; Bell, Randy; Vo, Alexander; Severson, Meryl; Ecker, Robert; Armonda, Rocco

Institution: Sentient NeuroCare Services, Inc., Hunt Valley, MD, USA

Introduction: Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is associated with the severest casualties from Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) and Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF). From October 1, 2008, the army medicine (AMEDD) TBI program initiated transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound service for TBI patients who were presented for care at the National Naval Medical Center and at the Walter Reed Army Medical Center. Materials and Methods: Seventy-seven patients (3 females) aged 18-40 years (mean 25.9 years) who had suffered wartime TBI injuries (with Glasgow Coma Scale scores ranging from 3 to 15) were investigated with daily TCD studies. A total of 483 TCD recordings (mean 6.5 tests per patient, range 1-30) were made after admission. There were 28 (36.4%) patients after explosive blast injury, 18 patients (23.4%) after gunshot wound (GSW), and 31 (40.2%) after other causes of TBI (closed, penetrating, motor vehicle accident [MVA], falls, etc.). A comprehensive TCD protocol and well-published diagnostic criteria for vasospasm and abnormally high intracranial pressure (ICP) applied in all cases. Results: The TCD signs of mild, moderate, and severe vasospasm were observed in 28 (36.4%), 16 (20.7%), and 9 (11.6%) of patients, respectively. The TCD signs of intracranial hypertension were recorded in 51 (66.2%) patients. Abnormally high cerebral blood flow velocities (CBFVs) without TCD signs of vasospasm and abnormally low CBFVs were recorded in 7 (9%) and 12 (15.5%) of all patients, respectively. Four patients (5.1%) underwent transluminal angioplasty for post-traumatic vasospasm treatment. Conclusion: These findings demonstrate that delayed cerebral arterial spasm is a frequent complication of combat TBI, and that the severity of spasm is comparable to that seen in aneurysmal SAH. In addition, TCD provided valuable information about the presence of abnormally high ICP. Because vasospasm and intracranial hypertension represent significant events in a high proportion of patients after wartime TBI, close daily TCD monitoring is recommended for the management of such patients.

48. Illustrative Case: Failure to Detect Severe Cerebral Vasospasm Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Despite

Multiparameter Neuromonitoring

Authors: Sikorski, Christopher (Presenting); Dent, Wolfgang; Wyss, Sabine; Farokhzad, Faraneh; Keller, Emanuela

Institution: University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Introduction: The detection of delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) in sedated or comatose patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) remains an unsolved challenge in neurocritical care. Methods: An illustrative case of a patient is presented with multiple delayed ischemic infarctions with late onset at day 16 not detected by multimodality neuromonitoring. Specific limitations of actual available neuromonitoring modalities are discussed. Results: A 43-year-old patient was admitted to the neurointensive care unit, University Hospital of Zurich, suffering from poor-grade SAH (Hunt and Hess [H&H] grade 4, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies [WFNS] grade 5, Fisher grade 3). Ruptured aneurysm of the basilar artery was successfully coiled within 24 h after admission. Further treatment included insertion of an external ventricular drainage, intravenous administered nimodipine, high-dose magnesium sulfate and pravastatin. As the patient remained comatose, multiparameter neuromonitoring was established, including bilateral probes for brain tissue oxygenation and cerebral microdialysis supplemented by oximetry from the right-sided jugular bulb and daily transcranial Doppler (TCD) blood flow measurements. TCD showed increased mean blood flow velocities in both middle cerebral arteries (MCAs) in the early stage after SAH onset up to a maximum of 198 cm/s; however, this was without corresponding pathological findings in repeated CT perfusion scans. No clear signs for ischemia or impaired cerebral metabolism were detected by invasive neuromonitoring until a routine CT scan on day 16 demonstrated bihemispheric MCA infarction due to angiographically confirmed diffuse vasospam. Conclusion: In this case, brain-specific neuromonitoring failed to indicate severe vasospasm, underlining the limitations of the various techniques. Neuromonitoring data should be carefully interpreted, and additional strategies in vasospasm screening are needed, focusing on real-time, global parameters.

49. Prognostic Role of Basic CSF Analysis in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients

Authors: Dey, Saugat (Presenting); Ghosh, Sayantani; Maltenfort, Mitchell; Tjoumakaris, Stavropoula; Gonzalez, L. Fernando; Jabbour, Pascal; Rosenwasser, Robert; Jallo, Jack

Institution: Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Introduction: Basic cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis is routinely performed in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) patients but is seldom studied. We have considered the effect of the CSF picture on the patient outcome and

whether it can serve as a prognostic indicator for such patients. Materials and Methods: A retrospective review of 661 cases of aSAH with no preexisting systemic infection was done from the records of Thomas Jefferson University Hospital. The levels of CSF glucose, protein, leukocyte (white blood cell, WBC) count and culture on the day of the admission and tenth day postadmission were compared with the patient outcome at discharge, as measured via Extended Glasgow Outcome Score (GOSE). Parameters were analyzed by Student t test. Results: CSF glucose greater than 80 mg/dl (p < 0.0001), CSF protein greater than 90 mg/dl (p < 0.0001)on admission, CSF glucose greater than 75 mg/dl (p=0.0013), and CSF protein greater than 85 mg/dl (p < 0.0001) on the tenth day worsened the chances of a good outcome, although CSF glucose less than 40 mg/dl (p < 0.0001) and CSF protein less than 15 mg/dl (p < 0.0001) at admission were also associated with higher mortality. A 1-mg/dl rise of CSF glucose had an odds ratio of 1.087 (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.078-1.096) for a poor outcome and 1.048 (95% CI 1.041-1.055) for death; a 1-mg/dl rise in CSF protein had an odds ratio of 1.93 (95% CI 1.84–2.1) for a poor outcome and 1.55 (95% CI 1.37-1.73) for death. CSF WBC count of 3-5/dl was associated with the best outcome (p=0.0014), more so on the tenth post admission day (p < 0.0001). Culture-negative cases had a better prognosis than culture-positive ones on both days. Conclusion: All CSF parameters, both on admission and at follow-up, gave their best prognostic results in their median values. Hence, basic CSF analysis can give an insight to the prognosis of aSAH patients; however, more elaborate and prospective studies could offer us a clearer picture.

50. Improved Cerebral Oxygenation After Intrathecal Nicardipine for Vasospasm: Case Report

Authors: Freeman, William; Taussky, Philipp (Presenting); Daugherty, Wilson; Tawk, Rabih, MD; Hanel, Ricardo; Miller, David; Barrett, Kevin; Richie, Alexa

Institution: Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, USA

Introduction: The effects of intrathecal nicardipine are described by pre- and post-transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound. We describe a patient with improvement in multimodal monitoring variables of alpha delta ratio (ADR) monitoring by electroencephalogram (EEG), noninvasive near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS), cerebral oximetry, and intracranial pressure/cerebral perfusion pressure (ICP/CPP) values after intrathecal nicardipine for vasospasm. Methods and Results: A case report is given of a 60-year-old Asian female with a modified Fisher 4 subarachnoid hemorrhage with right frontal intraparenchymal hematoma from rupture of a right anterior cerebral artery pericallosal aneurysm. The patient arrived comatose, Glasgow Coma Scale 7 (E1M5V1T), with intact brain-stem reflexes. She underwent right frontal craniotomy and clipping of her aneurysm along with placement of an external ventricular drain (EVD). Thick temporal bone revented TCD vasospasm monitoring. The patient

developed severe vasospasm of the bilateral anterior cerebral artery (ACA) A1, middle cerebral artery (MCA) M1s, and mild bilateral posterior cerebral artery (PCA) P1 and basilar arteries on computed tomographic (CT) angiogram on day 13. Intrathecal nicardipine 4 mg was administered and transiently elevated EEG ADR from 0.4 over the left hemisphere to 0.6 and from 0.6 on the right to 0.8 about 15 min after the procedure, lasting up to 1 h before returning to baseline values. NIRS oximetry rose from a baseline of 82 over the right frontal head region to a peak of 99, whereas the left rose from 78 to 84, and CPP rose from 87 to 122 before returning to baseline. ICP went from 14 to 11 mmHg during the same time frame. The patient did not sustain cerebral infarction as measured clinically or by noncontrast CT scan by hospital discharge. Conclusion: Intrathecal nicardipine elevated cerebral oximetry by NIRS, increased CPP, and elevated the ADR transiently but was short lived. Larger studies are needed for intrathecal nicardipine concerning optimal dosing, frequency, and its effects on vasospasm, cerebral blood flow, CPP, and delayed cerebral infarction.

Nitric Oxide and Oxidative Stress

51. Simvastatin Recouples Dysfunctional Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Loch Macdonald, Robert; Sabri, Mohammed (Presenting); Ai, Jinglu

Institution: University of Toronto, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

Introduction: Reduced endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) function has been linked to secondary complications of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). We previously found that there is increased eNOS function after SAH, but that it is uncoupled, leading to secondary complications such as vasospasm, microthromboembolism, and neuronal apoptosis. Here, we test the hypothesis that recoupling eNOS with simvastatin can prevent these complications. Materials and Methods: Anterior circulation SAH was created in mice that were treated with vehicle or simvastatin starting 2 weeks before or 30 min after SAH. Animals were then divided into multiple groups for either immunohistochemical detection of nitrotyrosine (oxidative stress), caspase-3/TUNEL (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling) (apoptosis), and fibrinogen (microthromboemboli) or western blot detection of eNOS-PSer1177 and truncated nitric oxide synthase (TeNOS), iNOS (inducible nitric oxide synthase), and neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS). Furthermore, fresh homogenates were used for the biochemical detection of superoxide radicals and nitric oxide NO using chemiluminescent and fluorescence detection methods, respectively. Results: SAH increased phosphorylated eNOS, which was

prevented by pre- or post-treatment with simvastatin. Simvastatin pretreatment also prevented the increase in eNOS monomer formation that was associated with SAH, decreased superoxide anion radical production, and increased NO. These changes were associated with decreased vasospasm, microthromboemboli, and neuronal injury. *Conclusion*: The data suggest that simvastatin recouples eNOS after SAH, leading to decreased secondary complications such as vasospasm, microthromboemboli, and neuronal injury.

52. Estrogen Induces Nitric Oxide Production via Nitric Oxide Synthase Activation in Endothelial Cells

Authors: Fathi, Ali R. (Presenting); Fandino, Javier; Bakhtian, Kamran D.; Treiber, Hannes; Pluta, Ryszard M.

Institution: Kantonsspital Aarau, Aarau, Switzerland

Introduction: 17b-Estradiol (E2) has been found to induce vasodilation in the cardiovascular system and, at physiological levels, to prevent cerebral vasospasm following SAH in animal models. The goal of this study was to analyze the cellular mechanism of nitric oxide (NO) production in vitro and specifically compare its effects on brain endothelial cells with those of peripheral endothelial cells. Methods: To evaluate the impact of E2 on endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activity and consequently NO production, human umbilical endothelial cells (HUVECs) as well as brain endothelial cells (bENDs) were treated with three different concentrations of E2 (0.1, 10, and 1,000 nmol), and supernatant was collected after 2 h for nitrite (NO₂) measurements. Cells were also treated for 2 h with E2 in the presence of 1,400 W, a potent eNOS inhibitor. To evaluate whether the E2-induced NO release is mediated via estradiol receptors (ERs), we used ICI, an antagonist of ERs. Western blot analyses were performed to verify the presence of eNOS in the cells and to assess the effects of E2 on eNOS expression. Results: E2 significantly increased NO₂ levels irrespective of its concentration in both cell lines by 35% and 42% (p < 0.05). The addition of an E2 antagonist, ICI (10 µmol), prevented the E2-induced increases in NO₂ levels (11%, p>0.05). The combination of E2 (10 nmol) and a NOS inhibitor (1,400 W, 5 μ mol) inhibited NO₂ increase also (4%, p>0.05). E2 also induced increases in eNOS protein levels at concentrations of 10 and 1,000 nmol. Conclusion: This study indicated that E2 induces increased NO levels in cerebral and peripheral endothelial cells in vitro via eNOS activation and through E2-receptor-mediated mechanisms. Further in vivo studies are warranted to evaluate the therapeutic value of estrogen for the treatment of SAH-induced vasospasm.

NSICU Care of SAH Patients

53. Neurogenic Pulmonary Edema, a Complication of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Single-Center Experience Authors: Muroi, Carl (Presenting); Keller, Manuela; Keller, Emanuela

Institution: University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Introduction: Neurogenic pulmonary edema (NPE) can lead to acute cardiopulmonary failure with global hypoperfusion and hypoxia. These circumstances might cause severe secondary ischemic brain damage in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) as their brain is especially vulnerable. We aimed to assess clinical presentation and risk factor for the development of NPE and to report on our experience. Patients and Methods: The database contained prospectively collected data from 477 patients in an 8-year period. Baseline characteristics, clinical and radiologic severity of the bleeding, localization of the ruptured aneurysm, and clinical outcome of patients with NPE were compared with those of patients without NPE. Further, in patients with NPE, intracranial pressure, serum cardiac biomarkers, and hemodynamic parameters during the acute phase were evaluated retrospectively. Results: The incidence of NPE was 8% (39 of 477 patients). Most patients with NPE were severely impaired, and all of them presented with radiologically severe hemorrhage. The incidence of NPE was significantly higher in patients with ruptured aneurysm in the posterior circulation. Elevated intracranial pressure was found in 67% and pathologically high cardiac biomarkers in up to 83% of patients with NPE. However, no patient suffered from persistent cardiac dysfunction. Compared with patients without NPE, patients with NPE showed poor neurologic outcome. Conclusion: Patients with clinically and radiologically severe SAH, ruptured aneurysm in the posterior region, and elevated intracranial pressure during the acute phase had a higher risk for developing NPE. Morbidity and mortality due to cardiopulmonary failure might be reduced by appropriate recognition and treatment. However, patients with NPE have a high mortality rate more likely due to the severity grade of their bleeding.

Prevention of DIND, Including Neuroprotection

54. Cerebral Vasospasm After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in Elderly Patients

Authors: Ooigawa, Hidetoshi (Presenting); Satoh, Akira; Sugiyama, Tatsuya; Ogura, Takeshi; Takeda, Ririko; Fusihara, Goji; Suzuki, Kaima; Ishihara, Shoichiro; Tanahashi, Norio; Nishikawa, Ryo; Kurita, Hiroki

Institution: Saitama International Medical Center, Hidaka, Saitama, Japan

Introduction: Cerebral vasospasm is known to occur in 20–30% of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and to contribute to morbidity and mortality. The cause of the vasospasm is multifactorial, and age is reported to be one of the risk factors. However, it is unclear

whether treatment modality (clipping or coiling) affects the occurrence. We compared the incidence of vasospasm after surgical clipping and endovascular coiling in elderly patients with SAH. Methods: The medical chart was retrospectively reviewed in consecutive 64 elderly (>75 years old) patients with aneurysmal SAH who underwent surgical repair (clipping 34, coiling 30) during a 36-month period (April 2007 to March 2010) in our stroke center. Treatment modality was mainly decided based on aneurysmal topography, independent from age or patient status. Cisternal irrigation was performed in the clipping group, while spinal drainage was placed in the coiling group after surgical repair. Results: Of 34 patients treated by surgical clipping (mean age 79.9, mean Hunt and Kosnik grade 3.29), 3 (8.8%) were found to have vasospasm followed by cerebral infarction. On the other hand, 6 patients (20%) were found to have vasospasm in the coiling group (mean age 82.6, mean Hunt and Kosnik grade 2.8). A modified Rankin Scale score on discharge was 4.12 and 3.4, respectively. Conclusion: No statistical significance was found regarding occurrence of vasospasm between surgical clipping and endovascular coiling. The clipping group tended to have a low incidence of vasospasm. Clot removal by cisternal irrigation may have contributed to the results.

55. Effectiveness of Continuous Cisternal Irrigation with Mock CSF Containing Ascorbic Acid and Mg⁺⁺ for Prevention of Symptomatic Vasospasm

Authors: Satoh, Akira (Presenting); Sugiyama, Tatsuya; Ooigawa, Hidetoshi; Ogura, Takeshi; Takeda, Ririko; Fushihara, Goji; Kurita, Hiroki

Institution: International Medical Center, Saitama Medical University, Hidaka City, Saitama, Japan

Introduction: Symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) is still a major cause of unfavorable outcome in patients suffering subarachnoid hemorrhage. By using postoperative continuous cisternal irrigation with mock cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) containing ascorbic acid (ASA) and Mg++, we could have achieved an excellent result regarding prevention of SVS in patients who underwent surgical intervention for ruptured intracranial aneurysm at acute stage. The result was better with a Mg⁺⁺ concentration of 4 mEq/l than with that of 3 mEq/l. Methods: Mock CSF comprises 500 ml of lactated Ringer's solution, 4 mg/l of ASA, and 3 or 4 mEq/l of Mg++ and is adjusted to pH 7.4 with sodium bicarbonate. One hundred and seven consecutive cases were treated with mock CSF containing 3 mEq/l of Mg⁺⁺ (3M) and 35 cases with 4 mEq/l. Statistical analysis was done by Student t, chisquare, or Mann-Whitney test. Results: In the 3M and 4M groups, age (62 vs. 59), male-to-female ratio (0.52 vs. 0.33), and incidence of Fisher group 3 (78% vs. 78%) were not different. There was no difference regarding grade at admission (grades 1 and 2: 34% vs. 42%; grade 3: 39% vs. 36%; grade 4: 19% vs. 11%; grade 5: 8% vs. 11%). Incidence of SVS in which permanent neurological deficits or low-density areas on computed tomography (CT) remained was 7.5% in the

3M group and 0% in the 4M group. Overall outcome was significantly better in the 4M group than in the 3M group (p<0.02). *Conclusion*: Continuous cisternal irrigation with ASA and Mg⁺⁺ was exceedingly effective in preventing post-operative SVS, especially when Mg⁺⁺ concentration was 4 mEq/l.

56. Magnesium Therapy to Prevent Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficits (DINDs) in aSAH Patients: Pharmacokinetic Considerations

Authors: Dent, Wolfgang (Presenting); Sikorski, Christopher; Wyss, Sabine; Farokhzad, Faraneh; Keller, Emanuela

Institution: University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Introduction: Several clinical trials showed promising results for high-dose MgSO₄ therapy as a prophylactic treatment option in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). However, a recent phase III study questioned the favorable effect of MgSO₄ [1]. As some investigators used MgSO, regimens with fixed dosages, the aim of the present study was to establish a clue about the pharmacokinetics of applied MgSO₄ and, furthermore, if a fixed-Mg regimen can guarantee the drug's assigned properties. Materials and Methods: Plasma Mg profiles of 47 aSAH patients treated with a standardized intravenous MgSO₄ schedule (1.5-2.0 mmol/l target plasma Mg level) were retrospectively analyzed. Plasma Mg levels were measured every 6 h, and Mg dosage was adapted according to the protocol. Special attention was given to (A) the affordable Mg doses and duration until therapeutic Mg levels were reached, (B) the Mg rate that was necessary to maintain therapeutic Mg levels, and (C) the changes of Mg dosage needed over time. Results: The mean Mg application period to reach therapeutic plasma levels was 37 h and 50 min(SD \pm 21.5; range 12–104 h). Therefore, a mean amount of 89.7 mmol/l Mg (area under the curve; SD \pm 60.1; range 27.0–296.5 mmol/l) was necessary. While Mg reached therapeutic plasma levels, current Mg dose was 66.8 mmol/24 h on average (SD \pm 21.4; range 44-124 mmol/24 h). To hold therapeutic Mg levels, a subsequent steady elevation of Mg dosage was necessary. *Conclusion*: To keep Mg in the aspired therapeutic range, we found considerable differences of Mg dosages required for our aSAH patients. Moreover, to maintain constant therapeutic plasma Mg levels, a steady increase of the Mg was necessary. This means that Mg regimens without adaption of Mg to plasma levels might inevitably result in a significant Mg over- and underdosage. In turn, the real capability of Mg therapy in preventing DINDs cannot be estimated based on the phase III study recently published.

57. Proposed New Grading System for Delayed Vasospasm Following Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Value of Cisternal Irrigation with Ascorbic Acid and Mg⁺⁺

Authors: Ogura, Takeshi (Presenting); Akira, Satoh; Hidetoshi, Ooigawa; Tatsuya, Sugiyama; Ririko, Takeda;

Goji, Hushihara; Kaima, Suzuki; Hiroki, Kurita

Institution: Saitama International Medical Center, Hidaka City, Saitama Prefecture, Japan

Introduction: Even with application of multimodal therapies, symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) continues to result in morbidity and mortality in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). We propose a new grading system for SVS with investigation of the effectiveness of cisternal irrigation with mock cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) containing ascorbic acid and Mg++(CCI) for prophylaxis. Materials and Methods: The medical charts of 173 consecutive patients with aneurysmal SAH who underwent surgical repair during a 5-year period were retrospectively reviewed to access the incidence of SVS. There were 133 patients (76.9%) treated with CCI for SVS prophylaxis. Severity of SVS was graded as follows: grade 1: without any SVS symptom; grade 2: transient symptom requiring no treatment; grade 3: transient symptom requiring additional treatment such as hyperdynamic or interventional therapy; grade 4: permanent ischemic symptom or development of cerebral infarction. Results: The occurrence of SVS was significantly lower(p < 0.01) in the CCI group (15%) than in the non-CCI group (25%). SVS in the CCI group was found to be more mild form (grades 3 and 4; 5.6%), compared to non CCI group (20%) Conclusion: Analysis of the results suggests that cisternal irrigation with ascorbic acid and Mg⁺⁺ has a role in cerebral vasospasm prophylaxis.

58. Combined Intravenous Magnesium and Nimodipine Injection for Prevention of Symptomatic Cerebral Vasospasm After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Prospective Study

Authors: Sheen, SeungHun (Presenting); Hwang, Gyojun; Sukh Que, Park

Institution: Hallym University Hospital, Chuncheon, Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea

Objective: Symptomatic cerebral vasospasm is a still major problem after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Intravenous magnesium injection is controversial for prevention of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Several drugs were used for prevention of vasospasm, but the rate of cerebral vasospasm is still significantly high. The purpose of this pilot study was to evaluate the efficacy and safety of combined intravenous magnesium and nimodipine to prevent symptomatic cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Methods: One hundred and forty-eight patients were treated in our hospital from March 2007 to December 2010. Early in the study, 92 patients were treated with only intravenous magnesium until November 2009. Later, 56 patients were treated with combined magnesium and nimodipine. There was no complication using intravenous treatment. Results: Fifty-six patients were enrolled in this prospective study. In the combined group (n=56), 8 patients (14%) experienced symptomatic vasospasm, which was confirmed with cerebral angiography. In the nimodipine-only group (n=92), 28 patients (30%) experienced symptomatic vasospasm. *Conclusion*: Combined intravenous magnesium and nimodipine injection was an effective and safe method for prevention of symptomatic cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage.

59. Evaluation of Endovascular Treatment of Cerebral Vasospasm After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Establishment of Inclusion Criteria and Assessment of Its Efficacy by MR Perfusion/Diffusion Mismatch

Authors: Platz, Johannes, MD (Presenting); Güresir, Erdem; Berkefeld, Joachim; Raabe, Andreas; Beck, Jürgen; du Mesnil de Rochemont, Richard; Seifert, Volker; Weidauer, Stefan; Vatter, Hartmut

Institution: Johann Wolfgang Goethe-University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Introduction: Endovascular treatment, like transluminal balloon angioplasty or intra-arterial nimodipine, represents a rescue therapy for cerebral vasospasm (CVS) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). However, the selection of patients who might benefit from this treatment is difficult, and the efficacy of the therapy is inconsistent. We therefore evaluated (1) the usefulness of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) perfusion- (PWI)/diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) for patient selection and (2) the efficacy of the endovascular therapy based on MR PWI/DWI mismatch. Materials and Methods: In case of suspected CVS, MRI was performed. For quantitative evaluation, the brain was partitioned into 19 arbitrary segments of comparable volume. A segment was defined "at risk" (SAR) when a significant PWI/DWI mismatch was detected. In these cases, MRI was followed by digital subtraction angiography (DSA), including endovascular treatment. Follow-up MRI was acquired 48 ± 12 h after treatment; in case of new or persisting SAR, endovascular treatment was repeated. Treatment efficacy was classified by the improvement of the proximal vessel diameter in DSA after the treatment. Results: In 25 patients, 48 treatment cycles, each consisting of MRI, DSA, and follow-up MRI, were completed. Overall, 95 SAR were identified. Delayed infarction was significantly higher in SAR (37%) compared to segments without risk (4%). The risk of infarction in SAR was significantly reduced if endovascular treatment could improve severe or moderate CVS to mild proximal CVS only. In case of persisting severe CVS, infarcts occurred in all SAR. Conclusion: Our results suggest that the development of delayed infarction can be predicted by a PWI/DWI mismatch. The risk of infarction was lower if proximal CVS was sufficiently reduced by endovascular treatment.

60. The Effect of Surgical Treatment on Delayed Ischemic Neurological Deficit (DIND) in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Chohan, Muhammad (Presenting); Carlson, Andrew; Murray-Krezan, Cristina; Taylor, Christopher; Yonas, H. Institution: University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

Introduction: The role of aggressive surgical manipulation with clot evacuation, arachnoid dissection, and papaverine-guided adventitial dissection during aneurysm surgery after subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) in reducing clinically significant vasospasm is controversial. Here, we describe a single-institution experience with and without aggressive surgical manipulation and compare it to patients undergoing coil embolization. Materials and Methods: Retrospective analysis of all patients older than 18 years that presented with aSAH of anterior circulation aneurysms between 1996 and 2010 at the University of New Mexico Hospital. Vasospasm was characterized on days 3-14 post-SAH based on (1) angiographic evidence of vascular narrowing, (2) whether vasospasm required intervention during angiography, and (3) development of a delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND). Results: A total of 188 patients were included. Of those, 33 (17.5%) underwent coiling; 154 (82%) were clipped. Of the surgical group, 111 (72%) had aggressive vascular manipulation, and 43 (28%) had limited manipulation. Over 60% of all patients presented with a Hunt and Hess score of 3 or greater and Fisher grade of 4. All patients were similar in their demographic characteristics. There was a statistically significant decrease in the incidence of DIND in all surgical patients (23.4%) compared to the nonsurgical group (42.4%, p=0.02). Similar data were observed with aggressive surgery (18.9%) when compared with limited surgery (34.9% vs. 18.9%). There was a nonsignificant (p=0.09) reduction of 14% of ipsilateral radiographic vasospasm (30.6% vs. 44.2% for aggressive vs. limited surgery). A nonsignificant trend was observed in the need for angiographic intervention (12.6% vs. 16.3% for aggressive vs. limited surgery, p=0.6). Conclusion: We conclude that (1) surgical manipulation resulted in a lower incidence of clinically significant vasospasm in patients treated for aSAH; (2) the more aggressive this surgical manipulation was, the lower this incidence became.

Resistance Vessel Pathology After SAH

61. Delayed Cerebral Ischemia Associated with Spreading Depolarization Can Occur Despite Absence of Proximal Vasospasm After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Dreier, Jens; Hecht, Nils; Fiss, Ingo; Sandow, Nora; Major, Sebastian; Winkler, Maren; Dahlem, Yuliya; Manville, Jerome; Diepers, Michael; Muench, Elke; Kasuya, Hidetoshi; Schmiedek, Peter; Vajkoczy, Peter; Woitzik, Johannes (Presenting) [Winner, Bench-to-Bedside-and-Back]

Institution: Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

It has been hypothesized that proximal vasospasm is the prime mechanism of delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH). Recently, it was found that clusters of spreading depolarizations (SDs) are associated with DCI. SDs could mediate lesion progression or be involved in repair mechanisms under the ischemic condition induced by proximal vasospasm. Surgical placement of nicardipine prolonged-release implants (NPRIs) was shown previously to strongly attenuate proximal vasospasm. In the present study, we tested in 13 patients with major aSAH whether DCI and SDs are abolished when proximal vasospasm is reduced or abolished by NPRIs. After clipping of the ruptured aneurysm, 10 NPRIs were placed next to the proximal intracranial vessels. SDs were recorded using a subdural six-contact electrode strip. The degree of proximal vasospasm was assessed by digital subtraction angiography (DSA). DCI was assessed by repeated neurological exams and serial computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans. We recorded 534 SDs in 10 of 13 patients (77%). DSA revealed no vasospasm in 8 of 13 patients (62%) and only mild or moderate vasospasm in the remaining patients. Five patients developed DCI associated with clusters of SD, while proximal vasospasm was absent in 3 of those patients. There was no correlation between the degree of proximal vasospasm and the occurrence of DCI. In contrast, the number of SDs and the total duration of the electrocorticographic depression periods correlated significantly with the development of DCI. In conclusion, SDs occurred abundantly after aSAH, although proximal vasospasm was strongly attenuated. Occurrence of SDs must have been the consequence of other mechanisms that may explain why reduction of proximal vasospasm alone has not been sufficient to improve outcome in clinical studies.

62. Matrix Metalloproteinase and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Activation Cause Suppression of Voltage-Gated Potassium (KV) Channels to Enhance Constriction of Rat Parenchymal Arterioles After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Koide, Masayo; O'Connor, Kevin P.; Smith, Gregory J.; Pappas, Anthony C.; Wellman, George C. (Presenting)

Institution: University of Vermont, Burlington, VT, USA Introduction: Constriction of the cerebral microcirculation may contribute to neuronal deficits in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients. We have previously shown that oxyhemoglobin can acutely suppress voltage-gated potassium (KV) currents in pial artery myocytes via activation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFRs) [1]. Here, our goal was to determine the role of MMPs, EGFRs, and KV channels in the enhanced constriction of parenchymal arterioles following SAH. Methods: The conventional whole-cell patch clamp technique was used to measure KV currents of parenchymal arteriolar myocytes from control and SAH model rats. To assess arteriolar function, diameter measurements were obtained from isolated parenchymal arterioles. Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to examine KV subtype expression. Results: Parenchymal arteriolar tone was elevated and KV current density was decreased by more than 40% in myocytes from SAH model animals. Although SAH decreased KV currents, messenger RNA levels of KV subunits were similar between groups. Consistent with SAH-induced suppression of KV currents, 4-aminopyridineinduced constriction was reduced in parenchymal arterioles from SAH animals. The EGFR ligand, HB-EGF, suppressed KV currents in myocytes from control, but not SAH, animals, suggesting EGFR activity may be upregulated following SAH. Compounds that specifically interfere with either HB-EGF signaling (CRM197) or MMP activity (GM6001) increased KV current density in myocytes isolated from SAH, but not control, animals. Further, vasodilation induced by CRM197 and GM6001 was significantly enhanced after SAH. Conclusion: These data suggest increased MMP activity causing HB-EGF shedding and enhanced EGFR activity leads to KV channel suppression in parenchymal arterioles from SAH animals. We propose that EGFR-mediated KV suppression contributes to enhanced parenchymal arteriolar constriction after SAH. Supported by National Institutes of Health P01HL095488, R01HL078983, and Totman Medical Research Trust.

Smooth Muscle Signaling

63. The Combination of Argatroban and Vitamin C Normalizes the Increased Vascular Contractile Response After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (SAH)

Authors: Katsuharu, Kameda (Presenting); Yuichiro, Kikkawa; Satoshi, Matsuo; Akira, Nakamizo; Tomio, Sasaki

Institution: Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

Introduction: Increased vascular reactivity plays a key role in the pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). We investigated the role of thrombin and its receptor PAR, (proteinase-activated receptor 1) in the increased vascular contractile response in SAH and examined the preventive effects of the thrombin inhibitor argatroban and vitamin C on contractility. Materials and Methods: We investigated the role of thrombin and its receptor PAR, in the increased vascular contractility utilizing a rabbit double-SAH model. The contractile response of the isolated basilar artery and the level of oxidative stress of brain tissues were evaluated. Results: In the control basilar arteries, 1 U ml⁻¹ thrombin and 100 µmol PAR,-activating peptide (PAR1-AP) induced a small and transient contractile response, while they induced an enhanced and sustained contractile response in SAH. When the arteries were

consecutively stimulated with PAR1-AP, the reactivity to the second stimulation was markedly attenuated in the control, while it was maintained in SAH. Intrathecal treatment with 1 μ g argatroban/kg weight⁻¹ per injection (ARG) attenuated the response to thrombin and PAR1-AP in SAH. However, the contraction was sustained, and the tachyphylactic attenuation of the contraction was impaired. The combination of ARG and 0.6 mg vitamin C/kg weight⁻¹ per injection (VC) normalized the vascular contractility to PAR₁ agonists. Oxidative stress was increased in SAH. Treatment with ARG, VC, or their combination normalized the level of oxidative stress. *Conclusion*: The contractility of the basilar artery to thrombin was enhanced and prolonged after SAH. The combination of ARG and VC is suggested to normalize the increased vascular contractility in SAH.

64. Potentiation of Endothelin-1-Induced Myofilament Ca²⁺ Sensitization Following Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Kikkawa, Yuichiro (Presenting); Matsuo, Satoshi; Kameda, Katsuharu; Nakamizo, Akira; Sasaki, Tomio

Institution: Graduate School of Medical Science, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

Introduction: Increased vascular contractility in response to endothelin-1 (ET-1) plays an important role in the development of cerebral vasospasm. We elucidated some mechanisms of the increased vascular contractility to ET-1 using the basilar artery in a rabbit subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) model. Materials and Methods: The contractile response and the expression of regulatory protein of the isolated basilar artery were evaluated. Results: ET-1 induced greater contraction than other agonists or high-K⁺ depolarization for the extent of [Ca2+]i elevation, suggesting that myofilament Ca2+ sensitivity is a greater contributor to ET-1-induced contraction than other contractions. ET-1-induced contraction of α -toxin-permeabilized strips was significantly enhanced and sustained in SAH compared to control, suggesting that the ET-1-induced myofilament Ca2+ sensitization was enhanced after SAH. Therefore, we investigated the intracellular signaling pathway involving rho kinase (ROCK) and protein kinase C (PKC), which are two major signaling molecules that contribute to Ca2+ sensitization. ET-1-induced contraction of α -toxin-permeabilized control strips was blocked by inhibitors to ROCK and PKC in a concentration-dependent manner, whereas the concentration-response curve shifted to the right in SAH, suggesting that ROCK and PKC signaling was activated in SAH. Immunoblotting showed that the expression of PKCa, ROCK2, CPI-17, and MYPT-1 was significantly upregulated after SAH. Phosphorylation of MYPT-1 at T853 and CPI-17 at T38 was significantly increased in SAH, but the phosphorylation of MYPT-1 at T696 remained unchanged. However, in response to ET-1 stimulation, the phosphorylation of T696 was significantly increased in SAH, whereas the phosphorylation of T853 and T38 was increased in both control and SAH. Conclusion:

Spreading Depolarizations

65. The Role of Spreading Depolarization, Spreading Depression, and Spreading Ischemia in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Dreier, Jens (Presenting); Isele, Thomas

Institution: Charité University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany

The term *spreading depolarization* describes a wave in the brain's gray matter characterized by near-complete breakdown of ion homeostasis, a large change of the slow electrical (or direct current [DC]) potential, swelling of neurons, and distortion of dendritic spines. The DC change is a direct extracellular index of spreading depolarization (Canals et al., J Neurophysiol 94:943-951, 2005), and it shows a wide spectrum in the human brain, ranging from short- to very long-lasting events (Dreier, 2011, Nat Med, in press). Spreading depolarization can be associated with three different depression patterns of brain activity: (1) nonspreading depression, (2) spreading depression, and (3) persistent depression of activity. The depression pattern is observed in a higher-frequency range of the electrocorticogram than the DC change. Hence, spreading depolarization and the depression pattern are observed as two clearly distinct signals. The near-complete breakdown of the electrochemical gradients leads to a dramatic loss of Gibbs free energy. Based on the intra-/extracellular cation changes and the resulting changes in mixing entropy, we here calculated that the loss in Gibbs free energy during spreading depolarization exceeds that during epileptic seizure activity seven times. To restore ion homeostasis and the normal tissue level of Gibbs free energy, additional chemical energy (adenosine triphosphate, ATP) is required to fuel the sodium pump. Therefore, resistance vessels respond to spreading depolarization with tone alterations, causing transient hyperperfusion (physiological hemodynamic response) in healthy tissue. After aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), this neurovascular coupling can be disturbed in such a way that spreading depolarization induces severe vasoconstriction and hypoperfusion (inverse hemodynamic response or spreading ischemia). Hence, in a moment of maximal metabolic demand, energy supply is reduced, a mechanism that may be involved in delayed ischemic stroke after aSAH.

66. Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Increases the Susceptibility to Ischemic Stroke But Not to Peri-Infarct Depolarizations After Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion Authors: Ulrike, Hoffmann (Presenting); Lee, Jeong-Hyun; Park Hopson, Kristen; Yzawa, Izumi; Qin, Tao; Nozari, Ala; Ayata, Cenk

Institution: Radiology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Introduction: Peri-infarct depolarizations (PIDs) akin to spreading depression (SD) occur frequently after ischemic stroke and subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and worsen the outcome of compromised tissue by exacerbating the blood flow-metabolism mismatch. SAH is often associated with ischemic brain injury presumed to be due to vasospasm. We tested whether SAH increases the sensitivity of brain tissue to focal arterial occlusion and whether the mechanism involves increased susceptibility to SD or PIDs. Materials and Methods: Mice (C57BL/6, male) and rats (Sprague-Dawley, male) were subjected to single or double intracisternal autologous blood or saline injection. Twelve or 24 h later, middle cerebral artery was occluded (MCAO) for 1 h using an intraluminal filament to assess infarct volume, neurological deficits, and PIDs. SD susceptibility was assessed in a separate group using KCl or electrical stimulation. To investigate vascular mechanisms, vasoreactivity was assessed using isolated pressurized posterior cerebral arteries (PCAs), and cerebral blood flow (CBF) deficit was mapped using laser speckle flowmetry with high spatiotemporal resolution during distal MCAO. In all applicable experiments, physiologic parameters were monitored continuously. Results: SAH increased infarct volumes by approximately 30% after both filament and distal MCAO, when ischemia was induced 12 but not 24 h after SAH. Contrary to our hypothesis, however, both SD susceptibility and PID frequency were decreased after SAH. Isolated PCAs showed smaller resting diameters and higher myogenic tone, suggesting vasospasm. Consistent with this, resting CBF was lower and CBF deficits during dMCAO were worse in the SAH group to explain the larger infarct volumes. Conclusion: Our data suggest that SAH worsens the outcome of focal ischemia by causing vascular dysfunction and worsening the perfusion deficit, and that cortical susceptibility to SD or PIDs is not increased after SAH.

67. Impact of Body Temperature on Occurrence of Cortical Spreading Depolarizations in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Drenckhahn, Christoph (Presenting); Major, Sebastian; Woitzik, Johannes; Dreier, Jens Peter

Institution: Charite-Universitaetsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

From animal models, it is known that elevated temperature can abet or trigger the generation of cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs). CSDs were demonstrated to occur in patients suffering from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH), and it is assumed that they are a negative prognostic factor for outcome of these patients. To investigate the impact of normothermia and hyperthermia on the occurrence of CSD, 21 patients with acute aSAH where monitored for 38-266 h after onset of the initial SAH. Temperature was determined every 30 min, leading to a total of 9,739 episodes of temperature measurement in all patients. A cortical electrode strip to record the electrocorticogram (ECoG) was implanted within 24 h after SAH onset in the course of the aneurysm clipping. The post hoc analysis of the ECoG showed a total of 460 CSDs in 17 patients. Four patients did not show evidence for CSD. For every CSD, the temperature at the time point of occurrence was determined and divided into three temperature ranges (normothermia 36.0-36.9°C, mild hyperthermia 37.0-37.9°C, moderate hyperthermia 38.0–38.9°C). Of the 9,739 monitored temperature episodes, 1,580 (=790 h) showed normothermia, and 16 CSDs were recorded within this temperature range, resulting in an average of 0.02 CSD per hour. During 6,037 (=3,018.5 h) temperature episodes with mild hyperthermia, 120 CSDs occurred (0.04 CSD per hour average), and during 1,678 (=839 h) temperature episodes of moderate hyperthermia, 92 CSDs were recorded (0.11 CSD per hour average). For the comparison of body temperature and the occurrence of CSD within a temperature range from 36.0-38.9°C, we calculated a correlation coefficient of 0.76. During moderate hyperthermia, the probability for a CSD was more than fivefold higher than during normothermia. Our data suggest an association between higher temperature and CSD. It would be interesting to investigate whether reduction of temperature would decrease the incidence of CSD.

68. Spreading Depolarization-Induced Injury to Neurons and Astrocytes

Authors: Kirov, Sergei (Presenting); Risher, W. Chris; Sword, Jeremy; Croom, Deborah; Yuan, Jianghe

Institution: Georgia Health Sciences University, Augusta, GA, USA

Introduction: Two-photon laser scanning microscopy (2PLSM) enables real-time visualization of cells expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) deep within living neocortex in vivo. Using 2PLSM, we have previously shown that spreading depolarizations (SDs) cause acute damage to neurons in the ischemic penumbra. We also have evidence that cardiac arrest-induced global ischemia elicits astroglial swelling, indicating acute damage. Materials and Methods: 2PLSM was used to monitor astroglial changes concurrently with neuronal injury in two different models of ischemic stroke and mild traumatic brain injury (TBI). The first method was transient bilateral common carotid artery occlusion, which allowed for the induction of global ischemia and subsequent reperfusion. The second method was modified photothrombotic occlusion, in which a square-shaped ischemic lesion was made to surround a penumbra-like "area at risk" with SDs recurring for several hours following photothrombosis. TBI was induced by a nonpenetrating localized deformation of the cortex with

a controlled cortical impact device. Results: In stroke models, SD wave coincides with astroglial swelling alongside dendritic beading. Although rapid neuronal recovery was seen in both models, astroglial swelling persisted long after the occurrence of SD, with no structural recovery seen for the duration of the acute imaging period. In the TBI model without spontaneous SDs, dendritic injury in the pericontusional area was developing relatively slowly, but injury was greatly facilitated by SDs evoked by injecting KCl with a micropipette. Astroglial swelling persisted in the pericontusional area for the duration of acute imaging. Conclusion: Dendrites rapidly bead in concert with propagating SDs, recovering when there is sufficient local capillary flow. The accumulating stress of repeated SDs eventually results in "terminal" injury. Astrocytes swell during recurring spontaneous SDs, with no recovery seen in acute experiments. Early astroglial swelling may exacerbate functional outcome as astrocytes fail to provide neuronal support.

69. Trauma Trumps Stroke: Why Is Our Higher Brain Inept at Dealing with Blocked Blood Flow?

Authors: Andrew, R. David (Presenting); Brisson, C. Devin

Institution: Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada

While poorly documented, at the moment of traumatic brain injury (TBI), neurons in the impacted cortex completely depolarize as a consequence of mechanical sheer/ stretch. Within seconds, this "traumatic depolarization" (TD) propagates to adjacent gray matter, driving neurons beyond the point of discharge, thereby silencing the contused region while inducing regional vasoconstriction. TD promotes a "lie-low" survival strategy that immobilizes the subject for minutes or more, as well as counteracting hemorrhage. We propose that evolutionary pressure to develop this trauma defense has created a deadly catch-22: Our higher brain is inept at dealing with the TD-like ischemic depolarizaton (ID) triggered by global ischemia or occlusive stroke. Head trauma was a common way to die throughout our brutal vertebrate evolution, so there was strong selective pressure to cope with it. At the same time, our ancestors' lives were usually brief, rigorous, and nutrient inadequate, so few died from clogged brain arteries. Without evolutionary selection for mechanisms to deal with occlusive stroke, sudden loss of blood flow in cortical gray matter evokes ID and vasoconstriction (inverse neurovascular coupling) as though the region is hemorrhaging from TBI. In support of ID being a rapid, but inappropriate, shutdown defense, we also contend the following: (a) To maintain vital functions, internal brain structures (hypothalamus, brain stem) do not generate potent ID with resultant rapid shutdown as do more exposed gray regions in telencephalon, cerebellum, and spinal cord [1, 2]. This helps explain why the brain stem survives global ischemia better. (b) Cortical ID is generated by all vertebrates despite they do not naturally suffer stroke. (c) Migraine cortical spreading depolarization (CSD) is a residual ID response

to a misperceived loss of blood flow, evoking headache as part of the lie-low strategy of dealing with TBI. (d) Anoxia induces ID and immobilization in insects [3], which lack arterioles/capillaries. Neuronal type dictates if a region shuts down.

70. Intracortical Electroencephalography Monitoring for Detection of Cortical Spreading Depolarisations in Three Patients After Traumatic Brain Injury

Authors: Zakrzewska, Agnieszka (Presenting); Walsh, Daniel; Tolias, Christos; Strong, Anthony John

Institution: King's College Hospital, London, UK

Introduction: Cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) occur in 50-60% of patients after traumatic brain injury (TBI) in areas of cortex adjacent to contusions in the injured human brain, in 70-90% of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) values 3-5, and in all patients with malignant hemisphere stroke. These events are believed to be an important pathophysiological mechanism of secondary brain injury, but currently can only be detected with a subdural strip inserted when craniotomy has been required. Aims: We aimed to test CSD detection sensitivity of a Spencer depth electrode as an alternative to subdural strip. Methods: Electroencephalography (EEG) was recorded continuously in 3 patients undergoing craniotomy for TBI: A subdural strip electrode was placed on cortex exposed by the craniotomy, and a depth electrode was implanted intraparenchymally close to the strip. Results: In the first patient, a CSD event was recorded on the depth electrode and on the subdural strip simultaneously. In the first two patients, several (3 in patient 1 and 12 in patient 2) slow potential change (SPC) events occurring synchronously across channels were detected on both strip and depth electrodes. In the third patient, no CSDs and SPC events were observed on both strip and depth electrodes. Conclusion: There is preliminary evidence that the depth electrode can record SPC events that also appear on the surface electrode. Based on these observations, we propose that continuous monitoring from a depth electrode inserted into cortex via an access bolt will allow less-invasive monitoring for depolarizations.

71. Vascular, Electrophysiologic, and Metabolic Consequences of Cortical Spreading Depression in a Mouse Model of Simulated Neurosurgical Conditions

Authors: Carlson, Andrew (Presenting); Carter, Russell; Shuttleworth, C. William

Institution: University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA

Introduction: Cortical spreading depression (CSD) is a metabolically taxing wave of cellular depolarization. CSD occurs frequently in humans after brain injury and is associated with worse outcomes [1]. Less is known about possible contributions of CSD to injury following standard neurosurgical procedures. The current work evaluated CSD in a mouse model of simulated intraoperative conditions. *Materials and*

Methods: Mice were intubated and ventilated; an arterial line was placed. Normothermia and normocapnia were maintained and neuroanesthesia simulated with fentanyl, propofol, and isofluorane. Craniotomies were made to record responses to cortical coagulation with bipolar cautery. Separate sets of experiments (3 animals each) examined electrocorticographic (ECoG) activity, optical measures of blood volume and vascular diameters (540-nm absorbance), or autofluorescence attributed to NADH (750 nm, 2-photon excitation). Results: Ipsilateral cauterizations invariably resulted in a robust propagating CSD wave, identified by slow direct current (DC) potential shifts $(2.8 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm/min}, n=6)$ and suppression of ECoG activity (range 0.5-7.3 min, n=10). Each evoked CSD was associated with an initial pronounced arteriolar constriction, followed by a longer-lasting vasodilation. These changes led to similar tissue blood volume responses. Tissue oxygenation, assessed indirectly by NADH imaging, was consistent with sustained demand on oxidative metabolism. Furthermore, repetitive SDs resulted in progressive loss of tissue autofluorescence, suggestive of tissue compromise. Conclusion: CSD is consistently elicited by simulated neurosurgical stimuli under simulated intraoperative conditions in mice. These events caused prolonged ECoG depression, transient vasoconstriction, and significant metabolic demand that propagated from the manipulation site. It is possible that CSD events contribute to metabolic challenge at locations distant from sites of surgical manipulation.

72. Detection of Spreading Depression by Surface EEG

Authors: Fabricius, Martin (Presenting); Lauritzen, Martin

Institution: Glostrup University Hospital, Glostrup, Denmark

Introduction: Cortical spreading depression/depolarization (CSD) of the acutely injured human brain may be readily detected by electrocorticogram (ECoG). CSD, supposedly the mechanism of migraine aura, spreads at a speed of 2–3 mm/min and recovers within 6 min in the normal brain; thus, depression of the electroencephalogram (EEG) occurs in a narrow strip of cortex, around 2 cm wide. Noninvasive surface EEG recordings have failed to demonstrate EEG depressions during migraine aura. In brain injury, CSD duration may be prolonged, thus expanding the strip of depressed activity. This might increase the likelihood of detecting changes in surface EEG. Materials and Methods: Six patients suffering from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (n=4) or intracerebral hematoma (n=2) underwent craniotomy on clinical indication, and a 6-electrode platinum strip was placed subdurally. Postoperatively, intradermal EEG electrodes were placed. EEG and ECoG were recorded on two separate recording systems. Surface EEG trends (e.g., Brain Symmetry Index, BSI) were inspected for episodes suggesting transient (10-30 min) periods of regional loss of EEG power. The ECoG was scored independently for episodes of CSD. Results: During 250 h of recording, 51 CSDs were recorded on ECoG. On surface EEG, 17 transient reductions in BSI occurred in the same period as a CSD. There were 34 CSDs without any obvious changes in EEG trends; 18 transient changes in EEG trends occurred without any CSD being recorded simultaneously. Conclusion: Episodes of CSD may be reflected in surface EEG trends, particularly BSI. In this limited study, material sensitivity was 33% and specificity about 50%. Some false-positive changes in surface EEG may in fact represent episodes of CSD occurring in regions remote from the subdural strip, and some CSDs recorded from a dural strip placed below the frontal lobe may never reach the convexity of the brain. Further refinement of the EEG analysis may lead to increased sensitivity and pave the way for noninvasive detection of CSD.

73. On the Role of External Patient Movements that Can Trigger Spreading Depolarizations in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients

Authors: Santos, Edgar (Presenting); Schöll, Michael; Hertle, Daniel; Sanchez-Porras, Renan; Unterberg, Andreas; Sakowitz, Oliver W.

Institution: University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Baden Württemberg, Germany

Introduction: It has recently been reported that spreading depolarizations (SDs) are spontaneously produced in patients suffering from brain injury. In animals, SDs can be induced even in healthy brains using electrical, mechanical, and K⁺ stimuli. Since patients in the neurocritical care environment undergo various nursing maneuvers and are rarely kept in one position, we hypothesized that even these minute movements could trigger SD "mechanically." Methods: To study the relationship between SDs and movement, we retrospectively analyzed 18 SAH patients, enrolled in the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) study, who presented SDs. We compared the overall occurrence of SDs to those time periods when usually fewer nursing maneuvers occur (i.e., changes of shift). In 4 consecutive patients, a movement sensor was placed on the skin of the frontal or parietal area of the head to study these events prospectively. The time relationship between SDs and movement was assessed. Results: A total of 435 SDs were summed in a histogram according to the hours of the day. There were a mean of 18.1 ± 6.7 SDs per hour. Occurrence of SD was not evenly distributed. During the first scheduled break during the morning report, there were 11 SDs per hour. During the second scheduled break at noon, there were 6 SDs per hour. From the prospectively analyzed patients, one presented 36 SDs, from which 24 were associated with previous movement (3-7 min before the SDs). The second patient presented 3 SDs that were preceded by movement in all the cases (7–10 min). The third patient presented 2 SDs, but they were not preceded by movement. The fourth patient did not show

SDs. *Conclusion*: SDs that are associated with external patient movements may be found in SAH patients. The triggering mechanism remains speculative. Movement of the patients should be documented in the studies because it could be a confounding factor for the occurrence of SDs, and it might have a negative effect on outcome.

74. Toward Use of Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS) to Detect Cortical Spreading Depolarizations (CSDs) Noninvasively

Authors: Zakrzewska, Agnieszka (Presenting); Blasi, Anna; Everdell, Nick; Mifsud, Victoria; Walsh, Daniel; Pahl, Clemens; Strong, Anthony John

Institution: King's College Hospital, London, UK

Introduction: Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) detects changes in the concentration of oxygenated, deoxygenated, and total hemoglobin by measuring changes in the absorbance of light in the NIR region of the spectrum over the illuminated tissue. Brain activity is closely related to regional changes in cerebral blood flow (CBF) and oxygenation. The method is based on the assumption that change in neuronal activity is reflected by a change in CBF and blood volume that affects the mean local oxygenation. Previous experimental studies have shown that cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) produce hyperemia in healthy brain; in the injured human or experimental brain, perilesion depolarizations often induce vasoconstriction and spreading ischemia, all of which may result in tissue oxygenation changes measurable with NIRS. Aims: We wanted to develop a noninvasive method for detection of CSDs in acutely brain injured patients. Methods: We recorded 23 sessions of continuous wave (CW) NIRS of mean duration 2 h 4 min 47 s in 17 patients after head injury, subarachnoid or intracerebral hemorrhage, or stroke. Monitoring was performed using a model of the university college london (UCL) NIRS system with an array of 6 sources and 4 detectors, providing a total of 10 channels placed over the brain area of interest in patients either after surgery or treated conservatively. Results: A total of 47 h 50 min 19 s of data were recorded. Eight subjects showed transient changes in the concentrations of the three chromophores that could potentially be related to CBF alterations caused by CSDs. A further validation against electrocorticography monitoring will enable distinction between local oxygenation variations induced by CSD and those caused by systemic hemodynamic changes such as transient hypotension. Conclusion: Relative changes in the concentrations of oxy-, deoxy-, and total hemoglobin measured by CW-type instruments may be sufficient to detect CSDd, constituting a less-invasive method than currently used, with the advantage that it can be used on both unconscious and conscious individuals.

75. Analgesics and Sedative Drugs Have an Impact on Frequency of Spreading Depolarizations in the Injured Human Brain Authors: Hertle, Daniel (Presenting); Hartings, Jed A.; Woitzik, Johannes; Dreier, Jens P.; Vidgeon, Steven; Strong, Anthony J.; Kowoll, Christina; Dohmen, Christian; Diedler, Jennifer; Veltkamp, Roland; Unterberg, Andreas W.; Sakowitz, Oliver W.

Institution: University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany Spreading depolarizations (SDs) are known to occur in humans after brain injury. These patients are in critical medical condition and therefore often treated with analgesics and sedatives. Such drugs influence brain activity and are possible modulators for the frequency of spreading depressions. We therefore undertook a study to analyze drug effects on SDs, ieri-infarct depolarizations (PIDs), and clusters of SDs. We included 115 patients with acute brain injury (subarachnoid hemorrhage, trauma, ischemic stroke) from the CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations (COSBID) study. Midazolam, flunitrazepam, thiopental, fentanyl, sufentanil, remifentanil, ketamine, propofol, gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB), morphine, and clonidine were included in our analysis. Recorded hours with and without SDs under the influence of each drug were counted. Combined data of several drugs as indicated were used to calculate the odds ratio (OR). In this preliminary analysis, we found marked effects of midazolam and fentanyl increasing the probability for occurrence of SDs with an OR of 1.2, 95% confidence interval (95% CI) 1.1-1.4. In contrast, propofol, sufentanyl, ketamine, and morphine seemed to reduce the number of hours with SDs in the combined analysis (OR 0.76, 95% CI 0.7–0.8). The result of this preliminary report suggests a possible impact of anesthetic drugs on the occurrence of SDs. A careful evaluation of potential modulators is necessary. This might affect the choice and use of anesthetic drugs after acute brain injury.

76. Spatiotemporal Patterns of Cerebral Blood Flow and Hemoglobin Oxygenation During the Propagation of Spreading Depolarisations Following Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion

Authors: Takagaki, Masatoshi; Gramer, Markus; Feuerstein, Delphine; Backes, Heiko; Kohl-Bareis, Matthias; Graf, Rudolf (Presenting)

Institution: MPI for Neurological Research, NRW, Germany

Objectives: In the surrounding of focal ischemia, spreading depolarizations (SDs) are thought to cause secondary tissue damage. However, the underlying mechanisms are obscure. We combined here laser speckle flowmetry (LSF) to track the SD waves and hemodynamic responses to them with RGB reflectometry (RGBR) to measure tissue concentrations in oxyhemoglobin (HbO₂) and deoxyhemoglobin (HHb). *Methods*: The temporoparietal cortex of Wistar rats was exposed to laser illumination (for LSF) and high-power white light LEDs (light-emitting diodes; for RGBR) through thinned skull. Reflected signals were spectrally separated and acquired by two CCD chips within a single camera [1]. After baseline measurement, the middle cerebral artery was occluded (MCAO) by slow intracarotid injection of TiO, macrospheres [2]. Simultaneous LSF and RGBR imaging was continued for 3 h. Results: Immediately following MCAO, a gradient of CBF levels developed, differentiating ischemic core from border zones [3]. Subsequently, a primary, concentric wave of CBF, HbO,, and HHb changes originated from the primary ischemic territory. CBF and oxygenation waves were almost synchronous and congruent in space. Subsequently, multiple waves appeared over the observation period. They mostly propagated circumferentially around the ischemic core. A first analysis suggests a very close synchronization and congruence of these LSF and RGBR waves as well. CBF declines were typically accompanied by HbO₂ decrease and HHb increase. First observations also suggest a gradual and steady decrease in HbO, and increase in HHb as the SD waves repeat. Conclusion: SD waves were tracked as concomitant and congruent waves of both CBF and O₂ alteration. Our results suggest that the fast, almost-immediate change in CBF after MCAO is accompanied by a slower, gradual aggravation of tissue oxygenation with time and with repeating SDs.

77. Coupling of Cerebral Blood Flow and Glucose Metabolism During Spreading Depolarisations: A Multimodal Study

Authors: Feuerstein, Delphine (Presenting); Takagaki, Masatoshi; Gramer, Markus; Kumagai, Tetsuya; Vollmar, Stefan; Sué, Michael; Backes, Heiko; Graf, Rudolf

Institution: MPI for Neurological Research, Cologne, Germany

Objectives: Recent clinical studies suggested that multiple spreading depolarizations (SDs) in human injured brain cause failure of metabolic coupling [1, 2]. We have characterized this "uncoupling" using an in vivo multimodal approach. Laser speckle flowmetry (LSF) tracked SDs and corresponding blood flow responses, positron emission tomography (PET) of ¹⁸F-2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose (FDG) measured glucose metabolism, and rapid-sampling microdialysis (rsMD) measured glucose and lactate. Methods: In Wistar rats, the temporoparietal cortex was exposed to laser illumination through thinned skull. A microdialysis probe was inserted to assess glucose and lactate using rsMD [3]. Within the PET scanner, the baseline of rsMD and LSF was measured; subsequently, FDG was injected, and PET images were acquired for 90 min. SDs were induced 20 min after FDG injection by either a needle prick (single-SD group) or by epidural potassium chloride (multiple-SD group). Results: The passage of a single SD wave (n=10) caused a moderate fall in glucose and a sharp increase in lactate by -15% and +35%, respectively. FDG uptake increased compared to the contralateral hemisphere. Both rsMD levels and FDG uptake returned to normal by 20 min post-SD. Following multiple

SDs (n=10), FDG preferentially accumulated in regions with a high occurrence of SDs. The amplitude of increased FDG uptake correlated with the frequency of SDs (r=0.729, p=0.002). rsMD glucose steadily decreased, while lactate remained elevated. *Conclusion*: The passage of an SD wave causes a local transient increase in energy utilization. Normalization of FDG uptake and rsMD levels at 20 min post-SD suggests a resting phase of reduced energy consumption. However, when SDs repeat frequently, the increased energy demand leads to irreversible changes in FDG uptake, depletion of glucose, and elevation of lactate. This energy "crisis" during multiple SDs would be amplified in already-compromised tissue after brain injury.

Surgical Management and Intervention

78. Neck Clipping of Paraclinoid Small Aneurysms

Author: Kanamaru, Kenji (Presenting)

Institution: Suzuka Kaisei Hospital, Suzuka, Mie Prefecture, Japan

Introduction: The International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms reported that, in the absence of a history of previous rupture, the risk of rupture for small (<7 mm) anterior circulation aneurysms was low, at only 0.1% per year [1]. However, many experienced neurosurgeons and endovascular therapists reported that, in practice, most ruptured aneurysms encountered are small [2, 3]. According to other reports, the extent of SAH after the rupture of small aneurysms is often greater than after the rupture of larger aneurysms [3, 4]. Despite the advent of sophisticated endovascular materials, embolization of very small aneurysms is associated with relatively high rates of intraprocedural rupture, especially intraoperative rupture [5]. From a surgical point of view, blood blisterlike aneurysms arising from the anterior wall of the internal carotid artery [ICA] may be devastating once they rupture [6]. In the present study, we demonstrated ten cases with small aneurysms in the paraclinoid segment of the ICA, and all of those were successfully clipped. Materials and Methods: The patients included 6 women and 4 men, 41-66 years of age (mean 56 years). Key points of surgical procedures were as follows: (1) frontotemporal craniotomy with removal of sphenoid ridge; (2) open the sylvian fissure as much as possible; (3) removal of anterior clinoid process and falciforme ligament to create sufficient space for clip application; (4) dural adherence to aneurysm left intact for protection of thin aneurysm dome; (5) avoid touching the dome of aneurysm before neck clipping; (6) angled clip is suitable for anterior wall aneurysms and a straight one is for ophthalmic artery aneurysms; (7) additional wrapping and coating may be necessary for anterior wall aneurysms if parent artery is affected entirely. Results: There were no

79. Comparison of Clearance of Clots in Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Between Surgical Clipping and GDC Embolization

Authors: Shirao, Satoshi (Presenting); Yoneda, Hiroshi; Yoshino, Hiroko; Ishihara, Hideyuki; Ueda, Katsuhiko; Nakano, Kaori; Nomura, Sadahiro; Fujii, Masami; Suzuki, Michiyasu

Institution: Yamaguchi University School of Medicine, Ube, Yamaguchi, Japan

Objective: Subarachnoid clots play an important role in the development of delayed vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). The purpose of this study was to compare clearance of subarachnoid clot and the incidence of symptomatic vasospasm between surgical clipping and Guglielmi detachable coil (GDC) embolization for aneurysmal SAH. Methods: The subjects were 115 patients with Fisher group 3 aneurysmal SAH on a computerized tomographic (CT) scan at admission, in whom the aneurysm was treated by surgical clipping (clip group, n = 86) or GDC embolization (coil group, n=29) within 72 h of ictus. Software-based volumetric quantification of the subarachnoid clot was performed. The amount of hemoglobin (Hb) in drained cerebrospinal fluid was also measured by biochemical assay. Results: Clearance of the subarachnoid clot on the CT scan was rapid in the clip group until the day after the operation but slow in the coil group (58.9% removed vs. 27.8% removed, p=0.008). However, postoperative clearance of the clot occurred more rapidly in the coil group. Difference in the reduction of clot until days 3-5 was not significant between the two groups (72.9% removed vs. 75.2% removed). The amount of Hb in the clip group was greater than 0.8 g/day until day 3 and then gradually decreased (n=15), but Hb in the coil group remained at more than 0.8 g/day until day 5 (n=17). The incidence of symptomatic vasospasm did not differ between both groups. Conclusion: Subarachnoid clot can be directly removed during surgical clipping, which is not possible for endovascular treatment. However, the percentage reduction of the clot on days 3-5 did not differ between the two groups.

Other

80. Supply or Demand?

Authors: Bhargava, Deepti (Presenting); Orsi, Nicolas; West, Robert; Quinn, Audrey; Ross, Stuart

Institution: Leeds General Infirmary, Leeds, West Yorkshire, UK

Introduction: There is an evolving understanding that delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND) is a result of various interdependent pathologic processes like vasospasm,

microthrombosis, inflammation, cortical spreading ischemia, and effects of early brain injury. All these processes are believed to reduce cerebral blood flow (CBF), that is, the supply and cause of cellular ischemia. However, clinical features of DIND have been observed above the ischemic threshold of CBF. With real-time neuromonitoring, we explored cerebral pathophysiology in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients before and during DIND and with institution of triple H (hypertensive, hypervolemic, and hemodilution) therapy. Methods: Patients with Fisher grade 3/4 were recruited. Probes to monitor tissue oxygenation, regional CBF, and microdialysis were placed at the time of clipping/coiling. Normoxia and normovolemia were maintained afterward; no prophylactic triple H therapy was used. If the patient developed symptoms of DIND, the patient was treated with standardized triple H therapy. Results: We recruited 16 patients; 2 patients died early, and 2 were sedated throughout monitoring. Of the remaining 12, 7 developed DIND. Six of 14 had reduced CBF; of these, 2 were symptomatic (DIND). Interestingly, 6/7 patients with DIND had parallel elevation of lactate and pyruvate at time of symptoms; 4/5 asymptomatic patients did not (odds ratio [OR] = 24:1). CBF and metabolism did not seem to bear any direct association. Triple H therapy increased CBF; symptoms improved. Conclusion: We present evidence that DIND might be an issue of demand as well as supply. Triple H therapy may restore balance.

81. Early Brain Injury Linearly Correlates with Reduction in Cerebral Perfusion Pressure During the Hyperacute Phase After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Marbacher, Serge (Presenting) [Runner-up, Bench-to-Bedside-and-Back]; Neuschmelting, Volker; Andereggen, Lukas; Widmer, HansRudolf; Takala, Jukka; Jakob, Stephan M.; Fandino, Javier

Institution: Kantonsspital Aarau, Aarau, Switzerland

Introduction: Early brain injury (EBI) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) emerged as a recent concept that embraces complex pathophysiological mechanisms that are linked to the initial bleed. The triggers and consequences of EBI are still poorly understood. The aim of the present study was to investigate whether hyperacute depletion of cerebral perfusion pressure is correlated with an increase in neuronal injury following experimental SAH. Methods: Various degrees of SAH in terms of intracranial pressure (ICP) increase were initiated and controlled using a shunt from the subclavian artery to the cerebromedullar cistern in 14 rabbits. Standard cardiovascular monitoring, ICP, cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), and bilateral regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) were continuously measured. Apoptosis was detected using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL). Neurodegeneration secondary to ischemia was determined 24 h after SAH using fluorojade B (FJB) in bilateral basal cortex and hippocampal regions (CA1 and CA3). Results: rCBF was significantly

correlated to reduction in CPP during the initial 15 min after SAH in a linear regression pattern (regression coefficient r=0.82, $r^2=0.68$, p<0.001). The mean amounts of TUNELand FJB-labeled cells were linearly correlated to reduction in CPP during the first 3 min of hemorrhage in the hippocampal regions CA1 and CA3 (regression coefficient r=0.71, $r^2=0.50$, p<0.01) and the basal cortex (regression coefficient r=0.76, $r^2=0.54$, p<0.01). *Conclusion*: The degree of EBI in terms of neuronal cell degeneration in both basal cortex and hippocampal regions linearly correlated with the first few minutes of reduced CPP and impeded CBF following SAH. However, it remains unknown whether global ischemia itself or subsequent events are responsible for the detected cell death and neurodegeneration.

82. Addition of New Criteria to the SOFA (Sequential Organ Failure Assessment) for Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer; Silva, Andre; Bastos, Nathalia; Paz, Juliano; Pessamilio, Thiago; Castro, Rodolfo; Lacerda, Mauricio; Teixeira De Oliveira, Henrique Nuss (Presenting)

Institution: Sao Jose do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: The sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) was originally created for sepsis, but its quality is now used in other medical conditions. Therefore, we added some criteria to the index to assess patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Purpose: New criteria for the SOFA were glycemia, arterial lactate, magnesium, calcium, sodium, hourly diuresis, and axillary temperature for predictions (death or survival) in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage in view of the importance of these criteria in the clinical course of that group of patients. Method: We used informed consent for each patient/family; APACHE II (criteria for admission) and SOFA weekly, serum glucose, lactate, calcium, sodium, and magnesium and measurement of axillary temperature and hourly diuresis as the additional prognostic index SOFA. The study enrolled 103 patients diagnosed with SAH. The conduct in relation to the approach to these new criteria was the same in all patients evaluated. These patients were divided into two groups according to their development in the intensive care unit (ICU): group 1, patients who had good evolution (out of ICU); and group 2, patients who progressed to death in the ICU. Results: Among 103 patients, 74 (71.84%) were female, and 29 (28.16%) were male. The APACHE II for admission varied from 2 to 34, with an average of 15.5. The maximum time spent in the ICU was 49 days (2 patients). Group 1 had 64 patients (62.14%) and the 39 remaining patients (37.86%) were classified as group 2. Conclusion: The group of patients with SAH were predominantly female (74:29). For the APACHE II, group 1 was 10.9, while group 2 was 17.9. The only criteria that showed statistical significance in the prediction of death was the serum sodium (p=0.002). It is necessary to have a new complementary study to

standardize these additional criteria to SOFA as an assessing method of prognosis of patients with SAH, but we can conclude that the change in serum sodium has fundamental importance in the evolution of this group of patients.

83. CSD-Monitor: Concept and Demonstration of a Software for Online Bedside Analysis and Simultaneous Visualization of ECoG Data from Brain-Injured Patients for Care and Research

Authors: Schoell, Michael Johannes (Presenting); Sakowitz, Oliver; Santos, Edgar; Rurik, Clas; Graf, Rudolf; Dickhaus, Hartmut

Institution: Heidelberg University Hospital, Heidelberg, Baden-Württemberg, Germany

Introduction: Spreading depolarizations (SDs) are a potential cause of secondary brain injury following traumatic, hemorrhagic, or ischemic incidents to the cerebrum. Although SDs can be quite easily discerned by an experienced investigator in electrocorticographic (ECoG) recordings, this has to be carried out off line and involves large datasets, which are cumbersome to handle. A bedside monitoring tool could provide additional data not only during off-line analysis, but also in real time and thereby help to improve the outcome of brain-injured patients. Features: Implemented features include those for routine inspection of ECoG data and filtering algorithms to emphasize SD-specific signal parts. Fast automatic detection of artifacts is implemented to inform about problems in the recording setup. Specific modules for the analysis of SDs include the projection of ECoG data onto a three-dimensional (3D) model of the electrodes on the cortex. Furthermore, automatic detection and visualization of clusters of SDs with similar patterns will also be implemented. Automatically inserted events like SDs or artifacts can be approved manually in a comfortable user interface to ensure data quality for off-line analysis. Methods: Our implementation (C++, GCC-compiler, Ot 4.7) ensures platform independence. A modular plug-in concept allows for easy extension of functionality with plug-ins written even in different programming languages like Matlab or Java. An advanced user interface enables authorized users with different qualifications to adjust configurations and parameter settings. Conclusion: Off-line analysis and annotation functionality have been tested with ECoG data from different patients of the large dataset acquired within the COSBID (CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations) study. Results of the analysis algorithms will be discussed and compared with the alreadyestablished signal analysis in the COSBID group. Interested members of the COSBID group can contact us to work together in use and development of the software.

84. Epidemiological Analysis of Patients with Cerebral Aneurysms Admitted for an Embolization at Sao José do Avaí Hospital

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer (Presenting); Siqueira, Carlos Mauricio; Siqueira, Savio; Oliveira; Dias, Lucas; Da Matta, Nayara; Almeida, Erica; Brito, Lara; Bastos, Nathalia; Carvalho, A.S. Institution: Sao Jose do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: The treatment of intracranial aneurysms evolved since the introduction of endovascular neurosurgery by the Guglielmi detachable coils (GDCs) because of the safety and feasibility of this method. Method: This study was conducted from the database of patients submitted for an ablation in the neurosurgery department in the period 2006-2009. Results: We studied 1,504 patients who had ablation. Of these, 1,120 were females (74.46%) and 384 males (25.84%). The average age was 52 years (variable 10-91). There were 176 (34.4%) patients who required hospitalization in the intensive care unit (ICU) was 176, staying on average 6.1 days (odds ratio 5.0). Hunt-Hess scale prevalence was as follows 1, 68.48%; 2. 16.35%; 3, 8.04%; 4, 4.78%; 5, 2.32%. Fisher (tomography scale) values were 1. 62.58%; 2, 7.91%; 3, 23.5%,; 4, 7.58%; and incidental, 4.85%. The main risk factors involved in cerebral vascular accident were systemic arterial hypertension (n = 608, 40.4%) and smoking (n = 463, 30.8%). The arteries more commonly involved were posterior communicating=725 (25.33%), median cerebral=562 (19.62%), anterior communicating=469 (19.38%), ophthalmic=124 (4.34%), posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA)=52 (1.81%), and pericallosa = 82 (2.6\%). Included among the 218 events that occurred were coil into the vascular lumen in 96 cases (6.38%), bleeding in 58 (3.85%), and others. The materials used were 334 balloons (71.06%) and 136 stents (28.94%). Angiographic vasospasm occurred in 178 patients. Conclusion: We noted in the occurrence of cerebral vascular aneurysmal accident the predominance of females, the average age of 52 years, and systemic hypertension and smoking are associated. The arteries of the previous segment were those that had a higher incidence of aneurysms. More than half of the patients did not have complications during the procedure; however, when they did, coil in the lumen and angiographic vasospasm were most frequent. Embolization of cerebral aneurysms was revealed to be the method with lowest lethality.

85. Frequency/Prevalence Analysis of Risk Factors on Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer (Presenting); Siqueira, Carlos Mauricio; Siqueira, Savio; Nuss, Rodrigo; Dias, Joana; Carvalho, Robson; Guarçoni, Angelo; Fiorot, Jessica

Institution: Sao Jose do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a catastrophic clinical event in which two-thirds of spontaneous SAH are characterized by rupture and bleeding of a cerebral aneurysm. *Methods*: After institutional approval and informed consent, this prospective observational study took place from April 2008 to November 2009 and involved all adult patients with spontaneous SAH admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU). We evaluated the frequency/prevalence of some factors: gender, age, skin color, arterial hypertension (AH), smoking habit, diabetes mellitus (DM), alcoholism,

dyslipidemia, sedentary, and use of oral contraceptive method. Results: There were a total of 128 patients (n), average age of 55.3 years. We obtained the following main results for frequency with respective confidence intervals (CIs): Gender: female 73.4% (94), CI 64.9-80.9; male 26.6% (34), CI 19.1-35.1. Skin color: white 46.2% (54), CI 36.9-55.6; black 24.8%(29), CI 17.3-33.6; brown 29.1% (34), CI 21.0-38.2. AH: yes 72.7% (93), CI 64.1-80.5; no 27.3% (35), CI 19.8-35.9. Smoking habit: yes 44.5% (57), CI 35.7-53.6; no 55.5% (71), CI 46.4-64.3. DM: yes 14.8% (19), CI 9.2-22.2; no 85.2% (109), CI 77.8-90.8. Alcoholism: yes 12.6% (16), CI 7.4-19.7; no 87.4% (111), CI 87.4-92.6. Dyslipidemia: ves 10.9% (14), CI 6.1-17.7; no 89.1% (114), IC, 82.3-93.9. Sedentary: yes 25.8% (33), CI 18.5-34.3; no 74.2% (95), CI 65.6-81.5. Obesity: yes 11.7% (15), CI 6.7-18.6; no 88.3% (113), CI 81.4-93.3. Oral contraceptive method (obtained only for female population): yes 5.3% (5), CI 1.7-12.0; no 94.7% (89), CI 88.0-98.3. Conclusion: We can show that, among all risk factors, female gender, AH, and smoking habit had the greatest prevalence index; the factor skin color had wide distribution from its variants; other risk factors (RF) (DM, alcoholism, dyslipidemia, sedentary, and use of oral contraceptives) did not obtain significant prevalence for patients with aneurysmal SAH.

86. Effects of Simvastatin in Prevention of Vasospasm in Nontraumatic Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (Preliminary Data)

Authors: Macedo, Sergio Kiffer (Presenting); Siqueira, Carlos Mauricio; Siqueira, Savio; Campeao, Andre; Dias, Lucas

Institution: Sao Jose do Avai Hospital, Itaperuna, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Introduction: Vasospasm is the main cause of death and cognitive deficits in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage after rupture of the aneurysm (aSAH). Some trials have shown that statins in the acute phase of aSAH reduce the incidence, morbidity, and mortality of cerebral vasospasm. *Methods*: We made a prospective, randomized, nonblind study for 21 days between January and December 2008 using 80 mg of simvastatin (SVT; at night) in the first 72 h of bleeding; the control group did not use SVT. Informed consent was obtained for all patients. Computed tomographic (CT) scans were performed as a control, and another CT scan was done for patients with altered neurological signals. In the presence of changes suggestive of vasospasm or correlation in clinical and CT scans, the patients were given a cerebral arteriography exam followed by angioplasty if necessary. Liver and renal function and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol were evaluated weekly, and total creatine kinase (CK) was evaluated every 3 days. Exclusion criteria were liver and renal disease, pregnant, elevation of serum transaminases (three times the normal value), creatinine 2.5 or greater, rhabdomyolysis or CK total of 10,00 U/l or greater.

Results: We excluded 2 patients with bleeding more than 72 h. There was no significant change in the levels of total CK or renal or liver function. We included 21 patients, 11 in the SVT group and 9 in the control group. The mortality was 8 patients (38%), 6 patients in the control group and 2 of the SVT group. Vasospasm was confirmed by cerebral arteriography exam in 4 patients in the control group and 1 patient in the SVT group. All the patients who died were ranked as scale Fisher scale IV. *Conclusion*: The SVT at a dose of 80 mg was effective in reducing the mortality (18.1% vs. 66%)compared to the group that did not use SVT and decreased the incidence of cerebral vasospasm despite the higher APACHE II level in the group that used SVT (14.3 vs. 10.7). Less morbidity occurred in the SVT group, with an average of 3.25 versus 2.1 on the Glasgow scale.

87. Outer Skull Landmark-Based Coordinates for Measurement of Cerebral Blood Flow and Intracranial Pressure in Rabbits

Authors: Milavec, Helena; Neuschmelting, Volker; Marbacher, Serge; Fandino, Javier

Institution: Bern University Hospital and University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Objectives: Despite the increased use of intracranial neuromonitoring for the evaluation of acute pathophysiological derangements during experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), reliable stereotactic coordinates for the placement of monitoring probes in rabbits are missing. The aim of the present study was to determine and evaluate the safety and reliability of various locations of intraparenchymal intracranial pressure (ICP) and cerebral blood flow (CBF) probes according to outer skull landmarks. Methods: Experimental SAH was performed in 22 rabbits using an arterial shunt cisterna magna model. Intraparenchymal recordings from ICP probes placed in the frontal lobe were compared to measurements recorded from the olfactory bulb. CBF probes were placed on various locations in the frontal cortex anterior to the coronary suture. Insertion depth, relation to the ventricular system, and ideal placement location were determined on postmortem gross total dissections and histological examination. Results: There were no significant differences in ICP recordings obtained from the right frontal lobe $(8.8 \pm 1.9 \text{ mm anterior to the})$ bregma and 1.5 ± 0.5 parasagittal) compared to the right olfactory bulb (midpupillary line anterior to the bregma and 2 mm parasagittal). Ideal coordinates for intraparenchymal CBF probes in the left and right frontal lobe were found to be located 4.6 ± 0.9 and 4.5 ± 1.2 anterior to the bregma, 4.7 ± 0.7 mm and 4.7 ± 0.5 mm parasagittal, and at a depth of 4 ± 0.5 mm and 3.9 ± 0.5 mm, respectively. Conclusion: This study demonstrated that coordinates in relation to cranial landmarks allow feasible and fast hitting of intraparenchymal locations for ICP and CBF probes. Practical accuracy of these coordinates can be warranted for safe and reproducible

neuromonitoring in the rabbits' brain without the use of a stereotactic frame.

88. Angiopoietin-1 Is Associated with Cerebral Vasospasm and Delayed Cerebral Ischemia in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Fischer, Marlene; Broessner, Gregor; Dietmann, Anelia; Beer, Ronny; Helbok, Raimund; Pfausler, Bettina; Chemelli, Andreas; Schmutzhard, Erich; Lackner, Peter

Institution: Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

Background: Angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and -2 (Ang-2) are key players in the regulation of endothelial homeostasis and vascular proliferation. Angiopoietins may play an important role in the pathophysiology of cerebral vasospasm (CVS). Ang-1 and Ang-2 have not been investigated in this regard so far. Methods: Twenty patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and 20 healthy controls (HCs) were included in this prospective study. Blood samples were collected from days 1-7 and every other day thereafter. Ang-1 and Ang-2 were measured in serum samples using a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Transcranial Doppler sonography was performed to monitor the occurrence of cerebral vasospasm. Results: SAH patients showed a significant drop of Ang-1 levels on days 2 and 3 post-SAH compared to baseline and HCs. Patients who developed Doppler sonographic CVS showed significantly lower levels of Ang-1 with a sustained decrease, in contrast to patients without Doppler sonographic CVS, whose Ang-1 levels recovered in the later course of the disease. In patients developing cerebral ischemia attributable to vasospasm, significantly lower Ang-1 levels had already been observed on the day of admission. Differences of Ang-2 between SAH patients and HCs or patients with and without Doppler sonographic CVS were not statistically significant. Conclusion: Ang-1, but not Ang-2, was significantly altered in patients suffering from SAH, especially in those experiencing CVS and cerebral ischemia. The loss of vascular integrity, regulated by Ang-1, might be in part responsible for the development of cerebral vasospasm and subsequent cerebral ischemia.

89. Cellular Microparticles as a Marker for Cerebral Vasospasm in Spontaneous Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Authors: Lackner, Peter; Dietmann, Anelia; Beer, Ronny; Fischer, Marlene; Broessner, Gregor; Helbok, Raimund; Marxgut, Johannes; Pfausler, Bettina; Schmutzhard, Erich

Institution: Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

Background: Spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) still carries a high risk for poor outcome, which is frequently attributable to symptomatic cerebral vasospasm (CVS). We hypothesized that cellular microparticles (MPs) play a role in the pathogenesis of CVS and may serve as biomarkers for CVS. *Methods*: In 20 consecutive SAH patients, endothelial, leukocyte, platelet, and erythrocyte MPs were measured during 15 days after ictus. CVS was

detected by transcranial Doppler (TCD) sonography. Twenty matched volunteers served as healthy controls (HCs). Results: Endothelial, leukocyte, and erythrocyte MPs were elevated in SAH patients compared to HCs. CD105⁺ and CD62e⁺ endothelial MPs (EMPs) were significantly higher in SAH patients with Doppler sonographic CVS (dCVS). Especially, CD105+ EMPs were increased on the days of dCVS onset. In patients experiencing cerebral infarction due to vasospasm (CIV), CD41⁺ platelet MP (PMPs) were elevated in addition to EMPs. CD41⁺ PMPs were significantly higher in patients with any level of disability (modified Rankin Scale [mRS] 1) compared to those who made a full recovery (mRS=0) on discharge from the hospital. Conclusion: EMPs were elevated in patients with SAH. This elevation coincided with the occurrence of dCVS and could therefore be a novel biomarker for CVS. PMPs might be involved in the pathogenesis of CIV, resulting in neurological morbidity.

90. Screening for Vasospasm Significant Biomarkers in Cerebral Spinal Fluid Using Multidimensional Separation Techniques with MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS and ESI-LTQ-MS

Authors: Easter, Renee N.; Barry, Colin G.; Caruso, Joseph A.; Pyne-Geithman, Gail

Institution: University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Worldwide, subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) and its sequela cerebrovasospasm (CV) kill or seriously debilitate an estimated 1.2 million people annually. One of the barriers to research progress in prevention or reversal of CV after SAH is the ability to predict which SAH patients will develop vasospasm and elucidation of the signaling pathways that contribute to cerebral vasospasm. Approximately half of all people who survive SAH suffer from CV 3-10 days following the initial stroke. Currently, transcranial Doppler flow determinations performed every 24-48 h can help screen for the onset of vasospasm [1]. This delayed onset gives researchers and clinicians a window to treat SAH patients to prevent vasospasm. Investigations involving traditional biological techniques into the etiology of CV have led to promising advances [2-5]. These studies have found that excessive oxidative environments [2], platelets [3], glutathione peroxidase [5], and even bilirubin [4] could contribute to the onset of CV. This study focused on using multidimensional separation techniques by combining isoelectric focusing and strong cation exchange chromatography with liquid chromatography matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight/time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF/TOF-MS) and liquid chromatography electrospray ionization-linear trap quadrupole mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-LTQ-MS) to explore potential biomarkers in three different cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) samples: control (normal, healthy, CSF control); SAH stroke patients (no vasospasm, CSF C); and SAH CV patients (CSF V). A number of potentially significant proteins were identified, and continuing studies are currently under way for further investigations of these proteins.

91. Complications Associated with the Endovascular Management of Vasospasm with Unsecured Intracranial Vascular Lesions

Authors: Serrone, Joseph; Ringer, Andrew

Institution: University of Cincinnati/Mayfield Clinic, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Introduction: The management of cerebral ischemia due to vasospasm involves increasing cerebral perfusion with hypervolemic, hemodilutional, hypertensive (HHH) therapy, intra-arterial vasodilators, or angioplasty. All therapies are usually undertaken with secured vascular lesions. Patients may rarely present with vasospasm with unidentifiable pathology or a lesion that cannot be secured prior to treating vasospasm. This unique circumstance requires cautious application of medical and endovascular treatment to balance the risk of stroke from vasospasm with rerupture of the vascular lesion. *Methods*: We retrospectively reviewed our endovascular database of patients treated from 2002 to 2011. We searched the database for the keywords vasospasm, verapamil, papaverine, and angioplasty to identify subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients with ruptured unsecured intracranial vascular lesions receiving intra-arterial vasodilators or angioplasty. We excluded patients with secured lesions or those who only had diagnostic studies. Charts were reviewed for complications associated with endovascular management. Results: Our search yielded 100 possible patients who met our initial search terms. Of these, 70 had secured lesions, 12 had missing records, and 9 had only diagnostic studies, leaving 9 patients with SAH with unsecured pathology receiving endovascular therapy. Of 13 treatments in these 9 patients, 2 (15%) resulted in brain death within 24 h of treatment. One patient had a giant vertebrobasilar aneurysm and had a brain-stem stroke after angioplasty of a vertebral artery, and the other patient had intraoperative rerupture of a vertebral artery dissection during verapamil administration and coil occlusion. Conclusion: Patients with unsecured intracranial aneurysms and dissections have a high major complication rate when using endovascular means to treat vasospasm and should be approached cautiously. It may be safer to treat angiogram-negative SAH patients with endovascular means than patients with known pathology.

Author Index

A

Abruzzo, T.A., 105 Adeoye, O.M., 283 Ai, J., 183, 245 Akinci, I.O., 95 Al-Tamimi, Y., 13 Ando, H., 63 Aras, Y., 95 Armonda, R.A., 87 Asgari, S., 191 Ayata, C., 159 Aydin, K., 95 Aydoseli, A., 95 Ayer, R.E., 257

B

Bach, D., 27 Barros, I., 91 Basel, A., 95 Bell, R., 87 Bhargava, D., 13 Bilgin-Freiert, A., 191 Bohner, G., 147 Bonev, A.D., 165 Brabetz, C., 151

С

Chang, H.S., 81 Chen, I.-J., 237 Clark, J.F., 265

D

de Aguiar, P.H.P., 75, 91 Dent, W., 77 de Oliveira Lima, M., 75 Dey, S., 273 Diepers, M., 111 Dorfer, C., 117 Dreier, J.P., 123, 129, 141, 147, 151 Drenckhahn, C., 123, 151 Dusick, J., 191

Е

Ecker, R., 87 Etminan, N., 33

F

Fandino, J., 111

Fathi, A.-R., 111 Frey, A., 27 Friedrich, V., 197 Fujimoto, M., 211, 217 Fujisawa, N., 81

G

Ghosh, S., 273 Goddard, T., 13 Gonzalez, F., 273 Gonzalez, N.R., 191 Gruber, A., 117 Güresti, E., 95

Н

Hamilton, R., 191 Hartings, J.A., 67, 123, 129 Higashida, R.T., 27 Hochheimer, S.M., 87 Hosono, A., 81 Hu, X., 191

I

Ichikawa, M., 63 Ilodigwe, D., 17, 245 Imanaka-Yoshida, K., 211, 217 Indo, M., 81 Inoue, M., 279 Ito, E., 63 Izgi, N., 95

J

Jafarian, N., 257 Jallo, J., 273 Jimenez, L., 105

K

Kamar, C., 95 Kanamaru, K., 211, 217 Kassell, N., 27 Kasuya, H., 41 Kawamura, K., 211 Keller, E., 27, 57, 77 Kikkawa, Y., 53 Kiris, T., 95 Knosp, E., 117 Koide, M., 165, 171, 177 Kralik, J.D., 223 Krawagna, M., 117 Kuo, Y.-H., 237 Kwan, A.-L., 237

L

Lahnsteiner, E., 117 Lakovic, K., 183, 245 Lee, M.-Y., 237 Lin, C.-L., 237 Li, Z., 17 Look, A.C., 129

М

Macdonald, R.L., 3, 17, 27, 33, 183, 245 Major, S., 123, 151 Ma, Q., 257 Marbacher, S., 111 Marr, A., 27 Marshall, S.A., 87 Martus, P., 141 Matsui, T., 81 Matsumoto, Y., 63 Matsushima, S., 211, 217 Mayer, S.A., 27 Midorikawa, H., 279 Milavec, H., 117 Molyneux, A., 27 Moore, S.K., 251 Morita, T., 279 Muroi, C., 57, 77, 111

Ν

Nair, S.G., 265 Nakamura, T., 81 Nanpei, M., 211 Narisawa, A., 279 Nelson, M.T., 165 Nishijima, M., 63, 279 Nishizawa, S., 205 Nyquist, P.A., 23

0

Oda, K., 63 Oehmchen, M., 141 Offenhauser, N., 123 Okano, A., 81 Oppenheimer, S.M., 87 Ostrowski, R.P., 257 Oya, S., 81

Р

Paiva, B.L., 75, 91 Pascal, J., 273 Pluta, R.M., 49, 223 Poon, W.S., 9, 45 Provencio, J.J., 231, 251 Pyne-Geithman, G.J., 105, 265 Q Quinn, A., 13

R

Raabe, A., 27 Rahme, R., 105 Razumxovsky, A., 87 Remonda, L., 111 Ringer, A.J., 105, 129 Rosenwasser, R., 273 Ross, S., 13 Roux, S., 27

S

Sabri, M., 183, 245 Saito, A., 279 Saito, K., 63 Sakowitz, O., 141 Sakuma, J., 63 Santos, E., 141 Sarrafzadeh, A., 141 Sasaki, T., 53, 63, 279 Sato, T., 63 Scheel, M., 147 Schuster, E., 117 Schweizer, T.A., 17 Sehba, F.A., 197 Sencer, A., 95 Sencer, S., 95 Serrone, J., 105 Seule, M., 57, 77 Severson, M.A., 87 Sherif, C., 117 Shiba, M., 211, 217 Shimojo, N., 217 Shutter, L.A., 67, 129 Sikorski, C., 57, 77 Simm, R.F., 75, 91 Skopets, B., 223 Smithason, S., 251 Stamper, D.N.C., 265 Stephens, F.L., 87 Strong, A.J., 123 Suffredini, A.F., 23 Sugawara, T., 257 Suzuki, H., 99, 211, 217 Suzuki, Y., 81

Т

Takazawa, H., 279 Taki, W., 99, 211, 217 Tam, A.K.H., 17 Tang, J., 257 Taussky, P., 111 Tekeuchi, E., 211 Tennant, A., 13 Tew, J.M. Jr., 1 Tigno, T., 87 Tjoumakaris, S., 273 Tsai, H.-P., 237 Tsuchiya, T., 81

U

Unterberg, A., 141

V

Vagal, A., 129 Vajkoczy, P., 27, 123, 141 Vergouwen, M.D.I., 33 Vespa, P., 191 Vo,A.H., 87

W

Wang, C.-Z., 237 Wang, H., 23 Wan, H., 245 Wanke, I., 27 Watanabe, T., 63 Weber-Carstens, S., 123 Wellman, G.C., 165, 171, 177 Wiesenthal, D., 141, 151 Wilson, J.A., 67, 129 Winardi, W., 237 Woitzik, J., 123, 151 Wolf, S., 123 Wong, G.K.C., 9, 45 Woo, D., 277 Wu, S.-C., 237

Y

Yoshida, T., 211, 217

Z

Zhang, J.H., 257 Zoerle, T., 245 Zuccarello, M., 105, 129

Subject Index

A

Acute care, SAH patients aneurysm anatomical classification, 285 biological mechanisms, adaptive remodeling, 285-286 lenticulostriate brain, 285 angiopoietin-1, 317 animal models, vasospasm (see Animal models, vasospasm) blood and CSF biomarkers NSE and S100, serum, 291 plasma/CSF nuclear and mitochondrial DNA levels, 290 serial expression, SOCS3, 290 brain injury, 314–315 cellular microparticles, 317-318 cerebral blood flow and intracranial pressure, rabbits, 317 clinical trials clipping vs. coiling, 291 erythropoietin, 292 interim analysis, 293 intravenous sodium nitrite infusion, 292 lumbar cerebrospinal fluid drainage, 291-292 randomized phase II trial, 292-293 CNS pathology cell death activation, 294-295 CT perfusion measurement, 294 MG activation, 293-294 parenchymal damage and hemorrhage, 294 comparison, clots clearance, 314 copeptin, 299 CSD-monitor, 315 DINDs prevention (see DINDs prevention) effects, simvastatin, 316-317 endovascular approach (see Endovascular approaches) endovascular management, 318 epidemiological analysis, 315-316 frequency/prevalence analysis, 316 human imaging studies, 297-298 intra-arterial infusions, 283 magnesium use, prophylaxis, 284 multidimensional separation techniques, 318 neck clipping, paraclinoid small aneurysms, 313-314 neurocritical care monitoring (see Neurocritical care monitoring) NIR cerebral oximetry, 298 nitric oxide and oxidative stress dysfunctional endothelial nitric oxide synthase, 302-303 hydroperoxides (R-OOH), 303 nitric oxide synthase activation, 303 nitroprusside sodium intrathecal, 284 NSICU care, 303-304 platelet activation, 298-299 resistance vessel pathology, 306-307 routine renal screening, 299 simvastatin improvement, 284-285 smooth muscle signaling

argatroban and vitamin C normalization, 307-308 endothelin-1-induced myofilament Ca2+ sensitization, 308 SOFA, 315 spreading depolarizations (see Spreading depolarizations) supply/demand, DIND, 314 surgical-/endovascular-treated aneurysmal, 283-284 vasospasm angiography and perfusion CT, 295 INVOS[®], 295 Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), 195 Aneurysmal SAH clinical and radiological parameters, 15 cognitive deficits, 14 cohort 1 and 2, analysis, 14 GOS. 13 impairments, 14 interrogative tools, use, 15 ISAT, 15 methods neuropsychological morbidity, survey, 13 questionnaires, 13-14 rating questionnaires, 14-15 recovery, time course, 15 structured equation modelling, 14 Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) classic outcome measures, 223 CSDs (see Cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs)) description, 223 diagnostic and therapeutic tools, 228 factors, treatment, 225 LPs, patients (see Lumbar puncture (LPs), patients) models experimental, 224, 225 neuropsychological and psychopathological sequelae, 224, 225 neurobehavioral change cause and pathophysiology, 224 clinical trials, 224 DINDs, 223 GOS score, 224 neurological deficits, 224 pathomechanism, 223 prognostic factors, 224, 225 neurobehavioral tasks, small animal model, 224, 226 neurosurgeons, 227 nonhuman primate model cerebral cortex, monkey, 226-227 clinical examination, 227 reasons, DINDs, 225 signs and deficits, 225, 227 PDGF role (see Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)) spreading ischemia (see Spreading ischemia, aSAH) surgical vs. endovascular intervention, 228 treatment modalities (see Aneurysm treatment modalities)

Aneurysm formation anticipation, intracranial defined, 278 Kaplan-Meier curve, 278 offsprings, 278 types, variants, 278 familial aggregation, 277 gene-environment interactions inherited risk factor, 278 population-based case-control study, 277 smoking, 277 heritability, IA, 277 location familial intracranial, 277 family concordance, 277 genetic variation, 277 shear stress, 277 Aneurysm treatment modalities clipping and coiling, 100-102 ISAT. 99, 102 materials and methods patient and clinical variables, 100 statistics, 100 multivariate analyses, 102 patients characteristics, 100, 101 ruptured MCA aneurysm, 100, 103 symptomatic vasospasm and endovascular therapy, 101-102 Angiographic vasospasm, aSAH vs. cerebral infarction (see Cerebral infarction, aSAH) DCI (see Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI)) exploratory cohort analysis bivariate analyses, 34 odds ratios (ORs), 34 path analysis, 34 meta-analyses GOSE, 34 PubMed search, 34 radiographic vasospasm, 34 morbidity and mortality rates, 33 pharmaceutical treatment, 37-38 and poor clinical outcome meta-analysis functional outcome, risk ratio (RR), 34, 35 heterogeneous definitions, DCI, 34 radiographic vasospasm, risk ratio (RR), 34, 35 Animal models, vasospasm atrovastatins attenuate endothelins, 287 continuous intravenous sodium nitrite, 289-290 effect, intrathecal injection, 288 intracisternal magnesium injection therapy, 286 L-citrulline therapy, 289 predeterminative effect, 287 rabbit subarachnoid hemorrhage model, 288 S-4-CPG administration, 289 subarachnoid hemorrhage, clazosentan, 286-287 thalidomide, 287-288 Arteriolar smooth muscle cell isolation, 178 Arteriovenous malformation (AVM), 112, 113 aSAH. See Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) ATP. See Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) AVM. See Arteriovenous malformation (AVM)

B

BCI2000, brain-computer interface description, 68 functions, 68 Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) CSD, 265 discovery and chemical characterization etiology, CV, 266 formation, in vivo, 266 heme oxygenase 1 and biliverdin reductase, 266 short-term vasoconstriction, 266 in human patients hemoglobin concentration, 266-267 in vivo and in vitro vasoactive, 267 large-vessel physiology and biochemistry, 268 role, perturbations, 266 SAH and CV, 265 signaling pathways endothelin/nitric oxide ratio, 267 MLC20, 267 PKC, 267 Rho-dependent stress fiber formation, 267, 268 ROCK. 267 vascular signaling pathways, 267, 269 BOXes. See Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes) Bronchodilator KMUP-3, CV basilar artery PKCy protein expression, 242, 243 rhoA protein expression, 242 rhoA/rho kinase II protein, 241 western blot analysis, 241 behavioral assessment description, 239 experimental SAH, rat, 239, 240 MDI value, 240 description, 237 ET-1 and NO, 237 hemodynamic measurements, 239 hemodynamic parameters, 238 materials and methods animal procedures, 238 behavioral assessment, 238, 239 hemodynamic measurements, 238 materials, 238 protein expression, 239 statistical analysis, 239 tissue morphometry, 238 oxyhemoglobin-induced contraction, 237-238 tissue morphometry, 240

C

Canine clot placement model, 42 double-hemorrhage model, 42-43 CBF. See Cerebral blood flow (CBF) CDC. See Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Cell voltage-dependent K⁺ channel, 178 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 153-154 Central venous pressure (CVP), 193 Cerebral artery, 165 Cerebral blood flow (CBF), 161 Cerebral glucose and SD, aSAH cortical SD, 141-142 extracellular fluid, 144 methods MD, 142 multimodal cerebral monitoring, 142 operative procedures, 142 postoperative care, 142 statistical analysis, 142-143

multivariate analyses, 141 patient characteristics, 143 rapid-sampling MD techniques, 144 SD and cerebral glucose levels, 143-144 Cerebral hemodynamic changes MOCAIP ICP, 193 MOCAIP TCD, 193-194 TBI (see Traumatic brain injury (TBI)) transcranial Doppler, 193 vasodilating effect, 194 Cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation, DINDs and aSAH detection description, 57 minimally invasive methods jugular venous oximetry, 58 microdialysis, 59 NIRS and intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring, 59-60 partial PtiO2, 58-59 TDF, 59 noninvasive methods ICG. 58 NIRS, 58 TCD sonography, 58 occurrence, 57 Cerebral infarction, aSAH vs. angiographic vasospasm (see Angiographic vasospasm, aSAH) DCI (see Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI)) exploratory cohort analysis odds ratios (ORs), 36 path analysis, 37, 38 predictors, poor outcome, 36-37 meta-analyses GOSE, 34 PubMed search, 34 radiographic vasospasm, 34 morbidity and mortality rates, 33 pharmaceutical treatment, 37-38 and poor clinical outcome meta-analysis description, 36 fixed-effects model, pooled risk ratio (RR), 36, 37 functional outcome, pooled risk ratio (RR), 36 Cerebral ischemia, 197, 198 Cerebral microvasculature SAH. 197 structural damage and functional deficits antigens, 198 astrocytes, 199 blood components, 199 cells detach, 199 cerebral vessels bathe, 197 endothelial cytoplasmic flaps, 198, 199 endothelium and basal lamina, 198, 200, 201 microvessel unit, 199 NO production, 199 pericytes, 197-198 vascular damage inflammation, 200-201 NO-NOS pathway, 199-200 oxidative stress, 200 Cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP), 89 Cerebral vasospasm (CV) aneurysm treatment modalities (see Aneurysm treatment modalities) brain injury, 208 clazosentan, 207-208 CSD, 55 DCV, 205, 208 description, 265

dilation, vasospastic cerebral, 208 ET_A receptor clazosentan, 54-55 CONSCIOUS study, 54-55 intravenous administration, 54 etiology, 265, 266 experimental animal models, 208 mechanism endothelial damage and dysfunction, 53 receptor activity and myofilament Ca2+ sensitivity, 54 receptor expression, upregulation, 54 nimodipine, 208 pathological constriction, 267 PDGF role (see Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)) PKC, 267 protein kinase C, 205-207 SAH, 205 statins, 55 vascular smooth muscle cells, 205 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage, LP, 95 and HH therapy, 96, 97 Clazosentan aSAH description, 27-28 GOSE, 28-30 methods, 28 microthromboembolism, 29 morbidity, 27 placebo (see Placebo) planned subgroup analyses, 28 rescue therapy, 28-29 severity, haemorrhage, 30 vasospasm-related morbidity and mortality, event rate, 28, 29 ET, receptor antagonist, 54-55 inhibition, DCV, 207 Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1) analysis, 20 CT scan, 18 NIHSS and GOS. 18 percentage difference, 18 region-of-interest (ROI) tracings, 18 study methodology, 17-18 Component neuromonitoring system (CNS), 68 Computed tomographic angiography (CTA), 273 Computed tomography (CT) DCI, objective measures, 10-11 score extent of cerebral infarction, 82 and GOS value, 82 mean plus/minus standard deviation (SD), 82, 84 multiple regression analysis, 84-85 Computerized occlusion rating (COR), IAs description, 117 IPR (see Intraprocedural reruptures (IPR)) limitations, 120 materials and methods, 118 PPRs (see Postprocedural reruptures (PPRs)) quantitative evaluation, 118, 119 SOR, 119 subjective estimation, 117-118 subjective overestimation, OR, 120 values, estimation, 119

CONSCIOUS-1. See Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after suba-rachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1) CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations (COSBID), 152 CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarizations-M3 (COSBID-M3) BCI2000, 68 cerebral vasospasm, 67 CNS, 68 configuration and data visualization, 72 data acquisition, 70 DataTranslation, 72 Decision Support and Feedback module, 70-71 downloads, 72 multimodal neuromonitoring system, 68 neuromonitoring methods, 67-68 signal processing C++ and MATLAB, plug-in code, 70, 72 display monitoring, 72, 73 M3 framework, 70 plug-ins, 70 processing chain, 70, 71 Software System Design, 68, 69 Cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) AC ECoG, use, 130 cerebral blood flow, 130 cerebral microvasculature, SAH, 265 DCI, 129 DC shift durations, 133-134 in DIND, 268 electrode impedances, 131, 133 induced hyperemia, 266 inverse filter signal-processing technique, 134 limitations, ECoG, 138 methods clinical protocol, 130-131 data processing and analysis, 131 electrocorticography, 131 pathologic mechanism, 129-130 patient characteristics, 131, 132 potassium channels, 267 prolonged DC shifts and delayed infarction, 134-136 development, delayed infarct, 134, 137 technical feasibility, 134 COSBID. See CoOperative Study on Brain Injury Depolarisations (COSBID) COSBID-M3. See Cooperative study on brain injury depolarizations-M3 (COSBID-M3) CSDs. See Cortical spreading depolarizations (CSDs) CSF. See Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) CT. See Computed tomography (CT) CTA. See Computed tomographic angiography (CTA) CV. See Cerebral vasospasm (CV) CVP. See Central venous pressure (CVP) Cytotoxic edema, 152

D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 232 DAMPs. *See* Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) DCI. *See* Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) DCV. *See* Delayed cerebral vasospasm (DCV) DDAV. *See* Delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) Decision Support and Feedback module alerts, 70-71 default event types, 70 description, 70 Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) clinical characteristics, 4-5 clinical outcome, 34 complications, 9 controversies, 5-6 CSDs, 129 CT, 10-11 definitions, 6 discovery, 3 Doppler ultrasound, 5 early descriptions, patients, 3 heterogeneous definitions, 34 IMASH trial, 9, 10 incidence, 5, 33 ISAT, 10, 11 LPs, patients aSAH, 95 clinical trials, 97 ratio, LP(+) group, 96 methods definition. 10 GOSE, 9 IMASH protocol, 9 pathogenesis, vasospasm role, 33 pre-and postoperative vasospasm, 4 prognostic significance, 10 statistical analysis, 10 vasospasm meetings, 3, 4 Delayed cerebral vasospasm (DCV), 205, 206 Delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm (DDAV) administration, LPS, 252 and behavioral assessment, 253 behavioral testing Barnes maze, 253 description, 252 percentage alterations, 253 rotarod test, 252 chemokine determination, 253 DCI and DINDs, 251 description, 251 endothelium, 255 experimental SAH, 252 expression, KC (see Keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC) expression) groups, 252 IACUC, 252 immunohistochemical change brain slices, 255 description, 254 immunohistochemistry, 253 inflammation (see Inflammation, SAH and DDAV) inflammation development, 256 mechanisms, 255 single-dose preconditioning behavioral manifestations, 254 vs. multiple-low-dose LPS, 253, 254 staining and chemokine analysis, 254 statistics. 253 stroke animal models, 251 TLR signaling pathway, 252

tolerance, 254 vascular and cerebral manifestations, 251 Delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation (see Cerebral hemodynamics and oxygenation, DINDs and aSAH detection) noninfectious complications, 153 pathophysiology (see Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes)) prevention cerebral vasospasm, 304 continuous cisternal irrigation, 304-305 effect, surgical treatment, 306 evaluation, endovascular treatment, 306 grading system, 305 magnesium and nimodipine injection, 305-306 magnesium therapy, 305 protein biomarkers (see Protein biomarkers, SAH, vasospasm, and DIND patients) Depolarisations in Ischaemia after Subarachnoid Haemorrhage-1 (DISCHARGE-1) cvtotoxic edema, 152 database, 155 description, 152 inclusion and exclusion, 152 SD. 152 Digital subtraction angiography (DSA), 273 3-Dimensional computed tomography (3D-CT) chronological changes, SAH volume, 64, 66 mean haematoma volume, 64, 65 patients and methods clinical trial, 63-64 irrigation therapy, 64 IVH and ICH, 64 volume (V) estimation, 64 quantification method, software-based volumetric, 64 SVS (see Symptomatic vasospasm (SVS)) univariate logistic model and multivariate analysis, 64 DINDs. See Delayed ischemic neurological deficits (DINDs) DSA. See Digital subtraction angiography (DSA)

Е

Early brain injury, 208 EEG, SeeElectroencephalographic (EEG) EFS. *See* Electrical field stimulation (EFS) Electrical field stimulation (EFS), 166 Electroencephalographic (EEG), 195 Endothelin-1 (ET-1), 237, 238 Endovascular approaches cerebral vasospasm post-aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, 297 intra-arterial nimodipine infusion, 296 intra-arterial verapamil-induced seizures, 295–296 transluminal balloon angioplasty, 296–297 treatment, RCVS, 297 Epileptic seizures, 84

F

FA. See Fasudil hydrochloride (FA)
Fasudil hydrochloride (FA)
description, 81
infusion, 82
intravenous administration, RKI, 81
Fluorescence immunohistochemical staining, 259

G

Glasgow outcome scale (GOS), 13, 82, 83, 223, 224, 280
Glasgow outcome scale extended (GOSE) clazosentan, aSAH, 28–30 description, 9
GOS. *See* Glasgow outcome scale (GOS)
GOSE. *See* Glasgow outcome scale extended (GOSE)

Н

HB-EGF/EGFR pathway cerebral arterial myocytes, 177 electrophysiology arteriolar smooth muscle cell isolation, 178 cell voltage-dependent K⁺ channel, 178 K⁺ channel, measurement, 178 statistical analysis, 178 K, currents exogenous activators, 181 heparin-binding epidermal growth factor, 180 oxyhemoglobin, 180 paxilline-sensitive currents, 180 SAH model animals, 178, 179 suppression, 181 membrane potential depolarization, 181 parenchymal arterioles, 177 physiological regulation, 181 potential depolarization, 181 rabbit SAH model, 178 SAH, 177 tyrosine kinase, 177 Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF). See HB-EGF/ EGFR pathway Hybrid operating room, iDSA acute subdural hematoma after aneurysm rupture, 112, 113 combined endovascular and microsurgical treatment ICA aneurysm, 112, 114 temporal AVM, 112, 113 indications, 112 materials and methods definition, 111 surgical personnel, 111 table, surgical, 111 planning, cerebrovascular procedures, 114 reposition, clip, 112 structure, 111, 112 Hydration and hypertension (HH) therapy, 96-97 Hydroperoxides (R-OOH), 303 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA), 261

I

IAF. See Intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF)
IAS. See Intracranial aneurysms (IAS)
IAVT. See Intra-arterial vasodilator therapy (IAVT)
ICG. See Indocyanine green (ICG)
ICH. See Intracranial hemorrhage (ICH)
ICP. See Intracranial pressure (ICP)
iDSA. See Intraoperative digital substraction angiography (iDSA)
IL-6. See Intravenous Magnesium Sulphate for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (IMASH)
Indocyanine green (ICG), 58 Inflammation (platelets and neutrophils), 200-201 Inflammation, SAH and DDAV BOXs and hemoglobin, 234 brain trauma, 234 CD11b/CD18 complex, 232 cerebral angiography, 231 cerebral vasospasm development, 232-233 components, 232 depiction, 232, 233 failure, vasodilators, 234 IL-1 β and TNF- α , 232 innate immune system, 232 leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction, 234 mouse model, 234 nicardipine and clazosentan, 231 nonvascular research, 235 PAMPs and DAMPs, 232 possible sites, 234 T and B cells, 232 tissue injury, 232 vascular constriction and brain damage, 231 VEGF and MAPK, 233 WBC cell counts, 231 window-of-treatment theory, 234 Interleukin-6 (IL-6) chemiluminesence enzyme immunoassay, 78 pmSAH and non-pmSAH, 77-78 significance, 77 International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT), 10, 11, 99, 102 Intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF) anterior cerebral artery (ACA) profiles and clinical features, 82, 84 severe vasospasm, 82, 83 CT score mean plus/minus standard deviation (SD), 82, 84 multiple regression analysis, 84-85 efficacy, 85 epileptic seizures, 84 FA (see Fasudil hydrochloride (FA)) GOS value, 82, 83 intracranial bleeding and hypotension, 84 multiple regression analysis, 84 pathogenesis, 84 profile and clinical features, patients treatment strategy, SVS catheter use, 82 CT score and GOS value, 82 ruptured aneurysms, clipping/coiling, 81-82 univariate linear regression analysis, 84 Intra-arterial vasodilator therapy (IAVT) complications, 108 description, 108 endovascular options, 106 papaverine, 108 prophylactic, 106 technique, 108 therapeutic effect, 107 Intracranial aneurysms (IAs) circulation, posterior, 275 clinical studies, 273 COR (see Computerized occlusion rating (COR), IAs) demographic parameters, odds ratio, 275 description, 273 family history, 275 higher aspect ratio, 275 imperative factor, rupture, 275 large-scale studies, 275 methods and materials

aspect ratio, 274 diagnosis, cerebral aneurysm, 273 retrospective review, 273 statistical analysis, 274 morphologic factors, 274 odds ratio, morphologic parameters, 275, 276 periodic screening, 276 posterior communicating artery, 275 smoking and hypertension, 274 Intracranial electrocorticography (ECoG), radio-frequency (RF) induced heating body-transmit/head-receive configuration, 149 DISCHARGE-1, 147 materials and methods, 148 medical devices, 147 MRI, 148-149 sequence parameter, 148 temperature fluctuations, 148, 149 Intracranial hemorrhage (ICH), 64 Intracranial pressure (ICP) and CPP, 89 rank correlations, 88 TCD waveform, 88 Intraoperative digital substraction angiography (iDSA), 111 Intraprocedural reruptures (IPR) endovascular coiling procedures, 119-120 logistic regression model, 118 and PPR, 119 quantitative evaluation, 118, 119 Intravenous Magnesium Sulphate for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (IMASH) protocol, 9 trial, 9, 10 Intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH), 64 INVOS® monitoring system, 295 ISAT. See International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) Ischemic preconditioning, 191 IVH. See Intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH)

J

Jugular venous oximetry, 58

K

Kaplan-Meier curve, 278 Keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC) expression, 254, 255

L

L-citrulline therapy, 289 Leukocyte counts (Lc) measurement, 78 pmSAH and non-pmSAH, 77-78 significance, 77 Lumbar puncture (LPs) aneurysm locations, 96 blood lysis, subarachnoid space, 97 CSF drainage, 95 DCI, 95 demographic data, 96 groups, treatment, 96, 97 incidence, 95 methods HH therapy and CSF drainage, 96 neurointensive care unit (ICU), 96 WFNS and Fisher scores, 96

surgical clipping/endovascular coiling, 96, 97 treatment approaches, 97

М

Magnesium and Acetylsalicylic Acid in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (MASH) trial, 46, 47 Magnesium sulphate, aSAH administration routes, 46 description, 45 mechanism description, 45 GOSE, 46 MASH trial. 46 microsurgical clipping, 46 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, 45 sulphate infusion therapy, high-dose, 45-46 neuroprotective effect, 45 outcome analysis, primary and secondary, 47 placebo trial, 46-47 short form 36 (SF-36) questionnaire, 47 vasodilatory effect, intracisternal infusion, 47 Magnesium therapy, 305 Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), 273 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) ECoG electrodes, 148 safety regulations, 148-149 MAPK. See Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) MASH trial. See Magnesium and Acetylsalicylic Acid in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (MASH) trial Matricellular protein components, extracellular matrix (ECM), 215 description, 211 MAPK, 211, 215 materials and methods endovascular perforation model, 212 immunohistochemistry, 212-213 India ink angiography, 212 intracisternal infusion, 212 neurobehavioral test, 212 statistics, 213 OPN (see Osteopontin (OPN)) TNC (see Tenascin-C (TNC)) Mayfield, F.H, 1-2 MCA. See Middle cerebral artery (MCA) MD. See Microdialysis (MD) MDI. See Motor deficit index (MDI) Mechanisms, microthrombosis and microcirculatory constriction DCI. 188 electron microscopy, 189 intravascular lesions, 189 materials and methods animal model, 184 fibrinogen staining, 184-185 microvessel vasoconstriction and vascular wall assessment, 184 SEM, 184 statistical analysis, 185 TEM. 184 TUNEL and Fibrinogen Double Immunostaining, 185 neuron death saline-injected controls, 185 TUNEL, 185, 188 vasoconstriction, microvessel, 185 nitric oxide, 185 SAH, 183 SEM, 185, 186 TEM, 185, 187 transcranial Doppler ultrasound, 183

Microcirculation, 172, 198, 199 Microdialysis (MD) catheters, 142 measurements, 143 multimodal cerebral monitoring, 142 rapid-sampling, 144 statistical analysis, 142-143 Microthrombosis. See Mechanisms, microthrombosis and microcirculatory constriction Middle cerebral artery (MCA) aneurysms clipping and coiling, 100, 101 incidence, symptomatic vasospasm, 101-102 Milrinone, 108 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), 211, 215, 233 Morphological clustering and analysis of intracranial pulse (MOCAIP), 192-194 Motor deficit index (MDI) MKUP-3 effect, 239 placing/stepping reflex response, 238 SAH level, 240 MRA. See Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA)

N

Near-infrared (NIR) cerebral oximetry, 298 Near-infrared spectrophotometry (NIRS) brain oxygenation, 298 multimodal monitoring variables, 302 oxygen saturation parameter, 298 use, 312 velocity, TCD, 298 Neurocritical care monitoring cerebral hemodynamic change, 301 dobutamine-induced hyperdynamic therapy, 300-301 intrathecal nicardipine, 302 multicenter controlled trial, 299-300 multichannel near-infrared spectroscopy, 300 prognostic role, CSF analysis, 301-302 Neurological scoring, 259 Nicardipine, 108 Nicardipine prolonged-release implants (NPRIs) administration, drugs, 43 animal model clot placement model, canine, 42 double-hemorrhage model, canine, 42-43 clinical trial efficacy and safety analysis, 100 patients, 43 multicenter cooperative study, Tokyo, 43 single-center, randomized, double-blind trial, 43 drug delivery system, 44 in vitro study, 42 mortality and morbidity, vasospasm, 41 papaverine (see Papaverine) Nimodipine, 108, 208 NIRS. See Near-infrared spectrophotometry (NIRS) Nonaneurysmal SAHs characteristics, patients, 78 GOS value, 78 IL-6 levels, 79 methods diagnosis, pmSAH and non-pmSAH, 78 IL-6 concentrations and Lc, 78 WFNS grade, 78 neurocritical care unit (NCU), 78, 79 pmSAH and non-pmSAH, 77-78 subdivision, 77 systemic inflammatory response, 77

Noninfectious diagnosis and infectious complications, aSAH acute, nosocomial meningitis/ventriculitis, 154 cause, 151 CDC, 153–154 complications, 153 database, 155 DIND, 153 and DISCHARGE-1 (*see* Depolarisations in Ischaemia after Subarachnoid Haemorrhage-1 (DISCHARGE-1)) incidence, 151 retrospective analysis, 155–156 time frames and points, 153 NO-NOS pathway, 199–200 NSICU care, SAH Patients, 303–304

0

OPN. See Osteopontin (OPN) Osteopontin (OPN) description, 211 immunoreactivity, 213 MAPK, 215 recombinant (r-OPN) cisternal injection, 213, 214 phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) vehicle, 212 and TNC induction immunohistochemistry, 213 rat cerebral arteries after SAH, 213

Р

PAMPs. See Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) Papaverine control angiography, 41 drug delivery system, 41 high-performance liquid chromatography, 42 vs. placebo-treated groups, 41-42 Parenchymal arteriolar function cerebral blood flow, 171 cytosolic ca2+ and myogenic tone, 172, 173 K+ channels and smooth muscle membrane potential depolarization cell-signaling pathway, 173 oxyhemoglobin, 173 PCR. 173 voltage, 173 whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology, 174 SAH double-injection, 172 pressure, 172 VDCCs, 171-172 subarachnoid blood, 174 Parenchymal arteriole, 166 Partial pressure of brain tissue oxygen (partial PtiO2), 58-59 Patch clamp, 178 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 232 PCR. See Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) PDGF. See Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) Pharmacologic reduction, angiographic vasospasm animal studies, 246 characteristics, animal studies, 246, 247 data collection, 246 drug effects, 247 effect size, animals, 246, 248 heterogeneity, 247 high-quality clinical trials, 245 human trials, 248 in vitro study, 246

meta-analysis, human, 245 methodologic quality, 248 multivariate logistic regression, 247-248 search methods, 245-246 statistical analysis, 246, 247 subgroup analysis, 246-247 PHCV. See Posthemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm (PHCV) PKC. See Protein kinase C (PKC) Placebo and clazosentan, 28 clinical trial, 28 GOSE, 28, 30 vasospasm-related morbidity and mortality, event rate, 28, 29 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) arterial contraction, 221 description, 217 functional significance and isoforms, 219 hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and immunohistochemical stainings, 219, 220 imatinib effects immunoreactivities, 219, 220 neurological score, aSAH, 219 vasospasm, aSAH, 219, 220 inhibitors, 217, 219 materials and methods endovascular perforation model, SAH, 218 immunohistochemistry, 218 India ink angiography, 218 neurological scoring, 218 severity, SAH, 218 statistics, 219 tyrosine kinases, 219, 221 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), 173 Posthemorrhagic cerebral vasospasm (PHCV) calcium channel blockers, 108 cerebral angiography, complications, 108 delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), 105 description, 105 **DIND**, 105 endovascular options and preoperative considerations, 106 IAVT (see Intra-arterial vasodilator therapy (IAVT)) medical management and endovascular therapy, 106 pathophysiology, 105-106 phosphodiesterase inhibitors, 108 prophylactic endovascular treatment, 106-107 Rho kinase inhibitors, 108 TBA (see Transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA)) Postprocedural reruptures (PPRs) and IPR, 119 logistic regression model, 118 predictors, early and late rehemorrhage, 120 quantitative evaluation, 118, 119 Prolonged intravenous infusion, nitric oxide (NO) baseline values, 50 materials and methods assessments, healthy volunteers, 49-50 dose-limiting toxicity (DLT), 50 maximal tolerated dose (MTD), 50 nitrite anion (NO₂), 49 sodium nitrite infusion, 50 Protein biomarkers, SAH, vasospasm, and DIND patients mass spectral peak analysis, 24, 25 methods antibody array, 24 diagnosis, 24 serum protein profiles, 24

morbidity and mortality, 23 proteomics, 23–24 SELDI-TOF MS, 24 serological link, 25 Protein kinase C (PKC) hemical agent, 207 hemorrhage canine model, 205, 206 isoenzymes, 206 SAH, 206, 207 smooth muscle cells, 206 treatment, 206, 207 Proteomics analysis, blood, 24 application, 23–24 description, 23

Q

Quality of life (QOL) scale, 223

R

Rat brain cortex astrocytic metabotropic glutamate receptor, 165 brain slice experiments, 166 EFS. 166 hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid, 168 laboratory animals, 166 parenchymal arteriolar responses, 166, 167 parenchymal arterioles, 168 SAH, 165 vasodilation, 166 Remote ischemic preconditioning (RIPC) ATP, 195 brain metabolic changes, 192 brain protection, 191 cerebral hemodynamic changes, 193-194 endogenous protection mechanism, 191 hypertensive rat model, 194 ICP changes, 193 lactate and glutamate, 195 metabolic depression, 195 MOCAIP analysis, 192 patients history, 192 statistical analysis, 192-193 strain-gauge plethysmography, 194 systemic hemodynamic, 193 systolic blood pressure, 192 TCD monitoring, 192 vascular bed, 194 vascular reactivity analysis, 192 Resistance vessel pathology cerebral ischemia association, 306-307 matrix metalloproteinase, 307 Rho kinase inhibitor (RKI), 81, 84

S

SAHs. See Subarachnoid hemorrhages (SAHs)
SD. See Spreading depolarizations (SD)
SELDI-TOF MS. See Surface-enhanced laser desorption and ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF MS)
Sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA), 315
SOFA. See Sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA)
Software System Design COSBID M3 system, 68, 69

principles, 68 programs/modules, 68 SOR. See Subjective occlusion rating (SOR) Spreading depolarizations (SD) analgesics and sedative drugs, 312 body temperature, 309 CBF, 160, 161 cerebral blood flow and hemoglobin oxygenation, 312-313 cortical and cerebral glucose levels, 143-144 spreading depression, mouse model, 310-311 waves, 141-142 coupling, 313 external patient movements, 311-312 hemodynamic response cortical laser Doppler blood flow, 161, 162 mechanism transforming, 161 nitric oxide synthase inhibitors, 161 oxygenation, 161 penumbra condition, 160 hyperemic response, 160 hypoperfusion and hyperemia, 160 vs. injury depolarizations brain injury, 159 ischemic penumbra, 159, 160 intracortical electroencephalography monitoring, 310 ischemia, aSAH characterisation, 123 description, 123 ECoG, 123-124 inverse neurovascular response, 124-125 low-frequency vascular fluctuations, 125 normal neurovascular response, 124 terminal, 124 neurons and astrocytes, 309-310 NIRS, 312 spatiotemporal analysis, 160 subarachnoid hemorrhage, 309 surface EEG, 311 trauma trumps stroke, 310 vasomotor components hypotensive rat, 161-162 mediator, 162 postdepolarization oligemia, 162 short-lasting, 162 vasodilation, 162 Spreading ischemia, aSAH experimental hypothesis, 125 low-frequency vascular fluctuations, 125 neurovascular response inverse, 124-125 normal, 124 SD (see Spreading depolarizations (SD)) Statin-induced T-lymphocyte modulation and neuroprotection high-dose simvastatin cortical and brain-stem samples, 260, 261 description, 260 neurological score, 260 HMG-CoA, 261-262 immunomodulatory cytokines, 261 inflammatory reaction, CNS, 261 materials and methods drug administration, 258-259 experimental animals and groups, 258 fluorescence immunohistochemical, 259 induction, SAH, 258 neurological scoring, 259

Statin-induced T-lymphocyte modulation and neuroprotection (cont.) statistical analysis, 259 western blotting analysis, 259 mortality and exclusion, 259-260 neurological event, SAH, 257 neuroprotection vs. neurological injury, 258 physiological data, 259 populations, leukocytes, 261 response, inflammatory, 258 Th2 switch photographs, double-fluorescence labeling, 260, 262 SAH and S-20 groups, 260 types, T-helper cells, 258 Statins, 55 Stroke, 194 Subarachnoid hemorrhages (SAHs) age predictor, 281 aneurysmal (see Aneurysmal SAH) angiographic vasospasm (see Angiographic vasospasm, aSAH) BOXes (see Bilirubin oxidation products (BOXes)) cerebral infarction (see Cerebral infarction, aSAH) clazosentan, aneurysmal (see Clazosentan, aSAH) clipping/coiling, aneurysmal, 279 clots removal cisternal drainage, 92 cisternal irrigation, 92 endovascular treatment, 92 Fisher grade 3, 91 lamina terminalis, 91 and lamina terminalis fenestration, 92-93 materials and methods, 92 morbidity and mortality, 91 ventriculoperitonal shunt (VPS), 92 global cerebral atrophy CONSCIOUS-1, 17-18, 20 factors and association, patient, 18, 19 inconsistency, 17 morbidity and mortality rate, 17 unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios, 18, 20 univariate analysis, patient, 18 inflammation (see Inflammation, SAH and DDAV) intrathecal administration, urokinase, 281 magnesium sulphate (see Magnesium sulphate, aSAH) nonaneurysmal (see Nonaneurysmal SAHs) NPRIs (see Nicardipine prolonged-release implants (NPRIs)) protein biomarkers (see Protein biomarkers, SAH, vasospasm, and DIND patients) TCD, vasospasm treatment (see Transcranial Doppler (TCD)) treatment, IAF (see Intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF)) vasospasm, 279 Subjective occlusion rating (SOR), 119 Subrachnoid hemorrhage (SAH). See HB-EGF/EGFR pathway Surface-enhanced laser desorption and ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF MS), 24 SVS. See Symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) Symptomatic vasospasm (SVS) angiographic evidence, 279 cisternal irrigation therapy, 281 3D-CT, chronological changes, 64, 66 elderly patients, 280 fasudil chloride, 281 H&K grade, 280 incidence, VP shunt, 281 intrathecal administration, urokinase, 281 irrigation therapy, 64

materials and methods digital subtraction angiography, 279–280 GOS, 280 groups, 279 treatment protocol, 279, 280 MCA, 280 morbidity and mortality, SAH, 279 patient characteristics and outcomes, 280, 281 qualitative assessments, 63 risks, 281 treatment, IAF (*see* Intra-arterial infusion of fasudil hydrochloride (IAF))

Т

TBA. See Transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA) TCD. See Transcranial Doppler (TCD) TDF. See Thermal diffusion flowmetry (TDF) Tenascin-C (TNC) description, 211 immunoreactivity, 213 MAPK, 215 and OPN induction immunohistochemistry, 213 rat cerebral arteries after SAH, 213 recombinant (r-TNC) cisternal injection, 213 induced contraction of basilar arteries, 213, 214 phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) vehicle, 212 Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL), 185, 188 Thermal diffusion flowmetry (TDF), 59 Tissue morphometry basilar arteries, 238, 240 effect, KMUP-3, 240 TNC. See Tenascin-C (TNC) Transcranial Doppler (TCD) description, 75 diagnosis and treatment, vasospasm, 75 Hunt Hess Scale scores, 76 methods definition, vasospasm, 76 records and images, 75 TBI data, 87-88 description, 87 findings, 88 ICP and CPP, 89 methodology, 88 monitoring patients, 89 sensitivity, 89-90 signs of vasospasm, 88, 89 therapies, 76 Transluminal balloon angioplasty (TBA) advantage, 107 clinical success rates, 107 complications, 107 endovascular options, 106 IAVT, 108 mechanism of action, 107 prophylactic, 106 single-and dual-lumen balloon catheters, 107 Traumatic brain injury (TBI) angiography, 87 global post-trauma malignant hyperemia, 88 ICP and CPP, 89
materials and methods closed head injury (CHI), 88 methodology, TCD, 88 SAS statistical package, 88 TCD data, 87–88 monitoring patients, 88 sensitivity, 89–90 signs of vasospasm, observation, 88, 89 TCD (*see* Transcranial Doppler (TCD))vasospasm, cerebral, 87 TUNEL. *See* Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL)

v

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 233 Vascular smooth muscle, 173 protein biomarkers (*see* Protein biomarkers, SAH, vasospasm, and DIND patients)radiographic, 34 treatment (*see* Transcranial Doppler (TCD)) VDCCs. *See* Voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels (VDCCs) VEGF. *See* Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) Verapamil, 108 Voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels (VDCCs), 173–174

W

WBC. See White blood cell (WBC)Western blotting analysis, 259WFNS. See World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS)White blood cell (WBC), 231World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS), 78